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PKEFACE.
THIS work has been prepared with great care, for the purpose of supply-

ing a want long felt by the reading public, and especially by Heads of Fam-

ilies. Every important event in the history of the United States, from the

Aboriginal period to the present time, is presented in a concise, but per-

spicuous and comprehensive manner, without giving those minute and often

tedious details, which are valuable to the student, but irksome to the com-

mon reader. The History of our Republic is herein popularized, and

adapted to the use of those who may not find leisure to peruse more exten-

sive works upon the subject. The materials have been drawn from the

earlier, most elaborate, and most reliable historians and chroniclers of our

continent. The work is constructed upon a new plan, which, it is believed,

will be found to be the most acceptable yet offered to the public, for ob-

taining, with facility, and fixing in the memory, a knowledge of the great

events of our truly wonderful history. And having visited a greater por-

tion of the localities made memorable by important occurrences in our

country, the writer claims, in that particular, an advantage over his prede-

cessors in this special field, for he has been able to correct errors and give

truthful impressions of things and events. An endeavor has also been

made to show the cause of every important event, and thus, by developing

the philosophy of our history, to make it more attractive and instructive than

a bald record of facts. And wherever the text appeared to need further

elucidation, additional facts have been given in foot-notes.

The arrangement of the work is new. It is in six Periods, each com-

mencing where the history naturally divides into distinct epochs. The first

Period exhibits a general view of the Aboriginal race, who occupied the

continent when the Europeans came. The second is a record of all the

Discoveries and preparations for settlement, made by individuals and gov-

ernments. The third delineates the progress of all the Settlements until

colonial governments were formed. The fourth tells the story of these

Colonies from their infancy to maturity, and illustrates the continual devel-

opment of Democratic ideas and Eepublican tendencies which finally re-

sulted in a political confederation. The fifth has a full account of the im-

portant events of the Warfor Independence, and the sixth gives a concise

history of the Republic from its formation to the present time. The Supple-
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ment contains the Articles of Confederation and the National Constitution.

The former shows the final result of the' efforts of the people of the Colo-

nies, who had struggled together for general independence, to form a

national organization, but which signally failed, because in that League of

States the supremacy of each was recognized, and the vitality of unity,

which is essential to the existence of a nation, was wanting. The National

Constitution is given in its original form, and with all of the amendments

since adopted, accompanied by explanatory notes.

The system of concordance interwoven with the notes throughout the

entire work is of great importance to the reader. When a fact is named

which bears a relation to another fact elsewhere recorded in the volume, a

reference is made to the page where such fact is mentioned. A knowledge
of this relationship of separate events is often essential to a clear view of

the subject, and without this concordance, a great deal of time would be

spent in searching for that relationship. With the concordance the matter

may be found in a moment. Favorable examples of the utility of this new

feature may be found on page 289. If strict attention shall be given to

these references, the whole subject will be presented to the inind of the

reader in a comprehensive aspect of unity not to be obtained by any other

method.

The engravings are introduced not for the sole purpose of embellishing

the volume, but to enhance its utility as an instructor. Every picture is

intended to illustrate a fact, not merely to beautify the page. Great cai e

has been taken to secure accuracy in all the delineations of men and things,

so that they may not convey false instruction. Geographical maps have

been omitted, because they must necessarily be too small to be of essential

service. History may be read for the purpose of obtaining general infor-

mation on the subject, without maps, but it should never be studied with-

out the aid of an accurate Atlas.

The author has endeavored to make this work
essentially a FAMILY

HISTORY, attractive and instructive
;
and the Publishers have generously

co-worked with him in producing a volume that may justly claim to be

excellent in every particular. With these few observations concerning the

general plan and merits of the work, it is presented to the public, with an

entire willingness to have its reputation rest upon its own merits.

B. J. L.
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VOL. I.

FIRST PERIOD.

THE ABORIGINALS.
CHAPTER I.

THEIR MODE OF LIFE.

THE study of aboriginal races, though interesting as a theme for specu-

lation, is always unsatisfactory because of the absence of trustworthy

knowledge ;
their historic records existing in traditions only. The student

of the supposed aborigines of our continent finds no exception to this

universal rule. The dim realm of the prehistoric period of their existence

is lighted only by the pale gleams of conjecture ;
and back of their dis-

covery by civilized man there lies an impenetrable mystery which may
never be unfolded. Only from the epoch of the advent of Europeans has

history made a truthful record of the dusky people found here.

Cultivated nations have a heroic age a period when their first conquests
of every kind were achieved. It was a period when society was rude, but

was struggling nobly upwards toward light and knowledge, and the blessings

of civilization. 'When the standards of enlightened nations were first set up
in this western hemisphere north of the Bahamas and the great gulf, and
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the contests for possession began between the wild Aboriginals, who thrust no

Bpade into the soil, no sickle into ripe harvests, and those earnest delvers from

the Old World, who came with the light of Christianity, to plant a new

empire, and redeem the wilderness by cultivation then commenced the heroic

age of America. It ended when the work of the Revolution in the eighteenth

century was accomplished when the bond of vassalage to Great Britain was

severed by her colonies, and when thirteen confederated States ratified a Fed'

eral Constitution, and upon it laid the broad foundation of our Republic.
1

Long anterior to the advent of Europeans in America, a native empire,

little inferior to old Rome in civilization, flourished in that region of our Con-

tinent which now forms the south-western portion of our Republic, and the

adjoining States of Central America. The Aztec Empire, which reached the

acm of its refinement during the reign of Montezuma, and crumbled into frag-

ments beneath the heel of Cortez, when he dethroned and destroyed that mon-

arch," extended over the whole region from the Rio Grande to the Isthmus of

Darien
;
and when the Spaniards came, it was gradually pushing its conquests

northward, where all was yet darkness and gloom. To human apprehension,

this people, apparently allied by various ties to the wild nations of North

America, appeared to be the most efficient instruments in the hands of Provi-

dence, for spreading the light of dawning civilization over the whole Continent.

Yet, they were not only denied this glorious privilege, but, by the very race

which first attempted to plant the seeds of European society in Florida, and

among the Mobilian tribes,
3 and to shed the illumination of their dim Chris-

tianity over the dreary region of the North, was their own bright light extin-

guished. The Aztecs and their neighbors were beaten into the dust of

debasement by the falchion blows of avarice and bigotry, and nothing remains

to attest their superiority but the magnificent ruins of their cities and temples,

and their colossal statuary, which has survived the fury of the Spanish icono-

clast and the tooth of decay. They form, apparently, not the most insignificant

atom of the chain of events which connects the history of the Aboriginal nations

of America with that of our Republic. The position of the tribes of the

North is different. From the beginning of European settlements, they have

maintained, and do still maintain, an important relation to the white people.

The first inhabitants of a country properly belong to the history of all sub-

sequent occupants of the territory. The several nations of red or copper-
colored people who occupied the present domain of the United States, when

Europeans first came, form as necessary materials for a portion of the history
of our Republic, as the Frenchmen4 and Spaniards,

6

by whom parts of the

territory wer settled, and from whom they have been taken by conquest or

purchase.

The history of the Indian 6
tribes, previous to the formation of settlements

among them, by Europeans,
7 is involved in an obscurity which is penetrated

'Page 360. s Page 43. s Page 29. < Page 180.
5 Page 5. 6 Page 40. 7 Before the year 1607.
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only by vague traditions and uncertain conjectures. Whence came they? ip a

question yet unanswered by established facts. In the Old World, the monu-

ments of an ancient people often record their history. In North America,

such intelligible records are wanting. Within almost every State and Terri-

tory remains of human skill and labor have been found,
1

which seem to attest

the existence here of a civilized nation or nations, before the ancestors of our

numerous Indian tribes became masters of the Continent. Some of these

appear to give indisputable evidence of intercourse between the people of the

Old World and those of America, centuries, perhaps, before the birth of Christ,

and at periods soon afterward.
2 The whole mass of testimony yet discovered

does not prove that such intercourse was extensive; that colonies from the

eastern hemisphere ever made permanent settlements in America, or remained

long ei>ough to impress their character upon the country or the Aboriginals, if

they existed
;
or that a high degree of civilization had ever prevailed on our

Continent.

The origin of the Indian tribes is referred by some to the Phoenicians and

other maritime nations, whose extensive voyages have been mentioned by
ancient writers, and among whom tradition seemed to cherish memories of far-

off lands beyond the sea, unknown to the earlier geographers. Others per-

ceive evidences of their Egyptian or Hindoo parentage ;
and others find their

ancestors among the "lost tribes of Israel," who "took counsel to go forth

into a further country where never mankind dwelt,"
3 and crossed from north-

eastern Asia to our Continent, by way of the Aleutian Islands, or by Beh-

ring's Straits.
4 These various theories, and many others respecting settlements

of Europeans and Asiatics here, long before the time of Columbus, unsupported
as they are by a sufficiency of acknowledged facts, have so little practical value

' Remains of fortifications, similar in form to those of ancient European nations, have been
discovered. An idol, composed of clay and gypsum, representing a man without arms, and in

all respects resembling one found in Southern Russia, was dug up near Nashville, in Tennessee.
Also fireplaces, of regular structure

; weapons and utensils of copper ;
catacombs with mummies

;

ornaments of silver, brass, and copper; walls efforts and cities, and many other things which only
a people advanced in civilization could have made. The Aboriginals, themselves, have various

traditions respecting their origin each nation having its distinct records in the memory. Nearly
all have traditional glimpses of a great and universal deluge ;

and some say their particular pro-

genitor came in a bark canoe after that terrible event. This belief, with modifications, was current

r.mong most of the northern tribes, and was a recorded tradition of the half-civilized Aztecs.

j.'he latter ascribed all their knowledge of the arts and their religious ceremonies, to a white and
bearded mortal who came among them; and wheu his mission was ended, was made immortal by
ab.e Great Spirit.

2 A Roman coin was found in Missouri
;
a Persian coin in Ohio

;
a bit of silver in Genesee

county, New York, with the year of our Lord, 600, engraved on it; split wood and ashes, thirty
J-Dot below the surface of the earth, near Fredonia, New York

;
and near Montevideo, South

America, in a tomb, were found two ancient swords, a helmet and shield, with Greek inscriptions,

eiiowing that they -vere made in the time of Alexander the Great, 330 years before Christ. Near

Marietta, Ohio, a silver cup, finely gilded within, was founA in an ancient mound. Traces of iron

utensils, wholly reduced to rust, mirrors of isinglass, and glazed pottery, have also been discovered
in these mounds. Tnese are evidences of the existence of a race far more civilized than the tribes

found by modern Europeans.
3 2 Esdras, xiii. 40-45.
4 The people of north-eastern Asia, and on the north-west coast of America, have a near

resemblance in person, customs, and languages ;
and those of the Aleutian Islands present many

of the characteristics of both. Ledyard said of the people of Easteri Siberia,
"
Universally and

circumstantiallj they resemble the Aborigines of America."
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for the student of our history, that we will not occupy space in giving a deline-

ation of even their outlines. There are elaborately-written works specially

devoted to this field of inquiry, and to those the curious reader is referred.

The proper investigation of such subjects requires the aid of varied and exten-

sive knowledge, and a far wider field for discussion than the pages of a volume

like this. So we will leave the field of conjecture for the more useful and

important domain of recorded history.

The New World, dimly comprehended by Europeans, afforded materials fcr

wonderful narratives concerning its inhabitants and productions. The few-

natives who were found upon the seaboard, had all the characteristics common

to the human race. The interior of the Continent was a deep mystery, and

for a long time marvelous stories were related and believed of nations of giants

and pigmies ;
of people with only one eye, and that in the centre of the fore-

head
;
and of whole tribes who existed without eating. But when sober men

penetrated the forests and became acquainted with the inhabitants, it was dis-

covered that from the Gulf of Mexico to the country north of the chain of

great lakes which divide the United States and the British possessions, the

people were not remarkable in persons and qualities, and that a great similarity

in manners and institutions prevailed over that whole extent of country.

The Aboriginals spoke a great variety of dialects, but there existed not

more than eight radically distinct languages among them all, from the Atlan-

tic to the Mississippi, and westward to the Rocky Mountains, namely : AL-

GONQUIN, HURON-lROQUOIS, CHEROKEE, CATAWBA, UCHEE, NATCHEZ,

MOBILIAN, and DAHCOTAH or Sioux. These occupied a region embraced

within about twenty-four degrees of latitude and almost forty degrees of longi-

tude, and covering a greater portion of the breadth of the north temperate
zone.

All the nations and tribes were similar in physical character, moral senti-

ment, social and political organization, and religious belief. They were all of

a copper color; were tall, straight, and well-proportioned; their eyes black

and expressive; their hair black, long, coarse, and perfectly straight: their

constitutions vigorous, and their powers of endurance remarkable. Bodily

deformity was almost unknown, and few diseases prevailed. They were indo-

lent, taciturn, and unsocial
; brave, and sometimes generous in war

;
unflinch-

ing under torture; revengeful, treacherous, and morose when injured or

offended
;
not always grateful for favors

; grave and sagacious in council
;
often

eloquent in speech ;
sometimes warm and constant in friendship, and occasion-

ally courteous and polite.

The men were employed in war, hunting and fishing. The women per-
formed all menial services. In hunting and fishing the men were assiduous

and very skillful. They carried the knowledge of woodcraft to the highest

degree of perfection ;
and the slightest indication, such as the breaking of a

twig, or the bending of grass, was often sufficient to form a clew to the pathway
of an enemy or of game. The women bore all burdens during journeys;

spread the tents; prepared food; dressed skins for clothing; wove mats for
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beds, made of the bark of trees and the skins of animals
;
and planted and

gathered the scanty crops of corn, beans, peas, potatoes,

melons, and tobacco. These constituted the chief agri-

cultural productions of the Aboriginals, under the most

favorable circumstances. In these labors the men never

engaged ; they only manufactured their implements of

Their wigwams, or houses, were rude huts, madewar.

A WIGWAM.of poles covered with mats, skins, or bark of trees
;
and

all of their domestic arrangements were very simple.

And simple, too, were their implements of labor. They were made of stones,

shells, and bones, with which they prepared their food, made their clothing and

habitations, and tilled their lands. Their food consisted of a few vegetables,
and the meat of the deer, buffalo, and bear, generally roasted upon the

points of sticks; sometimes boiled in water heated by hot

stones, and always eaten without salt. Their dress in summer
was a slight covering around the loins. In winter they were

clad in the skins of wild beasts,
1

often profusely ornamented

with the claws of the bear, the horns of the buffalo, the feathers

of birds, and the bones of fishes. Their faces were often tat-

tooed, and generally painted with bright colors in hideous

devices. Their money was little tubes made of shells, fastened

upon belts or strung in chains, and called wampum? It was

used in traffic, in treaties, and as a token of friendship or alliance. Wampum
belts constituted records of public transactions in the hands of a chief.

There was no written language in all the

New World, except rude hieroglyphics, or

picture writings. The history of the

nations, consisting of the records of warlike

achievements, treaties of alliance, and

deeds of great men, was, in the form of

traditions, carefully handed down from

father to son, especially from chief to chief.

WAMPUM.

INDIAN HIEROGLYPHICS. 3

Children were taught the simple

1

They usually wore the skins of the deer, the elk, and the bear, prepared with the fur

on : sometimes of the buffalo also.
a
Wampum is yet in use, as money, among some of the Western tribes, and is manufactured,

we believe, as an article of commerce on the sea-shore of one of the counties of New Jersey. It is

made of the clear parts of the common clam-shell. This part being split off, a hole is drilled in it,

and the form, which is that of the bead now known as the bugle, is produced by friction. They are
about half an inch long, generally disposed in alternate layers of white and bluish black, and

valued, when they become a circulating medium, at about two cents for three of the black beads,
or six of the white. They were strung in parcels to represent a penny, three pence, a shilling,
and five shillings, of white

;
and double that amount in black. A fathom of white was worth

about two dollars and a half, and black about five dollars. They were of less value at the time of
our war for independence. The engraving shows a part of a string and a belt of wampum.

3 This is part of a record of a war expedition. The figures on the right and left one with a

gun and the other with a hatchet denote prisoners taken by a warrior. The one without a head,
and holding a bow and arrow, denotes that one was killed

;
and the figure with a shaded part

below the cross indicates a female prisoner. Then he goes in a war canoe, with nine companions,
denoted by the paddles, after which a council is held by the chiefs of the Bear and Turtle tribes,

indicated by rude figures of these animals on each side of a fire.
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arts practiced among them, such as making wampum, constructing bows,

arrows, and spears, preparing matting and skins for domestic use, and fashion-

ing rude personal ornaments.

Individual and national pride prevailed among the Aboriginals. They

were ambitious of distinction, and therefore war was the chief vocation, as wo

have said, of the men.
1

They generally went forth in parties of about forty

bowmen. Sometimes a half-dozen, like knights-

errant," went out upon the war-path to seek renown in

combat. Their weapons were bows and arrows, hatch-

ets (tomahawks) of stone, and scalping-knives of bone.

Soon after they became acquainted with the Euro-

peans, they procured knives and hatchets made of

iron, and this was a great advance in the

increass of their power. Some wore

shields of bark
;
others wore skin dresses

for protection. They were skillful in stratagem, and seldom met

an enemy in open fight. Ambush and secret attack were their

favorite methods of gaining an advantage over an enemy. Their

closD personal encounters were fierce and bloody. They made

prisoners, and tortured them, and the scalps* of enemies were

their trophies of war. Peace was arranged by sachems
5
in council

;

and each smoking the same "pipe of peace," called calumet
6 was CALUMETS.

a solemn pledge of fidelity to the contract.

With the Indians, as with many oriental nations, women were regarded as

inferior beings. They were degraded to the condition of abject slaves, and they

never engaged with the men in their amusements of leaping, dancing, target-

shooting, ball-playing, and games of chance. They were allowed as spectators,

with their children, at war-dances around fires, when the men recited the feats

of their ancestors and of themselves. Marriage, among them, was only a tem-

porary contract a sort of purchase the father receiving presents from the

1 It was offensive to a chief or warrior to ask him his name, because it implied that his brave
deeds were unknown. Red Jacket, the great Seneca chief (whose portrait is at the head of this

chapter), was asked his name in court, in compliance with a legal form. He was very indignant,
and replied,

" Look at the papers which the white people keep the most carefully" (land cession

treaties)
"
they will tell you who I am." Red Jacket was born near Geneva, New York, about

1750. and died in 1830. He was the last great chief of the Senecas. For a biographical sketch of

him, see Lossing's
" Eminent Americans."

8
Knights-errant of Europe, six hundred years ago, were men clothed in metal armor, who

went from country to country, to win fame by personal combats with other knights. They also

engaged in wars. For about three hundred years, knights-errant and their exploits formed the
chief amusement of the courts of Europe. It is curious to trace the connection of the spirit of

knighthood, as exhibited by the one hundred and thirty-five orders that have existed, at

various time's, in the Old World, with some of the customs of the rude Aboriginals of North
America

3
a, bow and arrow

; I, a war club
; c, an iron tomahawk

; d, a stone one
; e, a scalping-

knife.
4 They seized an enemy by the hair, and by a skillful use of the knife, cut and tore from the

top of the head a large portion of the skin.
* Sachems were the civil heads of nations or tribes

; chiefs were military leaders.
e Tobacco was in general use among the Indians for smoking, when the white men came. The

more filthy practice of chewing it was invented by the white people. The calumet was made of

pipe-clay, and was often ornamented with feathers.
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BURIAL-PLACE.

iusband, in exchange for the daughter, who, generally, after being fondled and

favored for a few months, was debased to the condition of a domestic servant, at

best. The men had the right to take wives and dismiss them at pleasure ; and,

theugh polygamy was not very common, except among the chiefs, it was not

objectionable. Every Indian might have as many wives as he could purchase
and maintain. The husband might put his wife to death if she proved unfaithful

to him. The affections were ruled by custom, and those decorous endearments

and attentions toward woman, which give a charm to civilized
society, were

wholly unknown among the Indians
; yet the sentiment of conjugal love was

not always wanting, and attachments for life were frequent. There was no

society to call for woman's refining qualities to give it beauty, for they had but

few local attachments, except for the burial-places of their dead.

From the frozen North to the tropical South, their funeral ceremonies

and methods of burial were similar. They laid their dead, wrapped in skins,

upon sticks, in the bottom of a shallow pit, or placed
them in a sitting posture, or occasionally folded them

in skins, and laid them upon high scaffolds, out of the

reach of wild beasts. Their arms, utensils, paints,

and food, were buried with them, to be used on their

long journey to the spirit-land. By this custom, the

doctrine of the immortality of the soul was clearly and

forcibly taught, not as distinctively spiritual, but as

possessing the two-fold nature of matter and spirit. Over their graves they
raised mounds, and planted beautiful wild-flowers upon them. The Algon-

quins, especially, always lighted the symbolical funeral pyre, for several nights,

upon the grave, that the soul might perceive and enjoy the respect paid to the

body. Relatives uttered piercing cries and great lamentations during the

burial, and they continued mourning many days.

Like that of the earlier nations of the world, their religion was simple, with-

out many ceremonies, and was universally embraced. They had no infidels

among them. The duality of God is the most ancient tenet of Indian faith

a prominent tenet, it will be observed, in the belief of all of the more advanced

oriental nations of antiquity. They believed in the existence of two Great

Spirits : the one eminently great was the Good Spirit,
1 and the inferior was an

Evil one. They also deified the sun, moon, stars, meteors, fire, water, thun-

der, wind, and every thing which they held to be superior to themselves, but

1

They believed every animal to have had a great original, or father. The first buffalo, the first

bear, the first beaver, the first eagle, etc., was the Manitou of the whole race of the different crea-

tures. They chose some one of these originals as their special Hanitou, or guardian, and hence

arose the custom of having the figure of some animal for the arms or symbol
of a tribe, called Mum. For example, each of the FIVE NATIONS (see page 12)

was divided into several tribes, designated The Wolf, The Bear, The Turtle,

etc., and their respective totums were rude representations of these animals.

When they signed treaties with the white people, they sometimes sketched

outlines of their Mums. The annexed cut represents the iotum of Teyenda-

gages, of the Turtle tribe of the Mohawk nation, as aflixed by him to a deed

It would be a curious and pleasant task to trace the intimate connection 01

this totemic system with the use of symbolical signet-rings, and other seals of antiquity, and, by suc-

cession, the heraldic devices of modern times.

TOT0M..
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they never exalted their heroes or prophets above the sphere of humanity.

They also adored an invisible, great Master of life, in different forms, which

they called Manitou, and made it a sort of tutelar deity. They had vague

ideas of the doctrine of atonement for sins, and made propitiatory sacrifices with

oreat solemnity. All of them had dim traditions of the creation, and of a great

delude which covered the earth. Each nation, as we have observed, had crude

notions, drawn from tradition, of their own distinct origin, and all agreed that

their ancestors came from the North.

It can hardly be said that the Indians had any true government. It was a

mixture of the patriarchal and despotic. Public opinion and common usage

were the only laws of the Indian.
1 All political power was vested in a sachem

or chief, who was sometimes an hereditary monarch, but frequently owed his

elevation to his own merits as a warrior or orator. While in power, he was

absolute in the execution of enterprises, if the tribe confided in his wisdom.

Public opinion, alone, sustained him. It elevated him, and it might depose

him. The office of chief was often hereditary, and its duties were sometimes exer-

cised even by women. Unlike the system of lineal descent which prevails in

the Old World, the heir to the Indian throne of power was not the chief's own

son, but the son of his sister. This usage was found to be universal through-

out the continent. Yet the accident of birth was of little moment. If the

recipient of the honor was not worthy of it, the title might remain, but the in-

fluence passed into other hands. This rule might be followed, with benefit, by
civilized communities. Every measure of importance was matured in council,

which was composed of the elders, with the sachem as umpire. His decision

was final, and wherever he led, the whole tribe followed. The utmost decorum

prevailed in the public assemblies, and a speaker was always listened to with

respectful silence.

We have thus briefly sketched the general character of the inhabitants of

the territory of the United States, when discovered by Europeans. Although
inferior in intellectual cultivation and approaches to the arts of civilization, to

the native inhabitants of Mexico2 and South America, and to a race which

evidently occupied the continent before them, they possessed greater personal
manliness and vigor than the more southern ones discovered by the Spaniards.

They were almost all wanderers, and roamed over the vast solitudes of a fertile

continent, free as the air, and unmindful of the wealth in the soil under their

feet. The great garden of the western world needed tillers, and white men
came. They have thoroughly changed the condition of the land and the people.
The light of civilization has revealed, and industry has developed, vast treas-

ures in the soil, while before its radiance the Aboriginals are rapidly melting
like snow in the sunbeams. A few generations will pass, and no representa-
tive of the North American Indian will remain upon the earth.

1 It was said of McGillivray, the half-breed emperor of the Creeks, who died in 1793, that, not-

withstanding he called himself "
King of kings," and was idolized by his people,

" he could neither
restrain the meanest fellow of his nation from the commission of a crime, nor punish him after ho
had committed it. He might persuade, or advis^ all the good an Indian Jdnp or chief can do,

"

8 Page 43.
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CHAPTER II.

THE ALGONQUIN S.

THE first tribes of Indians, discovered by the French in Canada,
' were in-

habitants of the vicinity of Quebec, and the adventurers called them Mon-

tagners, or Mountain Indians, from a range of high hills westward of that city.

Ascending the St. Lawrence, they found a numerous tribe on the Ottawa

River, who spoke an entirely different dialect, if not a distinct language.

These they called ALGONQUINS, and this name was afterward applied to that

great collection of tribes north and south of Lakes Erie and Ontario, who spoke
dialects of the same language. They inhabited the territory now included in

all of Canada, New England, a part of New York and Pennsylvania, the

States of New Jersey, Delaware, Maryland, and Virginia, eastern North Car-

olina above Cape Fear, a large portion of Kentucky and Tennessee, and all north

and west of these States, eastward of the Mississippi.

The ALGONQUIN nation was composed of several powerful tribes, the most

important of which were the Knisteneaux and Athapascas, in the far north, the

Ottawas, Chippewas, Sacs and Foxes, Menomonees, Miamies, Piankeshaws,

Pottowatomies, Kickapoos, Illinois, Shawnees, Powhatans, Corees, Nanticokes,

Lenni- Lenapes, or Delawares, Mohegans, the New England Indians, and the

Abenakes. There were smaller, independent tribes, the principal of which

were the Susquehannocks, on the Susquehanna in Pennsylvania ;
the Manna-

hoacks, in the hill country between the York and Potomac Rivers, and the

Monocans, on the head waters of the James River in Virginia. All of these

tribes were divided into cantons or clans, sometimes so small as to afford only a

war party of forty bowmen.

The KNISTENEAUX yet [1883] inhabit a domain extending across the con-

tinent from Labrador to the Rocky Mountains, and are the hereditary ene-

mies of the ESQUIMAUX, their neighbors of the Polar Circle. The Athapascas

inhabit a belt of country from Churchill's River and Hudson's Bay to within a

hundred miles of the Pacific coast, and combine a large number of tribes who

speak a similar language. They, too, are the enemies of the Esquimaux. The

extensive domain occupied by these tribes and the Esquimaux, is claimed by
the British, and is under the control of the Hudson's Bay Company. The

orginal land of the OTTAWAS was on the west side of Lake Huron, but they
were seated upon the river in Canada bearing their name, when the French dis-

covered them. They claimed sovereignty over that region, and exacted tribute

from those who passed to or from the domain of the Hurons. 2
They assisted

1

Page 48.
2 Between the Ottawas and Hurons, was a tribe called Mississaguies, who appear to have left the

ALGONQUINS, and joined the FIVE NATIONS, south of Lake Ontario. Remnants of this tribe are

etill found in Canada.

2
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the latter in a war with the FIVE NATIONS' in 1650, and suffered much. The

Hurons were almost destroyed, and the OTTAWAS were much reduced in num-

bers. Some of them, with the Huron remnant, joined the Chippewas, and,

finally, the whole tribe returned to their ancient seat [1680] in the northern

part of the Michigan peninsula. Under their great chief, Pontiac, they were

confederated with several other ALGONQUIN tribes of the north-west, in an

attempt to exterminate the white people, in 1763. 2 Within a fortnight, in the

summer of that year, they took possession of all the English garrisons and

trading posts in the West, except Detroit, Niagara,
3 and Fort Pitt. 4 Peace was

restored in 17645, the confederation was dissolved, and Pontiac took up his

abode with the Illinois, where he was murdered. 5 " This murder," says Nicol-

let,
" which roused the vengeance of all the Indian tribes friendly to Pontiac,

brought about the successive wars, and almost extermination of the Illinois na-

tion." His broken nation sought refuge with the French, and their descendants

maj yet [1883] be found in Canada.

Those two once powerful tribes, the CHIPPEWAS and POTTAWATOMTES, were

closely allied by language and friendship. The former were on the southern

shores of Lake Superior; the latter occupied the islands and main land on the

western shores of Green Bay, when first discovered by the French in 1761.

These afterward seated themselves on the southern shore of Lake MichioranO

[1701], where they remained until removed, by treaty, to lands upon the Little

Osage River, westward of Missouri They are now [1883] the most numerous
of all the remnants of the ALGONQUIN" tribes. The Chippewas and the Sioux,
west of the Mississippi, were, for a long time, their deadly enemies.

The Sacs and Foxes are really one tribe. They were first discovered by the

trench at the southern extremity of Green Bay, in 1680. In 1712 the French

garrison of twenty men at Detroit,
6 was attacked by the Foxes. The French

repulsed them, with the aid of the Ottawas, and almost destroyed the assailants.

They joined the Kickapoos in 1722, in driving the Illinois from their lands on
the river of that name. The Illinois took refuge with the French, and the

Kickapoos remained on their lands until 1819, when they went
to the west bank of the Missouri in the vicinity of Fort Leav-
enworth. The Sacs and Foxes sold their lands to the United
States in 1830. Black Hawk, a Sac chief, who, with his

people, joined the English in our second war with Great Brit-

ain,
7
demurred, and commenced hostilities in 1832. 3 The In-

dians were defeated, and Black Hawk,
9 with many of his war-

riors, were made prisoners.
BLACK IIAWK<

Among the very few Indian tribes who have remained upon their ancient

1
Chapter ITT., p 23. Pape 205. 3 page 200. < pa<Te 198
He was buried on the site of the city of St. Louis, in Missouri. " Neither mound nor tablet

"

ears Parkman,
" marked the burial-place of Pontiac. For a mausoleum, a city has risen above the

forest hero, and the race whom he hated with such burning rancor, trample with unceasing foot-
eUps over his forgotten grave."

6 Page 180. 7 page 409. s Page 463
This picture is from a plaster-cast of the face of Black Hawk, taken when he was a prisoner' inNew York, in 1832. See page 463.



THE ALGONQUINS. 19

territory, during all the vicissitudes of their race, are the MENOMONEES, who
were discovered by the French, upon the shores of Green Bay, in 1699. They

yet [1883] occupy a portion of their ancient territory, while their southern

neighbors and friends, the Winnebagoes, have gone westward of the Mississippi.
1

The MIAMIES and PIANKESHAWS inhabited that portion of Ohio lying be-

tween the Maumee River of Lake Erie, and the ridge which separates the head

waters of the Wabash from the Kaskaskias. They were called Twightwees by
the FIVE NATIONS, and English. Of all the Western tribes, these have ever

been the most active enemies of the United States. 2
They have ceded their

lands, and are now [1883] far beyond the Mississippi.

The ILLINOIS formed a numerous tribe, twelve thousand strong, when dis-

covered by the French. They were seated upon the Illinois River, and consisted

of a confederation of five families, namely, Kaskaskias, Cahokias, Tamaronas,

Michigamias, and Peorias. Weakened by internal feuds, the confederacy was

reduced to a handful, by their hostile neighbors. They ceded their lands in

1818, when they numbered only three hundred souls. A yet smaller remnant

are now [1883] upon lands west of the Mississippi. It can not properly be said

that they have a tribal existence. They are among the many extinct commun-

ities of our continent.

The once powerful SHAWNOESE occupied a vast region west of the Alleghan-

ies,
3 and their great council-house was in the bnsin of the Cumberland River.

At about the time when the English first landed at Jamestown* [1607], they
were driven from their country by more southern tribes. Some crossed the

Ohio, and settled on the Sciota, near the present Chilicothe
;
others wandered

eastward into Pennsylvania. The Ohio division joined the Eries and Andastes

against the FIVE NATIONS in 1672. Suffering defeat, the Shawnoese fled to

the country of the Catawbas, but were soon driven out, and found shelter with

the Creeks. 3
They finally returned to Ohio, and being joined by their Penn-

sylvania brethren, they formed an alliance with the French against the En-

glish, and were among the most active allies with the former, during the long
contest known in America as the French and Indian War. They continued

hostilities, in connection with the Delawares, even after the conquest of the

Canadas by the English.
6

They were subdued by Boquet in 1763,
7 and again

by Virginians, at Point Pleasant, at the mouth of the Great Kenawha, in 1774. s

They aided the British during the Revolution, and continued to annoy the

Americans until 1795, when permanent peace was established. 9

They were

the enemies of the Americans during their second war with Great Britain, aO

part of them fighting with the renowned Tecumtha. Now [1883] they are but

1 The Winnebagoes are the most dissolute of all the Indian remnants. In August, 1853, a treaty
was made with them to occupy the beautiful country above St. Paul, westward of the Mississippi,
between the Crow and Clear Water Rivers.

2
Page 408.

8 The Alleghany or Appalachian Mountains extend from the Catskills, in the State of New York,
!n a south-west direction, to Georgia and Alabama, and have been called

" the backbone of the

country." Some geographers extend them to the White Mountains of New Hampshire.
*
Page 64.

6
Page 30. Page 203.

1 Note 7, page 205.
8 Note 4, page 237. .

9 Page 374.
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a miserable remnant, and occupy lands south of the Kansas River The road

from Fort Independence' to Santa Fe passes through their territory.
2

The POWHATANS constituted a confederacy of more than twenty tribes, in-

cluding the Accohannocks and Accomacs, on the eastern shore of the Chesa-

peake Bay. Powhatan (the father of Pocahontas 3

),
was the chief sachem or

emperor of the confederacy, when the English first appeared upon the James

River, in 1607. He had arisen, by the force of his own genius, from the po-

sition of a petty chief to that of supreme ruler of a great confederacy. He gov-

erned despotically, for no man in his nation could approach him in genuine

ability as a leader and counselor. His court exhibited much barbaric state.

Through fear of the English, and a selfish policy, he and his people remained

nominally friendly to the white intruders during his lifetime, but after his

death, they made two attempts [1622, 1644] to exterminate the English. The

Powhatans were subjugated in 1644,
4 and from that time they gradually di-

minished in numbers and importance. Of all that great confederacy in Lower

Virginia, it is believed that not one representative on earth remains, or that

one tongue speaks their dialect.

On the Atlantic coast, south of the Powhatans, were the Corees, Cheraws,

and other small tribes, occupying the land once inhabited by the powerful Hat-

teras Indians. 5
They were allies of the Tuscaroras in 1711, in an attack upon

the English,
6 suffered defeat, and have now disappeared from the earth. Their

dialect also is forgotten.

Upon the great peninsula between the Chesapeake and Delaware Bays, were

the NANTICOKES. They were early made vassals, and finally allies, on com-

pulsion, of the FIVE NATIONS. They left their ancient domain in 1710, occu-

pied lands upon the Susquehanna, in Pennsylvania, until the Revolutionary

War commenced, when they crossed the Alleghanies, and joined the British in

the west. They are now [1883] scattered among many tribes.

The Original People,
7
as the LENNI-LENAPES (who are frequently called Del-

1 United States fort on the Missouri. Santa Fe is in New Mexico, 765 miles south-west of Fort

Independence.
* One of the most eminent of the Shawnoe chiefs, was Cornstalk, who was generally friendly to

the Americans, and was always ready to assist in negotiating an honorable peace between them and
his own people. But he cordially united with Logan, the Mingo chief, against the white people in

1774
;
and during the same battle at Point Pleasant, his voice, stentorian in volume, was frequently

heard, calling to his men, "Be strong! be strong!" He made his warriors fight without wavering,
and actually sunk his tomahawk deep into the head of one who endeavored to escape. He was
murdered by some exasperated soldiers at Point Pleasant When he perceived their intent, he

calmly said to his son, who had just joined him,
" My son, the Great Spirit has seen fit that we

Should die together, and has sent you hither for that purpose. It is His will
;

let us submit."

Turning to the soldiers, he received the fatal bullets, and his son, who was sitting near him, was
sliot at the same time. The celebrated Tecumtha meaning a tiger crouching for his prey who
endeavored to confederate all the Western tribes in opposition to the white people, was also a
Shawnoe chief See page 408.

"
Page 66. 4 page 108.

5 This tribe numbered about three thousand warriors when Raleigh's expedition landed on
Roanoke Island in 1584; when the English made permanent settlements in that vicinity, eighty
years later, they were reduced to about fifteen bowmen. Page 168.

f This name has been applied to the whole ALGONQUIN nation. The Lenni-Lenapes claimed to
have come from beyond the Mississippi, conquering a more civilized people on the way, who
inhabited the great valleys beyond the Alleghany Mountains.
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awares) named themselves, comprised two powerful nations, namely, the Minsi

and the Delawares proper. The former occupied the northern part of New
Jersey, and a portion of Pennsylvania, and the latter inhabited lower New Jer-

sey, the banks of the Delaware below Trenton, and the whole valley of the

Schuylkill. The FIVE NATIONS subjugated them in 1650, and brought them
under degrading vassalage. They gradually retreated westward before the tide

of civilization, and finally a portion of them crossed the Alleghanies, and settled

in the land of the Hurons,
1

on the Muskingum, in Ohio. Those who remained

in Pennsylvania joined the Shawnoese/ and aided the French against the En-

glish, during the French and Indian War. 3 In 1768, they all went over the

mountains, and the great body of them became friends of the British during the

Revolution. They were at the head of the confederacy of Western tribes who
were cashed by Wayne in 1794,

4 and the following year they ceded all their

lands on the Muskingum, and seated themselves near the Wabash. In 1819,

they ceded those lands also, and the remnant now [1883] occupy a territory
north of the Kansas River, near its mouth.

The MOHEGANS were a distinct tribe, on the Hudson River, but the name

was given to the several independent tribes who inhabited Long Island, and the

country between the Lenni-Lenapes and the New England Indians. 5 Of this

family, the Pequods,
6

inhabiting eastern Connecticut, on the shores of Long
Island Sound, were the most powerful. They exercised authority over the

Montauks and twelve other tribes upon Long Island. Their power was broken

by the revolt of Uncas against his chief, Sassacus,
7 a short time before the ap-

pearance of the white people. The Manhattans were seated upon the Hudson,
in lower Westchester, and sold Manhattan Island, whereon New York now

stands, to the Dutch. 8 The latter had frequent conflicts with these and other

River Indians.
9 The Dutch were generally conquerors. The Mohawks, one

of the FIVE NATIONS,
10
were pressing hard upon them, at the same time, and

several of the Mohegan tribes were reduced to the condition of vassals of that

confederacy. Peace was effected, in 1665, by the English governor at New
York. In the mean while, the English and Narragansets had

smitten the Pequods,
11 and the remaining independent Mohe-

gans, reduced to a handful, finally took up their abode upon the

west bank of the Thames, five miles below Norwich;
12

at a place

still known as Mohegan Plain. Their burial-place was at Nor-

wich, and there a granite monument rests upon the grave of

Uncas. The tribe is now almost extinct "the last of the Mo-

hicans win soon gleep with his fathers.
13

*
Page 23. Page 19. Fourth Period, Chap. IL 4

Page 374.
8
Page 22 "

Page 86.
7
Page 87.

"
Page 139.

9
Page 140.

lo
Page 23.

"
Page 87.

" Note 4, page 340.
13 The last known lineal descendant of Uncas, namer* Mazeon, was buried in the Indian cemetery,

at Norwich, in 1827, when the remnant of the Mohega.i tribe, then numbering about sixty, were

present, and partook of a cold collation prepared for them by a lady of that city. The most noted

leaders among the New England Indians known to history, are Massasoit, the father of the re-

nowned King Philip, Caunbitant, a very distinguished captain; Hobomok; Canonicus; Miacto-

nomoh ; Ninigret, his cousin
; King Philip, the last of the Wampanoags ,

Canonchet and Anna-
wan. We shall meet them in future pages.
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The Aboriginals who inhabited the country from Connecticut to the Saco

River, were called the NEW ENGLAND INDIANS. The principal tribes were the

Narragansets in Rhode Island, and on the western shores of Narraganset Bay ;

the Pokonokets and Wampanoags on the eastern shore of the same bay, and in

a portion of Massachusetts
;
the Nipmucs in the center of Massachusetts

; the

Massachusetts in the vicinity of Boston and the shores southward; and the

Pawtuckets in the north-eastern part of Massachusetts, embracing the Penna-

cooks of New Ilampshire. These were divided into smaller bands, having

petty chiefs. The Pokonokets, for example, were divided into nine separate

cantons or tribes, each having its military or civil ruler, but all holding alle-

giance to one Grand Sachem. They were warlike, and were continually

engaged in hostilities with the FIVE NATIONS, or with the Mohegans. The

English and Butch effected a general peace among them in 1673. Two years
afterward [1675], Metacomet (King Philip) aroused most of the New England
tribes against the English. A fierce war ensued, but ended in the subjugation
of the Indians and the death of Philip, in 1676.' The power of the New

England Indians was then completely broken. Some joined the more eastern

tribes, and others took refuge in Canada, from whence they frequently came to

the border settlements on errands of revenge.* These incursions ceased when
the French dominion in Canada ended in 1763.

1 When the Puritans came 4

11620], the New England Indians numbered about ten thousand souls; now

[1883] probably not three hundred representatives remain
;
and the dialects

of all, excepting that of the Narragansets, are forgotten.

Eastward of the Saco River were the Abenakes. The chief tribes were the

Penobscots, Norridgewocks, Androscoggins, and Passamaquoddies. These,

with the more eastern tribes of the Micmacs and Etchemins, were made nom-

inal Christians by the French Jesuits
;'

and they were all firm allies of the

French until the conquest of Canada by the English, in 1760.* Most of the

ABENAKES, except the Penobscots, withdrew to Canada in 1754. A few

scattered families of the latter yet [1883] dwell upon the banks of the Penob-

scot River, and wanderers are seen on the St. Lawrence. Like other New

England tribes, they are rapidly fading, and will, doubtless, be extinct before

the dawn of another century.

CHAPTER III.

THE H U R N-I R Q U I S.

WE now come to consider the most interesting, in many respects, of all the

aboriginal tribes of North America, called IROQUOIS by the French. The pre-
fix "Huron" was given, because that people seemed, by their language, to form

4
Page 128. Page 130. Page 202. Page 114. Page 130. Page 203.
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a part of the IROQUOIS nation, and like them, were isolated in the midst of the

ALQONQUINS, when discovered by the Europeans. The great body of the

IROQUOIS occupied almost the whole territory in Canada, south-west of the

Ottowa River, between Lakes Ontario, Erie and Huron
;
a greater portion of

the State of New York, and a part of Pennsylvania and Ohio along the south-

ern shores of Lake Erie. They were completely surrounded by the ALGON-

QUINS, in whose southern border in portions of North Carolina and Virginia,

were the Tuscaroras and a few smaller Iroquois tribes.
1 The Hurons occupied

the Canadian portions of the territory, and the land on the southern shore 01

Lake Erie, and appeared to be a distinct nation
;
but their language was found

to be identical with that of the Iroquois. The Hurons consisted of four smaller

tribes, namely, the Wyandots or Hurons proper, the Attiouandirons,
3

the

Eries, and the Andastes. The two latter tribes were south of the lake, and

claimed jurisdiction back to the domains of the Shawnoese.*

Those "Romans of the Western World," the FIVE NATIONS, or IROQUOIS

proper, formed a confederacy composed of the Seneca, Cayuga, Onondaga,

Oneida, and Mohawk tribes, all occupying lands within the present State of New
York. They fancifully called their confederacy the Long House. The eastern

door was kept by the Mohawks
;
the western by the Senecas

;
and the Great

Council fire was with the Onondagas, at the metropolis, or chief village, near

the present city of Syracuse. The French, as we have observed, gave them

the name of Iroquois ;
the ALGONQUINS called them Mingoes.

4 At what time

the confederacy was formed, is not known. It was strong and powerful when

the French discovered them, in 1609, and they were then engaged in bloody
wars with their kinsmen, the Wyandots.

6

1 The Southern Iroquois were the Tuscaroras, Chowans, Meherrins, and Nottoways. The thre*

latter were upon the rivers in lower Virginia, called by their respective names, and were knowz.

under the general title of Tuscaroras.
8 Neutral Nation. When the Hurons and FIVE NATIONS were at war, the Attiouandirons fled

to the Sandusky, and built a fort for each of the belligerents when in that region. But their neu-

trality did not save them from internal feuds which finally dismembered the tribe. One party

joined the "Wyandots ;
the other the Iroquois.

3 Page 19.
4 Mingoes, Minquas, and Maquas, were terms more particularly applied to the Mohawk tribe,

who called themselves Kayingehaga, "possessors of the flint." The confederation assumed the

title of Aquinuschioni, "united people;" or as some say, Konoshioni, "cabin builders."

s The time of the formation of the confederation is supposed to have been at about the year
1539. According to their own tradition, it was about two generations before the white people
came to trade with them. Clarke, in his history of Onondaga county, has given, from the lips of an

old chief of the Onondaga tribe, that beautiful legend of the formation of the great confederacy,
which forms the basis of Longfellow's Indian Edda,

" HI-A-WAT-HA." Centuries ago, the story

runs, the deity who presides over fisheries and streams, came from his dwelling-place in the clouds,

to visit the inhabitants of earth. He was delighted with the land where the tribes that afterward

formed the confederacy, dwelt
;
and having bestowed many blessings on that land, he laid aside his

Divine character, and resolved to remain on earth. He selected a beautiful residence on the shore

of Te-ungk-too (Cross lake), and all the people called him Hi-a-wat-ha,
" the wise man." After a

while, the people were alarmed by the approach of a ferocious band of warriors from the country
north of the great lakes. Destruction seemed inevitable. The inhabitants thronged around the

lodge of Hi-a-wat-ha, from all quarters, craving his wise advice in this hour of great peril. After

solemn medita
1

ion, he told them to call a grand council of all the tribes. The chiefs and warriors

from far and i_3ar, assembled on the banks of Lake Oh-nen-ta-ha (Onondaga). The council-fire

blazed three days before the venerable Hi-a-wat-ha arrived. He had been devoutly praying, in

silence, to the Great Spirit, for guidance. Then, with his darling daughter, a virgin of twelve

years, he eniered his white canoe, and, to the great joy of the people, he appeared on the Oh-iien-
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In the year 1649, the FIVE NATIONS resolved to strike a final and decisive

blow against their western neighbors, and, gathering all their warriors, they

made a successful invasion of the Wyandot, or Huron country. Great num-

bers of the Wyandots were slain and made prisoners, and the whole tribe was

dispersed. Some of the fugitives took refuge with the Chippewas ;
others

fled to Quebec, and a few were incorporated into the Iroquois confederacy.

Yet the spirit of the Wyandots was not subdued, and they claimed and exer-

cised sovereignty over almost the whole of the Ohio country. They had great

influence among the ALGONQUIN tribes,
1 and even as late as the treaty of

Greenville, in 1795, the principal cession of lands in Ohio to the United

States was made by the Wyandot chiefs in council.
2

They, too, are reduced to

a mere remnant of less than five hundred souls, and now [1883] they occupy
lands on the Neosho River, a chief tributary of the Arkansas.

Being exceedingly warlike, the FIVE NATIONS made hostile expeditions

against the New England Indians
3

in the East, the Eries, Andastes, and

ta-ha. A great shout greeted him, and as he landed and walked up the bank, a sound like a

rushing wind was heard ; a dark spot, every moment increasing in size, was descending from the

clear sky. Fear seized the people ;
but Hi-a-wat-ha stood unmoved. The approaching object was

an immense bird. It came swiftly to earth, crushed the darling daughter of Hi-a-wat-ha was itself

destroyed, but the wise man was unharmed. Grief for his bereavement prostrated him in the dust
for three days. The council anxiously awaited his presence. At length he came : the subject of

the peril from invaders was discussed, and after deliberating a day, the venerable Hi-a-wat-ha
arose and said :

"Friends and Brothers You are members of many tribes and nations. You have come here,

many of you, a great distance from your homes. We have met for one common purpose to pro-
mote one common interest, and that is, to provide for our mutual safety, and how it shall best be
accomplished. To oppose these foes from the north by tribes, singly and alone, would prove our
certain destruction. We can make no progress in that way. We must unite ourselves into one
common band of brothers

;
thus united, we may drive the invaders back

;
this must be done, and

we shall be safe.

"You, the MOHAWKS, sitting under the shadow of the 'Great Tree,' whose roots sink deep
into the earth, and whose branches spread over a vast country, shall be the first nation, because-

you are warlike and mighty.
"And you, ONEIDAS, a people who recline your bodies against the 'Everlasting Stone,' that

can not be moved, shall be the second nation, because you give wise counsel.
"And you, ONONDAGAS, who have your habitation at the 'Great Mountain,' and are over-

shadowed by its crags, shall be the third nation, because you are greatly gifted in speech, and
mighty in war.

"And you, CATUGAS, a people whose habitation is the 'Dark Forest,' and whose home is every-
where, shall be the fourth nation, because of your superior cunning hi hunting.

"And you, SENEGAS, a people who live in the 'Open Country,' and possess much wisdom,,
shall be the fifth nation, because you understand better the art of raising corn and beans, and
making cabins.

"
You, five great and powerful nations, must unite and have but one common interest, and no-

foe shall be able to disturb or subdue you. If we unite, the Great Spirit will smile upon
us. Brothers, these are the words of Hi-a-wat-ha let them sink deep into your hearts I have
said it."

They reflected for a day, and then the people of the " Great Tree," the "
Everlasting Stone,"

the "Great Mountain," the "Dark Forest," and the "
Open Country," formed a league like that of

the Amphyctioni of Greece. The enemy was repulsed, and the FIVE NATIONS became the terror
of the Continent. Then Hi-a-watha said," The Great Master of Breath calls me to go. I have patiently waited his summons. I am
ready farewell !"

Myriads of singing voices burst upon the ears of the multitude, and the whole air seemed filled
with music. Hi-a-wat-ha, seated in his white canoe, rose majestically above the throng, and as all

eyes gazed in rapture upon the ascending wise man, he disappeared forever in the blue vault of
heaven. The music melted into low whispers, like the soft summer breeze; and there were
pleasant dreams ha every cabin of the FIVE NATIONS on that blessed nightJ

Page 17. 2 Pace 374. 8 page 22.
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Miamies in the West,
1 and penetrated to the domains of the Catawbas 8 and

Cherokees 3 in the South. They subjugated the Eries in 1655, and after a con-

test of twenty years, brought the Andastes into vassalage. They conquered
the Miamies4 and Ottawas 5

in 1657, and made incursions as far as the Roanoke
and Cape Fear Rivers to the land of their kindred in language, the TuscaroraSj'
in 1701.

6

Thirty years afterward, having been joined by the Tuscaroras, and

the name of the confederacy changed to that of the Six NATIONS, they made
war upon the Cherokees and Catawbas.

7

They were led on by Hi-o-ka-too, a

Seneca chief. The Catawbas were almost annihilated by them, after a battle

of two days. So determined were the FIVE NATIONS to subdue the southern

tribes, that when, in 1744, they ceded a part of their lands to Virginia, they
reserved a perpetual privilege of a war-path through the territory.

In the year 1712, the Tuscaroras having been signally defeated by the

Carolinians,
8
came northward, and in 1714 joined the FIVE NATIONS. From

that time the confederacy was known as the Six NATIONS. They were gen'

erally the sure friends of the English and inveterate foes of the French/

They were all friends of the British during the Revelation, except a part of

the Oneidas, among whom the influence of the Rev. Samuel Kirkland
10
wa&

Page 17. Page 26. 3 page 27. * Page 17. s page 17

Page 168. "> Page 17. 8 Page 168. 9 Page 192.
10 Samuel Kirkland was one of the most laborious and self-sacrificing of the earlier missionaries,

who labored among the tribes of the Six NATIONS. He was born at Norwich, Connecticut, in

December, 1741. He was educated at Dr. Wheelock's school, at Lebanon, where he prepared for

that missionary work in which he labored forty vears. His efforts were put forth chiefly among
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very powerful, in favor of the Republicans. The Mohawks were the most

active enemies of the Americans
;
and they were obliged to leave the State and

take refuo-e in Canada at the close of the Revolution. The others were allowed
O

to remain, and now [1883] mere fragments of that great confederation exist,

and, in habits and character, they are radically changed. The confederacy

was forever extinguished by the sale of the residue of the Seneca lands in

1838. In 1715, the confederacy numbered more than forty thousand souls
;

now [1883] they are probably less than four thousand, most of whom are

upon lands beyond the Mississippi.
1

CHAPTER IV.

THE CATAWBAS.

IN that beautiful, hilly region, between the Yadkin and Catawba Rivers, on

each side of the boundary line between North and South Carolina, dwelt tht

CATAWBA nation. They were south-westward of the Tuscaroras, and were

generally on good terms with them. They were brave, but not warlike, and

their conflicts were usually in defense of their own territory. They expelled

the fugitive Shawnoese in 1672,
a
but were overmatched and desolated by the

warriors of the FIVE NATIONS3
in 1701. They assisted the white people of

South Carolina against the Tuscaroras and their confederates in 171 2
;

4
but

when, three years afterward, the southern tribes, from the Neuse region to that

of the St. Mary's, in Florida, and westward to the Alabama, seven thousand

the Oneidas; and, during the Revolution, he was active in restraining them from an alliance with

the rest of the confederacy against the Patriots. He was exceedingly useful in treaty-making ; for

he had the entire confidence of the Indians. He died at Paris, in Oneida county, in February,

1808, in the 67th year of his age. See Lossing's ''Eminent Americans" for a more elaborate sketch.
1 The chief men of the FIVE NATIONS, known to the white people, are Garangula, who was

distinguished toward the close of the seventeenth century for his wisdom and sagacity in council,

and was of the Onondaga tribe. Logan, whose celebrated reply to a white messenger has been

preserved by Mr Jefferson, was of the Cayuga tribe. To the messenger he said: "I appeal to any
white man to say if he ever entered Logan's cabin hungry, and he gave him no meat

;
if ever he

came cold and naked and he clothed him not." Then speaking of the cruelty of the white people,

who, in cold blood had murdered his family, he said : "They have murdered all the relations of

Logan^ not even sparing my women and children. This called on me for revenge ;
I have sought

it I have killed many. I have fully glutted my vengeance. For my country, I rejoice at the

beams of peace. But do not harbor the thought that mine is the joy of fear. Logan never felt

fear. He will not turn on his heel to save his life. "Who is there to mourn for Logan ? No i

one !" Joseph Brant (Thayendanega), was the most celebrated of the Mohawk tribe ;
and Red

Jacket (Sagoyewatha), was a very renowned Seneca, greatly distinguished for his eloquence.

Cornplanter, who lived till past a century in age, was also a distinguished Seneca chief. Red Jacket
was very intemperate toward the latter part of his life. On one occasion a lady inquired after his

children. He had lost fourteen by consumption. Bowing his head, he said :

" Red Jacket was
oiice a great man, and in favor with the Great Spirit. He was a lofty pine among the smaller trees

of the forest. But after years of glory, he degraded himself by drinking the fire-water of the white
man. The Great Spirit has looked upon him in anger, and H . lightning has stripped the pine of
its branches 1" 2 Page 19. 3 Page 23. * Page 168.
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strong, confederated in an attempt to exterminate the Carolinians,
1

the Cataw-

bas were among them.'

They were again the active allies of the Carolinians in 1760, when the

Cherokees made war upon them,
2 and they remained true friends of the white

people afterward. They joined the Americans during the Revolution, and

have ever since experienced the fostering care of the State, in some degree.
8

Their chief village was upon the Catawba River, near the mouth of the Fishing

Creek, in Yorkville district, South Carolina; and there the remnant of the

nation, numbering less than a hundred souls, were living upon a reservation, a

fetr miles square, when the late Civil War began.

CHAPTER V,

THE CHEROKEE S.

OF all the Indian tribes, the CHEROKEES, who dwelt westward and adjoining

the Tuscaroras 4 and Catawbas,
5
among the high hills and fertile valleys, have

ever been the most susceptible to the influences of civilization. They have been

properly called the mountaineers of the South. Their beautiful land extended

from the Carolina Broad River on the east, to the Alabama on the west, includ-

jng the whole of the upper portion of Georgia from the head waters of the Ala-

tamaha, to those of the Tennessee. It is one of the most delightful regions of

the United States.

These mountaineers were the determined foes of the Shawnoese,
6 and after

many conflicts, they finally drove them from the country south of the Ohio

River. They joined with the Catawbas and the white people against the Tus-

caroras in 1712,
7 but were members of the great confederation against the

Carolinians in 1715,
8 which we shall consider hereafter.

The FIVE NATIONS and the Cherokees had bloody contests for a long time.

A reconciliation was finally effected by the English about the year 1750, and

the Cherokees became the allies of the peace-makers, against the French.

They assisted in the capture of Fort Du Quesne in 1758,
9 but their irregular-

ities, on their return along the border settlements of Virginia, gave the white

people an apparent excuse for killing two or three warriors. Hatred was en-

gendered, and the Cherokees soon afterward retaliated by spreading destruction

1 Page 170. 2 Page 204.
8 In 1822, a Catawba warrior made an eloquent appeal to the legislature of South Carolina for

aid. "I pursued the deer for subsistence," he said, "but the deer are disappearing, and I must
starve. God ordained me for the forests, and my ambition is the shade. But the strength of my
arm decays, and my feet fail me in the chase. The hand that fought for your liberties is now open
to you for relief." A pension was granted.

4 Page 25. 5 page 204. 6 Page 19.

7
Page 168. Page 170. 9 Page 186.
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along the frontiers. * Hostilities continued a greater portion of three years,

when peace was established in 1761, and no more trouble ensued.

During the Kevolution the Cherokees adhered to the British
;
and for eight

years afterward they continued to annoy the people of the upper country of

the Carolinas. They were reconciled by treaty in 1791. They were friends

of the United States in 1812, and assisted in the subjugation of the Creeks. 2

Civilization was rapidly elevating them from the position of roving savages

to agriculturists and artisans, when their removal west of the Mississippi was

required. They had established schools, a printing press, and other means

for improvement and culture, when they were compelled to leave their farms

for a new home in the wilderness 3
They are in a fertile country, watered by

the Arkansas and its tributaries, and now [1883] number about fourteen thou-

sand souls. They were in a prosperous condition when the late Civil War

began.

CHAPTER VI.

THE UCHEES.

IN the pleasant country extending from the Savannah River, at Augusta,

westward to Milledgeville, and along the banks of the Oconee and the head

waters of the Ogeechee and Chattahoochee, the Europeans found a remnant

of the once powerful nation of the UCHEES. Their language was exceedingly

harsh, and totally unlike that of any other people on the continent. They
claimed to be descendants of the most ancient inhabitants of the country, and

took great pride in the fact
;
and they had no tradition of their ever occupy-

ing any other territory than the domain on which they were found. They,

too, have been driven beyond the Mississippi by the pressure of civilization,

and have become partially absorbed by the Creeks, with whom less than 800

souls yet [1883] remain. They are, in fact, an extinct nation, and their

language is almost forgotten.

i Page 204. 2 Page 428.
3 A native Cherokee, named by the white people George Guess (Sequoyah), who was ig-

norant of every language but his own, seeing books in the missionary schools, and being told
that the characters represented the words of the spoken English language, conceived the idea
of forming a written language for his people. He first made a separate character for each
word, but this made the whole matter too voluminous, and he formed a syllabic alphabet of

eighty-five characters. It was soon ascertained that this was sufficient, even for the copious
language of the Cherokees, and this syllabic alphabet was snon adopted in the preparation of

books for the missionary schools. In 182fi, a newspaper, called the Cherokee Phoenix, printed
in the new characters, was established. Many of the native Cherokees are now well educated,
but the great body of the natives are in ignorance.

* Note 4, page 32.



THE- MOBILIAN TRlBES.

CHAPTER VII.

THE NATCHEZ.

OF this once considerable nation, who inhabited the borders of the Missis-

sippi,
where a modern city now perpetuates their name, very little is known.

When first discovered by the French, they occupied a territory about as large

as that inhabited by the Uchees. It extended north-easterly from the Missis-

sippi along the valley of the Pearl River, to the upper waters of the Chickasa-

haw. For a long time they were supposed to belong to the nation of Mobilian

tribes, by whom they were surrounded, but their language proved them to be a

distinct people. They were sun-worshippers ;
and from this circumstance,

some had supposed that they had once been in intimate communication with

the adorers of the great luminary in Central and South America. In many
things they were much superior to their neighbors, and displayed signs of the

refinement of a former more civilized condition. They became jealous of the

French on their first appearance upon the Mississippi, and finally they con-

spired, with others, to drive the intruders from the country. The French fell

upon, and almost annihilated the nation, in 1730. They never recovered from

the shock, and after maintaining a feeble nationality for almost a century, they
have become merged into the Creek confederacy. They now [1883] number

less than three hundred souls, and their language, in its purity, is unknown.

CHAPTER VIII.

THE MOBILIAN TRIBES.

LIKE the Algonquins and Iroquois nations, the MOBILIAN was composed of

a great number of tribes, speaking different dialects of the same language.

Their territory was next in extent to that of the Algonquins.
1

It stretched

along the Gulf of Mexico, from the Atlantic to the Mississippi, more than six

hundred miles
; up the Mississippi as far as the mouth of the Ohio

;
and along

the Atlantic to Cape Fear. It comprised a greater portion of the present State

of Georgia, the whole of Florida, Alabama, and Mississippi, and parts of South

Carolina, Tennessee, and Kentucky. The nation was divided into three grand
confederacies of tribes, namely, Muscogees or Creeks Choctaws, and Chick-

asaws.

J

Page 17.
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The Creek Confederacy extended from the

Atlantic'westward to the high lands which sep-

arate the waters of the Alabama and Tombigbee

Rivers, including a great portion of the States of

Alabama and Georgia, and the whole of Florida.

CMethorpe's first interviews
1

with the natives at

Savannah, were with people of this confederacy.

The Yamassees, or Savannahs of Georgia and

South Carolina, and the Seminoles of Florida, were of the Creek confederacy.

The latter were strong and warlike. They were at the head of the Indian

confederacy, to destroy the white people, in 1715. 2 When the general dis-

persion followed that abortive attempt, the Yamassees took refuge with the

Spaniards of Florida. Small bands often annoyed the white frontier settle-

ments of Georgia, but they were not engaged in general hostilities until the

Revolution, when the whole Creek confederacy
3 took part with the British.

The most inveterate and treacherous enemy of the white people, have ever

been the Seminoles. Bands of them often went out upon the war-path, with

the Yamassees, to slay the pale-faces. They joined the British in 1812-14;
and in 1817 they renewed hostilities. 4

They were subdued by General Jick-

Bon, and afterward remained comparatively quiet until 1835, when they again

attacked the white settlements.
5

They were subjugated in 1842, after many
lives and much treasure had been sacrificed.

6 A few of them yet [1883]
remain in the everglades of Florida, but a greater portion of the tribe have

gone west of the Mississippi, with the other members of the Creek confederacy.

The Creeks proper now [1883] number about fifteen thousand souls. The

number of the whole confederacy is about twenty-four thousand. They
occupy lands upon the Arkansas and its tributaries, and are among the most

peaceable and order-loving of the banished tribes.

In the beautiful country bordering upon the Gulf of Mexico, and extending
west of the Creeks to the Mississippi, lived the Choctaws. They were an agri-

cultural people when the Europeans discovered them
; and, attached to home

and quiet pursuits, they have ever been a peaceful people. Their wars have

always been on the defensive, and they never had public feuds with either their

Spanish, French, or English neighbors. They, too, have been compelled tc

abandon their native country for the uncultivated wilderness west of Arkansas,
between the Arkansas and Red Rivers. They now [1883] number about thirteen

thousand souls. They retain their peaceable character in their new homes.

The Chickasaw tribe inhabited the country along the Mississippi, from the

borders of the Choctaw domain to the Ohio River, and eastward beyond the Ten-

nessee to the lands of the Cherokees7 and Shawnees. 8 This warlike people were

the early friends of the English, and the most inveterate foes of the French,

Page 102. 2 Page 170.
* This confederacy now [1883] consists of the Creeks proper, Seminoles, Natchez, Hichittiea,

and Alabamas. The Creeks, like many other tribes, claim to be the Original People.
Page 448. *

Page 466.
'

Page 468. ' Page 27. s Page 19.
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who had twice [1736-1740] invaded their country. They adhered to the

British during the Revolution, but since that time they have held friendly rela-

tions with the Government of the United States. The remnant, about four

thousand in number, are upon lands almost a hundred leagues westward of the

Mississippi.

Thus, with almost chronological brevity, we have given an outline sketch

of the history of the Aboriginal nations with whom the first European settlers

in the United States became acquainted. They have now no legal habitation

eastward of the Mississippi ;
and the fragments of those powerful tribes who

once claimed sovereignty over twenty-four degrees of longitude and twenty

degrees of latitude, are now [1883] compressed within a quadrangle of about

nine degrees, between the Red and Missouri Rivers.
1 Whether the grave of

the last of those great tribes shall be within their present domain, or in some

valley among the crags of the Rocky Mountains, expediency will hereafter

determine.

CHAPTER IX.

THE DAHCOTAH OR SIOUX TRIBES.

THE French were the earliest explorers of the regions of the Middle and

Upper Mississippi, and they found a great number of tribes west of that river

who spoke dialects of the same language. They occupied the vast domain from

the Arkansas on the south, to the western tributary of Lake Winnipeg on the

north, and westward to the eastern slopes of the Rocky Mountains. These

have been classed into four grand divisions, namely, the WINNEBAGOES, who

inhabited the country between Lake Michigan and the Mississippi, among the

Algonquins ;

2 the AssiNNlBOlNS and Sioux proper, the most northerly nation
;

the MINETAREE GROUP in the Minnesota Territory, and the SOUTHERN Sioux,

who dwelt in the country between the Arkansas and Platte Rivers, and whose

hunting-ground extended to the Rocky Mountains.

The most uneasy of these tribes were the Winnebagoes, who often attacked

the Sioux west of the Mississippi. They generally lived on friendly terms

with the Algonquins, after their martial spirit was somewhat subdued by the

Illinois, who, in 1640, almost exterminated them. They were enemies to the

1 Mr. Bancroft [II., 253] after consulting the most reliable authorities on the subject, makes the

following estimate of the entire Aboriginal population in 1650 Algonquins, 90,000; Eastern

Sioux, less than 3,000; Iroquois, including their southern kindred, about 17,000; Catawbas, 3,000,
Cherokees (now more numerous than ever), 12,000; Mobilian tribes, 50,000; Uchees, 1,000;

Natchez, 4,000 in all, 180,000. These were the only nations and tribes then known. With the

expansion of our territory westward and southward, we have embraced numerous Indian nations,

some of them quite populous, until the number of the estimate above given has been almost

doubled, according to the late census.
1
Page 11
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United States during the second war with Great Britain,
1 and they confeder-

ated with the Sacs and Foxes in hostilities against the white people, under

Black Hawk, in 1832. 2 The tribe, now [1881] less than four thousand strong,

are seated upon the Mississippi, about eighty miles above St. Paul, the capital

of Minnesota. Fear of the white people keeps them quiet.

In the cold, wet country of the North, the Assiniboins yet inhabit their na-

tive land. Having separated from the nation, they are called "
rebels." Their

neighbors, the Sioux proper, were first visited by the French in 1660, and

have ever been regarded as the most fierce and warlike people on the continent.

They also occupy their ancient domain, and are now [1883] about fifteen

thousand strong.

Further westward are the Minetarees, Mandans, and Crows, who form the

MlNETAREE GROUP. They are classed with the Dahcotahs or Sioux, although

the languages have only a slight affinity.
The Minetarees and Mandans num-

ber about three thousand souls each. They cultivate the soil, and live in vil-

lages. The Crows number about fifteen hundred, and are wanderers and

hunters. The Mandans are very light-colored. Some suppose them to be

descendants of a colony from Wales, who, it is believed, came to America

under Madoe, the son of a Welsh prince, in the twelfth century.
3

There are eight in number of the SOUTHERN Sioux tribes, namely, the

Arkansas, Osages, Kansas, lowas, Missouries, Otoes, Omahas, and Puncahs.

They are cultivators and hunters. They live in villages a part of the year,
and are abroad upon their hunting-grounds during the remainder. Of these

tribes, the Osages are the most warlike and powerful. All of the Southern

Sioux tribes are upon lands watered by the Missouri and the Platte, and their

tributaries.

CHAPTER X.

THE EXTREME WESTERN TRIBES.

WITHIN a few years, our domain has been widely expanded, and in our

newly-acquired possessions on the borders of Mexico and the Pacific coast, and
the recently organized Territories in the interior of the continent, are numer-
ous powerful and warlike tribes/ of whom little is known, and whose history

'

Page 260. a Page 287.
It is said that Madoc, son of Prince Owen Gwignedd, sailed from Wales, with ten ships and

:hree hundred men, at about the year 1170, on an exploring voyage, and never returned. Many
learned conjectures have been expressed, and among them the belief that the expedition reached
the American continent, and became the progenitors of the Mandans, or White Indians, of our
western plains.

4 The whole number of Indians within the present limits of the United States, in 1881, accord-
Ing to official estimates, was a little less than 300,000. There are about 15,000 in the (States east-
ward of the Mississippi, principally in New York, Michigan, and Wisconsin

;
the remainder, consist-

ing of Cherokees, Choctaws. and Seminoles, being ia North Carolina.. Mississippi, and Florida, The
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has no connection with that of the people of the United States, except the fact

that they were original occupants of the soil, and that some of them, especially

the California and Oregon Indians, jet [1883] dispute our right to sovereignty.

Of these, the Comanches and Apaches of California are the most warlike. The

Pawnees upon the Great Plains toward the Rocky Mountains are very numer-

ous, but not so warlike
;
and the Utahs, among the Wasatch and neighboring

ranges, are strong in numbers. Further northward and westward are the

Biackfeet, Crow, Snake, Nezperces, and Flathead Indians, and smaller clansr

with petty chiefs, whose domains stretch away toward the Knisteneaux and

Esquimaux on the extreme north.

These tribes are rapidly fading in the light of modern civilization, and are

destined to total annihilation. The scythe of human progress is steadily cut-

ting its swathes over all their lands
;
and the time is not far distant when the

foot-prints of the Indians will be no more known within the domain of our Re-

public. In future years, the dusky son of an exile, coming from the far-off

borders of the Slave Lake, will be gazed at in the streets of a city at the mouth

of the Yellow Stone, with as much wonder as the Oneida woman, with her blue

cloth blanket and bead-work merchandize is now [1883] in the city of New
York. So the Aboriginals of our land are passing away, and even now they/

may chant in sorrow :

"
"We, the rightful lords of yore,

Are the rightful lords no more;
Ltue the silver mist, we fail,

Like the red leaves on the gale

Fail, like shadows, when the dawning
Waves the bright flag of the morning."

J. McLELLAN, JR.

"I will weep for a season, in bitterness fed,

For my kindred are gone to the hills of the dead;
But they died not of hunger, or lingering decay
The hand of the white man hath swept them away."

HENRY ROWE SCHOOLCRAFT.

number in Minnesota and along the frontiers of the Western States and Texas (most of them emi-

grants from the country eastward of the Mississippi), is estimated at 80,000. Those on the Plains
and among the Rocky Mountains, not within any organized Territory, at 50,000; in Texas, at

25,000; in New Mexico, at 30,000; in California, at 78,000; in Utah, at 10,000; in Oregon and
Washington Territories, at 20,000; total, 308,000. For more minute accounts of the Indians,
see Heckewelder's "History of the Indian Nations;" Schoolcraft's "Algic Researches;"
M'Kinney's "History of the Indian Tribes;" Drake's "Book of the Indians;" Catlin's "Letters
and Notes;" Schoolcraft's "Notes on the Iroquois."

To the Department of the Interior of the National Government is intrusted the administration
of Indian affairs. At this time [1883] the stocks and bonds held by the Department in trust for

the Indians, from the income of which annuities are paid to them, amount to more than three
millions of dollars.



COLUMBUS BEFORE THE COUNCIL OP SAiAMANCA

SECOND PERIOD.

DISCOVERIES.

AMERIGO VESPUCCI.

CHAPTER I.

SCANDINAVIAN VOYAGES AND DISCOVERIES.

ONE of the most interesting of the un-

solved problems of history, is that which re-

lates to the alleged discovery of America by mariners of north-

ern Europe, almost five hundred years before Columbus left

Palos, in Spain, to accomplish that great event. The tales and

poetry of Iceland abound with intimations of such discoveries
;

and records of early voyages from Iceland to a continent south-

westward of Greenland, have been found. These, and the re-

sults of recent investigations, appear to prove, by the strongest

circumstantial evidence, that the New England
1

coast was vis-

ited, and that settlements thereon were attempted by Scandi-

navian navigators,
2 almost five centuries before the great Genoese

undertook his first voyage in quest of a western passage to

India.

NORTHMAN.

1 The States of our Union eastward of New York are collectively called New England. P. 74.
8 The ancients called the territory which contains modem Norway, Sweden, Denmark, Lapland,

fbeland, Finland, etc., by the general name of Scandinavia.
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NORMAN SHIP.

The navigators of northern Europe were remarkable for their boldness and

perseverance. They discovered Iceland in the year 860, and colonized it.

In 890 they colonized Greenland, and planted colonies there also. There was

traffic, friendly and lucrative, between the colonists of Iceland and Greenland,

and the parent Norwegians and Danes, as early as the year 950, and no mar-

iners were so adventurous as these Northmen. In

the year 1002, according to an Icelandic chronicle, a

Norwegian vessel, commanded by Captain Lief, sailed

from Iceland for Greenland. A gale drove the voy-

agers to the coast of Labrador. They explored the

shores southward to the region of a genial climate,

where they found noble forests and abundance of

grapes. This, it is supposed, was the vicinity of

Boston. Other voyages to the new-found land were

afterward made by the adventurous Scandinavians, and they appear to have

extended their explorations as far as Rhode Island perhaps as far south as

Cape May.
It is further asserted that settlements in that pleas-

ant climate were attempted, and that the child of a Scan-

dinavian mother was born upon the shore of Mount Hope

Bay, in Rhode Island.
1

In the absence of actual charts

and maps, to fix these localities of latitude and longitude,

of course they must be subjects of conjecture only, for

these explorers left no traces of their presence here, un-

less it shall be conceded that the round tower at New-

port,
2 about the origin of which history and tradition are

silent, was built by the Northmen.

The period of this alleged discovery was that of the dark ages, when ig-

norance brooded over Europe, like thick night. Information of these voyages
seems not to have spread, and no records of intercourse with a western conti-

nent later than 1120, have been found. The great discovery, if made, was for-

gotten, or remembered only in dim traditionary tales of the exploits of the old
"
Sea-Kings"

3 of the North. For centuries afterward, America was an un-

TOWER AT NEWPORT.

1 The old chronicle referred to says that Gudrida, wife of a Scandinavian navigator, gave birth

to a child in America, to whom she gave the name of Snorre
;
and it is further asserted that Ber-

tel Thorwalsden, the great Danish sculptor, was a descendant of this early white American. The
records of these voyages were compiled by Bishop Thorlack, of Iceland, who was also a descendant

of Snorre.
2 This structure is of unhewn stone, laid in mortar made of the gravel of the soil around, and

oyster-shell lime. It is a cylinder resting upon eight round columns, twenty-three feet in diameter,
and twenty-four feet in height It was originally covered with stucco. It seems to have stood

there when the white people first visited Rhode Island, and the Narraganset Indians, it is as-

serted, had no tradition of its origin. There can be little doubt, all things considered, of its having
been constructed by those northern navigators, who made attempts at settlement in that vicinity.

3 This name was given to bold adventurers of Norway, Sweden, and Denmark, who rebelled

against Gorm the Old of Norway, and Harold Fairhair of Denmark, their conquerors, forsook their

country, settled upon the islands of the North Sea, and Greenland, and from thence went forth

ipon piratical expeditions, even as far south as the pleasant coasts of France. They trafficked, as

well as plundered; and finally sweeping over Denmark and Germany, obtained possession of some
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known region. It had no place upon maps, unless as an imaginary island

without a name, nor in the most acute geographical theories of the learned.

When Columbus conceived the grand idea of reaching Asia by sailing westward,

no whisper of those Scandinavian voyages was heard in Europe.

CHAPTER II.

SPANISH VOYAGES AND DISCOVERIES.

THE first half of the fifteenth century was distinguished for great commer-

cial activity. Sluggish Europe was just awaking from its slumber of centuries,

and maritime discoveries were prosecuted with untiring zeal by the people

inhabiting the great south-western peninsula covered by Spain, Portugal, and

France. The incentives to make these discoveries grew out of the political

condition of Europe, and the promises of great commercial advantages. The

rich commerce of the East centered in Rome, when that empire overshad-

owed the known world. When it fell into fragments, the Italian cities con-

tinued their monopoly of the rich trade of the Indies. Provinces which had

arisen into independent kingdoms, became jealous of these cities, so rapidly

outstripping them in power and opulence ;
and Castile and Portugal, in par-

ticular, engaged in efforts to open a direct trade with the East. The ocean was

the only highway for such commerce, toward which the rivals could look with

a hope of success. The errors of geographical science interposed great obsta-

cles. Popular belief pictured an impassa,ble region of fire beyond Cape Baja-

dor, on the coast of Africa
;
but bold navigators, under the auspices of Prince

Henry of Portugal, soon penetrated that dreaded latitude, crossed the torrid

zone, and, going around the southern extremity of Africa, opened a pathway
to the East, through the Indian Ocean.

The Portuguese court at Lisbon soon became a

point of great attraction to the learned and adven-

turous. Among others came Christopher Columbus,
the son of a wool-carder of Genoa, a mariner of

great experience and considerable repute, and then

in the prime of life. In person he was tall and

commanding, and, in manners, exceedingly winning-
and graceful, for one unaccustomed to the polish of

courts, or the higher orders in society. The rudi-

COLUMBUS. ments of geometry, which he had learned in the

of the best portions of Gaul. They finally invaded the British Islands, and placed Canute upon
the throne of Alfred. It was among these people that chivalry, as an institution, originated ;

and
back to those "

Sea-Kings" we may look for the hardiest elements of progress among the people,
of the United States.
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university of Pavia, had been for years working out a magnificent theory in

his mind, and he came to Lisbon to seek an opportunity to test its truth.

Fortune appeared to smile beneficently upon Columbus, during his early
residence in Lisbon. He soon loved and married the daughter of Palestrello,

a deceased navigator of eminence, and he became possessed of nautical papers
of great value. They poured new light upon his mind. His convictions

respecting the rotundity of the earth, and the necessity of a continent in the

Atlantic Ocean, to balance the land in the eastern hemisphere ;
or at least a

nearer approach of eastern Asia to the shores of western Europe, than geo-

graphical science had yet revealed, assumed the character of demonstrated

realities. He was disposed to credit the narratives of Plato and other ancient

writers, respecting the existence of a continent beyond the glorious, but long-

lost, island of Atlantis, in the waste of waters westward of Europe. He was

convinced that Asia could be reached much sooner by sailing westward, than

by going around the Cape of Good Hope.
1 He based his whole theory upon

the fundamental belief that the earth was a terraqueous globe, which might be

traveled round from east to west, and that men stood foot to foot at opposite

points. This, it should be remembered, was seventy years before Copernicus
announced his theory of the form and motion of the planets [1543], and one

hundred and sixty years [1633] before Galileo was compelled, before the

court of the Inquisition at Rome, to renounce his belief in the diurnal revolu-

tion of the earth.

A deep religious sentiment imbued the whole being of Columbus, and he

became strongly impressed with the idea that there were people beyond the

waste of waters westward, unto whom he was commissioned by heaven to

carry the Gospel.
2 With the lofty aspirations which his theory and his faith

gave him, he prosecuted his plans with great ardor. He made a voyage -co

Iceland, and sailed a hundred leagues beyond, to the ice-fields of the polar cir-

cle. He probably heard, there, vague traditions of early voyages to a western

continent,
8 which gave strength to his own convictions; and on his return, he

laid his plans first before his countrymen, the Genoese (who rejected them),
and then before the monarchs of England

4 and Portugal.

The Portuguese monarch appeared to comprehend the grand idea of Colum-

bus, but it was too lofty for the conceptions of his council and the pedantic

wise men of Lisbon. For a long time Columbus was annoyed by delays on the

part of those to whose judgment the king deferred; and attempts were meanly
and clandestinely made to get from Columbus the information which he pos-

sessed. While awaiting a decision, his wife died. The last link that bound

him to Portugal was broken, and, taking his little son Diego by the hand, he

1 This point was first discovered by Diaz, a Portuguese navigator, who named it Stormy Cape.
But King John, believing it to be that remote extremity of Africa so long sought, named it Cnpt

of Good Hope. Vasco de Gama passed it in 1497, and made his way to the East Indies beyond.
2 His name was suggestive of a mission. Christo or Christ, and Colombo, a pigeon carrier*

pigeon. By this combination of significant words in his name, he believed himself to be a Christ
or Gospel-bearer, to the heathen, and he often signed his name Christo-ferens, or Christ-bearer.

3 Page 34. * Page 46.
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departed on foot to lay his proposition before Ferdinand and Isabella,
1

the

monarchs of Spain occupants of the united thrones of Arragon and Castile.

Very poor, and greatly dispirited, Columbus arrived at the gate of the

monastery of Rabida, near the little port from whence he afterward sailed, and

begged food and shelter for himself and child. The good Father MarchenaOO C-s

received him kindly, entered warmly into his plans, and was of essential service

to him afterward. Through him Columbus obtained access to the court
;
but

the war with the Moors, then raging, delayed an opportunity for an audience

with the monarchs for a long time. Yet he was not idle. He employed him-

self in the alternate pursuits of science, and engagements in some of the military

campaigns. He was continually treated with great deference by the court and

nobility, and at length his importunities were heeded. A council of the learned

men of the nation was convened at Salamanca, to consider his plans and propo-

sitions.* The majority pronounced his scheme vain and impracticable, and

unworthy of the support of the government. But a minority of the council,

wiser than the rest, did not acquiesce in this decision, and, with Cardinal Men-

doza and other officers of government, they encouraged the navigator by prom-
ises of their continual support. But he became disgusted by procrastination,

and abandoning the hope of royal aid, he applied to two wealthy dukes for

assistance. They refused, and he left with a determination to lay his plans before

the King of France.

Columbus had been encouraged by Father Mar-

chena (who had been Isabella's confessor),
3 and through

his intercession, the navigator was recalled before he

had entered France. He sought and obtained a per-
sonal interview with the queen. To her he revealed

all his plans ;
told her of the immense treasures that

lay hidden in that far distant India* which might be

easily reached by a shorter way, and pleaded eloquently
for aid in his pious design of carrying the Gospel to the

heathen of unknown lands. The last appeal aroused

ISABELLA. the religious zeal of Isabella, and with the spirit of the

Crusaders,
6
she dismissed Columbus with the assurance

1 Isabella was a sister of the profligate Henry the Fourth of Castile and Leon. She was a pious,

virtuous, and high-minded woman, then almost a phenomenon hi courts. She was of middle size,

and well formed, with a fair complexion, auburn hair, and clear, blue eyea
2 See the picture at the head of this chapter. The Council was composed of the professors of

the university, various dignitaries of the Church, and learned friars. They were nearly all preju-
diced against the poor navigator, and he soon discovered that ignorance and bigotry would defeat

his purposes.
3 All Roman Catholics are obliged to confess their sins to a priest Rich and titled persons

often had a priest confessor for themselves and their families exclusively.
4 Marco Polo and other travelers had related wonderful stories of the beauty and wealth

of a country beyond the limits of geographical knowledge, and had thus inflamed the avarice and
ambition of the rich and powerful The country was called Zipangi, and also Cathay. It included

China and adjacent islands.
5 About 700 years ago, the Christian powers of Europe fitted out expeditions to conquer

Palestine, with the avowed object of rescuing the sepulcher of Jesus, at Jerusalem, from the handi
of the Turks. These were called crusades holy wars. The lives of two millions of people were
lost in them.
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that he should have her aid in fitting out an exploring expedition, even if it should

require the pawning of her crown jewels to obtain the money. And Isabella was

faithful to her promise. She fitted out two caravels (light coasting ships), and

Columbus, by the aid of friends, equipped a third and larger one. With this little

fleet, bearing one hundred and twenty persons, he left Palos, on the Tinto River,

in Andalusia, on Friday, the 3d of August, 1492, to explore the stormy Atlantic.
1

Columbus started on that perilous voyage without a reliable chart for his

guidance, and no director in his course but the sun and stars, and the imperfect

mariner's compass, then used only by a few in navigating the pleasant seas of

the Old World. After various delays at the Canary Islands, they left them hi

the dim distance behind, on Sunday, the 9th of September. The broad At-

lantic, mysterious and unknown, was before them. A voyage of great trial for

the navigator was now fairly entered upon. His theory taught him to believe

that he would reach Asia in the course of a few days. But weeks wore away
the needle" became unfaithful; alarm and discontent prevailed, and several

times his followers were on the point of compelling him to turn back.

One pleasant evening (the llth of October), the perfumes of flowers came

upon the night breeze, as tokens of approach to land. The vesper hymn to the

Virgin was sung, and Columbus, after recounting the blessings of God thus far

manifested in the voyage, assured the crews that he confidently expected to see

land in the morning. Yet they hesitated to believe, for twice before they had

been mocked by other indications of land

being near.
3 On the high poop of his

vessel the great navigator sat watching
until midnight, when he saw the glim-
mer of moving lights upon the verge of

the horizon. He called others to con-

firm his vision, for he was fearful of

mistake. They, too, perceived blazing

torches, and at dawn the next morning
their delighted eyes saw green forests THE FLEET OF COLUMBUS.

stretching along the horizon; and as

they approached, they were greeted by the songs of birds and the murmur of

human voices.

1 Columbus was appointed high-admiral of all seas which he might discover, with the attendant

honors. Also viceroy of all lands discovered. He was to have one-tenth of all profits of the first

voyage, and by contributing an eighth of the expense of future voyages, was to have an eighth of
all the profits. Although Isabella paid the whole expense, the contract was signed, also, by her

husband.
2
Needle, or pointer, of the mariner's compass. This instrument was first known in Europe, at

Amalfi, about 1302. The Chinese claim to have possessed a knowledge of it more than 1100 years
before the birth of Christ. The needle was supposed to point toward the north star at all times.

There is a continual variation from this line, now easily calculated, but unknown until discovered

by Columbus. It perplexed, but did not dismay him.
3 They had seen birds, but they proved to be the petrel, an ocean fowl. Bits of wood and sea-

weeds had also been seen. These had undoubtedly been seen on the outer verge of the Gulf

Stream, north-east of the Bahamas, where, according to Lieutenant Maury [Physical Geography of

the Sea], there may always be found a drift of sea-weed, and sometimes objects that have floated

from the land.
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BANNER OF THE
EXPEDITION.

Arrayed in scarlet, and bearing his sword in one hand,

and the banner of the expedition in the other, Columbus

landed, with his followers, and in the midst of the gorgeous

scenery and the incense of myriads of flowers, they all knelt

down and chaunted a hymn of thanksgiving to God. The

natives had gathered in wonder and awe, in the grove near

by, regarding the Europeans as children of their great

deity, the Sun.
1

Little did they comprehend the fatal signif-

icance to them, of the act of Columbus, when, rising from

the ground, he displayed the royal standard, drew his sword,

set up a rude cross upon the spot where he landed, and took

formal possession of the beautiful country in the name of

Ferdinand and Isabella." The land first discovered by Colum-

bus was one of the Bahamas, called by the natives Guana-

hama, but since named by the English, Cat Island. The

navigator named it San Salvador (Holy Saviour) ;
and believing it to be near

the coast of further India, he called the natives Indians. This name was after-

ward applied to all the natives of the adjacent continent,
3 and is still retained.

The triumph of Columbus was now complete. After spending some time

in examining the island, becoming acquainted with the simple habits of the

natives, and unsuccessfully searching for "the gold, and pearls, and spices of

Zipangi,"
4 he sailed southward, and discovered several other small islands. He

finally discovered Cuba and St. Domingo, where he was told of immense gold-

bearing regions in the interior. Impressed with the belief that he had dis-

covered the Ophir of the ancients, he returned to Spain, where he arrived in

March, 1493. He was received with great honors,
5 but considerations of State

policy induced the Spanish government to conceal the importance of his dis-

covery from other nations. This policy, and the jealousy which the sudden

elevation of a foreigner inspired in the Spaniards, deprived him of the honor

of having the New World called by his name. Americus Vespucius,
6 a Flor-

entine, unfairly won the prize. In company with Ojeda, a companion of Colum-

1 Almost all the natives of the torrid zone of America worshiped the sun as the chief visible

deity. The great temples of the sun in Mexico and Peru were among the most magnificent struc-

tures of the Americans, when Europeans came.
2 It was a common practice then, as now, for the discoverer of new lands to erect some monu-

ment, and to proclaim the title of his sovereign to the territories so discovered. The banner of the

expedition, borne on shore by Columbus, was a white one, with a green cross. Over the initial*

F. and Y. (Ferdinand and Ysabella) were golden mural crowns.
*
Chapter I, page 9. * Note 4, page 38.

* Columbus carried back with him several of the natives, and a variety of the animals, birds,

and plants of the New World. They excited the greatest astonishment. His journey from Palos
to Barcelona, to meet the sovereigns, was like the march of a king. His reception was still more

magnificent. The throne of the monarch was placed in a public square, and the great of the king-
dom were there to do homage to the navigator. The highest honors were bestowed upon Colum-

bus; and the sovereigns granted him a coat of arms bearing royal devices, and the motto, "To
Castile and Leon Columbus gave a new world."

s See the protrait of Vespucius at the head of this Chapter. The Italians spell his name Amer-
igo Vespucci [Am-e-ree-go Ves-pute-se]. He died while in the service of the king of Spain, in

1514. He had made several voyages to South America, and explored the eastern coast as far

outhward as the harbor of Rio Janeiro.
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bus during his first voyage, Americus visited the West Indies, and discovered

and explored the eastern coast of South America, north of the Oronoco, in

1499. In 1504, he published a glowing account of the lands he had visited,
1

and that being the first formal announcement to the world of the great discov-

ery, and as he claimed to have first set foot upon the Continent of the West,
it was called AMERICA, in honor of the Florentine. This claim was not

founded on truth, for Columbus had anticipated him
;
and two years earlier,

Cabot, in command of an expedition from England, discovered Labrador, New-

foundland, and portions of the New England coast.

Columbus made three other voyages to the West Indies,
2 established settle-

ments, and in August, 1498, he discovered the continent at the mouth of the

Oronoco. This, too, he supposed to be an island near the coast of Asia, and he

lived and died in ignorance of the real grandeur of his discoveries. Before

departing on his third voyage, he was appointed Viceroy and High Admiral of

the New World. During his absence, jealous and unscrupulous men poisoned

the minds of the king and queen with false statements concerning the ambitious

designs of Columbus, and he was sent back to Spain in chains. The navigator

was guilty of serious wrongs, but not against his sovereign. He made slaves

of the natives, and this offended the conscientious Isabella. But she was soon

undeceived concerning his alleged political crimes, and he was allowed to depart
on a fourth voyage. When he returned, the queen was dead, his enemies were

in power, and he who had shed such luster upon the Spanish name, and added a

new hemisphere to the Spanish realm, was allowed to sink into the grave in

obscurity and neglect. He died at Valladolid on the 20th of May, 1506.

His body was buried in a convent, from whence it was afterward carried to St.

Domingo, and subsequently to Havana, in Cuba, where it now remains.

It was an unlucky hour for the nations of the New World when the eyes of

Europeans were first opened upon it. The larger islands of the West India

group were soon colonized by the Spaniards ;
and the peaceful, friendly, gen-

tle, and happy natives, were speedily reduced to slavery. Their Paradise wag

made a Pandemonium for them. Bending beneath the weight of Spanish

cruelty and wrong, they soon sunk into degradation. The Avomen were eoni"

pelled to intermarry with their oppressors, and from this union came many of

the present race of Creoles, who form the numerical strength of Cuba and other

West India Islands.

The wonderful stories of gold-bearing regions, told by the natives, and ex-

aggerated by the adventurers, inflamed the avarice and cupidity of the Span-

iards, and exploring voyages from Cuba
?
St. Domingo, and Porto Rico, were

undertaken. The eastern coast of Yucatan was discovered in 1506
;
and

in 1510, Vasco Nunez de Balboa, with a colony, settled upon the Isthmus

1
First in a letter to Lorenzo de Medici, and then [1507] in a volume, dedicated to the Duke of

Lorraine. These publications revealed what the Spanish Government wished to conceal. Note 4
page 47.

2 In his second voyage [1493], Columbus took with him several horses, a bull, and some cowa
These were the first animals of the kind taken from Europe to America.
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BALBOA. 1

of Darien. This was the first colony planted on the continent of America.

Crossing the Isthmus in search of gold in 1513, Balboa saw the Pacific

Ocean in a southerly direction from the top of a high

mountain, and he called it the " South Sea." In full

costume, and bearing the Spanish flag, he entered its

waters and took possession of the "seas, lands," etc., "of

the South," in the name of his sovereign.

In the year 1512 Florida was discovered by Juan Ponce

de Leon, an old visionary, who had been governor of

Porto Rico. With three ships he sailed for the Bahamas

in search of a fountain which unlettered natives and

wise men of Spain believed to exist there, and whose

waters possessed the quality of restoring old age to the

bloom of youth, and of making the recipient immortal.

It was on Easter Sunday,
5 March 27, 1512, the Pasquas de Flores3 of the

Spaniards, when the adventurer approached the shores of the great southern

peninsula of the United States and landed near the site of St. Augustine.
4 The

forests and the green banks were laden with flowers
;
and when, soon after

landing, Ponce de Lecn took possession of the country in the name of his sov-

ereign, this fact and the holy day were regarded, and he called the beautiful

domain, FLORIDA. He continued his searches for the Fountain of Youth all

along the coast of the newly-discovered country, and among the Tortugas (Tor-

toise) Islands, a hundred miles from its southern cape, but without success
;

and he returned to Porto Rico, an older if not a wiser man. He soon afterward

went to Spain, where he remained several years.

While Ponce de Leon was absent in Europe, some wealthy owners of plant-

ations and mines in St. Domingo, sent Lucas Vasquez d'Ayllon, one of their

number, with two vessels, to seize natives of the Bermudas, and bring them

home for laborers. It was an unholy mission, and God's displeasure was made

manifest. A storm drove the voyagers into St. Helen's Sound, on the coast of

South Carolina, and after much tribulation, they anchored [1520] at the mouth

of the Combahee River. The natives were kind and generous ; and, judging
their visitors by their own simple standard of honor, they unsuspectingly went

upon the ship in crowds, to gratify their curiosity. While below, the hatches

were closed, the sails were immediately spread, and those free children of the

forest were borne away to work as bond-slavQs in the mines of St. Domingo.
But the perpetrators of the outrage did not accomplish their designs. One of

the vessels was destroyed by a storm
;
and almost every prisoner in the other

refused to take food, and died. The fruit of this perfidy was a feeling of hos-

tility to white people, which spread throughout the whole of the Mobilian

tribes,
5 and was a source of much trouble afterward.

1 This little picture gives a correct representation of those armed Spaniards who attempted con-

quests in the New World. Balboa's fellow-adventurers became jealous of his fame, and on their

amasations he was put to death by the Governor of Darien, in 1517.
2 The day in which is commemorated in the Christian Church the resurrection of Jesus Christ.

Feast of flowers. Page 51.
*
Chapter VIII., page 29.
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Ponce de Leon returned to the West Indies soon after D'Ayllon's voyage,

bearing the commission of Governor of Florida, with instructions to plant settle-

ments there. In his attempts to do so, the angry natives, who had heard of the

treachery of the Spaniards, attacked him furiously. He was mortally wounded,
and almost all of his followers were killed. D'Ayllon was then appointed governor

of the country which he had discovered and named Chicora. He went thither

to conquer it,
and was received with apparent friendship by the natives on the

banks of the Combahee,
1

near the spot where his great crime of man-stealing

had been perpetrated. Many of his men were induced to visit a village in the

interior, when the natives practiced the lesson of treachery which D'Ayllon had

taught them, and massacred the whole party. The commander himself was

attacked upon his own ship, and it was with difficulty that he escaped. He died

of his wounds at St. Domingo.
Another important discovery was made in 1517, by Francisco Fernandez

de Cordova, who commanded an expedition from Cuba : the rich and populous

domain of Mexico was revealed to the avaricious Spaniards. Cordova's report

of a people half civilized, and possessing treasures in cities, awakened the keen-

est cupidity of his countrymen ;
and the following year Velasquez, the governoi

of Cuba, sent another expedition to Mexico, under Juan de Grijalva. That

captain returned with much treasure, obtained by trafficking with the Mex-

icans. The avarice, cupidity, and ambition of Velasquez were powerfully

aroused, and he determined to conquer the Mexicans, and possess himself

of their sources of wealth. An expedition, consisting of eleven vessels, and

more than six hundred armed men, was placed under the command of Fernando

Cortez, a brave but treacherous and cruel leader. He landed first at Tobasco,

and then at San Juan de Ulloa,
2 near Vera Cruz [April 12, 1519], where he

received a friendly deputation from Montezuma, the emperor of the nation. 3

By falsehood and duplicity, Cortez and his armed companions were allowed to

march to Mexico, the capital. By stratagem and boldness, and the aid of

native tribes who were hostile to the Mexican dynasty, Cortez 4
succeeded, after

many bloody contests during almost two years, in subduing the people. The

city of Mexico surrendered to him on the 23d of August, 1521, and the vast

and populous empire of Montezuma became a Spanish province.

Florida continued to command the attention of the Spaniards, in whose

minds floated magnificent dreams of immense wealth in cities and mines within

its deep forests
;
and seven years after the conquest of Mexico [1528], Pamphilo

1 D'Ayllon named this river, Jordan, for he regarded the country as the new Land of Promise.
5 Pronounced San-whahn-da-Ooloo-ah.
* The Mexicans at that time were making rapid advances in the march of civilization. They

were acquainted with many of the useful arts of enlightened nations, and appear to have been as

far advanced in science, law, religion, and domestic and public social organization, as were tho

Romans at the close of the Republic.
< Born at Medellon, in Estramadura, Spain, in 1485. He went to St. Domingo in 1504, and

in 1511 accompanied Velasquez to Cuba. He committed many horrid crimes in Mexico. Yet he

had the good fortune, unlike the more noble Columbus, to retain the favor of the Spanish monarch
until his death. When, on his return to Spain, he urged an audience with the emperor, and was
asked who he was, the bold adventurer replied,

"
I am the man who has given you more provinces

than your fether left you towns." He died in Estramadura, in 1554, at the age of 60 years.
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de Narvaez having been appointed governor of that region, went from Cuba,

with three hundred men,
1

to conquer it. Hoping to find a wealthy empire,

like Mexico, he penetrated the unknown interior as far as the southern borders

of Georgia.' Instead of cities filled with treasures, he found villages of huts,

and the monarch of the country living in a wigwam.
4

Disappointed, and con-

tinually annoyed by hostile savages, who had heard of the treachery at the Com-

bahee,
3
he turned southward, and reaching the shores of Apallachee Bay, nea*

St. Marks, he constructed rude boats and embarked for Cuba. The commander

and most of his followers perished ; only four escaped, and these wandered from

tribe to tribe for several years before reaching a Spanish settlement in Mexico.

Yet the misfortunes of Narvaez did not suppress the spirit of adventure, and

Florida (the name then applied to all North America) was still regarded by

the Spaniards as the new Land of Promise. All believed that in the vast

interior were mines as rich, and people as wealthy as those of Mexico and Yu-

catan. Among the most sanguine of the possessors of such

an opinion, was Ferdinand de Soto, a brave and wealthy

cavalier, who had gained riches and military honors, with

Pizarro, in Peru. 4 He obtained permission of the Spanish

emperor to conquer Florida at his ovm expense, and for that

purpose, was appointed governor of Cuba, and also of Flor-

ida. With ten vessels and six hundred men, all clad in

armor, he sailed for the New World early in 1539. Leav-

es SOTO. ing his wife to govern Cuba, he proceeded to Florida, and

on the 10th of June landed on the shores of Tampa Bay.

He then sent most of his vessels back, and made his way, among hostile sav-

ages, toward the interior of the fancied land of gold.
5 He wintered on the

banks of the Flint River, in Georgia, and in the spring crossed the Appal-
lachian Mountains, and penetrated the beautiful country of the Cherokees. 6

This, all things considered, was one of the most remarkable expeditions on

record. For several months, De Soto and his followers wandered over the hills

and valleys of Alabama, in vain searches for treasure, fighting the fierce Mo-

bilian tribes,
7 and becoming continually diminished in number by battle and

disease. They passed the winter of 1541 on the banks of the Yazoo River, in

the land of the Chickasaws.
8 In May of that year, they discovered and crossed

the Mississippi River, probably not far below Memphis ;
and there, in the pres-

ence of almost twenty thousand Indians, De Soto erected a cross made of a

huge pine tree, and around it imposing religious ceremonies were performed.

1 They took with them about forty horses, the first ever landed upon the soil of the present
United States. These all perished by starvation, or the weapons of the Indians.

2 Page 13. 3
Page 42.

4 Pizarro was a follower of Balboa. He discovered Peru m 1524. and in connection with Al-

mapro and Lucque, he conquered it in 1532, after much bloodshed. He was born, out of wedlock,
in Estramadura, Spain, in 1475. He could neither read nor write, but seemed eminently fitted for

the field of effort in which he was engaged. He quarreled with Almagro, civil war ensued, and he
was murdered at Lima, in Peru, in 1541.

5 De Soto had a large number of horses. He also landed some swine. These rapidly increased
in the forests. They were the first of their species seen in America.

Page 27. 1 Chapter VIH., p. 29. p^ 30.
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To De Soto belongs the honor of first discovering that mighty river of our wide

continent. After resting two days, the adventurers went up the western shore

of the Mississippi as far as New Madrid. The ensuing summer and winter

were spent by them in the wilderness watered by the Arkansas and its tributa-

ries, and in the spring of 1542 they returned to the Mississippi, at the mouth

of the Wachita, where De Soto sickened and died, after appointing his succes-

sor.
1 In these painful and perilous journeyings, they had marched full three

thousand miles.

The death of their leader was a terrible blow to the followers of De Soto.

They were now reduced to half their original number
; and, abandoning all

hopes of finding gold, or a wealthy people, they sought for Spanish settlements

in Mexico. For many months they wandered over the prairies, and among the

tributary streams of the Red River, as far as the land of the Comanches,
2 when

impassable mountain ranges compelled them to retrace their steps to the Mis-

sissippi. At a little below Natchez they remained until the following July

[1543], engaged in constructing several large boats, in which they embarked.

Reaching the Gulf of Mexico, they crept cautiously along its coast
; and, on the

20th of September, the little remnant of De Soto's proud army, half naked and

starving, arrived at a Spanish settlement near the mouth of the Panuco, thirty

miles north of Tampico. This was the last attempt of the Spanish cotempo-
raries of Columbus to explore, or to make settlements within the present terri-

tory of the United States, previous to the appearance of the English
3
in the

same field. They were impelled by no higher motive than the acquisition of

gold, and treachery ana violence were the instruments employed to obtain it.

They were not worthy to possess the magnificent country which they coveted

only for its supposed wealth in precious metals
;
and it was reserved for others,

who came afterward, with loftier aims, better hearts, and stronger hands, to

cultivate the soil, and to establish an empire founded upon truth and justice.

The Spaniards did finally become possessors of the southern portion of the Con-

tinent
;
and to this day the curse of moral, religious, and political despotism

rests upon those regions.

CHAPTER, III.

ENGLISH AND FRENCH DISCOVERIES.

WITH all its zealous vigilance, the Spanish court could not conceal the fact

that a New World had been discovered,
4 and over Continental Europe and the

1 De Soto's followers sunk the body of their leader deep in the Mississippi, so that the Indiana

should not find it.
2 Page 33.

'
Page 46. "While De Soto was engaged in this expedition, another, no less adventurous, was

undertaken by Coronada, at the command of Mendoza, Viceroy of Mexico. He took with him,
from the south-eastern shore of the Gulf of California, three hundred and fifty Spaniards, and eight

hundred Indians. He penetrated the country to the head waters of the Rio del Norte, and onward
into the great interior desert, as far as the fortieth degree of north latitude. It was a perilous, but

ffuitless expedition.
4 Page 40.
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British Isles, were spread the most extravagant tales of gold-bearing regions

beyond the Atlantic Ocean. By means of a papal bu
'II,

1

Portugal and Spain

vainly attempted to secure to themselves a monopoly of oceanic navigation.

But in all maritime countries, cupidity and curiosity urged men to brave both

the perils of the sea and the thunders of the Vatican, in search of the western

paradise and the regions of gold. Monarchs and wealthy subjects projected

new expeditions. Among those whose zeal in the cause of maritime discovery

was newly awakened, was Henry the Seventh of England, who had turned a

deaf ear to the appeals of Columbus before his great first voyage.
1

The town of Bristol, in the west of England, was

then one of the most important sea-ports in the realm
;

and among its adventurous mariners who had pene-

trated the polar waters, probably as far as Greenland,

was Sebastian Cabot, son of a wealthy Venetian mer-

chant of Bristol, whose father sought the aid of the

king in making a voyage of discovery. Willing to

secure a portion of the prize he had lost, Henry read-

ily yielded to the solicitations of Cabot, and gave him

SEBASTIAN CABOT. an(^ n ^3 sons a commission of discovery, dated March

16, 1496, which was similar, in some respects, to that

which Columbus had received from Ferdinand and Isabella;
3
but unlike his

Spanish cotemporaries, the English monarch did not bear the expenses of the

voyage. The navigators were permitted to go, at then- own expense,
" to search

for islands or regions inhabited by infidels, and hitherto unknown to Christen-

dom," and take possession of them in the name of the King of England. They
were to enjoy the sole right of trading thither paying to the King,

" in lieu

of all customs and imposts," a fifth of all net profits, and the same proportion
of the products of all mines.

According to recent discoveries made in searching the ancient records of

England, it appears to be doubtful whether the elder Cabot, who was a mer-

chant and a scientific man, ever voyaged to America. It is certain, however,

that his son, Sebastian, accompanied, and, doubtless, commanded, the first

expedition, which consisted of two vessels freighted by his father and others of

Bristol and of London, and which sailed from the former port in May, 1498.

They steered north-westerly until they encountered immense fields of ice west-

ward of Cape Farewell, when they turned to the south-west, and on the 3d of

July, of that year, discovered the rugged coast of Labrador. Passing Cape

Charles, they saw Newfoundland
; and, after touching at several points, prob-

ably as far southward as the coast of Maine, they hastened to England to

announce the fact that they had first discovered a great western continent.

1 This is the name of special edicts issued by the Pope of Rome. They are written on parch-

ment, and have a great seal attached, made of wax, lead, silver, or gold. The name is derived from

the seal, bvMa. On one side, are the heads of Peter and Paul, and on the other, the name of the Pope
and the year of his pontificate. The seal of the celebrated golden butt of the Emperor Charles IV.,
was made of gold. That bull became the fundamental law of the German Empire, at the Diet of

Nuremburg, A. D. 1536. 2 page 37. 3 Note 1, page 39.



THE STORY OF COLUMBUS AND THE EGG. (See Page 40.)

(At a banquet given Columbus upon his return to Spain, by Pedro Gonzales de Mendox.a the Spanish Grand Cardinal, he

confuses his critics by demonstrating that they do not even know how to make an egg stand on its end.)
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The skill and energy of young CaDot secured the confidence of his father

and friends in his ability to command successfully ;
and the following year,

although he was only twenty-one years of age, he was placed in charge of

another expedition, fitted out by his family and some Bristol merchants, for the

purpose of traffic, and of discovering a north-west passage to India, a desire for

which had now taken hold upon the minds of the commercial world. Ice in the

polar seas presented an impassable barrier, and he was compelled to go south-

ward. He explored the coast from the frozen regions of Labrador to the sunny
land of the Carolinas. Nineteen years afterward [1517] he navigated the

northern waters, as far as the entrance to Hudson's Bay ;
and nine years later

[1526], while in the service of the monarch of Spain,
1

he explored the coast of

Brazil, discovered and named the great Rio de la Plata, and penetrated the

southern continent, in boats, upon the bosom of that river, almost four hundred

miles. To the Cabots, father and son, belong the imperishable honor of first

discovering the coast of the United States, through at least ten degrees of lati-

tude. Italy may claim the glory of having given birth to the two great discov-

erers, Columbus and Americus Vespucius, whose name our continent now
bears

;
while Sebastian Cabot drew his first breath in England.

2

The immense numbers and commercial importance of the cod fishes in the

vicinity of Newfoundland, were first discovered and made known by the Cabots
;

and within five or six years after their first voyages, many fishermen went

thither from England, Brittany, and Normandy, for those treasures of the deep.

Every French vessel that went to America, was on a com-

mercial errand only, until 1523, when Francis the first fitted

out four ships, for the purpose of exploring the coasts of the

New World. He gave the command to John Verrazani, an

eminent Florentine navigator. Verrazani sailed in Decem-

ber, 1523, but a tempest disabled three of his ships, and he

was compelled to go with only one. He proceeded due west

from the Madeiras on the 27th of January, 1524, and first

touched the American Continent, in March following, near

the mouth of the Cape Fear River, in North Carolina. After

seeking a good harbor for fifty leagues further south, he sailed northward, and

1 Sebastian Cabot was born at Bristol, in 1467. He was invested with the honorable title of

Chief Pilot of both England and Spain: and to him England is indebted for her first maritime con-

nection with Russia, by the establishment- of the Russian Trading Company, of which he waa

appointed governor for life. He published a map of the world, and also an account of his southern

voyages. He died in 1557, at the age of 90 years.
2 King John of Portugal, like Henry of England, had refused to aid Columbus, and lost the

great prize. After the return of the navigator, he felt a desire to fit out an expedition for dis-

coveries in the New "World, but the Pope having given to Spain the whole region westward,

beyond an imaginary line three hundred leagues west from the Azores, he dared not interfere with

the Spanish mariners. But when the northern voyages of the Cabots became known, King John

dispatched an expedition in that direction, under Gasper Cortoreal, toward the close of the year

1500, for the ostensible purpose of seeking a north-west passage to India. Cortoreal coasted along
the shores of Labrador several hundred miles, and then freighting his ship with fifty natives whom
he had caught, he returned to Portugal, and sold his living cargo, for slaves. Finding the adven-

ture profitable, he sailed for another cargo, but he was never heard of afterward. Almost sixty

years later some Portuguese settled in Newfoundland and Nova Scotia, and first imported cattle

and swine there.

VEBKAZANI.
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CARTIER'S SHIP.

explored the coast from the Carolinas to Newfoundland. He anchored in the

Bays of Delaware and New York,
1

the harbor of Newport, and probably that

of Boston, and held intercourse with the natives, who were sometimes friendly

and sometimes hostile. Yerrazani gave the name of NEW FRANCE to the vast

regions within the latitudes of the coasts which he had discovered. But at that

time the French King was too much engrossed and impoverished by war with

the Spanish monarch, to pay much attention to the

important discoveries of Yerrazani, or to listen to plans

for future expeditions. Ten years elapsed before Admi-

ral Chabon induced Francis to encourage another explor-

ing enterprise, when a plan for making settlements in

NEW FRANCE was arranged [1534], and James Cartier, a

mariner of St. Malo, was appointed to the command of

an expedition. He reached Newfoundland early in

June, 1534. After exploring its coasts,

he passed through the Straits of Belle-

isle, into the Gulf beyond, planted a

cross with the arms of France upon it, on the shore of Gaspe

inlet, and took possession of the whole country in the name of

his king. After discovering the mouth of the great river of

Canada, he sailed for France, in time to avoid the autumn

storms on the American coast.

There was great joy at the French court, in the capital,

and throughout the whole kingdom, because of the success of

Cartier. He was commissioned for another voyage ;
and in

May following [1535] he sailed for Newfoundland with three

ships, accompanied by several young noblemen of France.

They passed the Straits of Belleisle, and entered the Gulf on the day dedicated

to St. Lawrence
; and, on that account, Cartier gave the name of the martyr to

the broad sheet of water over which they were sailing. They passed up the

river which afterward received the same name, and mooring their ships at Que-

bec,* proceeded in a pinnace and boats to Hochelaga, where Montreal now

stands, then the capital of the Huron king.* The natives were everywhere

friendly and hospitable.

The land in all that region was very level, except a high mountain in the

rear of the Indian town. Cartier ascended to its summit, and was so impressed
with the glorious view that he called it Mont-Real (royal mountain), which

name the fine city at its base yet retains. After exchanging presents and

friendly salutations with the Indians, they returned to Quebec, and passed the

severe winter on board their ships. In the spring, after setting up a cross, and

ARMS OF FRANCE.

1 Some authors say that Verrazani landed where the lower extremity of New York city is, and

giving the natives some spirituous liquors, made many of them drunk. The Indians called the

place Manna-ha-ta, or "place of drunkenness," and they were afterward called Manna-ha-tanr.

But this scene of intoxication probably occurred on board the Half-Moon, the exploring ship of

Hendrick Hudson. See page 59. s Pronounced Ke-bec. 3 Page 23.
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FRENCH NOBLEMAN

IN 1540.

taking formal possession of the country, they returned to France, havin^ lost

twenty-five seamen with the scurvy, a disease until then unknown. Their de-

parture was disgraced by an act of treachery, which planted the seeds of hatred

of the white people among the natives of the St. Lawrence. Cartier, under

pretense of friendship, decoyed the hospitable Huron king on board one of hia

vessels and carried him off to France.

The results of this voyage were little else than a series

of disappointments. Cartier's report of the rigors of the win-

ter and the barrenness of the land in precious stones and

metals, was discouraging, and four years elapsed before an-

other expedition was planned. At length, Francis de la

Roque, better known as lord of Robertval, in Picardy, ob-

tained permission of the king to make further discoveries, and

to plant settlements in NEW FRANCE. 1 The king invested

him with the empty title of Viceroy of the whole country.
Carder's services being indispensable, he, too, was commis-

sioned, but for subordinate command. He was ready long
before Robertval's extensive preparations were completed,
and being unwilling to bow to the new Viceroy's authority,

he sailed, with five ships, in June, 1541, some months before the departure of

his official superior. He had intended to take the Huron king back with him,

but the broken-hearted monarch had died in France. It was an unfortunate

occurrence. The natives received Cartier first with coldness, and then showed

open hostility. Fearing the Indians, the French built a fort upon the island

of Orleans, a little below Quebec. There they passed the winter without

accomplishing any important achievement, and in June following [1542], de-

parted for France, just as Robertval arrived at Newfoundland, with two hun-

dred persons. Robertval passed up the St. Lawrence, built two more forts

near Quebec, endured a winter of great distress, and, abandoning the idea of

settlement, returned to France in the spring of 1543. Six years afterward, he

again sailed for the St. Lawrence, and was never heard of again. The discov-

eries of Verrazani and Cartier, and also of French fishermen, served as the found-

ation for a claim by France to the northern portion of the American continent.

France was now convulsed by the conflicts of religious opinions. It was

the era of the Reformation there. 2 The doctrines and the teachings of Calvin

and others, in opposition to the faith and practice of the Roman Catholic

Church, had already arrayed great masses of the people in violent hostility to

each other. The religious war was an absorbing idea, and for fifty years the

French government made no further attempts at discovery or colonization.

But private enterprise sought to plant a French settlement in the land discovered

by D'Aylion.
3 The Huguenots, or French Protestants, who maintained the

faith of early Christianity, were the weaker party in number, and felt the heavy
heel of oppression. They had a powerful friend in Jasper Coligny, admiral of

France, but a weak protector in the reigning monarch, Charles the Ninth.

' Page 48. 2 Note 14, page 62. 42.
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The fired of persecution were continually burning, and at length Coiigny

conceived the noble idea of providing a place of refuge for his Protestant

brethren, beyond the Atlantic. The king granted him a commission for that

purpose ;
and early in 1562 [Feb. 28J, a squadron, under iTohn Ribault,

sailed for America. The little Huguenot fleet touched first near the harbor

of St. Augustine, in Florida.
1

Sailing northward, they saw the mouth of the

beautiful St. John's River [May, 1562], and, it being the fifth month of the

year, they named it the " River of May." Making their way along the coast,

they discovered Port Royal entrance, were charmed with the beauty of the

scene, chose the spot for their future home, and built a small fort, which they
named Carolina, in honor of the king. Leaving a garrison of twenty-six men
to defend it, Ribault went back to France with the ships, for reinforcements.

Bitter disappointment ensued. Civil war was raging in France, and Coiigny
was almost powerless. The reinforcements were not supplied, and the little

garrison, though treated with hospitality by the Indians, became very discon-

tented. Despairing of relief, they built a frail vessel, and, with insufficient

stores, they embarked for France. Tempests assailed them, and famine was

menacing them with death, when they were picked up by an English bark, and

conveyed to Great Britain. Thus perished the first seeds of religious freedom

which the storms of persecution bore to the New ^^
r
orld.

The noble Coiigny was not discouraged ; and, during a lull in the tempest
of civil commotion, another expedition was sent to America, under the com-

mand of Laudonniere, who had accompanied Ribault on his first voyage.

They arrived in July, 1564, pitched their tents on the banks of the St. John's

River (River of May), and built another Fort Carolina. But there were ele-

ments of dissolution among these immigrants. Many were idle, vicious, and

improvident ;
and provisions soon became scarce. Under pretext of returning

to France, to escape famine, quite a large party sailed, in December, in one of

the vessels. They turned pirates, and depredated extensively upon Spanish

property in the West Indies. The remainder became discontented, and were

about to embark for France, when Ribault arrived with immigrants and sup-

plies, and took command.*

Spanish jealousy and bigotry were now aroused, and when the monarch of

Spain, the narrow Philip the Second, heard of the settlement of the French

Protestants within his claimed territory, and of the piracies of some of the

party, he adopted measures for their expulsion and punishment. Pedro Melen-

dez, a brave but cruel military chief, was appointed Governor of Florida, on

condition that he would expel the Frenchmen from the soil, conquer the natives,

and plant a colony there within three years. That was an enterprise exactly
suited to the character of Melendez. He came with a strong force, consistingO O
of three hundred soldiers furnished by the king, and twenty-two hundred vol-

1

Page 42.
8 James L> Moyne, a skillful painter, was sent with this expedition, with instructions to make

colored drawings of every object worthy of preservation. His illustrations of the costume and cus-

toms of the natives are very interesting, because authentic.
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unteers priests, sailors, mechanics, laboiers, women, and children. The fleet

was scattered by storms, and with only one third of his original number, Me-

lendez landed in a fine harbor on the coast of Florida. There he laid the

foundations of a city, which he named St. Augustine [Sept. 17, 1565], and

formally proclaimed the king of Spain to be monarch of all North America.

On hearing of the arrival of the Spaniards, a large party of the French, under

Ribault, proceeded from the St. John's, by water, to attack them. A tempest
wrecked every vessel

;
and most of the survivors, who fell into the hands of the

Spaniards, were put to death. In the mean while, Melendez made his way
through the swamps and forests with a strong force, to the defenseless French

settlement, where he massacred about nine hundred men, women, and children,

and over their dead bodies placed an inscription, avowing that he slew them, not

"because they were Frenchmen, but Lutherans."
1

Upon that field of blood

the monster erected a cross, and laid the foundation of a Christian church to

commemorate the deed !

Charles the Ninth of France was not only a weak monarch, but an enemy
to the Huguenots. He therefore took no steps to avenge the outrage, per-

petrated under the sanction of the bigot of Spain. But one of his subjects, a

fiery soldier of Gascony, named Dominic de Gourges, obtained permission to

inflict retribution. He had suffered Spanish bondage and Spanish cruelty, and

panted for revenge. He fitted out three ships at his own expense, and with one

hundred and
fifty men, sailed for Florida. Pie attacked the Spaniards upon the

St. John's, surprised and captured Fort Carolina, which they occupied, made

two hundred prisoners, and hanging his captives upon the trees almost upon the

spot where his countrymen had been murdered, he placed over them the inscrip-

tion
" I do not this as unto Spaniards or mariners, but unto traitors, robbers,

and murderers." Too weak to brave the vengeance of Melendez, who was at St.

Augustine, De Gourges immediately left the coast, and returned to France.

The natives were delighted at seeing their common enemies thus destroy-

ing each other. The Spaniards, however, held possession, and a Spanish
settlement was ever afterward maintained at St. Augustine, except during a

few years.

It was now more than three quarters of a century since Columbus discov-

ered the West India Islands, and yet no real progress toward a permanent

European settlement, within the domain of the United States, had been made.

Although the English seem not to have wholly relinquished the idea of plant-

ing settlements in America, it was not until the twentieth year of the brilliant

reign of Queen Elizabeth, and almost eighty years after the discovery of the

continent by Cabot,
2 that healthy efforts to found colonies in the New "World,

were made. Sir Martin Frobisher 3

(an eminent navigator) and others had

1 The Protestants were often called by the general name of Lutherans, because the later Reform-
ation was commenced by the bold opposition of Martin Luther to the corrupt practices of the Romish
Church. Note 14, page 62. 2 page 46.

3 Born in Yorkshire, England ; was trained in the navigator's art
;
made several voyages for

Discovery ;
and died of wounds received in a naval battle near Brest, on the French coast, in

4594.
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explored the north- estern coast of North America, to the dreary region north

of Hudson's Bay,
1

in search of precious metals and a north-west passage to

India,' but without beneficial results. Newfoundland was visited every year

by numerous English and French fishing-vessels, and the neighboring continent

was frequently touched by the hardy mariners. Yet no feasible plans for col-

onization were matured. Finally, when the public mind of England was turned

from the cold regions of Labrador and the fancied mineral wealth in its rugged

mountains, to the milder South, and the more solid benefits to be derived from

plantations than raw s, a new and brilliant era in the history of civilization

began. This change was produced incidentally by the Huguenot adventurers.
1

The remnant of Coligny's first colony, who were picked up at sea and taken to

England, informed the queen of the glory of the climate, and the fertility of

the soil of Carolina. When De Gourges returned from his foray upon the

Spaniards,
4 Walter Raleigh, then a young man of much promise, was learning

the art of war with Coligny, in France, and he communicated to his friends in

England that chevalier's account of Florida, which was yet a wilderness free

for the sons of toil. Enterprise was powerfully aroused by the promises of that

warm and beautiful land, and the Protestant5 feeling of England was strongly

stirred by the cruelties of Melendez. These dissimilar, but auxiliary causes,

produced great effects, and soon many minds were employed in planning
schemes for colonizing the pleasant middle regions of North America. The

first healthy plan for settlement there was proposed by the learned Sir Humph-

rey Gilbert, a step-brother of Walter Raleigh. He had served with honor in

the wars of Ireland, France, and the Low Countries, and then was not only prac-

tically engaged in maritime affairs, but had written and published a treatise on

the north-west passage to India. Having lost money in a vain endeavor to

transmute baser metals into gold, he resolved to attempt to retrieve his fortune

by planting a colony in the New World. In June, 1578, he obtained a liberal

patent or grant from the queen. Raleigh gave him the aid of his hand and for-

tune
;
and early in 1579, Gilbert sailed for America, with a small squadron,

accompanied by his step-brother. Heavy storms and Spanish war-vessels com-

pelled them to return, and the scheme was abandoned for a time. Four years
afterward [1583] Gilbert sailed with another squadron : and after a series of

disasters, he reached the harbor of St. John's, Newfoundland. There he set up
a pillar with the English arms upon it," proclaimed the sovereignty of his

queen, and then proceeded to explore the coast southward. After being ter-

ribly beaten by tempests off the shores of Nova Scotia and Maine, and losing
his largest ship, he turned his vessel toward England. At midnight, in Sep-
tember, during a gale, his own little bark of ten tons went down, with all on

board, and only one vessel of the expedition returned to England to relate the

dreadful narrative.

The melancholy fate of the second expedition did not dismay the heart of

1 Note 8, page 59. ?
Page 47.

*
Page 50.

Page 51. Note 14, page 62. Note 2, paj?e 40.



PIZARRO BEFORE CHARLE3 V. AFTER THE CONQUEST OF PERU. (See Page 44.)





/G09.1 ENGLISH AND FRENCH DISCOVERIES.

Raleigh. He was a young man of great spirit, "the most restless, and am-

bitious, as he was the most versatile and accomplished, of all Elizabeth's court-

iers." He now obtained a patent for himself [April,

1584], which made him lord proprietor of all lands

that might be discovered by him in America, be-

tween the Santee and Delaware Rivers. He dis-

patched Philip Amidas and Arthur Barlow, with

two well-furnished ships, to explore the American

coast. They approached the shores of Carolina
1

in July, and landing upon the islands of Wocoken

and Roanoke, which separate the waters of Pamlico

and Albemarle Sounds from the Atlantic, they took

possession of the country in the name of Elizabeth. RALEIGH.

They remained a few weeks, exploring the Sounds and trafficking with the

natives, and then returned to England with two sons of the forest.
11 The glow-

ing accounts of the newly-discovered country filled Raleigh's
3
heart with joy ;

and the queen declared the event to be (what it really was) one of the most

glorious of her reign. In memorial of her unmarried state, she gave the name

of VIRGINIA to the enchanting region. Raleigh was knighted, his patent was

confirmed by act of Parliament, and the queen gave him a monopoly in the sale

of sweet wines, as a means for enriching him.

The ardent and ever hopeful Raleigh now indulged
in brilliant dreams of wealth and power to be derived

from the New World, and he made immediate prepar-
ations for planting settlements on his trans-Atlantic

domains. He dispatched a fleet of seven vessels on

the 19th of April, 1585, under the command of Sir

Richard Grenville. He was accompanied by Ralph

Lane, the appointed governor of the colony, with

learned companions ;
and also by Manteo, the native

chief. They narrowly escaped shipwreck on the Caro-

lina coast, in June, and in consequence of that danger,

they named the land where their peril was greatest, Cape Fear. Entering
Ocracock Inlet, they landed upon the island of Roanoke, in Albemarle Sound,
and there prepared for a permanent residence.

4

RALEIGH'S SHIPS.

1 The French Protestants had given the name of Carolina to the region where they attempted

settlement, and it has ever since retained it. See page 50.
a Manteo and Wanchese, natives of the adjacent continent: probably of the Hatteras tribe.

3 Born in Devonshire, England, 1552. He was one of the most illustrious men of the reign of

Queen Elizabeth, which was remarkable for brilliant minds. His efforts to plant colonies in Amer-

ica, were evidences of a great genius and indomitable courage and perseverance. He was also a

fine scholar, as well as a statesman, mariner, and soldier. His name will ever be held in reverence

by all who can appreciate true greatness. He wrote a History of the World, while in prison under
a false charge of high treason, and was beheaded in London, October 29, 1628.

4 The picture of the meeting of the English and natives of Roanoke, on page 53, exhibits

truthful delineations of the persons and costumes of the Indians found there. They were copied
and grouped from Harriot's " Brief and True Report of the new found land of Virginia." which was

published in 1590. Harriot accompanied the expedition as historian and naturalist, remained a
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The English made some fatal mistakes at the outset. Instead of looking to

the fruition of seed-time for true riches, they turned from the wealthy soil upon

which they stood, and went upon vain searches for gold in the forests of the

adjoining continent. Instead of reciprocating the hospitable friendship of the

natives, they returned harshness for kindness, and treachery for confidence,

until a flame of revenge was kindled among the Indians which nothing but the

blood of Englishmen could quenc^ Schemes for the destruction of the white

intruders were speedily planned, and tribes in the interior stood ready to aid

their brethren ^pon the seaboard. As soon as Grenville departed with the

ships, for England, the natives withheld supplies of food, drew the English into

perilous positions by tales of gold-bearing shores along the Roanoke River, and

finally reduced the colony to the verge of ruin. At that moment, Sir Francis

Drake arrived from the West Indies, with his fleet, and afforded them relief.

But misfortune and fear made them anxious to leave the country, and the emi-

grants were all conveyed to England, in June, 1586, by Drake. A few days
after their departure, a well-furnished vessel, sent by Raleigh, arrived

;
and a

fortnight later, Grenville entered the inlet with three ships well provisioned.

After searching for the departed colony, Grenville sailed for England, leaving

fifteen men upon Roanoke.

The intrepid Raleigh was still undismayed by misfortune. He adopted a

wise policy, and instead of sending out mere fortune-hunters,
1

he collected a

band of agriculturists and artisans, with their families, and dispatched them

[April 26, 1587], to found an industrial State in Virginia. He gave them a

charter of incorporation for the settlement
;
and John White, who accompanied

them, was appointed governor of the colony. They reached Roanoke in July ;

but instead of the expected greetings of the men left by Grenville, they encoun-

tered utter desolation. The bones of the fifteen lay bleaching on the ground.
Their rude tenements were in ruins, and wild deer were feeding in their little

gardens. They had been murdered by the Indians, and not one was left.

Manteo" did not share in the Indian hatred of the white people, and like Massa-

soit of New England,
8
he remained their friend. By command of Raleigh, he

received Christian baptism, and was invested, by White, with the title of Lord

of Roanoke, the first and last peerage ever created in America. Yet Manteo

could not avert nor control the storm that lowered among the Indian tribes, and

menaced the English with destruction. The colonists were conscious that fear-

ful perils were gathering, and White hastened to England toward the close of

the year for reinforcements and provisions, leaving behind him his daughter,
Eleanor Dare (wife of one of his lieutenants), who had just given birth to a

child [August 18, 1587], whom they named Virginia. VIRGINIA DARE was

the first offspring of English parents born within the territory of the United

States.
4

year in Virginia, and had correct drawings made of the inhabitants, their dwellings, their gardens,
and every thing of interest pertaining to their costumes, customs, and general characteristics. The

picture may be accepted as historically correct
J

Page 52.
a Note 2, page 55.

3 Page 114. * Note 6, page 78.
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ENGLISH GENTLE-

MAN, 1580.

The great Spanish Armada 1

was preparing for an invasion of Great Britain,

when White reached England ;
and Raleigh, Grenville, and others, were deeply

aigaged in public affairs. It was not until the following May
[1589 J, that White departed, with two ships, for Virginia.

According to custom, he went by the way of the West Indies,

and depredated upon Spanish property found afloat. He was

beaten in an engagement, lost one of his vessels, and was

obliged to return to England. Raleigh's fortune being mate-o o o o

rially impaired by his munificence in efforts at colonization, he

assigned his proprietary rights to others
;
and it was not until

1590 that White was allowed to return to Roanoke in search

of his daughter and the colony he had left. Both had then

disappeared. Roanoke was a desolation
; and, though Raleigh,

who had abandoned all thoughts of colonization, had five times

sent mariners, good and true, to search for the emigrants,

they were never found.
2

Eighty years later, the Corees 3
told

the English settlers upon the Cape Fear River, that their lost kindred had been

adopted by the once powerful Hatteras tribe,
4 and became amalgamated with

the children of the wilderness. The English made no further attempts at colo-

nization at that time
;
and so, a century after Columbus sailed for America,

there was no European settlement upon the North American Continent. Sir

Francis Drake had broken up the military post at St. Augustine [1585], and

the Red Men were again sole masters of the vast domain.

A dozen years after the failure of Raleigh's colonization efforts, Bartholo-

mew Gosnold, who had been to America, and. was. a friend of the late proprietor

of Virginia, sailed in a small bark [March 26, 1602] directly across the Atlan-

tic for the American coast. After a voyage of seven weeks, he discovered the

Continent near Nahant [May 14, 1602], and sailing southward, he landed

upon a sandy point which he named Cape Cod, on account of the great number

of those fishes in that vicinity. Continuing southward, he discovered Nan-

tucket, Martha's Vineyard, and the group known as Elizabeth Islands. Upon
one of them, which he named Elizabeth, in honor of his sovereign, Gosnold and

his company prepared to found a settlement. Upon an islet, in a tiny lake,

they built a fort and store-house.
6

Becoming alarmed at the menaces of the

Indians and the want of supplies, they freighted their vessel with sassafras

1 This was a great naval armament, fitted out by Spain, for the invasion of England, in the

Bummer of 1588. It consisted of one hundred and fifty ships, two thousand six hundred and fifty

great guns, and thirty thousand soldiers and sailors. It was defeated [July 20] by Admirals
Drake and Howard.

2 While Raleigh was making these fruitless searches, the Marquis de la Roche, a wealthy
French nobleman, attempted to plant a French colony in America. He was commissioned by tne

King of France for the purpose, and in 1598 sailed for America with a colony, chiefly drawn from
the prisons of Paris. Upon the almost desert island of Sable, near the coast of Nova Scotia, La
Roche left forty men, while he returned to France for supplies. He died soon afterward, and for

seven years the poor emigrants were neglected. When a vessel was finally sent for them, only
twelve survived. They were taken to France, their crimes were pardoned by the king, and
their immediate wants were supplied.

' Page 20. 4 Note 5, page 20.
3 Dr. Jeremy Belknap, the historian of New Hampshire, discovered the cellar of this store-

house in 1797.
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roots, and returned to England in June, 1602. The glowing accounts of the

country which Gosnold gave, awakened the enterprise of some Bristol mer-

chants,
1 and the following year [1603] they fitted out two vessels for the pur.

pose of exploration and traffic with the natives. The command was given to

Martin Pring, a friend of both Raleigh and Gosnold. Following the track of

the latter, he discovered the shores of Maine, near the mouth of the Penobscot

[June], and coasting westward, he entered and explored several of the larger

rivers of that State. He continued sailing along the coast as far as Martha's

Vineyard, trading with the natives
;
and from that island he returned to En-

gland, after an absence of only six months. Pring made another voyage to

Maine, in 1606, and more thoroughly explored the country. Maine was also

visited in 1605, by Captain George Weymouth, who had explored the coast of

Labrador, in search of a north-west passage to India.
5 He entered the Saga-

dahock, and took formal possession of the country in the name of King James.

There he decoyed five natives on board his vessel, and then sailed for England.

These forest children excited much curiosity ;
and the narratives of other mari-

ners of the west of England, who visited these regions at about the same time,

gave a new stimulus to colonizing efforts.

The French now began to turn their attention toward the New World

again. In 1603, De Monts, a wealthy French Huguenot,
3
obtained a commission

of viceroyalty over six degrees of latitude in New France,* extending from Cape

May to Quebec. He prepared an expedition for settlement, and arrived at

Nova Scotia,
5
with two vessels, in May, 1604." He passed the summer there,

trafficking with the natives
;
and in the autumn he crossed over to the mouth

of the St. Croix (the eastern boundary of Maine), and erected a fort there. He
had left a few settlers at Port Royal (now Annapolis), under Poutrincourt.

These De Monts joined the following spring [1605], and organized a perma-
nent colony. He named the place Port Royal ;

and the territory now included

in Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, and the adjacent islands, he called ACADIE. T

His efforts promised much success
;
but he was thwarted by jealous men. In

1608, he was deprived of his vice-royal commission, when he obtained a grant
of the monopoly of the fur trade upon the St. Lawrence, for one year, and

another commission, to plant a colony elsewhere in New France. The new

expedition was placed under the command of Samuel Champlain (who accom-

panied the viceroy on his first voyage), and on the 3d of June, 1608, he

arrived, with two vessels, at the mouth of the Saguenay, on the St. Lawrence.

They ascended the great river, and on the site of Quebec, near where Cartier

built his fort almost seventy years before,
8

they planted the first permanent

1
Page 46.

*
Page 510. 3 Page 49. < Page 48. s Note 2. page 80.

8 De Monts first brought swine, and other domestic animals, into this portion of America.
Borne were also taken from thence to French settlements planted in Canada a few years later. The
company of which he was chief, fitted out four vessels. De Monts commanded the two here men-
tioned, assisted by Champlain and Poutrincourt.

7 In 1613, Samuel Argall made a piratical visit to these coasts, under the direction or the gov-
ernor of the Virginia colony. He destroyed the remnant of De Monts' settlement at St Croix,
broke up the peaceful colony at Port Royal, and plundered the people of every thing of value. See

page 72. *
Page 49.
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HENRY HUDSON.

French settlement in the New World. The following summer, Champlain

ascended the Richelieu or Sorel River, the outlet of Lake Champlain, with a

war party of Huron 1 and Algonquin
2

Indians, and discovered the beautiful lake

which bears his name, in the north-eastern part of the State of New York. 8

The English were not idle while the French Avere

exploring, and making efforts at settlement in the

direction of the St. Lawrence. Several private enter-

prises were in progress, among the most important of

which was that of a company of London merchants

who sent Henry Hudson, an intimate friend of Captain

Smith,
4
to search for a supposed north-eastern ocean

passage to India. He made two unsuccessful voyages
to the regions of polar ice [1607-8], when the attempt

was abandoned. Anxious to win the honor of first

reaching India by the northern seas, Hudson applied

to the Dutch East India Company
5
for aid. The Amsterdam directors afforded

it,
and on the 4th of April, 1609, Hudson departed from Amsterdam, in com-

mand of the Half-Moon, a yacht of eighty tons. He

sought a north-eastern passage ;
but after doubling the

capes of Norway, the ice was impassable. Turning his

prow, he steered across the Atlantic, and first touching
the continent on the shores of Penobscot Bay, he

arrived in sight of the capes of Virginia in August,
1609. Proceeding northward, he entered the mouths

of several large rivers, and finally passed the Narrows"

and anchored in New York Bay. He proceeded almost

sixty leagues up the river that bears his name, and

according to the formula of the age, took possession of the country in the name
of the States General of Holland.

7 He returned to Europe
8

in November

1

Page 22. 2 page 17.
3
Champlain penetrated southward as far as Crown Point

; perhaps south of Ticonderoga. It

was at about the same time that Hudson went up the river that bears his name, as far as Water-
ford

,
so that these eminent navigators, exploring at different points, came very near meeting in the

wilderness. Six years afterward Champlain discovered Lake Huron, and there he joined some
Huron Indians in an expedition against one of the Five Nations in Western New York. They had
& severe battle in the neighborhood of the present village of Canandaigua. Champlain published
an account of his first voyage, in 1613, and a continuation in 1620. He published a new edition

of these in 1632, which contains a history of New France, from the discovery of Verrazani to the

year 1631. Champlain died in 1634. Page 65.
5 Dutch mariners, following the track of the Portuguese, opened a successful traffic with East-

ern Asia, about the year 1594. The various Dutch adventurers, in the India trade, were united in

one corporate body in 1602, with a capital of over a million of dollars, to whom were given the

exclusive privilege of trading in the seas east of the Cape of Good Hope. This was the Dutch
East India Company.

6 Entrance to New York Bay between Long and Staten Islands.
7 Tnis was the title of the Government of Holland, answering, in a degree, to our Co-ngress.
8
Hudson, while on another voyage in search of a north-west passage, discovered the great Bay

in the northern regions, which bears his name. He was there frozen in the ice during the winter
of 1610-11. While endeavoring to make his way homeward in the spring, his crew became muti-
nous. They finally seized Hudson, bound his arms, and placing him ana his son, and seven sick

companions, "in an open boat, set them adrift upon the cold waters. They were never heard of

afterward.

THE HALF-MOON.
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1609, and his report of the goodly land he had discovered set in motion those

commercial measures which resulted in the founding of a Dutch empire in the

New World.

With these discoveries commenced the epoch of settlements. The whole

Atlantic coast of North America had been thoroughly or partially explored, the

general character and resources of the soil had become known, and henceforth

the leading commercial nations^" /Vestern Europe England, France, Spain,

and Holland regarded the transatlantic continent, not as merely a rich garden

without a wall, where depredators trom every shore might come, and, without

hinderance, bear away its choicest fruit, but as a land where the permanent

foundations of vast colonial empires might be laid, from which parent states

would receive almost unlimited tribute to national wealth and national glory.

When we contemplate these voyages across the stormy Atlantic, and con-

sider the limited geographical knowledge of the navigators, the frailty of their

vessels
1 and equipments, the vast labors and constant privations endured by

them, and the dangers to which they were continually exposed, we can not but

feel the highest respect and reverence for all who were thus engaged in opening

the treasures of the New World to the advancing nations of Europe. Although

acquisitiveness, or the desire for worldly possessions, was the chief incentive to

action, and gave strength to resolution, yet it could not inspire courage to

encounter the great dangers of the deep and the wilderness, nor fill the heart

with faith in prophecies of success. These sentiments must have been innate;

and those who braved the multitude of perils were men of true courage, and their

faith came from the teachings of the science of their day. History and Song,

Painting and Sculpture, have all commemorated their deeds. If Alexander the

Great was thought worthy of having the granite body of Mount Athos hewn

into a colossal image of himself,
2

might not Europe and America appropriately

join in the labor of fashioning some lofty summit of the Alleghanies" into a huge
monument to the memory of the NAVIGATORS who lifted the vail of forgetful-

ness from the face of the New World ?
4

1 The first ships were generally of less than one hundred tons burden. Two of the vessels of

Columbus were without decks
;
and the one in which Frobisher sailed was only twenty-five tons

burden.
2

Dinocrates, a celebrated architect, offered to cut Mount Athos into a statue of Alexander the

Great, so large, that it might hold a city in its right hand, and in its left a basin of sufficient capa-

city to hold all the waters that poured from the mountain. 3 Note 3, p ige 19.

4 Page 47 There has been much discussion concerning the claims of certain navigators, to the

honor of first discovering the Continent of America. A ' Memoir of Sebastian Cabot," illustrated by
documents from the Rolls, published in London in 1832, appears to prove conclusively that he, and
not his fatiier, was the navigator who discovered North America. John Cabot was a man of science,
and a merchant, and may have accompanied his son, in his first voyage in 1497. Yet, in the patent
of February, 1498, in which the first voyage is referred to, are the words, "the land and isles of late

found by the said John, in our name, and by our commandment." The first commission being issued

in the name of John Cabot, the discoveries made by those employed by him, would of course be in

his name. A little work, entitled "Researches respecting Americus Vespucius, and his Voyiiix's."

prepared by Viscount Santarem, ex-prime minister of Portugal, casts just doubts upon the statt-nn nts

of Vespucius, concerning his command on a voyage of discovery when, he claims, he discovered

South America [page 41] in 1499. He was doubtless an officer under Ojeda; and it is quite cer-

tain that he got possession of the narratives of Ojeda and published them as his own. The most
accessible works on American discoveries, are Irving's "Life of Columbus;" Prescott's "Ferdinand
and Isabella;" Lives of Cabot and Hudson, in Sparks's

" American Biography," and Histories of the

United States by Graham, Bancroft and Hildrefh.



THIRD PERIOD.

SETTLEMENTS.

CHAPTER I.

EARLY ATTEMPTS.

THERE is a distinction to be observed in considering settlements and

colonies. The act of forming a settlement is not equivalent to the estab-

lishment of a colony or the founding of a State. It is the initiatory step

toward such an end, and may or may not exhibit permanent results. A
colony becomes only such when settlements assume permanency, and

organic laws, subservient to those of a parent government, are framed for

the guidance of the people. It seems proper, therefore, to consider the

era of settlements as distinct from that of colonial organisation.
1

The period of settlements within the bounds of the thirteen original

colonies which formed the Confederacy in the "War for Independence,
2

extends from 1607 to 1733. For fifty years previous to the debark-

ation [1607] at Jamestown,
3

fishing stations had been established at

various points on the Atlantic coast; and at St. Augustine
4
the Spaniards

had kept a sort of military post alive. Yet the time of the appearance
of the English in the James River, is the true point from which

to date the inception or beginning of our great confederacy of

1 On the tenth day of April, 1606, King James I. of England signed two royal patents
to men of his kingdom which authorized them to possess and settle all that portion of
North America between the thirty-fourth and forty-fifth parallels of latitude. This em-
braced all the continent from Cape Fear and Passamaquoddy Bay on the Atlantic coast
to the Pacific Ocean. The first was granted to the London Company, an association of

nobles, gentlemen and merchants residing in that city. The second was issued to a
similar body from Plymouth, and known as the Plymouth Company.

'2

Page 229. 3
Page 64.

4
Page 51.
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free States. Twelve years [1607 to 1619] were spent by English adven-

turers in efforts to plant a permanent settlement in Virginia.
1 For seventeen

years [1609 to 1623] Dutch traders were trafficking on the Hudson River,

before a permanent settlement was established in New York.
3

Fourteen years

[1606 to 1620] were necessary to effect a permanent settlement in Massachu-

setts
;

3 and for nine years [1622 to 1631] adventurers struggled for a foothold

in New Hampshire.
4 The Roman Catholics were only one year [1634-5] in

laying the foundation of the Maryland colony.
6 Seven years [1632 to 1639]

were employed in effecting permanent settlements in Connecticut
;

6

eight years

[1636 to 1643] in organizing colonial government in Rhode Island
;

7 and about

fifty years [1631 to 1682] elapsed from the landing ^f the Swedes on South

River,
8
before Delaware, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania (whose several histo-

ries of settlements are interwoven), presented colonial features.' Almost sixty

years [1622 to 1680] passed by before the first settlements in the Carolinas

became fully developed colonies
;

10
but Georgia, the youngest of the thirteen

States, had the foundation of its colonial government laid when Oglethorpe,

with the first company of settlers, began to build Savannah in the winter of

1733." The first permanent settlement within the bounds of the original

colonies, was in

VIRGINIA. [16071619].

A century had not elapsed after the discoveries of Columbus [1492],"

before a great social and political revolution had been effected in Europe.

Commerce, hitherto confined to inland seas and along the coasts, was sending

its ships across oceans. The art of printing had begun its wonderful work
;

13

and, through its instrumentality, intelligence had become generally diffused.

Mind thus acting upon mind, in vastly multiplied opportunities, had awakened

a great moral and intellectual power, whose presence and strength had not been

suspected. The Protestant Reformation
14 had weakened the bonds of spiritual

dominion, and allowed the moral faculties fuller play ;
and the shadows of feudal

institutions,
16

so chilling to individual effort, were rapidly disappearing before

'

Page 71. Page 73. 3 Page 79. * Page 80.
*
Page 82. Page 89. 7 Page 91. 8

Page 92.
9 Page 97. 10 Page 99.

"
Page 103.

n
Page 40.

13 About the year 1450. Rude printing from engraved blocks was done before that time; but

when Peter Schceffer cast the first metal types, each letter separately, at about 1450, the art of

printing truly had birth. John Faust established a printing-office at Mentz, in 1442. John Gutten-

berg invented cut metal types, and used them in printing a Bible which was commenced in 1445,
and finished in 1460. The names of these three men are usually associated as the inventors of

printing.
14 Commenced by "Wickliffe, in England, in 1360

; by Huss, in Bohemia, in 1405
; by Luther,

m Germany, hi 1517. From this period until 1562, the movement was general throughout Europe.
It was an effort to purge the Christian Church of all impurities, by reforming its doctrine and
ritual. The Reformers protested against some of the practices of the Roman Catholic Church,
and the movement received the title of the Protestant Reformation. The name of Protestants
was first given to Luther and others in 1529.

" The nature of feudal laws may be illustrated by a single example : William, the Norman
conqueror of England, divided the land of that country into parts called baronies, and gave them
to certain of his favorites, who became masters of the conquered people on their respective estates.
for these gifts, and certain privileges, the barons< or masters, ware to furnish the king with a stipu-
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the rising sun of the new era in the history of the world. Freedom of thought

and action expanded the area of ideas, and gave birth to those tolerant princi-

ples which lead to brotherhood of feeling. The new impulse developed nobler

motives for human action than the acquisition of wealth and power, and these

soon engendered healthy schemes for founding industrial empires in the New
World. Aspirations for civil freedom, awakened by greater religious liberty,

had begun the work, especially in England, where the Protestants were already

divided into two distinct parties, called, respectively, Churchmen and Puritans.

The former supported the throne and all monarchic ideas; the latter were

more republican ;
and from their pulpits went forth doctrines inimical to kingly

power. These religious differences had begun to form a basis of political

parties, and finally became prime elements of colonization.

Another event, favorable to the new impulse, now exerted a powerful influ-

ence. A long contest between England and France ceased in 1604. Soldiers,

an active, restless class in England, were deprived of employment, and would

soon become dangerous to the public peace. While population and general

prosperity had greatly increased, there was another large class, who, by idle-

ness and dissipation, had squandered fortunes, and had become desperate men.

The soldiers needed employment, either in their own art, or in equally exciting

adventures
;
and the impoverished spendthrifts were ready for any thing which

promised gain. Such were the men who stood ready to brave ocean perils and

the greater dangers of the Western World, when such minds as those of Fer-

nando Gorges, Bartholomew Gosnold, Chief Justice Popham, Richard Hakluyt,

Captain John Smith, and others, devised new schemes for colonization. The

weak and timid James the First,
1 who desired and maintained peace with other

nations during his reign, was glad to perceive a new field for restless and

adventurous men to go to, and he readily granted a liberal patent [April 20,

1606] to the first company formed after his accession to the throne, for planting

settlements in Virginia. The English then claimed dominion over a belt of

territory extending from Cape Fear, in North Carolina, to Halifax, in Nova

Scotia, and indefinitely westward. This was divided into two districts. One
extended from the vicinity of New York city northward to the present southern

boundary of Canada, including the whole of New England, and westward of it,

and was called NORTH VIRGINIA. This territory was granted to a company
of "knights, gentlemen, and merchants" in the west of England, called the

Plymouth, Company."
1 The other district extended from the mouth of the

Potomac southward to Cape Fear, and was called SOUTH VIRGINIA. It was

feted amount of money, and a stated number ofmen for soldiers, when required. The people had no
voice in this matter, nor in any public affairs, and were made essentially slaves to the barons. Out
of this state of things originated the exclusive privileges yet enjoyed by the nobility of Europe.
Except in Russia, the people have been emancipated from this vassalage, and the ancient forms of
feudal power have disappeared.

1 He was the Sixth James of Scotland, of the house of Stuart, and son of Mary, Queen of Scot-

land, by Lord Darnley. The crowns of England and Scotland were united by his accession to the
throne of the former kingdom, in March, 1603.

2 The chief members of the company .were Thomas Hanham, Sir John and Raleigh Gilbert (sons
of Sir Humphrey Gilbert), William Parker, George Popham, Sir John Popham (Lord Chief Justice
of England), and Sir Fernando Gorges, Governor of Plymouth Fort.
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granted to a company of "
noblemei^ gentlemen and merchants," chiefly resi-

dents of London, called the London Company,
l The intermediate domain of

almost two hundred miles, was a dividing line, so broad that disputes about

territory could not occur, as neither company was allowed to make settlements

more than fifty miles beyond its own boundary.

The idea of popular freedom was as yet the heritage of a favored few, and

the political character of the first colonial charter, under which a permanent
settlement was made within the territory of the United States, was unfavorable

to the best interests of all. The king reserved to himself the right of appoint-

ing all officers, and of exercising all executive and legislative power. The

colonists were to pay homage to the sovereign, and a tribute of one fifth of the

net products of gold and silver found in Virginia ; yet they possessed no rights

of self-government. They were to be governed by a council of seven appointed

by the king, who were allowed to choose a president from amon,--: themselves.

There was also a Supreme Council in England, appointed by the king, who had

the general supervision of the colonies, under the direction of the monarch.

That charter was the conception of a narrow mind, and despotic temper, and

proved totally inadequate as a constitution of government for a free people.

The North Virginia, or Plymouth Company, made the first attempt at set-

tlement, and failed.
4 The South Virginia, or London Company, sent Captain

Christopher Newport, with three vessels and one hundred and five emigrants

[Dec., 1606J, to make a settlement upon Roanoke Island,
3 where Raleigh's

colony had perished almost twenty years before. Among them was Bartholo-

mew Gosnold, the projector of the expedition. They possessed very poor
materials for a colony. There was no family among them, and only "twelve

laborers and a few mechanics." The remainder were "
gentlemen,"

4

many of

whom were vicious, dissolute men, totally unfit for such an enterprise, and

quite unworthy to be actors in the glorious events anticipated by Gosnold and

his enlightened associates at home. The voyage was a long and tedious one.

Newport pursued the old route by the Canaries and the West Indies, and did

not arrive upon the American coast until April, 1607, when a storm drove his

vessels into Chesapeake Bay, where he found a good harbor. He named the

capes at the entrance, Charles and Henry, in honor of the king's sons. A
pleasant point of the Virginia peninsula, between the York and James Rivers,

which they next landed upon and enjoyed repose, he named Point Comfort : and

the noble Powhatan River which he soon afterward entered he called James.

Sailing up the broad stream about
fifty miles, the immigrants landed upon a

beautiful, shaded peninsula,
5 where they chose a site for the capital of the ne\r

empire, and called it JAMESTOWN.

1 The chief members of the company were Sir Thomas Gates, Sir George Somers, Richard Hak-
luyt (the historian), and Edward Maria Wingfield, who was the first governor of Virginia.3

Page 73. a page 55
4 This name was given to wealthy men, who were not engaged in any industrial pursuit, and

often spent their lives in idleness and dissipation ;
a class which, in our day and country, number,

happily veiT few. Labor is worthily honored as more noble than idleness.
5 This may be called an island, for the marsh which connects it with the mainland is often over-

flowed. The currents of the river have washed away large portions of the original island.
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111 feelings had been engendered before they reached the Canary Islands,

and violent disputes had arisen during the long voyage. As the silly king had

placed the names of the colonial council in a sealed box, with instructions not

to open it until their arrival in Virginia, there was no competent authority on

board to restore harmony. Captain Smith,
1 who was the most able man among

them, excited the envy of his companions ;
and being charged with a design to

murder the council, usurp government, and proclaim himself king, he was

placed in confinement. On opening the sealed box, it was discovered that

Smith was one of the council. He was released from confinement; but,

through the influence of Wingfield, an avaricious, unprincipled, but talented

man, he was excluded from office. Smith demanded a trial upon the absurd

charges. The accusation was withdrawn, and he took his seat in the council,

over which Wingfield was chosen to preside.

Soon after landing, Newport, Smith, and twenty others, ascended the

James River to the Falls at Richmond, and visited the emperor of the Powhat-

ans,
a
whose residence was a mile below the foot of the rapids. The title of the

emperor was Powhatan, which signified supreme ruler, as did Pharaoh in the

ancient Egyptian language the chief man in Egypt. He was a man of great

ability, and commanded the reverence of the whole confederation. He appeared

friendly to the English, notwithstanding his people murmured at their presence ;

and the visitors returned to Jamestown much gratified.

Early in June, 1607, Newport sailed for England, to obtain more settlers

and provisions. The little band of emigrants soon perceived the perils of their

situation. A large portion of their provisions had been spoiled during the

voyage. They had not planted, therefore they could not reap. The neighboring
tribes evinced hostility, and withheld supplies. Poisonous vapor arose from

the marshes
;
and before the close of summer, one half of the adventurers per-

ished by disease and famine. Among the victims was Gosnold. The settlers,

in their despair, reproached themselves and the leaders of the expedition, and

longed to depart for the Old World. In the midst of their despondency, the

survivors discovered that president Wingfield was living on choice stores, and

was preparing to abandon the colony and escape to the West Indies in the pin-

nace3 left by Newport. Their indignation was thoroughly aroused, and he was

deposed. Ratcliffe, a man as weak and wicked as Wingfield, was chosen his

successor. He, too, was speedily dismissed
;
and the settlers, with one con-

sent, wisely turned to Smith as ruler.

It was a happy hour for the Virginia settlers when Captain Smith took the

reins of government. All was confusion
;
but he soon restored order

;
and by

his courage and energy, inspired the Indians with awe, and compelled them to

bring him supplies of food. In October, wild game became plentiful ;
and at

the beginning of November, the abundant harvest of Indian corn was gathered

See portrait at the head of this Chapter. Smith was one of the most remarkable men cf hia

time. He was born in Lincolnshire, England ;
and after many adventures in Europe, went to

America. He died in 1631. He wrote a History of Virginia, and several other works.
"

Page 20.
' A small, light vessel, with sails and oars.

5
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by the natives, and they supplied the settlers with all they needed. Javing
established a degree of comfort and prosperity, Smith started, with some com

panions, to explore the surrounding country. Ke ascended the Chickahomminy
River fifty miles from its mouth, and then, with two companions, penetrated
the vast forest that covered the land. His companions were slain. by the na-

tives, and he was made a captive. After being exhibited in several villages, he

was taken to Opechancanough,
1 the eldest brother of Powhatan, who, regarding

Smith as a superior being, spared his life, and conducted him to the emperor,
then at Weroworomoco, on the York River. 8 A solemn council decided that

the captive must die, and Smith was prepared for execution. His head was

placed upon a stone, and the heavy clubs of the executioners were raised to

crush it, when Pocahontas, a child of " ten or twelve years,"
3 the favorite

POC A HONT AS.

daughter of Powhatan, rushed from her father's side, and casting herself upon
the captive, besought the king to spare his life. Powhatan consented, and
Smith was conducted in safety to Jamestown by a guard of twelve men, after
an absence of seven weeks.

God, in his providence, overrules every thing for good. It is seen in this

event, for Smith's captivity was a public benefit. He had acquired a knowl-
edge of the Indian character, and of the country and its resources, and also had
formed

friendly relations with the sachems and chiefs. Had his companions

1 Note 6, page 106.

3 p
* Sh

J
Uy> nearly PP site toe mouth of Queen's Creek. Gloucester County, Virginia
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possessed half as much energy and honesty as Smith, all would have been well.

But they were idle, improvident and dissolute. As usual, he found every-

thing in disorder on his return from the forest. Only forty men were living,

and a greater portion of them were on the point of escaping to the West Indies

in the pinnace ;
but the courage and energy of Smith compelled them to re-

main. Conscious of the purity of their ruler and the wickedness of themselves,

they hated him intensely, and from that time they plotted for his destruction,

or the overthrow of his power.

Captain Newport arrived with supplies and one hundred and twenty im-

migrants, early in 1608. These were no better than the first adventurers.

Instead of agriculturalists and mechanics, with families, they were idle "gentle-

men," "packed hither," as Smith said, "by their friends, to escape ill destin-

ies." There were also several unskillful goldsmiths, the very men least needed

in the colony. Some glittering earth in the vicinity of Jamestown, was by them

mistaken for gold ;
and in spite of the remonstrances of Smith, the whole indus-

try of the colony was directed to the supposed treasure.
" There was no talk

r

no hope, no work, but dig gold, work gold, refine gold, load gold." Newport
loaded his vessel with the worthless earth, and returned to England, believing:

himself exceedingly rich
;
but science soon pronounced him miserably poor in

useful knowledge and well-earned reputation.

The gold-fever had taken strong hold upon the indolent dreamers, and

Smith remonstrated against idleness and pleaded for industry, in vain. He

implored the settlers to plow and sow, that they might reap and be happy.

They refused to listen, and he turned from Jamestown with disgust. With a

few sensible men, he went to explore the Chesapeake in an open boat, and

every bay, inlet, and creek, received his attention. He went up the Potomac

to the falls above Washington city ;
and then, after exploring the shores of the

Rappahannock to the site of Fredericsburg, he returned to Jamestown. A
few days afterward he returned again to the Chesapeake, carefully explored

each shore above the mouth of the Potomac, and entered the Patapsco, and ate

Indian corn on the site of Baltimore. He also went up the Susquehannah to

the beautiful vale of Wyoming,
1 and penetrated the forests even to the territory

of the Five Nations,
2 and established friendly relations with the dusky tribes.

Within three months he traveled full three thousand miles. It was one of the

most wonderful of exploring expeditions, considered in all its aspects, ever re-

corded by the pen of history ;
and the map of the country, which Smith con-

structed on his return, is yet in existence in England, and is remarkable for its

general accuracy.

Captain Smith returned to Jamestown on the 7th of September, 1608, and

three days afterward he was formally made president of the settlement. New-

port arrived soon afterward, with seventy immigrants, among whom were two

females, the first English women ever seen upon the James River.
3 To th*

soil they were compelled to look, chiefly, for their food, and Smith exerted all

1 Page 290. 2 Page 23. s Page 105.
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his energies to turn the little industry of the settlers to agriculture. He suc-

ceeded, in a degree, but he had poor materials out of which to form a healthy,

self-sustaining commonwealth. He wrote to the Supreme Council 1 to send over

a different class of men. "I entreat you," he said, "rather send but thirty

carpenters, husbandmen, gardeners, fishermen, blacksmiths, masons, and dig-

gers of trees' roots, well provided, than a thousand such as we have.
"

Yet, with

. all his exertions, idleness and improvidence prevailed. At the end of two years

from the first landing at Jamestown, and when the settlement numbered two

hundred strong men, not more than forty acres were under cultivation. To the

Indians the white people were compelled to look for their chief supply of food.

The London Company were disappointed, for the anticipations of sudden

wealth, in which they had indulged, were not realized, and they sought and

obtained a new charter [June 2, 1609], which gave them more ample privileges.

'The territory of SOUTH VIRGINIA 2 was extended northward to the head of the

Chesapeake. The Supreme Council was vested with power to fill vacancies

in its own body, and to appoint a governor for Virginia, whose rule was made

absolute. The lives, liberties, and property of the settlers were at his dis-

posal, and they were compelled to contribute a certain share of their earnings
to the proprietors. Thus they were mere vassals at will, under a petty des-

potism, without any inherent power, then recognized, to cast off the yoke.
Under that charter, Lord De la "Warr (Delaware), an enlightened peer,

was appointed governor of Virginia, for life, and soon afterward Newport
sailed for America [June 12, 1609], with nine ships, and more than five hun-

dred emigrants.
3 Sir Thomas Gates, the governor's deputy, embarked with

Newport, accompanied by Sir George Somers. Gates, Newport, and Somers,
were commissioned to administer the government until the arrival of Dela-

ware. When near the coast, a hurricane dispersed the fleet, and the vessel

bearing the commissioners was wrecked on one of the Bermuda Islands.

Seven vessels of the squadron reached the James River in safety. The colony
would have been the gainer had these never arrived, for a greater portion of

the new immigrants were more profligate, if possible, than the first. Thev
"were dissolute scions of wealthy families, and many of them came to avoid

punishment for crimes at home. They regarded Virginia as a paradise for

libertines, and believed the colony to be without a head until the arrival of

the governor or his deputy. Smith, on the contrary, boldly asserted his au-

thority as president, and maintained it until an accident in autumn compelled
Ihim to go to England for surgical aid,

4 when he delegated his authority to

^George Percy, brother of the duke of Northumberland.

When the idle and profligate settlers were released from the control of

> Page 64. 2 Page 63.
3 Domestic animals were now first taken to Virginia. They consisted of six mares, one

liorse, six hundred swine, a few sheep and goats, and five hundred domestic fowls. Two
years later one hundred cows and some other cattle were brought over.

4 While passing down the James River, in a boat, from the Falls, Smith's bag of powder
ignited, and the explosion almost killed him. His wounds were so severe as to require the
jnost skillful surgery.
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Smith, they gave themselves up to every irregularity of life. Their ample

stock of provisions was rapidly consumed. The Indians had great respect for

Smith, and were friendly while he remained, but after his departure, they

openly showed their contempt for the English, withheld supplies of provisions,

and conceived a plan for the total extermination of the white intruders. Fam-

ine ensued, and the winter and spring of 1610 were long remembered as "the

starving time." Those who went to the cabins of the Indians, for food, were

treacherously murdered
;
and finally a plan was matured by the natives for

striking a blow of utter extermination. Again Pocahontas performed the part

of a guardian angel.
1 On a dark and stormy night she hastened to Jamestown,

revealed the plot, and was back to her couch before the dawn. Thus, she saved

the colonists by placing them on their guard. Yet death hovered over them.

The horrors of destitution increased, and the settlement which numbered five

hundred persons when Smith left, was reduced to sixty within six months after

his departure. The commissioners
8

finally arrived. They constructed a rude

vessel upon the barren island where they were wrecked, and in it reached

Virginia, in June, 1610. Instead of being greeted by a flourishing people,

they were met by a mere remnant, almost famished. There appeared no way
to obtain food, and Gates determined to sail immediately for Newfoundland,*

and distribute the immigrants among the English fishing vessels there. James-

town was utterly abandoned, and toward Hampton Roads
4
the dejected settlers

Sailed in four pinnaces. Early the next morning white sails greeted their

vision. Lord Delaware had arrived with provisions and immigrants ;
and that

very night, Jamestown, abandoned to pagans in the morning, was made vocal

with hymns of thanksgiving to the true God, by the returned settlers.

Governor Delaware was a virtuous and prudent man, and under his admin-

istration the colony began to prosper. Failing health compelled him to return

to England the following spring [March, 1611] ;
and he left the government

in the hands of Percy, Smith's successor, who managed with prudence until the

arrival of Sir Thomas Dale, with supplies.
5

Dale was an experienced soldier,

and, assuming the government, he ruled by martial law. Early in September

following, Sir Thomas Gates arrived with six well-furnished ships, and three

hundred immigrants. With this arrival came hope for the colony. A large

portion of the new settlers were sober, industrious men, and their arrival gave

great joy to the four hundred colonists at Jamestown. Gates assumed the

functions of governor, and Dale went up the river to plant new settlements at

the mouth of the Appomattox and near the Falls. 6 And now a wise change in

the domestic policy of the colony was made. Hitherto the land had been

worked in common, and the product of labor was deposited in public storehouses,

for the good of the community. The industrious created food for the indolent,

and an incentive to effort was wanting. That incentive was necessary ;
and it

was found in the plan of making an assignment of a few acres of land to each

1

Page 66. 2
Page 68.

*
Page 47.

4 Note 3, page 297.
6
Delaware afterward sailed for Virginia, to resume the reins of government, but died on the

voyage.
6 Near the present City Point, and Richmond.
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man, to be cultivated for his own private benefit. This regulation gave a pow-

erful impulse to industry. Larger assignments were made, and soon the com-

munity system was abandoned, and industry on private account created an

ample supply of food for all.
1

A third charter was obtained by the London Company, on the 22d

of March, 1612, by which the control of the king was annulled. The

Supreme Council was abolished, and the whole company, sitting as a demo-

cratic assembly, elected the officers, and ordained the laws, for the colony.

Yet no political privilege was granted to the settlers. Their very exist-

ence as a body politic, was completely ignored. They had no voice in the

choice of rulers and the enactment of laws. Yet they were contented
;
and at

the beginning of 1613 there were a thousand Englishmen in Virginia. At

about this time an event occurred, which proved of permanent benefit to the

settlement. Powhatan had continued to manifest hostile feelings ever since the

departure of Smith. For the purpose of extorting advantageous terms of peace

from the Indian king, Captain Argall (a sort of buccaneer),
2 bribed an Indian

chief, with a copper kettle, to betray the trusting Pocahontas into his hands.

She was induced to go on board his vessel, where she was detained as a prisoner

for several months, until Powhatan ransomed her. In the mean while, a mutual

attachment had grown up between the maiden and John Rolfe, a young En-

glishman of good family. He had instructed her in letters and religion ; and,

with the consent of Powhatan, she received the rite of Christian baptism, and

became the wife of Rolfe, in April, 1613. This union brought peace, and

Powhatan was ever afterward the friend of the English.

Prosperity now smiled upon the settlement, yet the elements of a perma-
nent State were wanting. There were no families in Virginia, and all the

settlers indulged in anticipations of returning to England, which they regarded
as home. Gates went thither in March, 1614, leaving the administration of

government with Sir Thomas Dale, who ruled with wisdom and energy for

about two years, and then departed, after appointing George Yeardley deputy-

governor. During Yeardley's administration, the culture of the tobacco plant
3

was promoted, and so rapidly did it gain in favor, that it soon became, not only
the principal article of export, but the currency of the colony. And now

[1617] Argall, the buccaneer, was appointed deputy-governor. He was a des-

pot in feelings and practice, and soon disgusted the people. He was succeeded

by Yeardley, who was appointed governor in 1619
;
and then dawned the natal

morning of Virginia as a Republican State. Yeardley abolished martial law,

1 A similar result was seen in the operations of the Plymouth colony. See page 116.
9 Note 7, page 58.
* This plant, yet very extensively cultivated in Virginia and the adjoining States, was first

discovered by Sir Francis Drake, near Tabaco, in Yucatan: hence its name. Drake and Raleigh
first introduced it into England. King James conceived a great hatred of it,

and wrote a treatise

against its use. He forbade its cultivation in England, but could not prevent its importation from

Virginia. It became a very profitable article of commerce, and the streets of Jamestown were

planted with it. Other agricultural productions were neglected, and while cargoes of tobacco were

yreparing for England, the necessaries of life were wanting. The money value of tobacco was about

xty-six cents a pound.
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released the planters from feudal service to tiie colony,
1 and established repre-

sentative government.
2 The settlement was divided into eleven boroughs, and

two representatives,
called burgesses, were chosen by the people for each.

These, with the governor and council, constituted the colonial government.

The burgesses were allowed to debate all matters pertaining to the good of the

colony ;
but their enactments were not legal until sanctioned by the company

in England. The most important event of that year occurred on the 28th of

June. On that day, the first representative assembly ever convened in Amer-

ica, met at Jamestown. Then and there, the foundations of the VIRGINIA

commonwealth were laid. The people now began to regard Virginia as their

home, and "fell to building houses and planting corn." Within two years

afterward, one hundred and fifty reputable young women were sent over to

become wives to the planters.
3
the tribe of gold-seekers and "gentlemen" was

extinct, for "it was not the will of God that the new State should be formed

of such material
;
that such men should be the fathers of a progeny born on the

American soil, who were one day to assert American liberty by their eloquence,
and defend it by their valor."

4

CHAPTER II.

NE"W YORK [1609 1623].

IN a preceding chapter,
5 we have considered the discovery and exploration

of the river, bearing his name, by Henry Hudson, then in the service of the

Dutch East India Company. On his return to England [Nov. 1609], he for-

warded to his employers in Amsterdam,
8 a brilliant account of his discoveries in

America. Jealous of the maritime enterprise and growing power of the Dutch,
the British king would not allow Hudson to go to Holland, fearing he might be

employed in making further discoveries, or in planting settlements in America.

This narrow and selfish policy of James was of no avail, for the ocean pathway
to new and fertile regions, once opened, could easily be traversed by inferior

navigators. This fact was soon demonstrated. In 1610, some wealthy mer-

chants of Amsterdam, directors of the Dutch East India Company,
7 sent a ship

from the Texel, laden with merchandise, to
.
traffic with the Indians upon the

Mauritius,
8
as the present Hudson River was then called. Hudson's ship (the

Half-Moon
1

*}
was also sent hither the same year on a like errand

;
and for three

1

Page 68.
2

Yeardley found the people possessed with an intense desire for that freedom which the

English constitution gave to every subject of the realm, and it was impossible to reconcile that feel-

ing with the exercise of the arbitrary power which had hitherto prevailed. He, therefore, formed
a plan for a popular assembly as similar to the English parliament as circumstances would allow.

Page 105. 4
Bancroft. 5 Page 59. 6 Page 59.

7 Note 5, page 59. 8 So named, in honor of Prince Maurice, of Nassau. Page 69.
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years afterward, private enterprise dispatched many vessels from Holland, to

traffic for furs and peltries. Among other commanders came the bold Adrian

Block, the first navigator of the dangerous strait in the East River, called

Hell-Gate. Block's vessel was accidentally burned in the autumn of 1613.

when he and his companions erected some rude huts for shelter, near the site

of the Bowling Green, at the foot of Broadway, New York. These huts formed

the germ of our great commercial metropolis. During the ensuing winter

they constructed a vessel from the fine timber which grew upon Manhattan

Island, and early in the spring they sailed up Long Island Sound on a voyage
of discovery which extended to Nahant. Block first discovered the Connecticut

and Thames Rivers, and penetrated Narraganset Bay to the site of Provi-

dence.

Intent upon gain, Dutch trading vessels now frequently ascended the Mau-

ritius, and a brisk trade in furs and peltries was opened with the Indian tribes,

almost two hundred miles from the ocean. The traders built a fort and store-

house upon a little island just below Albany, in 1614, which they called Fort

Nassau
;
and nine years later, Fort Orange was erected near the river, a little

south of the foot of the present State-street, in Albany, on the site of Albany.
There is a doubt about a fort being erected on the southern extremity of Man-

hattan Island, at this time, as some chroniclers have asserted. It is probable

the trading-house erected there was palisaded, as a precautionary measure, for

they could not well determine the disposition of the Indians.

On the llth of October, 1614, a special charter was granted to a company
of Amsterdam merchants, giving them the monopoly of trade in the New
World, from the latitude of Cape May to that of Nova Scotia, for three years.

The territory was named NEW NETHERLAND, in the charter, which title it held

until it became an English province in 1664.
1

Notwithstanding it was included

in the grant of James to the Plymouth company,
8
no territorial jurisdiction

being claimed, and no English settlements having been made northward of

Richmond, in Virginia, the Dutch were not disturbed in their traffic. The

popular story, that Argall entered the Bay of New York on his return from

Acadie in 1613, and made the Dutch traders promptly surrender the place to

the English crown, seems unsusceptible of proof.*

Success attended the Dutch from the beginning. The trade in furs and

peltries became very lucrative, and the company made an unsuccessful applica-

tion for a renewal of their charter. More extensive operations were in contem-

plation; and on the 3d of June, 1621, the States General of Holland4

incorporated the Dutch West India Company, and invested it with almost

regal powers, for planting settlements in America from Cape Horn to New-
foundland

;
and in Africa, between the Cape of Good Hope and the Tropic of

Cancer, The special object of its enterprise was New Netherland, and espe-

cially the region of the Mauritius.
6 The company was not completely organized

1

Page 144. 2 Page 63.
3 See Brodhead's "History of the State of New York," Appendix E, where the matter is dis-

cussed at some length. * Note 7, page 69. 5 Page 71.
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until the spring of 1623, when it commenced operations with vigor. Its first

efforts were to plant a permanent colony, and thus establish a plausible pretext

for territorial jurisdiction, for now the English had built rude cabins on the

shores of Massachusetts Bay.
1 In April, 1623, thirty families, chiefly Wal-

loons (French Protestants who had fled to Holland), arrived at Manhattan,
under the charge of Cornelius Jacobsen May, who was sent to reside in New
Netherland, as first director, or governor. Eight of the fam-

ilies went up the Mauritius or Hudson River, and settled at

Albany ;
the remainder chose their place of abode across the

channel of the East River, and settled upon lands now cov-

ered by the eastern portions of Brooklyn, and the Navy
Yard.* Then were planted the fruitful seeds of a Dutch

colony then were laid the foundations of the future com-

monwealth of NEW YORK." The territory was erected into

a province and the armorial distinction of a count was

granted.*

SEAL OP NEW NETH-
BBLAND.

CHAPTER III.

MASSACHUSETTS [16061320].

SOON after obtaining their charter, in 1606, the PLYMOUTH COMPANY*

dispatched an agent in a small vessel, with two captive Indians, to examine

North Virginia. This vessel was captured by a Spanish cruiser. Another ves-

sel, fitted out at the sole expense of Sir John Popham, and commanded by
Martin Pring, was sent, and reached America. Pring confirmed the accounts

of Gosnold and others,
6

concerning the beauty and fertility of the New England

region. The following year [1607], George Popham
7

came, with one hundred

immigrants, and landing at the mouth of the Sagadahoc or Kennebec [August

21], they erected there a small stockade, a storehouse, and a few huts. All

but forty-five returned to England in the vessels
;
those remained, and named

their settlement St. George. A terrible winter ensued. Fire consumed their

store-house and some of their provisions, and the keen frosts and deep snows

1

Page 78.
9 The first white child born in New Netherland was Sarah Rapelje, daughter of one of the

"Walloon settlers. Her birth occurred on the 7th of June, 1625. She has a number of descendants

on Long Island. 3 Page 144.

4 Several hundred years ago, there were large districts of country in England, and on the con-

tinent, governed by Earls, who were subject to the crown, however. These districts were called

counties, and the name is still retained, even in the United States, and indicates certain judicial and

other jurisdiction. New Netherland was constituted a county of Holland, having all the individual

privileges appertaining to an earldom, or separate government. The armorial distinction of an earl,

or count, was a kind of cap, called coronet, seen over the shield in the above engraved repre-

sentation of the seal of New Netherland. The figure of a beaver, on the shield, is emblematic of

the Hudson River regions (where that animal then abounded), and of one of the grand objects o*

settlement there, the trade in furs.
6
Page 63.

6
Page 58. 7 Note 2, page 63.
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locked tno vaters and the forests against the fisherman and hunter. Famine

menaced tucm, but relief came before any were made victims. Of all the com-

pany, only Popham, their president, died. Lacking courage to brave the perils

of the wilderness, the settlement was abandoned, and the immigrants went back

to England [1608] at the very time when the Frenchmen, who were to build

Quebec/ were upon the ocean. Traffic with the Indian tribes was continued,

but settlements were not again attempted for several years.
3

Only the coast of the extensive country was seen by the several navigators

mo visited it. The vast interior, now called NEW ENGLAND, was an unknown

land, until Captain John Smith, with the mind of a philosopher and the courage

oi 3 liero, came, in 1614, and explored, not only the shores but the rivers

-penetrated the wilderness. Only himself and four London merchants

in interest in the expedition, which proved highly successful, not only in

discoveries, but in trade. With only eight men, Smith examined the region

between Cape Cod and the Penobscot, constructed a map of the country, and

after an absence of less than seven months, he returned to England, and laid a

report before Prince Charles (afterward the unfortunate king who lost his head),

the heir apparent to the throne. The prince, delighted with the whole account,

confirmed the title which Smith had given to the territory delineated on the

map, and it was named NEW ENGLAND. Crime, as usual, dimmed the luster

of the discovery. Hunt, commander of one of the vessels of the expedition,

kidnapped twenty-seven of the Indians, with Squanto,
3
their chief, as soon as

Smith had departed, took them to Spain and sold some of them into slavery.*

And now, at various points from Florida to Newfoundland, men-stealers of dif-

ferent nations, had planted the seeds of hatred and distrust,
5 whose fruits, in

after years were wars, and complicated troubles.

At the close of 1614, the Plymouth company employed Smith to make

further explorations in America and to plant a colony. He sailed in the spring
of 1615, but was driven back by a tempest. He sailed again on the 4th of

July following. His crew became mutinous, and finally his vessel was cap-
tured by a French pirate, and they were all taken to France. Smith escaped
to England, in an open boat, and arousing the sluggish energies of the Ply-
mouth company and others, they planned vast schemes of colonization, and he

was made admiral for life. Eager for gains, some of the members, joining
with others, applied for a new charter. It was withheld for a long time.

Finally, the king granted a charter [November 3, 1620] to forty of the wealth-

iest and most powerful men in the realm, who assumed the corporate title of THE
COUNCIL OF PLYMOUTH, and superseded the original PLYMOUTH COMPANY."

The vast domain of more than a million of square miles, lying between the fortieth

*ind forty-eighth degree of north latitude, and westward to the South Sea,
7

1

Page 49.
9 The celebrated Lord Bacon, and others, fitted out an expedition to Newfoundland in 1610,

b"it it was unsuccessful. 3
Page 114.

4 "When some benevolent friars heard of Hunt's intentions, they took all of the Indians not yet
sold, to instruct them as missionaries. Among them was Squanto.

* See pages 42 and 49. Page 63. 1 page 42.



1620.]
MASSACHUSETTS. 75

was conveyed to them, as absolute owners of the soil. It was the finest por-

tion of the Continent, and now embraces the most nourishing States and

Territories of our confederacy. This vast monopoly was unpropitious, in all

its elements, to the founding of an empire. It was not the will of God that

mere speculators and mercenary adventurers like these should people this

broad land. The same year when that great commercial monopoly was formed

[1620] ,
a company of devout men and women in Holland,who had been driven

from England by a persecuting government, came to the wilderness of the

New "World, not to seek gold and return, but to erect a tabernacle, where

they might worship the Great God in honest simplicity and freedom, and

to plant in the wilderness the foundation of a commonwealth, based upon
truth and justice. Who were they ? Let History answer.

Because the pope of Rome would not sanction an important measure

desired by a greater part of the people, King Henry the Eighth of England
defied the authority of the head of the Church, and, by the Act of Supremacy,*
Parliament also cast off the papal yoke. Yet religious freedom for the people

was not a consequence, for the long was virtually pope of Great Britain.

Heresy was a high crime
;
and expressions of freedom of thought and opinion

were not tolerated. The doctrines and rituals of the Romish church were

enforced, while the authority of the pope was denied. The people discovered

that in exchanging spiritual masters, they had gained nothing, except that the

thunders of excommunication
3 had lost their effect upon the public mind, and

thus one step toward emancipation was gained. Henry's son, Edward, estab-

hshed a more liberal Protestantism in England [1547], and

soon the followers of Luther and Calvin
4
drew the tangible

line of doctrinal difference which existed between them. The

former retained or allowed many of the ceremonials of the

church of Rome
;
the latter were more austere, and demanded

extreme simplicity in worship, and great purity of life. For

this they were called PURITANS, in derision
;
a name which

soon became honorable. When Parliament established a

liturgy for the church, the Puritans refused conformity, for

they acknowledged no authority but the Bible in matters of

religion. They became a distinct and influential party in

the State [1550], and were specially commended by the con- A PUKITAN.

cinental reformers.

1 The people, whose proclivities were toward Protestantism, deprecated the influence of the

queen (Catharine of Arragon), who was a zealous Roman Catholic, and desired her divorce from
the monarch. The king was very willing, for he wished to marry the beautiful Anne Boleyn.
Pope Julius the Third refused to sanction a divorce, when the king, on whom had been conferred
tho title of " Defender of the Faith," quarreled with the pontiff, and professed Protestantism.

4 An Act of Parliament, adopted in 1 534, which declared the king of England the superior head
of the Church in that realm, and made Protestantism the established religion of England.

s The Pope of Rome assumes the right to excommunicate, or expel from Christian communion,
whomsoever he pleases In former times, even kings were not exempt. An excommunicated
person lost social caste

;
and for centuries this was an iron rod in the hand of ecclesiastics to keep

the people in submission to spiritual authority. Happily for mankind, this species of despotism has
lost its power, and commands the obedience of only the ignorant and enslaved.

4 See note 14, page 62. Calvin was the leading French Reformer.
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Romanism was re-established in England in 1553, by Mary, the daughter

and successor of Henry the Eighth, who was a bigoted persecutor of Protestants

of every name. Lutherans and Calvinists were equally in peril. The fires of

persecution were lighted, and the first Protestant martyrs were consumed at the

stake.
1 Her reign was short, and she is known in history as the bloody Mary.

She was succeeded by her half-sister, Elizabeth, in 1558, who was a professed

Protestant, and the flames were extinguished. Elizabeth was no Puritan.

She endeavored to reconcile the magnificent rituals of the Romish Church with

the simple requisitions of the gospel. There was no affinity, and trouble

ensued. The Puritans, struggling for power, asserted, in all its grandeur, the

doctrine of private judgment in religious matters, and of untrammeled religious

liberty. From this high position,
it was but a step to the broad rock of civil

freedom. The Puritan pulpits became the tribunes of the common people, and

the preachers often promulgated the doctrine, that the sovereign was amenable

to public opinion when fairly expressed. This Avas the very essence of demo-

cratic doctrine, and evinced a boldness hitherto unparalleled. The jealousy

and the fears of the queen were aroused
;
and after several years of effort, the

Thirty-nine Articles of belief, which constitute the rule of faith in the Church

of England, were confirmed [1571] by an Act of Parliament.

Arid now bigotry in power began its wicked work. In 1583, a court of

high commission was established, for the detection and punishment of Non-

Conformists,
11

with powers almost as absolute as the Roman Inquisition. Per-

secution began its work in earnest, and continued active for twenty years. The

Puritans looked to the accession of James of Scotland, which took place in

1604,
3
with hope, but were disappointed. He was the most contemptible mon-

arch that ever disgraced the chair of supreme government in England. A
brilliant English writer4

says,
" He was cunning, covetous, wasteful, idle,

drunken, greedy, dirty, cowardly, a great swearer, and the most conceited man
on earth." The pure in heart could expect no consideration from such a man.

When he was fairly seated on the English throne, he said of the Puritans,
" I

will make them conform or I will harrie them out of the land." There were

then more than thirty thousand of them in England. During the first year of

James's reign, three hundred of their ministers were silenced, imprisoned, or

exiled. The lonp; struggle of the established church with the Roman Catholics

on one hand, and the Puritans on the other, was now decided. It had been a

struggle of three quarters of a century, not so much for toleration as for

supremacy ; and the Church of England was the final victor. During these

trials, England lost some of her best men. Among the devout ones who fled

1 John Rogers, a pious minister, and John Hooper, Bishop of Gloucester, were the first who
suffered.

* This was the title of all those Protestants in England who refused to conform to the doctrines

and ceremonials of the Established Church. This name was first given in 1572. Ninety years
afterward [1662], 2,000 ministers of the Established Church, unwilling to subscribe to the Thirty-
nine Articles, seceded, and were called Dissenters

;
a name yet applied to all British Protestants

who are not attached to the Church of England.
See note 1, page 63. < Charles Dickens.
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from persecution, was the Reverend John Robinson, pastor of a flock gathered

in the northern counties. Informed that there was " freedom of religion for all

men in Holland," he fled thither, with his people, in 1608, and established a

church at Leyden. They were soon joined by others from their native country.

Their purity of life and lofty independence commanded the admiration of the

Dutch
;
and their loyalty to the country from which they had been driven, was

respected as a noble virtue. There they learned many of those sound political

maxims which lie at the foundation of our own government ;
for there those

principles of civil liberty, which lay almost dormant in theory, in England,
were found in daily practice.

At Leyden, the English exiles were charmed by the narratives of the Dutch

voyagers to America. They felt that they had now no home, no abiding place

that they were only PILGRIMS and they resolved to go to the New World,

far away from persecutions, where they might establish a colony, with religious

freedom for its basis. A deputation went to England in 161 7,
1 and through the

influence of powerful friends,
2
obtained the consent of the Plymouth Company

to settle in North Virginia,
3 and also a promise from the king that he would

wink at their heresy, and let them alone in their new home. They asked no

more. Some London merchants formed a partnership with them, and furnished

capital for the expedition." Captain John Smitli,

the founder of Virginia and explorer of New En-

gland, offered his services, but on account of his

aristocratic notions, they were declined. Two

ships {Speedwell and May-Flower) were pur-
chased and furnished,

5 and in the summer of 1620,

a portion of the Pilgrims in Holland "the

youngest and strongest" embarked from Delft-

Haven for England.
8

Robinson and the larger

portion of his flock remained at Leyden till a more

convenient season,
7 and elder Brewster accompanied

the voyagers as their spiritual guide. The two ships left Southampton,

in England, on the 5th of August, 1620. The courage of the captain and

company of the Speedwell failed, and the vessels put back to port. The sails

of the May-Flower were again spread, in the harbor of Plymouth, on the 6th

MAT-FLOWER.

1 John Carver and Robert Cushman.
a

Sir Edward Sandys [page 105] was one of their chief advocates in England.
8
Page 63.

4 The services of each emigrant were valued as a capital of ten pounds, and belonged to the

company. All profits were to be reserved till the end of seven years, when all the lands, houses,
and every production of their joint industry, were to be valued, and the amount divided among the

shareholders, according to their respective interests. This was a community of interest, similar, in

character, to those which have been proposed and attempted in our day, under the respective titles

of Communism, Fourierism, and Socialism. It failed to accomplish its intended purpose, and was
abandoned.

6 The Speedwell was a vessel of 60 tons; the May-Flower of 180 tons.
8 See engraving on page 104. This is a copy of a picture of The Embarkation of the Pilgrims^

in the Rotunda of the National Capitol, painted by Professor Robert W. Weir, of the Military

Academy, at West Point, New York.
1 Mr. Robinson was never permitted to see America Notes 3, aijd 5, page 116.
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of September, and forty-one men, most of them with families (one hundred and

one in all) the winnowed remnant of the PILGRIMS who left Delft-Haven

crossed the stormy Atlantic. These were they who came to the New World to

enjoy liberty of conscience and freedom of action, and to lay, broad and deep, a

portion of the foundations of our happy Republic. After a boisterous passage

of sixty-three days, the May-Flower anchored within Cape Cod. 2 Before

proceeding to the shore, the PILGRIMS agreed upon a form of government, and

committed it to writing.
3 To that first constitution of government ever sub-

scribed by a whole people, the forty-one men affixed their names, and then

elected John Carver to be their governor.
4 In the cabin of the May-Flower

the first republican government in America was solemnly inaugurated. That

vessel thus became truly the cradle of liberty in America, rocked on the free

waves of the ocean.

The May-Flower was tossed about on the ocean for two long months, and

the approach to land was a joyful event for the settlers. Exploring parties

were sent out, 5 and after many hardships they selected a place for landing. It

was on the 22d day of December, 1620, that the PILGRIM FATHERS first set

foot upon a bare rock on the bleak coast of Massachusetts Bay, while all

around, the earth was covered with deep snow. 6

They called the landing-place

1 The following are their names: John Carver, William Bradford, Edward "Winslow, William

Brewster, Isaac Allerton, Captain Miles Standish, John Alden, .Samuel Fuller, Christopher Martin,
William Mullms, William White, Richard Warren, John Rowland, Stephen Hopkins, Kdward Tilly,

John Tilly, Peter Brown, Richard Britteridge, George Soule, Richard Clark, Richard Gardiner,
Francis Cook, Thomas Rogers, Thomas Tinker, John Ridgdale, Edward Fuller, John Turner, Fran-

cis Eaton, James Chilton, John Crackston, John Billington, Moses Fletcher, John Goodman, Degory
Priest, Thomas Williams, Gilbert Winslow, Edward Margeson, John Allerton, Thomas English, Ed-
ward Dotey, Edward Leister. Rowland was Carver's servant; Soule was Winslow's servant; and

Dotey and Leister were servants of Hopkins.
8 The foolish statement has often been made, that the PILGRIMS intended to fend at Manhattan

Island (New York), but the commander of the May-Flower, having been bribed by the Dutch to do

so, landed them further east beyond th~ Dutch possessions. The story is a fable. Coppin, the

pilot, had been on the coast of New England before, and, in navigating the May-Flower, he only
follo-ared his old track.

8 The following is a copy of the instrument: "In the name of God, Amen. We, whose names
are underwritten, the loyal subjects of our dread sovereign lord, king James, by the grace of God,
of Great Britain, France, and Ireland, king, defender of the faith, etc., having undertaken, for the glory
of God and the advancement of the Christian faith, and honor of our king and country, a voyage to

plant the first colony in the northern parts of Virginia, do, by these presents, solemnly and mutually,
in the presence of God and of one another, covenant and combine ourselves together into a civil

body politic, for our better ordering and preservation, and furtherance of the ends aforesaid
;
and by

virtue hereof, to enact, constitute, and frame just and equal laws, ordinances, acts, constitutions,

and offices from time to time, as shall be thought most meet and convenient (or the general good
of the colony; unto which we promise all due submission and obedience. In witness whereof we
have hereto subscribed our names, at Cape Cod, the llth of November, in the year of ihe reign of
our sovereign Lord, King James of England, France, and Ireland, the Eighteenth, and of Scotland
the Fifty-fourth. Anno Domini, 1620."

4 John Carver was born in England, went with Robinson to Holland, and on the 3d of April,

1621, while governor of the Plymouth colony, he died.
6 Their leader was Miles Standish, a brave soldier, who had served in the Netherlands. He

was very active in the colony as military commander-in-chief, in both fighting and treating with the

Indians, and is called "The Hero of New England." He was a magistrate many years, and died

cvt Duxbury, Massachusetts, in 1656.
6 While the explorers were searching for a landing-place, the wife of William White, a bride but

a short time before leaving Holland, gave birth to a son,
" the first Englishman born in New En-

gland." They named him Peregrine, and the cradle in which he was rocked is yet preserved. He
died ia Marshfield in 1704
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New Plymouth, and there a flourishing village is now spread out. 1
Dreary,

indeed, was the prospect before them. Exposure and pri-

vations had prostrated one half of the men before the first

blow of the axe had been struck to erect a habitation. Faith

and hope nerved the arms of the healthy, and they began
to build. One by one perished. The governor and his wife

died on the 3d of April, 1621 ;
and on the first of that month,

forty-six of the one hundred immigrants were in their

graves. Nineteen of these were signers to the Constitution.

At one time only seven men were capable of assisting the

sick. Fortunately, the neighboring tribes, weakened by a pestilence,
3 did

not molest them. Spring and summer came. Game became plenty in the for-

est, and they caught many fishes from the waters. They sowed and reaped,
and soon friends from England joined them. 4 The settlement, begun with

so much sorrow and suffering, became permanent, and then and there the

foundations of the commonwealth of MASSACHUSETTS were laid.

CHAPTER IT.

NEW HAMPSHIRE, [1622-1680.J

THE enterprising Sir Fernando Gorges, who, for many years, had bes2.

engaged in traffic with the Indians on the New England coast, projected a set-

tlement further eastward than Plymouth, and for that purpose became associ-

ated with John Mason, a merchant, afterward a naval commander, and always
" a man of action." Mason was secretary to the Plymouth Council, for New

England,
6 and was well acquainted with all matters pertaining to settlements in

the New World. Gorges and Mason obtained a grant of land in 1622, extend-

ing from the Merrimac to the Kennebec, and inland to the St. Lawrence.

They named the territory LACONIA. Mason had obtained a grant the previous

year, extending from Salem to the mouth of the Merrimac, which he had named

MAZIIANA. The same year, a colony of fishermen, under David Thompson,
seated themselves at Little Harbor, on the Piscataqua River, just below Ports-

mout.ii. Another party, under two brothers named Hilton, London fishmong-

ers, commenced a settlement, in 1623, a few miles above, at Dover; but these

were only fishing stations, and did not flourish.

i "
Plymouth Rock

"
is famous. It was broken into two pieces. One part remained in its orig-

inal position at Hedge's Wharf, Plymouth ;
the other was taken to the centre of the town and

surrounded by mi iron railing. In 1880, this portion, which had been dragged into Plymouth by
20 yoke of oxen, in 1774, and over which the Whigs [note 4, page 226] erected a liberty pole,
was returned to its original position.

a This w.is the throne upon which sat the first Christian monarch of New England. Governor
Carver was at the head of a new State, and, as chief magistrate, held the same relative position as

king James of England, whose seat was richly ornamented and covered with a canopy of silk and

gold.
a
Page 114, Page 115. 6 Page 74.
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In the year 1629, the Rev. Mr. "Wheelwright (a brother-in-law of the cele-

brated Anne Ilutchinson, who was banished from the Massachusetts colony on

a charge of sedition, in 1637) purchased from the Indians the wilderness be-

tween the Merrimac and the Piscataqua, and founded Exeter. The same year

Mason obtained from Gorges exclusive ownership of that same portion of LA-

CONIA. He named the domain NEW HAMPSHIRE, and in 1631 built a house

upon the site of Portsmouth, the name which he gave to the spot.
l Other set-

tlements upon the Piscataqua, and along the present coast of Maine, as far as

Portland, were attempted. At the latter place a company had a grant of land

forty miles square, and formed an agricultural settlement in 1631, called

LIGONIA. z Pemaquid Point was another settlement, which remained an inde-

pendent community for almost forty years. Trading houses were established

as far east as Machias, but they were broken up by the French, and the west-

ern limits of Acadie were fixed at Pemaquid Point, about half way from

the Penobscot to the Kennebec. The several feeble and scattered settlements

in New Hampshire formed a coalition with the flourishing Massachusetts colony

in 1641, and remained dependencies of that province until 1680, when they

were separated by order of the king, and New Hampshire became a royal prov-

ince. Its first government consisted of a governor and council appointed by
the king, and a house of representatives elected by the people. Then was

founded the commonwealth of NEW HAMPSHIRE.

CHAPTER Y.

MARYLAND. [1634.]

A LARGE portion of the American colonies were the fruitful growth of the

seeds of civil liberty, wafted hither by the fierce gales of oppression in some

1 Mason had been governor of Portsmouth, in Hampshire County, England, and these

names were given in memory of his former residence.
2 The people of these eastern settlements, which formed the basis of the present common-

wealth of MAINE, did not like the government attempted to be established by the proprietor,

and, taking political power into their own hands, placed themselves under tbe jurisdiction of

Massachusetts in 1652. The territory was erected into a county, and called Yorkshire. In

1621, king James, as sovereign of Scotland, placed the Scottish seal to a charter granting to

Sir William Alexander, afterward [1633] earl of Stirling, the whole territory eastward of the

State of Maine, under the title of Nova Scotia, or New Scotland. The French had already

occupied places along the coast, and called the country Acadie. The scotch proprietor never

attempted settlement, either in this territory or in Canada which Charles the First had granted
to him, and the whole country had passed into the hands of the French, by treaty. The earl

died in 1640, and all connection of his family with Nova Scotia ceased. His title, was held
afterward by four successors, the last of whom died in 1739. In 1759, William Alexander

(General Lord Stirling during our War for Independence) madeian unsuccessful claim to the

title. The next claimant was Alexander Humphrey, who commenced operationsin the Scot-
tish courts in 1815. and by forgeries and frauds was partially successful. The whole was

exposed in 1833. Humphrey was in this country in 1852, pressingihis claims to the monopoly
of the Eastern Fisheries, by virtue of the grants of kings James and Charles more than two
hundred years ago.
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form. Maryland, occupying a space between North and South Virginia,
1

was

first settled by persecuted Roman Catholics from England and Ireland, While

kino- James worried the Puritans on one hand, for non-conformity,
2
the Roman

Catholics, at the other end of the religious scale, were subjected to even more

severe penalties.
As the Puritans increased in numbers and influence, their

cry against the Roman Catholics grew louder and fiercer
; and, while defend-

ing themselves from persecution with one hand, they were inflicting as severe a

lash upon the Romanists with the other. Thus subjected to twofold opposition,

the condition of the Roman Catholics became deplorable, and, in common with

other suflerers for opinion's sake, their eyes were turned toward free America.

Among the most influential professors of Catholicism was George Calvert, an

active member of the London Company,
3 and Secretary of State at the time

when the PiLGRiMS 4 were preparing to emigrate to America. He was so much

more loyal in action to his sovereign than to his faith, that he did not lose the

king's favor, although frankly professing to be a Roman Catholic
;
and for his

services he was created an Irish peer in 1625, with the title of Lord Baltimore.

He also obtained from James, a grant [1622] to plant a Roman Catholic colony
on a portion of Newfoundland. He called the territory AVALON, but his schsme

was not successful. The barren soil, and French aggressors from Acadie, were

too much for the industry and courage of his colonists, and the settlement was

abandoned.

Foiled in his projects in tlis east, Lord Baltimore went to Virginia in 1628,

with a view of establishing a colony of his brethren there. But he found the

Virginians as intolerant as the crown or the Puritans, and he turned his back

upon their narrow prejudices, and went to examine the beautiful, unoccupied

region beyond the Potomac. He was pleased with the country, and applied for

a charter to establish a colony there. The London Company was now dis-

solved,
5 and the soil had become the property of the monarch. King Charles

the First, then on the throne, readily granted a charter, but before it was com-

pleted, Lord Baltimore died. This event occurred on the 25th of April, 1632,
and on the 20th of June following, the patent was issued to Cecil, his son and

heir. In honor of the queen, Henrietta Maria,
6 the

province was called MARYLAND. The territory de-

fined in the charter extended along each side of

Chesapeake Bay, from the 30th to the 40th degree
of north latitude, its western line being the waters of

the Potomac.

It is believed that the Maryland charter was

drawn by the first Lord Baltimore's own hand. It

was the most liberal one yet granted by an English

monarch, both in respect of the proprietor and the

settlers. The government of the province was inde-
CECIL

'
SECOND LORD

I
Page 63. ' Note 2, page 76. s

Page 63.
4
Page 77.

8
Page 107

She was a Roman Catholic, and sister of Louis the Thirteenth of France.
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pendent of the crown, and equality in religious rights and civil freedom was

secured to every Christian sect. Unitarians, or those who denied the doctrine

of the Trinity, as well as all unbelievers in Divine revelation, were not covered

by this mantle of toleration. The king had no power to levy the smallest tax

upon the colonists, and all laws were invalid until sanctioned by a majority of

the freemen, or their deputies. Under such a wise and liberal charter the

colony, when planted, flourished remarkably, for those persecuted by the

Puritans in New England, and the Churchmen in Virginia, there sought

refuge, and found peace.

Emigration to Maryland commenced in 1633. The first company, mostly

Protestants, sailed for America on the 2d of December of that year, under

Leonard Calvert, brother of the proprietor, and appointed governor of

the province. They arrived in March, 1634, and after sailing up the Potomac,

as far as Mount Vernon, they descended the stream, almost to its mouth.

They landed upon an estuary of the Chesapeake, purchased an Indian village,

and laid the foundation of a town [April, 1634 J, which they named St. Mary.
1

The honesty of Calvert, in paying for the land, secured the good will of the

Indians
; and, unlike the first settlers of most of the other colonies, they experi-

enced no sufferings from want, or the hostilities of the Aboriginals.

Popular government was first organized in Maryland on the 8th of March,

1635, when the first legislative assembly was convened at St. Mary. Every
freeman being allowed to vote, it was a purely democratic legislature. As the

number of colonists increased, this method of making laws was found to be in-

convenient, and in 1639, a representative government was established, the

people being allowed to send as many delegates as they pleased. The first rep-

resentative assembly made a declaration of rights, defined the powers of the

proprietor, and took measures to secure to the colonists all the civil liberties

enjoyed by the people of Old England. Then was founded the commonwealth

of MARYLAND.

CHAPTER VI.

CONNECTICUT. [16321639.]

ADRIAN BLOCK,* the Dutch navigator, discovered and explored the Con-

necticut River, as far as the site of Hartford, in 1614, and named it Versc/ie,

1

Trading posts were established a little earlier than this, within the Maryland province. In

1631, "William Clayborne obtained a license from the king to traffic with the Indians; and when
Calvert and his company came, he had two settlements, one on Kent Island, nearly opposite An-

napolis, and another at the present Havre de Grace, at the mouth of the Susquehannah. He refused

to acknowledge the authority of Baltimore, and trouble ensued. He collected his people on the

eastern shore of Maryland in 1635, with a determination to defend his claims by force of arms; and
in May quite a severe skirmish ensued between his forces and those of the colonists. Clayborne'a
men were taken prisoners, and he fled to Virginia. He was declared guilty of treason, and sent to

England for trial. His estates were forfeited
; but, being acquitted of the charge, he returned to

Maryland and incited a rebellion. See page 151.
'
Page 72.
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or Fjwh Water River.
1 Soon afterward Dutch traders were upon its banks,

and might have carried on a peaceful and profitable traffic with the Indians, had

honor and honesty marked their course. But the avaricious agent of the Dutch,

imprisoned an Indian chief on board his vessel, and would not release him until

one hundred and forty fathoms of wampum
2
had been paid. The exasperated

Indians menaced the traders, and near the site of Hartford, at a place yet known

as Dutch Point, the latter commenced the erection of a fort. The Indians were

finally conciliated, and, at their request, the fort was abandoned for awhile.

A friendly intercourse was opened between the Dutch of New Netherland

and the Puritans in 1627.
3 With the guise of friendship, but really for the

purpose of strengthening the claims of the Dutch to the Connecticut valley, by

having an English settlement there under the jurisdiction of New Netherland,

Governor Minuit4 advised the Puritans to leave the barren land of Massachusetts

Bay, and settle in the fertile region of the Fresh Water River. In 1681, a

Mohegan chief, then at war with the powerful Pequods,
5
desirous of having a

strong barrier between himself and his foes, urged the English to come and

settle in the Connecticut valley. The Puritans clearly perceived the selfish

policy of both parties, and hesitated to leave. The following year [1632],

however, Governor Winslow, of the Plymouth colony,
6
visited that fertile region,

and, delighted with its appearance, resolved to promote emigration thither.

In the mean while, the Council of Plymouth
7 had granted the soil of Connecticut

[1630] to the Earl of Warwicke, who, in 1631, transferred his interest to Lord

Say-and-Seal, Lord Brooke, John Hampden, and others. The eastern bound-

ary of the territory was "Narraganset River," and the western (like all other

charters at that time) was the South Sea, or Pacific Ocean.
8 The Dutch

became appris d of these movements of the English ;
and perceiving no advan-

tage (but detn nent) to themselves, they purchased of the Indians the land at

Hartford and vicinity, completed their fort, and placed two cannons upon it, in

1633, with the intention of preventing the English ascending the river.

Although the Plymouth people were aware jf the preparations made by
the Dutch, to defend their claim, they did not hesitate, and in October, 1633,

Captain William Holmes and a chosen company arrived in the Connecticut

River, in a sloop. Holmes bore a commission from Governor Winslow to make
a settlement, and brought with him the frame of a house. When he approached
the Dutch fort, the commander menaced him with destruction if he attempted
to pass it. Holmes was not intimidated, and sailing by unhurt, he landed at

the site of Windsor, and there erected his house. Seventy men were sent by
the Dutch the following year, to drive him from the country. They were kept
at bay, and finally a parley resulted in peaceful relations.

9
Holmes's colony

flourished, and in the autumn of 1635, a party of sixty men, women, and chil-

dren, from the Puritan settlements, commenced a journey through the wilder-

1
Connecticut is the English orthography of the Indian word Quon-eh-ta-cut, which signifies

" the

long river."
a
Probably about four hundred dollars. See note 2, page 1 3.

'

Page 75. *
Page 139.

*
Page 21.

'
Page 79.

*

Page 74. Page 42. See note 2, page 142.
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ness [Oct. 25] to join him. With their cattle,
1

they made their slow and dreary

way a hundred miles through dark forests and dismal swamps ;
and when they

arrived upon the banks of the Connecticut [Nov. 25], the ground was covered

with deep snow, and the river was frozen. It was a winter of great trial for

them. Many cattle perished.
2 A vessel bearing food for the colony was lost

on the coast, and the settlers were compelled to subsist upon acorns, and scanty

supplies of Indian corn from the natives. Many of them made their way to the

fort, then just erected at Saybrook, near the mouth of the river, and returned

to Boston by water. Spring opened, and the necessities of

those who remained were supplied. They erected a small

house for worship on the site of Hartford, and in April,

1636, the first court, or organized government was held

there. At about the time when this company departed, a

son of Governor Winthrop,
3
of Massachusetts. Hugh Peters,

and Henry Vane, arrived at Boston from England, as com-

FIEST MEETING-IIOUSE. missioncrs for the proprietors of Connecticut, with instruc-

tions to build a fort at the mouth of the river of that name,

and to plant a colony there. The fort was speedily built, and the settlement

was named Saybrook, in honor of the two peers named in the charter.
4

Another migration of Puritans to the Connecticut valley, more important,

and with better results, now took place. In June, 1636, Rev. Thomas Hooker,

the "light of the western churches,"
5
with other ministers, their families, and

flocks, in all about one hundred, left the vicinity of Boston for the new land

of promise. It was a toilsome journey through the swamps and forests. They
subsisted upon berries and the milk of their cows which they took with them,

and on the 4th of July, they stood upon the beautiful banks of tt ; Connecticut.

On the 9th, Mr. Hooker preached and administered the communion in the little

meeting-house at Hartford, and there a great portion of the company settled.

Some chose Wethersfield for a residence
;
and others, from Roxbury, went up

the river twenty miles, and settled at Springfield. There were now five dis-

tinct English settlements upon the Connecticut River, yet they were scattered

and weak.

Clouds soon appeared in the morning sky, and the settlers in the Connecti-

cut valley perceived the gathering of a fearful storm. The powerful Pequod
Indians

8 became jealous of the white people, because they appeared to be the

friends of their enemies, the Mohegans on the west, and of their more powerful

foes, the Narragansetts, on the east. They first commenced petty annoyances ;

then kidnapped children, murdered men in the forests, and attacked families on

1 This was the first introduction of cattle into Connecticut.
* The loss in cattle was estimated at about one thousand dollars.
*
Page 117. Page 85.

4 Thomas Hooker was a native of Leicestershire. England, where he was born in 1586. He
was silenced, because of his non-conformity, in 1630, when he left the ministry, and founded a

grammar school at Cambridge. He was compelled to flee to Holland, from whence he came to

America with Mr. Cotton, in 1633. He was a man of great benevolence, and was eminently use-
ful He died in July, 1647, at the age of sixty-one years. Page 21.
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the outskirts of the settlement at Saybrook. Their allies of Block Island
1

cap-
tured a Massachusetts trading vessel, killed the captain

2

[July, 1636], and

plundered her. The Puritans in the east were alarmed and indignant, and an

inefficient expedition from Boston and vicinity penetrated the Pequod country.
It did more harm than good, for it resulted only in increasing the hatred and

hostility of the savages. The Pequods became bolder, and
finally sought an

alliance with their enemies, the Narragansetts, in an effort to exterminate the

white people. At this critical moment a deliverer appeared when least expected.

Roger Williams, who for his tolerant opinions had been banished from

Massachusetts,
3 was now a friendly resident in the country of the Narragan-

setts. and heard of the proposed alliance. Forgetting the many injuries he had

received, he warned the doomed people of the Bay colony, of impending danger.
At the risk of his own life, he descended Narraganset Bay in an open canoe,

on a stormy day, and visited Miantonomoh, the renowned sachem, at his

seat near Newport, while the Pequod embassadors were there in council. The
latter menaced Williams with death

; yet that good man remained there three

days, and effectually prevented the alliance.
4 And more he induced the Nar-

ragansetts to renew hostilities with the Pequods. By this generous service the

infant settlements were saved from destruction.

Although foiled in their attempt at alliance, the Pequods were not dis-

heartened. During the ensuing winter they continued their murderous depre-
dations. In the spring, the authorities of the English settlements on the

Connecticut declared war against the Pequods [May, 1637], and the Massachu-

setts and Plymouth colonies agreed to aid them. Soon, Captain Mason, who

Was in command of the fort at Saybrook,
6 and Captain John Underbill, a brave

and restless man, sailed in some pinnaces, with about eighty white men and

seventy Mohegan Indians under Uncas,
6 for Narraganset Bay. There Mian-

tonomoh, with two hundred warriors, joined them, and they marched for the

Pequod country. Their ranks were swollen by the brave Niantics and others,

until five hundred "bowmen and spearmen" were in the train of Captains
Mason and Underbill.

The chief sachem of the Pequods, was Sassacus, a fierce warrior, and the

terror of the New England tribes.
7 He could summon almost two thousand

warriors to the field
;
and feeling confident in his strength, he was not properly

vigilant. His chief fort and village on the Mystic River, eight miles north-

east of New London, was surprised at dawn the 5th of June, 1637, and

before sun-rise, more than six hundred men, women, and children, perished by
fire and sword. Only seven escaped to spread the dreadful intelligence abroad,

and arouse the surviving warriors. The Narragansetts turned homeward, and

the English, aware of great peril, pressed forward to Groton on the Thames,

1 This island, which lies nearly south from the eastern border of Connecticut, was visited by
rian Block, the Dutch navigator, and was called by his name. At the time in question, it waa

thickly populated with fierce Indians.
a John Oldham, the first overland explorer of the Connecticut River.

s
Page 89.

4
Page 91.

6
Page 85.

8
Page 21.

'
Page 22.
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and there embarked for Saybrook. They had lost only two killed, and less

than twenty wounded.

The brave Sassacus had hardly recovered from this shock, when almost a

hundred armed settlers, from Massachusetts, under Captain Stoughton, arrived

at Saybrook. The terrified Pequods made no resistance, but fled in dismay
toward the wilderness westward, hotly pursued by the English. Terrible was

the destruction in the path of the pursuers. Throughout the beautiful country

on Long Island Sound, from Saybrook to New Haven, wigwams and cornfields

were destroyed, and helpless women and children were slain. With Sassacus

at their head, the Indians flew like deer before the hounds, and finally took

shelter in Sasco swamp, near Fairfield, where, after a severe battle, they all

surrendered, except Sassacus and a few followers. These fled to the Mohawks,
1

where the sachem was treacherously murdered, and his people were sold into

slavery, or incorporated with other tribes. The blow was one of extermination,

relentless and cruel.
" There did not remain a sannup or squaw, a warrior or

child of the Pequod name. A nation had disappeared in a day." The New

England tribes 2 were filled with awe, and for forty years the colonists were

unmolested by them.

With the return of peace, the spirit of adventure revived. In the summer
of 1637, John Davenport, an eminent non-conformist

3
minister of London, with

Theophilus Eaton and Edward Hopkins, rich merchants who represented a

wealthy company, arrived at Boston. They were cordially received, and

urgently solicited to settle in that colony." The Hutchinson controversy
4
was

then at its height ;
and perceiving the religious agitations of the people, they

resolved to found a settlement in the wilderness. The sagacious Puritans,

while pursuing the Pequods, had discovered the beauty and fertility of the

country along the Sound from the Connecticut to Fairfield,' and Davenport and

his companions heard their report with joy. Eaton and a few others explored
the coast in autumn, and erecting a hut

6
near the Quinipiac Creek (the site of

New Haven), they passed the winter there, and selected it for a settlement.

In the spring [April 13, 1638] Davenport and others followed, and under a

wide-spreading oak," the good minister preached his first sermon. They pur-
chased the lands at Quinipiac of the Indians, and, taking the Bible for their

guide, they formed an independent government, or "
plantation covenant," upon

strictly religious principles. Prosperity blessed them, and they laid the found-

ations of a city, and called it NEW HAVEX. The following year, the settlers

at Windsor, Hartford, and Wethersfield, met in convention at Hartford [Jan-

uary 24, 1639], and adopted a written constitution, which contained very liberal

provisions. It ordained that the governor and legislature should be elected

annually, by the people, and they were required to take an oath of allegiance

to the commonwealth, and not to the king. The General Assembly, alone,

1
Page 23. a

Page 22.
s Note 2, page 76.

*
Page 120.

' On the corner of Church and George-streets, New Haven.
* At the intersection of George and College-streets, New Haven.
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could make or repeal laws
;
and in every matter the voice of the people was

heard. This was termed the CONNECTICUT COLONY
; and, notwithstanding it

and the New Haven colony were not united until 1665, now was laid the found-

ation of the commonwealth of CONNECTICUT, which was governed by the

Hartford Constitution for more than a century and a half.

CHAPTER VII.

RHODE ISLAND. [16361643.]

THE seed of the Rhode Island commonwealth was planted l)y brave hands,

made strong by persecution. The first settler in Rhode Island was William

Blackstone, a non-conformist minister,
1 who was also the first resident upon the

peninsula of Shawmut, where Boston now stands.
2 Not liking the ' '

lords

brethren" in Massachusetts any more than the "lords bishops" of England,
from whose frowns he had fled, he withdrew to the wilderness, and dwelt high

up on the Seekonk or Pawtucket River, which portion of the stream still bears

his name. There he planted, and called the place Rehoboth.
3

Although he

was the first settler, Blackstone was not the founder of Rhode Island. He

always held allegiance to Massachusetts, and did not aspire to a higher dignity

than that of an exile for conscience sake.

Roger Williams, an ardent young minister at Salem,
4 became the instru-

ment of establishing the foundations of a raw commonwealth in the wilderness.

When he was banished from Massrchusetts, toward the close of 1635,
5 he

crossed the borders of civilization, and found liberty and toleration among the

heathen. After his sentence,
6 his bigoted persecutors began to dread the influ-

ence of his enlightened principles, if he should plant a settlement beyond the

limits of existing colonies, and they resolved to detain him. Informed of

their scheme, he withdrew from Salem in the dead of winter [Jan., 1636], and

through deep snows he traversed the forests alone, for fourteen weeks, sheltered

only by the rude wigwam of the Indian, until he found the hospitable cabin7 of

1 Note 2, page 76.
a
Page 118.

8 Room. The name was significant of his aim he wanted room outside of the narrow confines

of what he deemed Puritan intolerance.
4
Roger Williams was born in Wales, in 1599, and was educated at Oxford. Persecution drove

him to America in 1631, when he was chosen assistant minister at Salem. His extreme toleration

did not find there a genial atmosphere, and he went to Plymouth. There, too, he was regarded
with suspicion. He returned to Salem in 1634, formed a separate congregation, and in 1635, the

general court of Massachusetts passed sentence of banishment against him. He labored zealously
in founding the colony of Rhode Island, and had no difficulty with any people who came there,

except the Quakers. He died at Providence, in April, 1683, at the age of eighty-four years.
6

Page 119.
8
Williams was allowed six weeks after the pronunciation of his sentence to prepare for his

departure.
'
Massasoit had become acquainted with the manner of building cabins adopted by the settlers

at fishing-stations on the coast, and had constructed one for himself. They were much more com-
fortable than wigwams. See page 13.
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Massasoit, the chief sachem of the Wampanoags,
1

at Mount Hope. There he

was entertained until the buds appeared, when, being joined bj five friends from

Boston, he seated himself upon the Seekonk, some distance below Blackstone's

plantation. He found himself within the territory of the Plymouth Company.*
Governor Winslow 3 advised him to cross into the Narragansett country, where

he could not be molested. With his companions he embarked in a light canoe,

paddled around to the head of Narraganset Bay, and upon a green slope, near

a spring,
4

they prayed, and chose the spot for a settlement. Williams obtained

a grant of land from Canonicus, chief sachem of the Narragansetts, and in com-

memoration of " God's merciful providence to him in his distress," he called the

place PROVIDENCE.

The freedom enjoyed there was soon spoken of at Boston, and persecuted
men fled thither for refuge. Persons of every creed were allowed full liberty
of conscience, and lived together happily. The same liberty was allowed in

politics as in religion; and a pure democracy was established there. Each
settler was required to subscribe to an agreement, that he would submit to such

rules, "not
affecting the conscience," as a majority of the inhabitants should

adopt for the public good. Williams reserved no political power to himself, and

the leader and follower had equal dignity and privileges. The government was

1
Page 22. Page 63. Page 85.
This spring is now [1881] beneath some tin" sycamores on the west side of Benefit street, in

Providence.
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entirely in the hands of the people. Canonicus, the powerful Narragansett

chief, became much attached to Williams, and his influence among them, as we

have seen,
1 was very great. He saved his persecutors from destruction, yet

they had not the Christian manliness to remove the sentence of banishment, and

receive him to their bosoms as a brother. He could not compress his enlarged
views into the narrow compass of their creed

;
and so, while they rejoiced in

their deliverance, they anathematized their deliverer as a heretic and an outcast.

But he enjoyed the favor of God. His settlement was entirely unmolested

during the Pequod war,
2 and it prospered wonderfully.

Roger Williams opened his arms wide to the persecuted. Early in 1638,
while Mrs. Hutchinson was yet in prison in Boston,

3
her husband, with Wil-

liam Coddington, Dr. John Clarke, and sixteen others, of concurrent religious

views,
4

accepted the invitation of Williams to settle in his vicinity. Mianto-

nomoh gave them the beautiful island of Aquiday
5 for forty fathoms of white

wampum.
6

They called it Isle of Rhodes, because of its fancied resemblance to

the island of that name in the Levant, and upon its northern verge they planted
a settlement, and named it Portsmouth. A covenant, similar to the one used

by Williams,
11 was signed by the settlers

; and, in imitation of the Jewish form

of government under the judges, Coddington was chosen judge, or chief ruler,

with three assistants. Others soon came from Boston
;
and in 1639, Newport,

toward the lower extremity of the island, was founded. Liberty of conscience

was absolute
;
love was the social and political bond, and upon the seal which

they adopted was the motto, Amor vincit omnia "Love is all-powerful."

Although the Rhode Island and the Providence plantations were separate in

government, they were united in interest and aim. Unwilling to acknowledge

allegiance to either Massachusetts or Plymouth,
8

they sought an independent
charter. For that purpose Roger Williams went to England in 1643. The

whole parent country was then convulsed with civil war. 9 After much delay,

he obtained from Parliament (which was then contending fiercely with the

king) a free charter of incorporation, dated March 24, 1644, and all the settle-

ments were united under the general title of Rhode Island and Providence

Plantations. Then was founded the commonwealth of RHODE ISLAND.

1

Page 81.
a
Page 87.

3
Page 120. * Note 2, page 120.

* This was the Indian name of Rhode Island. It is a Narragansett word, signifying Peaceable

Isle. It is sometimes spelled Aquitneck, and Aquitnet.
8 Note 2, page 13. They also gave the Indians ten coats and twenty hoea, on condition that

they should leave the island before the next winter.
7
Page 90. The following is a copy of the government compact: "We, whose names are

underwritten, do swear solemnly, in the presence of Jehovah, to incorporate ourselves into a body
politic, and, as He shall help us, will submit our persons, lives, and estates, unto our Lord Jesus

Christ, the King of kings, and Lord of Hosts, and to all those most perfect and absolute laws of His,

given us in His holy Word of truth, to be guided and judged thereby."
8
This unwillingness caused the other New England colonies to refuse the application of Rhode

Island to become one of the Confederacy, in ] 643. See page 121.
8 Note 3, page 108.
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CHAPTER VIII.

DELAWARE, NEW JERSEY, AND PENNSYLVANIA. [16311682.]

IT is difficult to draw the line of demarcation between the first permanent

settlements in the provinces of Delaware, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania, for

they bore such intimate relations to each other that they may be appropriately

considered as parts of one episode in the history of American colonization. We
shall, therefore, consider these settlements, in close connection, in one chapter,

commencing with

DELAWARE.

It was claimed by the Butch, that the territory of New Netherland1

ex-

tended southward to Cape Henlopen. In June, 1629, Samuel Godyn and

others purchased of the natives the territory between the Cape and the mouth

of the Delaware River. The following year, two ships, fitted out by Captain
De Vries and others, and placed under the command of Peter Heyes, sailed

from the Texel [Dec. 12, 1630] for America. One vessel was captured ;
the

other arrived in April, 1631
;
and near the present town of Lewiston, in

Delaware, thirty immigrants, with implements and cattle, seated themselves.

Heyes returned to Holland, and reported to Captain De Vries.
2 That mariner

visited America early the following year [1632J, but the little colony left by

Heyes was not to be found. Difficulties with the Indians had provoked savage

vengeance, and they had exterminated the white people.

Information respecting the fine country along the Delaware had spread

northward, and soon a competitor for a place on the South River, as it was

called, appeared. Usselincx, an original projector of the Dutch West India

Company,
3

becoming dissatisfied with his associates, visited Sweden, and laid

before the enlightened monarch, Gustavus Adolphus, well-arranged plans for a

Swedish colony in the New World. The king was delighted, for his attention

had already been turned toward America
;
and his benevolent heart was full of

desires to plant a free colony there, which should become an asylum for all

persecuted Christians. While his scheme was ripening, the danger which

menaced Protestantism in Germany, called him to the field, to contend for the

principles of the Reformation. * He marched from his kingdom with a strong

army to oppose the Imperial hosts marshaled under the banner of the Pope on

the fields of Germany. Yet the care and tumults of the camp and field did not

make him forget his benevolent designs ;
and only a few days before his death,

1
Page 72.

a De Vries was an eminent navigator, and one of Godyn's friends. To secure his valuable

services, the purchasers made him a partner in their enterprise, with patroon [page 139] privileges,
and the first expedition was arranged by him. He afterward came to America, and was one of

the most active men in the Dutch colonies. On his return to Holland, he published an account of

hia voyages.
s
Page 72.

* Note 14, page 62.
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at the battle of Lutzen [Nov. 6, 1632], Gustavus recommended the enterprise

as
" the jewel of his kingdom."
The successor of Gustavus was his daughter Christina, then only six years

of age. The government was administered by a regency,
1

at the head of which

was Axel, count of Oxenstierna. He was the earliest and most ardent sup-

porter of the proposed great enterprise of Gustavus
;
and in 1634 he issued a

charter for the Swedish West India Company. Peter Minuit/ who had been

recalled from the governorship of New Netherland, and was also dissatisfied

with the Dutch West India Company, went to Stockholm, and offered his serv-

ices to the new corporation. They were accepted, and toward the close of 163T

he sailed from Gottenburg with fifty emigrants, to plant a colony on the west

side of the Delaware. He landed on the site of New Castle, in April, 1638,
and purchased from the Indians3 the territory between Cape Henlopen and the

Falls of the Delaware, at Trenton. They built a church and fort on the site

of Wilmington, called the place Christina, and gave the name of New Sweden

to the territory. The jealousy of the Dutch was aroused by this
"
intrusion,"

and they hurled protests and menaces against the Swedes.
4 The latter contin-

ued to increase by immigration ;
new settlements were planted ;

and upon Tin-

icum Island, a little below Philadelphia, they laid the foundations of a capital

for a Swedish province.
5 The Dutch West India Company

6

finally resolved to

expel or subdue the Swedes. The latter made hostile demonstrations, and

defied the power of the Dutch. The challenge was acted upon ;
and toward

the close of the summer of 1655, governor Stuyvesant, with a squadron of seven

vessels, entered Delaware Bay.
7 In September every Swedish fort and settle-

ment was brought under his rule, and the capital on Tinicum Island was,

destroyed. The Swedes obtained honorable terms of capitulation ;
and for

twenty-five years they prospered under the rule of the Dutch and English pro-

prietors of New Netherland.

NEW JERSEY.

All the territory of NOVA C^ISAREA, as New Jersey was called by the

English, was included in the New Netherland charter,
8 and transient trading

settlements were made [1622 J, first at Bergen, by a few Danes, and then on

the Delaware. Early in 1623, the Dutch built a log fort near the mouth of

Timber Creek, a few miles below Camden, and called it Nassau. 9 In June,

1 A regent is one who exercises the power of king or emperor, during the absence, incapacity,
/>r childhood of the latter. For many years, George the Third of England was incapable of ruling
on account of his insanity, and his son who was to be his successor at his death, was called :iio

Prince Regent, because Parliament had given him power to act as king, in the place of his father.

In the case of Christina, three persons were appointed regents, or rulers.
8
Page 139. s The Delawares. See page 20.

4
Page 143.

This was done about forty years before William Penn became proprietor of Pennsylvania.

|

Page 72. i page 143.
8
Page 72.

'
It was built under the direction of Captain Jacobus May, who had observed attempts made

by a French sea-captain to set up the arms of France there. The fort was built of logs, and was
little else than a rude block-house, with palissades. [See note 1, page 127.] A little garrison, left to

protect it, was soon scattered, and the fort was abandoned.
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1623, four couples, "who had been married on the voyage from Amsterdam,

were sent to plant a colony on the Delaware. They seated themselves upon
the site of Gloucester, a little below Fort Nassau, and this was the commence-

ment of settlements in West Jersey.

Seven years later [1630J Michael Pauw bought from the Indians the lands

extending from Hoboken to the Raritan, and also the whole of Staten Island,

and named the territory Pavonia.
1 In this purchase, Bergen was included.

Other settlements were attempted, but none were permanent. In 1631, Cap-
tain Heyes, after establishing the Swedish colony at Lewiston,

2 crossed the

Delaware, and purchased Cape May
3 from the Indians

;
and from that point to

Burlington, traders' huts were often seen. The English became possessors of

New Netherland in 1664, and the Duke of York, to whom the province had

been given,
4

conveyed to Lord Berkeley and Sir George Carteret [June 24,

1664], all the territory between the North and South (Hudson and Delaware)

Rivers, and northward to the line of forty-one degrees and forty minutes, under

the title of Nova Casarea or NEW JERSEY. Soon afterward several families

from Long Island settled at Elizabethtown,
5 and there planted the first fruitful

seed of the New Jersey colony, for the one at Gloucester withered and died.

The following year, Philip Carteret, who had been appointed governor of the

new province, arrived with a charter, fair and liberal in all its provisions. It

provided for a government to be composed of a representative assembly
6 chosen

by the people, and a governor and council. The legislative powers resided in

the assembly; the executive powers were intrusted to the governor and his

council. Then [1665] was laid the foundation of the commonwealth of NEW
JERSEY.

PENNSYLVANIA.

A new religious sect, called Quakers,
7
arose in England at about the com-

mencement of the civil wars [1642 1651] which resulted in the death of

Charles the First. Their preachers were the boldest, and yet the meekest of

all non-conformists.
8

Purer than all other sects, they were hated and perse-

cuted by all. Those who came to America for
"
conscience' sake'' were perse-

cuted by the Puritans of New England,' the Churchmen of Virginia and

Maryland, and in a degree by the Dutch of New Amsterdam
;
and only in

Rhode Island did they enjoy freedom, and even there they did not always dwell

in peace. In 1673, George Fox, the founder of the Quaker sect, visited all his

brethren in America. He found them a despised people everywhere, and his

1 Until the period of our "War for Independence, the point of land in Pavonia, on which Jersey

City, opposite New York, now stands, was called Paulus' Hook. Here was the scene of a bold

exploit by Americans, under Major Henry Lee, in 1779. See page 298.
2
Page 92. * Named in honor of Captain Jacobus Mey, or May.

*
Page 159.

*
Page 159. Note 3, page 159.

7 This name was given by Justice Burnet, of Derby, in 1650, who was admonished by George
Fox, when he was cited before the magistrate, to tremble and quake at the Word of the Lord, at the

ame time Fox quaked, as if stirred by mighty emotions. See page 122.
* Note 2, page 76. Page 75
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heart yearned for an asylum for his brethren. Among the most influential of

his converts was William Penn,
1

son of the renowned admiral of that name.

Through him the sect gained access to the ears of the nobility, and soon the

Quakers possessed the western half of New Jersey, by purchase from Lord

Berkeley.
11 The first company of immigrants landed in the autumn of 1675,

and named the place of debarkation Salem. 3

They established a democratic

form of government ; and, in November, 1681. the first legislative assembly of

Quakers ever convened, met at Salem.

While these events were progressing, Penn, who had been chief peace-maker
when disputes arose among the proprietors and the people, took measures to

plant a new colony beyond the Delaware. He applied to Charles the Second

for a charter. The king remembered the services of Admiral Penn,
4 and gave

his son a grant [March 14, 1681] of "
three degrees of latitude by five degrees

1 William Penn was bora in London, in October, 1644, and was educated at Oxford. He was
remarkable, in his youth, for brilliant talents; and while a student, having heard the preaching of

Quakers, he was drawn to them, and suffered expulsion from his father's roof; in consequence. He
Went abroad, obtained courtly manners, studied law after his return, and was again driven from
home for associating with Quakers. He then became a preacher among them, and remained iq

that connection until his death. After a life of great activity and considerable suffering, he died in

England, in 1718, at the age of seventy-four years.
2
Page 119.

8 Now the capital of Salem county, New Jersey.4 He was a very efficient naval commander, and by his skill contributed to the defeat of tbe
Dutch in 1664. The king gave him the title of Baron for his services. Note 15, page 62.
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of longitude west of the Delaware," and named the province Pennsylvania, in

honor of the proprietor. It included the principal settlements of the Swedes.

To these people, and others within the domain, Penn sent a proclamation, filled

with the loftiest sentiments of republicanism. William Markham, who bore the

proclamation, was appointed deputy-governor of the province, and with him

sailed [May, 1681] quite a large company of immigrants, who were members

or employees of the Company of Free Traders,
1 who had purchased lands of

the proprietor. In May, the following year, Penn published a frame of gov-

ernment, and sep.t it to the settlers for their approval. It was not a constitu-

tion, but a code )f wholesome regulations for the people of the colony.
2 He

soon afterward obtained by grant and purchase [Aug. 1682] the domain of the

present State of Delaware, which the Duke of York claimed, notwithstanding it

was clearly not his own. It comprised three counties, Newcastle, Kent, and

Sussex, called The Territories.

Penn had been anxious, for some time, to visit his colony, and toward the

close of August, 1682, he sailed in the Welcome for America, with about one

hundred emigrants. The voyage was long and tedious
;
and when he arrived

at Newcastle, in Delaware [Nov. 6], he found almost a thousand new comers

there, some of whom had sailed before, and some after his departure from En-

gland. He was joyfully received by the old settlers, who then numbered almost

three thousand. The Swedes said, "It is the best day we have ever seen;"

and they all gathered like children around a father. A few days afterward, he

proceeded to Shackamaxon (now Kensington suburbs of Philadelphia), where,

tinder a wide-spreading elm, as tradition declares, he entered into an honorable

treaty with the Indians, for their lands, and established with them an everlast-

ing covenant of peace and friendship.
" We meet," said Penn,

" on the broad

pathway of good faith and good will
;
no advantage shall be taken on either

aide
;
but all shall be openness and love." And so it was.

"Thoult find," said the Quaker,
"
in me and in mine,

But friends and brothers to thee and thine,

Who abuse no power and admit no line

'Twixt the red man and the white.

And bright was the spot where the Quaker came,
To leave his hat, his drab, and his name,
That will sweetly sound from the trump of Fame,

Till its final blast shall die."

On the day after his arrival, Penn received from the agents of the Duke of

York,
8
in the presence of the people, a formal surrender of The Territories ;

1 Lands in the new province were offered for about ten cents an acre. Quite a number of pur-
chasers united, and called themselvee Tfie Company of Free Traders, with whom Penn entered into

an agreement concerning the occupation of the soil, laying out of a city, Ac.
8

It ordained a General Assembly or court, to consist of a governor, a council of seventy, chosen

by the freemen of the colony, and a house of delegates, to consist of not less than two hundred
members, nor more than five hundred. These were also to be chosen by the people. The proprietor,
or his deputy (the governor), was to preside, and to have a three-fold voice in the council : that is, on
all questions, he was to have three votes for every one of the councillors.

*
Page 144.
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and after resting a few days, he proceeded to visit

his brethren in New Jersey, and the authorities

at New York. On his return, he met the General

Assembly of the province at Chester,
1 when he

declared the union of The Territories with Pennsyl-

vania. He made a more judicious organization of the

local government, and then were permanently laid the

foundations of the commonwealth of PENNSYLVANIA.

97

THE ASSEMBLY HOUSE.

CHAPTER IX.

THE CAROLINAS. [1622 1680.]

UNSUCCESSFUL efforts at settlement on the coast of Carolina, were made

during a portion of the sixteenth century. These we have already considered.
9

As early "as 1609, some dissatisfied people from Jamestown settled on the

Nansemond; and in 1622, Porey, then Secretary of Virginia, with a few

friends, penetrated the country beyond the Roanoke. In 1630, Charles the

First granted to Sir Robert Heath, his attorney-general, a domain south of

Virginia, six degrees of latitude in width, extending from Albemarle Sound to

the St. John's River, in Florida, and, as usual, westward to the Pacific Ocean.

No settlements were made, and the charter was forfeited. At that time, Dis-

senters or Nonconformists
3
suffered many disabilities in Virginia, and looked to

the wilderness for freedom. In 1653, Roger Green and a few Presbyterians

left that colony and settled upon the Chowan River, near the present village of

Edenton. Other dissenters followed, and the colony flourished. Governor

Berkeley, of Virginia,
4

wisely organized them into a separate political commu-

nity [1663], and William Drummond," a Scotch Presbyterian minister, was

appointed Vieir governor. They received the name of Albemarle County

Colony, /n honor of the Duke of Albemarle, who, that year, became a proprietor

of the territory. Two years previously [1661], some New England
8
adventur-

ers settled in the vicinity of Wilmington, on the Cape Fear River, but manj
of them soon abandoned the country because of its poverty.

Charles the Second was famous for his distribution of the lands in the New

World, among his friends and favorites, regardless of any other claims, Abo-

1 The picture is a correct representation of the building at Chester, in Pennsylvania, wherein
the Assembly met. It was yet standing in 1860. Not far from the spot, on the shore of the Dela-
ware, at the mouth of Chester Creek, was also a solitary pine-tree, which marked the place where
Penn landed.

a
Pages 55 to 57 inclusive. * Note 2, page 76.

4
Page 78.

5 Drummond was afterward executed on account of his participation in Bacon's revolutionary
acts. See note 5, page 112.

*
Page 108
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riginal or European. In 1663, he granted the whole territory named in Sir

Robert Heath's charter, to eight of fris principal friends,
' and called it CARO-

LINA." As the Chowan settlement was not within the limits of the charter, the

boundary was extended northward to the present line between Virginia and

North Carolina, and also southward, so as to include the whole of Florida,

except its peninsula. The Bahama Islands were granted to the same proprie-

tors in 1667. 3 Two years earlier [1665], a company of Barbadoes planters

settled upon the lands first occupied by the New England people, near the

present AVilmington, and founded a permanent settlement there. The few

settlers yet remaining were treated kindly, and soon an independent colony, with

Sir John Yeamans* as governor, was established. It was called the Clarendon

County Colony, in honor of one of the proprietors. Yeamans managed

prudently, but the poverty of the soil prevented a rapid increase in the popula-

tion. The settlers applied themselves to the manufacture of boards, shingles,

and staves, which they shipped to the West Indies
;
and that business is yet the

staple trade of that region of pine forests and sandy levels. Although the

settlement did not flourish, it continued to exist; and then was founded the

commonwealth of NORTH CAROLINA.

The special attention of the proprietors was soon turned toward the more

southerly and fertile portion of their domain, and in January. 1670, they sent

three ships with emigrants, under the direction of William Sayle
5 and Joseph

West, to plant a colony below Cape Fear. They entered Port Royal, landed

on Beaufort Island at the spot where the Huguenots built Fort Carolina in

1564,' and there Sayle died early in 1671. The immigrants soon afterward

abandoned Beaufort, and sailing into the Ashley River,
7
seated themselves on

its western bank, at a place a few miles above Charleston, now known as Old

Town. There they planted the first seeds of a South Carolina colony. West

exercised authority as chief magistrate, until the arrival of Sir John Yeamans,
in December, 1671, who was appointed governor. He came with fifty families,

and a large number of slaves.
8

Representative government was instituted in

1672 9 under the title of the Carteret County Colony. It was so called in

honor of one of the proprietors.
10 Ten years afterward they abandoned the spot ;

1 Lord Clarendon, his prime minister; General Monk, just created Duke of Albemarle; Lord

Ashley Cooper, afterward Earl of Shaftesbury; Sir George Carteret, a proprietor of New Jersey;
Sir William Berkeley, Governor of Virginia; Lord Berkeley, Lord Craven, and Sir John Colleton.

a
It will be perceived [note 1, page 55] that the name of Carolina, given to territory south of

Virginia, was bestowed in honor of two kings named Charles, one of France, the other of England.
Samuel Stephens succeeded Drummond as governor, in 1667

;
and in 1668, the first popular

Assembly in North Carolina convened at Edenton.
* Yeamans was an impoverished English baronet, who had become a planter in Barbadoes, to

mend his fortune. He was successful, and became wealthy.
6
Sayle had previously explored the Carolina coast Twenty years before, he had attempted to

plant an "Eleutharia," or place dedicated to the genius of Liberty [see Eleutheria, Anthon's Class-

ical Dictionary], in the isles near the coast of Florida,
e
Page 50. i

Page 166.
8
This was the commencement of negro slavery in South Carolina. Teamans brought almost

two hundred of them from Barbadoes. From the commencement, South Carolina has been a

planting State. Note 6, page 2*5.
"

fie was also one of the proprietors ofNew Jersey. See page 119.
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and upon Oyster Point, at the junction of Ashley and Cooper Rivers,
1
nearer

the sea, they founded the present city of Charleston.'
1

Immigrants came from

various parts of Europe ;
and many Dutch families, dissatisfied with the English

rule at New York,
3 went to South Carolina, where 'lands were freely given

them
;
and soon, along the Santee and the Edisto, the wilderness began to

blossom under the hand of culture. The people would have nothing to do with

a government scheme prepared by Shaftesbury and Locke,
4
but preferred simple

organic laws of their own making. Then were laid the foundations of the com-

monwealth of SOUTH CAROLINA, although the history of the two States, under

the same proprietors, is inseparable, until the period of their dismemberment,

in 1729.5

CHAPTER X.

GEORGIA. [1733.]

GEORGIA was the latest settled of the thirteen original English colonies in

America. When the proprietors of the Carolinas surrendered their charter
8
to

the crown in 1729, the whole country southward of the Savannah River, to

the vicinity of St. Augustine, was a wilderness peopled by native tribes/ and

claimed by the Spaniards as part of their territory of Florida.
8 The English

disputed this claim, and South Carolina townships were ordered to be marked

out as far south as the Alatamaha. The dispute grew warm and warlike, and

the Indians, instigated by the Spaniards, depredated upon the frontier English
settlements.

9

But, while the clouds of hostility were gathering in the firma-

ment, and grew darker every hour, it was lighted up by a bright beam of be-

nevolence, which proved the harbinger of a glorious day. It came from England,

where, at that time, poverty was often considered a crime, and at least four

thousand unfortunate debtors were yearly consigned to loathsome prisons. The

honest and true, the noble and the educated, as well as the ignorant and the

vile, groaned within prison walls. Their wailings at length reached the ears

of benevolent men. Foremost among these was James Edward Oglethorpe,
1 ' a

brave soldier and stanch loyalist, whose voice had been heard often in Parlia-

ment against imprisonment for debt.

A committee of inquiry into the subject of such imprisonments, was ap-

1 These were so called in honor of Ashley Cooper, Earl of Shaftesbury. The Indian name of

the former was Ke-a-wah, and of the latter E-ti-wan.
a
Charleston was laid out in 1680 by John Culpepper, who had been surveyor-general fot

North Carolina. See page 106.
3
Page 164.

4
Page 14. 6

Page 171.
6
Page 171.

7
Page 29.

8
Page 42.

"
Page 170.

10 See portrait, page 104. General Oglethorpe was born in Surrey, England, on the 21st of De-

cember, 1698. He was a soldier by profession. In 1745, he was made a brigadier-general, and

fought against Charles Edward, the Pretender, who was a grandson of James the Second, and
claimed rightful heirship to the throne of England. Oglethorpe refused the supreme command of

the British army destined for America m 1775. He died, June 30, 1785, aged eighty-seven yeara.
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pointed bj Parliament, and General Ogleihorpe was made chairman of it. His

report, embodying a noble scheme' of benevolence, attracted attention and

admiration. He proposed to open the prison doors to all virtuous men within,

who would accept the conditions, and with these and other sufferers from pov-

erty and oppression, to go to the wilderness of America, and there establish a

colony of freemen, and open an asylum for persecuted Protestants' of all lands.

The plan met warm responses in Parliament, and received the hearty approval

of George the Second, then [1730] on the English throne. A royal charter for

twenty-one years was granted [June 9, 1732J to a corporation
" in trust for

the poor," to establish a colony within the disputed territory south of the Sa-

vannah, to be called Georgia, in honor of the king.* Individuals subscribed

large sums to defray the expenses of emigrants hither
;
and within two years

after the issuing of the patent, Parliament had appropriated one hundred and

eighty thousand dollars for the same purpose.
3

The sagacious and brave Oglethorpe was a practical philanthropist. He
offered to accompany the first settlers to the wilderness, and to act as governor
of the new province. With one hundred and twenty emigrants he left England

[Nov., 1732], and after a passage of fifty-seven days, touched at Charleston

[Jan., 1733], where he was received with great joy by the inhabitants, as one

who was about to plant a barrier between them and the hostile Indians and

Spaniards.
4

Proceeding to Port Royal, Oglethorpe landed a large portion of

his followers there, and with a few others, he coasted to the Savannah River.

Sailing up that stream as far as Yamacraw Bluff, he landed, and chose the spot

whereon to lay the foundation of the capital of a future State.
5

On the 12th of February, 1733, the remainder of the immigrants arrived

from Port Royal. The winter air was genial, and with cheerful hearts and

willing hands they constructed a rude fortification, and commenced the erection

of a town, which they called Savannah, the Indian name of the river.
6 For

almost a year the governor dwelt under a tent, and there he often held friendly
intercourse with the chiefs of neighboring tribes. At length, when he had

mounted cannons upon the fort, and safety was thus secured, Oglethorpe met

1 Note 14, page 62.
8 The domain granted by the charter extended along the coast from the Savannah to the Ala-

tamaha, and westward to the Pacific Ocean. The trustees appointed by the crown, possessed all

legislative and executive power ; and, therefore, while one side of the seal of the new province

expressed the benevolent character of the scheme, by the device of a group of toiling silkworms,
and the motto, Non sibi, std aiiis ; the other side, bearing, between two urns the genius of
"
Georgia Augusta," with a cap of liberty on her head, a spear, and a horn of plenty, was a false

emblem. There was no political liberty lor the people.
8

Brilliant visions of vast vintages, immense productions of silk for British looms, and all the
wealth of a fertile tropical region, were presented for the contemplation of the commercial acumen
of the business men of England. These considerations, as well as the promptings of pure benev-

olence, made donations liberal and numerous. 4
Page 99.

6 Some historians believe that Sir Walter Raleigh, while on his way to South America, in 1595,
went up the Savannah River, and held a conference with the Indians on this very spot. This,

probably, is an error, for nothing appears in the writings of Raleigh or his cotemporaries to warrant
the inference that he ever saw the North American continent.

* The streets were laid out with great regularity; public squares were reserved; and the houses
Were all built on one model twenty-four by sixteen, feet, on the ground.
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fifty
chiefs in council [May, 1733], with To-mo-chi-chi* the principal sachem

of the lower Creek: confederacy.
2
at their head, to treat for the purchase of

lands. Satisfactory arrangements were made, arid the English obtained sover-

eignty over the whole domain [June 1, 1733J along the Atlantic from the Sa-

vannah to the St. John's, and westward to the Flint and the head waters of the

Chattahoochee. The provisions of the charter formed the constitution of gov-

ernment for the people ;
and there, upon Yamacraw Bluff, where the flourishing

city of Savannah now stands, was laid the foundation of the commonwealth of

GEORGIA, in the summer of 1733. Immigration flowed thither in a strong and

continuous stream, for all were free in religious matters
; yet for many years

the colony did not flourish.
3

Wonderful, indeed, were the events connected with the permanent settle-

ments in the New World. Never in the history of the race was greater hero-

ism displayed than the seaboard of the domain of the United States exhibited

during the period of settlements, and the development of colonies. Hardihood,

faith, courage, indomitable perseverance, and untiring energy, were requisite

to accomplish all that was done in so short a time, and under such unfavorable

circumstances. While many of the early immigrants were mere adventurers,

and sleep in deserved oblivion, because they were recreant to the great duty
which they had self-imposed, there are thousands whose names ought to be per-

petuated in brass and marble, because of their faithful performance of the

mighty task assigned them. They came here as sowers of the prolific seed of

human liberty ;
and during the colonizing period, many of them carefully nur-

tured the tender plant, while it was bursting into vigorous life. We, who are

the reapers, ought to reverence the sowers and the cultivators with grateful

hearts.

1 To-mo-chi-chi was then an aged man, and at his first interview with Oglethorpe, he presented
him with a buffalo skin, ornamented with the picture of an eagle.

"
Here," said the chief,

"
is a little

present: I give you a buffalo's skin, adorned on the inside with the head and feathers of an eagle,
which I desire you to accept, because the eagle is an emblem of speed, and the buffalo of strength.
The English are swift as the bird, and strong as the beast, since, like the former, they flew over
vast seas to the uttermost parts of the earth

;
and like the latter, they are so strong that nothing

can withstand them. The feathers of an eagle are soft, and signify love
;
the buffalo's skin is

warm, and signifies protection ;
therefore I hope the English will protect and love our little fam-

ilies." Alas! the wishes of the venerable To-mo-chi-chi were never realized, for the white people
more often plundered and destroyed, than loved and protected the Indians.

To-mo-chi-chi died on the 5th of October, 1739, at his own town, four miles from Savannah,
aged about ninety-seven years. He loved General Oglethorpe, and expressed a desire that hie

body might be laid among the English at Savannah. It was buried there with public honors. See
ihe Gentleman's Magazine, 1740, page 129.

8
Page 30.

*
Pages 171 and 173.



THE COLONIES.

CHAPTEE I.

COLONIAL HISTORY.

HAVING briefly traced the interesting events which resulted in the

founding of several colonies by settlements, we will now consider the more

important acts of establishing permanent commonwealths, all of which still

exist and flourish.
1 The colonial history of the United States is comprised

within the period commencing when the several settlements along the

Atlantic coasts became organized into political communities, and ending
when representatives of these colonies met in general congress in 1774,"

and confederated for mutual welfare. There was an earlier union of in-

terests and efforts. It was when the several English colonies aided the

mother country in a long war against the combined hostilities of the French

and Indians. As the local histories of the several colonies after the com-

mencement of that war have but little interest for the general reader, we
shall trace the progress of each colony only to that period, and devote a

chapter to the narrative of the French and Indian war.
8

1 Many circumstances impeded the progress of the oldest settlement at Virginia,
chief of which was the fact that the first settlers were idle, improvident, and dissolute.

Only twelve men of the one hundred and five who came with Newport in 1607 were
common laborers. There were four carpenters, six or eight masons and blacksmiths, and

forty eight gentlemen. Necessity soon compelled them to accept the honorable voca-
tion of toil, or the settlers would all have perished. A few married men had joined the

company, but their families had been left behind in England. The prospect of planting
a permanent settlement in America with such material was far from encouraging.

2
Page 228. 3

Page 179.
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As we have already observed, a settlement acquires the character of a

colony only when it has become permanent, and the people, acknowledging

allegiance to a parent State, are governed by organic laws.
1

According to

these conditions, the earliest of the thirteen colonies represented in the Con-

gress of 1774, was

VIRGINIA. [1619.]
I

That vas an auspicious day for the six hundred settlers in Virginia when
the gold-seekers disappeared,

2 and the enlightened George Yeardley became

governor, and established a representative assembly [June 28, 1619] the firs:

in all America. 3 And yet a prime element of happiness and prosperity was

wanting. There were few white women in the colony. The wise Sandys, the

friend of the Pilgrim Fathers,* was then treasurer of the London Company,
5

and one of the most influential and zealous promoters of emigration. During
the same year when the Puritans sailed for America [1620], he sent more than

twelve hundred emigrants to Virginia, among whom were ninety young women,

"pure and uncorrupt," who were disposed of for the cost of their passage, as

wives for the planters.
6 The following year sixty more were sent. The fam-

ily relation was soon established
;
the gentle influence of woman gave refine-

ment to social life on the banks of the Powhatan;
7 new and powerful incentives

to industry and thrift were created
;
and the mated planters no longer cherished

the prevailing idea of returning to England.
8 Vessel after vessel, laden with

immigrants, continued to arrive in the James River, and new settlements wereO ' *

planted, even so remote as at the Falls,
9 and on the distant banks of the Poto-

mac. The germ of an empire was rapidly expanding with the active elements

of national organization. Verbal instructions would no longer serve the pur-

poses of government, and in July> 1621, the Company granted the colonists

a written Constitution,* which ratified most of the acts of Yeardley." Pro-

vision was made for the appointment of a governor and council by the Company,
and a popular Assembly, to consist of two burgesses or representatives from

each borough, chosen by the people. This body, and the council, composed
the General Assembly, which was to meet once a year, and pass laws for the

1

Page 61. a
Page 71.

s
Page 71.

*
Page 77.

6
Page 64.

' Tobacco had already become a circulating medium, or currency, in Virginia. The price of a
wife varied from 120 to 150 pounds of this product, equivalent, in money value, to about $90 and
$112 each. The second "

cargo" were sold at a still higher price. By the king's special order, one
hundred dissolute vagabonds, called "jail-birds" by the colonists, were sent over the same year, and
old as bond-servants for a specified time. In August, the same year, a Dutch trading vessel en-

ered the James River with negro slaves. Twenty of them were sold into perpetual slavery to the

planters. This was the commencement of negro slavery in the English colonies [note 4, page 177].
The slave population of the United States in 1860, according to the census, was about 4,000,000.

'
Page 64.

8 Most of the immigrants hitherto were possessed of the spirit of mere adventurers. They camo
to America to repair shattered fortunes, or to gain wealth, with the ultimate object of returning td

England to enjoy it. The creation of families made the planters more attached to the soil of Vir-

ginia.
9 Near the site of the city of Richmond. The falls, or rapids, extend about six miles.
10 The people of the May-flower formed a written Constitution for themselves [pa?e 78]. That

of Virginia was modeled after the Constitution of England.
" Page 70.
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general good.
1 Such laws were not. valid until approved by the Company,

neither were any orders of the Company binding upon the colonists until

ratified by the General Assembly. Trial by jury was established, and courts

of law conformable to those of England were organized. Ever afterward claim-

ing these privileges as rights, the Virginians look back to the summer of 1621

as the era of their civil freedom.

The excellent Sir Francis Wyatt, who had been appointed governor under

the Constitution, and brought the instrument Avith him, was delighted with the

aspect of affairs in Virginia. But a dark cloud soon arose in the summer sky.

The neighboring Indian tribes
3

gathered in solemn council. Powhatan, the

friend of the English after the marriage of his daughter.
3 was dead, and an

enemy of the white people ruled the dusky nation. 4

They had watched the

increasing strength of the English, with alarm. The white people were now
four thousand in number, and rapidly increasing. The Indians read their des-

tiny annihilation upon the face of every new comer
; and, prompted by the

first great law of his nature, self-preservation, the red man resolved to strike a

blow for life. A conspiracy was accordingly formed, in the spring of 1622. to

exterminate the white people. At mid-day, on the 1st of April, the hatchet

fell upon all of the more remote settlements
;
and within an hour, three hun-

dred and fifty men, women, and children, were slain.
5 Jamestown6 and neigh-

boring plantations were saved by the timely warning of a converted Indian. 7

The people were on their guard and escaped. Those far away in the forests

defended themselves bravely, and when they had beaten back the foe, they fled

to Jamestown. Within a few days, eighty plantations were reduced to eight.

The people, thus concentrated at Jamestown by a terrible necessity, pre-

pared for vengeance. A vindictive war ensued, and a terrible blow of retalia-

tion was given. The Indians upon the James and York Rivers were slaughtered

by scores, or were driven far back into the wilderness. Yet a blight was upon
the colony. Sickness and famine followed close upon the massacre. Within

three months, the colony of four thousand souls was reduced to twenty-five
hundred

;
and at the beginning of 1624, of the nine thousand persons who had

been sent to Virginia from England, only eighteen hundred remained.

These disheartening events, and the selfish action of the king, discouraged
the London Company.

8 The holders of the stock had now become very numer-

ous, and their meetings, composed of men of all respectable classes, assumed a

1 This was the beginning of the Virginia House of Burgesses, of which we shall often speak in

future chapters
* The Powhatans. See page 20.

3
Page 70.

4 Powhatan died in 1618, and was succeeded in office by his younger brother, Opecliancan-

ough [see page 66]. This chief hated the English. He was the one who made Captain Smith a

prisoner.
*
Opechancanough was wily and exceedingly treacherous. Only a few days before the mas-

sacre, he declared that "sooner the skies would fall than his friendship witli the English would be

dissolved." Even on the day of the massacre, the Indians entered the houses of the planters with
usual tokens of friendship.

e
Page 64.

7 This was Chanco, who was informed of the bloody design the evening previous. He desired

to save a white friend in Jamestown, and gave him the information. It was too late to send word
to the more remote settlements. Among those who fell on this occasion, were six members of the

council, and several of the wealthiest inhabitants. Page 64.
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political character, in which two distinct parties were represented, namely, the

advocates of liberty, and the supporters of the royal prerogatives. The king
was offended by the freedom of debates at these meetings, and regarded them

as inimical to royalty, and dangerous to the stability of his throne.
1 He deter-

mined to regain what he had lost by granting the liberal third charter
3
to the

company. He endeavored first to control the elections. Failing in this, he

sought a pretense for dissolving the Company. A commission was appointed
in May, 1623, to inquire into their affairs. It was composed of the king's

pliant instruments, who, having reported in favor of a dissolution of the Com-

pany, an equally pliant judiciary accomplished his designs in October following,

and a quo warranto3 was issued. The Company made but little opposition, for

the settlement of Virginia had been an unprofitable speculation from the be-

ginning ;
and in July, 1624, the patents were cancelled. 4

Virginia became a

royal province again,
5 but no material change was made in the domestic affairs

of the colonists.

King James, with his usual egotism, boasted of the beneficent results to the

colonists which would flow from this usurpation, by which they were placed
under his special care. He appointed Yeardley,* with twelve councillors, to

administer the government, but wisely refrained from interfering with tht

House of Burgesses.
7 The king lived but a few months longer, and at hi:

death, which occurred on the 6th of April, 1625, he was succeeded by his son,

Charles the First. That monarch was as selfish as he was weak. He sought
to promote the welfare of the Virginia planters, because he also sought to reap
the profits of a monopoly, by becoming himself their sole factor in the manage,
ment of their exports. He also allowed them political privileges, not because he

wished to benefit his subjects, but because he had learned to respect the power
of those far-off colonists

;
and he sought their sanction for his commercial

agency.
8

Governor Yeardley died in November, 1627, and was succeeded, two years
later [1629], by Sir John Harvey, a haughty and unpopular royalist. He was

a member of the commission appointed by James
;

and the colonists so despised

him, that they refused the coveted monopoly to the king. After many and

violent disputes about land titles, the Virginians deposed him [1635] and

appointed commissioners to proceed to England, with an impeachment. Harvey

accompanied the commission. The king refused to hear complaints against the

1 These meetings were quite frequent ;
and so important were the members, in political affairs,

that they could influence the elections of members of Parliament. In 1623, the accomplished
Nicholas Ferrar, an active opponent of the court party, was elected to Parliament, by the influence

of the London Company. This fact, doubtless, caused the king to dissolve the Company that year.
2
Page 70.

3 A writ of quo warranto is issued to compel a person or corporation to appear before the king,
and show by what authority certain privileges are held.

4 The Company had expended almost $700,000 in establishing the colony, and this great sum
was almost a dead loss to the stockholders.

*
Page 63.

Page 70.
7 Note 1, page 106.

8
In June, 1628, the king, in a letter to the governor and council, asked them to convene an

assembly to consider his proposal to contract for the whole crop of tobacco. He thus tacitly

acknowledged the legality of the republican assembly of Virginia, hitherto not sanctioned,, but only

permitted.
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accused, and he was sent back clothed with full powers to administer the gov-

ernment, independent of the people. He ruled almost four years longer, and was

succeeded, in November, 1639, by Sir Francis Wyatt, who administered gov-

ernment well for about two years, when he was succeeded [1641] by Sir William

Berkeley,
1 an able and elegant courtier. For ten years Berkeley ruled with

vigor, and the colony prospered wonderfully.
3

But, as in later years, commo-

tions in Europe now disturbed the American settlements. The democratic

revolution in England,
3 which brought Charles the First to the block, and

placed Oliver Cromwell in power, now [1642] began, and religious sects in

England and America assumed political importance. Puritans
4 had hitherto

been tolerated in Virginia, but now the Throne and the Church were united in

interest, and the Virginians being loyal to both, it was decreed that no minister

should preach except in conformity to the constitution of the Church of En-

gland.
6

Many non-conformists6 were banished from the colony. This was a

dark cloud upon the otherwise clear skies of Virginia, but a darker cloud was

gathering. The Indians were again incited to hostilities by the restless and

vengeful Opechancanough,
7 and a terrible storm burst upon the English, in

April, 1644. For two years a bloody border warfare was carried on. The

king of the Powhatans
8 was finally made captive, and died while in prison at

Jamestown, and his people were thoroughly subdued. The power of the con-

federation was completely broken, and after ceding large tracts of land to the

English, the chiefs acknowledged allegiance to the authorities of Virginia, and

so the political lift of the Powhatans passed away forever."

During the civil war in England [1641 1649 J, the Virginians remained

loyal ;
and when republican government was proclaimed, they boldly recognized

the son of the late king, although in exile, as their sovereign.
10 The republican

parliament was highly incensed, and took immediate measures to coerce Vir-

ginia into submission to its authority. For that purpose Sir George Ayscue
was sent with a powerful fleet, bearing commissioners of parliament, as repre-

sentatives of the sovereignty of the commonwealth, and anchored in Hampton
Roads in March, 1651.

1 "William Berkeley was born near London
; was educated at Oxford

; became, by travel and

education, a polished gentleman; was governor of Virginia almost 40 years, and died in July, 1677.
a In 1648. the number of colonists was 20,000. "The cottages were filled with children, as the

ports were with ships and immigranta"
* For a long time the exactions of the king fostered a bitter feeling toward him, in the hearts

of the people. In 1641 they took up arms against their sovereign. One of the chief leaders of the

popular party was Oliver Cromwell. The war continued until 1649, when the royalists were sub-

dued, and the king was beheaded. Parliament assumed all the functions of government, and ruled

nntil 1653, when Cromwell, the insurgent leader, dissolved that body, and was proclaimed supreme
ruler, with the title of Protector of the Commonwealth of England. Cromwell was a son of a

wealthy brewer of Huntingdon, England, where he was born in 1599. He died in September,
1658. 4

Page 75.
6
Page 75.

* Note 2, page 76.
7 Note 5, page 106.

8
Page 20.

*
They relinquished all claim to the beautiful country between the York and James Rivers.

from the Falls of the latter, at Richmond, to the sea, forever. It was a legacy of a dying nation

to their conquerors. After that, their utter destruction was swift and thorough.
10 Afterward the profligate Charles the Second. His mother was sister to the French king, and

to that court she fled, with her children. It was a sad day for the moral character of England
when Charles was enthroned. He was less bigoted, but more licentious than any of the Stuarts
who governed Great Britain for more than eighty yeara
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The Virginians had resolved to submit rather than fight, yet they made a

show of resistance. They declared their willingness to compromise with the

invaders, to which the commissioners, surprised and intimidated by the bold

attitude of the colonists, readily consented. Instead of opening their cannons

upon the Virginians, they courteously proposed to them submission to the

authority of parliament upon terms quite satisfactory to the colonists. Liberal

political
concessions to the people were secured, and they were allowed nearly

all those civil rights which the Declaration of Independence,
1

a century and a

quarter later, charged George the Third with violating.

Virginia was, virtually, an independent State, until Charles the Second

was restored to the throne of his father [May 29, 1660J, for Cromwell made no

appointments except that of governor. In the same year [1652] when the par-

liamentary commissioners came, the people had elected Richard Bennet to fill

Berkeley's place. He was succeeded by Edward Digges, and in 1656, Crom-

well appointed Samuel Mathews governor. On the death of the Protector

[1658J, the Virginians were not disposed to acknowledge the authority of his

son Richard,
2 and they elected Mathews their chief magistrate, as a token of

their independence. Universal suffrage prevailed ;
all freemen, without excep-

tion, were allowed to vote
;
and white servants, when their terms of bondage

ended, had the same privilege, and might become burgesses.
But a serious change came to the Virginians, after the restoration of Charles

the Second. When intelligence of that event reachod Virginia, Berkeley,
whom the people had elected governor in 1660, repudiated the popular sover-

eignty, and proclaimed the exiled monarch "
King of England, Scotland, Ire-

land, and Virginia" This happened before he was proclaimed in England.
3

The Virginia republicans were offended, but being in the minority, could do

nothing. A new Assembly was elected and convened, and high hopes of favor

from the monarch were entertained by the court party. But these were speed-

ily blasted, and in place of great privileges, came commercial restrictions to

cripple the industry of the colony. The navigation act of 1651 was re-enacted

in 1660, and its provisions were rigorously enforced. 4 The people murmured,

1 See Supplement.
4 Cromwell appointed his son Richard to succed him in office. Lacking the vigor and ambition

of his father, he gladly resigned the troublesome legacy into the hands of the people, and, a little

more than a year afterward, Charles the Second was enthroned.
3 When informed that Parliament was about to send a fleet to bring them to submission, the

Virginians sent a message to Charles, then in Flanders, inviting him to come over and be king of

Virginia. He had resolved to come, when matters took a turn in England favorable to his restora-

tion. In gratitude to the colonists, he caused the arms of Virginia to be quartered with those of

England, Scotland, and Ireland, as an independent member of the empire. From this circumstance

Virginia received the name of The Old Dominion. Coins, with these quarterings, were made as

late as 1773.
4 The first Navigation Act, by the Republican Parliament, prohibited foreign vessels trading to

the English colonies. This was partly to punish the sugar-producing islands of the West Indies,
because the people were chiefly loyalists. The act of 1660 provided that no goods should bo
carried to or from any English colonies, but in vessels built within the English dominions, whose
masters and at least three fourths of the crews were Englishmen ;

and that sugar, tobacco, and
other colonial commodities should be imported into no part of Europe, except England and her

dominions. The trade between the colonies, now struggling for prosperous life, was also taxed for

the benefit of England.



THE COLONIES. [1619.

but in vain. The profligate monarch, who seems never to have had a clear

perception of right and wrong, but was governed by caprice and passion, gave

away, to his special favorites, large tracts of the finest portions of the Virginia

soil, some of it already well cultivated.
1

Week after week, and month after month, the Royalist party continued to show

more and more of the foul hand of despotism. The pliant Assembly abridged

the liberties of the people. Although elected for only two years, the members

assumed to themselves the right of holding office indefinitely, and the repre-

sentative system was thus virtually abolished. The doctrines and rituals of

the Church of England having been made the religion of the State, intolerance

began to grow. Baptists and Quakers
2 were compelled to pay heavy fines.

The salaries of the royal officers being paid from duties upon exported tobacco,

these officials were made independent of the people.
8

Oppressive and unequal

taxes were levied, and the idle aristocracy formed a distinct and ruling class.

The "common people" the men of toil and substantial worth formed a

republican party, and rebellious murmurs were heard on every side. They
desired a sufficient reason for strengthening their power, and it soon appeared.

The menaces of the Susquehannah Indians,
4
a fierce tribe of Lower Pennsylva-

nia, gave the people a plausible pretense for arming during the summer of

1675. The Indians had been driven from their hunting-grounds at the head

of the Chesapeake Bay by the Senecas,
5 and coming down the Potomac, they

made war upon the Maryland settlements.
6

They finally committed murders

upon Virginia soil, and retaliation
7
caused the breaking out of a fierce border

war. The inhabitants, exasperated and alarmed, called loudly upon Governor

Berkeley to take immediate and energetic measures for the defense of the col-

ony. His slow and indecisive movements were very unsatisfactory, and loud

murmurs were heard on every side. At length Nathaniel Bacon,
8
an energetic

and highly esteemed republican, acting in behalf of his party, demanded per-

mission for the people to arm and protect themselves. 9

Berkeley's sagacity

perceived the danger of allowing discontented men to have arms, and he refused.

The Indians came nearer and nearer, until laborers on Bacon's plantation, near

Piichmond, were murdered. That leader then yielded to the popular will, and

placed himself at the head of four or five hundred men, to drive back the

enemy. Berkeley, jealous of Bacon's popularity, proclaimed him a traitor

1 In 1673, the king gave to Lord Culpepper and the Earl of Arlington, two of his profligate

favorites, "all the dominion of land and water called Virginia," for the term of thirty years.
8 Note 7, page 94.
* One of the charges made against the King of England in the Declaration of Independence,

more than a hundred years later, was that he had " made judges dependent on his will alone for

the tenure of their offices and the amount and payment of their salaries."
4
Page 17.

*
Page 23. e

Page 82.
7 John Washington, an ancestor of the commander-in-chief of the American armies a century

later, commanded some troops against an Indian fort on the Potomac. Some chiefs, who were
sent to his camp to treat for peace, were treacherously slain, and this excited the fierce resentment
of the Susquehannahs.

8 He was born in England, was educated a lawyer, and in Virginia was a member of the coun-
cil. He was about thirty years of age at that time.

9
King Philip's war was then raging in Massachusetts, and the white people, everywhere, were

alarmed. See page 124.
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[May, 1676], and sent troops to arrest him. Some of his more timid followers

returned, but sterner patriots adhered to his fortunes. The people generally

sympathized with him, and in the lower counties they arose in open rebellion.

Berkeley was obliged to recall his troops to suppress the insurrection, and in

the mean while Bacon drove the Indians' back toward the Rappahannock. He
was soon after elected a burgess,

2
but on approaching Jamestown, to take his

seat in the Assembly, he was arrested. For fear of the people, who made hos-

tile demonstrations, the governor soon pardoned him and all his followers, and

hypocritically professed a personal regard for the bold republican leader.

Popular opinion had now manifestly become a power in Virginia ;
and the

pressure of that opinion compelled Berkeley to yield at all points. The long
aristocratic Assembly was dissolved

; many abuses were corrected, and all the

privileges formerly enjoyed by the people were restored.
3

Fearing treachery
in the capital, Bacon withdrew to the Middle Plantation,

4
where he was joined

by three or four hundred armed men from the upper counties, and was pro-
claimed commander-in-chief of the Virginia troops. The governor regarded the

movement as rebellious, and refused to sign Bacon's commission. The patriot

marched to Jamestown, and demanded it without delay. The frightened governor

speedily complied [July 4, 1676], and, concealing his anger, he also, on compul-

sion, signed a letter to the king, highly commending the acts and motives of the
u
traitor." This was exactly one hundred years, to a day, before the English

colonies in America declared themselves free and independent, the logic of

which the King of Great Britain was compelled, reluctantly, to acknowledge, a

few years later. The Virginia Assembly was as pliant before the successful

leader as the governor, and gave him the commission of a general of a thousand

men. On receiving it, Bacon marched against the Pamunkey Indians.
6 When

he had gone, Berkeley, faithless to his professions, crossed the York River, and

at Gloucester summoned a convention of royalists. All the proceedings of the

Republican Assembly were reversed, and, contrary to the advice of his friends,

the governor again proclaimed Bacon a traitor, on the 29th of July. The

indignation of the patriot leader was fiercely kindled, and, marching back to

Jamestown, he lighted up a civil war. The property of royalists was confis-

cated, their wives were seized as hostages, and their plantations were desolated.

Berkeley fled to the eastern shore of the Chesapeake. Bacon proclaimed his

abdication, and, dismissing the republican troops, called an Assembly in his

rwn name, and was about to cast off all allegiance to the English Crown, when

'

Page 40.
a The chief leaders of the republican party at the capital, were "William Drummond, who had

been governor of North Carolina [page 97], and Colonel Richard Lawrence.
8 This event was the planting of one of the most vigorous and fruitful germs of American

nationality. It was the first bending of power to the. boldly-expressed will of the people.
4
Williamsburg, four miles from Jamestown, and midway between the York and James Rivera,

was then called the Middle Plantation. After the accession of William and Mary [see page 113],
a town was laid out in the form of the ciphers WM., and was named Williamsburg. Governor
Nicholson made it the capital of the province in 1 698.

6
This was a small tribe on the Pnmunkey River, one of the chief tributaries of the York

River.
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intelligence was received of the arrival ,of imperial troops to quell the rebellion.
1

Great was the joy of the governor, when informed of the arrival of the hoped-

for succor, for his danger was imminent. With some royalists and English

sailors under Major Robert Beverley, he now [Sept. 7] returned to Jamestown.

Bacon collected hastily his troops, and drove the governor and his friends down

the James River. Informed that a large body of royalists and imperial troops

were approaching, the republicans, unable to maintain their position at James-

town, applied the torch [Sept. 30] just as the night shadows came over the

village.
9 When the sun arose on the following morning,

the first town built by Englishmen in America,
3 was a

heap of smoking ruins. Nothing remained standing

but a few chimneys, and that old church tower, which

now attracts the eye and heart of the voyager upon the

bosom of the James River. This work accomplished,

Bacon pressed forward with his little army toward the

York, determined to drive the royalists from Virginia.

CHURCH TOWER But ne was smitten by a deadlier foe than armed men.

The malaria of the marshes at Jamestown had poisoned

his veins, and he died [Oct. 11. 1676] of malignant fever, on the north bank

of the York. There was no man to receive the mantle of his ability and influ-

ence, and his departure was a death-blow to the cause he had espoused. His

friends and followers made but feeble resistance, and before the first of Novem-

ber, Berkeley returned to the Middle Plantation4 in triumph.
The dangers and vexations to which the governor had been exposed during

these commotions, rendered the haughty temper of the baron irascible, and he

signalized his restoration to power by acts of wanton cruelty. Twenty-two of

the insurgent leaders had been hanged,
5 when the more merciful Assembly im-

plored him to shed no more blood. But he continued fines, imprisonments, and

confiscations, and ruled with an iron hand and a stony heart until recalled by
the king in April, 1677, who had become disgusted with his cruel conduct. 6

There was no printing press in Virginia to record current history,
7 and for a

1 This was an error. The fleet sent with troops to quell the insurrection, did not arrive until

April the following year, when all was over. Colonel Jeffreys, the successor of Berkeley, came
with the fleet.

8 Besides the church and court-house, Jamestown contained sixteen or eighteen houses, built

of brick, and quite commodious, and a large number of humble log cabins.
' The church, of which the brick tower alone remains, was built about 1620. It was probably

the third church erected in Jamestown. The ruin is now [1883] a few rods from the encroaching
bank of the river, and is about thirty feet in height. The engraving is a correct representation of

its present appearance. In the grave-yard adjoining are fragments of several monuments.
4 Note 4, page 111.
* The first man executed was Colonel Hansford. He has been justly termed the first martyr in

the cause of liberty in America. Drummond and Lawrence were also executed. They were con-

sidered ringleaders and the prime instigators of the rebellion.
8
Charles said, "The old fool has taken more lives in that naked country than I have taken for

the murder of my father."
7
Berkeley was an enemy to popular enlightenment. He said to commissioners sent from En-

gland in 1671, "Thank God there are no free schools nor printing press; and I hope we shall not
have these hundred years; for learning has brought disobedience, and heresy, and sects into the

world, and printing has divulged these, and libels against the best government." Despots are

always afraid of the printing press, for it is the most destructive foe of tyranny.
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hundred years the narratives of the royalists gave hue to the whole affair.

Bacon was always regarded as a traitor
,
and the effort to establish a free gov-

ernment is known in history as BACON'S REBELLION. 'Such, also, would have

been the verdict of history, had Washington and his compatriots been unsuc-

cessful. Too often success is accounted a virtue, but failure, a crime.

Long years elapsed before the effects of these civil commotions were effaced.

The people were borne down by the petty tyranny of royal rulers, yet the prin-

ciples of Republicanism grew apace. The popular Assembly became winnowed

of its aristocratic elements
; and, notwithstanding royal troops were quar-

tered in Virginia,
1

to overawe the people, the burgesses were always firm in the

maintenance of popular rights.
2

In reply to Governor Jeffreys, when he ap-

pealed to the authority of the Great Seal of England, in defense of his arbitrary
act in seizing the books and papers of the Assembly, the burgesses said,

"
that

such a breach of privilege could not be commanded under the Great Seal, be-

cause they could not find that any king of England had ever done so in former

times." The king commanded the governor to "signify his majesty's indigna-

tion at language so seditious ;" but the burgesses were as indifferent to royal

frowns as they were to the governor's menaces.

A libertine from the purlieus of the licentious court now came to rule the

liberty-loving Virginians. It was Lord Culpepper, who, under the grant of

1673,
3 had been appointed governor for life in 1677. He arrived in 1680. His

profligacy and rapacity disgusted the people. Discontents ripened into insur-

rections, and the blood of patriots again flowed.
4 At length the king himself

became incensed against Culpepper, revoked his grant' in 1684, and deprived

him of office. Effingham, his successor, was equally rapacious, and the people

were on the eve of a general rebellion, when king Charles died, and his brother

James6 was proclaimed [Feb. 1685] his successor, with the title of James the

Second. The people hoped for benefit by the change of rulers, but their bur-

dens were increased. Again the wave of rebellion was rising high, when the

revolution of 1688 placed William of Orange and his wife Mary upon the

throne. 7 Then a real change for the better took place. The detested and

detestable Stuarts were forever driven from the seat of power in Great Britain.

That event, wrought out by the people, infused a conservative principle into

the workings of the English constitution. The popular will, expressed by Par-

1 These troops were under the command of a wise veteran, Sir Henry Chicheley, who managed
with prudence. They proved a source of much discontent, because their subsistence was drawn
from the planters For the same cause, disturbances occurred in New York ninety years afterward*

See page 218. a
Page 71.

8 Note 1, page 110.
4
By the king's order, Culpepper caused several of the insurgents, who were men of influence,

to be hanged, and a "reign of terror," miscalled tranquillity, followed.
6

Arlington [note 1, page 110] had already disposed of his interest in the grant to Culpepper.
*
James, Duke of York, to whom Charles gave the New Netherlands in 1 664. See page 144.

'

1 James the Second, by his bigotry (he was a Roman Catholic), tyranny, and oppression, ren-

dered himself hateful to his subjects. "William, Prince of Orange, Stadtholder of Holland, who had
married Mary, a Protestant daughter of James, and his eldest child, was invited by the incensed

people to come to the English throne. He came with Dutch troops, and landed at Torbay on the

6th of November, 1688. James was deserted by his soldiers, and he and his family sought safety
in flight. "William and Mary were proclaimed joint monarchs of England on the 13th of February,
1689. This act consummated that revolution which Voltaire styled

" the era of English liberty."

8
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liament, became potential ;
and the personal character, or caprices of the mon-

arch, had comparatively little influence upon legislation. The potency of the

NationalAssembly was extended to similar colonial organizations. The powers
of governors were defined, and the rights of the people were understood. Bad
men often exercised authority in the colonies, but it was in subordination to

the English Constitution; and, notwithstanding commercial restrictions bore

heavily upon the enterprise of the colonies, the diffusion of just political ideas,

and the growth of free institutions in America, were rapid and healthful.

From, the revolution of 1688, down to the commencement of the French

and Indian war, the history of Virginia is the history of the steady, quiet, prog-

ress of an industrious people, and presents no prominent events of interests

to the general reader. 1

CHAPTER I I!

MASSACHUSETTS. [1620.]

"WELCOME, Englishmen! welcome, Englishmen!" were the first words

which the Pilgrim Fathers 1 heard from the lips of a son of the American

forest. It was the voice of Samoset, a Wampanoag chief, who had learned a

few English words of fishermen at Penobscot. His brethren had hovered

around the little community of sufferers at New Plymouth
3
for a hundred days,

when he boldly approached [March 26, 1621 J, and gave the friendly saluta-

tion. He told them to possess the land, for the occupants had nearly all been

swept away by a pestilence. The Pilgrims thanked God for thus making their

seat more secure, for they feared the hostility of the Aborigines. When Sam-

oset again appeared, he was accompanied by Squanto,* a chief who had recently

returned from captivity in Spain ;
and they told the white people about Mas-

sasoit, the grand sachem of the Wampanoags, then residing at Mount Hope.
An interview was planned. The old sachem came with barbaric pomp,

5 and he

and Governor Carver
8 smoked the calumet

7

together. A preliminary treaty of

friendship and alliance was formed [April 1, 1621], which remained unbroken

1 The population at that time was about 50,000, of whom one half were slaves. The tobacco
trade had become very important, the exports to England and Ireland being about 30,000 hogs-
heads that year. Almost a hundred vessels annually came from those countries to Virginia for

tobacco. A powerful militia of almost 9,000 men was organized, and they no longer feared their

dusky neighbors. The militia became expert in the use of tire-arms in the woods, and back to this

period the Virginia rifleman may look for the foundation of his fame as a marksman. The proviuce
contained twenty-two counties, and forty-eight parishes, with a church and a clergyman in each,
and a great deal of glebe land. But there was no printing press nor book-store in the colony. A
press was first established in Virginia in 1729L

a
Page 77. s

Page 78. *
Page 74.

6
Massasoit approached, with a guard of sixty warriors, and took post upon a neighboring hill

There he sat in state, and received Edward Winslow as embassador from the English. Leaving
Winslow with his warriors as security for his own safety, the sachem went into New Plymouth and
treated with Governor Carver. Note 5, page 14. Page 78.

7

Page 14.
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for fifty years.
1

Massasoit rejoiced at his good fortune, for Canonicus, the head

of the powerful Narragansetts,
3
was his enemy, and he needed strength.

Three days after the interview with the Wampanoag sachem [April 3],

Governor Carver suddenly died. William Bradford,
3
the earliest historian of

the colony, was appointed his successor. He was a wise and prudent man, and

for thirty years he managed the public affairs of the colony with great sagacity.

He was a man just fitted for such a station, and he fostered the colony with

parental care. The settlers endured great trials during the first four years of

then sojourn. They were barely saved from starvation in the autumn of 1621,

by a scanty crop of Indian corn. 4 In November of that year, thirty-five im-

migrants (some of them their weak brethren of the Speedwell)
5

joined them, and

increased their destitution. The winter was severe, and produced great suffer-

ing ;
and the colonists were kept in continual fear by the menaces of Canonicus,

the great chief of the Narragansetts, who regarded the English as intruders.

Bradford acted wisely with the chief, and soon made him sue for peace.' The

power, but not the hatred, of the wily Indian was subdued, yet he was com-

pelled to be a passive friend of the English.

Sixty-three more immigrants arrived at Plymouth in July, 1622. They
had been sent by Weston, a wealthy, dissatisfied member of the Plymouth Com-

pany,
7 to plant a new colony. Many of them were idle and dissolute

;'
and

after living upon the slender means of the Plymouth people for several weeks,

they went to Wissagusset (now Weymouth), to commence a settlement. Their

improvidence produced a famine
;
and they exasperated the Indians by begging

and stealing supplies for their wants. A plot was devised by the savages for

their destruction, but through the agency of Massasoit,
9 it was revealed [March,

1623] to the Plymouth people ;
and Captain Miles Standish, with eight men,

hastened to Wissagusset in time to avert the blow. A chief and several war-

riors were killed in a battle
;

10 and so terrified were the surrounding tribes by

1
Page 124.

a
Page 22.

3 "William Bradford was born at Ansterfield, in the north of England, in 1588. He followed

Robinson to Holland
;
came to America in the Mayflower [see page 7 7] ;

and was annually elected

governor of the colony from 1621 until his death in 1657.
* Wl.L 3 Captain Miles Standish and others were seeking a place to land [see page 78], they

found some maize, or Indian corn, in one of the deserted huts of the savages. Afterward, Samoset
and others taught them how to cultivate the grain (then unknown in Europe), and this supply serv-

ing for seed, providentially saved them from starvation. The grain now first received the name of

Indian corn. Early in September [1621], an exploring party, under Standish, coasted northward to

Shawmut, the site of Boston, where they found a few Indians. The place was delightful, and for a

while, the Pilgrims thought of removing thither.
6
Page 77.

6
Canonicus dwelt upon Connanicut Island, opposite Newport. In token of his contempt and

defiance of the English, he sent [Feb., 1622] a bundle of arrows, wrapped in a rattlesnake's skin,
to Governor Bradford. The governor accepted the hostile challenge, and then returned the skin,
filled with powder and shot. These substances were new to the savages. They regarded them
with superstitious awe. as possessing some evil influence. They were sent from village to village,
and excited general alarm. The pride of Canonicus was humbled, and he sued for peace. The

example of Canonicus was followed by several chiefs, who were equally alarmed. 7
Page 63.

" There was quite a number of indentured servants, and men of no character; a population

wholly unfit to found an independent State.
* In gratitude for attentions and medicine during a severe illness, Massasoit revealed the plot to

Edward Winslow a few days before the time appointed to strike the blow.
10

Standisli carried the chiefs head in triumph to Plymouth. It was borne upon a pole, and was
placed upon the palissades [note 1, page 127] of the little fort which had just been erected. The
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die event, that several chiefs soon appeared at Plymouth to crave the friendship

of the English. The settlement at Wissagusset was broken up, however, and

most of the immigrants returned to England.

Social perils soon menaced the stability of the colony. The partnership of

merchants and colonists
1

was an unprofitable speculation for all. The commu-

nity system* operated unfavorably upon the industry and thrift of the colony,

and the merchants had few or no returns for their investments. Ill feelings

were created by mutual criminations, and the capitalists commenced a series of

annoyances to force the workers into a dissolution of the league.
3 The partner-

ship continued, however, during the prescribed term of seven years, and then

[1627] the colonists purchased the interest of the London merchants for nine

thousand dollars. Becoming sole proprietors of the soil, they divided the whole

property equally, and to each man was assigned twenty acres of land in fee.

New incentives to industry followed, and the blessings of plenty, even upon
that unfruitful soil, rewarded them all. 4 At about the same time, the govern-
ment of the colony became slightly changed. The only officers, at first, were

a governor and an assistant. In 1624, five assistants were chosen
;
and in

1630, a deputy-governor and eighteen assistants were chosen by the freemen.

This broad democracy prevailed, both in Church and State, for almost fifteen

years, when a representative government was instituted [1639], and a pastor
was chosen as spiritual guide.

6

James the First died in the spring of 1625
;
and his son and successor,

Charles the First, inherited his father's hatred of the Nonconformists. 6

Many
of their ministers were silenced during the first years of his reign, and the un-

easiness of the great body of Nonconformists daily increased. Already, White,

a Puritan minister of Dorchester, in the west of England, had persuaded sev-

eral influential men of that city to attempt the establishment of a new asylum
for the oppressed, in America. They chose the rocky promontory of Cape
Anne for the purpose [1624], intending to connect the settlement with the fish-

ing business
;
but the enterprise proved to be more expensive than profitable,

good Robinson [page 77], when he heard of it, wrote, "Oh, how happy a thing it would have been,
that you had converted some before you killed any."

1

Page 77.
a Note 1, page 70.

* The merchants refused Mr. Robinson a passage to America
; attempted to force a minister

upon the colonists who was friendly to the Established Church
;
and even sent vessels to interfere

with the infant commerce of the settlers.
4 The colonists unsuccessfully tried the cultivation of tobacco. They raised enough grain and

vegetables for their own consumption, and relied upon traffic in furs with the Indians, for obtaining
the means of paying for cloths, implements, etc., procured from England. In 1627, they made the

first step toward the establishment of the cod fishery, since become so important, by constructing a
salt work, and curing some fish. In 1624, Edward Vinslow imported, three cows and a bull, and
soon those invaluable animals became numerous in the colony.

6 The colonists considered Robinson (who was yet in Leyden), as their pastor ;
and religious

exercises, in the way of prayer and exhortation, were conducted by Elder Brewster and othera
On Sunday afternoons a question would be propounded, to which all had a right to speak. Even
after they adopted the plan of having a pastor, the people were so democratic in religious matters,
that a minister did not remain long at Plymouth. The doctrine of "

private judgment" was put in

full practice ;
and the religious meetings were often the arena of intemperate debate and: confusion.

In 1629, thirty-five persons, the remainder of Robinson's congregation at Leyden, jolnod the Pil-

grims at Plymouth, among whom was Robinson's family ;
but the good man never saw New En-

gland himsel Note 2, page 76.
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and it was abandoned. A few years afterward, a company purchased a tract

of land [March 29, 1628] defined as being
" three miles north of any and ever/

part of the Merrimac River," and "three miles south of

any and every part of the Charles River," and westward to

the Pacific Ocean.
1 In the summer of 1628, John Endi-

cot, and a hundred emigrants came over, and at Naumkeag

(now Salem) they laid the foundations of the Colony of

Massachusetts Bay. The proprietors received a charter from

the king the following year [March 14, 1629J, and they

were incorporated by the name of " The Governor and Com-

pany of the Massachusetts Bay in New England
2

The colony at Salem increased rapidly, and soon began to spread. In July,

1629.
" three godly ministers" (Skelton, Higginson, and Bright) came with

HBST COLONY SEAIt

two hundred settlers, and a part of them laid the foundations of Charlestown, at

Mishawam. A new stimulus was now given to emigration by salutary arrange-

1
Tliis was purchased from the Council of Plymouth. The chief men of the company were

John Humphrey (brother-in-law to the earl of Lincoln), John Endlcot, Sir Henry Roswell, Sir John

Young, Thomas Southcote, Simon "Whitcomb, John Winthrop, Thomas Dudley, Sir Richard Salton-

stall, and others. Eminent men in New England afterward became interested in the enterprise.
a The administration of affairs was intrusted to a governor, deputy, and eighteen assistants, who

were to be elected annually by the stockholders of the corporation. A general assembly of the

freemen of the colony was to be held at least four times a year, to legislate for the colony. The

.king claimed no jurisdiction, for he regarded the whole matter as a trading operation, not as tha

founding of an empire. The instrument conferred on the colonists all the rights of English subjects,
and afterward became the text for many powerful discourses against the usurpation of royalty.
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ments. On the 1st of September, the, members of the company, at a meeting in

Cambridge, England, signed an agreement to transfer the charter and govern-

ment to the colonists. It was a wise and benevolent conclusion, for men of for-

tune and intelligence immediately prepared to emigrate when such a democracy
should be established. John Winthrop

1 and others, with about three hundred

families, arrived at Salem in July [1630J following. Winthrop had been

chosen governor before his departure, with Thomas Dudley for deputy, and a

council of eighteen. The new immigrants located at, and named Dorchester,O O '

Roxbury, Watertown, and Cambridge ;
and during the summer, the governor

and some of the leading men, hearing of a spring of excellent water on the pen-

insula of Shawmut, went there, erected a few cottages, and founded Boston,

the future metropolis of New England.
8 The peninsula was composed of three

hills, and for a long time it was called Tm-MouxTAix."

As usual, the ravens of sickness and death followed these first settlers.

Many of them, accustomed to ease and luxury in England, suffered much, and

before December, two hundred were in their graves.
4 Yet the survivors were

not disheartened, and during the winter of intense suffering which followed,

they applied themselves diligently to the business of founding a State. L:

May, 1631, it was agreed at a general assembly of the people, that all the

officers of government should thereafter be chosen by the freemen
5
of the colony ;

and in 1634, the pure democracy was changed to a representative government,
the second in America." The colony flourished. Chiefs from the Indian tribes

dined at Governor Winthrop's table, and made covenants of peace and friend-

ship Ath the English. Winthrop journeyed on foot to exchange courtesies with

Bradibrd at Plymouth,
7 a friendly salutation came from the Dutch in New

Netherland," and a ship from Virginia, laden with corn [May, 1632J, sailed

into Boston harbor. A bright future was dawning.
The character of the Puritans 9 who founded the colony of Massachusetts

Bay, presents a strange problem to the scrutiny of the moral philosopher. Vic-

tims of intolerance, they were themselves equally intolerant when clothed with

power.
10

Their ideas of civil and religious freedom were narrow, and the ;r prac-

1 He was born in England in 1558, and was one of the most active men in Xew England from
1630 until his death in 1649. His journal, giving an interesting account of the colony, has been

published.
s The whole company under "Winthroo intended to join the settlers at Charlestown, but a pre-

vailing sickness there, attributed to unwholesome water, caused them to locate elsewhere. The
fine spring of water which gushed from one of the three hills of Shawmut, was i-egarded with great
favor. 3 From this is derived the word TremomL

*
Among these was Higginson, Isaac Johnston (a principal leader in the enterprise, and the

wealthiest of the founders of Boston), and his wife the "Lady Arabella," a daughter of the earl of

Lincoln. She died at Salem, and her husband did not long survive her.
6 Xone were considered freemen unless they were members of some church within the

colony. From the beginning, the closest intimacy existed between the Church and State in Massa-

chusetts, and that intimacy gave rise to a great many disorders. This provision was repealed in

1665.
6
Page 71.

7
Page 115.

8
Page 72.

"
Page 75.

10
Sir Richard Saltonstall, who did not remain long in America, severely rebuked the people of

Massachusetts, in a letter to the two Boston ministers, Wilson and Cotton.
"
It doth a little grieve

my spirit," he said, "to hear what sad things are reported daily of your tyranny and persecutions
in New England, as that you fine, whip, and imprison men for their consciences." Thirty years
later [1665], the king's commissioner at Picataqua, in a manuscript letter before me, addressed to
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tical interpretation of the Golden Rule, was contrary to the intentions of HIM
who uttered it. Yet they were honest and true men

;
and out of their love of

freedom, and jealousy of their inherent rights, grew their intolerance. They

regarded Churchmen and Roman Catholics as their deadly enemies, to be kept
at a distance.

1 A wise caution dictated this course. A consideration of the

prevailing spirit of the age, when bigotry assumed the seat of justice, and super-

stition was the counselor and guide of leading men, should cause us to

" Be to their faults a little blind,

And to their virtues, very kind."

Roger Williams, himself a Puritan minister, and victim of persecution in

England, was among those who first felt the power of Puritan intolerance. He
was chosen minister at Salem, in 1634, and his more enlightened views, freely

expressed, soon aroused the civil authorities against him. He denied the right

of civil magistrates to control the consciences of the people, or to withhold their

protection from any religious sect whatever. He denied the right of the king
to require an oath of allegiance from the colonists

;
and even contended that

obedience to magistrates ought not to be enforced. He denounced the charter

from the king as invalid, because he had given to the white people the lands of

other owners, the Indians.
2

These doctrines, and others more theological,
3 he

maintained with vehemence, and soon the colony became a scene of great com-

motion on that account. He was remonstrated with by the elders, warned by
the magistrates, and finally, refusing to cease what was deemed seditious

preaching, he was banished [November, 1635] from the colony. In the dead

of winter he departed [January, 1636J for the wilderness, and became the

founder of Rhode Island.
4

Political events in England caused men who loved quiet to turn their

thoughts more and more toward the New World; and the year 1635 was

remarkable for an immense immigration to New England. During that year
full three thousand new settlers came, among whom were men of wealth and

influence. The most distinguished were Hugh Peters
5

(an eloquent preacher),

the magistrates of Massachusetts, say,
"
It is possible that the charter which you so much idolize

may be forfeited until you have cleared yourselves of those many injustices, oppressions, violences,
and blood for which you are complained against."

1

Lyford, who was sent out to the Pilgrims, by the London partners, as their minister, was re-

fused and expelled, because he was friendly to the Church of England. John and Samuel Brc'vne,
residents at Salem, and members of Endicot's council, were arrested by that ruler, and sent to En-

gland as
"
factious and evil-conditioned persons," because they insisted upon the use of the Liturgy,

or printed forms of the English Church, in their worship.
"
See page 22. This was not strictly true, for, until King Philip's war [page 124], in 1675, not

a foot of ground was occupied by the New England colonists, on any other score but that of fair

purchase.
8 He maintained that an oath should not be tendered to an unconverted person, and that no

Christian could lawfully pray with such an one, though it were a wife or child ! In the intem-

perance of his zeal, Williams often exhibited intolerance himself, and at this day would be called a
bigot. Yet his tolerant teachings in general had a most salutary effect upon Puritan exclusiveness.

4
Page 89.

6
Peters afterward returned to England, was very active in public affairs during the civil war,

and on the accession of Charles the Second, was found guilty of favoring the death of the king's
father, and was executed in October, 1660.
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and Henry Vane, an enthusiastic young man of twenty-five. In 1636, Vane

was elected governor, an event which indirectly proved disastrous to the peace

of the colony. The banishment of Roger Williams had awakened bitter relig

ous dissensions, and the minds of the people were prepared to listen to any
new teacher. As at Plymouth, so in the Massachusetts Bay colony, religious

questions were debated at the stated meetings.
1 Women were not allowed to

;sngage in these debates, and some deemed this an abridgment of their rights,

Among these was Anne Hutchinson, an able and eloquent woman, who estab-

lished meetings at her own house, for her sex, and there she promulgated

peculiar views, which some of the magistrates and ministers pronounced sedi-

tious and heretical. 2 These views were embraced by Governor Vane, several

magistrates, and a majority of the leading men of Boston. 8

Winthrop and

others opposed them, and in the midst of great excitement, a synod was

called, the doctrines of Mrs. Hutchinson were condemned, and she and her

family were first imprisoned in Boston, and then banished [August, 1637]

ifrom the colony.* Vane lost his popularity, and failing to be elected the fol-

lowing year, he returned to England.
5 Some of Mrs. Hutchinson's followers

left the colony, and established settlements in Rhode Island.
4

The great abatement of danger to be apprehended from the Indians, caused

by the result of the Pequod war,
7
was favorable to the security of the colony,

and it flourished amazingly. Persecution also gave it sustenance. The non-

conformists in the mother country suffered more and more, and hundreds fled to

New England. The church and the government became alarmed at the rapid

growth of a colony, so opposed, in its feelings and laws, to the character of

both. Efforts were put forth to stay the tide of emigration. As early as 1633,

a proclamation for that purpose had been published, but not enforced
;
and a

fleet of eight vessels, bearing some of the purest patriots of the realm, was

detained in the Thames [Feb. 1634], by order of the privy council.
8

Believing

that the colonists "aimed not at new discipline, but at sovereignty," a demand

was made for a surrender of the patent to the king.
9 The people were silent,

1 Note 5, page 116.
9 She taught that, as the Holy Spirit dwells in every believer, its revelations are superior to the

teachings of men. It was the doctrine of "
private judgment" in its fullest extent. She taught that

every person had the right to judge of the soundness of a minister's teaching, and this was consid-

ered "
rebellion against the clergy." She taught the doctrine of Election, and averred that the elect

rsaints were sure of their salvation, however vicious their lives might be.
3 Her brother, Rev. John Wheelwright, was an eloquent expounder of her views. The theo-

Jogical question assumed a political phase, and for a long time influenced the public affairs of the

colony.
4 Mrs. Hutchinson and her family took refuge within the Dutch domain, near the present village

of New Rochelle, in New York. There she and all her family, except a daughter, were murdered

by the "Indians. Note 2, page 141.
6 Vane was a son of the Secretary of State of Charles the First He was a republican during

the civil war [note 3, page 108], and for this, Charles the Second had him beheaded in June. 1662.
*
Page 91. 7

Page 87.
*
[Note 1, page 400.] It was asserted, and is believed, that Oliver Cromwell and John Hamp-

"den were among the passengers. There is no positive evidence that such was the fact.
' The general patent for New England was surrendered by the Council of Plymouth, in June,

1635, without consulting the colonists. The inflexible courage of the latter prevented the evil that

might have ensued by this faithless act of a company which had made extensive grants ;
and they

firmly held the charter given to them by the king.
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but firm. When a rumor reached them [September 18, 1634] that an arbitrary

commission,
1 and a general governor was appointed for all the English colonies

in America, the Massachusetts people, poor as they were, raised three thousand

dollars to build fortifications for resistance. Even a quo warranto [April,

1638J
2
did not affect either their resolution or their condition. Strong in their

integrity, they continued to strengthen their new State by fostering education,
8

the
"
cheap defense of nations," and by other wise appliances of vigorous efforts.

The civil war4 which speedily involved the church and the throne in disaster,

withdrew the attention of the persecutors from the persecuted. The hope of

better times at home checked immigration, and thereafter the colony received

but small accessions to its population, from the mother country.

The ties of interest and warmest sympathy united the struggling colonists

of New England. Natives of the same country, the offspring of persecution

alike exposed to the weapons of hostile Indians and the depredations of the

Dutch and French,
5 and alike menaced with punishment by the parent govern-

ment they were as one people. They were now [1643J more than twenty
thousand in number, and fifty villages had been planted by them. The civil

war in England
8
threatened a total subversion of the government, and the Puri-

tans began to reflect on the establishment of an independent nation eastward of

the Dutch dominions.
7 With this view, a union of the New England colonies was

proposed in 1637, at the close of the Pequod war. It was favorably received

by all, but the union was not consummated until 1643, when the colonies of Ply-

mouth,
8

Massachusetts,
9
Connecticut and New Haven10

confederated for mutual

welfare. Rhode Island asked for admittance into the Union [1643], but was

refused,
11
unless it would acknowledge the authority of Plymouth. Local juris-

diction was jealously reserved by each colony, and the fatal doctrine of State

Supremacy was thus early developed. It was a confederacy of States like our

early Union. 12 The general affairs of the confederacy were managed by a

board of commissioners, consisting of two church-members from each colony,
who were to meet annually, or oftener if required. Their duty was to con-

sider circumstances, and recommend measures for the general good. They
had no executive power. Their propositions were considered and acted upon by
the several colonies, each assuming an independent sovereignty. This confed-

1 The Archbishop of Canterbury and associates received full power to establish governments and
laws over the American settlements; to regulate religious matters; inflict punishments, and even
to revoke charters. a Note 3, page 107.

3 In 1636, the General Court at Boston appropriated two thousand dollars for the establishment
of a college. In 1638, Rev. John Harvard bequeathed more than three thousand dollars to the
institution which was then located at Cambridge, and it received the name of " Harvard College,"
now one of the first seminaries of learning in the United States. In 1647, a law was passed,

requiring every township, which contained fifty householders, to have a school-house, and employ
a teacher

;
and each town containing one thousand freeholders to have a grammar-school

4 Note 3, page 108.
6 The Dutch of New Netherland [page 72], still claimed jurisdiction upon the Connecticut

River, and the French settlers in Acadie, eastward of New England, were becoming troublesome to
the Puritans.

'
Note 3, p. 108.

'
Page 72.

8
Page 78.

*
Page 111,

M
Page 89. Page 91.

"
Page 267.
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FIRST MONEY COINED IN THE UNITED

STATES.

eracy remained unmolested more than 'forty years
1

[1643 1686 J, during which

time the government of England was changed three times.

The colony of Massachusetts Bay was always the leading one of New En-

gland, and assumed to be a "
perfect republic." After the Union, a legislative

change took place. The representatives had hitherto held their sessions in the

same room with the governor and council
;
now they convened in a ~ep;r-*ate

apartment ;
and the distinct House of Representatives, or democratic branch

of the legislature, still existing in our Federal and State Governments, was

established in 1644. Unlike Virginia,
1
the colonists of New England sympa-

thized with the English republicans, in their efforts to abolish royalty.

Ardently attached to the Parliament, they found in Cromwell,
3 when he

assumed supreme authority, a sincere friend and protector of their liberties.

No longer annoyed by the frowns and menaces of royalty, the energies of the

people were rapidly developed, and profitable commerce was created between'

Massachusetts and the West Indies. This

trade brought bullion, or uncoined gold and

silver, into the colony ;
and in 1652, the

authorities exercised a prerogati/e of in-

dependent sovereignty, by establishing a

mint, and coining silver money,* the first

within the territory of the United States.

During the same year, settlements in the

present State of Maine, imitating the act of

those of New Hampshire,* eleven years earlier [1641], came under the juris-

diction of Massachusetts.

And now an important element of trouble and perplexity was introduced.

There arrived in Boston, in July, 1656, two zealous religious women, named

Mary Fisher and Ann Austin, who were called Quakers. This was a sect

recently evolved from the heaving masses of English society,
8

claiming to be

more rigid Puritans than all who had preceded them. Letters unfavorable to

the sect had been received in the colony, and the two women wer _ cast into

prison, and confined for several weeks.
7 With eight others who arrived during

1 When James the Second came to the throne, the charters of all the colonies were taken away
or suspended. When local governments were re-established after the Revolution of 1688, there no

longer existed a necessity for the Union, and the confederacy was dissolved.
3
Page 108.

3 Note 3, page 108.
4 In October, 1651, the general court or legislature of Massachusetts ordered silver coins of the

values of threepence, sixpence, and a shilling sterling, to be made. The mint-master was allowed

fifteen pence out of every twenty shillings, for his trouble. He made a large fortune by the busi-

ness. From the circumstance that the effigy of a pine-tree was stamped on one side, these coins,

now very rare, are called pine-tree money. The date [1652] was not altered for thirty years Mas-

sachusetts was also the first to issue paper money in the shape of treasury notes. See page 132.
*
Page 80.

6 The founder of the sect was George Fox, who promulgated his peculiar tenets about 1650.

He was a man of education and exalted purity of character, and soon, learned and influential men
became his co-workers. They still maintain the highest character for morality and practical Chris-

tianity. See note 7, page 94.
7 Their trunks were searched, and the religious books found in them were burned by the hang-

man, on Boston Common. Suspected of being witches [note 7, page 132], their persons were
examined in order to discover certain marks which would indicate their connection with the Evil One.
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the year, they vere sent back to England.
1

Others came, and a special act

against the Quakers was put in force [1657], but to no purpose. Opposition

increased their zeal, and, as usual with enthusiasts, precisely because they were

not wanted, they came. They suffered stripes, imprisonments, and general

contempt ;
and finally, in 1658, on the recommendation of the Federal Com-

missioners,
2

Massachusetts, by a majority of one vote, banished them, on pain

of death. The excuse pleaded in extenuation of this barbarous law was, that

the Quakers preached doctrines dangerous to good government.
3 But the death

penalty did not deter the exiles from returning ;
and many others came because

they courted the martyr's reward. Some were hanged, others were publicly

whipped, and the prisons were soon filled with the persecuted sect. The sever-

ity of the law finally caused a strong expression of public sentiment against it.

The Quakers were regarded as true martyrs, and the people demanded of the

magistrates a cessation of the bloody and barbarous punishments. The death

penalty was abolished, in 1661
;

the fanaticism of the magistrates and the

Quakers subsided, and a more Christian spirit of toleration prevailed. No

longer sufferers for opinion's sake, the Quakers turned their attention to the

Indian tribes, and nobly seconded the efforts of Mahew and Eliot in the propa-

gation of the gospel among the pagans of the forest. 4

On the restoration of monarchy in 1660, the judges who condemned Charles

the First to the block, were outlawed. Two of them (William Goffe and Edward

Whalley) fled to America, and were the first to announce at Boston the acces-

sion of Charles the Second. Orders were sent to the colonial authorities foi

their arrest, and oflicers were dispatched from England for the same purpose.

The colonists effectually concealed them, and for this act, and the general sym-

pathy manifested by IS ew England for the republican party, the king resolved

to show them no favor. They had been exempt from commercial restrictions

during Cromwell's administration
;
now these were revived, and the stringent

provisions of a new Navigation Act5
were rigorously enforced. The peopb

vainly petitioned for relief; and finally, commissioners were sent [August,

1664] "to hear and determine all complaints that might exist in New England,
and take such measures as they might deem expedient for settling the peace
and security of the country on a solid foundation."

*
This was an unwise

1

Mary Fisher went all the way from London to Adrianople, to carry a divine message to the

Sultan. She was regarded as insane
;
and as the Moslems respect such people as special favorites

of God, Mary Fisher was unharmed in the Sultan's dominions. a
Page 121.

* The Quakers denied all human authority, and regarded the power of magistrates as delegated

tyranny. They preached purity of life, charity in its broadest sense, and denied the right of any
toan to control the opinions of another. Conscience, or "the light within," was considered a suf-

Scient guide, and they deemed it their special mission to denounce "hireling ministers" and "per-

secuting magistrates," in person. It was this offensive boldness which engendered the violent

iatred toward the sect hi England and America.
4 John Eliot has been truly called the Apostle to the Indians. He began his labors soon after

iis arrival in America, and founded the first church among the savages, at Natic, in 1660, at which
time there were ten towns of converted Indians in Massachusetts. Thirty-five years later, it was
estimated that there were not less than three thousand adult Christian Indians in the Islands of

Martha's Vineyard and Nantucket, alone.
6 Note 4, page 109.

* These were Colonel Richard Nicolls, Sir Robert Carr, George Cartwright and Richard Maver-
ick. They came with a royal fleet, commanded by Colonel Nicolls, which had been sent to assert

English authority over the possessions of the Dutch, in New Netherland. See page 144,
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movement on the part of the mother country. The colonists regarded the

measure with indignation, not only as a violation of their charters, but as an

incipient step toward establishing a system of domination, destructive to their

liberties. Massachusetts boldly protested against the exercise of the authority

of the commusioners within her limits, but at the same time asserted her loyalty

to the sovereign. The commissioners experienced the opposition of the other

New England colonies, except Rhode Island. Their acts were generally disre-

garded, and after producing a great deal of irritation, they were recalled in

1666. The people of Massachusetts, triumphant in their opposition to royal

oppression, ever afterward took a front rank in the march toward complete

freedom. The licentious king and his ministers were too much in love with

voluptuous ease, to trouble themselves with far-off colonies
;
and while Old

England was suffering from bad government, and the puissance of the throne

was lessening in the estimation of the nations, the colonies flourished in purity,

peace, and strength, until Metacomet, the son of the good Massasoit,
1

kindled a most disastrous Indian war, known in history as

KING PHILIP'S WAR.

Massasoit kept his treaty with the Plymouth

colony* faithfully while he lived. Metacomet, or

Philip,* resumed the covenants of friendship, and

kept them inviolate for a dozen years. But as

spreading settlements were reducing his domains acre

by acre, breaking up his hunting grounds, diminish-

ing his fisheries, and menacing his nation with servi-

tude or annihilation, his patriotism was aroused, and

he willingly listened to the hot young warriors of his

tribe, who counseled a war of extermination against

the English. At Mount Hope
4 the seat of the chief

sachems of the Wampanoags, in the solitudes of the

primeval forests, he planned, with consummate skill, an alliance of all the New

England tribes,
5
against the European intruders.

At this time, there were four hundred "
praying Indians," as the converts

to Christianity were called, firmly attached to the white people. One of them,

named John Sassamon, who had been educated at Cambridge, and was a sort of

secretary to Philip, after becoming acquainted with the plans of the sachem,

1

Page 114. 3
Page 114.

3
Massasoit had two sons, whom Governor Price named Alexander and Philip, in compliment

to their bravery as warriors. Alexander died soon after the decease of his father
;
and Philip

became chief sachem of the Wampanoags.
4 Mount Hope is a conical hill, 300 feet in height, and situated on the west side of Mount Hope

Bay, about two miles from Bristol, Rhode Island. It was called Pokanoket by the Indiana
* The tribes which became involved in this war numbered, probably, about twenty-five thousam

souls. Those along the coast of Massachusetts Bay, who had suffered terribly by a pestilence just
before the PILGRIMS came [page 77], had materially increased in numbers

;
and other tribes, besides

the New England Indians proper [page 22], became parties to the conflict
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revealed them to the authorities at Plymouth. For this he was slain by hig

countrymen, and three Wampanoags were convicted of his murder, on slender

testimony, and hanged. The ire of the tribe was fiercely kindled, and they
thirsted for vengeance. The cautious Philip was overruled by his fiery young
men, and remembering the wrongs and humiliations he had personally received

from the English,
1

he trampled upon solemn treaties, sent his women and chil-

dren to the Narragansetts for protection, and kindled the flame of war. Mes-

sengers were sent to other tribes, to arouse them to co-operation, and with all

the power of Indian eloquence, Metacomet exhorted his followers to curse the

white men, and swear eternal hostility to the pale faces. He said, in effect :

"Away ! away ! I will not hear

Of aught but death or vengeance now ;

By the eternal skies I swear

My knee shall never learn to bow I

I will not hear a word of peace,

Nor clasp in friendly grasp a hand

Linked to that pale-browed stranger race,

That works the ruin of our land.******
And till your last white foe shall kneel,

And in his coward pangs expire,

Sleep but to dream of brand and steel;

Wake but to deal in blood and fire 1"

Although fierce and determined when once aroused, no doubt Philip com-

menced hostilities contrary to the teachings of his better judgment, for he was

sagacious enough to foresee failure.
"
Frenzy prompted their rising. It was

but the storm in which the ancient inhabitants of the land were to vanish away.

They rose without hope, and therefore they fought without mercy. To them,

as a nation, there was no to-morrow."

The bold Philip struck the first blow at Swanzey, thirty-five miles south-

west from Plymouth. The people were just returning from their houses of

worship, for it was a day of fasting and humiliation [July 4, 1675], in antici-

pation of hostilities. Many were slain and captured, and others fled to the

surrounding settlements, and aroused the people. The men of Plymouth,

joined by those of Boston and vicinity, pressed toward Mount Hope. Philip

was besieged in a swamp for many days, but escaped with most of his warriors,

and became a fugitive with the Nipmucs,
2 an interior tribe of Massachusetts.

These espoused his cause, and with full fifteen hundred warriors, he hastened

toward the white settlements in the far-off valley of the Connecticut. In tht

mean while the little army of white people penetrated the country of the Narra'

gansetts,
3 and extorted a treaty of friendship from Canonchet,

4 chief sachem of

1 In 1671, Philip and his tribe being suspected of secretly plotting the destruction of the En
glish, were deprived of then- fire-arms. He never forgot the injury, and long meditated revenge.

"

Page 22.
3
Page 22.

4 Son of Miantonomoh, whose residence was upon a hill a little north of the city of Newport,
E. I. That hill still bears the name of Miantonomoh, abbreviated to

"
Tonomy Hill." Page 91.
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that powerful tribe. Hearing of this, Philip was dismayed for a moment. But

there was no hope for him, except in energetic action, and he and his followers

aroused other tribes, to a war of extermination, by the secret and efficient

methods of treachery, ambush, and surprise. Men in the fields, families in

their beds at midnight, and congregations in houses of worship, were attacked

and massacred. The Indians hung like the scythe of death upon the borders

of the English settlements, and for several months a gloomy apprehension of the

extermination of the whole European population in New England, prevailed.
1

Dreadful were the scenes in the path of the Wampanoag chief. From

Springfield northward to the present Vermont line, the valley of the Connecti-

cut was a theater of confusion, desolation, and death, wherever white settle-

ments existed. Almost the whole of a party of twenty Englishmen* sent to

treat with the JSTipmucs, were treacherously slain by the savages in ambush

[Aug. 12, 1675J, near Quaboag, now Brookfield. That place was set on fire,

when a shower of rain put out the flames, and the Indians were driven away by
a relief party of white people.

3 The village was partially saved, but imme-

diately abandoned. Soon afterward a hot battle was fought near Deerfield4

[Sept 5], and a week later [Sept. 12] that settlement also was laid in ashes.

On the same day (it was the Sabbath), Hadley, further down the river, was

attacked while the people were worshiping In the midst of the alarm and con-

fusion, a tall and venerable-looking man, with white, flowing hair and beard,

suddenly appeared, and brandishing a glittering sword, he placed himself at the

head of the affrighted people, and led them to a charge which dispersed and

defeated the foe. He as suddenly disappeared, and the inhabitants believed

that an angel from heaven had been sent to their rescue. It was Goffe, the

fugitive English judge,
5 who was then concealed in that settlement.

The scourge, stayed for a moment at Hadley, swept mercilessly over other

settlements. On the 23d of September, the paths of Northfield were wet with

the blood of many valiant young men under Captain Beers ; and on the 28th,
" a company of young men, the very flower of Essex," under Captain Lathrop,
were butchered by almost a thousand Indians on the banks of a little stream

near Deerfield, which still bears the name of Bloody Brook. Others, who

came to their rescue, were engaged many hours in combat with the Indiana

until crowned with victory. Yet the Indians still prevailed. Philip, en-

couraged by success, now resolved to attack Hatfield, the chief settlement of the

1 The white population in New England, at this time, has been estimated at fifty-five thousand.

Haverhill, on the Merrimac, was the frontier town in the direction of Maine
;
and Northfield, on the

Borders of Vermont, was the highest settlement in the Connecticut valley. Westfield, one hundred
miles west of Boston, was the most remote settlement in that direction.

8
Captains Wheeler and Hutchinson were sent from Boston to endeavor to reclaim the Nipmucs.

.Apprised of their coming, the Indians lay in ambush, and fired upon them from the deep thickets
of a swamp.

3 Under Major "Willard. The Indians set fire to every house except a strong one into which
the people had secured themselves, and were besieged there two days. The Indians set fire to this

last refuge, when rain extinguished the flames.
* Between 180 white people and 700 'Indians. [See, also, page 135.]

'
Page 123.
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white people above Springfield. The Springfield Indians joined him,
1

and with

almost a thousand warriors, he fell upon the settlement, on the 29th of Octo-

ber, 1675. The English were prepared for his reception, and he was repulsed

with such loss, that, gathering his broken forces on the eastern bank of the

Connecticut,
2
he marched toward Rhode Island. The Narragansetts, in viola-

tion of the recent treaty,
3 received him, became his allies, and went out upon

the war path late in autumn. A terrible, retributive blow soon fell upon the

savages, wh-:i fifteen hundred men of Massachusetts, Plymouth, and Connecti-

cut, ma~3hed to punish Canonchet and his tribe, for their perfidy. The snows

of early winter had fallen, and at least three thousand Indians had collected in

their chief fort in an immense swamp,
4 where they were supplied with provi-

sions for the winter. It was a stormy day in December [Dec. 19], when the

English stood before the feeble palissades of the savages. These offered but

little opposition to the besiegers ;
and within a few hours, five hundred wig-

wams, with the winter provisions, were in flames. Hundreds of men, women,
and children, perished in the fire. A thousand warriors were slain or wounded,
and several hundreds were made prisoners. The English lost eighty killed,

and one hundred and fifty wounded. Canonchet was made prisoner, and slain
;

but Philip escaped, and with the remnant of the Narragansetts, he took refuge

again with the Nipmucs.
The fugitive Wampanoag was busy during the winter. He vainly solicited

the Mohawks5 to join him, but he was seconded by the tribes eastward of Mas-

sachusetts,
6 who also had wrongs to redress. The work of desolation began

early in the spring of 1676, and within a few weeks the war extended over a

space of almost three hundred miles. Weymouth, Groton, Medfield, Lancas-

ter, and Marlborough, in Massachusetts, were laid in ashes; Warwick and

Providence, in Rhode Island, were burned
;
and everywhere, the isolated dwell-

ings of settlers were laid waste. But internal feuds weakened the power of the

savages ;
and both the Nipmucs

7 and the Narragansetts
8

charged their misfor-

tunes to the ambition of Philip. The cords of alliance were severed. Some

surrendered to avoid starvation
;
other tribes wandered off and joined those in

Canada
;

9 while Captain Benjamin Church,
10
the most famous of the partisan

1

They had been friendly until now. They plotted the entire
destruction of the Springfield settlement; but the people defended
themselves bravely within their palisaded houses. Many of the

strong houses of frontier settlements were thus fortified. Trunks
of trees, eight or ten inches in diameter, were cut in uniform lengths,
and stuck in the ground close together. The upper ends were
sharpened, and the whole were fastened together with green withes
or other contrivances.

a
Page 82. 8

Page 125 PALISADED BUILDINGS.

This swamp is a small distance south-west of the village of Kingston, in Washington County,
Rhode Island. The fort was on an island which contains about five acres of tillable land, in the
north-west part of the swamp. The Stonington and Providence railway passes along the northern

verge of the swamp.
"
Page 23.

Page 22. The tribes of Maine were then about four thousand strong-1

Page 22. 8
Page 22.

9
Page 22.

10

Benjamin Church was born at Plymouth, Massachusetts, in 1639. He continued hostilities

against the eastern Indians until 1704. He fell from his horse, and died soon afterward, at Little

Compton, Jan. 11, 1718, aged 77 years.
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officers of the English colonies, went out to hunt and to destroy the fugitives.

During the year, between two and three thousand Indians were slain or had

submitted. Philip was chased from one hiding-place to another, but for a long

time he would not yield. He once cleft the head of a warrior who proposed

submission. But at length, the "
last of the Wampanoags" bowed to the press-

ure of circumstances. He returned to the land of his fathers' [August, 1676],

and soon his wife and son were made prisoners. This calamity crushed him,

and he <said,
" Now my heart breaks

;
I am ready to die." A few days after-

ward, a faithless Indian shot him, and Captain Church cut off the dead sachem's

head.
8 His body was quartered ;

and his little son was sold to be a bond-slave

in Bermuda. 3 So perished the last of the princes of the Wampanoags, and

thus ended, in the total destruction of the power of the New England Indians,

the famous KING PHILIP'S WAR."

The terrible menaces of the Indian war, and the hourly alarm which it

occasioned, did not make the English settlers unmindful of their political posi-

1 Note 4, page 124.
8 The rude sword, made by a blacksmith of the colony, with which Captain Church cut off

Philip's head, is in the possefjsion of the Massachusetts Historical Society.
* The disposal of the boy was a subject of serious deliberation. Some of the elders proposed

putting him to death
; others, professing more mercy, suggested selling him as a slave. The most

profitable measure appeared the most merciful, and the child was sold into bondage. The head of

Philip was carried in triumph to Plymouth, and placed upon a pole
4 The result of this war was vastly beneficial to the colonists, for the fear of savages, which

prevented a rapid spread of settlements, was removed. From this period may be dated the real,

unimpeded growth of New England.
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tion, nor hopeless respecting the future. While the Massachusetts colony was

yet weak in resources, from the effects of the war/ and the people were yet

engaged in hostilities with the eastern tribes,
2 it made territorial accessions by

purchase,
and at the same time boldly asserted its chartered rights. For many

years there had been a controversy between the heirs of Sir F. Gorges
3 and

John Mason, and the Massachusetts colony, concerning a portion of the present

territory of Maine and New Hampshire, which, by acts of the inhabitants, had

been placed [1641 and 1652] under the jurisdiction of the authorities at Bos-

ton. 4 The judicial decision [1677] was in favor of the heirs, and Massachu-

setts immediately purchased [May 1, 1677] their interest for six thousand dol-

lars.
5 New Hampshire was detached three years afterward [1680], and made

a royal province the first in New England ;
but Maine, which was incorpo-

rated with Massachusetts in 1692, continued a part of that commonwealth until

1820.

Now rapidly budded that governmental tyranny which finally drove all the

American colonies into open rebellion. The profligate king continued to draw

the lines of absolute rule closer and closer in England, and he both feared and

hated the growing republics in America, especially those in the East. They
were ostensibly loyal portions of his realm, but were really independent sover-

eignties, continually reacting upon the mother country, to the damage of the
11 divine right" of kings. Charles had long cherished a desire to take their

governments into his own hands, and he employed the occasion of the rejection

of Edward Randolph (a custom-house oflicer, who had been sent to Boston

[1679] to collect the revenues, and otherwise to exercise authority
8

),
to declare

the Massachusetts charter void. He issued a quo warranto in 1683,
7 and pro-

cured a decision in his favor in the High Court of Chancery, on the 28th of

June, 1684, but he died on the 26th of February following, before his object

was effected.

Charles's successor, James the Second,
8 continued the oppressive measures

of his brother toward the New England colonies. The people petitioned and

remonstrated, and were treated with contempt. Their hardships in conquering
a wilderness, and their devotion to the English constitution, had no weight
with the royal bigot.

9 He also declared the charter of Massachusetts forfeited,

and appointed Joseph Dudley president of the country from Rhode Island to

Nova Scotia. Sir Edmund Andros arrived at Boston soon afterward [Dec.

1

During the war, New England lost six hundred men
;
a dozen towns were destroyed ;

six
hundred dwellings were burned

; every twentieth family was houseless; and every twentieth man,
who had served as a soldier, had perished. The cost of the war equaled five hundred thousand
dollars a very large sum at that time.

8

Page 22. 3
Page 79.

*
Page 80, and note 2, page 80.

6 The portion of Maine then purchased, was the tract between the Piscataqua and the Kenna
bee. That between the Kennebec and the Penobscot belonged to the Duke of York, and the terri-

tory between the Penobscot and the St. Croix, was held by the French, pursuant to a treaty.
6

Randolph appears to have been a greedy adventurer, and was, consequently, a faithful servant
of his royal master in oppressing the colonists. He exaggerated the number and resources of the

people of New England, and thus excited the king's fears and cupidity. Previous to Randolph's
appointment, the colonies had dispatched agents to England, to settle impending difficulties am>
eably. They failed, and Randolph came in the same vessel in which incy returned.

7
Note 3, page 107. "

Page 113.
' Note 7, page 113.
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30, 1686], clothed with authority to govern all New England. He came with

a smiling face, and deceitful lips.
He appears to have been a tyrant by nature,

and came to execute a despot's will. He soon made bare the rod of oppression,

and began to rule with a tyrant's rigor.
1 The people were about to practice

the doctrine that "resistance to tyrants is obedience to God"* when intelli-

gence reacned Boston [April 14, 1689], that James was driven from the

throne [1688] and was succeeded by William and Mary, of Orange.
3 The

inhabitants of Boston seized and imprisoned Andros and fifty of his political

associates [April 28, 1689], sent them to England under a just charge of mal-

administration of public affairs, and re-established their constitutional govern-

ment. Again republicanism was triumphant in Massachusetts.

The effects of the revolution in England were also sorrowful to the Amer-

ican colonies. That revolution became a cause of war between England and

France. James (who was a Roman Catholic) fled to the court of Louis the

Fourteenth, king of France, and that monarch espoused the cause of the fugi-

tive. Hostilities between the two nations commenced the same year, and the

quarrel extended to their respective colonies in America. The conflict then

commenced, and which was continued more than seven years, is known in his-

tory as

KING WILLIAM'S WAR.

The colonists suffered terribly in that contest. The French Jesuits,
4 who

had acquired great influence over the eastern tribes,
5

easily excited them to

renew their fierce warfare with the English. They also made the savages their

allies
;
and all along the frontier settlements, the pathway of murder and des-

olation was seen. Dover, a frontier town, was first attacked by a party of

French and Indians, on the 7th of July, 1689, when the venerable Major
Waldron6 and twenty others of the little garrison were killed. Twenty-nine
of the inhabitants were made captive, and sold as servants to the French in

Canada. In August following, an Indian war party, instigated by Thury, a

Jesuit, fell [August 12] upon an English stockade 7
at Pemaquid (built by

Andros), and captured the garrison. A few months later, Frontenac sent a

1
Among other arbitrary acts, Andros laid restraints upon the freedom of the press, and mar-

riage contracts; and, to use a modern term, he "levied black mail;" that is, extorted money, by
menaces, whenever opportunity offered. He advanced the fees of all officers of the government to

an exorbitant degree ;
and finally threatened to make the Church of England the established relig-

ion in all America
a
This was Cromwell's motto

;
and Thomas Jefferson had it engraved upon his private seal.

* Note 7, page 113.
4 This was a Roman Catholic religious order, founded by Ignatius Loyola^ a Spaniard, in 1539.

They have ever been remarkable for their great devotion to their cause, their self-denial, and mas-

terly sagacity in the acquirement and maintenance of power. Their missionaries preached Chris-

tianity in every part of the habitable globe. They came with the first French adventurers to Amer-

ica, and under their influence, whole tribes of Indians eastward of Massachusetts and in Canada were
made nominal Christians. This was one of the ties which made the savages such faithful allies to

the French in the contests between them and the English, previous to ] 763.
6

Page 22.
8 Waldron was eighty years of age. He had played false with the New Hampshire Indiana

during King Philip's war, and they now sought revenge. They tortured him to death.
' Note 2, page 183.
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party of three hundred French and Indians from Montreal, to penetrate the

untry toward Albany. On a gloomy night in winter, when the snow was

,venty
inches in depth, they fell upon Schenectada [Feb. 18, 1690], a frontier

wn on the Mohawk, massacred many of the people, and burnt the village.

Early in the spring, Salmon Falls [March 28 J, Casco [May 27], and other

eastern villages, were attacked by another party of the same mongrel foe, the

natural ferocity of the Indians being quickened by the influence of th>

Jesuits who accompanied them. 1

All the colonies were aroused, by these atrocities, to a sense of their danger
in having such foes intent upon their destruction

;
and the New England people

resolved on speedy retaliation. In May, Massachusetts fitted out an expedi-

tion, under Sir William Phipps, a native of Pemaquid, consisting of eight or

nine vessels, with about eight hundred men. Phipps seized Port Royal,
2 in

Acadie, and obtained sufficient plunder from the inhabitants to pay the expenses
of the expedition. In June, Port Royal was again plundered by English pri-

vateers from the West Indies. Encouraged by these successes, the colonies of

New England and New York coalesced in efforts to conquer Canada. 3 It was

arranged to send a land expedition from New York, by way of Lake Cham-

plain, against Montreal,
4
and a naval expedition against Quebec.

5 The com-

mand of the former was intrusted to the son of Governor Winthrop of Connect-

icut,
6 and the expenses were borne jointly by that colony and New York. 7

Sir

William Phipps commanded the latter, which Massachusetts alone fitted out.

It consisted of thirty-four vessels, with two thousand men. Both were unsuc-

cessful. Some of Winthrop
1

s troops, with Indians of the FIVE NATIONS," under

Colonel Schuyler, pushed toward the St. Lawrence, and were repulsed [Aug.,

1690] by Frontenac, the governor of Canada. The remainder did not go be-

yond Wood Creek (now Whitehall), at the head of Lake Champlain, and all

returned to Albany.
9

Phipps reached Quebec about the middle of October,

and landed the troops ;
but the city was too strongly fortified

10
to promise a

successful siege, and he returned to Boston before the winter set in.
11

Massa-

I In this warfare, instigated by the Jesuits, was found a ready defence for the intole-

rance of the Protestant majority in Maryland [page 152], the disabilities of Roman Cath-
olics in Virginia, New York, and New England, and their exclusion from the privileges
of freemen in tolerant Rhode Island. The colonists believed that the most potent operations
of the Jesuits were in secret, and came to regard every Roman Catholic as the natural

enemy of Protestants, and as laboring to destroy every measure tending to human freedom.

Pa-e 58.
*
Page 204.

*
Page 48.

Pago 48.
*
Page 86.

Miloorne, son-in-law of Jacob Leisler, the democratic governor of I\ew York [page 148], un.

iertook to provide subsistence for the army, which marched from Albany early in July.

Pas; 23.

Leisler was so much incensed at this failure, that he caused the arrest of Winthrop, at Albany.
There had ever been a jealous rivalry between the people of New York and Connecticut

;
and the

feud which continually prevailed among the mixed troops, was the chief cause of the miscarriage of

the enterprise.
1U

Phipps, having no chart to guide him, was nine weeks cautiously making his way around

Acadie and up the St. Lawrence. In the mean while, a swift Indian runner, from Pemaquid, sped
across the country, and informed the French, at Quebec, of the approach of Phipps, in tune for

them to well prepare for defense.
II

This repulse was considered so important by the French, that king Louis had a commemor-
ative medal struck, with the legend

" FRANCE VICTORIOUS IN THE NEW WORLD."
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chusetts was obliged to issue bills of credit, or paper money, to defray the

expenses of this expedition.
1

Sir William Phipps was sent to England soon after his return, to solicit aid

in further warfare upon the French and Indians, and also to assist in efforts to

procure a restoration of the charter of Massachusetts, taken away by King
James.

4
Material assistance in prosecuting the war was refused

;
and King

William instead of restoring the old charter, granted a new one, and united

under it the colonies of Plymouth, Massachusetts, Maine, and Nova Scotia,
3

by
the old name of Massachusetts Bay Colony, and made it a royal province.

Phipps was appointed governor by the king, and returned to Boston with the

charter, in May, 1692. But the new constitution was offensive to the people,

for they were allowed scarcely any other political privileges than they already

possessed, except the right to choose representatives. The king reserved the

right to appoint the governor, his deputy, and the secretary of the colony, and

of repealing the laws within three years after their passage. This abridgment
of their liberties produced general dissatisfaction, and alienated the affections of

the people from the mother country. It was one of a series of fatal steps taken

by the English government, which, tended toward the final dismemberment of

the empire in 1776. 4 Yet one good resulted from the change. The theocratic

or religious element in the government, which fostered bigotry and intolerance,

lost its power, for toleration was guarantied to all Christian sects, except Roman

Catholics
;
and the right of suffrage was extended to others than members of

Congregational churches.
6

A very strange episode in the history of Massachusetts now occurred. A
belief in witchcraft

8

destroyed the peace of society in many communities, and

shrouded the whole colony in a cloud of gloom. This belief had a strong hold

upon the minds of the people of old England, and of their brethren in America.

Excitement upon the subject suddenly broke out at Danvers (then a part of

Salem), in March, 1692, and spread like an epidemic. A niece and daughter
of the parish minister exhibited strange conduct

;
and under the influence of

their own superstitious belief, they accused an old Indian servant-woman in the

family of bewitching them. Fasting and prayer, to break the "
spell," were

of no avail, for the malady increased. The alarm of the family spread to the

1 Note 4, page 122. The total amount of the issue was $133,338.
3
Page 129.

* New Scotland, the name given to the country which the French called Acadie. See note 2,

page 80.
4
Page 251. * Note 5, page 118.

* A belief in witchcraft, or the exercise of supernatural power, by men and women, has been

prevalent for ages. Punishment of persons accused of it, was first sanctioned by the Church of Rome
a little more than three hundred years ago. Certain tests were instituted, and thousands of innocent

persons were burned alive, drowned, or hanged, hi Europe. Within three months, in 1515, five hun-
dred persons were burned in Geneva, in Switzerland. In the diocese of Como, one thousand were
burned in one year. In 1520, an incredible number, from among all classes, suffered death in

France. And within fifty or sixty years, during the sixteenth century, more than one hundred
thousand persons perished in the flames in Germany alone. Henry the Eighth of England made
the practice of witchcraft a capital offense

;
and a hundred years later,

" witch-detectors" traversed

the. country, and brought many to the stake. Enlightened men embraced the belief; and even Sir

Matthew Hale, the most distinguished of England's judges, repeatedly tried and condemned persons
accused of witchcraft. The English laws against witchcraft were adopted in New England ;

and as

early as 1648, four persona had suffered death for the alleged offense, in the vicinity of Boston.
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community ;
and soon a belief prevailed throughout the colony, that evil spirits,

having ministering servants among men, overshadowed the land. Old and ill-

favored women were first accused of practising the art of witchcraft
;
but at

length neither age, sex, nor condition afforded protection from the accuser's

tongue. Even the wife of Governor Phipps did not escape suspicion. Magis-

trates were condemned, many pious persons were imprisoned, and Mr. Bur-

roughs, a worthy minister, was executed. Men of strong minds and scholarly

attainments were thoroughly deluded. Among these was the eminent Cotton

Mather, whose father before him had yielded to the superstition, and published

an account of all the supposed cases of witchcraft in New England. Cotton

Mather, on account of his position as a leading divine, and his talents, prob-

ably did more than any other man to promote the spread of that fearful delusion,

which prevailed for more than six months. During that time, twenty persons

suffered death, fifty-five were tortured or frightened into a -confession of witch-

craft, and when a special court, or legislature, was convened in October, 1692,
one hundred and

fifty accused persons were in prison. A reaction, almost as

sudden as the beginning of the excitement, now took place in the public mind.

The prison doors were opened to the accused, and soon many of the accusers

shrunk abashed from the public gaze.
1

Standing in the light of the present

century, we look back to " Salem witchcraft," as it is called, with amazement.

1 The belief in witchcraft did not cease with the strange excitement
;
and Cotton Mather rnd

other popular men, wrote in its defense. Calef, a citizen of Boston, exposed Mather's credulity,
which greatly irritated the minister. He first called his opponent "a weaver turned minister;"
but as his tormentor's blows fell thick and fast, in a series of letters, Mather called him " a coal from
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"King "William's war" 1 continued until 1697, when a treaty of peace,

made at Ryswick, in the west of Holland, on the 20th of September of that

year, terminated hostilities.* Up to that time, and later, the New England

people suffered greatly from their mongrel foe. Remote settlements in the

direction of Canada and Nova Scotia continued to be harassed. Almost a hun-

dred persons were killed or made captive [July 28, 1694J at Oyster River

(now Durham), ten miles from Portsmouth, in New Hampshire. Two years

later [July 25, 1696], Baron St. Castine, and a large force of French and

Indians, captured the garrison at Pemaquid, and exchanged the prisoners for

French soldiers in the hands of the English.
3

In March, 1697, Haverhill,

thirty miles from Boston, was attacked, and forty persons were killed or carried

into captivity ;

4 and during the following summer, more remote settlers were

great sufferers. A respite now came. The treaty at Ryswick produced a lull

in the storm of cruel warfare, which had so long hung upon the English fron-

tiers, continually menacing the colonists with wide-spread destruction.
6

It was

very brief, however, for pretexts for another war were not long wanting.

James the Second died in September, 1701, and Louis the Fourteenth, who

had sheltered the exile,
6

acknowledged his son, Prince James (commonly
known as the Pretender), to be the lawful heir to the English throne. This

offended tbe English, because the crown had been settled upon Anne, second

daughter of James, who was a Protestant. Louis bad also offended the English

by placing his grandson, Philip of Anjou, upon the throne of Spain, and thr.s

hell," and prosecuted him for slander. The credulous clergyman was glad to withdraw the suit

Cotton Mather was born in Boston, in February, 1633, and was educated at Harvard College. He
was very expert hi the acquirement of knowledge, and at the age of nineteen years, he received

the degree of Master of Arts. He became a gospel minister at twenty-two, and holding a ready
pen, he wrote much. Few of his writings have survived him. "With all his learning, he was but a
child in that which constitutes true manhood, and he is now regarded more as a pedant
than as a scholar. He died in February, 1728. For the benefit of young men, we will

here introduce an anecdote connected with him. It was thus related by Dr. Franklin, to Samuel, a
son of Cotton Mather: "The last time I saw your father was in the beginning of 1724, when I

visited him after my first trip to Pennsylvania. He received me in his library ;
and on my taking

leave, showed me a shorter way out of the house through a narrow passage, which was crassed by
a beam overhead. "We were still talking as I withdrew, he accompanying me behind, and I turn-

ing partly toward him, when he said hastily, 'Stoop! stoop!' I did not understand until I fblt my
head hit against the beam. He was a man that never missed an occasion of giving instruction,
and upon this he said to me,

' You are young, and have the world before you ; stoop as you go
through, and you will escape many hard thumps.

1 This advice, thus beat into my head, has fre-

quently been of use to me; and I often think of it when J see pride mortified, and misfortunes

brought upon people by carrying their heads too high."
1

Page 130.
a This war cost England one hundred and fifty millions of dollars, in cash, besides a loan of one

hundred millions more. This loan was the commencement of the enormous national debt of En-

gland, now [1881] amounting to about four thousand millions of dollars.
3
They also took the English fort of St John's, Newfoundland, and several other posts on that

island.
4
Among their captives was a Mrs. Dustan, her child, and nurse. Her infant was soon killed,

and she and her nurse were taken to Canada. A little more than a month afterward, Mrs. D., her

companion, and another prisoner, killed ten of twelve sleeping Indians, who had them in custody,
and made their way back to HaverhilL

'
Just before the conclusion of this treaty, a Board of Trade and Plantations was established by

the English government, whose duty it was to have a general oversight of the American colonies.

This was a permanent commission, consisting of a president and seven members, called Lords of
Trade. This commission was always an instrument of oppression in the hands of royalty, and, as

will be seen, was a powerful promoter of that discontent which led to the rebellion of thf> nnloniea

ki 1775. Page 130.
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extended the influence of France among the dynasties of Europe. These, and

gome minor causes, impelled England again to declare war against France.'

Hostilities commenced in 1702, and continued until a treaty of peace was con-

cluded at Utrecht, in Holland, on the llth of April, 1713. As usual, the

French and English in America were involved in this war
;
and the latter suf-

fered much from the cruelties of the Indians who were under the influence of

the former. This is known in America as

QUEEN ANNE'S WAR.

It was a fortunate circumstance for the people of New York that the FIVK

NATIONS had made a treaty of neutrality with the French in Canada [Aug. 4,

1701J, and thus became an impassable barrier against the savage hordes from

the St. Lawrence. The tribes from the Merrimac to the Penobscot had made

a treaty of peace with New England, in July, 1703, but the French induced

them to violate it
;
and before the close of summer, the hatchet fell upon the

people of the whole frontier from Casco to Wells. Blood flowed in almost

every valley; and early the next spring [March, 1704], a

large party of French and Indians, under Major Hertel de

Rouville, attacked Deerfield, on the Connecticut River,

applied the torch,
2
killed forty of the inhabitants, and car-

ried one hundred and twelve away to the wilderness.

Among these was Rev. John Williams, the minister, whose

little daughter, after a long residence with the Indians, WILLIAMS^HOUSB.

became attached to them, and married a Mohawk chief. 3

Similar scenes occurred at intervals during the whole progress of the war.

Remote settlements were abandoned, and the people on the frontier collected in

fortified houses/ and cultivated their fields in armed parties of half a dozen or

more. This state of things became insupportable to the English colonists, and

in the spring of 1707, Massachusetts, Rhode Island, and New HampshireT

determined to chastise the French on their eastern borders. Connecticut

refused to join in the enterprise, and the three colonies alone prepared an arma-

ment. Early in June, a thousand men under Colonel Marsh, sailed from Nan-
tucket for Port Royal,

5 in Acadie, convoyed by an English man-of-war. The
French were prepared for them, and nothing was effected except the destruction

of considerable property outside the fort. Three years later, an armament left

1
It is known in European history as the War of the Spanish Succession.

a The only house that escaped the flames was that of the Rev. John "Williams, represented in.

the engraving. It stood near the centre of the village, until within a few years.
*
Mrs. Williams and other captives, who were unable to travel as rapidly as the Indians, were

murdered. On his arrival in Canada, Mr. Williams was treated with respect by the French, and
after two years of captivity, was ransomed, and returned to Massachusetts. The chief object of *he

expedition to Deerfield, appears to have been to carry off the bell that hung in Williams's church.
That bell was purchased the year previous for the church of Saut St. Louis, at Caughnawaga, near
Montreal The vessel in which it was brought from Havre was captured by a New England pri-

vateer, and the bell was purchased for the Deerfield meeting-house. Father Nicolas, of the church
at Caughnawaga, accompanied the expedition, and the bell was carried in triumph to its original

destination, where it still remains. * Note 1, page 127.
'
Page 58.
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Boston [September, 1710], and. in connection with a fleet from England, under

Colonel Nicholson, demanded and obtained a surrender of the fort and garrison

[Oct. 13J, at Port Royal. The name of the place was then changed to Anna-

polis, in honor of the Queen, Anne, and Acadie was annexed to the English

realm under the title of Nova Scotia, or New Scotland.

In July, the following year [1711], Sir Hovendon Walker arrived at Bos-

ton, with an English fleet and army, designed for the conquest of Canada.

New England promptly raised additional forces, and on the 10th of August,

fifteen men-of-war and forty transports, bearing almost seven thousand troops,

departed for the St. Lawrence to attack Quebec. Walker, like Braddock,*

haughtily refused to listen to experienced subordinates, and lost eight of his

ships, and almost a thousand men, on the rocks at the mouth of the river, on

the night of the 2d of September. Disheartened by this calamity, Walker

returned to England with the remainder of his fleet, and the colonial troops

went back to Boston. On hearing of this failure of the naval expedition, a

body of troops marching from Albany to attack Montreal, retraced their steps.*

Hostilities were now suspended, and in the spring of 1713, a treaty of peace

was concluded [April 11] at Utrecht. The eastern Indians sent a flag to Bos-

ton, and sued for peace ;
and at Portsmouth the Governor of Massachusetts and

New Hampshire entered into a pacific compact [July 24] with the chiefs of the

tribes.

A long peace now ensued, and for thirty years succeeding the close of

Queen Amies War, the colonists enjoyed comparative repose. Then, again,

the selfish strifes of European monarchs awakened the demon of discord, and its

bloody footsteps were soon apparent along the northern frontiers of the English
colonies in America. The interim had been a period of much political agitation

in Massachusetts, during which a great stimulus had been given to the growth
of republican principles. Disputes, sometimes violent, and sometimes in a con-

ciliatory spirit, had been carried on between the royal governors and the repre-

sentatives of the people ;
the former contending for prerogatives and salaries

which the people deemed inadmissible.
4

These internal disputes were arrested

when they heard that France had declared hostility to England [March 15,

1744]. and the colonists cheerfully prepared to commence the contest known in

America as
KING GEOIIGE'S VAR.6

This war was not productive of many stirring events in America. The

principal and very important one was the capture of the strong fortress of

1
King "William had no children; and Anne, the daughter of James the Second (who was mar-

ried to Prince George of Denmark), succeeded him as sovereign of England in 1702. a
Page 186.

* These were four thousand in number, under the command of General Nicholson. They were
famished by New York and Connecticut

4 The chief topic of controversy was the payment of salaries. Governors Shute, Burnet and

Belcher, all contended for a permanent salary, but the people claimed the right to vote sucli salary,

each year, as the services of the governor appeared justly to demand. A compromise was finally

effected by an agreement to vote a certain sum each year. The subject of salaries was a cause of

contention with the royal governors, until the Revolution.
' The husband of Queen Anne died several years previous to her death, which occurred in

A-ugust, 170-L George, Elector of Hanover, in Germany, was immediately proclaimed King of
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Louisburg, on the island of Cape Breton. It had been constructed by the

French after the treaty of Utrecht, at an expense of five and a half millions of

dollars, and because of its strength, was called The Gibraltar of America.

William Shirley,
1

a soldier and energetic statesman, was Governor of Massa-

chusetts when hostilities were proclaimed. He immediately perceived tho

importance of Louisburg in the coming contest, and plans for its capture were

speedily perfected by the Legislature of Massachusetts. 2 Rhode Island, New

Hampshire, and Connecticut furnished their proper quota of troops. New
York sent artillery, and Pennsylvania provisions. Thus common danger was

extending the idea of a necessity for a union of the Anglo-American colonies,

long before it assumed a practical form in 1754.
3

After vainly waiting for some time in the expectation

of aid from Commodore Warren (then in the West In-

dies), the colonial forces, thirty-two hundred strong,

under the general command of William

Pepperell,
4

sailed [April 4, 1745J for

Louisburg.
5 At Canseau they were un-

expectedly joined by the fleet of Warren

[May 9], and on the llth of May the

combined forces, four thousand

strong, landed at Gabarus Bay,
a short distance from their des-

tination. The sudden appear-

ance of this formidable arm-

ament, was the first intimation CAPTUBB op LOUISBURG m 1745 .

to the French, that an attack

was meditated, and great consternation prevailed in the fortress and town. A

England, by the title of George the First. His son George succeeded him in 1727, and also

retained the title and privileges of Elector of Hanover. A contest arose between Maria Theresa,

Empress of Hungary, and the Elector of Bavaria, for the throne of Austria The King of England
espoused the cause of the empress, in 1743, and the King of France took part with her opponent
This led France to declare war against England a contest known in America as King George's

War, but in Europe, the War of the Austrian Succession.
1 William Shirley was born in England; made governor of Massachusetts in 1741; was after-

ward made governor of one of the Bahama Islands, and died at Roxbury, near Boston, in 1771.
He appears conspicuous in history during a portion of the contest known in America as The French
and Indian War.

s

Shirley proposed an expedition, but the Legislature hesitated. The measure was finally

agreed upon by a majority of only one vote.
3
Page 183.

4
Pepperell was a native of Maine, and a wealthy merchant. He was afterward made a bar-

net. He died in 1759.
6

Louisburg is on the east side of the island of Cape Breton, with a fine, deep harbor. The land-

ing-place of the British, position of the camp, etc., will be seen by reference to the map. The Royal
Battery was taken by four hundred men. When they approached, the French thought the whole

English army was upon them. They immediately spiked their guns (that is, drove iron spikes into

the touch-holes of the cannons, so as to make them useless), and fled In the upper part ofthe map
is a profile of the fortifications at Louisburg. It is given here so as to illustrate certain terms which

may be used hereafter : a, the glacis, is the extreme outside slope of the works
; b, the banquet, or

step upon which the soldiers stand to fire over the parapet ; c, a covered way into the fort, under the

banquet; d, counterscarp, a bank or wall, outside the ditch, e;f, the parapet, a protection for the men
nd guns from balls from without ; g, the inner banquet ; h, ramparts the most solid embankment

Wf the fortress
;

t the last slope in the interior of the fort, called talus.
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direct approach was difficult oh account of a, morass, and a combined attack by
sea and land was carefully arranged. The land forces encamped in a curve in

rear of the town, and detachments secured the French outposts, one after an-

other. Cannons were dragged on sledges over the morass,
'

trenches were dug,

batteries were erected, and a regular siege was commenced, on the 31st of May.
In the mean while, Commodore Warren captured a French ship of seventy-four

guns, and secured, as prisoners, over five hundred men, with a large quantity

of military stores. While the siege was in progress, other English vessels of

war arrived, and the fleet and army agreed to make a combined attack on the

29th of June. Despairing of successful resistance, the French surrendered the

fortress, the city of Louisburg, and the island of Cape Breton, on the 28th of

June, 1745.'

Tbe pride of France was greatly mortified by this daring and successful

expedition, and the following year [1746] the Duke D'Anville was sent with a

powerful naval armament3
to recover the lost fortress, and to desolate the En-

glish settlements along the seaboard. Storms wrecked many of his vessels, and

disease soon wasted hundreds of his men ; and D'Anville, thoroughly dispirited,

abandoned the enterprise without striking a blow. 4 Two years afterward a

treaty of peace was concluded at Aix-la-Chapelle, in western Germany, when

it was agreed that all prisoners should be released, and all acquisitions of prop-

erty or territory, made by either party, were to be restored. Both of the

principal parties were heavy losers by the contest
;

5 while the strength of the

colonists, yet to be called forth in a more important struggle, was revealed ai.d

noted.

Old national animosities, religious differences, and recent causes for irrita-

tion, had inspired the English and French with intense mutual hatred, when

the treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle was signed on the 18th of October, 1748. The

allegiance of Massachusetts and its sister colonies to the British crown, and the

acknowledged duty of obedience, restrained the resentment of the American

people, while England and France were at peace. Soon, disputes about local

boundaries began,
8 and it was not long before preparations for war between the

two races, were visible in America. Then came that final bloody struggle be-

tween the English and French, for dominion in the New World, known as the

French and Indian War. 7 This we shall consider hereafter.

1 The artillery was commanded by Richard Gridley, who was the engineer of the continental

army at Boston in 1775 and 1776. See page 234.
* The prizes and stores obtained by the English amounted, in value, to little less than five mil-

lions of dollars.
8

It consisted of forty ships of war, fifty-six transports, thirty-five hundred men, and forty thou-

sand muskets for the use of the French and Indians in Canada.
4
D'Anville, with two or three vessels, anchored at Chebucto (now Halifax, Nova Scotia), where

he died, it is believed, by poison. His lieutenant also committed suicide, in consequence of morti-

fied pride. These disasters to the French fleet were regarded by the people of New England as spe-
cial manifestations of Providence in their favor. Public thanksgivings were offered

;
and no one

doubted the right of the English to the whole of Acadie.
6 Parliament afterward reimbursed to the colonies the cost of their preparations against Canada,

amounting to more than a million of dollars. See page 199.
6
Page 180.

T
Page 175).
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CHAPTER III.

NEW YORK. [1623.]

THE State of New York commenced its political career when Peter Mimiit,
1

sently appointed Governor of New Netherland,
8
arrived at New Amsterdam

(as the germ of the present city of New York was called), in May, 1626. He

immediately purchased of the Indians, for about twenty-four dollars, the whole

of the island of Manhattan,
3 on which the city of New York now stands, and

be^an vigorously to perfect the founding of a State similar to those of Holland.

He erected a strong fortification near the site of the present Battery, and called

it Fort Amsterdam* By conciliatory measures, he gained the confidence of

the Indians
;
and he also opened a friendly correspondence with the Puritans at

Plymouth.
5 The English reciprocated the friendly expressions of the Dutch

;

at the same time, they requested the latter not to send their trappers quite as

far eastward as Narraganset Bay, to catch otters and beavers. 6

For the purpose of encouraging emigration to New Netherland, the Dutch

West India Company
7
offered, in 1629, large tracts of land, and certain pru

ileges, to those persons who should lead or send a given number of emigrants
to occupy and till the soil.

8 Directors of the company
9 availed themselves of

the privilege, and sent Wouter (Walter) Van Twiller to examine the country
and select the lands. Immigrants came

;
and then were laid the foundations

of the most noted of the manorial estates of New York.
10 The proprietors were

called patroons (patrons), and held a high political and social station in tho

New World.

The agent of the Patroons seems to have performed his duty well, and he

was appointed governor of the colony, in 1633. The beginning of Van Twil-

ler's administration was marked by difficulties with the English on the Con-

1
Page 93.

a
Page 72.

3 Note 1, page 48.
4 See picture on page 144.

D
Page 78.

8 Trade in furs was the chief occupation of the Dutch of New Netherland at this time. They
became expert trappers, and were seen as far east as Nantucket, and even Cape Cod. The trade

Boon became profitable to the Company. The first year's remittance of furs to Amsterdam waa
valued at $11,000. This trade greatly increased; and before the troubles with the Iriians in 1640,
the value of furs sent to Holland, annually, was more than $60,000.

'

Page 72.
8 The land was to be fairly purchased of the Indians, and then the title was to be confirmed by

the Dutch government. The privileges granted to the purchasers made them, in a degree, feudal

lords [note 16, page 62], yet they were exempted from paying tribute to supreme authority.
8

Killian Van Rensselaer, who purchased a tract at Fort Orange (Albany) ; Samuel Godyn and
Samuel Bloemart, who selected lands in West Jersey, on the Delaware

;
and Michael Pauw, whose

domain included Jersey City and vicinity. See page 94.
10 Van Rensselaer. A larger portion of the land in Albany and Rensselaer counties, once

portions of the first Patroon's estates, has passed out of the possession of the family. After

1840, many scenes of violence and bloodshed were witnessed on those lands, growing out of

disputes with tenants, when they were called upon to pay even the almost nominal rent which
was demanded. Social and political questions arose and produced two strong parties. The

opposition of the tenantry was termed Anti-Rentism. Conciliatory measures were finally

proposed by a purchaser o*f a large portion of the ancient manor, in Albany county, by which
the tenants were allowed to buy the land, and obtain a title in fee-simple. In time, the whole
estate will thus pass into the hands of numerous new owners. These angry disputes have al-

ready become items of past history.
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necticut River.
1 He was more distinguished for his marriage connection with

Van Rensselaer, one of the PatroonS, than for any administrative qualities.

Yet circumstances favored the advancement of the colony, and he ruled quite

satisfactorily, especially to the company, whose interests he faithfully served.

He we 3 succeeded in office, in May, 1638, by Sir William Keift, at the mo-

ment vhen the Swedish colony* were seating themselves upon the hanks of the

Delaware. Keift was a hold, rapacious, and unscrupulous man, and soon

brought serious trouble upon the people. He began a tyrannous rule by con-

centrating executive power in his own hands
;
and his administration was a

stormy and unfortunate one. The sum of its record is a tale of continual strife

with the Swedes on the Delaware,
3 the English on the Connecticut/ the Indiana

all around him, and the colonists at his door. His difficulties with the Indiana

proved the most disastrous of all, and finally wrought his own downfall. Pre-

vious to his arrival, the intercourse of the Dutch with the natives had been

quite friendly.
5 The fur trade was extending, and trappers and traders were

all abroad among the native tribes. These carried a demon of discord with

them. They furnished the Indians with rr/m, and quarrels and murders en-

sued. The avaricious Keift also demanded tribute of wampum6 and beaver-

skins from the River tribes
;
and in a short time their friendship for the Dutch

became weakened.

A crisis came. Some Raritan
7
Indians in New Jersey were accused of rot

bery. Keift sent an armed force to punish them [July, 1640], and blc

flowed. Several Indians were killed, and their crops were destroyed. Savac

vengeance did not slumber long. The Raritans murdered four planters on

Staten Island [June, 1641], and destroyed considerable property.
8 An expe-

dition sent to punish the offenders was unsuccessful. Soon afterward, a younc
Westchester Indian, whose uncle had been murdered by a Hollander, ne

where the Halls of Justice now stand,
9

revenged the murder, according to the

customs of his people,
10

by killing an inoffensive Dutchman living at Turtle

Bay.
11

His tribe refused to surrender him on the demand of Keift, and the

governor determined to make war upon all the offending savages.
The people of New Netherland had already begun to murmur at Keift's

course, and they charged the troubles with the Indians directly upon him. Un-

willing to assume the entire responsibility of a war, himself, the governor called

a meeting [Aug. 23, 1641] of the heads of families in New Amsterdam for

consultation. They promptly chose "twelve select men" [August 29J, with DC

1
Page 85. s

Page 93. Page 93. 4
Page 85.

6 The Dutoh had made a settlement, and built a fort at Albany [page 72], and made a treaty of

friendship-with the Mohawks [page 23]. This the River Indians, in the vicinity of New Amster-
dam, did not like, for the Mohawks were their oppressors. Note 2, page 13.

7 A tribe of the Lenni-Lenapes. Page 16.
8
This plantation belonged to De Tries [note 2, page 92], who was a friend of the Indians.

* On Center street^ New York city. There was once a fresh-water pond there, surrounded
the forest.

10 The Indians had a custom concerning an avenger of blood, similar to that of the Jews. It was
tbe duty and the privilege for the next of kin to the murdered man, to avenge hia blood by killing
the murderer. The Indians took the life of any of the tribe of the offender." At the foot of Forty-fifth street, on the East Rivpr.
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Vries
1

at their head, to act for them
;
and this was the first representative

assembly ever formed among Europeans on Manhattan Island. They did not

agree with the governor's hostile views
;
and Keift finding them not only op-

posed to his war designs, but that they were also taking cognizance of alleged

grievances of the people, dissolved them, in February, 1642. Finally, the

commission of other murders by Indians, and the presence of a body of Mo-

hawks, who had come down to exact tribute from the River tribes, concurred

with the changed opinions of some leading citizens of New Amsterdam, to

make Keift resolve to embrace this opportunity to chastise the savages. A
rge number of them had fled before the Mohawks, and sought shelter with

the Hackensacks, near Hoboken, and there craved the protection of the Dutch.

Now was offered an opportunity for a wise and humane governor to make a

>venant of peace and friendship ;
but Keift could not be satisfied without a

flow of blood. At midnight, in February, 16-13, a body of Hollanders and Mo-
hawks crossed the Hudson, fell upon the unsuspecting fugitives, and before the

dawn, they massacred almost a hundred men, women, and children. Many
were driven from the cliffs at Hoboken into the freezing flood

;
and at sunrise

the bloody marauders returned to New Amsterdam with thirty prisoners, and

the heads of several Indians.

The fiery hatred and vengeance of all the surrounding tribes were aroused

by this massacre, and a fierce war was soon kindled. Villages and farms were

desolated, and white people were butchered wherever they were found by the

incensed Indians.
9 The Long Island tribes,

3
hitherto friendly, joined their kin-

dred, and the very existence of the Dutch colony was menaced. Fortunately
for the settlers, that eminent peace-maker, Roger Williams,

4
arrived [1643], to

embark for England,
5 and he pacified the savages, arid secured a brief repose for

the colony. But the war was soon renewed, and for two years the colony suf-

fered dreadfully. Having no competent leader, they employed Captain John

Underbill,
6 who successfully beat back and defeated the Indians, and hostilities

ceased. The Mohawks came and claimed sovereignty over the River Indians,

made a treaty of peace with the Dutch, and the hatchet was buried.

The conduct of Governor Keift was so offensive to the colonists and the

Company, that he was recalled, and he sailed for Europe in 1647, in a richly

laden vessel. It was wrecked on the coast of Wales, and there he perished.

He had already been succeeded in office [May, 27, 1647], by Peter Stuyvesant,

lately governor of Cura'joa, a soldier of eminence, and possessed of every requis-

ite for an efficient administration of government. His treatment of the Indians

was very kind and just, and they soon exhibited such friendship for the Dutch,

that Stuyvesant was falsely charged with a design to employ them in murder-

ing the English in New England.
7

Long accustomed, as a military leader, to

1 Note 2, page 92.
a

It was during this frenzy of revenge that Mrs. Hutchinson. who had been banished from Mas-

sachusetts, and had taken up her residence near the present New Rochelle, Westchester County,
New York, was murdered, with all her family. The stream upon which she lived is yet known as

Hutchinson's River. s
Page 21.

4
Page 87.

"
Page 91.

6
Page 87.

7 See page 121. This idea prevailed, because during almost the entire winter of 1652-3, Ninigret
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arbitrary rule, ue was stern and inflexible, but he had the reputation of an

honest man. He immediately commenced much needed reforms
;
and during

his whole administration, which was ended by the subjugation of the Dutch by

the English,
1

in 1664, he was the faithful and energetic defender of the integ-

rity of the province against its foes. By prudent management he avoided col-

lisions with the English, and peaceably ended boundary disputes
3
with them in

the autumn of 1650. This cause for irritation on his eastern frontier being

removed, Stuyvesant turned his attention to the growing power of the Swedes,

on the Delaware.

Governor Stuyvesant built Fort Casimir, on the site of the present Net

nnd two other Narragansett sachems had been in New Amsterdam, and on very friendly terms with

Stuyvesant. These sachems, who were true friends of the English, positively disclaimed all

intentions on the part of Stuyvesant, and yet historians of the present day repeat the slander.
1

Page 144.
* See page 85. He went to Hartford, and there made a treaty which fixed the eastern bound-

ary ofNew Netherland nearly on the line of the present division between New York and Connecti-

cut, and across Long Island, at Oyster Bay, thirty miles eastward of New York. The Dutch claims

to lands on the Connecticut River were extinguished by this treaty. From the beginning of diffi-

culties, the Dutch were clearly in the right. This was acknowledged by impartial and just New
Englanders. In a manuscript letter before me, from Edward Winslow to Governor Winthrop, dated

at "Marshfield, 2d of 6th month, 1644," in which he replies to a charge of being favorable to the

Dutch, in some respects, he says that he had asserted in substance, that he " would not defend the

Hartford men's cause, for they had hitherto (or thus long) wronged the Dutch."
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Castle, in Delaware, in 1651. This was soon seized by the Swedes, and the

garrison
made prisoners. The States-General

1

resolved to prevent further

trouble with these enterprising neighbors of the Dutch, and for this purpose,

gave Stuyvesant full liberty to subjugate the Swedes. At the head of six hun-

dred men, he sailed for the Delaware, in August, 1655, and by the middle of

October, he had captured all the Swedish fortresses, and sent the governor

(Risingh) and several other influential men, to Europe. Some of the settlers

withdrew to Maryland and Virginia, but the great body of them quietly sub-

mitted, took an oath of allegiance to the States-General of Holland, and con-

tinued in peaceable possession of their property. Thus, after an existence of

about seventeen years [1638 1655 J, NEW SWEDEN* disappeared by absorp-
tion into NEW NETHERLAND.

New trouble now appeared, but it was soon removed. "While Stuyvesant
and his soldiery were absent on the Delaware, some Indians, who were not yet
reconciled to the Dutch, menaced New Amsterdam. 3 The return of the gov-
ernor produced quiet, for they feared and respected him, and, for eight years,

the colony was very little disturbed by external causes. Then the Esopus
Indians suddenly fell upon the Dutch settlements [June, 1663

J
at Wiltwyck

(now Kingston, in Ulster County),
4 and killed and captured sixty-five of the in-

habitants. Stuyvesant promptly sent a sufficient force to chastise them
;
and so

thoroughly was the errand performed, that the Indians sued for peace in May,
1664, and made a treaty of friendship.

External difficulties gave Stuyvesant little more trouble than a spirit opposed
to his aristocratic views, which he saw manifested daily around him. While he

had been judiciously removing all cause for ill-feeling with his neighbors, there

was a power at work within his own domain which gave him great uneasiness.

The democratic seed planted by the Twelve, in Keift's time,
6 had begun to grow

vigorously under the fostering care of a few enlightened Hollanders, and some

Puritans who had settled in New Netherland. The latter, by their applause
of English institutions, had diffused a desire among the people to partake of the

blessings of English liberty, as they understood it, and as it appeared in New

England. Stuyvesant was an aristocrat by birth, education, and pursuit, and

vehemently opposed every semblance of democracy. At the beginning he found

hims'lf at variance with the people. At length an assembly of two deputies

from each village in New Netherland, chosen by the inhabitants, convened at

New Amsterdam [December, 1653], without the approbation of the governor.
It was a spontaneous, and, in the eyes of the governor, a revolutionary move-

ment. Their proceedings displeased him
;
and finding argument of no avail, he

exercised his official prerogative, and commanded obedience to his will. The

people grew bolder at every rebuff, and finally they not only resisted taxation^
but openly expressed a willingness to bear English rule for the sake of enjoying

English liberty.

The opportunity for a change of rulers was not long delayed. A crisis in

'

Note 7, page 59 *
Page 93. Page 139. *

Page 283. Page 140.
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the affairs of New Netherland now approached. Charles the Second, of En-

gland, -without any fair pretense to' title, gave the whole territory of New

Netherland [March 22, 1664J to his brother James, Duke of York,
1

The duke

Bent an English squadron, under the command of Colonel Richard Nicolls,' to

secure the gift ;
and on the 3d of September, 1664, the red cross of St. George

5

f.oated in triumph over the fort, and the name of New Amsterdam was changed

( D New York.* It was an easy conquest, for, while the fortifications and other

means of defense were vei-y weak, the people were not unwilling to try English

rule. Stuyvesant began to make concessions to the people, when it was too

late, and when his real strength, the popular will, had departed from him. He

hesitated long before he would sign the articles of capitulation ;
and thus, until

the end, he was faithful to his employers, the Dutch West India Company*
With the capital, the remainder of the province passed into the hands of the

English; and early in October, 1664, New Netherland was acknowledged a

part of the British realm, and Nicolls, the conqueror became governor." Let

us now consider

NEW" YORK UNDER THE ENGLISH.

Very soon after the

conquest the people of

New York 7

perceived

that a change of masters

CITY OF NE^V YORK or 1664. did not ennance their

prosperity and happiness.

They were disappointed in their hopes of a representative government : and

their taxes, to support a government in which they had no voice, were increased.

Lovelace, the successor of Nicolls, in 1667, increased their burdens
;
and when

they sent a respectful protest to him, he ordered the paper to be burned by
the common hangman. Like a petty tyrant, he declared that the people
should have "

liberty for no thought but how to pay their taxes." But the

people did think of something else, and were on the eve of open rebellion when

1
Page 94. ' Note 6, page 123.

' The royal standard of England is sometimes so named because it bears a red cros.<. which is

called the "cross of St. George,
1 ' the patron saint of Great Britain. After the union -with Scotland

fnote 1, page 63], the cross of St. Andrew (in the form of an X), was added, and is now seen on
the British flag. In the centre are the royal arms. This Union, as the figure is called, was bome
\ipon the American flags, sometimes, until after the Beclaration of Independence, in 1776. It was

\ipon the flag of thirteen stripes, alternate red and white, which Washington caused to be unfurled
at Cambridge, on the first day of that year. See page 245.

4 The name of Fort Orange settlement [note 9, page 139], was changed to Albany, one of the
duke's titles.

b
~

Page 72.
6 We have elsewhere noticed the fact, that before Nicolls was dispatched, the duke, being cer-

tain of victory, sold that part of New Netherland now included in New Jersey, to other parties.

[See page 94.] Long Island, which had been previously granted to the Earl of Stirling, was pur-
chased by the Dutch, in total disregard of the claims of Connecticut The colonies on *he Delaware
remained under the jurisdiction of New York, and were governed by deputies.

' The a^cve picture is a correct view of the city of New York more than two hundred years t\<\
It is now [1883] the largest city on the American continent. On the left of the picture is'seen Fort
Amsterdam, with the church and Governor's house within it, and a windmill. The point of

Manhattan Island, from the present Battery Place to the foot of Wall-street, i.= here seoa.
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the clouds of national war overshadowed local difficulties. War again com-

menced between England and Holland in 1672, and in July the following year,

a Dutch squadron sailed up the Bay of New York, and, in the absence of the

governor, took possession of the fort and town [August 9th, 1673] without

giving a shot. The easy conquest was the work of treason
; yet, as the royal

libertine (Charles the Second) on the throne of England doubtless shared in the

bribe, the traitor went unpunished.
1 New Jersey and the Territories of Dela-

ware
2

yielded, and for sixteen months [from July, 1673, to November, 1674]
New York was again New Netherlands. When the two nations made a treaty

of peace, the province was restored to the English, and remained in their pos-

session until our Independence was declared in 1776.
3

These changes raised

some doubts concerning the validity of the duke's title, and the king gave him

another grant in July, 1674. Sir Edmond Andros4 was appointed governor
under the new charter, and continued arbitrary rule with increased rigor.

5

At the close of 1683, Governor Andros rsturned to England, when the

duke (who was a Roman Catholic) appointed Thomas Dongan, of the same

faith, to succeed him. In the mean while, the duke had listened to the judicious

advice of William Penn, and instructed Dongan to call an assembly of repre-

sentatives. They met [October 17, 1683], and with the hearty concurrence of

the governor, a CHARTER OF LIBERTIES was established,
8 and the permanent

foundation of a representative government was laid. The people rejoiced in the

change, and were heartily engaged in the efforts to perfect a wise and liberal

government, when the duke was elevated to the throne, as James the Second,

on the death of Charles, in February, 1685. As king, he refused to confirm

the privileges which, as duke, he had granted ;
and having determined to intro-

duce the Roman Catholic religion into the province as the established church,

he commenced by efforts to enslave the people. A direct tax was ordered
;
the

printing press the right aura of knowledge and freedom was forbidden a

place in the colony ;
and the provincial offices were filled by Roman Catholics.

These proceedings gave pain to the liberal-minded Dongan ;
and when the king,

in his religious zeal, instructed the governor to introduce French priests among
the FIVE NATIONS/ he resisted the measure as highly inexpedient.

8
His firm-

1 The traitor was Captain John Manning, the commandant of the fort. He was, doubtless,
bribed by the Dutch commander

;
and the fact that the king screened him from punishment, gave

the color of truth to the charge that the monarch shared in the bribe-
a
Page 96.

3
Page 251.

4
Page 129.

6 The duke claimed the country from the Connecticut River to Cape Henlopen. Andros

attempted to exercise authority eastward of the line agreed upon by the Dutch and the Connecticut

people [note 2, page 142], and went to Saybrook in the summer of 1676, with an armed party, to

enforce the claim. He met with such resistance, that he was compelled to return to New York
without accomplishing his design. See page 116.

8 The Assembly consisted of the governor and ten councillors, and seventeen deputies elected

by the freeholders. They adopted a Declaration of Righte, and asserted the principle, so nobly
fought for a hundred years later, that taxation and representation are inseparable; in other words
that taxes can not be levied without the consent of the people, expressed by their representatives.
At. this time the colony was divided into twelve counties.

7
Page 23.

8
Tliis measure would have given the French, in Canada, an influence over the Indians that

might have proved fatal to English power on the Continent. The FIVE NATIONS remained the fast

friends of the English, and stood as a powerful barrier against the French, wheu the latter twico
invaded the Iroquois territory, in endeavors to reaoh the English, at Albany.
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ness gave the people confidence, and they vrcre again on the eve of open rebel-

lion, when the intelligence of the flight of James, and the accession of William

and Mary
1

reached them. They immediately appointed a committee of
safety,

and with almost unanimous voice, sanctioned the conduct of Jacob Leisler (an

influential merchant and commander of the militia), who had taken possession

of the fort in the name of the new sovereigns, and by order of the inhabitants.

Afraid of the people, Nicholson, the successor of Dongan, fled on board a vessel

and departed, and the people consented to Leisler's assuming the functions of

governor until a new one should be appointed. The aristocracy and the magis-

trates were offended, and denouncing Leisler as a usurper, they accused him

of treason, when Governor Sloughter arrived, in 1691.

Leisler, in the mean while, conducted affairs with prudence and energy.

Having the sanction of the people, he needed no further authority ;
and when a

letter from the British ministers arrived [December, 1689], directed to Gov-

ernor Nicholson, "or, in his absence, to such as, for the time being," conducted

affairs, he considered it as fairly addressed to himself. Milborne, his son-in-law,

acted as his deputy, and was included in the accusations of the magistrates,

who had now retired to Albany. They held Fort Orange
2
until the invasion

of the French, in February, 1690,
s when they felt the necessity of claiming

the protection of the government at New York. They then yielded, and

remained comparatively quiet until the arrival of Richard Ingoldsby, Sloughter'a

lieutenant, early in 1691. That officer announced the appointment of Henry

Sloughter as governor ;
and without producing any credentials of authority, he

haughtily demanded of Leisler [February 9, 1691] the surrender of the fort.

Of course Leisler refused compliance ;
but as soon as Sloughter arrived [March

29], he sent a messenger to announce his desire to surrender all authority into

his hands. Leisler's enemies had resolved on his destruction
;
and when he

came forward to deliver the fort, in person, he and his son-in-law were seized

and cast into prison. They were tried on a charge of treason, found guilty,

and condemned to suffer death. Sloughter withheld his signature to their

death warrant
; but, when made drunk at a dinner party prepared for the pur-

pose, he put his name to the fatal instrument. Before he became sober, Leisler

and Milborne were suspended upon a gallows on the verge of Beekman's swamp

May 26, 1691], where Tammany Hall fronting on the City Hall Park. New
York now stands. These were the proto-martyrs of popular liberty in

America.
4

Henry Sloughter was a weak and dissolute man, yet he came with an earn-

est desire to promote the welfare of the colonists. He convened a popular

assembly, and formed a constitution, which provided for trial by jury, and an

exemption from taxes, except by the consent of the representatives of the peo-

ple. Light was thus dawning hopefully upon the province, when delirium

1 Note 7, page 113. Note 9, page 139.
* At this time, Schenectada was desolated. See page 131.
4 Their estates were confiscated

;
but after a lapse of several years, and when the violence of

party spirit had subsided, the property was restored to their families.
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tremens, at the close of a drunken revel, ended the administration and the life

of the governor [August 2, 1691], in less than three months after the murder

of Leisler and Milborne. He was succeeded by Benjamin Fletcher, a man of

violent passions, and quite as weak and dissolute, who became the tool of the

aristocracy, and was hated by the people. Party spirit, engendered by the

death of Leisler, burned intensely during the whole administration of Fletcher
;

and at the same time the French and Indians, under the guidance of Frontenac,

the able Governor of Canada,
1

were traversing the northern frontiers of the

province. Fletcher prudently listened to the advice of Major Schuyler,* of

Albany, respecting the Indians; and under his leadership, the English, and

their unwavering allies, the FIVE NATIONS, successfully beat back the foe to

the St. Lawrence, and so desolated the French settlements in 1692, in the

vicinity of Lake Champlain,
3
that Frontenac was glad to remain quiet at

Montreal.

A better ruler for New York now appeared. The Earl of Bellomont, an

honest and energetic Irish peer, succeeded Fletcher in 1698
;
and the following

year, New Hampshire
4 and Massachusetts

5
were placed under his jurisdiction.

He commenced reform with great earnestness, and made vigorous efforts to sup-

press piracy,
8
which had become a fearful scourge to the infant commerce of

the colonists. With Robert Livingston
7 and others, he fitted out an expedition

under the famous Captain Kidd, to destroy the buccaneers. Kidd, himself, was

afterward hung for piracy [1701], and the governor and his sons were charged
with a participation in his guilt. At any rate, there can be little doubt that

wealthy men in the colony expected a share in the plunder, and that Kidd, as a

scape-goat for the sins of the others, was the victim of a political conspiracy.
8

Unfortunately for the colony, death removed Bellomont, on the 16th of

March, 1701, when his liberal policy was about to bear fruit. He was suc-

ceeded by Edward Hyde (afterward Lord Cornbury),
9 a libertine and a knave,

who cursed the province with misrule for seven years. He was a bigot, too,

and persecuted all denominations of Christians, except those of the Church of

England. He embezzled the public moneys, involved himself in heavy debts,

and on all occasions was the practical enemy of popular freedom. The people

1 From 1678 to 1682, and again from 1689 to 1698, when he died, at the age of 77.
* Peter Schuyler. He was mayor of Albany, and acquired unbounded influence over the FIVE

NATIONS of Indians. See page 23.
1

Schuyler's force was about three hundred Mohawks, and as many English. They slew about
three hundred of the French and Indians, at the north end of the lake.

*
Page 79.

5
Page 117

6 Because Spain claimed the exclusive right to the West India seas, her commerce in that region
was regarded as fair plunder. Privateer commissions were readily granted by the English, French,
and Dutch governments ;

and daring spirits from all countries were found under their flags. The

buccaneers, as they were called, became very numerous and powerful, and at length depredated
upon English commerce as well as Spanish. Privateers, or those legally authorized to seize the prop-

erty of an enemy, became pirates, or sea robbers. Privateering is only legalized piracy.
7 An immigrant from Scotland, and ancestor of the Livingston family in this country. He was

connected, by marriage, with the Van Rensselaer and Schuyler families; and in 1685, he received

from governor DoHgan a grant of a feudal principality (see patroon, page 139) on the Hudson, yet
known as Livingston's Manor.

8
King William himself was a shareholder in the enterprise for which Kidd was fitted out. Kidd

appeared publicly in Boston, whero he was arrested, then sent to England, tried, and executed.
9
Page 161.
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finally demanded and obtained his recall, and the moment his official career

ceased, in 1708, his creditors cast him into prison, where he remained until his

accession to the peerage, on the death of his father.
1 From this period until

the arrival of William Cosby, as governor [1732], the royal representatives,*

unable to resist the will of the people, as expressed by the Assembly, allowed

democratic principles to grow and bear fruit.
3

The popular will and voice now began to be potential in the administration

of public affairs. Rip Van Dam, "a man of the people," was acting governor
when Cosby came. They soon quarreled, and two violent parties arose the

democratic, which sided with Van Dam, and the aristocratic, which supported
the governor. Each party had the control of a newspaper,

4
and the war of

words raged violently for a long time. The governor, unable to compete with

his opponent, finally ordered the arrest of Zenger [November, 1734], the pub-
lisher of the democratic paper, on a charge of libel. After an imprisonment of

thirty-five weeks, Zenger was tried by a jury, and acquitted, in July, 1735.

He was defended by Andrew Hamilton, of Philadelphia, who was presented by
the magistrates of the city of New York with a gold box, as a token of their

esteem for his noble advocacy of popular rights. Then was distinctly drawn

the line of demarcation between republicans and royalists (Whigs and Tories).*

which continued prominent until the war of the revolution was ended in 1783.

From the arrival of Cosby until the commencement of the French and

Indian war,' the history of New York is composed chiefly of the records of

party strife, and presents very little matter of interest to the general reader.

Only one episode demands special attention, namely, the excitement and results

incident to a supposed conspiracy of the negroes, in 1741, to burn and plunder
the city, murder the inhabitants, and set up a government under a man of their

own color. Several incendiary fires had occurred in rapid succession, and a

house had been robbed by some slaves. The idea of a regular and horrid con-

spiracy at once prevailed, and, as in the case of the Salem Witchcraft,
7
an

intense panic pervaded all classes, and many innocent persons suffered. 8 Thia

is known in history as The Negro Plot.

1
According to an unjust law of England, a peer of the realm (who is consequently a member

of the House of Lords [note 2, page 218]) can not be arrested for debt. This law, enacted in the

reign of Henry the Eighth, still prevails.
8 Lord Lovelace, Ingoldsby, Hunter, Schuyler, Burnet, and Montgomerie.
' We have already noticed (page 135) the breaking out of Queen Anne's War, in 1702, and the

successful expeditions fitted out and sent in the direction of Montreal in 1709 and 1711. The debt

which these expeditions laid upon New York, was felt for many years.
*

The. New York Weekly Journal (democratic), by John Peter Zenger; The New York Gazette

(aristocratic), by William Bradford. The latter owned the first press ever set up in the province.
He commenced printing in New York in 1696. See note 3, page 179.

* Note 4, page 226.
'
Page 179.

7
Page 132.

8 Before the panic was allayed, four white people were hanged; and eleven negroes were

burned, eighteen were hanged, and fifty were sent to the West Indies and sold.
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CHAPTER IV.

MARYLAND. [1639.]

WHEN the first popular assembly convened at St. Mary, for legislative pur-

,es, on the 8th of March, 1635,
'

Maryland had then its colonial birth. Its

sturdy growth began when, in 1639, the more convenient form of representa-

tive government was established. It was crude, but it possessed the elements

of republicanism. The freemen chose as many representatives as they pleased,

and others were appointed by the proprietor. These, with the governor and

secretary, composed the legislature. At this first session a Declaration of

Rights was adopted, the powers of the governor were defined, and all the privi-

leges enjoyed by English subjects were guarantied to the colonists.
9

Very soon the Indians in the vicinity, becoming jealous of the increasing

strength of the white people, began to evince hostility. Frequent collisions

occurred
;
and in 1642, a general Indian war commenced in the region between

the Potomac and the Chesapeake. It was terminated in 1645, but the quiet

of the province was soon disturbed again. Clayborne had returned from

England
3

[1645], and speedily fanned the embers of discontent into a flame of

open rebellion. He became too powerful for the local authorities, and Governor

Calvert
4
was obliged to flee to Virginia. During a year and a half, the insur-

gents held the reins of government, and the horrors of civil war brooded over

the colony. The rebellion was suppressed in the summer of 1647, and in

August, Calvert resumed his office.

In the year 1649, a very important law, known as The Toleration Act, was

passed by the Assembly. Religious freedom was guarantied by the charter,
8

yet, as much animosity existed between the Protestants
8 and Roman Catholics,

the Assembly
7

thought proper to give the principle the solemn sanction of law.

By that act every professed believer in Jesus Christ and the Trinity, was

allowed free exercise of his religious opinions, and no man was permitted to

reproach another on account of his peculiar doctrines, except under the penalty
of a fine, to be paid to the person so insulted. Thither persecuted Churchmen
of New England, and oppressed Puritans of Virginia, fled and found an asylum.
This act, short of full toleration as it was (for it placed Unitarians beyond the

pale of its defense), is the pride and glory of the early legislature of Maryland;

yet it was not the first instance in America, as is often alleged, when religious

toleration received the sanction of law.
8 Rhode Island has that honor.

1

Page 82. Page 82.
3 Note 1, page 82.

4
Page 81. Page 81.

6 Note 14, page 62.
7
Bozman, in his History of Maryland (II. 350 356), maintains that the majority of the mem-

bers of the Assembly of 1649, were Protestants. The records of Maryland prove it.

In May, 1647, the General Assembly of Rhode Island, convened at Portsmouth, adopted a
code of laws which closed with the declaration that "

all men might walk as their consciences per-
suaded them, without molestation every one in the name of his God." This was broader tolera-

tion than the Maryland act contemplated, for it did not restrict men to a belief in Jesus Christ.
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Being favored by events in the mother country, republicanism grew steadily

in the new State. Royalty was abolished in England [1649], and for more

than ten years the democratic idea was prevalent throughout the realm. Lord

Baltimore, the proprietor of Maryland, professed republicanism on the death of

the king, but he had been too recently a royalist to secure the confidence of

Parliament. Stone, his lieutenant, was removed from office [April 16, 1651]

by commissioners (of whom Clayborne was one), who were sent to administer the

government of the colony. He was soon afterward [July 8] restored. On the

dissolution of the Long Parliament [1653]
'

Cromwell restored full power to the

proprietor, but the commissioners, who withdrew to Virginia, returned soon

afterward, and compelled Stone to surrender the government into their hands.

The colonial government had been re-organized in the mean while. The

legislative body was divided into an Upper and Lower House in 1650
;
the

former consisting of the governor and his council, appointed by the proprietor,

and the latter of representatives chosen by the people. At the same session a

law was passed prohibiting all taxes, unless levied with the consent of the free-

men. Political questions were freely discussed by the people ;
and soon the

two chief religious sects were marshaled in opposition, as prime elements of

political parties. So great had been the influx of Protestants, that they now

[1654] outnumbered the Roman Catholics as voters and in the Assembly. They

acknowledged the authority of Cromwell, and boldly questioned the rights and

privileges of an hereditary proprietor.
2 The Roman Catholics adhered to Lord

Baltimore, and bitter religious hatred was fostered. The Protestants finally

disfranchised their opponents, excluded them from the Assembly, and in Novem-

ber, 1654, passed an act declaring Roman Catholics not entitled to the protec-

tion of the laws of Maryland.
This unchristian and unwise act of the Protestant party, was a great wrong

as well as a great mistake. Civil war ensued. Stone returned to St. Mary,'

organized an armed force composed chiefly of Roman Catholics, seized the colo-

nial records, and assumed the office of governor. Skirmishes followed, and

finally a severe battle was fought [April 4, 1655] not far from the site of

Annapolis, in which Stone's party was defeated, with a loss of about fifty men,

killed and wounded. Stone was made prisoner, but his life was spared. Four

other leading supporters of the proprietor were tried for treason and executed.

Anarchy prevailed in the province for many months, when the discordant ele^

ments were brought into comparative order by the appointment of Josiah Fen-

dall [July 20, 1656] as governor. He was suspected of favoring the Roman

Catholics, and was soon arrested by order of the Protestant Assembly. For

two years bitter strife continued between the people and the agents of the

1 When Charles the First was beheaded [note 3, pape 1 08], the Parliament assumed supreme
authority, and remained in permanent session. Cromwell, with an army at his back, entered that

assembly in the autumn of 1653, ordered them to disperse, and assumed supreme power himself
under the title of Lord Protector. That British legislature is known in history as the Long Parlia-

ment
a
According to the original charter, the heirs and successors of Lord Baltimore were to be pro-

prietors forever.
'
Page 82.
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proprietor, when, after concessions by the latter, Fendall was acknowledged

governor, on the 3d of April, 1658. His prudence secured the confidence of

the people, but the death of Cromwell, in September, 1658, presaging a change

in the English government, gave them uneasiness. After long deliberation,

the Assembly determined to avoid all further trouble with the proprietor, by

asserting the supreme authority of the people. They accordingly dissolved the

Upper House [March 24, 1660],
* and assumed the whole legislative power of

the State. They then gave Fendall a commission as governor for the people.

The restoration of monarchy in England took place in June, 1660," and the

original order of things was re-established in Maryland. Lord Baltimore, hav-

ing assured the new king that his republican professions
3
were only temporary

expedients, was restored to all his proprietary rights, by Charles. Fendall was

tried, and found guilty of treason, because he accepted a commission from the

rebellious Assembly. Baltimore, however, wisely proclaimed a general pardon
for all political offenders in Maryland ;

and for almost thirty years afterward,

the province enjoyed repose. A law, which established absolute political equal-

ity among professed Christians, was enacted
;
and after the death of the second

Lord Baltimore [Dec. 10, 1675], his son and successor confirmed it. Under

that new proprietor, Charles Calvert, Maryland was governed mildly and pru-

dently, and the people were prospering in their political quietude, when the

Revolution in England
4
shook the colonies. The deputy governor of Maryland

hesitated to proclaim William and Mary,
5 and this was made a pretense, by a

restless spirit, named Coode,
6 for exciting the people. He gave currency to the

absurd report that the local magistrates and the Roman Catholics had leagued
with the Indians7 for the destruction of all the Protestants in the colony. A
similar actual coalition of Jesuits'3 and savages on the New England frontiers9

gave a coloring of truth to the story, and the old religious feud instantly burned

again intensely. The Protestants formed an armed association [Sept., 1689],
and led on by Coode, they took forcible possession of St. Mary, and by capitu-

lation, received the provincial records and assumed the government. They
called a Convention, and invested it with legislative powers. Its first acts were

to depose the third Lord Baltimore, and to re-assert the sovereign majesty of

the people.

Public affairs were managed by the Convention until 1691, when the king

unjustly deprived Baltimore of all his political privileges as proprietor [June

11], and made Maryland a royal province.
10

Lionel Copley was appointed the

first royal governor, in 1692. New laws were instituted religious toleration

1

Page 152. " Note 2, page 109.
s
Page 152.

* Note 7, page 113.
6
Page 113.

* Coode had been a confederate in a former insurrection, but escaped conviction.
T A treaty with the Indians had just been renewed, and the customary presents distributed

among them. These things Coode falsely adduced as evidences of a coalition with the savages.
" Note 5, page 130. Page 130.
10

King William had an exalted idea of royal prerogatives, and was as much disposed as the
Stuarts (the kings of England from James the First to James the Second) to suppress democracy in

the colonies. He repeatedly vetoed (refused his assent) to Bills of Rights enacted by the colonial

Assemblies
;
refused his assent to local laws of the deepest interest to the colonists

;
and instructed

his governors to prohibit printing in the colonies. Note 7, page 112.
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was abolished the Church of England was made the established religion, to be

supported by a tax on the people ;
and in the State founded by Roman Cath-

olics, the members of that denomination were cruelly disfranchised, with the

consent of their sovereign. A few years later [1716], the proprietary rights

of Lord Baltimore (now deceased) were restored to his infant heir, and the

original form of government was re-established. Such continued to be the poli-

tical complexion of the colony, until the storm of the Revolution in 1776, swept

away every remnant of royalty and feudalism, and the State of Maryland waa

established.

CHAPTER Y.

ST N E C T I C TJ T. [1639.]

THE CONNECTICUT COLONY* formed a political Constitution on the 24th of

January, 1639, and in June following, the NEW HAVEN COLONY performed

the same important act.
9 The religious element was supreme in the new organ-

ization
; and, in imitation of the Constitution of the Plymouth settlers, none

but church members were allowed the privileges of freemen
3
at New Haven.

They first appointed a committee of twelve men, Avho selected seven of their

members to be "
pillars" in the new State. These had power to admit as many

others, as confederate legislators, as they pleased. Theophilus Eaton waa

chosen governor,
4 and the Bible was made the grand statute-book of the colony.

Many of the New Haven settlers being merchants, they sought to found a com-

mercial colony, but heavy losses by the wreck of vessels
5

discouraged them, and

they turned tht r special attention to agriculture. Prudence marked the course

of the magistrates of the several colonies in the Connecticut valley,* and they
were blessed with prosperity. But difficulties with the Dutch respecting terri-

torial boundaries/ and menaces of the neighboring Indians, gave them uneasi-

ness, and made them readily join the New England confederation in 1643. 8

The following year the little independent colony at Saybrook" purchased the

land of one of the proprietors of Connecticut,
10 and became permanently annexed

to that at Hartford."

The future appeared serene and promising. The treaty made with Gov-

ernor Stuyvesant, at Hartford, in 1650," gave token of future tranquillity. But

the repose was soon broken by international war. England and Holland drew

the sword against each other in 1652
;
and because it was reported that Nini-

gret, the wily sachem of the Narragansetts,
13
had spent several weeks at New

1
Page 89.

a
Page 89. The people assembled in a barn to form a new Constitution.

8 Note 5, page 118.
4 He was annually chosen to fill the office, until his death, which occurred in 1657.
* In 1647, a new ship belonging to the colony foundered at sea. It was laden with a valuable

cargo, and the passengers belonged to some of the leading families in the colony.
6
Page 86.

'
Page 85, and note 2, page 142.

"
Page 121. Page 86.

"
Page 85.

u
Page 88.

B Note 2, page 142. tt Note 7, page 141.
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Amsterdam in the winter of 1652-3' the belief prevailed in New England, as

we have already observed, that Stuyvesant was leaguing with the Indians for

the destruction of the English.
2 Great excitement ensued, and a majority of

the commissioners decided,
3 in 1653, upon war with the Dutch. Immediate

hostilities were prevented by the refusal of Massachusetts to furnish its quota
of supplies. The Connecticut colonies (who were more exposed to blows from

the Dutch than any other) applied to Cromwell for aid, and he sent four ships
of war for the purpose. Before their arrival,* a treaty of peace was concluded

between the two nations, and blood and treasure were saved. The Assembly
at Hartford took possession of all property then claimed by the Dutch

;
and

after that the latter abandoned all claims to possessions in the Connecticut

valley.

On the restoration of Charles the Second, in 1660, the Connecticut colony

expressed its loyalty, and obtained a charter. At first, Charles was disposed
to refuse the application of Winthrop,

6
the agent of the colony, for he had

heard of the sturdy republicanism of the petitioners. But when Winthrop

presented his majesty with a ring which Charles I. had given to his grand-

father, the heart of the king was touched, and he granted a charter [May 30,

1662] which not only confirmed the popular Constitution of the colony, but

contained more liberal provisions than any yet issued from the royal hand.' It

defined the eastern boundary of the province to be Narraganset Bay, and the

western, the Pacific Ocean. It thus included a portion of Rhode Island, and

ihe whole New Haven Colony.
"* The latter gave a reluctant consent to the

union in 1665, but Rhode Island positively refused the alliance. A charter

given to the latter the year after one was given to Connecticut [1663],
8
covered

a portion of the Connecticut grant in Narraganset Bay. Concerning this

boundary the two colonies disputed for more than sixty years.

The colony of Connecticut suffered but little during KING PHILIP'S WAR,'
which broke out in 1675, with the exception of some settlements high up on

the fresh water river.
10 Yet it furnished its full quota of men and supplies, and

its soldiers bore a conspicuous part in giving the vigorous blows which broke

the power of the New England Indians.
11 At the same time, the colonists

were obliged to defend their liberties against the attempted usurpations of Ed-

mund Andros, then governor of New York." He claimed jurisdiction to the

1 This report was set afloat by Uncas, the mischievous Mohegan sachem [page 87], who hated

the Narragansetts. It had no foundation in truth. See, also, page 21.
a
Page 141 *

Page 121.
4
Roger Williams, then in England, managed to delay the sailing of the fleet, and thus, again,

that eminent peace-maker prevented bloodshed. Page 87.
6 John Winthrop, son of Governor Winthrop, of Massachusetts. He was chosen governor of

Connecticut in 1657, and held the office several years. Such was his station when he appeared in

England to ask a charter of the kjig. Hopkins (who was one of the founders of the New Haven

colony) was chosen the first governor of the Connecticut colony, and for several years he and

Haynes were alternately chosen chief magistrates.
8
This original charter is now [1883] in the office of the Secretary of the State of Connecticut. It

contains a portrait of Charles the Second, handsomely drawn in India ink, and forming part of an
Initial letter. This was the instrument afterward hidden in the great oak mentioned on the next page.

1
Page 88. Thus the several settlements were united under the general name of Connecticut

*
Page 156.

'
Page 124. w

Page 85.
"
Page 22.

w
Page 147.
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mouth of the Connecticut River, and in 'July, 1675, he proceeded to Saybrook
with a small naval force, to assert his authority. He was permitted to land

;

but when he ordered the garrison in the fort to surrender, and began to read his

commission to the people, Captain Bull, the commander, ordered him to be

silent. Perceiving the strength and determination of his adversary, Andros

wisely withdrew, and greatly irritated, returned to New York.

During the next dozen years, very little occurred to disturb the quiet and

prosperity of Connecticut. Then a most exciting scene took place at Hartford,

in which the liberties of the colony were periled. Edmund Andros again ap-

peared as a usurper of authority. He had been appointed governor of New

England in 1686,
l and on his arrival he demanded a surrender of the charters

of all the provinces. They all complied, except Connecticut. She steadily

refused to give up the guaranty of her political rights ;
and finally Andros pro-

ceeded to Hartford with sixty armed men, to enforce obedience. The Assem-

bly were in session when he arrived [Oct. 31, 1687], and received him court-

eously. He demanded the surrender of the charter, and declared the colonial

government dissolved. Already a plan had been arranged for securing the safety

of that precious instrument, and at the same time to preserve an appearance of

loyalty. The debates were purposely protracted until the candles were lighted,

at evening, when the charter was brought in and laid

upon the table. Just as Andros stepped forward to

take it, the candles were suddenly extinguished. Tho

charter was seized by Captain Wadsworth, of the mil-

itia, and under cover of the night it was effectually

concealed in the hollow trunk of a huge oak, standing
not far from the Assembly chamber.

8 When the can-

dles were relighted, the members were in perfect

order, but the charter could not be found. Andros
THE CHARTER OAK. ..,,. T ,

was highly incensed at being thus foiled, but he

wisely restrained his passion, assumed the government, and with his own hand

wrote the word FINIS after the last record of the Charter Assembly. The gov-
ernment was administered in his own name until he was driven from Boston in

1689," when the charter was taken from the oak [May 19, 1689], a popular

Assembly was convened, Robert Treat was chosen governor, and Connecticut

again assumed her position as an independent colony.

Petty tyrants continued to molest. A little more than four years later, the

Connecticut people were again compelled to assert their chartered liberties.

Colonel Fletcher, then governor of New York,
4
held a commission which gave

him command of the militia of Connecticut.5 As that power was reserved to

1 Page 129.
a That tree remained vigorous until ten minutes before one o'clock in the mornine, Aueust 21,

1856, when it was prostrated during a heavy storm, and nothing but a stump remains. It stood
on the south side of Charter-street, a few rods from Main-street, in the city of Hartford. The
cavity in which the charter was concealed, had become partially closed.

3
Page

1
.30. 4 Page 147.

8 The declared object of this commission was to enable Fletcher to call forth the Connecticut
militia when proper, to repel an expected invasion of Northern New York, by the French and
Indians.
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the colony by the charter, the Legislature refused to acknowledge Fletcher's

authority. In November, 1693, he repaired to Hartford, and, notwithstanding
the Legislature was in session, and again promptly denied his jurisdiction, he

ordered the militia to assemble. The Hartford companies, under Captain

Wadsworth,
1

were drawn up in line
;
but the moment Fletcher attempted to

read his commission, the drums were beaten. His angry order of " Silence!"

was obeyed for a moment
;
but when he repeated it, Wadsworth boldly stepped

in front of him, and said,
"

Sir, if they are again interrupted, I '11 make the sun

shine through you in a moment." Fletcher perceived the futility of a parley,

or further assumption of authority ; and, pocketing his commission, he and his

attendants returned to New York, greatly chagrined and irritated. The mat-

ter was compromised when referred to the king, who gave the governor of Con-

necticut militia jurisdiction in time of peace, but in the event of war, Colonel

Fletcher should have the command of a certain portion of the troops of that

colony.

And now, in the year 1700, Connecticut had a population of about thirty

thousand, which rapidly increased during the remainder of her colonial career.

During Queen Anne's War? and the stirring events in America from that

time until the commencement of the French and Indian War,
8 when her people

numbered one hundred thousand, Connecticut went hand in hand with her sis-

ter colonies for mutual welfare
;
and her history is too closely interwoven with

theirs to require further separate notice.

CHAPTER VI.

RHODE IS-LAND. [1644.]

WHEN the Providence and Rhode Island plantations were united under

the same government in 1644, the colony of Rhode Island commenced its inde-

pendent career.
4 That charter was confirmed by the Long Parliament5

.in

October, 1652, and this put an end to the persevering efforts of Massachusetts

to absorb " Williams's Narraganset Plantation." That colony had always
coveted the beautiful Aquiday,

8 and feared the reaction of Williams's tolerant

principles upon the people from whose bosom he had been cruelly expelled.
7 A

dispute concerning the eastern boundary of Rhode Island was productive of

much ill feeling during the progress of a century, when, in 1741, commission-

ers decided the present line to be the proper division, and wrangling ceased.

J
Page 156. a

Page 135.
9
Page 179.

Page 91. A general assembly of deputies from the several towns, met at Portsmouth on the
29th of May, 1647, and organized the new government by the election of a president and other offi-

cers. At that time a code of laws was adopted, which declared the government to be a democracy,
and that "all men might walk as their conscience persuaded them." Page 151.

; Note 1, page 15d Note 5, page 91.
T
Page 91
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Nor was Rhode Island free from those internal commotions, growing out of relig-

ious disputes and personal ambition, which disturbed the repose of other colonies.

These were quieted toward the close of 1653, when Roger Williams was chosen

president. Cromwell confirmed the royal cuarter on the 22d of May, 1655,

and during his administration the colony prospered. On the accession of

Charles the Second,
1 Rhode Island applied for and obtained a new charter

[July 8, 1663], highly democratic in its general features, and similar, in every

respect, to the one granted to Connecticut.
3 The first governor elected under

this instrument, was Benedict Arnold;
3 and by a colonial law, enacted during

his first administration, the privileges of freemen were granted only to free'

holders and their eldest sons.

Bowing to the mandates of royal authority, Rhode Island yielded to Andros,

in January, 1687
;
but the moment intelligence reached the people of the acces-

sion of William and Mary
4

[May 11, 1689], and the imprisonment of the petty

tyrant at Boston,* they assembled at Newport, resumed their old charter, and

re-adopted their seal an anchor, with Hope for a motto. Under this charter,

Rhode Island continued to be governed for one hundred and fifty-three years,

when the people, in representative convention, in 1842, adopted a constitution.*

Newport soon became a thriving commercial town; and when, in 1732, John

Franklin established there the first newspaper in the colony, it contained five

thousand inhabitants, and the whole province about eighteen thousand.' Near

Newport the celebrated Dean Berkeley purchased lands in 1729
;
and with

him came John Smibert, an artist, who introduced portrait painting into Amer-

ica.
8

Notwithstanding Rhode Island was excluded from the New England

confederacy,
9

it always bore its share in defensive efforts
;
and its history is

identified with that of New England in general, from the commencement of

Kins William's War. 10

1

Page 109.
9
Page 154. This charter guarantied free toleration in religious matters, and the legislature of

the colony re-asserted the principle, so as to give it the popular force of law. The assertion, made

by some, that Roman Catholics were excluded from voting, and that Quakers were outlawed, is

erroneous.
s He was governor several times, serving in that office, altogether, about eleven years. He was

chief magistrate of the colony when he died, in 1678. 4
Page 130.

6
Page 130.

e
Page 477.

7 Of these, about one thousand were Indians, and more than sixteen hundred were negroes.
*
Berkeley preached occasionally In a small Episcopal church at Newport, and presented the

congregation with an organ, the first ever heard in America, Smibert was a Scotchman, and
married and settled at Boston. His picture of Berkeley and his family is still preserved at Yale

College [page 178], in New Haven. Berkeley (afterward made bishop of a diocese in Ireland) made

great efforts toward the establishment of the Arts and Learning, in America. Failing in his project
of founding a new University, he became one of the most liberal benefactors of Yale College. In

view of the future progress of the colonies, he wrote that prophetic poem, the last verse of which
. contains the oft-quoted line

"Westward the course of Empire takes its way."
9
Page 12L Page 130.
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CHAPTER VII.

NEW JERSEY. [1664.]

THE settlements in New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Delaware, we have

considered together in the same chapter,
1

as constituting a series of events hav-

ing intimate relations with each other. The history of the colonial organization

of the first two, is separate and distinct. Delaware was never an independent

colony or State, until after the Declaration of Independence, in 1770. The

founding of the New Jersey colony occurred when, in 1664, the Duke of York

sold the territory to Lord Berkeley and Sir George Carteret,
8 and the new

proprietors began the work of erecting a State. They published a form of

agreement which they called
"
Concessions,"

3
in which liberal offers were made

to emigrants who might settle within the territory. Among other provisions,

the people were to be exempt from the payment of quit-rents and other burdens,

for the space of five years. Allured by the liberality of the "
Concessions," as

well as by the salubrity of the climate and the fertility of the soil, many families

came from Long Island in 1664, and settled at Elizabethtown
;

4
and in August,

the following year, Philip Carteret (brother of one of the proprietors) was

appointed governor, and arrived at Elizabethtown with a number of settlers.

At first all was peaceable. Nothing disturbed the repose of the colony

during the five years' exemption from rents
;
but when, in 1670, the specified

halfpenny, for the use of each acre of land, was required, murmurs of discon-

tent were loud and universal. Those who had purchased land from the Indians,

denied the right of the proprietors to demand rent from them
;
and some of the

towns had even denied the authority of the Assembly, at its first sitting, in

1668. The whole people combined in resisting the payment of quit-rents ;

and after disputing with the proprietors almost two years, they revolted, called

a new Assembly, appointed a dissolute, illegitimate son of Sir George Carteret,

governor, in May, 1672, and in July following, compelled Philip Carteret to

leave the province. Preparations were in progress to coerce the people into

submission, when New Jersey, and all other portions of the territory claimed

by the Duke of York, fell into the hands of the Dutch,
5
in August, 1673. On

the restoration of the territory to the English,' in November, 1674, the Duke
of York procured a new charter,

7
and then, regardless of the rights of Berkeley

and Carteret, he appointed Edmund Andros, "the tyrant of New England,"

1

Page 92.
*
Page 94. The province was called New Jersey, in honor of Carteret, who was governor of

the island of Jersey, in the British Channel, during the civil war. He was a staunch royalist, and
was the last commander to lower the royal flag, when the Parliament had triumphed.

8 This was a sort of constitution, which provided for a government to be composed of a governor
and council appointed by the proprietors, and an Assembly chosen by the freeholders of the prov-
ince. The legislative power resided in the Assembly ;

the executive in the governor. The Council

and the Assembly were each restricted to twelve members.
* So called, in honor of Elizabeth, wife of Sir George Carteret.
*
Page U7. Page 147.

7
Page 147.

*
Page 130.
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governor of the whole domain. Carteret demurred, and the duke partially

restored his rights ; not, however, without leaving Andros a sufficient pretence

for asserting his authority, and producing annoyances. Berkeley had become

disgusted, and sold his interest in the province [March 28, 1674] to Edward

Byllinge, an English Quaker. Pecuniary embarrassment caused Byllinge to

assign his interest to William Penn, and two others,
1

in 1675. These purchas-

ers, unwilling to maintain a political union with other parties, successfully

negotiated with Carteret for a division of the province, which took place on the

llth of July, 1676. Carteret received the eastern portion as his share, and

the Quakers the western part. From that time the divisions were known as

EAST and WEST JERSEY.

The WE^T JERSEY proprietors gave the people a remarkably liberal consti-

tution of government [March 13, 1677] ;
and in 1677, more than four hundred

Quakers camti from England and settled below the Raritan. Andros required

them to acknowledge the authority of the Duke of York. They refused
;
and

the matter was referred to the eminent Sir William Jones (the oriental scholar)

for adjudication, who decided against the claims of the duke. The latter sub-

mitted to the dticision, released both provinces from allegiance to him, and the

JEIIL'EY& became independent of foreign control. The first popular assembly
in West Jersey *net at Salem, in November, 1681, and adopted a code of laws

for the government of the people.
9

Soon after tie death of Carteret, in December, 1679, the trustees of his

3state offered East Jersey for sale. It was purchased by William Penn and

eleven of his brethren, on the llth of February, 1682, who obtained a new

charter, and on the 27th of July, 1683, appointed Robert Barclay,
3
a very

eminent Quaker preacher, from Aberdeen, governor for life. A large number

of his sect came from Scotland and England ;
and others from New England

ana Long Island settled in East Jersey to enjoy prosperity and repose. But

repose, as well as the administration of Barclay, was of short duration; for

when James succeeded Charles,
4
he appeared to consider his contracts made

while duke, not binding upon his honor as king. He sought to annul the

American charters, and succeeded, as we have seen, in subverting the govern-
ments of several,

5

through the instrumentality of Andros. The JERSEYS were

sufferers in this respect, and were obliged to bow to the tyrant. When he was

driven from the country in 1689,* the provinces were left without regular gov-

ernments, and for more than twelve years anarchy prevailed there. The claims

of the proprietors to jurisdiction, were repudiated by the people; and in 1702,

they gladly relinquished the government by surrendering it, on the 25th of

1 These purchasers immediately sold one half of their interest to the Earl of Perth, from whom
the present town of Perth Amboy derives a part of its name. Amboy, or Ambo, is an Indian

name.
a A remarkable law was enacted at that session. It provided that in all criminal cases, except

treason, murder, and theft, the aggrieved party should have power to pardon the offender.
1 He was the author of " An Apology for Quakers," a work highly esteemed by his sect. It

was written in Latin, and translated into several continental languages. Barclay and Penn were
intimate personal friends, and travelled much together. He died in Ury, in 1690, aged 42 years.

Page 113. Pages 129, 156, and 158. 8
Page 130.
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April, to the crown.
1 The two provinces were united as a royal domain, and

placed under the government of Lord Corribury, the licentious ruler of New

York,
2
in July following.

The province of New Jersey remained a dependency of New York, with a

distinct legislative assembly of its own, until 1738, when, through the efforts

of Lewis Morris,
3
the connection was for ever severed. Morris was appointed

the first royal governor of New Jersey, and managed public affairs with ability

and general satisfaction. From that period until the independence of the colo-

nies was declared, in 1776, the history of the colony presents but few events of

interest to the general reader.

CHAPTER VIII.

PENNSYLVANIA. [1682.]

THE colonial career of Pennsylvania began when, in the autumn of 1682,
William Penn arrived,

4 and by a surrender by the agents of the Duke of York,
"nd a proclamation in the presence of the popular Assembly, the Territories

which now constitute the State of Delaware were united with his province.
5

Already, Penn had proclaimed his intention of being governed by the law of

kindness in his treatment of the Indians
;
and when he came, ho proceeded to

lay the foundation of his new State upon Truth and Justice.6 Where the Ken-

sington portion of the city of Philadelphia now stands, as we have elsewhere

mentioned, he met the Delaware chiefs in council, under the leafless branches

of a wide-spreading elm,
7 on the 4th of November, 1682, and there made with

them a solemn covenant of peace and friendship, and paid them the stipulated

price for their lands. The Indians were delighted, and their hearts melted with

good feeling. Such treatment was an anomaly in the history of the intercourse

of their race with the white people. Even then the fires of a disastrous war

were smouldering on the New England frontiers. 8 It was wonderful how the

savage heart, so lately the dwelling of deepest hatred toward the white man, be-

came the shrine of the holiest attribute of our nature.
" We will live in love

1 The proprietors retained their property in the soil, and their claims to quit-rents. Their

organization has never ceased
;
and unsold, barren tracts of land in West Jersey are still held by

that ancient tenure.
a
Page 149.

8 Son of an officer in Cromwell's army, who purchased an estate near New York, known sa

Morrisiana. He died in 1746. Apart of that estate yet [1883] remains in possession of the Morris

family
*
Page 96.

*
Page 96.

*
By his direction, his agent, William Markham, had opened a friendly correspondence ^-ith the

Indians, and Penn himself had addressed a letter to them, assuring them of his love and brotherly

feelings toward them.
7 The Penn Society of Philadelphia erected a monument upon the spot where the venerable elm

stood, near the intersection of Hanover and Beach-streets, Kensington district. The tree was blown
down in 1810, and was found to be 283 years old. The monument is upon the site of the tree, and
bears suitable inscriptions.

"
King Philip's War, page 92.
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with William Penn and his children, '\they said,
" as long as the moon and the

sun shall endure." They were true to their promise not a drop of Quaker
blood was ever shed bj an Indian.

Having secured the lands, Penn's next care was to found a capital city.

This he proceeded to do, immediately after the treaty with the Indians, upon
lands purchased from the Swedes, lying between the Delaware and the Schuyl-
kill Rivers. The boundaries of streets were marked upon the trunks of the

chestnut, walnut, pine, and other forest trees which covered the land,
1

and the

city was named Philadelphia, which signifies brotherly love. Within twelve

monins almost a hundred houses were erected,
2
and the Indians came daily

with wild fowl and venison, as presents for their "good
Father Penn." Never was a State blessed with a more

propitious beginning, and internal peace and prosperity
marked its course while the Quakers controlled its coun-

cils.

The proprietor convened a second Assembly at Phil-

adelphia, in March, 1683, and then gave the people a

"Charter of Liberties," signed and sealed by his own
PENN S HOLSE.

.

hand. It was so ample and just, that the government
was really a representative democracy. Free religious toleration was ordained,

and laws for the promotion of public and private morality were framed.
3 Un-

like other proprietors, Penn surrendered to the people his rights in the appoint-

ment of officers
;
and until his death, his honest and highest ambition appeared

to be to promote the happiness of the colonists. Because of this happy relation

between the people and the proprietor, and the security against Indian hostili-

ties, Pennsylvania outstripped all of its sister colonies in rapidity of settlement

and permanent prosperity.

In August, 1684, Penn returned to England, leaving five members of the

Council with Thomas Lloyd, as president, to administer the government during
his absence. Soon afterward, the English Revolution occurred [1688] and

king James was driven into exile.
4

Penn's personal regard for James contin-

ued after his fall
;
and for that loyalty, which had a deeper spring than mere

political considerations, he was accused of dissaffection to the new government,
and suffered imprisonments. In the mean while, discontents had sprung up in

1 This fact was the origin of the names of Chestnut, "Walnut, Pine, Spruce, and other streets in

Philadelphia For many years after the city was laid out. these living street-marks remained, and
afforded shade to the inhabitants.

8
Markham, Penn's agent, erected a house for the proprietor's use, in 1682. It is yet [IS*

3
?-]

standing in Letitia court, the entrance to which is from Market-street, between Front and Second-

streets. Another, and finer house, was occupied by Penu in 1700. It yet remains on the corner

of Norris's alley and Second-street It was the residence of General Arnold in 1778. Note 3,

page 287.
*

It was ordained " that to prevent lawsuits, three arbitrators, to be called Peace Makers, should
be appointed by the county courts, to hear and determine small differences between man and man

;

that children should be taught some useful trade
;
that factors wronging their employers should

make satisfaction, and one third over
;
that all causes for irreligion and vulgarity should be repres*

*d
;
and that no man should be molested for his religious opinions.

4 Note 7, page 113.
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Pennsylvania, and the "three lower counties on the Delaware,"
1

offended at

the action of some of the Council, withdrew from the Union" in April, 1691.

Penn yielded to their wishes so far as to appoint a separate deputy governoi

for them.

An important political change now occurred in the colony. Penn's provin-

cial government was taken from him in 1692 [Oct. 31], and Pennsylvania was

placed under the authority of Governor Fletcher, of New York, who reunited

the Delaware counties [May, 1693], to the parent province. All suspicions of

Penn's disloyalty having been removed in 1694, his chartered rights were

restored lx> him [Aug. 30], and he appointed his original agent, William Mark-

ham, deputy governor. He returned to America in December, 1699, and was

pained to find his people discontented, and clamorous for greater political priv-

ileges. Considering their demands reasonable, he gave them a new charter, or

frame of government [Nov. 6, 1701], more liberal in its concessions than the

former. It was cheerfully accepted by the Pennsylvania people, but those of

the Delaware territories, whose delegates had already withdrawn from the

Assembly [Oct. 20], evidently aiming at independence, declined it. Penn

acquiesced in their decision, and allowed them a distinct Assembly. This satis'

fied them, and their first independent legislature was convened at Newcastle in

1703. Although Pennsylvania and Delaware ever afterward continued to have

separate legislatures, they were under the same governor until the Revolution

in 1776.

A few weeks after adjusting difficulties, and granting the new charter, Penn

returned to England [Dec., 1701], and never visited America again. His

departure was hastened by the ripening of a ministerial project for abolishing

all the proprietary governments in America. His health soon afterward de-

clined, and at his death he left his American possessions to his three sons

(Thomas, John, and Richard), then minors, who continued to administer the

government, chiefly through deputies, until the War for Independence in 1776.

Then it became a free and independent State, and the commonwealth purchased
all the claims of Penn's heirs in the province, for about five hundred and eighty
thousand dollars.

3

CHAPTER IX.

THE CAROLINAS. [1665 1680.]

NOTWITHSTANDING the many failures which had dampened the ardor of

English speculators, who had engaged in planting settlements in America, hope
still remained buoyant. Success finally crowned the efforts in New England

|
Page 96. a

Page 96.

On account of the expenses incurred in Pennsylvania, Penn was compelled to borrow $30,000,
and mortgage his province as security. This was the commencement of the State debt of Pennsyl-
vania.
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and further south, and the proprietors of the Carolinas, when settlements

within that domain became permanent,
1 and tides of emigration from various

sources flowed thitherward, began to have gorgeous visions of an empire in

America, that should outshine those of the Old World. It then became their

first care to frame a constitution of government, with functions adequate to the

grand design, and to this task, the earl of Shaftesbury, one of the ablest states-

men of his time, and John Locke, the eminent philosopher, were called. They

completed their labors in March, 1669, and the instrument was called the

Fundamental Constitutions? It was in the highest degree monarchical in its

Character and tendency, and contemplated the transplantation, in America, of

all the ranks and aristocratic distinctions of European society.
8 The spirit of

the whole thing was adverse to the feelings of the people, and its practical

development was an impossibility ; so, after a contest between proprietors and

colonists, for twenty years, the magnificent scheme was abandoned, and the

people were allowed to govern themselves, in their own more simple way.
4 The

disorders which prevailed when the first attempts were made to impose this

scheme of government upon the people, soon ripened into rebellion, especially in

the Albemarle, or northern colony.
6

Excessive taxation and commercial restric-

tions bore heavily upon the industry of the people, and engendered wide-spread
discontent. This was fostered by refugees from Virginia, after Bacon's rebel-

lion, in 1676,' who sought shelter among the people below the Roanoke. They

scattered, broad-cast, over a generous soil, vigorous ideas of popular freedom,

and a year after Bacon's death,
7 the people of the Albemarle County Colony*

revolted. The immediate cause of this movement was the attempt of the acting

governor to enforce the revenue laws against a New England vessel. Led on

by John Culpepper, a refugee from the CARTERET County Colony of South

Carolina,
9 the people seized the chief magistrate [Dec. 10, 1677] and the pub-

lic funds, imprisoned him and six of his council, called a new Assembly, ap-

pointed a new magistrate and judges, and for two years conducted the affairs of

government independent of foreign control. Culpepper went to England to

plead the cause of the people, and was arrested and tried on a charge of treason.

1
Pages 97 and 98.

8
It consists of one hundred and twenty articles, and is supposed to have been the production,

chiefly, of the mind of Shaftesbury.
1 There were to be two orders of nobility : the higher to consist of landgraves, or earls, the

lower of caciques, or barons. The territory was to be divided into counties, each containing 480,000

acres, with one landgrave, and two caciques. There were also to be lords of manors, who, like the

nobles, might hold courts and exercise judicial functions. Persons holding fifty acres were to be

freeholders
;
the tenants held no political franchise, and could npver attain to a higher rank. The

four estates of proprietors, earls, barons, and commons, were to sit in one legislative chamber. The

proprietors were always to be eight hi number, to possess the whole judicial power, and have the

supreme control of all tribunals. The commons were to have four members in the legislature to

every three of the nobility. Thus an aristocratic majority was always secured, and the real repre-
sentatives of the people had no power. Every religion was professedly tolerated, but the Church
of England, only, was declared to be orthodox. Such is an outline of the absurd scheme proposed
for governing the free colonies of the Carolinas.

* A governor, with a council oftwelve six chosen by the proprietors, and six by the Assembly
md a House of Delegates chosen by the freeholders.
6
Page 97. Page 110.

*
Page 112.

Page 97. Page 98.
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Shaftesbury procured his acquittal, and he returned to the Carolinas.
1

Quiet

was restored to the colony, and until the arrival of the unprincipled Seth

Sothel (one of the proprietors), as governor, the people enjoyed repose. Thus

early the inhabitants of that feeble colony practically asserted the grand politi-

cal maxim, that taxation without representation is tyranny? for the defense

of which our Revolutionary fathers fought, a century afterward.

Governor Sothel arrived in North Carolina in 1683. Martin says that
u the dark shades of his character were not relieved by a single ray of virtue ;"

and Chalmers asserts that " the annals of delegated authority included no name

so infamous as Sothel." He plundered the people, cheated the proprietors, and

on all occasions prostituted his office to purposes of private gain. After endur-

ing his oppression almost six years, the people seized him [1689], and were

about sending him to England to answer their accusations before the proprietors,

when he asked to be tried by the colonial Assembly. The favor was granted,

and he was sentenced to banishment for one year, and a perpetual disquali-

fication for the office of governor. He withdrew to the southern colony, where

we shall meet him again.
3 His successor, Philip Ludwell, an energetic, incor-

ruptible man, soon redressed the wrongs of the people, and restored order and

good feelings. Governors Harvey and Walker also maintained quiet and good
will among the people. And the good Quaker, John Archdale, who came to

govern both Carolinas in 1695, placed the colony in a position for attaining

future prosperity, hitherto unknown.

While these events were transpiring in the northern colony, the people of

the Carteret* or southern colony, were steadily advancing in wealth and num-

bers. Their first popular legislature of which we have records, was convened

in 1674,
5 but it exhibited an unfavorable specimen of republican government.

Jarring interests and conflicting creeds produced violent debates and irreconcil-

able discord. For a long time the colony was distracted by quarrels, and

anarchy prevailed. At length the Stono Indians gathered in bands, and plun-
dered the plantations of grain and cattle, and even menaced the settlers with

destruction. The appearance of this common enemy healed their dissensions,

and the people went out as brothers to chastise the plunderers. They com-

pletely subdued the Indians, in 1680. Many of them were made prisoners,

and sold for slaves in the West Indies, and the Stonos never afterward had a

tribal existence.

Wearied by the continual annoyance of the Indians, many English familief

1

Culpepper afterward became surveyor-general of the province, and in 1680, he was employed
in laying out the new city of Charleston. [See next page.] His previous expulsion from the southern

colony, was on account of his connection with a rebellious movement in 1672.
a
Page 211. s

Page 167.
4
Page 98.

6 The settlers brought with them an unfinished copy of the " Fundamental Constitutions," but

they at once perceived the impossibility of conformity to that scheme of government. They held a

"parliamentary convention" in 1672, and twenty delegates were elected by the people to act with
the governor and the council, as a legislature. Thus early, representative government was estab-

lished, but its operations seem not to have been very successful, and a legislature proper, of which
we have any record, was not organized until 1674, when an upper and a lower House was estab-

lished, arid laws for the province were enacted.
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CHARLESTON IN 1680.

crossed the Ashley, and seated themselves upon the more eligible locality of

Oyster Point, where they founded the present city of Charleston,
1

in 1680.

There a flourishing village soon appeared ;

and after the subjugation of the savages,
1

the old settlement was abandoned, and now
not a vestige of it remains upon the culti-

vated plantation at Old Town, where it

stood. The Dutch settlers3
spread over

the country along the Edisto and San-

tee, and planted the seeds of future flour-

ishing communities, while immigrants from

different parts of Europe and from New

England swelled the population of Charles-

ton and vicinity. Nor did they neglect political affairs. While they were

vigilant in all that pertained to their material interests, they were also aspir-

ants, even at that early day, for political independence.

Another popular legislature was convened at Charleston in 1682. It ex-

hibited more harmony than the first,
4 and several useful laws were framed.

Emigration was now pouring in a tide of population more rapid than any of the

colonies below New England had yet experienced. Ireland, Scotland,
5
Holland,

and France, contributed largely to the flowing stream. In 1686-7, quite a

krge number of Huguenots, who had escaped from the fiery persecutions which

were revived in France by the revocation of the Edict of Nantes,
6 landed at

Charleston. English hatred of the French7 caused the settlers to look with

jealousy upon these refugees, and for more than ten years [1686 to 1697] the

latter were denied the rights of citizenship.

Shaftesbury's scheme of government was as distasteful to the people of

South Carolina, as to those of the northern colony,
8 and they refused to accept

it. They became very restive, and seemed disposed to cast off all allegiance to

the proprietors and the mother country. At this crisis, James Colleton, a

brother of one of the proprietors, was appointed governor [1686]. and was

vested with full powers to bring the colonists into submission. His administra-

tion of about four years was a very turbulent one. He was in continual colli-

1 Note 1, page 165. The above engraving illustrates the manner of fortifying towns, as a de-

fense against foes. It exhibits the walls of Charleston in 1 680, and the location of churches in

1704. The points marked a a a, etc., are bastions for cannons. P, English church
; Q, French

church
; R, Independent church

; S, Anabaptist church
;
and T, Quaker meeting-house.

a
Page 165.

8
They had founded the village of Jamestown several miles up the Ashley River.

4
Page 164.

* In 1684, Lord CardroM, and ten Scotch families, who had suffered persecution, came to South

Carolina, and settled at Port Royal. The Spaniards at St. Augustine claimed jurisdiction over Port

Royal ;
and during the absence of Cardon [1686], they attacked and dispersed the settlers, and des-

olated their plantations.
* In the city of Nantes, Henry the Fourth of France issued an edict, hi 1598, in favor of the

Huguenots, or Protestants, allowing them free toleration. The profligate Louis the Fourteenth,
stung with remorse in his old age, sought to gain the favor of Heaven by bringing his whole people
into the bosom of the Roman Catholic Church. He revoked the famous edict in 1686, and instantly
the fires of persecution were kindled throughout the empire. Many thousands of the Protestanta
left France, and found refuge in other countries.

T
Page 180.

8
Page 97-
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sion with the people, and at length drove them to open rebellion. They seized

e public records, imprisoned the secretary of the province, and called a new

sembly. Pleading the danger of an Indian or Spanish invasion,
1

the gov-

ernor called out the militia, and proclaimed the province to be under martial

kw.* This measure only increased the exasperation of the people, and he was

impeached, and banished from the province by the Assembly, in 1690.

While this turbulence and misrule was at its height, Sothel arrived from

orth Carolina, pursuant to his sentence of banishment,
3 and the people un-

iscly consented to his assumption of the office of governor.
4

They soon

spented their want of judgment. For two years he plundered and oppressed

em, and then [1692] the Assembly impeached and banished him also. Then

came Philip Ludwell to re-establish the authority of the proprietors, but the

people, thoroughly aroused, resolved not to tolerate even so good a man as he,

if his mission was to enforce obedience to the absurd Fundamental Constitu-

tions.
6

After a brief and turbulent administration, he gladly withdrew to Vir-

ginia, and soon afterward [1693], the proprietors abandoned Shaftesbury's

scheme, and the good Quaker, John Archdale, was sent, in 1695, to administer

a more simple and republican form of government, for both the Carolinas. Hia

administration was short, but highly beneficial
;'

and the people of South Car-

olina always looked back to the efforts of that good man, with gratitude. He
healed dissensions, established equitable laws, and so nearly effected an entire

reconciliation of the English to the French settlers, that in the year succeeding
his departure from the province, the Assembly admitted the latter [1697] to all

the privileges of citizens and freemen. From the close of Archdale' s adminis-

tration, the progress of the two Carolina colonies should be considered as separ-
"te and distinct, although they were not politically separated until 1729. 7

NORTH CAROLINA.

We may properly date the permanent prosperity of North Carolina from the

adminstration of Archdale,* when the colonists began to turn their attention to

the interior of the country, where richer soil invited the agriculturist, and the

fur of the beaver and otter allured the adventurous hunter. The Indians along
the sea-coast were melting away like frost in the sunbeams. The powerful
Hatteras tribe,

9 which numbered three thousand in Raleigh's time, were Veduced

to fifteen bowmen
;
another tribe had entirely disappeared ;

and the remnants

of some others had sold their lands or lost them by fraud, and were driven back

to the deep wilderness. Indulgence in strong drinks, and other vices of civilia-

1 The Spaniards at St. Augustine had menaced the English settlements in South Carolina, and,
ae we have seen [note 5, page 1 66], had actually broken up a little Scotch colony at Port Royal

' Note 8, page 170. 3

Page 165.
4 On his arrival, Sothel took sides with the people against Colleton, and thus, in the moment of

their anger, he unfortunately gained their good will and confidence.
6
Page 164.

6 The culture of rice was introduced into South Carolina during Archdale's administration.
Some seed was given to the governor by the captain of a ^Sisel from Madagascar. It was distrib

uted among several planters, and thus its cultivation began,
7
Page 171. 8

Page 165. .

* Note 5, page 20.
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ation. had decimated them, and their beautiful land, all the way to the Yadkin

and Catawba, was speedily opened to the sway of the white man.

At the commencement of the eighteenth century, religion began to exert an

influence in North Carolina. The first Anglican
1

church edifice was then built

in Chowan county, in 1705. The Quakers
2

multiplied; and in 1707, a com-

pany o^ Huguenots,
3 who had settled in Virginia, came and sat down upon the

beautiful banks of the Trent, a tributary of the Neuse River. Two years later

[1709 J, a hundred German families, driven from their homes on the Rhine, by

persecution, penetrated the interior of North Carolina, and under Count Graf-

fenried, founded settlements along the head waters of the Neuse, and upon the

Roanoke. While settlements were thus spreading and strengthening, and gen-

eral prosperity blessed the province, a fearful calamity fell upon the inhabitants

of the interior. The broken Indian tribes made a last effort, in 1711, to regain

the beautiful country they had lost. The leaders in the conspiracy to crush

the white people, were the Tuscaroras 4 of the inland region, and the Corees5

further south and near the sea-board. They fell like lightning from the clouds

upon the scattered German settlements along the Roanoke and Pamlico Sound.

In one night [Oct. 2, 1711], one hundred and thirty persons perished by the

hatchet. Along Albemarle Sound, the savages swept with the knife of mur-

der in one hand, and the torch of desolation in the other, and for three days

they scourged the white people, until disabled by fatigue and drunkenness.

Those who escaped the massacre called upon their brethren of the southern

colony for aid, and Colonel Barnwell, with a party of Carolinians and friendly

Indians of the southern nations,
6 marched to their relief. He drove the Tus-

caroras to their fortified town in the present Craven county, and there made a

treaty of peace with them. His troops violated the treaty on their way back,

by outrages upon the Indians, and soon hostilities were renewed. Late in the

year [Dec., 1712], Colonel Moore7 arrived from South Carolina with a few white

men and a large body of Indians, and drove the Tuscaroras to their fort in the

present Greene county, wherein [March, 1713] he made eight hundred of them

prisoners. The remainder of the Tuscaroras fled northward in June, and join-

ing their kindred on the southern borders of Lake Ontario, they formed the

sixth nation of the celebrated IROQUOIS confederacy in the province of New
York. 8 A treaty of peace was made with the Corees in 1715, and North Car-

olina neve:* afterward suffered from Indian hostilities. 9

SOUTH CAROLINA.

Although really united, the two colonies acted independently of each other

the close of the seventeenth century. Soon after the commencement of

1 The established Church of England was so called, to distinguish it from the Romish Church.

,

*
Page 122. s

Page 49.
*
Page 25. Page 20.

*
They consisted of Creeks, Catawbas, Cherokees, and Yamassees. See pages 26 to 30, inclusivet

* A son of James Moore, who was governor of South Carolina in 1700.
8
Page 23.

* The province issued bills of credit (for the first time) to the amount of about forty thousand

dollars, to defray the expenses of the war.
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Queen Anne's War 1

[May, 1702], Governor Moore of South Carolina, proposed

an expedition against the Spaniards at St. Augustine.
2 The Assembly assented,

and appropriated almost ten thousand dollars for the service. Twelve hundred

men (one half Indians) were raised, and proceeded, in two divisions, to the

attack. The main division, under the governor, went by sea, to blockade tho

harbor, and the remainder proceeded along the coast, under the command of

Colonel Daniels. The latter arrived first, and attacked and plundered the

town. The Spaniards retired within their fortress with provisions for four

months
;
and as the Carolinians had no artillery, their position was impreg-

nable. Daniels was then sent to Jamaica, in the West Indies, to procure bat-

tery cannon, but before his return, two Spanish vessels had appeared, and so

frightened Governor Moore that he raised the blockade, and fled. Daniels

barely escaped capture, on his return, but he reached Charleston in safety.

This ill-advised expedition burdened the colony with a debt of more than

twenty-six thousand dollars, for the payment of which, bills of credit were

issued. This was the first emission of paper money in the Carolinas.

A more successful expedition was undertaken by Governor Moore, in De-

cember, 1703, against the Apalachian
3

Indians, who were in league with the

Spaniards. Their chief villages were between the Alatamaha and Savannah

Rivers. These were desolated. Almost eight hundred Indians were taken

prisoners, and the whole territory of the Apalachians was made tributary to the

English. The province had scarcely become tranquil after this chastisement of

the Indians, when a new cause for disquietude appeared. Some of the proprie-

tors had long cherished a scheme for establishing the Anglican Church,
4 as the

State religion, in the Carolinas. When Nathaniel Johnson succeeded Governor

Moore, he found a majority of churchmen in the Assembly, and by their aid,

the wishes of the proprietors were gratified. The Anglican Church was made

the established religion, and Dissenters5 were excluded from all public offices.

This was an usurpation of chartered rights ;
and the aggrieved party laid the

matter before the imperial ministry. Their cause was sustained
;
and by order

of Parliament, the colonial Assembly, in November, 1706, repealed the law of

disfranchisement, but the Church maintained its dominant position until tho

Revolution.

The ire of the Spaniards was greatly excited by the attack upon St. Augus-

tine,
6 and an expedition, composed of five French and Spanish vessels,

7 with a

large body of troops, was sent from Havana to assail Charleston, take posses-

sion of the province, and annex it to the Spanish domain of Florida. 8 The

squadron crossed Charleston bar in May, 1706, and about eight hundred troops

were landed at different points. The people seized their arms, and, led by the

governor and Colonel Rhett, they drove the invaders back to their vessels, after

1

Page 135. Page 51.
* A tribe of the Mobilian family [page 29] situated south of the Savannah River.
* Note 1, page 168. 6 Note 2, page 76.

*
Page 51.

7
It will be remembered [see page 135] that in 1702, England declared war against France, and

that Spain was a party to the quarrel
"

Page 42.
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killing or capturing almost three hundred men. They also captured a French

vessel, with its crew. It was a complete victory. So the storm which appeared
so suddenly and threatening, was dissipated in a day, and the sunshine of peace
and prosperity again gladdened the colony.

, A few years later, a more formidable tempest brooded over the colony,

when a general Indian confederacy was secretly formed, to exterminate the

white people by a single blow. Within forty days, in the spring of 1715, the
Tndian tribes from the Cape Fear to the St. Mary's, and back to the moun-

tains, had coalesced in the conspiracy ;
and before the people of Charleston had

any intimation of danger, one hundred white victims had been sacrified in the

remote settlements. The Creeks,
1

Yamassees,
2 and Apalachians

8 on the south,

confederated with the Cherokees,* Catawbas
5

,
and Congarces

6 on the west, in all

six thousand strong ;
while more than a thousand warriors issued from the

Neuse region, to avenge their misfortunes in the wars of 1712-13. 7
It was a

cloud of fearful portent that hung in the sky ;
and the people were filled with

terror, for they knew not at what moment the consuming lightning might leap

forth. At this fearful crisis, Governor Craven acted with the utmost wisdor

and energy. He took measures to prevent men from leaving the colony ;
t(

secure all the arms and ammunition that could be found, and to arm faithfu

negroes to assist the white people. He declared the province to be under martin

law,
8 and then, at the head of twelve hundred men, black and white, he marche

to meet the foe, who were advancing with the knife, hatchet, and torch,

fearful activity. The Indians were at first victorious, but after several bloody

encounters, the Yamassees and their southern neighbors were driven across th<

Savannah [May, 1715], and halted not until they found refuge under Spanisl

guns at St. Augustine. The Cherokees and their northern neighbors had not

yet engaged in the war, and they returned to their hunting grounds, deeplj

impressed with the strength and greatness of the white people.
And now the proprietary government of South Carolina was drawing to

close. The governors being independent of the people, were often haughty and

exacting, and the inhabitants had borne the yoke of their rule for many years,

with great impatience. While their labor was building up a prosperous State,

the proprietors refused to assist them in times of danger, or to reimburse

their expenses in the protection of the province from invasion. The whole

burden of debt incurred in the war with the Yamassees was left upon the

shoulders of the people. The proprietors not only refused to pay any portion
}f it, but enforced their claims for quit-rents with great severity. The people
iaw no hope in the future, but in royal rule and protection. So they met in

Convention; resolved to forswear all allegiance to the proprietors; and on

G overnor Johnson's refusal to act as chief magistrate, under the king, they

i Page 30. 2 Page 30. a Note 3, page 168. 4 page 27. Page 26.

6 This was a small tribe that inhabited the country in the vicinity of the present city of Colum-

bia, in South Carolina.
1 Page 168.

s Martial law may be proclaimed by rulers, in an emergency, and the civil law, for the time

being, is made subservient to the military. The subject is to allow immediate and energetic action

for repelling invasions, or for other purposes.
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appointed [December 21, 1719] Colonel Moore 1
governor of the colony. The

matter was laid before the imperial government, when the colonists were sus-

tained, and South Carolina became a royal province.
8

The people of North Carolina
3
also resolved on a change of government:

and after a continued controversy for ten years, the proprietors, in 1729, sold

to the king, for about eighty thousand dollars, all their claims to the soil and

incomes in both provinces. North and South Carolina were then separated.

George Burrington was appointed the first royal governor over the former, and

Robert Johnson over the latter. From that period until the commencement of

the French and Indian war,
4
the general history of the CAROLINAS presents but

few features of interest, except the efforts made for defending the colony against

the Spaniards and the Indians. The people gained very little by a change of

owners
;
and during forty-five years, until the revolution made the people

independent, there was a succession of disputes with the royal governors.

CHAPTER X.

GEORGIA. [1732.]

THE colony founded by Oglethorpe on the Savannah River rapidly
increased in numbers, and within eight years, twenty-five hundred immigrants
were sent over, at an expense to the trustees

5
of four hundred thousand dollars.

Yet prosperity did not bless the enterprise. Many of the settlers were unac-

customed to habits of industry, and were mere drones
;
and as the use of slave

labor was prohibited, tillage was neglected. Even the industrious Scotch, Ger-

man, and Swiss families who came over previous to 1740, could not give that

vitality to industrial pursuits, which was necessary to a development of the

resources of the country. Anxious for the permanent growth of the colony,

Oglethorpe went to England in 1734, and returned in 1736, with about three

hundred immigrants. Among them were one hundred and
fifty Highlanders,

well skilled in military affairs. These constituted the first army of the colony

during its early struggles. John Wesley, founder of the Methodist denom-

ination, also came with Oglethorpe, to make Georgia a religious colony, and to

spread the gospel among the Indians. He was unsuccessful
;

for his strict

moral doctrines, his fearless denunciations of vice, and his rigid exercise of

ecclesiastical authority made him quite unpopular among the great mass of the

colonists, who winced at restraint. The eminent George Whitefield also visited

Georgia in 1738, when only twenty-three years of age, and succeeded in estab-

lishing an orphan asylum near Savannah, which flourished many years, and

1 Note 7, page 168.
* The first governor, by royal appointment, was Francis Nicholson, who had been successively

governor of New York [page 144], Maryland, Virginia, and Nova Scotia.
1

Page 167.
*
Page 179.

6

Page 100.
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was a real blessing. The Christian efforts of those men, prosecuted with the

most sincere desire for the good of their fellow-mortals, were not appreciated.

Their seed fell upon stony ground, and after the death of Whitefield, in 1770,

his
" House of Mercy" in Georgia, deprived of his sustaining influence, became

a desolation.

A cloud ol trouble appeared in the Southern horizon. The rapid increase

of the new colony excited the jealousy of the Spaniards at St. Augustine, and

the vigilant Oglethorpe, expecting such a result, prepared to oppose any hos-

tile movements against his settlement. He established a fort on the site of

Augusta, as a defence against the Indians, and he erected fortifications at

Darien, on Cumberland Island, at Frederica (St. Simon's Island), and on the

north bank of the St. John, the southern boundary of the English claims.

Spanish commissioners came from St. Augustine to protest against these prepar-

ations, and to demand the immediate evacuation of the whole of Georgia, and

of all South Carolina below Port Royal.
1

Oglethorpe, of course, refused com-

pliance, and the Spaniards threatened him with war. In the winter of 1736-7,

Oglethorpe went to England to make preparations to meet the exigency. He
returned in October following, bearing the commission of a brigadier, and lead-

ing a regiment of six hundred well-disciplined troops, for the defense of the

whole southern frontier of the English possessions.
1 But for two years their

services were not much needed
;
then war broke out between England and

Spain [November, 1739], and Oglethorpe prepared an expedition against St.

Augustine. In May, 1740, he entered Florida with four hundred of his best

troopa, some volunteers from South Carolina, and a large body of friendly

Creek Indians
;

8
in all more than two thousand men. His first conquest was

Fort Diego, twenty miles from St. Augustine. Then Fort Moosa, within two

miles of the city, surrendered
;
but when he appeared before the town and for-

tress, and demanded instant submission, he was answered by a defiant refusal.

A small fleet under Captain Price blockaded the harbor, and for a time cut off

supplies from the Spaniards, but swift-winged galleys
4

passed through the block-

ading fleet, and supplied the garrison with several weeks' provisions. Ogle-

thorpe had no artillery with which to attack the fortress, and being warned by
the increasing heats of summer, and sickness in his camp, not to wait for their

supplies to become exhausted, he raised the siege and returned to Savannah.

The ire of the Spaniards was aroused, and they, in turn, prepared to invade

Georgia in the summer of 1742. An armament, fitted out at Havana and St.

Augustine, and consisting of thirty-six vessels, with more than three thousand

troops, entered the harbor of St. Simon's, and landed a little above the town

of the same name, on the 16th of July, 1742, and erected a battery of twenty

guns. Oglethorpe had been apprised of the intentions of the Spaniards, and

1 Note 5, page 166.
* His commission gave him the command of the militia of South Carolina also, and he stood as

a guard between the English and Spanish possessions of the southern country.
*
Page 30.

4 A low built vessel propelled by both sails and oars. The war vessels of the ancients were all

galleys. See Norman vessel, page 35.
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after unsuccessfully applying to the governor of South Carolina for troops and

supplies, he marched to St. Simon's, and made his head- quarters at his princi-

fortress at Frederica.
1 He was at Fort Simon, near the landing place of the

invaders, with less than eight hundred men, exclusive of Indians, when the

enemy appeared. He immediately spiked the guns of the fort, destroyed his

stores, and retreated to Frederica. There he anxiously awaited hoped-for rein-

forcements and supplies from Carolina, and then he successfully repulsed several

detachments of the Spaniards, who attacked him. He finally resolved to make

a night assault upon the enemy's battery, at St. Simon's. A deserter (a

French soldier) defeated his plan ;
but the sagacity of Oglethorpe caused the

miscreant to be instrumental in driving the invaders from the coast. He bribed

a Spanish prisoner to carry a letter to the deserter, which contained information

respecting a British fleet that was about to attack St. Augustine.
8 Of course

the letter was handed to the Spanish commander, and the Frenchman was

arrested as a spy. The intelligence in Oglethorpe' s letter alarmed the enemy;
and while the officers were holding a council, some Carolina vessels, with sup-

plies for the garrison at Frederica, appeared in the distance. Believing them

to be part of the British fleet alluded to, the Spaniards determined to attack

the Georgians immediately, and then hasten to St. Augustine. On their march

to assail Frederica, they were ambuscaded in a swamp. Great slaughter of the

invaders ensued, and the place is still called Bloody Marsh. The survivors

retreated in confusion to their vessels, and sailed immediately to St. Augustine.*

On tbeir way, they attacked the English fort at the southern extremity of Cum-
berland Island,

4
on the 19th of July, but were repulsed with the loss of two

galleys. The whole expedition was so disastrous to the Spaniards, that the

commander (Don Manuel de Monteano) was dismissed from the service. Ogle-

thorpe' s stratagem saved Georgia, and, perhaps, South Carolina, from utter

ruin.

Having fairly established his colony, Oglethorpe went to England in 1743,

and never returned to Georgia, where, for ten years, he had nobly labored to

secure an attractive asylum for the oppressed.
6 He left the province in a tran-

quil state. The mild military rule under which the people had lived, was

changed to civil government in 1743, administered by a president and council,

under the direction of the trustees,
6

yet the colony continued to languish.

Several causes combined to produce this condition. We have already alluded

to the inefficiency of most of the earlier settlers, and the prohibition of slave

labor.
7

They were also deprived of the privileges of commerce and of traffic

J The remains of Fort Frederica yet formed a very picturesque ruin on the plantation of,
"W. W. Hazzard, Esq., of St. Simon's Island, in 1856.

8
Oglethorpe addressed the Frenchman as if he was a spy of the English. He directed the

deserter to represent the Georgians as in a weak condition, to advise the Spaniards to attack them

immediately, and to persuade the Spaniards to remain three days longer, within which time six

British men-of-war, and two thousand men, from Carolina, would probably enter the harbor of St
Augustine.

8

They first burned Fort Simon, but in their haste they left several of their cannons and a

quantity of provisions behind them.
*
Fort William. There was another small fort on the northern end of the island, called Fort

Andrew. 6
Page 100. *

Page 100.
'
Page 171.
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with the Indians
;
and were not allowed the ownership, in fee, of the lands

which they cultivated.
1 In consequence of these restrictions, there were no

incentives to labor, except to supply daily wants. General discontent pre-

vailed. They saw the Carolinians growing rich by the use of slaves, and by
commerce with the West Indies. Gradually the restrictive laws were evaded.

Slaves were brought from Carolina, and hired, first for a short period, and then

for a hundred years, or for life. The price paid for life-service was the money
value of the slave, and the transaction was, practically, a sale and purchase.

Then slave-ships came to Savannah directly from Africa
;
slave labor was gen-

erally used in 1750, and Georgia became a planting State. In 1752, at the

expiration of the twenty-one years named in the patent,
2 the trustees gladly

resigned the charter into the hands of the king, and from that time until the

Revolution, Georgia remained a royal province.

CHAPTER XI.

A RETROSPECT. [14921756.]

IN the preceding pages we have considered the principal events whi

occurred within the domain of our Republic from the time of first discover*

in 1492, to the commencement of the last inter-colonial war between the

glish and French settlers, a period of about two hundred and sixty y
During that time, fifteen colonies were planted,

8
thirteen of which were com-

menced within the space of about fifty-six years from 1607 to 1673. By the

union of Plymouth and Massachusetts,* and Connecticut and New Haven,
6
the

number of colonies was reduced to thirteen, and these were they which went

into the revolutionary contest in 1775. The provinces of Canada and Nova

Scotia, conquered by the English, remained loyal, and to this day they continue

to be portions of the British empire.
In the establishment of the several colonies, which eventually formed the

thirteen United States of America, several European nations contributed vig-

orous materials
;
and people of opposite habits, tastes, and religious faith, became

commingled, after making impressions of their distinctive characters where their

influence was first felt. England furnished the largest proportion of colonists,

and her children always maintained sway in the government and industry of the

whole country ;
while Scotland, Ireland, Germany, Holland, France, Sweden,

Denmark, and the Baltic region, contributed large quotas of people and other

colonial instrumentalities. Churchmen and Dissenters,
6 Roman Catholics and

1
Page 116. Page 100.

*
Virginia, Plymouth, Massachusetts Bay, New Hampshire, Connecticut, New Haven, Rhoda

Island, New York, New Jersey, Delaware, Maryland, Pennsylvania, North and South Carolina, acd

Gorgia, Page 132.
*
Page 89. Note 2, page 76.
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Quakers,
1 came and sat down by the side of each other. For a while, the dis-

sonance of nations and creeds prevented entire harmony ;
but the freedom en-

joyed, the perils and hardships encountered and endured, the conflicts with

pagan savages on one hand, and of hierarchical* an*l governmental oppression

on the other, which they maintained for generations, shoulder to shoulder, dif-

fused a brotherhood of feeling throughout the whole social body of the colonists,

md resulted in harmony, sympathy, and love. And when, as children of one

lily, they loyally defended the integrity of Great Britain (then become the

"mother country" of nearly all) against the aggressions of the French and In-

dians
3

[1756 to 1763], and yet were compelled, by the unkindness of that

mother, to sever the filial bond* [1776], their hearts beat as with one pulsation,

and they struck the dismembering blow as with one hand.

There was a great diversity of character exhibited by the people of the sev-

eral colonies, differing according to their origin and the influence of climate and

pursuits. The Virginians and their southern neighbors, enjoying a mild cli-

mate, productive of tendencies to voluptuousness and ease, were from those

classes of English society where a lack of rigid moral discipline allowed free

living and its attendant vices. They generally exhibited less moral restraint,

more hospitality, and greater frankness, and social refinement, than the people
of New England. The latter were from among the middle classes, and in-

cluded a great many religious enthusiasts, possessing more zeal than knowl-

edge. They were extremely strict in their notions; very rigid in manners,
and jealous of strangers. Their early legislation, recognizing, as it did, the

most minute regulations of social life, often presented food for merriment.
5

Yet their intentions were pure ;
their designs were noble

; and, in a great de-

gree, their virtuous purposes were accomplished. They aimed to make every
member of society a Christian, according to their own pattern ;

and if they
did not fully accomplish their object, they erected strong bulwarks against those

1 Note 6, page 122, and note 3, page 123.
8
Hierarchy is, in a general sense, a priestly or ecclesiastical government. Such was the original

form of government of the ancient Jews, when the priesthood held absolute rule.
8 Period IV., chapter xii., page 179.

4
Page 251.

6
They assumed the right to regulate the expenditures of the people, even for wearing-apparel,

according to their several incomes. The general court of Massachusetts, on one occasion, required
the proper officers to notice the "apparel" of the people, especially their "ribands and great boots.

1 '

Drinking of healths, wearing funeral badges, and many other things that seemed improper, were
forbidden. At Hartford, the general court kept a constant eye upon the morals of the people. Free-

men were compelled to vote under penalty of a fine of sixpence ;
the use of tobacco was prohibited

to persons under twenty years of age, without the certificate of a physician ;
and no others were

allowed to use it more than once a day, and then they must be ten miles from any house. The

people of Hartford were all obliged to rise in the morning when the watchman rang his bell. These
are but a few of the hundreds of similar enactments found on the records of the New England
courta In 1646, the Legislature of Massachusetts passed a law, which imposed the penalty of a

flogging upon any one who should kiss a woman in the streets. More than a hundred years after-

ward, this law was enforced in Boston. The captain of a British man-of-war happened to return
from a cruise, on Sunday. His overjoyed wife met him on the wharf, and he kissed her several

times. The magistrates ordered him to be flogged. The punishment incurred no ignominy, and he
associated freely with the best citizens. When about to depart, the captain invited the magistrates
and others on board his vessel, to dine. "When dinner was over, he caused all the magistrates to

be flogged, on deck, in sight of the town. Then assuring them that he considered accounts settled

between him and them, he dismissed them, and set sail.
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EARLY N. E. UOUbE.*

DUTCHMAN.

[1660.]

little vices vl.ioh compose great private and public

evils. Dwelling upon a parsimonious soil, and pos-

sessing neither the means nor the inclination for

sumptuous living, indulged in by their southern breth-

ren, their dwellings were simple, and their habits

frugal.

In New York, and portions of Pennsylvania and

New Jersey, the manners, customs, and pursuits of

the Dutch prevailed even a century after the English

conquest of New Netherland
2

[1664], and society had become

permeated by English ideas and customs. They were plodding

money-getters ;
abhorred change and innovation, and loved ease.

They possessed few of the elements of progress, but many of the

substantial social virtues necessary to the stability of a State, and

the health of society. From these the Swedes and Finns upon the

Delaware
3
did not differ much

;
but the habits of the Quakers,

who finally predominated in West Jersey
4 and Pennsylvania,

8

were quite different. They always exhibited a refined simplicity

and equanimity, without ostentatious displays of piety, that wor

esteem
;
and they were governed by a religious sentiment without

fanaticism, which formed a powerful safeguard against vice and

immorality.
In Maryland,' the earlier settlers were also less rigid moralists than the

New Englanders, and greater formalists in religion. They were more refined,

equally industrious, but lacked the stability of character and perseverance

in pursuits, of the people of the East. But at the close of the period we have

been considering [1756], the peculiarities of the inhabitants of each section

were greatly modified by inter-migration, and a general conformity to the ne-

cessities of their several conditions, as founders of new States in a wilderness.

The tooth of religious bigotry and intolerance had lost its keenness and its

poison, and when the representatives of the several colonies met in a general

Congress
7

[Sept., 1774], for the public good, they stood as brethren before ena

altar, while the eloquent Duch& laid the fervent petitions of their hearts before

the throne of Omnipotence.
8

The chief pursuit of the colonists was, necessarily, agriculture ; yet, during
the time we have considered, manufactures and commerce were not wholly neg-

lected. Necessity compelled the people to make many things which their

jx)verty would not allow them to buy ;
and manual labor, especially in the Nev,-

England provinces, was dignified from the beginning. The settlers came where

a throne and its corrupting influences were unknown, and where the idleness

and privileges of aristocracy had no abiding-place. In the magnificent forests

1 This is a picture of one of the oldest houses in New England, and is a favorable specimen of

the best class of frame dwellings at that time. It is yet [1883] standing, we believe, near Hedfield,
in Massachusetts. a

Page 144.
s

Page 93.
4
Page 160.

6
Page 161.

*
Page 81.

T
Page 2*8.

8
Page 228.
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of the New World, where a feudal lord
1 had never stood, they began a life full

youth, vigor, and labor, such as the atmosphere of the elder governments of

e earth could not then sustain. They were compelled to be self-reliant, and

hat they could not buy from the workshops of England for their simple ap-

parel and furniture, and implements of culture, they rudely manufactured,
2
and

were content.

The commerce of the colonies had but a feeble infancy ;
and never, until

they were politically separated from Great Britain [1776J, could their inter-

change of commodities be properly dignified with the name of Commerce. En-

gland early became jealous of the independent career of the colonists in respect
to manufactured articles, and navigation acts,

3 and other unwise and unjust
restraints upon the expanding industry of the Americans, were brought to bear

upon them. As early as 1636, a Massachusetts vessel of thirty tons made a

trading voyage to the West Indies; and two years later [1638], another vessel

went from Salem to New Providence, and returned with a cargo of salt, cotton,

tobacco, and negroes.
4

This was the dawning of commerce in America. The

eastern people also engaged quite extensively in fishing ;
and all were looking

forward to wealth from ocean traffic, as well as that of the land, when the pass-

age of the second Navigation Act,
6
in 1660, evinced the strange jealousy of

Great Britain. From that period, the attention of Parliament was often

directed to the trade and commerce of the colonies, and in 1719, the House of

Commons declared "that erecting any manufactories in the colonies, tended to

lessen their dependence upon Great Britain." Woolen goods, paper, hemp,
arid iron were manufactured in Massachusetts and other parts of New England,
as early as 1732

;
and almost every family made coarse cloth for domestic use.

Heavy duties had been imposed upon colonial iron sent to England ;
and the

colonists, thus deprived of their market for pig iron, were induced to attempt
the manufacture of steel and bar iron for their own use. It was not until

almost a century [1750] afterward that the mother country perceived the folly

of her policy in this respect, and admitted colonial pig iron, duty free, first into

London, and soon afterward into the rest of the kingdom. Hats were manufac-

1 Note ?&, page 62.
a From the beginning of colonization there were shoemakers, tailors, and blacksmiths in the sev-

eral colonies. Chalmers says of New England in 1673: "There be fine iron works which cast no
guns ;

no house in New England has above twenty rooms ; not twenty in Boston have ten rooms
each

;
a dancing-school was set up here, but put down ;

a fencing-school is allowed. There be no
musicians by trade. All cordage, sail-cloth, and mats, come from England ;

no cloth made there
worth four shillings per yard ;

no alum, no copperas, no salt, made by their sun."
8 The first Navigation Act [1651] forbade all importations into England, except in English

ships, or those belonging to English colonies. In 1660, this act was confirmed, and unjust additions
were made to it. The colonies were forbidden to .export their chief productions to any country ex-

cept to England or its dependencies. Similar acts, all bearing heavily upon colonial commerce,
were made law, from time to time. See note 4, page 109.

4
This was the first introduction of slaves into New England. The first slaves introduced into

ths English colonies, were those landed and sold in Virginia in 1620. [See note 6, page 105.] They
were first recognized as such, by law, in Massachusetts, in 1641

;
in Connecticut and Rhode Island,

about 1650; in New York, in 1656; in Maryland, in 1663
;
and in New Jersey, in 1665. There

were but few slaves in Pennsylvania, and those were chiefly in Philadelphia, There were some
there as early as 1690. The people of Delaware held some at about the same time. The introduc-
tion of slaves into the Carolinas was coeval with their settlement, and into Georgia about the year
1750, when the people generally evaded the prohibitory law. Page 174.

6 Note 4, page 109.

12
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tured and carried from one colony to the other in exchange ;
and at about the

same time, brigantines and small sloops were built in Massachusetts and Penn-

sylvania, and exchanged with West India merchants for rum, sugar, wines, and

silks. These movements were regarded with disfavor by the British Govern-

ment, and unwisely considering the increase of manufactures in the colonies to

be detrimental to English interests, greater restrictions were ordained. It was

enacted that all manufactories of iron and steel in the colonies, should be con-

sidered a "common nuisance," to be abated within thirty days after notice

being given, or the owner should suffer a fine of a thousand dollars.
1 The ex-

portation of hats even from one colony to another was prohibited, and no hatter

was allowed to have more than two apprentices at one time. The importation

of sugar, rum, and molasses was burdened with exorbitant duties
;
and the Caro-

linians were forbidden to cut down the pine-trees of their vast forests, and con-

vert their wood into staves, and their juice into turpentine and tar, for commer

cial purposes.
2

These unjust and oppressive enactments formed a part of that

"
bill of particulars" which the American colonies presented in their account

with Great Britain, when they gave to the world their reasons for declaring

themselves " free and independent States."

From the beginning, education received special attention in the colonies,

particularly in New England. Schools for the education of both white and

Indian children were formed in Virginia as early as 1621
;
and in 1692, Wil-

liam and Mary College was established at Williamsburg.' Harvard College, at

Cambridge, Massachusetts, was founded in 1637. Yale College, in Connecti-

cut, was established at Saybrook in 1701,
4 and was removed to its present loca-

tion, in New Haven, in 1717. It was named in honor of Elihu Yale, pres-

ident of the East India Company, and one of its most liberal benefactors. The

college of New Jersey, at Princeton, called Nassau Hall, was incorporated in

1738
;

5 and King's (now Columbia) College, in the city of New York, was

foudned in 1750. The college of Philadelphia was incorporated in 1760.

The college of Rhode Island (now Brown University) was established at War-

ren in 1764. Queen's (now Rutger's) College, in New Jersey, was founded

in 1770
;
and Dartmouth College, at Hanover, New Hamshire, was opened in

A law was enacted in 1750, which prohibited the
' 'erection or contrivance of any mill or other

engine for slitting or rolling iron, orany plating forge to work with a tilt-hammer, or any furnace
for making steel in the colonies.

" Such was the condition ofmanufacturersin the United States

one hundred years ago. Notwithstanding we are eminently an agricultural people, the census of

1S70 showed that we had.in round numbers, $2, 000, 000,000 invested in manufactures. The value

of raw material was estimated at $2,400,000,0 0. The amount paid for labor during that year,
was nearly $700, 000, 000, distributed among 2,000,000 operatives. The value of manufactured
articles was estimated at more than $4,000, 000, 000. Fully 20 per cent, must be added for ISMI.

* For a hundred years the British government attempted to confine the commerce of the colo-

nies to the interchange of their agricultural products for English manufactures only. The trade of the

growing colonies was certainly worth securing. From 1738 to 1748, the average value of exports
from Great Britain to the American colonies, was almost three and a quarter millions of dollars

annually.
1 The schools previously established did not flourish, and the funds appropriated for their sup-

port were given to the college.
4 In 1700, ten ministers of the colony met at Saybrook, and each contributed books for the

establishment of a college. It was incorporated in 1701. See note 8, page 158.
*

It was a feeble institution at first. In 1747, Governor Belcher became its patron.
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1771. It will be seen that the colonies could boast of no less than nine col-

leges when the War for Independence commenced three of them under the

supervision of Episcopalians, three under Congregationalists, one each under

Presbyterians, the Reformed Dutch Church, and the Baptists. But the pride

and glory of New England have ever been its common schools. Those received

the earliest and most earnest attention. In 1636, the Connecticut Legislature

enacted a law which required every town that contained fifty families, to main-

tain a good school, and every town containing one hundred householders, to

have a grammar school.
1

Similar provisions for general education soon pre-

vailed throughout New England ;
and the people became remarkable for their

intelligence. The rigid laws which discouraged all frivolous amusements,
induced active minds, during leisure hours, to engage in reading. The sub-

jects contained in books then in general circulation, were chiefly History and

Theology, and of these a great many vere sold. A traveler mentions the fact,

that, as early as 1686, several booksellers in Boston had " made fortunes by
their business."

2 But newspapers, the great vehicle of general intelligence to

the popular mind of our day, were very few and of little worth, before the era

of the Revolution.
3

Such, in brief and general outline, were the American people, and such their

political and social condition, at the commencement of the last inter-colonial

war, which we are now to consider, during which they discovered their strength,

the importance of a continental union, and their real independence of Greai

Britain.

C HAPTER XII.
THE FRENCH AND INDIAN WAR. [17561763.]

WE are now to consider one of the most important episodes in the history
of the United States, known in Europe as the SEVEN YEAKS' WAR, and in

1 These townships were, in general, organized religious communities, and had many interests in

common.
2 Previous to 1753, there had been seventy booksellers in Massachusetts, two in New Hamp-

shire, two in Connecticut, one in Rhode Island, two in New York, and seventeen in Pennsylvania.
8 The first newspaper ever printed in America was the Boston News Letter, printed in 1704.

The next was established in Philadelphia, in 1719. The first in New York was in 1725
;

in Mary-
land, in 1728

;
in South Carolina, in 1731

;
in Rhode Island, in 1732

;
in Virginia, in 1736; in New

Hampshire, in 1753; in Connecticut, in 1755; in Delaware, in 1761; in North Carolina, in 1763;
in Georgia in 17G3; and in New Jersey, in 1777. In 1875, there were published in the United
States 6, 793 newspapers and magazines, having a circulation of 2, 000, 000,000 of copies annually.

4 We have no exact enumeration of the inhabitants of the colonies
;
but Mr. Bancroft, after a

careful examination of many official returns and private computations, estimates the number of
white people in the colonies, at the commencement of the French and Indian War, to have beea
about 1,165,000, distributed as follows: In New England (N. H., Mass., R. I., and Conn.), 425,000;
in the middle colonies (N. Y., N. J., Penn., Del., and Md.), 457,000 ;

and in the southern colonies

(Va., N. and S. Carolina, and Geo.), 283,000. The estimated number of slaves, 260,000, of whom
about 11,000 were in New England; middle colonies, 71,000; and the southern colonies, 178.000.
Of the 1,165,000 white people, Dr. Franklin estimated that only about 80,000 were of foreign birth,

showing the fact that emigration to America had almost ceased. At the beginning of the Revolu-

tion, in 1775, the estimated population of the thirteen colonies was 2,803,000. The documents of

Congress, in 1775, gives the round number of 3,000,000.
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America as the FKENCH AND INDIAN WAR. It may with propriety be con-

sidered introductory to the War for Independence, which resulted in the birth

of our Republic. The first three inter-colonial wars, or the conflicts in America

between the English and French colonies, already noticed,
1

originated in hostil-

ities first declared by the two governments, and commenced in Europe. The

fourth and last, which resulted in establishing the supremacy of the English in

America, originated here in disputes concerning territorial claims. For a hun-

dred years, the colonies of the two nations had been gradually expanding and

increasing in importance. The English, more than a million in number, occu-

pied the seaboard from the Penobscot to the St. Mary, a thousand miles in

extent, all eastward of the great ranges of the Alleghanies, and far northward

toward the St. Lawrence. The French, not more than a hundred thousand

strong, made settlements along the St. Lawrence, the shores of the great lakes,

on the Mississippi and its tributaries, and upon the borders of the Gulf of Mex-

ico. They early founded Detroit [1683], Kaskaskia [1684], Vincennes [1690],

and New Orleans [1717]. The English planted agricultural colonies; the

French were chiefly engaged in traffic with the Indians. This trade, and the

operations of the Jesuit
1

missionaries, who were usually the self-denying pio-

neers of commerce in its penetration of the wilderness, gave the French great

influence over the tribes of a vast extent of country lying in the rear of the

English settlements. 3

France and England at that time were heirs to an ancient quarrel. Origin-

ating far back in feudal ages, and kept alive by subsequent collisions, it burned

rigorously in the bosoms of the respective colonists in America, where it was

continually fed by frequent hostilities on frontier ground. They had ever

regarded each other with extreme jealousy, for the prize before them was

supreme rule in the New World. The trading posts and missionary stations

of the French, in the far north-west, and in the bosom of a dark wilderness,

several hundred miles distant from the most remote settlement on the English

frontier, attracted very little attention, until they formed a part of more exten-

sive operations. But when, after the capture of Louisburg,
4 in 1745, the French

adopted vigorous measures for opposing the extension of British power in Amer-
ica : when they built strong vessels at the foot of Lake Ontario

5 made treaties

of friendship with the Delaware
8 and Shawnee7 tribes

; strengthened Fort Niag-
ara

;

8 and erected a cordon of fortifications, more than sixty in number, between

Montreal and New Orleans the English were aroused to immediate and effective

action in defense of the territorial claims given them in their ancient charters.

By virtue of these, they claimed dominion westward to the Pacific Ocean, south

of the latitude of the north shore of Lake Erie
;
while the French claimed a title

to all the territory watered by the Mississippi and its tributaries, under tho

more plausible plea, that they had made the first explorations and settlements

1

King Wacom's War (page 130); Queen Anne's War (page 135) ;
and King George's War (page

136).
* Note 4, page 130. s

Chiefly of the Algonquin nation. Page 17.

Page 138. At Fort Frontenac, now Kingston, Upper Canada.

Page 20. T
Page 19. 8

Page 2U<.
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in that region.
' The claims of the real owner, the Indian, were lost sight of

in the discussion.
4

These disputes soon ended in action. The territorial question was speedily

brought to an issue. In 1749, George the Second granted six hundred thou-

sand acres of land, on the south-east bank of the Ohio River, to a company

composed of London merchants and Virginia land speculators, with the exclusive

privilege of traffic with the Indians. It was called The Ohio Company.

Surveyors were soon sent to explore, and make boundaries, and prepare for

settlements; and English traders went even as far as the country of the

Miamies
3
to traffic with the natives. The French regarded them as intruders,

and, in 1753, seized and imprisoned some of them. Apprehending the loss of

traffic and influence among the Indians, and the ultimate destruction of their

line of communication between Canada and Louisiana, the French commenced

the erection of forts between the Alleghany River and Lake Erie, near the

present western line of Pennsylvania.
4 The Ohio Company complained of

these hostile movements
;
and as their grant lay within the chartered limits of

Virginia, the authorities of that colony considered it their duty to interfere.

Robert Dinwiddie, the lieutenant-governor, sent a letter of remonstrance to M.

De St. Pierre, the French commander. 5
George Washington was chosen to be

the bearer of the dispatch. He was a young man, less than twenty-two years
of age, but possessed much experience of forest life. He already held the com-

mission of adjutant-general of one of the four militia districts of Virginia.

From early youth he had been engaged in land surveying, had become accus-

tomed to the dangers and hardships of the wilderness, and was acquainted with

the character of the Indians, and of the country he was called upon to traverse.

Young Washington, as events proved, was precisely the instrument needed}

for such a service. His mission involved much personal peril and hardship.

It required the courage of the soldier, and the sagacity of the statesman, to

perform the duty properly. The savage tribes through which he had to pass,

were hostile to the English, and the French he was sent to meet were national

enemies, wily and suspicious. With only two or three attendants,
9

Washington
started from Williamsburg late in autumn [Oct. 31, 1753], and after journey-

ing full four hundred miles (more than half the distance through a dark wilder-

ness), encountering almost incredible hardships, amid snow, and icy floods, and

hostile Indians, he reached the French outpost at Venango on the 4th of De-

1

Page 180.
* When the agent of the Ohio Company went into the Indian country, on the borders of the

Ohio River, a messenger was sent by two Indian sachems, to make the significant inquiry,
" Where

is the Indian's land ? The English claim it all on one side of the river, the French on the other;
where does the Indian's land lay?"

*
Page 19.

4 Twelve hundred men erected a fort on the south shore of Lake Erie, at Presque Isle, now
Erie

;
soon afterward, another was built at Le Bceuf, on the Venango (French Creek), now the vil-

lage of Waterford; and a third was erected at Venango, at the junction of French Creek and the

Alleghany River, now the village of Franklin.
6
Already the governors of Virginia and Pennsylvania had received orders from the imperial

government, to repel the French by force, whenever they were " found within the undoubted limit*

Of their province."
* He was afterward joined by two others at Wills' Cre_ek (now Cumberland), in Maryland.
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cember. He was politely received, and his visit was made the occasion of great

conviviality by the officers of the garrison. The free use of wine made the

Frenchmen incautious, and they revealed to the sober Washington their hostile

designs against the English, which the latter had suspected. He perceived ths

necessity of dispatching business, and returning to Williamsburg, as speedily

as possible ; so, after tarrying a day at Venango, he pushed forward to the

head-quarters of St. Pierre, at Le Boeuf. That officer entertained him politely

during four days, and then gave him a written answer to Dinwiddie's remon-

strance, enveloped and sealed. Washington retraced his perilous pathway

through the wilderness, and after an absence of eleven weeks, he again stood in

the presence of Governor Dinwiddie, on the 16th of January, 1754, his mission

fulfilled to the satisfaction of all. His judgment, sagacity, courage, and execu-

tive force qualities which eminently fitted him for the more important duties

as chief of the Revolutionary armies, more than twenty years afterward [1775J
were nobly developed in the performance of his mission. They were publicly

acknowledged, and were never forgotten.

Already the Virginians were restive under royal rule, and at that time

were complaining seriously of an obnoxious fee allowed by the Board of Trade,

in the issue of patents for lands. The House of Burgesses refused, at first,

pay any attention to Dinwiddie's complaints against the French
;
but at length

they voted fifty thousand dollars for the support of troops which had beer

enlisted to march into the Ohio country. The revelations made to Washington,
and the tenor of St. Pierre's reply, confirmed the suspicions of Dinwiddie, anc

showed the wisdom of the legislative co-operation. St. Pierre said he was acting

in obedience to the orders of his superior, the Marquis Du Quesne,
1

at Montreal,

and refused to withdraw his troops from the disputed territory. Dinwiddie

immediately prepared an expedition against the French, and solicited the co-oj

eration of the other colonies. It was the first call for a general colonial unioi

against a common enemy. All hesitated except North Carolina. The legisla

ture of that colony promptly voted four hundred men, and they were soon or

the march for Winchester, in Virginia. They eventually proved of little

for becoming doubtful as to their pay, a greater part of them had disbande

before reaching Winchester. Some volunteers from South Carolina and New

York, also hastened toward the seat of future war. The Virginians responde
to the call, and a regiment of six hundred men was soon organized, with Colont

Joshua Fry as its commander, and Major Washington as his lieutenant. Tl

troops rendezvoused at Alexandria, and from that city, Washington, at the he

of the advanced corps, marched [April 2, 1754] toward the Ohio.

Private and public interest went hand in hand. While these military prej

arations were in progress, the Ohio Company had sent thirty men to construe

a fort at the confluence of the Alleghany and Monongahela Rivers, now the site of

Pittsburg. They had just commenced operations [April 18], when a party of

French and Indians, under Contrecceur, attacked and expelled them, completed

1 Pronounced Du Kane.
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the fortification, and named it Du Quesne, in honor of the governor-general of

Canada.
1 When intelligence of this event reached Washington on his march,

he hastened forward with one hundred and fifty men, to a point on the Monon-

gahela, less than forty miles from Fort Du Quesne. There he was informed

that a strong force was marching to intercept him, and he cautiously fled back

to the Great Meadows, where he erected a stockade,
2 and called it Fort Neces-

sity.
3

Before completing it, a few of his troops attacked an advanced party of

the French, under Jumonvifle. They were surprised on the morning of

May 28, and the commander and nine of his men were slain. Of the fifty

who formed the French detachment, only about fifteen escaped. This was the

first blood-shedding of that long and eventful conflict known as the French and
Indian War. Two days afterward [May 30], Colonel Fry died, and the

whole command devolved on Washington. Troops hastened forward to join the

young leader at Fort Necessity, and with about four hundred men, he proceeded
toward Fort Du Quesne. M. de Villiers, brother of the slain Jumonville, had

marched at about the same time, at the head of more than a thousand Indians

and some Frenchmen, to avenge the death of his kinsman. Advised of his

approach, Washington fell back to Fort Necessity, and there, on the 3d of July,
he was attacked by almost eight hundred foes. After a conflict of about ten

hours, de Villiers proposed an honorable capitulation.
4

Washington signed it

on the morning of the 4th, and marching out of the stockade with the honors

of war, departed, with his troops, for Virginia.

It was during this military campaign, that a civil movement of great import-
ance was in progress. The English and French governments had listened to

the disputes in America with interest. At length the British ministry, per-

ceiving war to be inevitable, advised the colonies to secure the continued

friendship of the Six NATIONS/ and to unite in a plan for general defense.

All the colonies were invited to appoint delegates to meet in convention at

Albany, in the summer of 1754. Only seven responded by sending delegates."

The convention was organized on the 19th of June. 7

Having renewed a treaty
with the Indians, the subject of colonial union was brought forward. A plan
of confederation, similar to our Federal Constitution, drawn up by Dr. Franklin,

was submitted.
8

It was adopted on the 10th of July, 1754, and was ordered to

be laid before the several colonial Assemblies, and the imperial Board of Trade,"

1

Page 182.
a Stockade is a general name of structures for defense, formed by driving strong posts in the

ground, so as to make a safe inclosure. It is the same as a palisade. See picture on page 12*7.
3 Near the national road from Cumberland to Wheeling, in the south-eastern part of Fayette

county, Pennsylvania. The Great Meadows are on a fertile bottom about four miles from the foot

of Laurel Hill, and fifty from Cumberland.
4 A mutual restoration of prisoners was to take place, and the English were not to erect any

establishment beyond the mountains, for the space of a year. The English troops were to march,
unmolested, back to Virginia.

6
Page 25.

' New Hampshire, Massachusetts, Rhode Island, Connecticut, New York, Pennsylvania, and
Maryland.

7 James Delancy, of New York was elected president. There were twenty-five delegates in all
8
Franklin was a delegate from Pennsylvania. The idea of union was not a new one. William

Penn suggested the advantage of a union of all the English colonies as early as 1700; and Coxe,
Speaker of the New Jersey Assembly, advocated it in 1722. Now it first found tangible expression
under the sanction of authority.

' Note 5, page 134.
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for ratification.
1

Its fate was singular. The Assemblies considering it too

aristocratic giving the royal governor too much power refused their assent
;

and the Board of Trade rejected it because it was too democratic? Although
a legal union was not consummated, the grand idea of political fraternization

then began to bud. It blossomed in the midst of the heat of the Stamp Act

excitement eleven years later [1765], and its fruit appeared in the memorable

Congress of 1774.

The convention at Albany had just closed its labors, when the Indians com-

menced murderous depredations upon the New England frontiers [August and

September, 1754] ;
and among the tribes west of the Alleghanies, French emis-

saries were busy arousing them to engage in a war of extermination against the

English. Even in full view of these menaces, some of the colonies were tardy
in preparations to avert the evil. Shirley was putting forth energetic efforts in

Massachusetts
;
New York voted twenty-five thousand dollars for military serv-

ice, and Maryland thirty thousand dollars for the same. The English govern-

ment sent over fifty thousand dollars for the use of the colonists, and with it a

commission to Governor Sharpe of Maryland, appointing him commander-in-

chief of all the colonial forces. Disputes about military rank and precedence

soon ran high between the Virginia regimental officers, and the captains of

independent companies. To silence these, Dinwiddie unwisely dispensed with

all field officers, and broke the Virginia regiments into separate companies. This

arrangement displeased Washington ;
he resigned his commission, and the year

1754 drew to a close without any efficient preparations for a conflict with the

French.
8

CAMPAIGN OF 1755.

Yet war had not been declared by the two nations
;
and for more than a

year and a half longer the colonies were in conflict, before England and France

formally announced hostility to each other. In the mean while the British

government, perceiving that a contest, more severe than had yet been seen,

must soon take place in America, extended its aid to its colonies. Edward

Braddock, an Irish officer of distinction, arrived in Chesapeake Bay, with two

regiments of his countrymen, on the 20th of February, 1755. He had been

1
It proposed a general government to be administered by one chief magistrate, to be appointed

by the crown, and a council of forty-eight members, chosen by the several legislatures. This coun-

cil, answering to our Senate, was to have power to declare war, levy troops, raise money, regulate

trade, conclude peace, and many other things necessary for the general good. The delegates from

Connecticut alone, objected to the plan, because it gave the governor-general veto power, or the

right to refuse his signature to laws ordained by the Senate, and thus prevent them becoming stat-

utes.
8 The Board of Trade had proposed a plan which contained all the elements of a system for the

titter enslavement and dependence of the Americans. They proposed a general government, composed
of the governors of the several colonies, and certain select members of the several councils. These

were to have power to draw on the British Treasury for money to carry on the impending war : the

um to be reimbursed by taxes imposed upon the colonists by Parliament. The colonists preferred
to do their own fighting, and levy their own taxes, independent of Great Britain.

*
According to a return made to the Board of Trade at about this time, the population of the lcv

Bies amounted to one million four hundred and eighty-five thousand, six hundred and thirty-four.

Of these, two hundred and ninety-two thousand seven hundred and thirty-eight were negroes.
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appointed commander-in-chief of all the British and provincial forces in Amer-

ica
;
and at his request, six colonial governors

1 met in convention at Alexandria,

in April following, to assist in making arrangements for a vigorous campaign.

Three separate expeditions were planned ;
one against Fort du Quesne, to bo

led by Braddock; a second against Niagara and Frontenac (Kingston), to bo

commanded by Governor Shirley ;
and a third against Crown Point, on Lake

Champlain, under General William Johnson,
5
then an influential resident among

the Mohawk nation of the IROQUOIS confederacy.
3

Already a fourth expedition

had been arranged by Shirley and Governor Lawrence of Nova Scotia, designed

to drive the French out of that province, and other portions of ancient Acadie.
1

These extensive arrangements, sanctioned by the imperial government, awakened

the most zealous patriotism of all the colonists, and the legislatures of the sev-

eral provinces, except Pennsylvania and Georgia, voted men and supplies for

the impending war. The Quaker Assembly of Pennsylvania was opposed to

military movements
;
the people of Georgia were too poor to contribute.

There was much enthusiasm in New England, and the eastern expedition

first proceeded to action. Three thousand men, under General John Winslow,'
sailed from Boston on the 20th of May, 1755, and landed at the head of the

Bay of Fundy. There they were joined by Colonel Monckton with three hun-

dred British regulars
8
from the neighboring garrison, and that officer, having

official precedence of Winslow, took the command. They captured the forts in

possession of the French there, in June, without difficulty, and placed the whole

region under martial rule.
7

This was the legitimate result of war. But the

cruel sequel deserves universal reprobation. The total destruction of the French

settlements was decided upon. Under the plea that the Acadians would aid

their French brethren in Canada, the innocent and happy people were seized in

their houses, fields, and churches, and conveyed on board the English vessels.

Families were broken, never to be united
;
and to compel the surrender of those

who fled to the woods, their starvation was insured by a total destruction of

their growing crops. The Acadians were stripped of every thing, and those

who were carried away, were scattered among the English colonies, helpless

beggars, to die heart-broken in a strange land. In one short month, their

paradise had become a desolation, and a happy people were crushed into the dust.

The western expedition, under Braddock, was long delayed on account of

difficulties in obtaining provisions and wagons. The patience of the commander

was sorely tried, and in moments of petulance he used expressions against the

colonists, which they long remembered with bitterness. He finally commenced

his march from Will's Creek (Cumberland) on the 10th of June, 1755, with

about two thousand men, British and provincials. Anxious to reach Fort du

Shirley, of Massachusetts; Dinwiddie, of Virginia; Delancey, of New York; Sharpe, of Mary-
land

; Morris, of Pennsylvania ; and Dobbs, of North Carolina. Admiral Keppel, commander of the
British

fleet, was also present.
9
Page 190.

*
Page 25.

4
Page 58.

He was a great grandson of Edward "Winslow, the third governor of Plymouth. He was a

major-general m the Massachusetts militia, but on this occasion held the office of lieutenant-colonel
This term is used to denote soldiers who are attached to the regular army, and as distinguished

from volunteers and militia. The latter term applies to the great body of citizens who are liable to

do perpetual military duty only in time of war. * Note 8, page 170.
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"FDBT DTT QUESNE.

Quesne before the garrison should receive re-inforcements, he made forced

marches "with twelve hundred men, leaving Colonel Dunbar,
his second in command, to follow with the remainder, and

the wagons. Colonel Washington
1 had consented to act aa

L r " SKk i

Braddock's aid, and to him was given the command of the

wsZvS^Var^ / provincials. Knowing, far better than Braddock, the perils

of their march and the kind of warfare they might expect, he

ventured, modestly, to give advice, founded upon his experi-

ence. But the haughty general would listen to no suggestions,

especially from a provincial subordinate. This obstinacy resulted in his ruin.

When within ten miles of Fort du Quesne, and while marching at noon-day, on

the 9th of July, in fancied security, on the north side of the Monongahela. a

volley of bullets and a cloud of arrows assailed the advanced guard, under

Lieutenant-Colonel Gage.
2

They came from a thicket and ravine close by,

Turhere a thousand dusky warriors lay in ambush. Again Washington asked

permission to fight according to the provincial custom, but was refused.

Braddock must maneuver according to European tactics, or not at all. For

three hours, deadly volley after volley fell upon the British columns, while

Braddock attempted to maintain order, where all was confusion. The slain

goon covered the ground. Every mounted officer but Washington was killed or

maimed, and
finally, the really brave Braddock himself, after having several

horses shot under him, was mortally wounded.
3

Washington remained unhurt. 1

Under his direction the provincials rallied, while the regulars, seeing their gen-
eral fall, were fleeing in great confusion. The provincials covered their retreat

so gallantly, that the enemy did not follow. A week after-

ward, Washington read the impressive funeral service of the

Anglican Church,
5
over the corpse of Braddock, by torch-

light [July 15, 1755] ;
and he was buried, where his grave

may now [1867] be seen, near the National road, between the

fifty-third and fifty-fourth mile from Cumberland, in Mary-
land. Colonel Dunbar received the flying troops, and marched

to Philadelphia in August, with the broken companies. Wash-

ington, with the southern provincials, went back to Virginia.
.GEN. BRADDOCK. Thus ended the second expedition of the campaign of 1755.

1
Page 181.

* Afterward General Gage, commander-in-chief of the British troops at

^Boston, at the beginning of the Revolution. Page 226.
1 Braddock was shot by Thomas Faucett, one of the provincial soldiers. His plea was self-

preservation. Braddock had issued a positive order, that none of the English should protect them-

selves behind trees, as the French and Indians did. Faucett's brother had taken such position, and
when Braddock perceived it, he struck him to the earth with his sword. Thomas, on seeing his

brother fall, shot Braddock in the back, and then the provincials, fighting as they pleased, were
saved from utter destruction.

4
Dr. Craik, who was with "Washington at this time, and also attended him in his last illness,

Bays, that while in the Ohio country with him, fifteen years afterward, an old Indian chief came, aa

he said,
" a long way" to see the Virginia colonel at whom he fired his rifle fifteen times during the

.battle on the Monongahela, without hitting him. Washington was never wounded in battle. On
this occasion he had two horses shot under him. and four bullets passed through his coat. Writing
of this to his brother, he remarked.

"
By the all-powerful dispensations of Providence, I have been

protected beyond all human probability or expectation,
* * *

although death was leveling my
companions on every side." * Note 1, page 168. See picture on page 187.
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The third expedition, under Governor Shirley, designed to operate against

the French posts at Niagara and Frontenac, experienced less disasters, but was

juite as unsuccessful. It was late in August before Shirley had collected the

lain body of his troops at Oswego, from whence he intended to go to Niagara

by water. His force was twenty-five hundred strong on the 1st of September,
circumstances compelled him to hesitate. The prevalence of storms, and

sickness in his camp, and, finally, the desertion of the greater part of his

Indian allies,
1 made it perilous to proceed, and he relinquished the design,

wing sufficient men to garrison the forts which he had commenced at

Oswego,
9
he marched the remainder to Albany [Oct. 24], and returned to

Massachusetts.

The fourth expedition, under General Johnson, prepared for attacking

Crown Point,
3

accomplished more than that of Braddock
4
or Shirley, but failed

achieve its main object. In July [1755], about six thousand troops,

rawn from New England, New York, and New Jersey, had assembled at the

head of boat navigation on the Hudson (now the village of Fort Edward), fifty

miles north of Albany. They were under the command of General Lyman,
5

of Connecticut
;
and before the arrival of General Johnson, in August, with

cannons and stores, they had erected a strong fortification, which was afterward

called Fort Edward. 6 On his arrival, Johnson took command, and with the

main body of the troops, marched to the head of Lake George, about fifteen

miles distant, where he established a camp, protected on both sides by an im-

passable swamp.
While the provincial troops were making these preparations, General the

Baron Dieskau (a French officer of much repute), with about two thousand

men, chiefly Canadian militia and Indians, was approaching from Montreal,

by way of Lake Champlain, to meet the English.
7 When Johnson arrived at

Lake George, on the 7th of September, Indian scouts informed him that Dies-

kau was disembarking at the head of Lake Champlain (now the village of

1 Tribes of the Six NATIONS [page 25], and some Stockbridge Indians. The latter were called

Housatonics, from the river on which they were found. They were a division of the Mohegan
[page 21] tribe.

a Fort Ontario on the east, and Fort Pepperell on the west of Oswego River. Fort Pepperell
was afterward called Fort Oswego. See map, page 192. The house was built of stone, and the

walls were three feet thick. It was within a square inclosure composed of a thick wall, and two

strong square towers.
8

Upon this tongue of land on Lake Champlain, the French erected a fortification, which they
called Fort St. Frederick. On the Vermont side of the lake, opposite, there was a French settle-

ment as early as 1731. In allusion to the chimnies of their houses, which remained long after the
settlement was destroyed, it is still known as Chimney Point.

*
Page 185.

6 Bora in Durham, Connecticut, in the year 1716. He was a graduate of Tale College, and be-
came a lawyer. He was a member of the colonial Assembly in 1750, and performed important
services during the whole war that soon afterward ensued. He commanded the expedition that

captured Havana in 1762
;
and at the peace, in 1763, he became concerned in lands in the Missis-

sippi region. He died in Florida in 1775.
*
It was first called Fort Lyman. Johnson, meanly jealous of General Lyman, changed the

name to Fort Edward.
'

Dieskau and his French troops, on their way from France, narrowly escaped capture by Ad-
miral Boscawen, who was cruising, with an English fleet, off Newfoundland. They eluded his fleet

during a fog, and went in safety up the St. Lawrence.
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FORT EDWARD.

Whitehall), preparatory to marching 'arainst Fort Edward. The next scouts

brought Johnson the intelligence that Dieskau' s Indians,

terrified by the English cannons when they approached
Fort Edward, had induced him to change his plans, and

that he was marching to attack his camp. Colonel

Ephraim Williams, of Deerfield, Massachusetts, was imme-

diately sent [Sept. 8], with a thousand troops from that

colony, and two hundred Mohawks,
1

under the famous chief,

Hendrick, to intercept the enemy. They met in a narrow

defile, four miles from Lake George. The English sud-

denly fell into an ambuscade. Williams and Hendrick

were both killed," and their followers fell back in great con-

fusion, upon Johnson's camp, hotly pursued by the victors. One of the Mas-

sachusetts regiments, which fought bravely in this action, was commanded by

Timothy Ruggles, who was president of the Stamp Act Congress,
3
held at New-

York in 1765, but who, when the Revolution broke out, was active on the side

of the Crown.

The commander-in-chief was assured of the disaster before the flying fugi-

tives made their appearance. He immediately cast up a breastwork of logs and

limbs, placed upon it two cannons which he had received from Fort Edward

two days before, and when the enemy came rushing on,

close upon the heels of the English, he was prepared to

receive them. The fugitives had just reached Johnson's

camp when Dieskau and his flushed victors appeared.

Unsuspicious of heavy guns upon so rude a pile as John-

son's battery exhibited, they rushed forward, with sword,

pike, and tomahawk, and made a spirited attack. One

volley from the English cannons made the Indians flee in

terror to the shelter of the deep forests around. The Ca-

nadian militia also fled, as General Lyman and a body of

troops approached from Fort Edward
; and, finally, the French troops, after

continuing the conflict several hours, and losing their commander,
4

withdrew,

and hastened to Crown Point. Their baggage was captured by some New

Hampshire troops from Fort Edward, and the defeat was complete.

General Johnson erected a fortification on the site of his camp, at the head

of the lake, and called it Fort William Henry. It was constructed under the,

direction of Richard Gridley, who commanded the artillery in the siege of

Louisburg, ten years before.
6

Being informed that ^he French were strength-

1
Page 23.

' While on his way north, "Williams stopped at Albany, made his will, and bequeathed certain

property to found a free school for western Massachusetts. That was the foundation of " Williams'

College" his best monument. The rock near which his body was found, on the right side of the
road from Glenn's Falls to Lake George, still bears his name

;
and a collection of water on the bat-

,tie-ground, is called Bloody Pond. 3
Page 215.

* Dieskau was found mortally wounded, carried into the English camp, and there tenderly
treated. He was afterward conveyed to New York, from whence he sailed to England, where ho
died.

* Note 1, page 137.

SIR WILLIAM JOHNSON.
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ening their works at Crown Point, and were fortifying Ticonderoga,
1
he thought

it prudent to cease offensive operations. He garrisoned Fort Edward and Fort

William Henry, returned to Albany, and as the season was

advanced [October, 1755J, he dispersed the remainder of his

troops. For his services in this campaign, the king conferred

the honor of knighthood upon him, and gave him twenty-five
thousand dollars with which to support the dignity. This

honor and emolument properly belonged to General Lyman,
the real hero of the campaign." Johnson had Sir Peter Warren
and other friends at court, and so won the unmerited prize.

FORT WILLIAM
HENRY.

ABERCROMBIE.

CAMPAIGN OF 1756.

The home governments now took up the quarrel. The campaign of 1755,

having assumed all the essential features of regular war, and there appearing
no prospect of reconciliation of the belligerents, England formally proclaimed
hostilities against France, on the 17th of May, 1756^ and the latter soon after-

ward [June 9] reciprocrated the action. Governor

Shirley, who had become commander-in chief, after the

death of Braddock, was superseded by General Aber-

crombie3 in the spring of 1756. He came as the lieu-

tenant of Lord Loudon, whom the king had appointed
to the chief command in America, and also governor of

Virginia. Loudon was an indolent man, and a remark-

able procrastinater, and the active general-in-chief was

Abercrombie, who, also, was not remarkable for his

skill and forethought as a commander. He arrived

with several British regiments early in June. The

plan of the campaign for that year had already been arranged by a convention

of colonial governors held at Albany early in the season. Ten thousand men
were to attack Crown Point;

4 six thousand were to proceed against Niagara;
6

three thousand against Fort du Quesne ;

6 and two thousand were to cross the

country from the Kennebec, to attack the French settlements on the Chaudiere

Kiver.

The command of the expedition against Crown Point was intrusted to Gen-

eral Winslow,
7 who had collected seven thousand men at Albany, when Aber-

1 Page 196.
8
Lyman urged Johnson to pursue the French, and assail Crown Point. The Mohawks burned

for an opportunity to avenge the death of Hendrick. But Johnson preferred ease and safety, and

spent the autumn in constructing Fort William Henry. He meanly withheld all praise from Ly-

man, in his dispatches to government. Johnson was born in Ireland, in 1714. He came to Amer-
ica to take charge of the lands of his uncle, Admiral Warren [page 137], on the Mohawk River,
and gained great influence over the Indians of New York. He died at his seat (now the village
of Johnstown) in the Mohawk valley, in 1774.

3 A strong party in England, irritated by the failures of the campaign of 1755, cast the blame
of Braddock's defeat and other disasters, upon the Americans, and finally procured the recall of

Shirley. He completely vindicated his character, and was afterward appointed governor of the

Bahama Islands.
4

Page 200. 6
Page 200.

6
Page 186.

'
Page 185.
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crombie arrived. Difficulties immediately occurred, respecting military rank,

and caused delay. They were not adjusted when the tardy Loudon arrived, at

midsummer
;
and his arrogant assumption of superior rank for the royal officers,

increased the irritation and discontent of the provincial troops. When these

matters were finally adjusted, in August, the French had gained such positive

advantages, that the whole plan of the campaign was disconcerted.

Baron Dieskau
1

was succeeded by the Marquis de Montcalm, in the com-

mand of the French troops in Canada. Perceiving the delay of the English,

and knowing that a large number of their troops was at Albany, short of pro-

visions, and suffering from small-pox, and counting wisely upon the
inefficiency

of their commander-in-chief, he collected about five thousand Frenchmen, Ca-

nadians, and Indians, at Frontenac,
2 and crossing Lake Ontario, landed, with

thirty pieces of cannon, a few miles east of Oswego. Two days afterward, he

appeared before Fort Ontario [Aug. 11, 1756], on the east side of the river,

then in command of Colonel Mercer. After a short but brave resistance, the

garrison abandoned the fort [Aug. 12], and withdrew to an older fortification,

on the west side of the river. 3 Their commander was killed, and they were

soon obliged to surrender themselves [Aug. 14] prisoners

of war. The spoils of victory for Montcalm, were four-

teen hundred prisoners, a large amount of military stores,

consisting of small arms, ammunition, and provisions ;
one

hundred and thirty-four pieces of cannon, and several ves-

sels, large and small, in the harbor. After securing them,

he demolished the forts,
4 and returned to Canada. The

whole country of the Six NATIONS was now laid open to

the incursions of the French.

The loss of Oswego was a severe blow to the English. When intelligence

of that event reached Loudon, he recalled the troops then on their way toward

Lake Champlain ;
and all the other expeditions were abandoned. Forts Wil-

liam Henry
5 and Edward8

were strengthened ;
fifteen hundred volunteers and

drafted militia, under Washington, were placed in stockades
7
for the defense of

the Pennsylvania and Virginia frontiers
;
and on the western borders of the

Carolinas several military posts were established as a protection against the

PORTS AT OSWEGO.

1

Page 189.
s Note 5, page 180.

8 A palisaded block-house, built by order of Governor Burnet in

1727, near the spot where Fort Pepperell was erected. A redoubt

or block-house is a fortified building, of peculiar construction, well cal-

culated for defense. They were generally built of logs, in the form

represented in the engraving. They were usually two stories, with

narrow openings through which to fire muskets from within. The/
were sometimes prepared with openings for cannons.

4 This was to please the Six NATIONS, who had never felt con

tented with -this supporter of power in their midst. The demolition

of these forts, induced the Indians to assume an attitude of neutrality,

by a solemn treaty.

BLOCK HOUSE. 6
Page 191. It commanded a view of the lake from its head to

the Narrows, fifteen miles.
*
Page 190. The Hudson is divided at Fort Edward, into two channels, by Roger's Island,

jpon which the provincial troops out of the fort, usually encamped.
T Note 2, page 183.
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Cherokees
1 and Creeks," whom French emissaries were exciting to hostilities

against the English. Hitherto, since the commencement of hostilities, some of

the colonial Assemblies had been slow to make appropriations for the support

of the war. Pennsylvania and South Carolina, actuated by different motives,

had held back, but now the former made an appropriation of thirty thousand

pounds, to be issued in paper, and the latter granted four thousand pound*
toward enlisting two companies for the public service.

The most important achievement of the provincials during that year, was

the chastisement of the Indians at Kittaning, their chief town, situated on th&

Alleghany River. During several months they had spread terror and desola-

tion along the western frontiers of Pennsylvania and Virginia, and almost a.

thousand white people had been murdered or carried into captivity. These acts

aroused the people of Pennsylvania, and Dr. Franklin undertook the military

command of the frontier, with the rank of colonel. His troops were voluntary-

militia. Under his directions, a chain of forts and blockhouses was erected

along the base of the Kittaning mountains, from the Delaware to the Maryland
line. Franklin soon perceived that he was not in his right place, and he

abandoned military life forever. The Indians continuing their depredations,

Colonel John Armstrong of Pennsylvania,
3

accompanied by Captain Mercer4 of

Virginia, with about three hundred men, attacked them on the night of the 7tli

of September [1756], killed their principal chiefs, destroyed their town, and

completely humbled them. Thus ended the campaign of 1756. The French

still held in possession almost all of the territory in dispute, and of the most

important of their military posts. They had also expelled the English from

Oswego and Lake George, and had compelled the powerful Six NATIONS to

make a treaty of neutrality. On the whole, the campaign of 1756 closed with

advantages on the part of the French.

CAMPAIGN OF 1757.

A military council was held at Boston on the 19th of January, 1757, when

Lord Loudon proposed to confine the operations of that year to an expedition

against Louisburg,
5 and to the defense of the frontiers. Because he was com-

mander-in-chief, wiser and better men acquiesced in his plans, but deplored his

want ofjudgment and executive force. The people of New England, in par-

ticular, were greatly disappointed when they ascertained that the execution of

their favorite scheme of driving the French from Lake Champlain was to be

deferred. However, the general ardor of the colonists was not abated, and the

call for troops was so promptly responded to, that Loudon found himself at the

head of six thousand provincials on the first of June. The capture of Louis-

burg was London's first care. He sailed from New York on the 20th of that

month, and on arriving at Halifax ten days afterward [June 30], he was joined

1

Page 27. a
Page 30.

' He was a general in the war for Independence, twenty years later. See note 1, page 24ft-
*

Page 269.
e
Page 13t

lo
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by Admiral Ilolborne, with a powerful naval armament and five thousand land

troops, from England. They were about to proceed to Cape Breton,
1

wuen

they were informed that six thousand troops were in the fortress at Louisburg,"
and that a French fleet, larger than Holborne's, was lying in that harbor:

The latter had arrived and taken position while Loudon was moving slowly,

with his characteristic indecision. The enterprise was abandoned, and Loudon

returned to New York [Aug. 31], to hear of defeat and disgrace on the north-

ern frontier, the result of his ignorance and utter unskillfulness.

Montcalm had again borne away important trophies of victory. Toward

the close of July, he left Ticonderoga with about eight thousand men (of whom
two thousand were Indians), and proceeded to besiege Fort William Henry, at

the head of Lake George.
3 The garrison of three thousand men was commanded

by Colonel Monro, a brave English officer, who felt strengthened in his position

by the close proximity of his chief, General Webb, who was at the head of four

thousand troops at Fort Edward,
4

only fifteen miles distant. But his confidence

in his commanding general was sadly misplaced. When Montcalm demanded a

surrender of the fort and garrison [August 4, 1757], Monro boldly refused, and

sent an express to General Webb, for aid. It was not furnished. For six daya
Montcalm continued the siege, and expresses were sent daily to Webb for rein-

forcements, but in vain. Even when General Johnson,
6

with a corps of

provincials and Putnam's Rangers,' had, on reluctant permission, marched

several miles in the direction of the beleaguered fort, Webb
recalled them, and sent a letter to Monro, advising him to

surrender. That letter was intercepted by Montcalm,
7
and

with a peremptory demand for capitulation, he sent it to

Monro. Perceiving further resistance to be useless, Monro

yielded. Montcalm was so pleased with the bravery dis-

played by the garrison, that he agreed upon very honorable

terms of surrender, and promised the troops a safe escort to

Fort Edward. His Indians, expecting blood and booty,

were enraged by the merciful terms, and at the moment

when the English entered the forests a mile from Fort Wil-

liam Henry, the savages fell upon them with great fury,

slaughtered a large number, plundered their baggage, and

pursued them to within cannon shot of Fort Edward.

Montcalm declared his inability to restrain the Indians, and

expressed his deep sorrow. The fort and all its appendages were burned

< r otherwise destroyed.
8

It was never rebuilt
;
and until 1854, nothing marked

Note 5, page 137.
a
Page 137.

3
Page 191. *

Page 190.
6
Page 190.

Israel Putnam, afterward a major-general in the army of the Revolution. He now held tho

^omnussion of major, and with Major Rogers and his rangers, performed important services during
the whole French and Indian "War.

7
It is said that Montcalm was just on the point of raising the siege and returning to Ticon-

deroga, when Webb's cowardly letter fell into his hands. The number and strength of Johnson's

troops had been greatly exaggerated, and Montcalm was preparing to flee.
b
Major Putnam visited the ruins while the fires were yet burning, and he described the scene

us very appalling. The bodies of murdered Englishmen were scattered in every direction, some of

LAKE GEORGE AND
VICINITY.
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its site but an irregular line of low mounds on the border of the lake, a short

stance from the village of Caldwell. Since then a hotel has been erected

pon the spot, for the accommodation of summer tourists. Thus ended the

ilitary operations of the inefficient Earl of Loudon, for the year 1757.

The position of affairs in America now alarmed the English people. The

result of the war, thus far, was humiliating to British pride, while it incited

e French to greater efforts in the maintenance of their power in the West,

the Anglo-American
1

colonies there was much irritation. Thoroughly!
imbued with democratic ideas, and knowing their competency, unaided by royal

oops, to assert and maintain their rights, they regarded the interferences of

;e home government as clogs upon their operations. Some of the royal gov-

ernors were incompetent and rapacious, and all were marked by a haughty

deportment, offensive to the sturdy democracy of the colonists. Their demands

for men and money, did not always meet with cheerful and ample responses ;

and the arrogant assumption of the English officers, disgusted the commanders

of the provincial troops, and often cooled the zeal of whole battalions of brave

Americans. Untrammeled by the orders, exactions, and control of imperial

power, the Americans would probably have settled the whole matter in a single

campaign; but at the close of the second year of the war [1756] the result

appeared more uncertain and remote than ever. The people of England had

perceived this clearly, and clamored for the dismissal of the weak and corrupt

ministry then in power. The popular will prevailed, and William Pitt, by far

the ablest statesman England had yet produced, was called to the control oi'

public affairs in June, 1757. Energy and good judgment marked every move-

ment of his administration, especially in measures for prosecuting the war in

America. Lord Loudon was recalled,
3 and General Abercrombie

3 was appointed
to succeed him. A strong naval armament was prepared and placed under the

command ofAdmiral Boscawen
;
and twelve thousand additional English troops

were allotted to the service in America. 4 Pitt addressed a letter to the several

colonies, asking them to raise and clothe twenty thousand men. He promised,
in the name of Parliament, to furnish arms, tents, and provisions for them

;

and also to reimburse the several colonies all the money they should expend in

raising and clothing the levies. These liberal offers had a magical effect, and

an excess of levies soon appeared. New England alone raised fifteen thousand

men;' New York furnished almost twenty-seven hundred, New Jersey one

them half consumed among the embers of the conflagration. Among the dead were more than on*
hundred women, many of whom had been scalped [note 4, page 14] by the Indians.

This is the title given to Americans who are of English descent. Those who are descendants
of the Saxons who settled in England, are called Anglo-Saxons.

Pitt gave as a chief reason for recalling Loudon, that he could never hear from him, and did
not know what he was about. Loudon was always arranging great plans, but executed nothing.
It was remarked to Dr. Franklin, when he made inquiries concerning him, ttat he was "like St.

George on the signs always on horseback, but never rides forward."
3
Page 191.

Pitt had arranged such an admirable militia system for home defense, that a large number of
the troops of the standing army could be spared for foreign service.

'
Public and private advances during 1758, in Massachusetts alone, amounted to more than a

ullion of dollars. The taxes on real estate, in order to raise money, were enormous
;
in many

nstances equal to two thirds of the income of the tax-payers. Yet it was levied by iheir man repre-
lentatives, and they did not murmur. A few years later, an almost nominal tax in the form of duty
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thousand, Pennsylvania almost three thousand, and Virginia over two thousand.

Some came from other colonies. Royal American troops (as they were called)

organized in the Carolinas, were ordered to the North
;
and when Abercrombie

took command of the army in the month of May, 1758, he found fifty thousand

men at his disposal ;
a number greater than the whole male population of tho

French dominions in America, at that time.
1

CAMPAIGN OP 1758.

The plan of the campaign of 1758, was comprehensive. Louisburg,
2
Ticon-

deroga, and Fort du Quesne,
8
were the principal points of operations pecified in

it. This was a renewal of Shirley's scheme, and ample

preparations were made to carry it out. The first blow

was directed against Louisburg. Admiral Boscawen

arrived at Halifax early in May, with about forty armed

vessels bearing a land force of over twelve thousand men,

under General Amherst4
as chief, and General Wolfe5 as

his lieutenant. They left Halifax on the 28th of May,
and on the 8th of June, the troops landed, without much

opposition, on the shore of Gabarus Bay, near the city

of Louisburg.
6 The French, alarmed by this demonstra-

tion of power, almost immediately deserted their outposts,

and retired within the town and fortress. After a vigorous resistance of almost

fifty days, and when all their shipping in the harbor was destroyed, the French

surrendered the town and fort, together with the island of Cape Breton and

that of St. John (now Prince Edward), and their dependencies, by capitulation,

on the 26th of July, 1758. The spoils of victory were more than five thousand

prisoners, and a large quantity of munitions of war. By this victory, the

English became masters of the coast almost to the mouth of the St. Lawrence.

When Louisburg fell, the power of France in America began to wane, and from

that time its decline was continual and rapid.

Activity now prevailed everywhere. While Amherst

and Wolfe were conquering in the East, Abercrombie and

young Howe were leading seven thousand regulars, nine

thousand provincials, and a heavy train of artillery,

against Ticonderoga, then occupied by Montcalm with

almost four thousand men. Abercrombie's army had ren-

dezvoused at the head of Lake George, and at the close

of a calm Sabbath evening [July, 1758] they went down

that beautiful sheet of water in flat-boats, and at dawn

LORD A3IHERST.

TICONDEROGA.

upon an article of luxury, levied without their consent, excited the people of that colony to rebellion.

See page 1G9.
1 The total number of inhabitants in Canada, then capable of bearing arms, did not exceed

twenty thousand. Of them, between four and five thousand were regular troops.
a
Page 229. 8

Page 186.
* Lord Jeffrey Amherst was born in Kent, England, in 1717. He was commander-in-chief of

the army in England, during a part of our war for independence, and afterward He died in 1797,

aged eighty vears. * Note 8, page 200.
" Note 5, page 137.
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LOUD HOWE.

[July 6] landed at its northern extremity. The whole

country from there to Ticonderoga was then covered

with " dense forest, and tangled morasses lay in the

pathway of the English army. Led by incompetent

guides, they were soon bewildered, and while in this

conditioi. f
hey were suddenly attacked by a French

scouting party. The enemy was repulsed, but the vic-

tory was a*; the expense of the life of Lord Howe. 1 He
fell at the head of the advanced guard, and a greater

part of the troops, who considered him the soul of the

expedition, retreated in confusion to the landing-place.

In the midst of the temporary confusion incident to the death of Howe,

intelligence reached Abercrombie that a reinforcement for Montcalm was

approaching. Deceived concern-

ing the strength of the French

lines across the neck of the pen-
insula on which the fortress stood,*

he pressed forward to the attack

without his artillery, and ordered

his troops to scale the breast-

works [July 8], in the face of

the enemy's fire. These proved
much stronger than he antici-

pated,
3 and after a bloody con-

flict of four hours, Abercrombie

fell back to Lake George, leav-

ing almost two thousand of his men dead or wounded, in the deep forest. 4 He
hastened to his former camp at the head of the lake, and then, on the urgent
solicitation of Colonel Bradstreet, he detached three thousand men under that

officer, to attack the French post at Frontenac.5
They went by way of Oswego

EUINS OP TICONDEROGA.

1 Lord Howe was brother of Admiral Lord Howe, who commanded the British fleet on the

Amerifjan coast, in 1776-77, and of Sir William Howe, the commander of the land forces. He was

greatly beloved by the troops ;
and Mante, who was in the service, remarks :

" "With him the soul

of the expedition seemed to expire." He was only thirty-four years of age when he fell. The

legislature of Massachusetts Bay appropriated one thousand two hundred and fifty dollars for a
monument to his memory, in Westminster Abbey. His remains were conveyed to Albany by
Captain (afterward General) Philip Schuyler, and there placed in a vault belonging to the family
of that officer. They were afterward removed to a place under the chancel of St. Peter's Church,
on State-street, Albany, where they remain. At the time of their removal, it was found that Lord
Howe's hair, which was very short when he was killed, had grown several inches, and exhibited

beautiful smooth and glossy locks.
3 The diagram (p. 196) shows the general form of the principal works. The ground on which

Ticonderoga stood is about one hundred feet above the level of the lake. Water is upon three sides,
and a deep morass extends almost across the fourth, forming a narrrow neck, where the French had
erected a strong line of breastworks with batteries. This line was about a mile north-west of the

fortress, which occupied the point of the peninsula. The ruins of the fort, delineated in the -hove
sketch, are yet [1883] quite picturesque.

8 The breastworks were nine feet in height, covered in front by sharpened branches of felled

trees, pointing outward like a mass of bayonets.
4

Among the wounded was Captain Charles Lee, afterward a general in the army of the Revo-
lution. 830 note 4, page 248- *

Page 180.
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and Lake Ontario, and two days after landing [August 27, 1758], they cap-

tured the fort, garrison, and shipping, without much resistance.
1

Bradstreet

lost only three or four men in the conflict, but a fearful sickness broke out in

his camp, and destroyed about five hundred of them. With the remainder, he

slowly retraced his steps, and at the carrying-place on the Mohawk, where the

village of Rome now stands, his troops assisted in building Fort btanwix." Aber-

crombie, in the mean while, after garrisoning Fort George,
3 returned with the

remainder of his troops to Albany.
The expedition against Fort du Quesne,

4
in the "West, was commanded by

General Joseph Forbes, who, in July, had about six thousand men at his dis-

posal, at Fort Cumberland and Raystown, including the Virginia troops under

Colonel Washington, the Carolina Royal Americans, and an auxiliary force of

Cherokee Indians. . Protracted sickness, and perversity of will and judgment
on the part of Forbes, caused delays almost fatal to the expedition. Contrary
to the advice of Washington, he insisted, under the advice of some Pennsylvania
land speculators, in constructing a new road, further north, over the mountains,

instead of following the one made by Braddock. His progress was so slow, that

in September, when it was known that not more than eight hundred men were

at Fort du Quesne,
5
Forbes, with six thousand troops, was yet east of the Al-

leghanies. Major Grant?
at the head ofa scouting party of Colonel Bouquet's

advanced corps, was attacked [Sept 21], defeated, and made prisoner. Still

Forbes moved slowly and methodically, and it was November [Nov. 8], before

he joined Bouquet with the main body, fifty miles from the point of destina-

tion. The approach of winter, and discontent of the troops, caused a counsel

of war to decide upon abandoning the enterprise, when three prisoners gave
information of the extreme weakness of the French garrison. Washington
was immediately sent forward, and the whole army prepared to follow. In-

dian scouts discovered the Virginians when they were within a day's march

of the fort, and their fear greatly magnified the number of the provincials.

The French garrison, reduced to five hundred men, set tire to the fort [Nov.

24], and fled down the Ohio in boats, in great confusion, leaving every thing

behind them. The Virginians took possession the following day. Forbes

left a detachment of four hundred and fifty men, to repair and garrison the

fort, and then hastened back to go into winter quarters. The name of Fort

du Quesne was changed to Fort Pitt, in honor of the great English statesman.
6

1
They made eight hundred prisoners, and seized nine armed vessels, sixty cannons, sixteen

mortars, a large quantity of ammunition and stores, and goods designed for traffic with the Indians.

Among Bradstreet's subalterns, was Nathaniel Woodhull, afterward a general at the commencement
of the war for Independence. [See note 3, page 252.] Stark, Ward, Pomeroy, Gridley, Putnam,

Schuyler, and many others who were distinguished in the Revolutionary struggle, were active par-

ticipants in the scenes of the French and Indian "War.
8
Page 278.

1 Fort George was erected about a mile south-east of the ruins of Fort William Henry, at the

bead of Lake George. The ruins of the main work, or citadel, are still [1883J quite prominent
4
Page 186.

6 The capture of Fort Frontenac spread alarm among the French west of that important post,

because their supplies from Canada were cut off. It so affected the Indians with fear, that a greater

part of those who were allied to the French, deserted them, and Fort du Quesne was feebly gar-
*
Page 195.
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With this event, closed the campaign of 1758, which resulted in great gain

to the English. They had effectually humbled the French, by capturing three

of their most important posts,
1 and by weakening the attachment of their

Indian allies. Many of the Indians had not only deserted the French, but at

a great council held at Easton, on the Delaware, during the summer of that year

they had, with the Six NATIONS,
2 made treaties of friendship or neutrality

with the English.
3 The right arm of French success was thus paralyzed, and

peace was restored to the frontiers of Pennsylvania and Virginia.

CAMPAIGN OF 1759.

Four years had elapsed since the commencement of this inter-colonial war.

The final struggle was now at hand. Encouraged by the success of the cam-

paigns just closed, Pitt conceived the magnificent scheme of conquering all

Canada, and destroying, at one blow, the French dominion in America. That

dominion was now confined to the region of the St. Lawrence, for more distant

settlements in the west and south, were like weak colonies cut off from the

parent country. Pitt had the rare fortune to possess the entire confidence and

esteem of the Parliament and the colonists. The former was dazzled by his

greatness ;
the latter were deeply impressed with his justice. He had promptly

reimbursed all the expenses incurred by the provincial Assemblies during the

campaign,
4

amounting to almost a million of dollars, and they as promptly sec-

onded his scheme of conquest, which had been communicated to them under an,

oath of secresy. The unsuccessful Abercrombie5
was succeeded by the success-

ful Amherst,
6
and early in the spring of 1759, the new commander-in-chief

found twenty thousand provincial troops at his disposal. A competent land and

naval force was also sent from England to co-operate with the Americans, and

the campaign opened with brilliant prospects for the colonies. The general

plan of operations against Canada was similar to that of Phipps and Winthrop
in 1690. 7 A strong land and naval force, under General Wolfe, was to ascend

the St. Lawrence, and attack Quebec. Another force, under Amherst, was to

drive the French from Lake Champlain, seize Montreal, and join Wolfe at

Quebec
;
and a third expedition, commanded by General Prideaux, was to cap-

ture Fort Niagara, and then hasten down Lake Ontario to Montreal.

On the 22d of July, 1759, General Amherst appeared before Ticonderoga
with eleven thousand men. The French commander had just heard of the

arrival of Wolfe at Quebec [June 27], and offered no resistance. The garrison

left the lines on the 23d of July, and retired within the fort, and three days
afterward [July 26] they abandoned that also, partially demolished it, and fled

to Crown Point. Amherst pursued them, and on his approach, they took to

their boats [Aug. 1], and went down the lake to Isle Aux Noix,
8 in the Sorel

1

Louisburg, Frontenac, and Du Quesne. Others, except Quebec, were stockades. Note 2,

page 183.
a
Page 25.

3 The chief tribes represented, were the Delawares, Shawnees, Nanticokes, Mohepans, Conoys,
and Monseys. The Twightwees, on the Ohio [page 19], had always remained the friends of tho

English. Page 195.
*
Page 191.

8

Page 196. T
Page 131.

* Pronounced Noo-oh.
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CROWN POINT.
3

River. Amherst remained at Crown Point long enough to construct a sufficient

number of rude boats to convey his troops, artillery, and bag-

gage, and then started to drive his enemy before him, across the

St. Lawrence. It was now mid-autumn [Oct. 11], and heavy
storms compelled him to return to Crown Point, and place his

troops in winter quarters.
1

"While there, they constructed thct

strong fortress, whose picturesque ruins, after the lapse of more

than a hundred years, yet [1883] attest its strength.

Accompanied by Sir William Johnson, as his lieuten-

ant, Prideaux collected his forces (chiefly provincials)
3

at Oswego, and sailed from thence to Niagara. He
landed without opposition, on the 17th of July, and im-

mediately commenced the siege. On the same day he

was killed, by the bursting of a gun, and was succeeded

in command by General Johnson. The beleaguered gar-

rison, in daily expectation of reinforcements which had

been ordered from the southern and western forts, held

out bravely for three weeks, when, on the 24th of July,
the expected troops appeared. They were almost three thousand strong, one

half being French regulars, and the remainder Indians, many of them from the

Creek4 and Cherokee
6
nations. A severe conflict ensued. The relief forces

Were completely routed, and on the following day [July 25], Fort Niagara and

its dependencies, and the garrison of seven hundred men, were surrendered to

Johnson. The connecting link of French military posts between Canada and

Louisiana6 was effectually broken, never again to be united. Encumbered with

his prisoners, and unable to procure a sufficient number of vessels for the pur-

pose, Johnson could not proceed to Montreal, to co-operate with Amherst and

Wolfe on the St. Lawrence, according to the original plan.
7 He garrisoned

Fort Niagara, and returned home.

Animated with high hopes, Wolfe8 left Louisburg, with eight thousand

troops, under a convoy of twenty-two line-of-battle ships, and as many frigates

FORT NIAGARA.

1 While at Crown Point, Major Rogers, at the head of his celebrated Rangers, went on an ex-

pedition against the St. Francis Indians, who had long been a terror to the frontier settlements of

New England. The village was destroyed, a large number of Indians were slain, and the Rangers
were completely victorious. They suffered from cold and hunger while on their return, and many
were left dead in the forest before the party reached the nearest settlement at Bellows Falls.

Rogers went to England after the war, returned in 1775, joined the British army at New York,
and soon went to England again, where he died.

8 The above diagram shows the general form of the military works at Crown Point. These,
Eke the ruins at Ticonderoga, are quite picturesque remains cf the past. A A A shows the position
of the strong stone barracks, portions of which are yet standing. W shows the place of a very deep
well, dug through the solid rock. It was filled up, and so remained until a few years ago, when
some money-diggers, foolishly believing there was treasure at the bottom, cleaned it out They
found nothing but a few scraps of iron and other rubbish.

* Johnson's influence over the Six Nations, made many of them disregard the treaty of neutral-

ity made with Montcalm [note 4, page 192], and a considerable number accompanied him to

Niagara
4
Page 30.

6
Page 27.

8
Page 180. 7

Page 199.
8 James "Wolfe was the son of a British general, and was born in Kent, England, in 1726. Be-

fore he was twenty years of age, he was distinguished in battle. He was now only thirty-three

years old.
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GENERAL WOLFE.

and smaller armed vessels, commanded by Admirals Holmes and Saunders. and,

on the 27th of June, landed upon Orleans Island, a few miles below Quebec.

That city then, as now. consisted of an Upper and Lower Town, the former

within fortified walls, upon the top and declivities of a high peninsula ;
the

latter lying upon a narrow beach at the edge of the

water. Upon the heights, three hundred feet above the

water, was a level plateau called the Plains of Abra-

ham. At the mouth of the St. Charles, which here

enters the St. Lawrence, the French had moored several

floating batteries.
1 The town was strongly garrisoned

by French regulars, and along the north bank of the

St. Lawrence, from the St. Charles to the Montmorenci

River, was the main French army, under Montcalm,
2
in

a fortified camp. It was composed chiefly of Canadian

militia and Indians.

On the 30th of July, the English, after a slight skirmish, took possession

of Point Levi, opposite Quebec, and throwing hot shot from a battery, they
almost destroyed the Lower Town. They could not damage the strong fortifi-

cations of the city from that distance,

and Wolfe resolved to attack the

French camp. He had already land-

ed a large force, under Generals

Townshend and Murray, and formed

a camp [July 10, 1759], below the

River Montmorenci. General Monck-

ton, with grenadiers
3 and other troops,

crossed from Point Levi, and landed
MILITARY OPERATIONS AT QUEBEC.

up()n the beach [July 3-^ ^^ ^^
of the high river bank, just above that stream. Murray and Townshend were

ordered to force a passage across the Montmorenci, and co-operate with hiiL.

but Monckton was too eager for attack to await their coming. He unwisely
rushed forward, but was soon repulsed, and compelled to take shelter behind a

block-house4 near the beach, just as a heavy thunder-storm, which had beer

gathering for several hours, burst upon the combatants. Night came on befon

it ceased, and the roar of the rising tide warned the English to taLo to their

boats. Five hundred of their number had perished.

Two months elapsed, and yet the English had gained no important advan-

tages. Wolfe had received no intelligence from Amherst, and the future ap-

1 These were a kind of flat-boats, with proper breastworks or other defences, and armed with
cannons.

a He was descended from a noble family. He was appointed governor of Canada in 1756. His
remains are beneath the Ursuline convent at Quebec.

3
Grenadiers are companies of the regular army, distinguished from the rest by some peculiarity

of dress and accoutrements, and always composed of the tallest and most muscular men in the serv-

ice. They are generally employed in bayonet charges, and sometimes carry grenades, a kind of
wnall bomb-shell 4 Note 3, page 192.
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peared gloomy. The exposure, fatigue, and anxiety which he had endured

produced a violent fever, and at the beginning of September [1759], he lay

prostrate in his tent, He called a council of war at his bedside, and, on the

suoro-estion of Townshend, it was resolved to scale the heights of Abraham,
1

andOD ' O /

assail the town on its weakest side. Wolfe heartily approved of the design.

A plan was speedily matured, and feeble as he was, the commander-in-chief

determined to lead the assault in person. The camp at the Montmorenci was

broken up [Sept. 8], and the attention of Montcalm was diverted from the real

designs of the English, by seeming preparations to again attack his lines. The

affair was managed so secretly
and skillfully, that even De Bourgainville, who

had been sent up the St. Lawrence by Montcalm, with fifteen hundred men,
to watch the movements of the English, had no suspicion of their designs.

All preparations having been completed, the English ascended the river, in

several vessels of the fleet, on the evening of the 12th of September. They
went several miles above the intended landing-place. Leaving the ships at

midnight, they embarked in flat boats, with muffled oars, and moved
silently

down to the mouth of a ravine, a mile and a half from the city, and landed.
4

At dawn [Sept. 13], Lieutenant-Colonel Howe3 led the van up the tangled

ravine, in the face of a sharp fire from a guard above. He was followed by the

generals and the remainder of the troops, with artillery ;
and at sunrise the

whole army stood in battle array upon the Plains of Abraham. It was an

apparition little anticipated by the vigilant Montcalm. He

perceived the peril of the city ;
and marching his whole army

immediately from his encampment, crossed the St. Charles, and

between nine and ten o'clock in the morning, confronted the

English. A general, fierce, and bloody battle now ensued. Al-

though twice severely wounded, Wolfe kept his feet; and as

the two armies closed upon each other, he placed himself at the

head of his grenadiers, and led them to a charge. At that mo-

ment a bullet entered his breast. He was carried to the rear,

and a few moments afterward, Monckton, who took the com-

mand, also fell, severely wounded. Townshend continued the

fafafa Montcalm soon received a fatal wound
;

4 and the French,

terribly pierced by English bayonets, and smitten by Highland broadswords,

broke and tied. Wolfe died just as the baiile ended, with a smile upon his lips,

because his ears heard the victory-shouts of his army. Five hundred French-

1 The declivity from Cape Diamond, on which the chief fortress stands, along the St. Lawrence
to the cove below Sillery, was called by the general name of the Heights of Abraham, the plains of

that name being on the top. See map on page 201.
' This place is known as Wolffs Cove ; and the ravine, which here breaks the steepness of the

rocky shore, and up which the English clambered, is called Wolfe's Ravine.
1 Afterward General Sir William Howe, the commander-in-chief of the English forces in Amer-

ica, when the Revolution had fairly commenced. Page 247.
4 He was carried into the city, and when told that he must die, he said, "So much the better;

I shall then be spared the mortification of seeing the surrender of Quebec." His remains are yet
in Quebec; those of Wolfe were conveyed to England. People of the two nations have long dwelt

peaceably together in that ancient city, and they have united in erecting a tall granite obelisk,

dedicated to the linked memory of Wolfe and Montcalm.
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men were killed, and (including the wounded) a thousand were taken prisoners.

The English lost six hundred, in killed and wounded.

General Townshend now prepared to besiege the city. Threatened famine

within aided him
;
and five days after the death of Wolfe [Sept. 18, 1759],

Quebec, with its fortifications, shipping, stores, and people, was surrendered to

the English, and five thousand troops, under General Murray, immediately took

possession. The fleet, with the sick and the French prisoners, sailed for

Halifax. The campaign now ended, yet Canada was not conquered. The

French yet held Montreal, and had a considerable land and naval force above

Quebec.

CAMPAIGN OF 1760.

Notwithstanding these terrible disasters, the French were not dismayed,
and early in the spring of 1760, Vaudreuil, then governor-general of Canada,
sent M. Levi, the successor of Montcalm, to recover Quebec. He went down

the St. Lawrence, with six frigates and a strong land force. General Murray
marched out, and met him at Sillery, about three miles above Quebec, and

there, on the 4th of April, was fought one of the most sanguinary battles of the

war. Murray was defeated. He lost all his artillery, and about a thousand

men, but succeeded in retreating to the city with the remainder. Levi now
laid siege to Quebec, and Murray's condition was becoming perilous, from the

Want of supplies, when an English squadron, with reinforcements and provisions,

appeared [May 9] in the St. Lawrence. Levi supposed it to be the whole

British fleet, and at once raised the siege [May 10], and fled to Montreal, after

losing most of his shipping.

Now came the final struggle. The last stronghold of the French was now
to be assailed

;
and Vandreuil gathered all his forces at Montreal for the

conflict. Amherst had made extensive preparations during the summer
;
and

early in September [Sept. 6-7], three English armies met before the doomed

city. Amherst, at the head of ten thousand troops, and a 'thousand warriors

of the Six NATIONS, under General Johnson,
1
arrived on the 6th, and was

joined, the same day, by General Murray, and four thousand troops, from

Quebec. The next day, Colonel Haviland arrived, with three thousand troops,

from Crown Point,
2
having taken possession of Isle Aux-Noix 3 on the way.

Against such a crushing force, resistance would be vain
;
and Vandreuil im-

mediately signed a capitulation [Sept. 8, 1760], surrendering Montreal, and

all other French posts in Canada, into the han(|s of the English.* The regular

troops, made prisoners at Montreal, were to be sent to France
;
and the Cana-

dians were guarantied perfect security in person, property, and religion.
5

General Gage
8
was appointed governor at Montreal

;
and Murray, with four

thousand men, garrisoned Quebec.

1

Page 190. a
Page 198.

* Note 8, page 197.
* The chief posts surrendered were Presque Isle (now Erie, Pennsylvania), Detroit, and Mac-

kinaw.
*
They were chiefly Roman Catholics, and that is yet the prevailing religion in Lower Canada.

*
Pages 186 and 226.
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The conquest of Canada produced great joy in the Anglo-American

colonies,
1 and in none was it more intense than in that of New York,

because its whole northern frontier lay exposed to the enemy. The exultation

was very great in New England, too, for its eastern frontiers were now relieved

from the terrible scourge of Indian warfare, by which they had been desolated

six times witliin a little more than eighty years. In these wars, too, the

Indians had become almost annihilated. The subjugation of the French seemed

to be a guaranty of peace in the future, and the people everywhere assembled

to utter public thanksgiving to HIM who rules the nations.

Although the war had ceased in America, the French and English contin-

ued it upon the ocean, and among the West India Islands, with almost con-

tinual success for the latter, until 1763, when a definitive treaty of peace,
2

agreed upon the year before, was signed at Paris [February 10, 1763], by
which France ceded to Great Britain all her claimed possessions in America,
eastward of the Mississippi, north of the latitude of Iberville River.

3 At the

same time, Spain, with whom the English had been at war for a year previously,

ceded [February 10. 1763] East and West Florida to the British crown. And

now, England held undisputed possession (except by the Indians) of the whole

Continent, from the shores of the Gulf of Mexico to the frozen North, and from

ocean to ocean.
4

The storm of war still lowered in the southern horizon, when the French

dominion ceased in Canada. While the English were crushing the Gallic power
in the north, the frontier settlements of the Carolinas were suffering dreadfully
from frequent incursions of Indian war parties. French emissaries were busy

among the Cherokees, hitherto the treaty friends of the English ;
and their

influence, and some wrongs inflicted upon the Indians by some frontier Virginia

Rangers, produced hostilities, and a fierce war was kindled in March, 1760.'

The whole western frontier of the Carolinas was desolated in the course of a few

weeks. The people called aloud for help, and Amherst heeded their supplica-

tions. Early in April, Colonel Montgomery, with some British regulars and

provincial troops, marched from Charleston, South Carolina, and laid waste a

portion of the Cherokee country.
6 Those bold aboriginal Highlanders were not

subdued; but when, the following year, Colonel Grant led a stronger force

against them,
7 burned their towns, desolated their fields, and killed many of

their warriors, they humbly sued for peace [June, 1761], and ever afterward

remained comparatively quiet.

The storm in the South had scarcely ceased, when another, more porten-

tous and alarming, gathered in the North-west. Pontiac, a sagacious chief of

1 Note 1. page 193.
" France and England, Spain and Portugal, were parties to this treaty.

8 New Orleans, and the whole of Louisiana, was ceded by France to Spain at the same time,

and she relinquished her entire possessions in North America. In 1800, Spain, by a secret treaty,

retroceded Louisiana to France; and in 1803, Napoleon sold it to the United States for fifteen mil-

lions of dollars. See page 390.
4 The cost, to England, of this Seven Tears' War, as the conflict was called in Europe, was five

hundred and sixty millions of dollars.
*

Page 27. 8
Page 27.

7
Marion, Moultrie, and several other men, afterward distinguished in the war for Independ-

ence, accompanied Grant on this occasion.
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the Ottawas,
1 who had been an earlj ally of the French, secretly confederated

several of the ALGONQUIN tribes, in 1763, for the purpose of expelling the

English from the country west of the Alleghanies.
11

After the fall of Montreal,*
Pontiac had professed an attachment to the English ;

and as there seemed safety
for settlers west of the mountains, immigration began to pour its living stream

over those barriers. Like Philip of Mount Hope,
4 Pontiac saw, in the future,

visions of the displacement, perhaps destruction, of his race, by the pale-faces ;

and he determined to strike a blow for life and country. So adroitly were his

plans matured, that the commanders of the western forts had no suspicions of

his conspiracy until it was ripe, and the first blow had been struck, in the

month of June. Within a fortnight, all the posts in possession of the English,

west of Oswego, fell into his hands, except Niagara,
5
Fort Pitt,

6 and Detroit.

Colonel Bouquet saved Pittsburg;
1

Niagara was not attacked; and Detroit,

after sustaining a siege of almost twelve months, was relieved by Colonel Brad-

street,
8 who arrived there with reinforcements, in May, 1764. The Indians

were now speedily subdued, their power was broken, and the hostile tribes sent

their chiefs to ask for pardon and peace. The haughty Pontiac refused

to bow to the white people, and took refuge in the country of the Illinois,

where he was treacherously murdered9 in 1769. This was the last act in the

dramaof the FRENCH AND INDIAN WAR. 10

In our consideration of the history of the United States, we have now

arrived at a point of great interest and importance. We have traced the growth
of the colonies through infancy and youth, as their interests and destinies gradu-

ally commingled, until they really formed one people,
11

strong and lusty, like

1

Page 18.
* The confederation consisted of the Ottawas, Miamies. ^yandots, Chippewas, Pottawatomies,

Mississaguies, Shawnoese, Outgamies or Foxes, and "Winuebagoes. The Senecas, the most westerly
clan of the STX NATIONS, also joined in the conspiracy.

3
Page 203.

4
Page 124.

6
Page 200. Page 198.

I
Henry Bouquet was a brave English officer. He was appointed lieutenant-colonel in 1756,

and was in the expedition against Fort du Quesne (page 198). In 1763, Amherst sent him from

Montreal, with provisions and military stores for Fort Pitt. His arrival was timely, and he saved

tlid garrison from destruction. The following year he commanded an expedition against the Indians

in Ohio, and was successful His journal was published after the war.
8
Page 198.

v An English trader bribed a Peoria Indian to murder him, for which he gave him a barrel of

rum. The place of his death was Cahokia, a small village on the east side of the Mississippi, a little

below St. Louis. Pontiac was one of the greatest of all the Indian chiefs known to the white peo-

ple, and deserved a better fate. It is said, that during the war of 1763, he appointed a commissary,

and issued bills of credit. So highly was he esteemed by the French inhabitants, that these were

received by them. Montcalm thought much of him
;
and at the time of his death, Pontiac was

dressed in a French uniform, presented to him by that commander. See page 202. Pontiac was

buried where the city of St. Louis now stands, and that busy mart is his monument, though not his

memorial
10 The work most accessible to the general reader, in which the'details of colonial events may

be found, is Graham's Colonial History of the United States, in two volumes octavo, published by

Blanchard and Lea, Philadelphia.
II

It must not be understood, that there was yet a perfect unity of feeling among the various

colonists. Sectional interests produced sectional jealousies, and these worked much mischief, even

while soldiers from almost every colony were fighting shoulder to shoulder [page 190] in the conti-

nental army. Burnaby, who traveled in America at this period, expressed the opinion, that

sectional jealousy and dissimilarity would prevent a permanent union
; yet he avers that the people

were imbued with ideas of independence, and that it was frequently remarked among them, that

"
the tide of dominion was running westward, and that America was destined to be the mistress of

the world." The colonists themselves were not unmindful of the importance of their position, and
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the mature man. prepared to vindicate natural rights, and to fashion political and

social systems adapted to their position and wants. We view them now, con-,

scious of their physical and moral strength, possessing clear views of right and

justice, and prepared to demand and defend both. This is the point in the

progress of the new and growing nation to which our observation is now

directed, when the great question was to be decided, whether independent self-

control should be enjoyed, or continued vassalage to an ungenerous parent

should be endured. Our next topic will be the events connected with the

settlement of that question. It is a topic of highest significance. It looms up
in the panorama of national histories like some giant Alp, far above its fellows,

isolated in grandeur, yet assimilated in sympathy with all others.

they gave freely of their substance to carry on the contest for the mastery. Probably, the "Seven
Years' War'' cost the colonies, in the aggregate, full twenty millions of dollars, besides the flower

of their youth ; and, in return, Parliament granted them, during the contest, at different periods,
about five millions and a half of dollars. Parliament subsequently voted one million of dollars to

the colonies, but, on account of the troubles arising from the Stamp Act and kindred measures, min-

isters withheld the sum.
The following is a list, taken from official records, of " The grants in Parliament for Rewards,

Encouragement, and Indemnification to the Provinces in North America, for their Services and Ex-

penses during the last [seven years'] War :

" On the 3d of February, 1756, as a free gift and reward to the colonies of New England, New
York, and Jersey, for their past services, and as an encouragement to continue to exert themselves

with vigor, $575,000.

"May 19th, 1757. For the use and relief of the provinces of North and South Carolina, and

Virginia, in recompense for services performed and to be performed, $250,000.
"June 1st, 1758. To reimburse the province of Massachusetts Bay their expenses in furnishing-

provisions and stores to the troops raised by them in 1756, $136,900. To reimburse the province
of Connecticut their expenses for ditto, $68,680.

"April 30th, 1759. As a compensation to the respective colonies for the expenses of clothing,

pay of troops, etc., $1,000,000.
"March 31st, 1760. For the same, $1,000,000. For the colony of New York, to reimburse

their expenses in furnishing provisions and stores to the troops in 1756, $14,885.
"Jan. 20th, 1761. As a compensation to the respective colonies for clothing, pay of the troops,

etc., $1,000,000.
"Jan. 26th, 1762. Ditto, $666,666.
"March 15th, 1763. Ditto, $666,666.

"April 22d, 1770. To reimburse the province of New Hampshire then* expenses in furnishing

provisions and stores to the troops in the campaign of 1756, $30,045. Total, $5,408,842."
In a pamphlet, entitled Rights of BRITAIN and Claims of AMERICA, an answer to the Declara-

tion of the Continental Congress, setting forth the causes and the necessity of their taking up arms,

printed hi 1776, is a table showing the annual expenditures of the British government in support of

the civil and military powers of the American colonies, from the accession of the family of Hanover,
in 1714, until 1775. The expression of the writer is, "Employed in the defense of America." This

is incorrect
;

for the wars with the French on this continent, which cost the greatest amount of

money, were wars for conquest and territory, though ostensibly for the defense of the Anglo-Amer-
ican colonies against the encroachments of their Gallic neighbors. During the period alluded to

(sixty years), the sums granted for the army amounted to $43,899,625 ;
for the navy, $50,000,000;

money laid out in Indian presents, in holding Congresses, and purchasing cessions of land,

$30,500,000 ; making a total of $123,899,625. Within that period the following bounties on
American commodities were paid: On indigo, $725,110; on hemp and flax, $27,800; on naval

stores imported into Great Britain from America, $7,293,810; making the total sum paid on ao-

oount of bounties, $8,047,320. The total amount of money expended in sixty years on account of

America, $131,946,945.
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CHAPTER I.

PRINCIPLES, like the ultimate particles ot

JAMES OTIS. matter, and the laws of God, are eternal, inde-

structible, and unchangeable. They have

existed in the moral realm of our world since the advent of man
;
and devious

as may be their manifestations, according to circumstances, they remain the

same, inherently, and always exhibit the same tendencies. When God gave to

man an intelligent soul, and invested him with the prerogatives of moral free

agency, then was born that instinctive love of liberty which, through all past

time, has manifested itself in individuals and in societies
;
and in every age, the

consciences of men have boldly and indignantly asked, in the presence of

oppression,
" If I'm design'd yon lordling's slave,

By Nature's laws designed ;

Why was an independent wish

E'er planted in my mind?

If not, why am I subject to

His cruelty or scorn?

Or why has man the will and pow'r
To make his fellow mourn ?"

l

1 Burns.
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Nations, like men, have thus spoken. The principles of civil and religious

liberty, and the inalienable rights of man which they involve, were recognized
and asserted long before Columbus left Palos for the New World.

1

Their

maintenance had shaken thrones and overturned dynasties before Charles the

First was brought to the block
;

3 and they had lighted the torch of revolution long
before the trumpet-tones ofJames Otis 3 and Patrick Henry

4
aroused the Anglo-

Americans
6
to resist British aggression. From the earliest steps in the progress

of the American colonies, we have seen the democratic theories of all past reform-

ers developed into sturdy democratic practice ;
and a love of liberty which had

germinated beneath the heat of persecution in the Old World, budded and

blossomed all over the New, wherever English hearts beat, or English tongues

gave utterance. Nor did English hearts alone cherish the precious seedling,

nor English tongues alone utter the noble doctrines of popular sovereignty ;
but

in the homes of all in this beautiful land, whatever country gave the inmatea

birth, there was a shrine of freedom, and a refuge for the oppressed. Here

king-craft and priest-craft never had an abiding-place, and their ministers were

always weak in the majestic presence of the popular will.

Upon the bleak shores of Massachusetts Bay ; upon the banks of the Hud-

son, the Delaware, the Potomac, and the James
;
and amid the pine-forests or

beneath the palmettos of the Carolinas, and the further South, the colonists,

from the very beginning, had evinced an impatience of arbitrary rule
;
and

every manifestation of undue control by local magistrates or distant monarchs

every effort to abridge their liberties or absorb their gains, stimulated the

growth of democratic principles. These permeated the whole social and politi-

cal life in America, and finally evolved from the crude materials of royal

charters, religious covenants, and popular axioms, that galaxy of representative

governments which, having the justice of the English Constitution, the truth

of Christian ethics, and the wisdom of past experience for their foundation,

were united in "the fullness of time," in that symmetrical combination of free

institutions known as the REPUBLIC OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.

It is a common error to regard the Revolution which attended the birth of

this Republic, as an isolated episode in the history of nations, having its causes

in events immediately preceding the convulsion. It was not the violent result

of recent discontents, but the culmination of a long series of causes tending to

such a climax. The parliamentary enactments which kindled the rebellion in

1775, were not oppressive measures entirely novel. They had their counter-

parts in the British statute books, even as early as the restoration of monarchy

[1660J
8
a hundred years before, when navigation laws,

7
intended to crush the

growing commerce of the colonies were enacted. They were only re-assertions

of tyrannical legislative power and royal prerogatives, to which the colonies, in

the weakness of their infancy and early youth, were compelled to submit. Now

they had grown to maturity, and dared to insist upon receiving exact justice.

1

Page 39.
' Note 3, page 108.

*
Page 212.

4 Xote 1, page 214.
Note 1, page 193.

e
Page 109. 7 Note 4, page 109.



1775.] PRELIMINARY EVENTS. 201-

They had recently emerged from an exhausting war, which, instead of weaken-

ing them, had taught them their real moral, political, and physical strength.

They had also learned the important lesson of power in union, and profited by
its teachings. Having acquired a mastery over the savages of the wilderness,

and assisted in breaking the French power on their frontiers, into atoms.
'

they

felt their manhood stirring within them, and they tacitly agreed no longer to

submit to the narrow and oppressive policy of Great Britain. Their industry

and commerce were too expansive to be confined within the narrow limits of

those restrictions which the Board of Trade,
2
from time to time, had imposed,

and they determined to regard them as mere ropes of sand. For long and

gloomy years they had struggled up, unaided and alone, from feebleness to

strength. They had built fortifications, raised armies, and fought battles, for

England's glory and their own preservation, without England's aid, and often

without her sympathy.
3 And it was not until the growing importance of the

French settlements excited the jealousy of Great Britain, that her ministers

perceived the expediency of justice and liberality toward her colonies, in order

to secure their loyalty and efficient co-operation.
4

Compelled to be self-reliant

from the beginning, the colonists were made strong by the mother's neglect ;

and when to that neglect she added oppression and scorn, they felt justified in

using their developed strength in defense of their rights.

The colonists had grown strong, not only in material prosperity, percep-

tions of inalienable rights, and a will to be free, but in many things in which

the strength and beauty of a State consist, they exhibited all the most prom-
inent developments of a great nation. A love for the fine arts had been grow-

ing apace for many years; and when the Revolution broke out, West5 and

Copley,
9
natives of America, were wearing, in Europe, the laurel-crowns of

supreme excellence as painters. Literature and science were beginning to be

highly appreciated, and the six colonial colleges
7
were full of students. God-

frey, the glazier, who invented the quadrant, had flourished and passed away ;"

1

Page 203.
* Note 5, page 134

8
Georgia, alone, received parliamentary aid [page 100], in the establishment of settlements. In

all the other colonies, where vast sums were expended in fitting out expeditions, purchasing tho

soil of the Indians, and sustaining the settlers, neither the crown nor parliament ever contributed

a farthing of pecuniary aid. The settling of Massachusetts alone, cost a million of dollars. Lord

Baltimore spent two hundred thousand dollars in colonizing Maryland ;
and William Penn became

deeply involved in debt, in his efforts to settle and improve Pennsylvania.
*
Page 197.

B
Benjamin West was born in Chester county, Pennsylvania, in 1738. His parents were

Quakers. He commenced art-life as a portrait-painter, when wealthy men furnished him with

means to go to Italy. He soon triumphed, went to England, was patronized by the king, and
became the most eminent historical painter of his age. He died in London in 1820, in the eighty-
second year of his age.

8 John Singleton Copley was also born in 1738, in the city of Boston. He became a pupil of
Smibert [note 8, page 158], and became an eminent portrait-painter. His family relations identified

him with the Royalists at the commencement of the Revolution, and he went to England to seek

employment, where he was patronized by West. There he painted two memorable pictures ,
c

for the House of Lords, the other for the House of Commons. These established his fame, and led to

fortun-3. His son became lord chancellor of England, and was made a peer, nth the title of Lord
Lyndhurst. Copley died in England, in 1815, at the age of seventy-seven ye... 3.

Page 178.
8 Thomas Godfrey was a native of Pennsylvania, and was born in 1704. He was the real

inventor of the quadrant known as Hadley's. See Lossiug's Eminent Americans,
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Bartram, the farmer, had become l - American Botanist to his Majesty;"
1

Franklin, the printer, was known, "wherever civilization had planted her ban-

ners, as the lightning-tamer and profound moral philosopher ; and Rittenhouse,

the clock-maker, had calculated and observed the transit of Venus, and con-

etructed that Planetarium which is yet a wonder in the world of mechanism.'

Theology and the legal profession, had taken high ground. Edwards3 had

written his great work on The Freedom of the Will, and was among the

dead
;
and already Otis,

4

Henry,
6

Dickenson,* Rutledge,
7 and other lawyers,

had made their brilliant marks, and were prepared to engage in the great strug-

gle at hand. All classes of men had noble representatives in the colonies, when
the conflict commenced.

There was no cause for complaint on the part of the colonists, of the willful

exercise of tyrannical power, for purposes of oppression, by Great Britain.

1 See Lossing's Eminent Americans.
* David Rittenhouse was bom in Roxborough, Pennsylvania, in 1733. As he exhibited great

mechanical genius, his father apprenticed him to a clock-maker, and he became one of the most

eminent mechanicians and mathematicians of his time. He discovered that remarkable feature in

algebraic analysis, called fluxwns, and applied it to the mechanic arts. He constructed a machine
which represented the motions of the solar system. That Planetarium is now in the possession of

the College of New Jersey, at Princeton Rittenhouse succeeded Franklin as president of the

American Philosophical Society. He died in 1793, at the age of sixty-four years.
8 Jonathan Edwards was one of the most eminent of American divines. He was born in East

Windsor, Connecticut, in 1703, and died r.t Pr'nceton, New Jersey, while president of the college,
i. 1758. *

Page 212 "
Page 214.

"
Page 219.

'

Page 310.
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There was no motive for such a course. But they reasonably complained of

an unjust and illiberal policy, which accomplished all the purposes of absolute

tyranny. The rod of iron was often covered with velvet, and was wielded as

often by ignorant, rather than by wicked, hands. Yet the ignorant hand, with.

ene concealed rod. smote as lustily and offensively, as if it had been a wicked

one, and the rod bare. The first form of governmental and proprietary oppres-

sion
1

was in the appointment of local rulers. The people were not represented
in the appointing power. Then came commercial restrictions,

2

prohibitions to

manufacture,
3

imposts upon exchanges,
4 and direct taxation, by enactments of

parliament, in which the colonists were not represented. At the beginning,

they had asserted, and during their whole progress they had maintained, that

important political maxim, that TAXATION without REPRESENTATION, is tyranny.
This was the fundamental doctrine of their political

creed this was the test of

all parliamentary measures this was the strong rock upon which the patriots

of the Revolution anchored their faith and hope.
When the French and Indian War was closed by the treaty of Paris,

1 Three forms of government had existed, namely, charter, proprietary, and royal. The New
England governments were based upon royal charters

;
New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Maryland, and

the Carolinas, were owned and governed by individuals or companies, and the remainder were

immediately subject to the crown. Notwithstanding this diversity in the source of government, the

anti-monarchical spirit pervaded the people of all, from the beginning, and gave birth to popular

legislative assemblies.
a
Note 3, page 177.

8
Pag^a 177 and 178.

*
Page 178.
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in 1763, the colonists looked forward to long years of prosperity and

repose. A young monarch,
1

virtuous and of upright intentions, had been

recently [1761] seated upon the British throne. Having confidence in his

integrity, and having lately felt the justice of the government, under the direc-

tion of Pitt,
2
they were disposed to forget past grievances ;

and being identified

with the glory of England, now become one of the first powers on the earth,

they were fond of their connection. But the serenity of the political sky soon

disappeared, and it was not long before violent tempests were raging there.

Even before the treaty at Paris, a cloud had arisen which portended future

trouble. The war had exhausted the British treasury,* and ministers devised

various schemes for replenishing it. They had observed the resources of the

colonists, as manifested by their efforts during the recent struggle,
4 and as they

were relieved from further hostilities by the subjugation of Canada8

[1759],

the government looked to them for aid. Instead of asking it as a favor, it was

demanded as a right ; instead of inviting the colonial Assemblies to levy taxes

and make appropriations, government assumed the right to tax their expanding

commerce; and then commenced a vigorous enforcement of existing revenue

laws, which had hitherto been only nominally oppressive."

One of the first acts which revealed the intentions of Parliament to tax the

colonies by enforcing the revenue laws, was the authorization, in 1761, of

Writs of Assistance. These were general search-warrants, which not only
allowed the king's oflicers who held them, to break open any citizen's store or

dwelling, to search for and seize foreign merchandise, on which a duty had not

been paid, but compelled sheriffs and others to assist in the work. The people

could not brook such a system of petty oppression. The sanctities of private

life might be invaded, at any time, by hirelings, and the assertion, based upon
the guaranties of the British Constitution, that "every Englishman's house is

his castle," would not be true. These writs were first issued in Massachusetts,

and immediately great excitement prevailed. Their legality was questioned, and

the matter was brought before a court held in the old town hall in Boston.

The advocate for the Crown (Mr. Gridley) argued, that as Parliament was the

supreme legislature for the whole British nation, and had authorized these

writs, no subject had a right to complain. He was answered by James Otis,
7

1
George the Third. He was crowned in 1761, at the age of twenty years. He reigned almost

sixty years, and died in 1820. a
Page 195.

3 Note 4. page 204.
* French and Indian War. 6

Page 204.
6 Commercial restrictions were imposed upon the colonies as early as 1651 [note 4, page 109].

In 1660, 1672, 1676, 1691, and 1692, attempts were made by parliament to derive a revenue by a
tariff-taxation upon the colonies. In 1696 a proposition was made to levy a direct tax upon the

colonies. Then, not only in Britain, but in America, the power of parliameDt. (wherein the colonists

were not represented), to tax those colonies, was strenuously denied.
7 James Otis was born in Barnstable, Massachusetts, in 1725, and became the leader of the

Revolutionary party in that province, at the beginning. He was wounded by a blow from a cudgel,
in the hands of a British official in 1769, and never fairly recovered. For years he was afflicted

with occasional lunacy, and presented but a wreck of the orator and scholar. The following anec-

dote is related of Mr. Otis, as illustrative of his ready use of Latin, even during moments of mental

aberration. Men and boys, heartless or thoughtless, would sometimes make themselves merry at

his expense, when he was seen in the streets afflicted with lunacy. On one occasion he was pass-

ing a crockery store, when a young man, who had a knowledge of Latin, sprinkled some water
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the younger, then advocate-general of the province. On that occasion, the

intense fire of his patriotism beamed forth with inexpressible brilliancy, and his

eloquence was like lightning, far-felt and consuming. On that day the trumpet
of the Revolution was sounded. John Adams afterward said. "The seeds of

patriots
and heroes were then and there sown ;"and when the orator exclaimed,

* To my dying day I will oppose, with all the power and faculties God has given

me, all such instruments of slavery on one hand, and villany on the other," the

independence of the colonies was proclaimed.
1 From that day began the triumphs

of the popular will. Very few writs were issued, and these were ineffectual.

Young King Georg3 unwisely turned his back upon Pitt," and listened to

the councils of Bute,
3
an unprincipled Scotch adventurer, who had been his

tutor. Disastrous consequences ensued. Weak and corrupt men controlled

his cabinet, and the pliant Parliament approved of illiberal and unjust measures

toward the colonists. The Sugar bill,
4 which had produced a great deal of ill-

feeling in the colonies, was re-enacted
;
and at the same time, George Grenville,

then prime minister, proposed "certain stamp duties on the colonies." Th<

subject was left open for consideration almost a year, when, in the spring of

1765, in defiance of the universal opposition of the Americans, the famous

Stamp Act, which declared that no legal instrument of writing should be valid,

unless it bora a government stamp, became a law.
5 Now was executed, without

hesitation, a measure which no former ministry had possessed courage or reck-

lessness enough to attempt.
8

upon him from a sprinkling-pot with which he was wetting the floor of the second story, at the same
time saying, Pluit tantum, nescio quantum. Scis netuf "It rains so much, I know not how much.
Do you know?" Otis immediately picked up a missile, and, hurling it through the window of the

crockery store, it smashing every thing in its way, exclaimed, Fregi tot, nescio quot. Scis ne tuf
"I have broken so many, I know not how many. Do you know?" Mr. Otis, according to his

expressed desire, was killed by lightning in 1782. See portrait at the head of this chapter.
1 Later than this [1768], Otis wrote to a friend in London, and said :

" Our fathers were a good
people ;

we have been a free people, and if you will not let us remain so any longer, we shall be a

great people, and the present measures can have no tendency but to hasten with great rapidity,
events which every good and honest man would wish delayed for ages." He evidently alluded to

the future independence of the colonies.
*

Pitt, disgusted by the ignorance and assurance of Bute and the misplaced confidence of the

king, resigned his office, and retired to his country seat at Hayes. The king esteemed him highly,
but was too much controlled by Bute to follow his own inclinations. It was not long, however,
before public affairs became so complicated, that the king was compelled to call upon the great
commoner to untangle them.

8 Bute was a gay Scotch earl, poor and proud. He became a favorite with the mother of George
the Third, was appointed his tutor, and acquired such infiuence over the mind of the prince, that on
Ms accession to the throne, he made him his chief minister and adviser. The English people were
much incensed

;
and the unwise measures of the early years of George's reign, were properly laid

to the charge of Bute. A placard was put up in London, with the words,
" No Scotch minister

no petticoat government." The last clause referred to the influence of the queen mother.
4 A bill which imposed a duty upon sugar, coffee, indigo, &c., imported into the colonies from

the "West Indies.

The stamps wore upon blue paper, in the form seen in the engrnving on page 213, and were
to be attached to

every piece of paper or parchment, on which a legal instrument was written.
For theae stamps government charged specific prices : for example, for a common property deed,
one

shilling and
sixpence; for a diploma or certificate of a college degree, two pounds, &c., &c.

During Robert Walpole's administration [1732], a stamp duty was proposed. He said, "I
ill leave the taxation of America to some of my successors, who have more courage than I have."

Sir William Keith, governor of Pennsylvania, proposed such a tax in 1739. Franklin thought it

just, when a delegate in the Colonial Congress at Albany, in 175\ [page 183]. But when it was

proposed to Pitt in 1759, he said, "I will never burn my fingers w th an American Stamp Act."
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The colonists had -watched with- anxiety the growth of this new germ of

oppression ;
and the intelligence of the passage of the Act produced general

and intense indignation in America. The hearts of the people were yet thrilled

bj the eloquent denunciations of Otis
;
and soon Patrick Henry sent forth 3,

response equally eloquent from the heaving bosom of the Virginia Assembly.

Y

The people, in cities and villages, gathered in excited groups, and boldly

expressed their indignation. The pulpit denounced the wicked scheme, and

1 Patrick Henry was a very Boanerges at the opening of the Revolution. He was born in

Hanover County, Virginia, in 1736. In youth and manhood he was exceedingly indolent and dull

At the age of twenty-seven, his eloquence suddenly beamed forth in a speech in court, in his native

county, and he soon became a leading man in Virginia. He was elected the first Republican gov-
ernor of his State, in 1776, and held that office again in 1784. He died in 1799, at the age of

almost sixty-three years. At the time alluded to in the text, Henry introduced a series of resolu-

tions, highly tinctured with rebellious doctrines. He asserted the general rights of all the colonies;

then the exclusive right of the Virginia Assembly to tax the people of that province, and boldly
declared that the people were not bound to obey any law relative to taxation, which did not pro-
ceed from their representatives. The last resolution declared that whoever should dissent from the

doctrines inculcated in the others, should be considered an "enemy of the colonies." The introduc-

tion of these resolutions produced great excitement and alarm. Henry supported them with all the

power of his wonderful eloquence. Some rose from their seats, and others sat in breathless silence.

At length, when alluding to tyrants, he exclaimed,
"
Caesar had his Brutus, Charles the First his

Cromwell, and George the Third" there was a cry of " Treason 1 Treason !" He paused a moment,
and said "

may profit by their example. If that be treason, make the most of it." [See picture
at the head of this chapter.] A part of his resolutions were adopted, and these formed the

first gauntlet of defiance cast at the feet of the British monarch. Their power was felt

throughout the land.
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associations of Sons of Liberty
1

in every colony put forth their energies in

defense of popular freedom. The press, then assuming great power, spoke out

like an oracle of Truth. In several cities popular excite-

ment created mobs, and violence ensued. The Stamps
rere seized on their arrival, and secreted or burned.

Stamp distributors
3
were insulted and despised ;

and on

the first of November, 1765, when the law was to take

effect, there were no officials courageous enough to

enforce it.

The people did not confine their opposition to expres-

sions at indignation meetings, and acts of violence. The

public sentiment took a more dignified form, and assumed

an aspect of nationality. There was a prevailing desire

for a general Congress, and several colonies, in the midst of the great excite-

ment, appointed delegates for that purpose. They met in the city of New

York, on the 7th of October, 1765,
3
continued in session fourteen days, and in

three well -written documents,
4

they ably set forth the grievances and the rights

of the colonists, and petitioned the king and parliament for a redress of the

former, and acknowledgment of the latter. The proceedings of this Second

Colonial Congress
6
were applauded by all the provincial Assemblies, and the

people of America were as firmly united in heart and purpose then, as they
were after the Declaration of Independence, more than ten years later.

At length the momentous day the first of November arrived. It was

observed as a day of fasting and mourning. Funeral processions paraded the

streets of cities, and bells tolled funeral knells. The colors of sailing vessels

were placed at half-mast, and the newspapers exhibited the black-line tokens

of public grief. The courts were now closed, legal marriages ceased, ships

remained in port, and for some time all business was suspended. But the lull

in the storm was of brief duration. The people were only gathering strength
for more vigorous achievements in defense of their rights. The Sons of Lib-

erty put forth new efforts
;
mobs began to assail the residences of officials, and

burn distinguished royalists, in
effigy.

8
Merchants entered into agreements

1 These associations were composed of popular leaders and others, who leagued with the

avowed determination to resist oppression to the uttermost. After their organization in the differ-

ent colonies, they formed a sort of national league, and by continual correspondence, aided effectu-

ally in preparing the way for the Revolution.
3 Men appointed by the crown to sell the government stamps, or stamped paper.
3

Massachusetts, Connecticut, Rhode Island, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Maryland, and South

Carolina, were represented. The Assemblies of those not represented, declared their readiness to

agree to whatever measures the Congress might adopt. Timochy Ruggles, of Massachusetts (who
afterward oommanded a corps of Tories) [note 4, page 224], presided.4 A .Declaration of flights, written by John Cruger, of New York

;
a Memorial to both Houses of

Parliament, by Robeit R. Livingston, of New York
;
and a Petition to fh king, by James Otis, of

Massachusetts. 6
Page 183.

Public indignation is thus sometimes manifested. A figure of a man intended to represent
the obnoxious individual, is paraded, and then hung upon a scaffold, or burned at a stake, as an
intimation of the deserved fate of the person thus represented. It was a common practice in En-
gland at the time in question, and has laeen often done in our own country since. Nowhere was
popular indignation so warmly manifested as in New York. Cadwallader Golden, a venerable
Scotchman of eighty years, was acting-governor of New York. He refused to deliver up the
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not to import goods from Great Britain while the obnoxious Act remained a law
;

and domestic manufactures were commenced in almost evsry family.
1

The

wealthiest vied with the middling classes in economy, and wore clothing of

their own manufacture. That wool might not become scarce, the use of sheep

flesh for food, was discouraged. Soon, from all classes in America, there went

to the ears of the British ministry, a respectful but firm protest.
It was

seconded by the merchants and manufacturers of London, whose American

trade was prostrated,
8 and the voice, thus made potential, was heard and heeded

in high places.

stamped paper on the demand of the people, when they proceeded to hang him in effigy, near th<r

spot where Leisler was executed [page 1481 seventy-five years before. They also burned his finf

coach in front of the fort, near the present Bowling Green, and upon the smoking pile they cast hia

effigy. Golden was a man of great scientific attainments. He wrote a History of the Five Nation*

[page 23], and was in constant correspondence with some of the most eminent philosophers and

scholars of Europe. A life of Golden, from the pen of John W. Francis, M.D., L.LD., may be found

in the American Medical and Philosophical Register, 1811. He died in September, 1776.
1 The newspapers of the day contain many laudatory notices of the conformity of wealth;'

people to these agreements. On one occasion, forty or fifty young ladies, who called themselves

"Daughters of Liberty," met at the house of the Rev. Mr. Morehead, in Boston, with their spinning-

wheels, and spun two hundred and thirty-two skeins of yarn, during the day, and presented them
to the pastor. It is said -'there were upward of one hundred spinners in Mr. Morehead's Sonety.
"Within eighteen months,

1 ' wrote a gentleman at Newport, R. I., "four hundred and eighty-seven

yards of cloth, and thirty-six pairs of stockings, have been spun and knit in the family of James

Nixon, of this town."
a Half a million of dollars were due them by the colonists, at that tima not a dime of which

eould be collected under the existing state of things.
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WILLIAM PITT.

While these events were in progress, Grenville had been succeeded in office

by the Marquis of Rockingham, a friend of the colonies, and an enlightened
statesman. William Pitt,

1 who had been called from his retirement by the

voice of the people, hoping much from the new ministry, appeared in Parlia

ment, and was there the earnest champion of the Amer-

icans. Justice and expediency demanded a repeal of the

Stamp Act, and early in January, 1766, a bill for that

purpose was introduced into the House of Commons, and

was warmly supported by Pitt, Colonel Barre, and others.

Then Edmund Burke first appeared as the champion of

right; and during the stormy debates on the subject,

which ensued, he achieved some of those earliest and

most wonderful triumphs of oratory, which established his

fame, and endeared him to the American people.
2 The

obnoxious act was repealed on the 18th of March, 1766, when London ware-

houses were illuminated, and flags decorated the shipping in the Thames. In

America, public thanksgivings, bonfires, and illuminations, attested the general

joy ;
and Pitt,

3 who had boldly declared his conviction that Parliament had no

right to tax the colonies without their consent,
4 was lauded as a political Mes-

siah. Non-importation associations were dissolved, business was resumed, and the

Americans confidently expected justice from the mother country, and a speedy
reconciliation. Alas ! the scene soon changed.

Another storm soon began to lower. Pitt, himself tenacious of British

honor, and doubtful of the passage of the Repeal Bill without some concessions,
had appended to it an act, which declared that Parliament possessed the power
"

to bind the colonies, in all cases whatsoever." The egg of tyranny which

lay concealed in this
"
declaratory act," as it was called, was not perceived by

the colonists, while their eyes were filled with tears of joy ;
but when calm re-

flection came, they saw clearly that germ of future oppre^ions, and were

uneasy. They perceived the Repeal Bill to be only a truce in the war upon
freedom in America, and they watched every movement of the government

party with suspicion. Within a few months afterward, a brood of obnoxious

measures were hatched from that egg, and aroused the fiercest indignation of

the colonists.

The American people, conscious of rectitude, were neither slow nor cautious

1 Note 2, page 213.
4 Edmund Burke was born in Ireland, in 1730. He became a lawyer, and was a very popular

Writer, as well as a speaker. He was in public office about thirty years, and died in 1797.
3
William Pitt was born in England in 1708, and held many high offices of trust and emolu-

ment. During an exciting debate in Parliament, on American affairs, in the spring of 1778, ho

swooned, and died within a montn. afterward.
"
Taxation," said Pitt, "is no part of the governing or legislative power. Taxes are the vol-

untary gift or grant of the commons alone." "I rejoice," he said, "that America has resisted.

Three millions of people, so dead to all the feelings of liberty, as voluntarily to become Isaves, would
have been fit instruments to make slaves of the rest." And Colonel Barre declared that the colon-
ists were planted by English oppression, grew by neglect, and in all the essential elements of a free

people, were perfectly independent of Great Britain. He then warned the government to act justly,
or the colonies would be lost to Great Britain forever.
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in exhibiting their indignation, and this boldness irritated their oppressors. A
large portion of the House of Lords,

1

the whole bench of bishops,
2
and many of

the Commons, were favorable to coercive measures toward the Americans. Not

doubting the power of Parliament to tax them, they prevailed on the ministry
to adopt new schemes for replenishing the exhausted treasury

3
from the coffers

of the colonists, and urged the justice of employing arms, if necessary, to en-

force obedience. Troops were accordingly sent to America, in June, 1766
;

and a Mutiny Act was passed, which provided for their partial subsistence by
the colonies.

4 The appearance of these troops in New York, and the order for

the people to feed and shelter the avowed instruments of their own enslavement,

produced violent outbreaks in that city, and burning indignation all over the

land. The Assembly of New York at once arrayed itself against the govern-

ment, and refused compliance with the demands of the obnoxious act.

In the midst of the darkness, light seemed to dawn upon the Americans.

Early in the month of July, Pitt was called to the head of the British ministry,

and on the 30th of that month, he was created Earl of Chatham. He opposed
the new measures as unwise and unjust, and the colonists hoped for reconcilia-

tion and repose. But Pitt could not always prevent mischief. During his

absence from Parliament, on account of sickness, the Chancellor of the Ex-

chequer (Charles Townshend) coalesced with Grenville in bringing new tax-

ation schemes before that body.
6 A bill was passed in June, 1767, for levying

duties upon tea, glass, paper, painters' colors, etc., which should be imported
into the colonies. Another was passed, in July, for establishing a Board of

Trade in the colonies, independent of colonial legislation, and for creating resi-

dent commissioners of customs to enforce the revenue laws.
8 Then another, a

few days later, which forbade the New York Assembly to perform any legisla-

tive act whatever, until it should comply with the requisitions of the Mutiny
Act. These taxation schemes, and blows at popular liberty, produced excite-

ment throughout the colonies, almost as violent as those on account of the

Stamp Act.
7 The colonial Assemblies boldly protested ;

new non-importation

associations were formed
; pamphlets and newspapers were filled with inflam-

matory appeals to the people, defining their rights, and urging them to a united

resistance
;

8 and early in 1768, almost every colonial Assembly had boldly ex-

1
Every peer in the British realm is a legislator by virtue of his title

;
and when they are assem-

bled for legislative duties, they constitute the House of Lords, or upper branch of the legislature,

answering, in some degree, to our Senate.
* Two archbishops, and twenty-four bishops of England and "Wales, have a right to sit and vote

in the House of Lords, and have the same political importance as the peers. By the act of union

between Ireland and England, four "lords .spiritual" from among the archbishops and bishops of the

former country, have a seat in the House of Lords. The "
lords temporal and lords spiritual" con-

stitute the House of Lords. The House of Commons is composed of men elected by the people, and
answers to the House of Representatives of our Federal Congress.

3
Page 212.

4 This act also allowed military officers, possessing a warrant from a justice of the peace, to

break into any house where he might suspect deserters were concealed. Like the Writs of Assist-

ance [page 212], this power might be used for wicked purposes.
5 In January, 1767, Grenville proposed a direct taxation of the colonies to the amount of twenty

foousand dollars.
8 Note 6, page 212, and note 5, page 134.

T
Page 215.

Among the most powerful of these appeals, were a series of letters, written by John Dicken-

on, of Philadelphia, and entitled Letters of a Pennsylvania farmer. Like Paine's Crisis, ten yeara
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pressed its conviction, that Parliament had no right to tax the colonies. These

expressions were in response to a circular issued by Massachusetts [Feb., 1768]

to the several Assemblies, asking their co-operation in obtaining a redress of

rievances. That circular greatly offended the Ministry : and the governor of

Mastadchusetts was instructed to command the Assembly, in the king's name, to

rescind the resolution adopting it. The Assembly, on the 30th of June follow-

ing, passed an almost unanimous vote not to rescind,
1 and made this very order

an evidence of the intentions of government to enslave the colonists, by restrain-

ing the free speech and action of their representatives.

The British Ministry, ignorant and careless concerning the character and

temper of the Americans, disregarded the portentous warnings which every
vessol from the New World bore to their ears. Having resolved on employing

physical force in the maintenance of obedience, and not doubting its potency,

later [note 4, page 250], these Letters produced a wide-spread and powerful effect on I

mind. James Otis asserted, in a pamphlet, that "taxes on trade [tariffs], if designed

the public
to raise a

revenue, were as much a violation of their rights as any other tax." John Dickenson was born in

Maryland, in November, 1732. He studied law in England for three years, and made his first ap-
pearance in public life, as a member of the Pennsylvania Assembly. He was a member of the

Stamp Act Congress [page 215], and of the Continental Congress [page 226]. He was an eloquent
speaker, and elegant writer. He was opposed to the independence of the colonies, but acquiesced,
and was an able member of the convention that framed the Federal Constitution. He remained long
in public life, and died in 1808, at the age oi seventy-five years.

1 James Otis and Samuel Adams were the principal speakers on this occasion. "When
Lord Hillsborough [colonial secretary] knows," said the former, "that we will not rescind our

acts, he should appeal to Parliament to rescind theirs. Let Britons rescint their measures,
or the colonies ure lost to them forever."
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they became less regardless of even the forms of justice, and began to treat the

colonists as rebellious subjects, rather than as free British brethren. Ministers

sent orders to the colonial Assemblies, warning them not to imitate the factious

disobedience of Massachusetts
;
and the royal governors were ordered to enforce

submission by all means in their power. The effect of these circulars was to

disgust and irritate the Assemblies, and to stimulate their sympathy for Massa-

chusetts, now made the special object of displeasure.

It was in the midst of the general excitement, in May, 1768, that the new

commissioners of customs arrived at Boston. They were regarded with as

much contempt as were the tax-gatherers in Judea, in the time of our Saviour.
l

It was difficult to restrain the more ignorant and excitable portion of the pop-
ulation from committing personal violence. A crisis soon arrived. In June,

1768, the sloop Liberty, belonging to John Hancock, one of the leaders of the

popular mind in Boston,
8
arrived at that port with a cargo of Madeira wine.

The commissioners demanded the payment of duties, and when it was refused,

they seized the vessel. The news spread over the town, and the people re-

solved on immediate and effectual resistance. An assemblage of citizens soon

became a mob, who dragged a custom-house boat through the town, burned it

upon the Common, assailed the commissioners, damaged their houses, and com-

pelled them to seek safety in Castle William, a small fortress at the entrance

to the harbor.
3 Alarmed by these demonstrations of the popular feeling, Gov-

ernor Bernard unwisely invited General Gage,
4 then in command of British

troops at Halifax, to bring soldiers to Boston to overawe the inhabitants.* They
came in September [Sept. 27, 1768], seven hundred in number, and on a quiet

Sabbath morning, landed under cover of the cannons of the British ships which

brought them, and with drums beating, and colors flying, they marched to the

Common,
6
with all the parade of a victorious army entering a conquered city.

Religion, popular freedom, patriotism, were all outraged, and the cup of the

people s indignation was full.
7 The colonists were taught the bitter, but neces-

sary lesson, that armed resistance must oppose armed oppression.
3

Like the Assembly of New York, that of Massachusetts refused to afford

1 The publicans, or toll-gatherers of Judea, being a standing monument of the degradation of the

Jews under the Roman yoke, were abhorred. One of the accusations against our Saviour was, that

he did "eat with publica-ns and sinners."
a
Page 231.

8 About three miles south-east from Boston. The fortress was ceded to the United States in

1798
;
and the following year it was visited by President Adams, and named Fort Independence, its

present title. In connection with Castle William, we find the first mention of the tune of " Yankee
Doodle." In the Boston Journal of the Times, September 29, 1768, is the following: "The fleet

was brought to anchor near Castle William
;
that night there was throwing of sky-rockets ;

and
those passing in boats observed great rejoicings, and that the Yankee Doodle Song was the capital

piece in the band of music."
*
Page 186.

5 The British ministry had already resolved to send troops to Boston to subdue the rebellious

propensities of the people.
6 A large public park on the southern slope of Beacon HilL
7 As the people refused to supply the troops with quarters, they were placed, some in the State

House, some in Faneuil Hall [page 225], and others in tents on the Common. Cannons were

planted at different points ;
sentinels challenged the citizens as they passed ;

and the whole town
bad the appearance of a camp.

8
Thr.e were, at that time, full two hundred thousand men in the co'onies Capable of bearing

am,
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food and shelter for the royal trocps in that province, and for this offense, Par-

liament, now become the supple instrument of the crown, censured their dis-

obedience, approved of coercive measures, and, by resolution, prayed the king
to revive a long obsolete statute of Henry the Eighth, by which the governor
of the refractory colony should be required to arrest, and send to England for

trial, on a charge of treason, the ringleaders in the recent tumults. The colo-

nial Assembly indignantly responded, by re-asserting the chartered privileges

of the people, and denying the right of the king to take an offender from the

country, for trial. And in the House of Commons a powerful minority battled

manfully for the Americans. Burke pronounced the idea of reviving that old

statute, as "horrible." " Can you not trust the juries of that country?" he

asked. "If you have not a party among two millions of people, you must

either change your plans of government, or renounce the colonies forever."

Even Grenville, the author of the Stamp Act, opposed the measure, yet a ma-

jority voted in favor of the resolution, on the 26th of January, 1769.

The British troops continued to be a constant source of irritation, while,

month after month, the colonies were agitated by disputes with the royal gov-

ernors, the petty tyranny of lesser officials, and the interference of the imperial

government with colonial legislation. The Assembly of Massachusetts, encour-

aged ^by the expressed sympathy of the other colonies, firmly refused to appro-

priate a single dollar for the support of the troops. They even demanded their

withdrawal from the city, and refused to transact any legislative business while

they remained. Daily occurrences exasperated the people against the troops,

and
finally, on the 2d of March, 1770, an event, apparently trifling in its char-

acter, led to bloodshed in the streets of Boston. A rope-maker quarreled with

a soldier, and struck him. Out of this affray grew a fight between several sol-

diers and rope-makers. The latter were beaten, and the result aroused the

vengeance of the more excitable portion of the inhabitants. A few evenings
afterward [March 5], about seven hundred of them assembled in the streets,

for the avowed purpose of attacking the troops.
1 A sentinel was assaulted near

the custom-house, when Captain Preston, commander of the guard, went to his

rescue with eight armed men. The mob dared the soldiers to fire, and attacked

them with stones, pieces of ice, and other missiles. One of the soldiers who

received a blow, fired, and his six companions also discharged their guns.

Three of the citizens were killed, and five were danger-

ously wounded.
2 The mob instantly retreated, when all

1 These were addressed by a tall man, disguised by a white wig and
a scarlet cloak, who closed his harangue by shouting,

" To the main

guard! to the main guard!" and then disappeared. It was always be-

lieved that the tall man was Samuel Adams, one of the most inflexible

patriots of the Revolution, and at that time a popuk:- leader. He was
a descendant of one of the early Puritans [page 75], and was born in

Boston in 1722. He was one of the signers of the Declaration of Inde-

pendence; was afterward governor of Massachusetts; and died in

1808. A purer patriot than Samuel Adams, never lived. SAMUEL ADAMS.
" The leader of the mob was a powerful mulatto, named Crispus

Attacks. He and Samuel Gray and James Caulwell, were killed instantly ;
two others received

mortal woixuds.
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the bells of the city rang an alarum, and in less than an hour several thou-

sands of exasperated citizens were in the streets. A terrible scene of blood

would have ensued, had not Governor Hutchinson assured the people that

justice should be vindicated in the morning. They retired, but with firm re-

r lves not to endure the military despotism any longer.

The morning of the 6th of March was clear and frosty. At an early hour

Governor Hutchinson was called upon to fulfill his promise. The people de-

manded the instant removal of the troops from Boston, and the trial of Captain
Preston and his men, for murder. These demands were complied with. The

troops were removed to Castle William [March 12, 1770], and Preston, ably
defended by John Adams and Josiah Quincy, two of the popular leaders, was

tried and acquitted, with six of his men, by a Boston jury. The other two sol-

diers were found guilty of manslaughter. This result was a comment on the

enforcement of the statute of Henry the Eighth, highly favorable to the Amer-
icans. It was so regarded in England, and was used with good effect by the

opposition in Parliament. It showed that in the midst of popular excitement,
the strong conservative principles of justice bore rule. The victims of the riot

were regarded as martyrs to liberty,
1 and for many years, the memory of the

"Boston Massacre," as it was called, was kept alive by anniversary orations in

the city and vicinity.

Perceiving the will and the power of the colonists in resisting taxation with-

out their consent, the British ministry now wavered. On the very day of the

bloody riot in Boston [March 5], Lord North, who was then the English prime

minister, proposed to Parliament a repeal of all duties imposed by the act of

1767,* except that upon tea. An act to that effect was passed a month after-

ward [April 12]. This concession was wrung from the minister partly by the

clamor of English merchants and manufacturers, who again felt severely the

operations of the non-importation associations in America. As tea was a lux-

ury, North supposed the colonists would not object to the small duty laid upor
that article, and he retained it as a standing assertion of the right of Parliament

to impose such duties. The minister entirely mistook the character of the peo-

ple he was dealing with. It was not the petty amount of duties of which they

complained, for all the taxes yet imposed were not in the least burdensome to-

them. They were contending for a great principle, which lay at the foundation

of their liberties
;
and they regarded the imposition of a duty upon one article-

as much a violation of their sacred rights, as if ten were included. They ac-

cepted the ministerial concession, but, asserting their rights, continued their

non-importation league against the purchase and use of tea.
8

1
They were buried with great parade. All the bells of Boston and vicinity tolled a funeral

knell while the procession was moving ;
and as intended, the affair made a deep impression on the

public mind.
2
Page 218.

* Even before North's proposition was made to Parliament, special agreements concerning the

disuse of tea, had been made. Already the popular feeling on this subject had been manifested to-

ward a Boston merchant who continued to sell tea A company of half-grown boys placed an effigy

near his door, with a finger upon it pointing toward his store. "While a man was attempting to

pull it down, he was pelted with dirt and stones. He ran into the store, and seizing a gun. dis-

charged its contents among the crowd. A boy named Snyder was killed, and Christopher Gore-
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The spirit of opposition was not confined to the more northern and eastern

colonies. It was rife below the Roanoke, and was boldly made manifest when

occasion required. In 1771, the Carolinas, hitherto exempted from violent out-

bursts of popular indignation, although never wanting in zeal in opposing the

Stamp Act, and kindred measures, became the theater of great excitement. To

satisfy the rapacity and pride of royal governors, the industry of the province

of North Carolina, especially, was enormously taxed.
1 The oppression was real,

not an abstract principle, as at the North. The people in the interior at length

formed associations, designed to resist unjust taxation, and to control public

affairs. They called themselves Regulators ; and in 1771, they were too nu-

merous to be overawed by local magistrates. Their operations assumed the

character of open rebellion
;
and in the spring of that year, Governor Tryon"

marched into that region with an armed force, to subdue them. They met him

upon Alamance Creek, in Alamance county, on the 16th of May, and there a

bloody skirmish ensued. The Regulators were subdued and dispersed, and

Tryon marched back in triumph to the sea-board, after hanging six of the lead-

ers, on the 19th of June following. These events aroused, throughout the South,

the fiercest hatred of British power, and stimulated that earnest patriotism so

early displayed by the people below the Roanoke, when the Revolution broke out. 3

The upper part of Narraganset Bay exhibited a scene, in the month of

June, 1772, which produced much excitement, and widened the breach between

Great Britain and her colonies. The commander of the British armed schooner

Gasp}, stationed there to assist the commissioners of customs* in enforcing the

revenue laws, annoyed the American navigators by haughtily commanding them

to lower their colors when they passed his vessel, in token of obedience. The

William Tells of the bay refused to bow to the cap of this petty Gesler.* For

such disobedience, a Providence sloop was chased by the schooner. The latter

grounded upon a low sandy point; and on that night [June 9, 1772], sixty-four

armed men went down from Providence in boats, captured the people on board

the Gaspe, and burned the vessel. Although a large reward was offered for the

perpetrators (who were well known in Providence6

), they were never betrayed.

(afterward governor of Massachusetts) was wounded. The affair produced great excitement. At
about the same time, three hundred " mistresses of families" in Boston signed a pledge of total ab-

stinence from the use of tea, while the duty remained upon it. A few days afterward a large num-
ber of young ladies signed a similar pledge.

1 Governor Tryon caused a palace to be erected for his residence, at Newbern, at a cost of

$75,000, for the payment of which the province was taxed. This was in 1768, and was one of the

principal causes of discontent, which produced the outbreak here mentioned.
*
Page 248. 3

Page 237.
*
Page 220.

6 Gesler was an Austrian governor of one of the cantons of Switzerland. He placed his cap on
a pole, at a gate of the town, and ordered all to bow to it, when they should enter. William Tell, a
brave leader of the people, refused. He was imprisoned for disobedience, escaped, aroused hie

countrymen to arms, who drove their Austrian masters out of the land, and achieved the indepen-
dence of Switzerland.

One of the leaders was Abraham Whipple, a naval commander during the Revolution

[page 310]. several others were afterward distinguished for bravery during that struggle.
1'our years afterward, when !Sir James Wallace, a British commander, was in the vicinity of

Newport, Whipple became known as the leader of the attack on the Gaspe. Wallace sent him
the following letter: "You, Abraham Whipple, on the 9th of the June, 1772, burned his ma-

jesty's vessel, the Uaspt, and I will hang you at the yard-arm." To this Whipple replied: "To
Sir James Wallace. Sir: Always catch a man before you hang him. ABRAHAM WHIPPLE."
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These rebellious acts, so significant .01 the temper of the Americans, greatly

perplexed the British ministry. Lord North
1

would gladly have conciliated

them, but he was pledged by words and acts to the maintenance of the asserted

principle, that Parliament had the undoubted right to tax the colonies without

their consent. He labored hard to perceive some method by which conciliation

and parliamentary supremacy might be made to harmonize, and early in 1773,
a new thought upon taxation entered his brain. The East India Company,

2

having lost their valuable tea customers in America, by the operation of the

non-importation associations, and having more than seventeen millions of pounds
of the article in their warehouses in England, petitioned Parliament to take off

the duty of three pence a pound, levied upon its importation into America.

The company agreed to pay the government more than

an equal amount, in export duty, if the change should be

made. Here was an excellent opportunity for the gov-
ernment to act justly and wisely, and to produce a per-

fect reconciliation; but the stupid ministry, fearing it

might be considered a submission to "rebellious sub-

jects," refused the olive branch of peace. Continuing
to misapprehend the real question at issue, North intro-

duced a bill into Parliament, allowing the company to
LORD NORTH. .

*

export their teas to America on their own account, with-

out paying an export duty. As this would make tea cheaper in America than

in England, he concluded the Americans would not object to paying the three

pence duty. This concession to a commercial monopoly, while spurning the

appeals of a great principle, only created contempt and indignation throughout
the colonies.

Blind as the minister, the East India Company now regarded the American

market as open for their tea, and soon after the passage of the bill [May 10,

1773], several large ships, heavily laden with the article, were on their way
across the Atlantic. Intelligence of these movements reached America before

the arrival of any of the ships, and thie people in most of the sea-board towns,

where consignments of tea had been made, resolved that it should not even be

landed. The ships which arrived at New York and Philadelphia, returned to

England with their cargoes. At Charleston it was landed, but was not allowed

to be sold; while at Boston, the attempts of the governor and his friends,
3 who

-
Frederick, Earl of Guilford (Lord North), was a man of talent, sincerely attached to English

liberty, and conscientious in the performanance of his duties. Like many other statesmen of his

time, ho utterly misapprehended the character of the American people, and could not perceive the

justice of their claims. He was prime minister during the whole of our War for Independence.
He was afflicted with blindness during the last years of his life. He died in July, 1792, at the age
of sixty years.

2 The English East India Company was formed and chartered in 1600, for the purpose of

carrying on a, trade by sea, between Englan d and the countries lying east of the Cape of Good
Hope [note 1, page 37]. It continued prosperous; and about the middle of the last century,
the governor ot its stations in India, under the pretense of obtaining security for their trade,

subdued small territories, and thus planted the foundation of that great British empire in the

East, which now comprises the whole of Hiudostan, from Cape Comorin to the Himalaya
mountains, with a population of more than one hundred and twenty millions of people.

3 The public mind in Massachusetts was greatly inflamed against Governor Hutchinson at this
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FANEUIL HALL.

were consignees, to land the tea in defiance of the public feeling, resulted in the

destruction of a large quantity of it. On a cold moonlight night [December

16, 1773], at the close of the last of several spirited

meetings of the citizens held at Faneuil Hall,
1

a party

of about sixty persons, some disguised as Indians,

rushed on board two vessels in the harbor, laden Avith

tea, tore open the hatches, and in the course of two

hours, three hundred and forty-two chests containing

the proscribed article, were broken open, and their

contents cast into the water. This event produced a

powerful sensation throughout the British realm, and

led to very important results.

While the American colonies, and even Canada, Nova Scotia, and the

British West Indies, sympathized with the Bostonians, and could not censure

them, the exasperated government adopted retaliatory measures, notwithstand-

ing payment for all damage to their property Mas promised to the East India

Company. Parliament, by enactment [March 7, 1Y74], ordered the port of

Boston to be closed against all commercial transactions whatever, and the re-

moval of the custom-house, courts of justice., and other public offices, to Salem.

The Salem people patriotically refused the proffered advantage at the expense
of their neighbors ;

and the inhabitants of Marblehead, fifteen miles distant,

offered the free use of their harbor and wharves, to the merchants of Boston.

Soon after the passage of the Boston Port Bill, as it was called, another act,

which leveled a blow at the charter of Massachusetts, was made a law [March

28, 1774]. It was equivalent to a total subversion of the charter, inasmuch

as it deprived the people of many of the dearest privileges guarantied by that

instrument.
2

. A third retaliatory act was passed on the 21st of April, provid-

ing for the trial, in England, of all persons charged in the colonies with mur-

ders committed in support of government, giving, as Colonel Barre" said,

'encouragement to military insolence already so insupportable." A fourth

bill, providing for the quartering of troops in America, was also passed by
large majorities in both Houses of Parliament

;
and in anticipation of rebellion

in America, a fifth act was passed, making great concessions to the Roman
Catholics in Canada, known as the Quebec Act. This excited the animosity of

time, whose letters to a member of Parliament, recommending stringent measures toward the cok

onies, had been procured in England, and sent to the speaker of the colonial Assembly, by Dr.

Franklin. At about the same time, Parliament had passed a law, making the governor and judges
of Massachusetts independent of the Assembly for their salaries, these being paid out of the reve-

nues in the hands of the commissioners of customs. This removal of these officials beyond all de-

pendence upon the people, constituted them fit instruments of the crown for oppressing the inhabit-

ants, and in that aspect the colonists viewed the measure, and condemed it.
1 Because the Revolutionary meetings in Boston were held in Faneuil Hall, it was (and still is)

called The Cradle of Liberty. It was built, and presented to the town, by Peter Faneuil, in 1742.
The picture shows its form during the Revolution. The vane on the steeple, in the form of a grass-

hopper (symbolical of devouring), yet [1867] holds its original place.
3

It empowered sheriffs appointed by the crown, to select juries, instead of leaving that power
with the selectmen of the towns, who were chosen by the people. It also prohibited all town

meetings and other gatherings. It provided for the appointment of the council, judges, justices of

the peace, etc., by the crown or its representative.

15
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all Protestants. These maasures created universal indignation toward the gov-

ernment, and sympathy for the people of Boston.

On the first of June, 1774, the Boston Port Bill went into operation. It

was a heavy blow for the doomed town. Business was crushed, and great suf-

fering ensued. The utter prostration of trade soon produced wide-spread dis-

tress. The rich, deprived of their rents, became straitened
;
and the poor,

denied the privilege of laboring, were reduced to beggary. All classes felt the

scourge of the oppressor, but bore it with remarkable fortitude. They were

conscious of being right, and everywhere, tokens of the liveliest sympathy were

manifested. Flour, rice, cereal grains, fuel, and money, were sent to the suffer-

ing people from the different colonies
;
and the city of London, in its corporate

capacity, subscribed one hundred and fifty thousand dollars for the poor of Boston.

For the purpose of enforcing these oppressive laws, General Gage, the com-

mander-in-chief of the British army in America,
1 was appointed governor of

Massachusetts, and an additional military force was ordered to Boston. These

coercive demonstrations greatly increased the public irritation, and diminished

the hopes of reconciliation. Slavish submission or armed resistance, was now

the alternative presented to the American people. Committees of correspond-

ence which had been formed in every colony in 1773,
2 had been busy in the

interchange of sentiments and opinions, and throughout the entire community
of Anglo-Americans there was evidently a general consonance of feeling, favor-

able to united efforts in opposing the augmenting tyranny of Great Britain.

Yet they hesitated, and resolved to deliberate in solemn

council before they should appeal to
" the last argument

of kings."
8

The patriots of Massachusetts stood not alone in

their integrity. In all the colonies the WHIGS* were
SXAKE DEVICE. ^ inflexible and bold, and as valiantly defied the power

of royal governors, when unduly exercised. But those of Massachusetts, being
the special objects of ministerial vengeance, suffered more, and required more

boldness to act among bristling bayonets and shotted cannons, prepared ex-

pressly for their bosoms. Yet they grew stronger every day under persecu-

tion, and bolder as the frowns of British power became darker.
6 Even while

1

Page 220.
3 At a consultation of leading members of the Virginia House of Assembly, in March, 1773, held

in the old Raleigh tavern at Williamsburg, at which Patrick Henry, Thomas Jefferson, Richard

Henry Lee, and others, were present, it was agreed to submit a resolution hi the House the follow-

ing day, appointing a committee of vigilance and correspondence, and recommending the same to

the other colonies. The measure was carried, and these committees formed one ofthe most power-
ful engines in carrying on the work of the Revolution. Similar committees had already been formed
in several towns in Massachusetts.

' These words, in Latin, were often placed upon cannon. Before the armory, at Richmond.

Virginia, was destroyed, in April, 1865, several old French cannons, made of brass, were there, on

two of which these words appeared. They also appear upon some French cannon at West Point.
* The terms, WHIG and TORY, had long been used in England as titles of political parties. The

former denoted the opposers of royalty; the latter indicated its supporters. These terms were
introduced into America two or three years before the Revolution broke out, and became the dis-

tinctive titles of the patriots and loyalists.
* Even the children seemed to lose their timidity, and became bolder. They nobly exhibited it

.-UNITE ORP1E C
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troops, to overawe them were parading the streets of Boston, sturdy representa-

tives of the people assembled at Salem,
1 and sent forth an invitation to all the

colonies to appoint delegates to meet in a general Congress at Philadelphia on

the 5th of September following. It met with a hearty response from twelve of

the thirteen colonies, and the Press and the Pulpit seconded the measures with

great emphasis. Some newspapers bore a significant device. It was a snake

cut into thirteen parts, each part bearing the initials of a colony upon it, as

seen in the engraving.'
2

Under these were the significant words, Unite or die.

The delegates were all appointed before the close of August, and the FIRST

on one occasion. They were in the habit of building mounds of snow in winter, on Boston Com-
mon. These the soldiers battered down, so as to annoy the boys. This being repeated, a meeting
of larger boys was held, and a deputation was sent to General Gage, to remonstrate. "We come,
sir," said the tallest boy, "to demand satisfaction." "What!" exclaimed Gage; "have your
fathers been teaching you rebellion, and sent. you here to exhibit it?"

"
Nobody sent us here, sir,"

said the boy. while his eyes flashed with indignation.
" We have never insulted nor injured your

troops, but they have trodden down our snow-hills, and broken the ice on our skating-grounds.
We complained ; and, calling us young rebels, told us to help ourselves if we could. We told the

captain of this, and he laughed at us. Yesterday our works were destroyed for the third time, and
we will bear it- no longer." Gage admired the spirit of the boys, promised them redress, and turn-

ing to an officer, he said, "The very children here draw in a love of jiberty with the air they
breathe

"

1 At that meeting of the General Assembly of Massachusetts, the patriots matured a plan tor a
general Congress, provided for munitions of war to resist British power in their own province, and
formed a general non-importation league for the whole country. In the midst of their proceedings,
General Gage sent his secretary to dissolve them, but the doors of the Assembly chamber were

locked, and the key was in Samuel Adams's pocket. Having finished their business, the Assembly
adjourned, and thus ended the last session oi' that body, under a royal governor.

a
Page 226.
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CONTINENTAL CONGRESS' assembled in Carpenter's Hall, Philadelphia, on the

5th of September, 1774, the day named in the circular. All but Georgia were

represented. Peyton Randolph, of Virginia, was appointed President, and

Charles Thomson of Pennsylvania, Secretary.
4 The regular business of the

Congress commenced on the morning of the 7th,
3 after an impressive prayer for

Divine guidance, uttered by the Rev. Jacob Duche,
4 of Philadelphia. They

remained in session until the 26th of October, during which time they matured

measures for future action, which met with the general approbation of the

American people.
5

They prepared and put forth sev-

eral State papers,
8 marked by such signal ability and

wisdom, as to draw from the Earl of Chatham these

words in the House of Lords : "I must declare and

avow, that in all my reading and study of history

(and it has been my favorite study I have read Thu-

cydides, and have studied and admired the master

States of the world) that for solidity of reasoning,

force of sagacity, and wisdom of conclusion, under
CARPENTER'S HALL. i v , /

such a complication ot circumstances, no nation or

body of men can stand in preference to the general Congress at Philadelphia.
7

In all its proceedings Congress manifested decorum, firmness,
8

moderation,

1 This name was given to distinguish it from the two colonial Congresses [pages 183 and 215]
already held

;
one at Albany in 1754, the other at New York in 1765.

8 Thomson was secretary of Congress, perpetually, from 1774, until the adoption of the Federal

Constitution, and the organization of the new government, in 1789. Watson relates that Thomson
had just come into Philadelphia, with his bride, and was alighting from his chaise, when a messen-

ger from the delegates in Carpenter's Hall came to him, and said they wanted him to come and
take minutes of their proceedings, as he wap an expert at such business. For his first year's serv-

ice, he received no pay. So Congress infoi.njd his wife that they wished to compensate her for the

absence of her husband during that time, and wished her to name what kind of a piece of plate she
would like to receive. She chose an urn, and that silver vessel is yet in the family. Thomson was
t>orn hi Ireland in 1730, came to America when eleven years of age, and died hi 1824, at the age
of ninety-four years.

8 When the delegates had assembled on the 5th, no one seemed inclined to break the silence,
and deep anxiety was depicted hi every countenance. Soon a grave-looking man, in a suit of

"minister's gray," and unpowdered wig, arose, and, with a sweet, musical voice, he uttered a few

eioquent words, that electrified the whole audience. " Who is he ?" was a question that went
from lip to lip. A few who knew him, answered,

"
It is Patrick Henry, of Virginia" There was

no longer any hesitation. He who, nine years before, had cast the gauntlet of defiance at the feet

of British power, now set in motion that august machinery of civil power, which assisted in work-

ing out the independence of the United States.
* Duche was a minister of the Church of England, and afterward became a Tory.
*
They prepared a plan for a general commercial non-intercourse with Great Britain and her

West India possessions, which was called Tlie American Association, and was recommended for

adoption throughout the country. It consisted of fourteen articlea In addition to the non-inter-

course provisions, it was recommended to abandon the slave-trade, to improve the breed of sheep,
to abstain from all extravagance in living and indulgence in horse-racing, etc., and the appointment
of a committee in every town to promote conformity to the requirements of the Association. It

was signed by the fifty-two members present.
8 A Bill of Rights ;

an address to the people of Great Britain, written by John Jay ;
another to

the several Anglo-American colonies, written by William Livingston ;
another to the inhabitants of

Quebec, and a petition to the king. In these, the grievances and the rights of the colonies were ably
set forth.

' He also said, in a letter to Stephen Sayre, on the 24th of December, 1774: "I have not

Words to express my satisfaction that the Congress has conducted this most arduous and delicate

business, with such manly wisdom and calm resolution, as do the highest honor to their deliberation."
8 On the 8th of October, they unanimously resolved,

" That this Congress approve the opposition
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and loyalty ;
and when the delegates resolved to adjourn, to meet again at the

same place on the 10th of May following [1775], unless the desired redress of

grievances should be obtained, they did so with an earnest hope that a reconcil-

iation might speedily take place, and render another national council unneces-

sary. But they were doomed to bitter disappointment. Great Britain was

blind and stubborn still.

CHAPTER II.

FIRST TEAR OF THE WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE. [1775.]

PERSUADED that war was inevitable, the colonists began to prepare for that

event, during the summer and autumn of 1774. They practiced daily in mil-

itary exercises
;
the manufacture of arms and gunpowder was encouraged ;

and

throughout Massachusetts in particular, where the heel of the oppressor bore

heaviest, the people were enrolled in companies. Fathers and sons, encouraged

by the gentler sex, received lessons together in the art of war, and prepared to

take arms at a moment's warning. From this circumstance, they were called

minute-men. The Whig
1

journals grew bolder every hour. Epigrams, para-

bles, sonnets, dialogues, and every form of literary expression, remarkable for

point and terseness, filled their columns. We give a single specimen of some

of the rhymes of the day :

"THE QUARREL WITH AMERICA FAIRLY STATED.

"
Rudely forced to drink tea, Massachusetts in anger

Spills the tea on John Bull
;
John falls on to bang her

;

Massachusetts, enraged, calls her neighbors to aid,

And give Master John a severe bastinade.

Now, good men of the law ! pray, who is in fault,

The one who began or resents the assault ?"

The Massachusetts leaders, in the mean while, were laboring, with intense

zeal, to place the province in a condition to rise in open and united rebellion,

when necessity should demand. And all over the land, the provincial assem-

blies, speakers at public gatherings, and from the pulpit, were boldly proclaim-

ing the right of resistance. These demonstrations-alarmed General Gage,
2 and

he commenced fortifying Boston Neck.
3 He also seized and conveyed to

'of the inhabitants of Massachusetts Bay, to the execution of the late acts of Parliament, and if the
same shall be attempted to be carried into execution by force, in such case all America ought to

support them in their opposition." This resolution, in letter and spirit, was the embodiment of the

revolutionary sentiment. 1 Note 4, page 226.
a Thomas Gage was a native of England. He was governor of Montreal [page 203] in 1760, and

commander-in-chief of the British army in America, in 1763. He was appointed governor of

Massachusetts, in 1774; left America in 1775; and died in 1787.
The peninsula of Boston was originally connected with the main land by a narrow isthmus

called the Neck. It has been greatly widened by lLing in the marginal morasses
;
and over it now

passes the fine avenue which connects the city with Roxbury, on the main.
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the city large quantities of ammunitipn found in the neighboring villages, and

employed stringent measures for preventing intercourse between the patriots in

the city and in the country. The exasperated people needed but the electric

spark of even a slight offense to kinale their suppressed indignation into &

blaze. They were ready to sound the battle-cry, and evoke the sword of rebel

lion from its scabbard
;
and they were even anxious to attack the soldiers in

Boston, but they were restrained by prudeot conselors.
1

A rumor went abroad on the third of September, that British ships were

cannonading Boston. From the shores of Long Island Sound to the green

hills of Berkshire,
" To arms ! to arms !" was the universal shout. Instantly,

on every side, men of all ages were seen cleansing and burnishing their weap-

ons
;
and within two days, full thirty thousand minute-men were under arms,

and hastening toward that city. They were met by a contradiction of the

rumor; but the event conveyed such a portentous lesson to Gage, that he

pushed forward his military operations with as much vigor as the opposition of

the people would allow.* He thought it expedient to be more conciliatory ;

and he summoned the colonial Assembly to meet at Salem on the 5th of Octo-

ber. Then dreading their presence, he revoked the order. Ninety delegates

met, however, and organized by the appointment of John Hancock3

president.

They then went to Cambridge, where they formed a Provincial Congress, inde-

pendent of royal authority (the first in America), and labored earnestly m
preparations for that armed resistance, now become a stern necessity. They
made provisions for an army of twelve thousand men

;
solicited other New En-

gland colonies to augment it to twenty thousand; and appointed Jedediah

Preble and Artemas Ward4 men of experience in the French and Indian war,
5

generals of all the troops that might be raised.

The Americans were now fairly aroused to action. They had counted the

cost of armed rebellion, and were fully resolved to meet it. The defiant

position of the colonists arrested the attention of all Europe. When the Brit-

ish Parliament assembled early in 1775, that body presented a scene of great

excitement. Dr. Franklin and others," then in England, had given a wide cir-

culation to the State papers put forth by the Continental Congress ;

T and the

1

Many hundreds of armed men assembled at Cambridge. At Charlestown, the people took

possession of the arsenal, after Gage had carried off the powder. At Portsmouth, N. H., they cap-
tured the fort, and carried off the ammunition. At Newport, R. I., the people seized the powder,
and took possession of forty pieces of cannon at the entrance of the harbor. In New York, Phila-

delphia, Annapolis, Williamsburg, Charleston, and Savannah, the people took active defensive

measures, and the whole country was in a blaze of indignation.
a
Carpenters refused to work on the fortifications, and much of the material was destroyed b/

fire, at night, in spite of the vigilance of the guards. Gage sent to New York for timber and work-
men

;
but the people there would not permit either to leave their port.

* John Hancock was one of the most popular of the New England patriots, throughout the

whole war. He was born in Braintree, Massachusetts, in 1737, was educated at Harvard College;
became a counting-room clerk to his uncle, and inherited that gentleman's great wealth. He
entered public life early; was a rep-esentative in the Continental Congress, and was its president
when the Declaration of Independence was adopted. He was afterward governor of Massachusetts.

Mr. Hancock died in October, 1793, at the age of fifty-six years.
* Note 5, page 238. *

Page 179.
*

Dr. Franklin had then been agent in inland, ^r :3r
"":?J of tin Colonies, for about ten yeara

7 Note 6, page 228.
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English mind was already favorably influenced in favor of the Americans.
Pitt came on crutches' from his retirement, to cast the weight of his mighty
influence into the scale of justice, hy action in the House of Lords. He pro-

posed [January 7, 1775] conciliatory measures. They were rejected, as well

as others offered by Burke, Conway, and Hartly ;
and in their stead, Parlia-

ment, in March, struck another severe blow at the industry of New England,

by prohibiting fishing on the banks of Newfoundland." Already Lord North

had moved, in the House of Commons [February, 1775], for an address to the

king, affirming that Massachusetts was in a state of rebellion. The Ministers

also endeavored to promote dissensions in America, by crippling the trade of

New England and other colonies, but exempting New York, Delaware, and

North Carolina. The bait of favor for these three colonies was indignantly

1
Pitt was greatly afflicted with the gout. Sometimes he was confined to his house for weolai

by it
; and he was sometimes seen on the floor of Parliament leaning upon crutches, and bis legs

swathed in flannels. In this condition he made two of his most eloquent speeches in favor of the
Americans.

At that time, there were employed by the Americans, in the British Newfoundland fisheries,
four hundred ships, two thousand fishing shallops, and twenty thousand men. On account of this
blow to the fishing trade, a great many inhabitants of Nantucket and vicinity, chiefly Quakers, went
to North Carolina, and in Orange and GuilC>rd counties, became planters. Their descendants are

yet numerous there. The principal meeting-house i~ *-t Key, Garden.
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spurned the scheme of disunion signally failed. Common dangers and com-

mon interests drew the ligaments of fraternity closer than ever. When the

trees budded, and the flowers bloomed in the spring of 1775, all hope of recon-

ciliation had vanished. It was evident that

"
King, Commons, and Lords, were uniting amain,"

to destroy the Liberty Tree, planted by faithful hands. The people of the col-

onies, though weak in military resources, were strong in purpose; and, relying

upon the justice of their cause, and the assistance of the Lord God Omnipotent,

they resolved to defy the fleets and armies of Great Britain.

There was great moral sublimity in the rising of the colonies against the

parent country ;
for it was material weakness arrayed against great material

strength. There were more than three thousand British troops in Boston, on the

first of April, 1775. Confident in his power, Gage felt certain that he could

repress insurrections, and keep the people quiet. Yet he felt uneasy concerning
the gathering ofammunition and stores,

1

by the patriots, at Concord, sixteen miles

from Boston. Toward midnight, on the 18th [April], he secretly dispatched

eight hundred men, under lieutenant-colonel Smith and Major Pitcairn, to

destroy them. So carefully had he arranged the expedition, that he believed

it to be entirely unknown to the patriots. All his precautions were vain. The

vigilant Dr. Warren,
8 who was secretly watching all the movements of Gage,

became aware of the expedition early in the evening ;
and when it moved,

Paul Revere," one of the most active of the Sons of Liberty in Boston, had

landed at Charlestown, and was on his way to Concord to arouse the inhabitants

and minute-men. Soon afterward, church-bells, muskets, and cannons spread

the alarm over the country ;
and when, at dawn, on the 19th of April. 1775

a day memorable in the annals of our Republic Pitcairn, with the advanced

guard, reached Lexington, a few miles from Concord, he found seventy deter-

mined men drawn up to oppose him. Pitcairn rode forward and shouted,
"
Disperse ! disperse, you rebels ! Down with your arms, and disperse !"

They refused obedience, and he ordered his men to fire. That dreadful order

was obeyed, and the FIRST BLOOD OF THE REVOLUTION flowed upon the tender

grass on the Green at Lexington. Eight citizens were killed, several were

wounded, and the remainder were dispersed. The last survivor of that noble

band4 died in March, 1854, at the age of almost ninety-six years.

1
Early in the year, secret orders had been sent by the ministry to the royal governors, to

remove all ammunition and stores out of the reach of the people, if they made any hostile demon-
strations.-

a Afterward killed in the battle OH Breed's Hill. See page 235.
8 Revere was an engraver, and previous to this time had executed some creditable specimens

of his art. He engraved a picture of the naval investment of Boston, in 1768, and of the Boston

Massacre, in 1770. As a Grand Master of the Masonic order, he was very influential; yet, like

those of Isaac Sears, of New York, his eminent services in the cause of freedom have been over-

looked. Their fame is eclipsed by men of greater minds, but of no sturdier patriotism.
4 Jonathan Harrington, who played the fife for the minute-men, on the mcrning of the battle.

The writer visited him in 1 848, when he was ninety years of age. He then had a perfect recollec-

tion of the events of that morning. A portrait of him, as he appeared at that tune, is published ia

Lossing's Pictorial Field Book of the devolution, page 554, voL L
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Confident of full success, the British now pressed forward to Concord, and

destroyed the stores. They were terribly annoyed by the minute-men on their

way, who fired upon them from behind walls, trees, and .buildings. Having accom-

plished their purpose, and killed several more patriots in a skirmish there, the

royal troops hastily retreated to Lexington. The country was now thoroughly

aroused, and minute-men were gathering by scores. Nothing but the timely

arrival of Lord Percy with reinforcements,
1

saved the eight hundred men from

total destruction. The whole body now retreated. All the way back to

Bunker's Hill," in Charlestown, the troops were terribly assailed by the patri-

ots
;
and when, the following morning, they crossed over to Boston, they ascer-

tained their loss to be, in killed and wounded, two hundred and seventy-three.

The loss of the Americans in killed, wounded, and missing, was one hundred

and three.
3

The initial blow for freedom had now been struck. It was appalling to

friend and foe. The news of this tragedy spread over the country like a blaze

of lightning from a midnight cloud, and like the attendant thunder-peal, it

aroused all hearts. From the hills and valleys of New England, the patriots

went forth by hundreds, armed and unarmed; and before the close of the

month [April 1775], an army of twenty thousand men were forming camps and

piling fortifications around Boston, from Roxbury to the river Mystic, deter-

mined to confine the fierce tiger of war, which had tasted their blood, upon that

little peninsula. The provincial Congress,
4

sitting at Watertown, with Dr.

Warren at its head, worked day and night in consonance with the gathering

army. They appointed military officers, organized a commissariat for supplies,

issued bills of credit for the payment of troops (for which the province was

pledged), to the amount of three hundred and seventy-five thousand dollars,

and declared [May 5] General Gage to be an " inveterate enemy
" of the peo-

ple. And as the intelligence went from colony to colony, the people in each

were equally aroused. Arms and ammunition were seized by the Sons of

Liberty, provincial Congresses were formed, and before the close of summer,
the power of every royal governor, from Massachusetts to Georgia, was

utterly destroyed. Everywhere the inhabitants armed in defense of their

liberties, and took vigorous measures for future security.

Some aggressive enterprises were undertaken by volunteers. The most

important of these was the seizure of the strong fortresses of Ticonderoga
5 and

Crown Point,
8
on Lake Champlain, chiefly by Connecticut and Vermont

1 Earl Percy was a son of the Duke of Northumberland. When he was marching out of Bos-

ton, his band struck up the tune of Yankee Doodle, in derision. He saw a boy at Roxbury making
himself very merry as he passed. Percy inquired why he was so merry. "To think," said the lad,
" how you will dance by-and-by to Chevy Chase." Percy was often much influenced by presenti-

ments, and the words of the boy made him moody. Percy was a lineal descendant of the Earl

Percy who was slain in the battle of Chevy Chase, and he felt all day as if some great calamity

might befall him.
2
Page 235.

8

Appropriate monuments have been erected to the memory of the slain, at Lexington, Concord,
and Acton. Davis, the commander of the militia at Concord, was from Acton, and so were most
of his men. The estimated value of the property destroyed by the invaders, was as follows : In

Concord, one thousand three hundred and seventy-five dollars
;

in Lexington, eight thousand three

hundred and five dollars
;
in Cambridge, six thousand and ten dollars.

4
Page 230.

*

Page 196.
'
Page 200.
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militia, under the command of Colonels Ethan Allen and Benedict Arnold.

Ticonderoga and its garrison were taken possession of at dawn, on the 10th
of May, 1775

j

1 and two days afterward, Colonel Seth Warner, of the expe-

dition, with a few men, captured Crown Point. The spoils of victory taken

at these two posts, consisting of almost one hundred and fifty pieces of can

non, and a large quantity of ammunition and stores, were of vast consequence
to the Americans. A few month? later [March, 1776], some of these can-

nons were hurling death-shots into the midst of the British troops in Boston.*

Having repudiated royal authority, the people of Massachusetts were obe-

dient to their chosen rulers, and efficient civil government was duly inaugur-
ated. On the 19th of May [1775], the provincial Congress of Massachusetts

clothed the Committee of Safety, sitting at Cambridge, with full powers to

regulate ths operations of the army. Artemas Ward was appointed commander-

in-chief, Richard Gridley,
3
chief engineer, and Israel Putnam, John Stark, and

other veterans, who had served bravely in the French and Indian war, were

appointed to important commands. The military genius developed in that old

conflict, was now brought into requisition. Day by day the position of the

British army became more perilous. Fortunately for its safety, large reinforce-

ments, under those three experienced commanders, Generals Howe, Clinton,

and Burgoyne, arrived on the 25th of May. It was timely : and then the

whole British force in Boston amounted to about twelve thousand men, besides

several well-manned vessels of war, under Admiral Graves. Gage now resolved

to attack the Americans and penetrate the country.

Preparatory to an invasion of the province, Gage issued a proclamation

[June 10, 1775], declaring all Americans inarms to be rebels and traitors, and

offering a free pardon to all who should return to their allegiance, except those

arch-offenders, John Hancock and Samuel Adams. 4
These he intended to

seize and send to England to be hanged. The vigilant patriots, aware of Gage's

hostile intentions, strengthened their intrenchments on Boston Neck,
5 and on

the evening of the 16th of June, General Ward sent Colonel Prescott
6
with aO '

detachment of one thousand men, to take possession of, and fortify, Bunker's

Hill, in Charlestown, which commanded an important part of Boston and the

surrounding water. By mistake they ascended Breed's Hill, within cannon

shot of the city, and laboring with pick and spade all that night, they had cast

up a strong redoubt
7
of earth, on the summit of that eminence, before the Brit-

1 Allen was in chief command. Having taken possession of the fort and garrison by surprise,

he ascended to the door of the commandant's apartment, and awoke Captain De La Place, by heavy
blows with the hilt of his sword. The astonished commander, followed by his wife, came to the

door. He knew Allen. " What do you want?" he inquired.
"
I want you to surrender this fort,"

Allen answered. "
By what authority do you demand it ?" asked De La Place.

"
By the Great

Jehovah and the Continental Congress!" said Allen, vrith the voice of a Stentor. The captain sub-

mitted, and the fortress became a possession of the patriots.
a
Page 247.

1 Note 1, page 138. 4 Note 1. page 221.
8 Note 3, page 229.

6
"William Prescott was born at Groton, Massachusetts, in 1726. He was at Louisburg [page

137] in 1745. After the battle of Bunker's Hill, he served under Gates, until the surrender of

Burgoyne, when he left the army. He died in 1795.
7 A redoubt is a small fortification generally composed of earth, and having very few features

of a regular fort, except its arrangement for the use of cannons and muskets. They are often tern-
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ish were aware of their presence. Gage and his dicers vore greatly astonished

at the apparition of this military work, at the dawn of the 17th.

The British generals were not only astonished, but alarmed, and at onco

perceived
the necessity for driving the Americans from this commanding

position,
before they should plant a heavy battery there, for in that event,

Boston must be evacuated before sunrise. The drums beat

to arms, and soon the city was in a great tumult. The im-

minent danger converted many Tories into professedly

warm Whigs, for the days of British rule appeared to be

closing. Every eminence and roof in Boston

swarmed with people and at about sunrise

[June 17, 1775], a

heavy cannonade was

opened upon the re-

doubt, from a battery

on Copp's Hill, in

Boston,' and from the

shipping in the har-

bor, but with very
little effect. Hour
after hour the patriots

toiled on in the com-

pletion of their work,
and at noon-day, theii

task was finished, and they laid aside their implements of labor for knapsacks
and muskets. General Howe, with General Pigot, and three thousand men,
crossed the Charles River at the same time, to Morton's Point, at the foot of

the eastern slope of Breed's Hill, formed his troops into two columns, and
marched slowly to attack the redoubt. Although the British commenced firing
cannons soon after they began to ascend the hill, and the great guns of the

ships, and the battery on Copp's Hill, poured an incessant storm upon the

redoubt, the Americans kept perfect silence until they had approached within

close musket shot. Hardly an American could be seen by the slowly approach-

ing enemy, yet behind those rude mounds of earth, lay fifteen hundred deter-

mined men,
3

ready to pour deadly volleys of musket-balls upon the foe, when
their commanders should order them.

PLAN OF BUNKER'S HILL BATTLE. MONUMENT.

porary structures, cast up in the progress of a siege, or a protracted battle. The diagram A, on the

map. shows the form of the redoubt, a is the entrance.
1 That portion of Copp's Hill, where the British battery was constructed, is a burial-ground, in

yhich lie many of the earlier residents of that city. Among tnem, foe Mather family, distinguished
in the early history of the Commonwealth. See page 133.

*

During the forenoon, General Putnam had been busy in forwarding reinforcements for Pres-

cott, and when the battle began, about five hundred had been added to the detachment. Yet he

found it difficult to urge many of the raw recruits forward
;
and after the war, he felt it necessary ta

arise in the church of which he was a member, and in the presence of the congregation, acknowi.

edge the sin of swearing on that occasion. He partially justified himself by saying, "It was almost

enough to make an angel swear, to see the cowards refuse to secure a victory so nearly won."
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It was now three o'clock in the afternoon. When the British column was

within ten rods of the redoubt, Prescott shouted Firt ! and instantly whole

platoons of the assailants were prostrated by well-aimed bullets.
1 The survivors

fell back in great confusion, but were soon rallied for a second attack. They
were again repulsed, with heavy loss, and while scattering in all directions,

General Clinton arrived with a few followers, and joined Howe, as a volunteer-

The fugitives were again rallied, and they rushed up to the redoubt in the face

of a galling fire. For ten minutes the battle raged fearfully, and. in the mean

while, Charlestown, at the foot of the eminence, having been fired by a carcass*

from Copp's Hill,
3
sent up dense columns of smoke, which completely enveloped

the belligerents. The firing in the redoubt soon grew weaker, for the ammu-
nition of the Americans had become exhausted. It ceased altogether, and then

the British scaled the bank and compelled the Americans to retreat, while they

.fought fiercely with clubbed muskets.
4

Overpowered, they fled across Charles-

town Neck,
8

gallantly covared by Putnam and a few brave men, and under that

commander, they took position on Prospect Hill, and fortified it. The British

took possession of Bunker's Hill,
8 and erected a fortification there. There was

absolutely no victory in the case. Completely exhausted, both parties sought

rest, and hostilities ceased for a time. The Americans had lost, in killed,

wounded, and prisoners, about four hundred and fifty men. The loss of the

British from like causes, was almost eleven hundred.
7

This was the first real

baffle
9
of the Revolution, and lasted almost two hours.

Terrible for the people of Boston and vicinity, were the events of that bright

and cloudless, and truly beautiful June day. All the morning, as we have

observed, and during the fierce conflict, roofs, steeples, and every high place, in

and around the city, were filled with anxious spectators. Almost every family
had a representative among the combatants; and in an agony of suspense,

mothers, wives, sisters, and daughters, gazed upon the scene. Many a loved

1 Prescott ordered his men to aim at the waistbands of the British, and to pick off their officers,

whose fine clothes would distinguish them. It is said that men, at the first onset in battle, always
fire too high, hence the order to aim at the waistbands.

2 A carcass is a hollow case, formed of ribs of iron covered with cloth or metal, with holes in it.

."Being filled with combustibles and set on fire, it is thrown from a mortar, like a bomb-shell, upon
tthe roofs of buildings, and ignites them. A bomb-shell is a hollow ball, with an orifice, filled with

-.powder (sometimes mixed with slugs of iron), which is ignited by a slow match when fired, explodes,
:and its fragments produce terrible destruction.

3 See map on page 235.
4 Most of the American muskets were destitute of bayonets, and they used the large end as

clubs. This is a last resort.
6
Charlestown, like Boston, is on a peninsula, almost surrounded by water and a marsh. The

Neck was a narrow causeway, connecting it with the main. Charlestown was a flourishing rival of

Boston, at the time of the battle. It was then completely destroyed. Six hundred buildings per-
ished in the flames. Burgoyne, speaking of the battle and conflagration, said, it was the most awful

and sublime sight he had ever witnessed.
* As the battle took place on Breed's, and not on Bunker's Hill, the former name "hould

nave been given to it
;
but the name of Bunker's Hill has become too sacred in the records of patriot-

.iam to be changed.
7 The provincial Congress estimated the loss at about fifteen hundred;' General Gage reported

</ue thousand and fifty-four. Of the Americans, only one hundred and fifteen were killed; the

remainder were wounded or made prisoners.
* A battle is a conflict carried on by large bodies of troops, according to the rules of military

tactics; a skirmish is a sudden and irregular fight between a few troops.
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one perished ;
and there the country lost one of its most promising children,

and freedom a devoted champion. Dr. Warren, who

had just been appointed major-general, had crossed

Charlestown Neck in the midst of flying balls from the

British shipping, and reached the redoubt on Breed's

Kill, at the moment when the enemy scaled its banks.

e was killed by a musket ball, while retreating.

Buried where he fell, near the redoubt., the tall Bunker

Jill monument of to-day, standing on that spot, com-

memorates his death, as well as the patriotism of his

countrymen. JogEpu WARREN_

The storm was not confined to the east. While

these events were occurring in New England, the Revolution was making rapid

progress elsewhere. Even before the tragedy at Lexington and Concord,
^atrick Henry

2 had again aroused his countrymen by his eloquence, and in the

Virginia Assembly, convened at Richmond, on the 23d of March, 1775, he

concluded a masterly speech with that noted sentiment, which became the war-

cry of the patriots,
" GIVE ME LIBERTY, OR GIVE ME DEATH !" When,

twenty-six days later [April 20], Governor Dunmore, by ministerial command,
3

seized and conveyed on board a British vessel of war, a quantity of gunpowder

belonging to the colony, that same inflexible patriot went at the head of armed

citizens, and demanded and received from the royal representative, full restitu-

tion. And before the battle of Bunker's Hill, the exasperated people had

driven Dunmore4 from his palace at Williamsburg [June], and he was a refugee,

shorn of political power, on board a British man-of-war in the York River.

Further south, still bolder steps had been taken. The people in the inte-

rior of North Carolina, where the Regulator Movement occurred four years

earlier, asserted their dignity and their rights as freemen, in a way that aston-

ished even the most sanguine and determined patriots elsewhere. A convention

of delegates chosen by the people, assembled at Charlotte, in Mecklenberg

county, in May, 1775, and by a series of resolutions, they virtually declared

their constituents absolved from all allegiance to the British crown,
5

organized

local government, and made provisions for military defense. In South Carolina

and Georgia, also, arms and ammunition had been seized by the people, and

all royal authority was repudiated.

While the whole country was excited by the rising rebellion, and on the

1

Joseph "Warren was born in Roxbury, in 1740. He was at the head of his profession as a

physician, when the events of the approaching revolution brought him into public life. He was

thirty-five years of age when he died. His remains rest in St. Paul's church, in Boston.
8 Note 1, page 214.

3 Note 1, page 232.
4 Dunmore was strongly suspected of a desire to have the hostile Indians west of the Allegha-

nies annihilate the Virginia troops sent against them in the summer of 1774. They suffered ter-

rible loss in a battle at Point Pleasant on the Ohio, in October of that year, in consequence of the

failure of promised aid from Dunmore. They subdued the Indians, however.
6
This "Declaration of Independence," as it is called, was made about thirteen months previous

to the general Declaration put forth by the Continental Congress, and is one of the glories of tho

people of North Carolina. It consisted of a series of twenty resolutions, and was read, from time to

time, to other gatherings of the people, after the convention at Charlotte.
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very day [May 10] when Allen and -Arnold took Ticonderoga,
*

the SECOND

CONTINENTAL CONGRESS convened at Philadelphia. Notwithstanding New

England was in a hlaze of war, royal authority had virtually ceased in all the

colonies, and the conflict for independence had actually begun,
3
that august

body held out to Great Britain a loyal, open hand of reconciliation. Congress
sent [July, 1775] a most loyal petition to the king, and conciliatory addresses

to the people of Great Britain. At the same time they said firmly,
" We have

counted the cost of this contest, and find nothing so dreadful as voluntary

slavery." They did not foolishly lose present advantages in waiting for a reply,

but pressed forward in the work of public security. Having resolved on armed

resistance, they voted to raise an army of twenty thousand men
;
and two days

before the battle of Bunker's Hill [June 15, 1775], they elected GEORGE
WASHINGTON commander-in-chief of all the forces raised, or to be raised, for

the defense of the colonies.
3 That destined Father of his Country, was then

forty-three years of age. They also adopted the incongruous mass o^ undis-

ciplined troops at Boston,
4 as a CONTINENTAL ARMY, and appointed general

officers
5
to assist Washington in its organization and future operations.

General Washington took command of the army at Cambridge, on the 3d

of July, and with the efficient aid of General Gates, who was doubtless the best

disciplined soldier then in the field, order was soon brought out of great con-

fusion, and the Americans were prepared to commence a regular siege of the

British army in Boston.
8 To the capture or expulsion of those troops, the

efforts of Washington were mainly directed during the summer and autumn of

1775. Fortifications were built, a thorough organization of the army was

effected, and all that industry and skill could do, with such material, in perfect-

ing arrangements for a strong and fatal blow, was accomplished. The army,

1
Page 234. a

Page 232.
*
Washington was a delegate in Congress from Virginia, and his appointment was wholly unex-

pected to him. When the time came to choose a commander-in-chief) John Adams arose, and after

a brief speech, in which he delineated the qualities of the man whom he thought best fitted for the

important service, he expressed his intenton to propose a member from Virginia for the office of

generalissimo. All present understood the allusion, and the next day, Thomas Johnson, of Mary-
land, nominated Colonel Washington, and he was, by unanimous vote, elected commander-in-chief.
At the same time Congress resolved that they would " maintain and assist him, and adhere to him,
with their lives and fortunes, in the cause of American liberty." When President Hancock
announced to Washington his appointment, he modestly, and with great dignity, signified his accept-
ance in the following terms :

" Mr. President Though I am truly sensible of the high honor done

me, in this appointment, yet I feel great distress, from a consciousness that my abilities and military

experience may not be equal to the extensive and important trust. However, as the Congress
desire it, I will enter upon the momentous duty, and exert every power I possess in their service,

and for the support of the glorious cause. I beg they will accept my most cordial thanks for this

distinguished testimony of their approbation. But lest some unlucky event should happen, unfavor-

able to my reputation, I beg it may be remembered by every gentleman in this room, that I, this

day, declare with the utmost sincerity, I do not think myself equal to the command I am honored

with. As to pay, sir, I beg leave to assure the Congress that, as no pecuniary consideration could

have tempted me to accept the arduous employment, at the expense of my domestic ease and hap-

piness, I do not wish to make any profit from it. I will keep an exact account of my expenses.

Those, I doubt not. they will discharge, and that is all I desire."
*
Page 232.

* Artemas Ward, Charles Lee, Philip Schuyler, and Israel Putnam, were appointed major-

generals; Horatio Gates, adjutant-general; and Seth Pomeroy, Richard Montgomery, David Wooster,
William Heath, Joseph Spencer, John Thomas, John Sullivan, and Nathaniel Green (all

New
England men), brigadier-generals.

*
Page 232.
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fourteen thousand strong at the close of the year, extended from Koxbary on

the right, to Prospect Hill, two miles north-west of Breed's Hill, on the left.

The right was commanded by General Ward, the left by General Lee. The

centre, at Cambridge, was under the immediate control of the commander-in"

ciiief.

C

At the close of May, Congress sent an affectionate address to the people of

Canada. They were cordially invited to join their Anglo-American
1

neighbors'
in efforts to obtain redress of grievances, but having very little sympathy in

language, religion, or social condition with them, they refused, and were neces-

sarily considered positive supporters of the royal cause. The capture of the

two fortresses on Lake Champlain
8

[May, 1775], having opened the way to the

St. Lawrence, a well-devised plan to take possession of that province and pre-

vent its becoming a place of rendezvous and supply of invading armies from

Great Britain, was matured by Congress and the commanier-in-chief.
4 To

1 Note 1, page 193.
8 The Congress of 1774, made an appeal To the inhabitants of Quebec, in which was clearly set

forth the grievances of the colonists, and an invitation to fraternize with those already in union.
'
?3ge 234.

4 A committee of Congress, consisting of Dr. Franklin, Thomas Lynch, and Benjamin Harr'scn,
went to Cambridge, in August, and there the plan of the campaign against Canada was arranged.
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accomplish this, a body of New York and New England troops were placed
under the command of Generals Schuyler

1

and Montgomery,
2
and ordered to

proceed by way of Lake Champlain to Montreal and Quebec.

Had Congress listened to the earnest advice of Colonel Ethan Allen, to

invade Canada immediately after the capture of Ticonderoga and Crown Point,

the result of the expedition would doubtless have been very different, for at that

time the British forces in the province were few, and they had made no prepar-

ations for hostilities. It was near the close of August before the invading army

appeared before St. John on the Sorel, the first military post within the Cana-

dian line. Deceived in regard to the strength of the garrison and the dispo-

sition of the Canadians and the neighboring Indians, Schuyler fell back

to Isle Aux Noix,
3 and after making preparations to fortify it, he hastened to

Ticonderoga to urge forward more troops. Sickness compelled him to return

to Albany, and the whole command devolved upon Montgomery, his second in

command. That energetic officer did not remain long within his island intrench-

ments, and toward the close of September, he laid siege to St. John. The gar-
rison maintained an obstinate resistance for more than a month, and Montgomery
twice resolved to abandon it. During the siege, small detachments of brave

men went out upon daring enterprises. One, of eighty men, under Colonel

Ethan Allen,
4

pushed across the St. Lawrence, and attacked Montreal [Sep-
tsmber 25, 1775], then garrisoned by quite a strong force under General

Prescott.
5

This was done at the suggestion of Colonel John Brown, who was

to cross the river with his party, a little above, and co-operate with Allen. He
failed to do so, and disaster ensued. Allen and his party were defeated, and

he was made prisoner and, with several of his men, was sent to England in irons.

Another expedition under Colonel Bedell, of New Hampshire, was more suc-

cessful. They captured the strong fort (but feeble garrison) at Chambly
[October 30], a few miles north of St. John; and at about the same time, Sir

Guy Carleton, governor of Canada, with a reinforcement for the garrison of St.

John, was repulsed [November 1] by a party under Colonel Warner, at

Longueil, nearly opposite Montreal. These events alarmed Preston, the com-

mander of St. John, and he surrendered that post to Montgomery, on the 3d of

November.

When the victory was complete, the Americans pressed on toward Mont-

1
Philip Schuyler was born at Alhany, New York, in 1733, and was one of the wisest and best

men of his time. He was a captain under Sir William Johnson [page 190] in 1755, and was active

in the public service, chiefly in civil affairs, from that time until the Revolution. During that

struggle, he was very prominent, and after the war, was almost continually engaged in public life,

until his death, which occurred in 1804.
2 Richard Montgomery was born in Ireland, in 1737. He was with Wolfe, at Quebec [page

201], and afterward married a sister of Chancellor Livingston, and settled in the State of New York.

He gave promise of great military ability, when death ended his career. See portrait on page 242.
1 Note 8, pag" 197.
* Ethan Allen was bom in Litchfield county, Connecticut. He went to Vermont at an early

age, and in 1770 was one of the bold leaders there in the opposition of the settlers to the territorial

claims of New York. He was never engaged in active military services after his capture. He died

in Vermont in February, 1789, and his remains lie in a cemetery two miles from Burlington, near

the WinooskL '
Page 27].
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real. Governor Carleton, conscious of his weakness, immediately retreated on

board one of the vessels of a small fleet lying in the river, and escaped to Que-

bec; and on the following day [November 13], Montgomery entered the city

in triumph. He treated the people humanely, gained their respect, and with

the woolen clothing found among the spoils, he commenced preparing his sol-

diers for the rigors of a Canadian winter. There was no time to be lost, by

delays. Although all their important posts in Canada were in possession of the

patriots, yet, Montgomery truly said, in a letter to Congress,
"

till Quebec is-

taken, Canada is unconquered." Impressed with this idea, he determined to

push forward to the capital, notwithstanding the inclemency of the weather and

the desertion of his troops. Winter frosts were binding the waters, and blind-

ing snow was mantling the whole country.

The spectacle presented by this little army, in the midst of discouragements

of every kind, was one of great moral grandeur. Yet it was not alone at that

perilous hour
;
for while this expedition, so feeble in number and supplies, was

on its way to achieve a great purpose, another, consisting of a thousand men,
under Colonel Benedict Arnold,

1 had left Cambridge [Sept., 1775], and was

making its way through the deep wilderness by the Kennebec and Chaudiere"

Kivers, to join Montgomery before the walls of Quebec. That expedition was

one of the most wonderful on record. For thirty-two days they traversed a

gloomy wilderness, without meeting a human being. Frost and snow were

upon the ground, and ice was upon the surface of the marshes and the streams,

which they were compelled to traverse and ford, sometimes arm-pit deep in

water and mud. Yet they murmured not
;
and even women followed in their

train.
3

After enduring incredible toils and hardships, exposed to intense cold

and biting hunger, they arrived at Point Levi,
4

opposite Quebec, on the 9th of

November. Four days afterward [Nov. 13], and at about the same time when

Montgomery entered Montreal, the intrepid Arnold, with only seven hundred

and fifty half-naked men, not more than four hundred muskets, and no artil-

lery, crossed the St. Lawrence to Wolfe's Cove,
5 ascended to the Plains of

Abraham,
8 and boldly demanded a surrender of the city and garrison within the

massive walls. Soon the icy winds, and intelligence of an intended sortie
7
from

the garrison, drove Arnold from his bleak encampment, and he ascended the

St. Lawrence to Point au Trembles, twenty miles above Quebec, and there

1

Page 234.
a Pronounced Sho-de-are.

3
Judge Henry, of Pennsylvania, then a young man, accompanied the expedition. He -wrote

an account of the siege of Quebec, and in it he mentions the wives of Sergeant Grier and or a pri-

vate soldier, who accompanied them. "
Entering the ponds," he says,

" and breaking the ice here

and there with the butts of our guns, and our feet, we were soon waist-deep in mud and water. As
w generally the case with youths, it came to my mind that a better path might be found than that

of the more elderly guide. Attempting this, the water in a trice cooling my arm-pits, made m
gladly return in the file. Now, Mrs. Grier had got before me. My mind was humbled, yet aston-

ished, at the exertions of this good woman." Like the soldiers, she waded through the deep waters

and the mud.
4
Page 201. Several men who were afterward prominent actors in the Revolution, accompanied

Arnold in this expedition. Among them, also, was Aaron Burr, then a youth of twenty, who was
afterward Vice-President of the United States.

6
Page 202.

8
Page 202.

7 This is a French term, significant of a sudden sally of troops from a besieged city or fortress*

to attack the besiegers. See page 434.
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WALLS OF QUEBEC.

awaited the arrival of Montgomery. These brave generals met on the 1st of

December [1775], and woolen clothes which Montgomery brought from Mont-

real, were placed on the shivering limbs of Arnold's troops. The united forces,

about nine hundred strong, then marched to Quebec.

It was on the evening of the 5th of December when the Americans reached

Quebec, and the next morning early, Montgomery sent a letter to Carleton, by
a flag,

1

demanding an immediate surrender. The flag was fired upon, and the

invaders were defied. With a few light cannons and some mortars, and ex-

posed to almost daily snow-storms in the open fields, the Americans besieged

the city for three weeks. Success appearing only in assault, that measure was

agreed upon, and before dawn, on the morning of the last

day rr the year [Dec. 31, 1775], while snow was falling

thickly, the attempt was made. Montgomery had formed

his little army into four columns, to assail the city at differ-

ent points. One of these, under Arnold, was to attack the

lower town, and march along the St. Charles to join another

division, under Montgomery, who was to approach by way
of Cape Diamond,

3 and the two were to attempt a forced pass-

age into the city, through Prescott Gate.
3 At the same

time, the other two columns, under Majors Livingston and

Brown, were to make a feigned attack upon tve uppe own, from the Plains

of Abraham. In accordance with this plan, Montgom :y descended Wolfe's

Ravine, and marched carefully along the ice-strewn beach, toward a pallisade

and battery at Cape Diamond. At the head of his men, in the face of the

driving snow, he had passed the pallisade unopposed,
when a single discharge of a cannon from the battery,

loaded with grape-shot,
4 killed him instantly, and slew

several of his officers, among whom were his two aids,

McPherson and Cheeseman- His followers instantly re-

treated. In the mean while, Arnold had been severely

wounded, while attacking a barrier on the St. Charles,
5

and the command of his division devolved upon Captain

Morgan," whose expert riflemen, with Lamb's artillery,

forced their way into the lower town. After a contest

of several hours, the Americans, under Morgan, were obliged to surrender them-

1
Messengers are sent from army to army with a white flag, indicating a desire for a peaceful

Interview. These flags, by common consent, are respected, and it is considered an outrage to fire

on the bearer of one. The Americans were regarded as rebels, and undeserving the usual courtesy.
8 The high rocky promontory on which the citadel stands.
8
Prescott Gate is on the St. Lawrence side of the town, and there bars Mountain-street in ita

sinuous way from the water up into the walled city. The above diagram shows the plan of the city

walls, and relative positions of the several gates mentioned. A is the St Charles River, B the St.

Lawrence, a Wolfe and Montcalm's monument [page 202], 6 the place where Montgomery fell, c

ihe place where Arnold was wounded.
4 These are small balls confined in a cluster, and then discharged at once from a cannon. They

scatter, and do great execution.
6
This was at the foot of the precipice, below the present grand battery, near St. Paul's-street

8 Afterward th? famous General Morgan, whose rifle corps became so renowned, and who gamed
tbe victory at The Cawpens, in the winter of 1781. See page 331.

GENERAL MONTGOMERY.
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selves prisoners of war. The whole loss of the Americans, under Montgomery
and Arnold, in this assault, was about one hundred and sixty. The British

loss was only about twenty killed and wounded.

Colonel Arnold, with the remainder of the troops, retired to Sillery, where

ho formed a camp, and passed a rigorous Canadian winter. He was relieved

from chief command by General Wooster,
1 on the 1st of April, who came

down from Montreal with reinforcements, when another ineffectual attempt
was made to capture Quebec. When, a month afterward, General Thomas
took the chief command [May, 1776], Carletonwas receiving strong reinforce-

ments from England, and the patriots were compelled to abandon all hope of

conquering Canada. They were obliged to retreat so hastily before the over-

whelming forces of Carleton, that they left their stores and sick behind them.
2

Abandoning one post after another, the Americans were driven entirely out

of Canada by the middle of June.

The Virginians were rolling on the car of the Revolution with a firm and

steady hand, while the patriots were suffering defeats and disappointments at

the North. We have already alluded to the fact, that the people of Williams-

burg, then the capital of Virginia, had driven Lord Dunmore, the royal gov-

ernor, away from his palace, to take refuge on board a ship of war.
3 He was

the first royal representative who
" abdicated government," and he was greatly

exasperated because he was compelled to do so in a very humiliating manner.

From that vessel he sent letters, messages, and addresses to the Virginia House
of Burgesses/ and received the same in return. Each exhibited much spirit.

Finally, in the autumn, the governor proceeded to Norfolk with the fleet, and,

collecting a force of Tories and negroes, commenced depredations in lower Vir-

ginia. With the aid of some British vessels, he attacked Hampton, near Old

Point Comfort,
6 on the 24th of October, and was repulsed. He then declared

open war. The Virginia militia flew to arms, and in a severe battle, fought on

the 9th of December, at the Great Bridge, near the Dismal Swamp, twelve

miles from Norfolk, Dunmore was defeated, and compelled to seek safety with

the British shipping in Norfolk harbor. In that battle, the regiment of men,

chiefly from Culpepper county, raised by Patrick Henry, and at the head of

whom he demanded payment for the powder removed from Williamsburg,
6
did

very important service.
7

1

Page 270.
a General Thomas was seized with the small-pox, which had been raging some time in the

American camp, and died at Chambly on the 30th of May. He was a native of Plymouth, Mass.,
and was one of the first eight brigadiers appointed by Congress [note 5, page 238]. Carleton
treated the prisoners and sick with great humanity. He afterward, on the death of his father, be-
came Lord Dorchester. He died in 1808, aged eighty-three years.

8
Page 237. Page 71. *

Page 64. Page 237.

7 This regiment had adopted a flag with the significant device of a coiled

rattle-snake, seen in the engraving. This device was upon many flags in the

army and navy of the Revolution. The expression, "Don't tread on me,"
had a double signification. It might bo said in a supplicating tone,

" Don't
tread on me

;

" or menacingly,
" Don't tread on me." The soldiers were

dressed in green hunting-shirts, with Henry's words, LIBERTY OK DEATH
[page 237], in large white letters on their bosoms. They had bucks' tails

in their hats, and in their belts tomahawks and scalping-knives. Their CULPEPPEB FLAG
fierce appearance alarmed the people, as they marched through the country.
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Five days af.er the battle at the Great Bridge, the Virginians, under

Colonel Woodford, entered Norfolk in triumph [Dec. 14, 1775J, and the next

morning they were joined by Colonel Robert Howe/ with a North Carolina

regiment, when the latter assumed the general command. Dunmore was greatly

exasperated by these reverses, and, in revenge, he caused Norfolk to be burned

early on the morning of the 1st of January, 1776. The conflagration raged
for fifty hours, and while the wretched people were witnessing the destruction

of their property, the modern Nero caused a cannonade to be kept up." When
the destruction was complete, he proceeded to play the part of a marauder along

the defenseless coast of Virginia. For a time he made his head quarters upon

Gwyn's island, in Chesapeake Bay, near the mouth of the Piankatank River,

from which he was driven, with his fleet, by a brigade of Virginia troops under

General Andrew Lewis.
3

After committing other depredations, he went to the

West Indies, carrying with him about a thousand negroes which he had col-

lected during his marauding campaign, where he sold them, and in the follow-

ing autumn returned to England. These atrocities kindled an intense flame

of hatred to royal rule throughout the whole South, and a desire for political

independence of Great Britain budded spontaneously in a thousand hearts

where, a few months before, the plant of true loyalty was blooming.

CHAPTER III.

SECOND YEAR OP THE WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE. [1776.]

THERE was great anxiety in the public mind throughout the colonies at the

opening of the year 1776. The events of the few preceding months appeared

unpropitious for the republican cause, and many good and true men were dis-

posed to pause and consider, before going another step in the path of rebellion.

But the bolder leaders, in the senate and in the camp were undismayed; and

the hopeful mind of Washington, in the midst of the most appalling discourage-

ments, faltered not for a moment. He found himself strong enough to be the

effectual jailor of the British army in Boston, and now he was almost prepared
to commence those blows which finally drove that army and its Tory abettors to

the distant shores of Nova Scotia. 4 He had partially re-organized the conti-

1

Page 292.
1 When Dunmore destroyed Norfolk, its population was six thousand

;
and so rapidly was it

increasing in business and wealth, that in two years, from 1773 to 1775, the rents in the city in-

creased from forty thousand to fifty thousand dollars a year. The actual loss by the cannonade and

conflagration was estimated at fifteen hundred thousand dollars. The personal suffering was incon-

ceivable.
1 General Lewis was a native of Virginia, and was in the battle when Braddock was killed.

He was the commander of the Virginia troops in the battle at Point Pleasant [note 4, page 237],
m the summer of 1774 He left the army, on account of illness, in 1780, and died not long after-

ward, while absent from home. .

* Note 2, page 80.
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nental forces under his command
;
and on the first of January, 1776, he unfurled

ie Union Flag, for the first time, over the American camp
it Cambridge.

1 His army had then dwindled to less than

3n thousand effective men, and these were scantily fed and

slothed, and imperfectly disciplined. But the camp was well

supplied with provisions, and about ten thousand minute-men,
8

chiefly in Massachusetts, were held in reserve, ready to march

when called upon.

During the summer and autumn of 1775, the Continental Congress had put

forth all its energies in preparations for a severe struggle with British power,

now evidently near at hand. Articles of war were agreed to on the 30th of

June
;
a declaration of the causes for taking up arms was issued on the 6th of

UNION FLAG.

"THIS BiU e

_* Bear;- to -it,.;.,*
SIX SPANISH MILLED
DOLLARS, or tVie
Value thereof inuOLD
Or S1LVER- accord in- 1

tion of

ORESS

A BILL OF CREDIT, OR CONTINENTAL MONEY.

July; and before the close of the year, bills of credit, known as "continental

money," representing the value of six millions of Spanish dollars, had been

issued.
3 A naval establishment had also been commenced;

4 and at the opening

1 The hoisting ofthat ensign was hailed by General Howe, the British commander in Boston, with

great joy, for he regarded it as a token that a gracious speech of the king on American affairs, lately
communicated to Parliament, was well received by the army, and that submission would speedily
follow. That flag was composed of thirteen stripes, alternate red and white, symbolizing the thir-

teen revolted colonies. In one corner was the device of the British Union Flag, namely, the cross of

St. George, composed of a horizontal and perpendicular bar, and the cross of St. Andrew (represent-

ing Scotland), which is in the form of x . It was the appearance of that symbol of the British

union that misled Howe. This flag is represented in the above little sketch. On the 14th of June,
1777, Congress ordered "thirteen stars, white, in a blue field," to be put in the place of the British

union device. Such is the design of our flag at the present day. A star has been added for ever/
new State admitted into the Union, while the original number of stripes is retained.

*
Page 229.

t
* The resolution of the Continental Congress, providing for the emission of bills, was adopted on

fre 22d of June, 1775. The bills were printed and issued soon after, and other emissions were

authorized, from time to time, during about four years. At the beginning of 1780, Congress had
issued two hundred millions of dollars in paper money. After the second year, these bills began to

depreciate; and in 1780, forty paper dollars were worth only one in specie. At the close of 1781,

they were worthless. They had performed a temporary good, but were finally productive of great

public evil, and much individual suffering. Some of these bills are yet in existence, and are con-

sidered great curiosities. They were rudely engraved, and printed on thick paper, which caused
the British to call it "the paste-boaxd money of the rebels."

* .Note 1, page 307.
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of 1776, many expert privateersmen
1

, \vere hovering along our coasts, to the

great terror and annoyance of British merchant vessels.

There had been, up to this time, a strange apathy concerning American

affairs, in the British Parliament, owing, chiefly, to the confidence reposed in

the puissance of the imperial government, and a want of knowledge relative to

the real strength of the colonies. Events had now opened the eyes of British

statesmen to a truer appreciation of the relative position of the contestants, and

the importance of vigorous action
;
and at the close of 1775, Parliament had

made extensive arrangements for crushing the rebellion. An act was passed

[Nov., 1775], which declared the revolted colonists to be rebels ; forbade all

intercourse with them
;
authorized the seizure and destruction or confiscation

of all American vessels
;
and placed the colonies under martial law.

a An ag-

gregate land and naval force of fifty-five thousand men was voted for the

American service, and more than a million of dollars were appropriated for their

pay and sustenance. In addition to these, seventeen thousand troops were hired

by the British government from the Landgrave of Hesse-Cassel, and other

petty German rulers,
3 to come hither to butcher loyal subjects who had peti-

tioned for their rights for ten long years, and now, even with arms in their

hands, were praying for justice, and begging for reconciliation. This last act

filled the cup of government iniquity to the brim. It was denounced in Par-

liament by the true friends of England, as "disgraceful to the British name,"
and it extinguished the last hope of reconciliation. The sword was now drawn,
and the scabbard was thrown away.

Intelligence of the proceedings in Parliament reached America in January,

3776, and Congress perceived the necessity of putting forth immediate and effi-

cient efforts for the defense of the extensive sea-coast of the colonies. Washing-
ton was also urged to attack the British in Boston, immediately ; and, by great

efforts, the regular army was augmented to about fourteen thousand men to-

ward the close of February. In the mean while, the provincial Congress of

Massachusetts organized the militia of the province anew, and ten regiments,

making about three thousand men, arrived in camp early in February. The

entire army now numbered about seventeen thousand effective men, while the

British force did not exceed five thousand fit for duty. Reinforcements were

daily expected from Halifax, New York, and Ireland, and the present seemed

a proper moment to strike. Bills of credit,
4

representing four millions of dol-

lars more, were issued
; Congress promised energetic co-operation ;

and on the

1
Private individuals, having a license from government to arm and equip a vessel, and with it

to depredate upon the commerce of a nation with which that people are then at war, are called

privoteersmen, and their vessels are known as privateers. During the Revolution, a vast number
of English vessels were captured by American privateersmen. It is, after all, only legalized piracy,
and enlightened nations begin to view it so.

a Note 8, page 170.
1 The Landgrave (or petty prince) of Hesse-Cassel, having furnished the most considerable por-

tion of these troops, they were called by the general name of Hessians. Ignorant, brutal, and

bloodthirsty, they were hated by the patriots, and despised even by the regular English army. They
were always employed in posts of greatest danger, or in expeditions least creditable. These troops
cost the British government almost eight hundred thousand dollars, besides the necessity, according
to the contract, of defending the little principalities thus stripped, against theii foea

*
Page 24o
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1st of March, Washington felt strong enough to attempt a dislodgment of the

enemy from the crushed city.
1

On the evening of the 2d of March [1776 J, a heavy cannonade was opened

upon Boston, from all the American batteries, and was continued, with brief

intermissions, until the 4th. On the evening of that day, General Thomas,
1

ith twelve hundred men with intrenching tools, and a guard of eight hundred,

iroceeded secretly to a high hill, near Dorchester, on the south side of Boston,

and before morning, they cast up a line of strong intrenchments, and planted

heavy cannons there, which completely commanded the city and harbor. It

was the anniversary of the memorable Boston Massacre,
3 and many patriots felt

the blood coursing more swiftly through their veins, as the recollection of that

event gave birth to vengeful feelings. It had nerved their arms while toiling

all that long night, and they felt a great satisfaction in knowing that they had

prepared works which not only greatly astonished and alarmed the British, but

which would be instrumental in achieving a great victory. The enemy felt the

danger, and tried to avert it.

Perceiving the imminent peril of both fleet and army, General Howe pre-

pared an expedition to drive the Americans from their vantage-ground on Dor-

chester heights. A storm suddenly arose, and made the harbor impassable.
4

The delay allowed the patriots time to make their works almost impregnable,
and the British were soon compelled to surrender as prisoners of war, or to

evacuate the city immediately, to avoid destruction. As prisoners, they would

have been excessively burdensome to the colonies
; so, having formally agreed

to allow them to depart without injury, Washington had the inexpressible

pleasure of saying, in a letter written to the President of Congress, on Sunday,
the 17th of March, "that this morning the ministerial troops evacuated the

town of Boston, without destroying it, and that we are now in full possession."

Seven thousand soldiers, four thousand seamen, and fifteen hundred families of

loyalists,
5
sailed for Halifax on that day.

The gates on Boston Neck were now unbarred
;
and General Ward, with

five thousand of the troops at Roxbury, entered the city, with drums beating,

and banners waving, greeted on every side with demonstrations of joy by the

redeemed people. General Putnam soon afterward [March 18] entered with

another division, and, in command of the whole, he took possession of the city

and all the forts, in the name of the Thirteen United Colonies.

1

Page 226.
a
Page 243.

9
Page 221.

4 A similar event occurred to frustrate the designs of the British at Torktown, several years
afterward. See page 341.

6
It must be remembered that the Americans were by no means unanimous in their opposition

to Great Britain. From the beginning there were many who supported the crown
;
and as the

colonists became more and more rebellious, these increased. Some because they believed their

brethren to be wrong ;
others through timidity ;

and a greater number because they thought it

their interest to adhere to the king. The loyalists, or Tories, were the worst and most efficient en-

emies of the Whigs [note 4, page 226] during the whole war. Those who left Boston at this time,
were afraid to encounter the exasperated patriots, when they should return to their desolated homes
in the city, from which they had been driven by military persecution. The churches had been

stripped of their pulpits and pews, for fuel, fine shade trees had been burned, and many houses had
been pillaged and damaged by the soldiery.
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Washington had been informed, early in January,
that General Sir Henry Clinton had sailed from Bos-

ton, with a considerable body of troops, on a secret ex-

pedition. Apprehending that the city of New Ycrlr

was his destination, he immediately dispatched General

Charles Lee to Connecticut to raise troops, and to pro-
ceed to that city to watch and oppose Clinton wherever

he might attempt to land. Six weeks before the evacu

ation of Boston [March 17, 1776], Lee had encamped
near New York with twelve hundred militia. Already

GENERAL LEE.
/. T -i i i i i

the Sons of Liberty had been busy, and overt acts of

rebellion had been committed by them. They had seized the cannons at Fort

George,* and driven Tryon,
3 the royal governor, on board the Asia, a British

armed vessel in the harbor. In March, Clinton arrived at Sandy Hook, just

outside New York harbor, and on the same day, the watchful Lee
4

providen-

tially entered the city. The movement, although without a knowledge of Clin-

ton's position, was timely, for it kept him at bay. Foiled in his attempt upon
New York, that commander sailed southward, where we shall meet him pres-

ently.

The destination of Howe, when he left Boston, was also unknown to Wash-

ington. Supposing he, too, would proceed to New York, he put the main body
of his aimy in motion toward that city, as soon as he had placed Boston in a

state of security. He arrived in New York about the middle of April [April

14], and proceeded at once to fortify the town and vicinity, and also the passes

of the Hudson Highlands, fifty miles above. In the mean while, General Lee,

who had been appointed to command the American forces in the South, had

i3ft his troops in the charge of General Lord Stirling
5

[March 7], and was

hastening toward the Carolinas to watch the movements of Clinton, arouse the

Whigs, and gather an army there.

In the spring of 1776, a considerable fleet, under Admiral Sir Peter Parker,

was sent from England, to operate against the sea-coast towns of the southern

colonies. Parker was joined by Clinton, at Cape Fear, in May, when the latter

took the chief command of all the land forces. The fleet arrived off Charleston

bar on the 4th of June, and on the same day, Clinton, with several hundred

men, landed on Long Island, which lies eastward of Sullivan's Island. Apprised
of these hostile designs, and elated by a victory obtained by North Carolina

militia, under Colonel Caswell, over fifteen hundred loyalists
6

[February !T,

1 Note 1, page 215.
* This fort stood at the foot of Broadway, on a portion of the site of the present

"
Battery."

*
Page 223.

4 Charles Lee was born in "Wales in 1731. He was a brave officer in the British army during
the French and Indian "War. He settled in Virginia in 1773, and was one of the first brigadiers of

the Continental army appointed by Congress. His ambition and perversity of temper, finally caused

his ruin. He died in Philadelphia in 1782. See page 288. &
Page 254.

8 These were chiefly Scotch Highlanders, and were led by Donald McDonald, an influential

Scotchman then residing at Cross Creek, now Fayetteville. The husband of Flora McDonald, so

celebrated in connection with the flight of the young Pretender from Scotland, at the close of tho

tebellion in 1745, was in the battle. Flora was then living at Cross Creek.
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1776], on Moore's Creek, in the present Hanover county, the southern patriots

had cheerfully responded to the call of Governor Rutledge, and about six thou-

sand armed men had collected in and near Charleston,

when the enemy appeared.
1 The city and eligible

posts
near it,

had been fortified, and quite a strong

fort, composed of palmetto logs and sand, and armed

with twenty-six mounted cannons, had been erected

upon Sullivan's Island, to command the channel

leading to the town. This fort was garrisoned by
about five hundred men, chiefly militia, under Colo-

nel William Moultrie.
2

A combined attack, by land and water, upon GENERAL MOULTRIE.

Sullivan's Island, was commenced by the British, on

the morning of the 28th of June, 1776. While the fleet was pouring a terrible

storm of iron balls upon Fort Sullivan, Clinton endeavored, but in vain, to

force a passage across a narrow creek which divided the two islands, in order to

attack the yet unfinished fortress in the rear. But Colonel Thompson, with a

small battery on the east end of Sullivan's Island, repelled every forward

movement of Clinton, while the cannons of the fort were spreading havoc among
the British vessels. 3 The conflict raged for almost ten hours, and only ceased

when night fell upon the scene. Then the British fleet, almost shattered into frag-

ments, withdrew, and abandoned the enterprise." The slaughter of the British

had been frightful. Two hundred and twenty-five had been killed or wounded,

while only two of the garrison were killed, and twenty-two were wounded. 5 The

British departed for New York three days afterward" [June 31, 1776], and for

\nore than two years, the din of war was not heard below the Roanoke. This

victory had a most inspiriting effect upon the patriots throughout the land.

1 General Armstrong of Pennsylvania [page 193], had arrived in South Carolina in April, and
took the general command. Lee arrived on the same day when the British, under Clinton, landed

on Long Island.
a Born in South Carolina, in 1730. Ho was in the Cherokee war [page 204], in 17G1. He was

an active officer until made prisoner, in 1780, when for two years he was not allowed to bear arms.

He died in 1805. General Moultrie wrote a very interesting memoir of the war in the South.
3 At one time, every man but Admiral Parker was swept from the deck of his vessel Among

those who were badly wounded, was Lord William Campbell, the royal governor of South Carolina,
who afterward died of his wounds.

4 The Acteon, a large vessel, grounded on a shoal between Fort Sullivan and the city, where
she wag burned by the Americans.

6 The strength of the fort consisted in the capacity of the spongy palmetto logs, upon which can-

non-balls would make very little impression. It appeared to be a very insecure defense, and Lee
advised Moultrie to abandon it when the British approached. But that brave officer would not

desert
it, and was rewarded with victory. The ladies of Charleston presented his regiment with a

pair
of elegant colors, and the "slaughter pen," as Lee ironically called Fort Sullivan, was named

Fort Moultrie. During the action, the staff, bearing a large flag, was cut down by a cannon-ball

from the fleet. The colors fell outside the fort. A sergeant named Jasper, leaped down from one
of the bastions, and in the midst of the iron hail that was pouring from the fort, coolly picked up
the

flag, ascended to the bastion, and calling for a sponge-staff', tied the colors to it, stuck it in the

sand, and then took his place among his companions in the fort. A few days afterward, Governor

Rutledge took his own sword from his side, and presented it to the brave Jasper ;
he also offered

him a lieutenant's commission, which the young man modestly declined, because lie could neither

ead nor write, saying, "I am not fit to keep officers' company I am but a sergeant."
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Important events in the progress of the war were now thickening. Re-

bellion had become revolution. While the stirring events at the South, just

mentioned, were transpiring, and while Wash-

ington was augmenting and strengthening the

continental army in New York, and British

troops and German hirelings
1

were approach-

ing by thousands, the Continental Congress,

now in permanent session in the State House

at Philadelphia, had a question of vast im-

portance under consideration. A few men, look-

STATE HOUSE. ing beyond the storm-clouds of the present,

beheld bright visions of glory for their country,

when the people, now declared to be rebels,
3 and out of the protection of the

British king, should organize themselves into a sovereign nation. " The light-

nino- of the Crusades was in the people's hearts, and it needed but a single

electric touch, to make it blaze forth upon the world," says James, in writing

of an earlier disruption of political systems.
3

So it was now, in the American

colonies. The noble figure of an independent nation stood forth with a beauty

that almost demanded worship. The grand idea began to flash through the

popular mind at the close of 1775
;
and when, early in 1776, it was tangibly

spoken by Thomas Paine, in a pamphlet entitled Common Sense* (said to have

been suggested by Dr. Rush),
5 and whose vigorous thoughts were borne by the

press to every community, a desire for independence filled the hearts of the

people. In less than eighty days after the evacuation of Boston [March 17,

1776], almost every provincial Assembly had spoken in favor of independence;

and on the 7th of June, in the midst of the doubt, and dread, and hesitation, which

for twenty days had brooded over the Continental Congress, Richard Henry Lee,*

1

Page 246.
2
Page 246.

*
History of the Crusades, by G. P. B. James.

4 The chief topic of this remarkable pamphlet, was the right and expediency of colonial inde-

pendence. Paine also wrote a series of equally powerful papers, called The Crisis. The first num-
ber was written in Fort Lee, on the Hudson, in December, 1776, and published while Washington
was on the banks of the Delaware. See page 192. These had a powerful effect in stimulating the

people to efforts for independence. They were highly valued by the commander-in-chief, and he pro-
moted their circulation. Writing to a friend soon after the appearance of Common Sense, Washington
said,

"
By private letters which I have lately received from Virginia, I find that Common Sense is

working a powerful change there in the minds of many men."
*
Benjamin Rush was one of the most eminent men of his time, as a physician, a man of science,

and an active patriot during the whole Revolution. He was born twelve miles from Philadelphia,
in 1745. He was educated at Princeton, completed his scientific studies in Edinburg, and after

his return, he soon rose to the highest eminence in his profession. He was the recipient of many
honors, and as a member of the Continental Congress, in 1776, he advocated and signed the Declar-

ation of Independence. His labors during the prevalence of yellow fever in Philadelphia, in 1793,

gave him the imperishable crown of a true philanthropist. He founded the Philadelphia Dispensary
in 1786; and he was also one of the principal founders of Dickinson College, at Carlisle, Pennsyl-
vania. He was president of the American Society for the abolition of slavery; of the Philadelphia
Medical Society ; vice-president of the Philadelphia Bible Society; and one of the vice-presidents
of the American Philosophical Society. He died in April, 1813, at the age of almost sixty-eight

years. A portrait of Dr. Rush may be found on the next page.
* Richard Henry Lee was born in Westmoreland county, Virginia, in 1732. He was educated

in England, and was in public life most of the time after reaching his majority. He was one of the

earliest opposers of the Stamp Act
;
was a member of the first Continental Congress, and signed that

Declaration of Independence which he so nobly advocated. He was afterward a member of the

United States Senate; and soon after his retirement to private life, in 1794, he died, when in the
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of Virginia, arose in his place, and with his clear, musical voice, read aloud

the Resolution, "That these united colonies are, and, of right, ought to be.

free and independent States
;
that they are absolved from all allegiance to the

British crown, and that all political connection between them and the State ot

Great Britain, is, and ought to be totally dissolved."
l

This was an exceedingly bold step, and the resolution did not meet with

general favor in Congress, at first. Many yet hoped, even against hope, for

reconciliation, and thought it premature, and there were some timid ones who

trembled while standing so near the borders of high treason. After debating
the subject for three days, the further consideration of it was postponed until

the first of July. A committee
2
was appointed [June 11], however, to draw

sixty-third year of his age. A characteristic anecdote is told of his son, who was at school, in

England, at the time the Declaration of Independence was promulgated. One day a gentleman
asked his tutor, "What boy is this?" "He is the son of Richard Henry Lee, of America," the
tutor replied. The gentleman put his hand on the boy's head, and said,

" We shall yet see your
father's head upon Tower Hill." The boy instantly answered,

" You may have it when you can get
ft." That boy was the late Ludwell Lee, Esq.

1 On the 10th of May, Congress had, by resolution, recommended the establishment of independ-
ent State governments in all the colonies. This, however, was not sufficiently national to suit tho
bolder and wiser members of that body, and the people at large. Lee's resolution more fully

expressed the popular will.
* Thomas Jefferson, of Virginia ;

John Adams
:
of Massachusetts

; Benjamin Franklin, of Penn-
sylvania ; Roger Sherman, of Connecticut

;
and Robert R. Livingston, of New York. Mr. Lee was

summoned home to the bedside of a sick wife, on the day before the appointment of the commute*
or he would doubtless have been its chairman.
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up a declaration in accordance with the resolution, and were instructed to report
on the same day when the latter should be called up. Thomas Jefferson, of

Yirginia, the youngest member of the committee, was chosen its chairman, and

to him was assigned the task of preparing the Declaration. Adams and Frank-

lin made a few alterations in his draft, and it was submitted to Congress at the

rflame hour when Mr. Lee's resolution was taken up for consideration. On the

following day [July 2], the resolution was adopted by a large majority. The
Declaration was debated almost two days longer ;

and
finally, at about mid-day,

on the 4th of July, 1776, the representatives of thirteen colonies unanimously
declared them free and independent States, under the name of THE UXITED
STATES OF AMERICA. The Declaration, was signed, but with the name of

John Hancock only, and thus it first went forth to the world. It was
ordered to be written on parchment, and on the 2d of August following,
ihe names of all but two of the fifty-six signers

1 were placed upon it.

These two were added afterward. It had then been read to the army ;

3

at public meetings ;
from a hundred pulpits, and in all legislative halls in

the land, and everywhere awakened the warmest responses of approval.
Pursuant to instructions, General Howe proceeded toward New York, to

meet General Clinton and Parker's fleet. He left Halifax on the llth of June,

[1776], and arrived at Sandy Hook3 on the 29th. On the 2d of July he took

possession of Staten Island, where he was joined by Sir Henry Clinton [July

11], from the South,
4 and his brother, Admiral Lord Howe [July 12], with a

fleet and a large land force, from England. Before the first of August, other

vessels arrived with a part of the Hessian troops,
5 and on that day. almost thirty

thousand soldiers, many of them tried veterans, stood ready to fall upon the

republican army of seventeen thousand men," mostly militia, which lay
intrenched in New York and vicinity, less than a dozen miles distant.

7 The

1 This document, containing the autographs of those venerated fathers of our republic, is care-

fully preserved in a glass case, in the rooms of the National Institute at Washington city. Not one
of all that band of patriots now survives. Charles Carrol was the last to leave us. He departed in

1832, at the age of ninety years. See Supplement. It is worthy of remembrance that not one of all

those signers of the Declaration of Independence, died with a tarnished reputation. The memory
of all, is sweet.

9
Washington caused it to be read at the head of each brigade of the army, then in New York

city, on the 9th of July. That night, citizens and soldiers pulled down the leaden equestrian statue

of George III., which stood in the Bowling Green, and it was soon afterward converted into bullets

for the use of the Continental army. The statue was gilded. The head of the horse was toward
ithe Hudson River. The Rev. Zachariah Greene, who died at Hempstead, Long Island, in June,

1858, at the age of 99 years', heard the Declaration read to the soldiers. He was in the army.
8
Sandy Hook is a low ridge of sand, extending several miles down the New Jersey shore, from

the entrance to Raritan or Amboy Bay. Between it and the shore, the water is navigable ;
and

inear the- mouth of Shrewsbury River, the ridge is broken by an inlet
*
Page 249.

6
Page 246.

* There were about twenty-seven thousand men enrolled, but not more than seventeen thousand

men were fit for duty. A great many were sick, and a large number were without arms.
'
Many of the ships passed through the Narrows, and anchored in New York Bay. Howe's

flag-ship, the Eagle, lay near Governor's Island. While in that position, a bold soldier went in a

submarine vessel, with a machine for blowing up a ship, and endeavored to fasten it to the bottom

of the Eagle, but failed. He was discovered, and barely escaped. An explosion of the machine

.took place near the Eagle, and the commander was so alarmed, that she was hastily moved further

down the Bay. This machine was constructed by David BushneU, of Connecticut, and was called a

torpedo. See Note 2, page 285
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grand object in view was the seizure of New York and the country along

the Hudson, so as to keep open a communication with Canada, separate the

patriots of New England from those of the other States, and to overrun the most

populous portion of the revolted colonies. This was the military plan, arranged

by ministers. They had also prepared instructions to their commanding generals,

to be pacific, if the Americans appeared disposed to submit. Lord Howe 1

and

his brother, the general, were commissioned to
"
grant pardon to all who deserved

mercy," and to treat for peace, but only on terms of absolute submission on the

part of the colonies, to the will of the king and parliament. After making a

foolish display of arrogance and weakness, in addressing General Washington
as a private gentleman,

2
and being assured that the Americans had been guilty

of no offense requiring a "
pardon" at their hands, they prepared to strike an

immediate and effective blow. The British army was accordingly put in motion

on the morning of the 22d of August [1776], and during that day, ten

thousand effective men, and forty pieces of cannon, were landed on the west-

ern end of Long Island, between the present Fort Hamilton and Gravesend

village.

Already detachments of Americans under General

Sullivan, occupied a fortified camp at Brooklyn,

opposite New York, and guarded seven passes on a

range of hills which extend from the Narrows to the

village of Jamaica.
3 When intelligence of the landing

of the invading army reached Washington, he sent

General Putnam,
4
with large reinforcements, to take

the chief command on Long Island, and to prepare to

meet the enemy. The American troops on the island

now [August 26], numbered about five thousand. GENERAL PUTNAM.

The British moved in three divisions. The left,

under General Grant, marched along the shore toward Gowanus
;
the right,

under Clinton and Cornwallis, toward the interior of the island
;
and the cen-

ter, composed chiefly of Hessians,
5 under De Heister, marched up the Flatbush

road, south of the hills.

Clinton moved under cover of night, and before dawn on the morning of

I

Richard, Earl Howe, was brother of the young Lord Howe [page 197], killed at Ticonderoga,.
He was born in 1725, and died in 1799.

II The letters of Lord Howe to the American commander-in-chief, were addressed,
"
George

Washington, Esq." As that did not express the public character of the chief, and as he would not

confer with the enemies of his country in a private capacity, Washington refused to receive the

letters. Howe was instructed not to acknowledge the authority of Congress in any way, and as

Washington had received his commission from that body, to address him as "
general," would have

been a recognition of its authority. He meant no disrespect to Washington. Congress, by resolu-

tion, expressed its approbation of Washington's dignified course.
s General Nathaniel Green had been placed in command of this division, but having been pros-

trated by bilious fever, about a week before the landing of the British at the Narrows, Sullivan was

placed at the head of the troops.
4

Israel Putnam was born in Salem, Massaehusetts, in 1718. He was a very useful officer

during the French and Indian war, and was in active service in the continental army, until 1779,
when bodily infirmity compelled him to retire. He died in 1790, at the age of seventy-two years.

6

Page 246.
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the 27th, "he had gained possession of the Jamaica

pass, near the present East New York. At the

same time, Grant was pressing forward along tbo

shore of New York Bay, and at day-break, he

encountered Lord Stirling,
1 where the monuments

of Greenwood cemetery now dot the hills. De
Heister advanced from Flatbush at the same hour,

and attacked Sullivan, who, having no suspicions
BATTLE OF LONG ISLAND. of the movements of Clinton, was watching the

Flatbush Pass. A bloody conflict ensued, and while it was progressing,

Clinton descended from the wooded hills, by the way of Bedford, to gain Sul-

livan's rear. As soon as the latter perceived his peril, he ordered a retreat

to the American lines at Brooklyn. It was too late; Clinton drove him back

upon the Hessian bayonets, and after fighting desperately, hand to hand, with

the foe in front and rear, and losing a greater portion of his men, Sullivan was

compelled to surrender.

As usual, misfortunes did not come single. While these disasters \\ere

occurring on the left, Cornwallis descended the port-road to Gowanus, and

attacked Stirling. They fought desperately, until Stirling was made prisoner.
1

Many of his troops were drowned while endeavoring to escape across the Gow-

anus Creek, as the tide was rising; and a large number were captured. At

noon the victory for the British was complete. About five hundred Americans

were killed or wounded, and eleven hundred were made prisoners. These wero

soon suffering dreadful horrors hi prisons and prison- ships, at New York.

The British loss in killed, wounded, and prisoners, was three hundred and sixty-

seven.

It was with the deepest anguish thac Washington had viewed, from New

York, the destruction of his troops, yet he dared not weaken his power in the

city, by sending reinforcements to aid them. He crossed over on the following

morning [August 28], with Mifflin,
4 who had come down from the upper end

of York island with a thousand troops, and was gratified to find the enemy

encamped in front of Putnam's lines, and delaying an attack until the British

fleet should co-operate with him. This delay allowed Washington time to form

and execute a plan for the salvation of the remainder of the army, now too

weak to resist an assault with any hope of success. Under cover of a heavy

fog, which fell upon the hostile camps at midnight of the 2!)th, and continued

until the morning of the 30th, he silently withdrew them from the camp,* aud,

1 William Alexander, Lord Stirling, was a descendant of the Scotch earl of Stirling, mentioned
in note "2, page bU. He was born in the city of .New York, in 1720. He became attached to the

patriot cause, and was an active officer during the war. He died in 1783, aged fifty-seven years.
*
Stirling was sent immediately on board or the Eagle, Lord Howe's flag-ship.

3 Among the prisoners was General .Nathaniel Wooonull [Note 1, page ly8J, late president of

the provincial Congress ofNewYork. He was taken prisoner on the auth, and after being severely
wounded at the time, he was so neglected, that his injuries proved fatal in the course of a tew

days. His age was fifty-three. See Onderdonk's Revolutionary Incidents ofLong Island. 'Page 352.
5 During the night, a woman living near the present i'ulton Ferry, where the Americans

embarked, having become offended at some of the patriots, sent her negro servant to inform the
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unperceived by the British, they all crossed over to New York in safety, carry-

ing every thing with them but their heavy cannons. When the fog rolled away,

and the sunlight burst upon Brooklyn and New York, the last boat-load of

patriots
had reached the city shore. Mifflin, with his Pennsylvania battalion,

arid the remains of two broken Maryland regiments, formed the covering party.

Washington and his staff, who had been in the saddle all night, remained until

the last company had embarked. Surely, if
"
the stars in ;heir courses fought

against Sisera," in the time of Deborah,
1

the wings of the Cherubim of Mercy
and Hope were over the Americans on this occasion. Howe, who felt sure of

his prey, was greatly mortified, and prepared to make an immediate attack

upon New York, before the Americans should become reinforced, or should

escape from it.
3

Unfortunately for the cause of freedom, at that time, the troops under

Washington lacked that unity of feeling and moral stamina, so necessary for

the accomplishment of success in any struggle. Had patriotism prevailed in

every heart in the American army, it might have maintained its position in the

ity, and kept the British at bay. But there were a great many of merely
selfish men in the camp. Sectional differences

3
weakened the bond of union, and

immorality of every kind prevailed.
4

There was also a general spirit of insub-

ordination, and the disasters on Long Island disheartened the timid. Hundreds

deserted the cause, and went home. Never, during the long struggle of after

years, was the hopeful mind of Washington more .clouded by doubts, than

during the month of September, 1776. In the midst of the gloom and perplex-

ity, he called a council of war [Sept. 12th], and it was determined to send the

military stores to Dobbs' Ferry, a secure place twenty-two miles up the Hud-

son, and to retreat to and fortify Harlem Heights,
6
near the upper end of York

British of the movement. The negro fell into the hands of the Hessians. They could not under-

stand a word of his language, and detained him until so late in the morning that his information was
of no avail.

*

Judges, chapter v., verse 20.
a He ordered several vessels of war to sail around Long Island, and come down the Sound to

Flushing Bay, so as to cover the intended landing of the troops upon the main [page 258], in

"Westchester county. In the mean while, Howe made an overture for peace, supposing the late dis-

aster would disposa the Americans to listen eagerly to almost any proposition for reconciliation.

He parolled General Sullivan, and by him sent a verbal communication to Congress, suggesting a
committee for conference. It was appointed, and consisted of Dr Franklin, John Adams, and
Edward Rutledge. On the llth of September, they met Lord Howe at the house of Captain Billop,

on Staten Island, opposite Perth Amboy. The committee would treat only for independence, and
the conference had no practical result, except to widen the breach; When Howe spoke patron-

izingly of protection for the Americans, Dr. Franklin told him courteously, that the Americans were
not in need of British protection, for they were fully able to protect themselves.

3 The army, which at first consisted chiefly of New England people, had been reinforced by
others from New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Delaware, Maryland, and Virginia, all of them

jealous of their respective claims to precedence, and materially differing in their social habits.
4
Cotemporary writers give a sad picture of the army at this time. Among many of the sub-

ordinate officers, greed usurped the place of patriotism. Officers were elected on condition that i/noy

should throw their pay and rations into a joint stock for the benefit of a company ;
sunroons sole"

recommendations for furloughs, for able-bodied men, at sixpence each
;
and a captain vis cashiered

for stealing blankets from his soldiers. Men went out in squads to plunder from friend and foe, to

the disgrace of the army. Its appointments, too, were in a wretched condition. The surgeons'

department lacked instruments. According to a general return of fifteen regiments, there were not

more than sufficient instruments for one battalion. [See Washington's Letter to Congress, Sept.

24, 1776.]
*
These extend from the plain OP which the village of Harlem stands, about seven and a half

.7
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Island.
1

This was speedily accomplished; ^d when, on the 15th, a strong
detachment of the British army crossed the East River from Long Island, and

anded three miles above the town, at Kipps' Bay (now foot of Thirty-fourth-

street, East River), without much opposition,
2
the greater portion of the Amer-

icans were busy in fortifying their new camp on Harlem Heights.

The invading Britons formed a line almost across the island to Bloomingdale,
within two miles of the American intrenchments, just beyond the present Man-

hattanville, while the main army on Long Island was stationed at different

(points from Brooklyn to Flushing.
3 On the 16th, detachments of the belliger-

ents mat on Harlem plains, and a severe skirmish ensued. The Americans

were victorious, but their triumph cost the lives of two brave officers Colonel

Knowlton of Connecticut, and Major Leitch of Virginia. Yet the effect of the

\ ictory was inspiriting ;
and so faithfully did the patriots ply muscle and im-

plement, that before Howe could make ready to attack them, they had con-

structed double lines of intrenchments, and were prepared to defy him. At
once perceiving the inutility of attacking the Americans in front, he next en-

deavored to gain their rear. Leaving quite a strong force to keep possession

of the city
4

[Sept. 20], he sent three armed vessels up the Hudson to cut off

the communications of the Americans with New Jersey, while the great bulk

of his army (now reinforced by an arrival of fresh troops from England)
5 made

their way [Oct. 12] to a point in Westchester county," beyond the Harlem

River. When Washington perceived the designs of his en-

emy, he placed a garrison of almost three thousand men,
under Colonel Magaw, in Fort Washington,

7 and withdrew

the remainder of his army
8
to a position on the Bronx River,

in Westchester county, to oppose Howe, or retreat in safety

to the Hudson Highlands, if necessary. He established hia

FORT WASHINGTON, head-quarters at White Plains village, and there, on the 28th

miles from the City Hall, New York to Two Hundred and Sixth-street, near King's Bridge, at the

upper end of the island.
* Also called Manhattaa See note 1, page 48.

2 Some Connecticut troops, frightened by the number and martial appearance of the British,
fled at their approach. "Washington, then at Harlem, heard the cannonade, leaped into his saddle,
and approached Kipp's Bay in time to meet the flying fugitives. Mortified by this exhibition of
cowardice before the enemy, the commander-in-chief tried to rally them, and in that effort, he wag
so unmindful of himself, that he came near being captured.

3
Wishing to ascertain the exact condition of the British army, "Washington engaged Captain

Nbthan Hale, of Knowlton's regiment, to secretly visit their camps on Long Island, and make
observations. He was caught, taken to Howe's head-quarters, Turtle Bay, New York, and exe-
cuted as a spy by the brutal provost-marshal, Cunningham. He was not allowed to have a Bible
nor clergyman during his last hours, nor to send letters to his friends. His fate and Andres [page
326] have been compared. For particulars of this affair, see Onderdonk's Revolutionary Incidents

ofLong Island, etc., and Lossing's Pictorial Field-Book of the Revolution.
* At one o'clock on the morning of the 21st, a fire broke out in a small groggery near the foot

of Broad-street, and before it was extinguished, about five hundred buildings were destroyed. The
British charged the fire upon the Americans. Although such incendiarism had been contemplated
when the Americans found themselves compelled to evacuate the city, this was purely accidental

* The whole British army now numbered about 35,000 men.

Throg's Neck, sixteen miles from the city.
7 Fort Washington was erected early in 1776, upon +he highest ground on York Island, ten

miles from the city, between One Hundred and Eighty-first-street and One Hundred and Eighty-
Bixth-streets, and overlooking both the Hudson and Harlem Rivers. There were a few traces of

its embankments yet visible so late as 1856.
*
Nominally, nineteen thousand men, but actually effective, not more than half that number.
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of October, a severe engagement took place.
1 The Americans were driven from

their position, and three days afterward [Nov. 1, 1776], formed a strong camp
on the hills of North Castle, five miles further north. The British general

was afraid to pursue them
;
and after strengthening the post at Peekskill, at

the lower entrance to the Highlands, and securing the vantage-ground at North

Castle/ Washington crossed the Hudson [Nov. 12] with the main bodj of his

army, and joined General Greene at Fort Lee, on the Jersey shore, about two

miles south of Fort Washington. This movement was made on account of an

apparent preparation by the British to invade New Jersey and march upon

Philadelphia, where the Congress was in session.
8

General Knyphausan and a large body of Hessians* had arrived at New

York, and joined the British army at Westchester, previous to the engagement
at White Plains. After Washington had crossed the Hudson, these German

troops and a part of the English army, five thousand strong, proceeded to attack

Fort Washington. They were successful, but at a cost to the victors of full one

thousand brave men. 5 More than two thousand Americans were made prison-

ers of war [Nov. 16], and like their fellow-captives on Long Island,
8

they were

crowded into loathsome prisons and prison-ships.
7 Two days afterward [Nov.

18], Lord Cornwallis, with six thousand men, crossed the Hudson at Dobbs'

Ferry, and took possession of Fort Lee, which the Americans had abandoned

on his approach, leaving all the baggage and military stores behind them.

During the siege, General Washington, with Putnam, Greene, and Mercer,

ascended the heights, and from the abandoned mansion of Roger Morris,
8
sur-

veyed the scene of operations. Within fifteen minutes after they had left that

mansion, Colonel Stirling, of the British army, who had just repulsed an

I The combatants lost about an equal number of men not more than three hundred each in

killed, wounded, and prisoners.
II General Heath was left in command in the Highlands, and General Lee at North Castle.

Page 250. That body afterward adjourned to Baltimore, in Maryland. See page 262.

Page 246.

The loss of the Americans, in killed and wounded, did not exceed one hundred.

Page 254.

Nothing could exceed the horrors of these

crowded prisons, as described by an eye-witness.
The sugar-houses of New York being large, were
ased for the purpose, and therein scores suffered and
died. But the most terrible scenes occurred on
board several old hulks, which were anchored in the

waters around New York, and used for prisoners. Of
them the Jersey was the most notorious for the suf-

ferings it contained, and the brutality of its officers.

Prom these vessels, anchored near the present Navy THE JERSEY PRISON-SHIP.

Yard, at Brooklyn, almost eleven thousand victims
were carried ashore during the war, and buried in shallow graves in the sand. Their remains were
gathered in 1808, and put in a vault situated near the termination of Front-street and Hudson-

avenue, Brooklyn. See Onderdonk's Revolutionary Incidents of Long Island, Lossing's Fidd Book,
supplement.

8 That mansion, elegant even now [1883], is standing on the high bank of the Harlem River,
at One Hundred and Sixty-ninth-street. Roger Morris was Washington's companion-in-arms on
the field where Braddock was defeated, and he had married Mary Philhpse, a young lady whose
charms had captivated the heart of Washington when he was a young Virginia colonel. It was
*.he property of Madame Jumel (widow of Aaron Burr, who was Vice-President of the United

States, under Jefferson), at the time of her death in 1865. It now [Idd3] belongs to Nelson Chase,



260 THE REVOLUTION. [1776.

American party, came with his victoric j troops, and took possession of it. It

was a narrow escape for those chief commanders.

A melancholy and a brilliant chapter in the history of the war for Inde-

pendence, was now opened. For three weeks Washington, with his shattered

and daily diminishing army, was flying before an overwhelming force of Brit-

ons. Scarcely three thousand troops now remained in the American army.

Newark, New Brunswick, Princeton, and Trenton, successively fell into the

power of Cornwallis. So close were the British vanguards upon the rear of the

Americans, sometimes, that each could hear the music of the other. Day after

day, the militia left the army as their terms of enlistment expired, for late

reverses had sadly dispirited them, and many ofthe regulars
1

deserted. Loyalists

were swarming all over the country through which they passed,
2
and when, on

the 7th of December, Washington reached the frozen banks of the Delaware, at

Trenton, he had less than three thousand men, most of them wretchedly clad,

half famished, and without tents to shelter them from the biting winter air.

On the 8th that remnant of an army crossed the Delaware in boats, just as one

division of Cornwallis' s pursuing army marched into Trenton with all the pomp
of victors, and sat down, almost in despair, upon the Pennsylvania s^iore.

Washington had hoped to make a stand at New Brunswick, but was disap-

pointed. The services of the Jersey and Maryland brigades expired on the day
when he left that place, and neither of them would remain any longer in the

army. During his flight, Washington had sent repeated messages to General

Lee,
3

urging him to leave North Castle,
4 and reinforce him. That officer, am-

bitious as he was impetuous and brave, hoping to strike a blow against the

British that might give himself personal renown, was so tardy in his obedience,

that he did not enter New Jersey until the Americans had crossed the Dela-

ware. He had repeatedly, but in vain, importuned General Heath, who was

left in command at Peekskill, to let him have a detachment of one or two thou-

sand men, with which to operate. His tardiness in obedience, cost him his

liberty. Soon after entering New Jersey, he was made a prisoner [December

1 Note 6, page 185.
" General Howe had sent out proclamations through the country, offering pardon and protection

to all who might ask for mercy. Perceiving the disasters to the American arms during the summer
nd autumn, great numbers took advantage of these promises, and signed petitions. They soon

found that protection did not follow pardon, for the Hessian troops, in their march through New
Jersey, committed great excesses, without inquiring whether their victims were Whigs or Tories.

Note 4, page 226. Among the prominent men who espoused the republican cause, and now aban-
doned it, was Tucker, president of the New Jersey Convention, which had sanctioned the Declara-
tion of Independence, and Joseph Galloway, a member of the first Continental Congress. These,
and other prominent recusants, received some hard hits in the public prints. A writer in the Penn-

sylvania Journal, of February 5, 1777, thus castigated Galloway:

"
(rall'way has fled, and join'd the venal Howe,
To prove his baseness, see him cringe and bow;
A t aitor to his country and its laws,
A friend to tyrants and their cursed cinse.

Unhappy wretch ! thy interest must be sold
For Continanttil, not for polish' d sold.
To sink the money thou thyself cried down,
And stabb'd thy country to support the crown. 1*

* Note 4, page 185. Page 259
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13, 1776], and his command devolved upon General Sullivan.
1 At about the

same time intelligence reached the chief that a British squadron, under Sir

Peter Parker (who, as we have seen [page 247], was defeated at Charleston),
had sailed into Narraganset Bay [December 8th], taken possession of Rhode

Island, and blockaded the little American fleet, under Commodore Hopkins,'"

then lying near Providence. This intelligence, and a knowledge of the failure

of operations on Lake Champlain,
3

coupled with the sad condition of the main

army of patriots, made the future appear gloomy indeed.
4

It was fortunate for the patriot cause that General Howe was excessively
cautious and indolent. Instead of allowing Cornwallis to construct boats,

5

cross

the Delaware at once, overwhelm the patriots, and push on to Philadelphia, as

he might have done, he ordered him to await the freezing of the waters, so as

to cross on the ice. He was also directed to place four thousand German troops

in cantonments along the Jersey shore of the river, from Trenton to Burling-

ton, and to occupy Princeton and New Brunswick with strong British detach-

ments. Both Congress and Washington profited by this delay. Measures for

re-organizing the army, already planned, were put in operation. A loan of five

millions of dollars, in hard money, with which to pay the troops, was author-

ized. By the offer of liberal bounties, and the influence of a stirring appeal

put forth by Congress, recruits immediately flocked to Washington's standard

at Newtown. 7 Almost simultaneously, Lee's detachment under Sullivan, and

another from Ticonderoga,
8

joined him
;
and on the 24th of December he found

himself in command of almost five thousand effective troops, many of them fresh

and hopeful.* And the increased pay of officers, the proffered bounties to the

1 Both Sullivan and Stirling, who were made prisoners on Long Island [page 254], had been

exchanged, and were now again with the army. Lee was captured at Baskingridge, where Lord

Stirling resided, and remained a prisoner until May, 1778, when he was exchanged for General

Prescott, who was captured on Rhode Island. See page 271. a Note 1, page 307.
1 General Gates was appointed to the command of the army at the north, after the death of

General Thomas [note 2, page 243] ;
and during the summer and autumn of 1776, Colonel Arnold

became a sort of commodore, and commanded flotillas of small vessels in warfare with others pre-

pared by General Carleton (the British commander in Canada), on Lake Champlain. He had two
severe engagements (llth and 13th of October), in which he lost about ninety men; the British

about forty. These operations were disastrous, yet they resulted in preventing the British forces in

Canada uniting with those in New York, and were thus of vast importance.
4
Although the Americans bar* generally suffered defeats, they had been quite successful in.

making captives. The number of Americans taken by the British, up to the close of 1776, was
four thousand, eight hundred and fifty-four ;

the number of British taken by the Americans, was
two thousand, eight hundred and sixty. In addition to men, the Americans had lost twelve brass

cannons and mortars, and two hundred and thirty-five made of iron
; twenty-three thousand, nine

hundred and seventy-nine empty shells, and seventeen thousand, one hundred and twenty-two
filled; two thousand six hundred and eighty-four double-headed shot : a large quantity of grape-

shot; two thousand eight hundred muskets: four hundred thousand cartridges ;
sixteen barrels of

powder ;
five hundred intrenching tools

;
two hundred barrows and other instruments, and a large

quantity of provis
:ons and stores.

6 The Americans took every boat they could find at Trenton, and cautiously moved them out
of the river after they had crossed.

* Each soldier was to have a bounty of twenty dollars, besides an allotment of land at the close

of the war. A common soldier was to have one hundred acres, and a colonel five hundred. These
were given to those only who enlisted to serve "

during the war."
7 A small village north of Bristol, about two miles from the Delaware.

8
Pago S34.

9

According to the adjutant's return to Washington on the 22d of Per>eir>ber, the American
wmy numbered ten thousand one hundred and six men, of whom five thousand tbr^e hundred and

ubiety-nine were sick, on command elsewhere, or on furlough, leaving an. eJ'ective force of four

thousand seven hundred and seven.
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soldiers, and the great personal influence of the commander-in-chief, had the

effect to retain in the service, for a few weeks at least, more than one half of the

old soldiers.

There were about fifteen hundred Hessians.
1 and a troop of British light

horse, at Trenton, and these Washington determined to surprise. The British

commanders looked with such contempt upon the American troops the mere

ghost of an army and were so certain of an easy victory heyond the Delaware,

where, rumor affirmed, the people were almost unanimous in favor of the

king, that vigilance was neglected. So confident were they that the contest

would be ended by taking possession of Philadelphia, that Cornwallis actually

returned to New York, to prepare to sail for England ! And when Rail, the

commander of the Hessians at Trenton, applied to General Grant for a rein-

forcement, that officer said to the messenger,
' ' Tell the colonel he is very safe.

I will undertake to keep the peace in New Jersey, with a corporal's guard."
How they mistook the character of Washington ! During all the gloom of the

past month, hope had beamed brightly upon the heart of the commander-in-

chief. Although Congress had adjourned to Baltimore
2

[December 12, 1776],
and the public mind was filled with despondency, his reliance upon Providence

in a cause so just, was never shaken
;
and his great soul conceived, and his

ready hand planned a bold stroke for deliverance. The Christmas holiday was

at hand a day when Germans, especially, indulge in convivial pleasures. Not

doubting the Hessians would pass the day in sports and drinking, he resolved

to profit by their condition, by falling suddenly upon them while they were in

deep slumber after a day and night of carousal. His plan was to cross the

Delaware in three divisions, one a few miles above Trenton, another a few miles

below, and a third at Bristol to attack Count Donop
3
at Burlington. Small

parties were also to attack the British posts at Mount Holly, Black Horse, and

l^ordentown, at the same time.

On the evening of Christmas day [1776], Washington gathered twenty-
four hundred men, with some heavy artillery, at McConkey's Ferry,

eight or nine miles above Trenton.
4

They expected to cross, reach Trenton

at midnight, and take the Hessians by surprise. But the river was filled

with floating ice, and sleet and snow were falling fast. The passage was

made in flat-boats
;
and so difficult was the navigation, that it was almost four

o'clock in the morning [December 26] when the troops were mustered on

the Jersey shore. They were arranged in two divisions, commanded respec-

tively by Greene and Sullivan, and approached Trenton by separate roads.

The enterprise was eminently successful. Colonel Rail, the Hessian com-

mander, was yet indulging in dne at the end of a night spent in card-

:
Page 246.

Alarmed at the approach of the British, Congress thought it prudent to adjourn to Baltimore.

JL committee to represent that body was left in Philadelphia, to co-operate with the army. Congress
assembled at Baltimore on the 20th.

3
Page 276.

4
Taylorsville is the name of the little village at that place. The river there, now spanned by

w covered bridge, is about six hundred feet in width, and has a considerable current.



177G.J SECOND YEAB OF THE WAB FOB INDEPENDENCE. 263

BATTLE AT TRENTON.

playing,
when the Americans approached, a little after sunrise;

1

and whill

endeavoring to rally his affrighted troops, he fell, mortally wounded, in the

streets of Trenton. Between forty and fifty of

the Hessians were killed and fatally wounded,

and more than a thousand were made prisoners,

together with arms, ammunition, and stores.

Five hundred British cavalry barely escaped,

and fled to Bordentown. Generals Ewing and

Cadwalader, who commanded the other two

divisions, destined to attack the enemy below

Trenton, were unable to cross the river on account of the ice, to co-operate with

Washington. With a strong enemy so near as Burlington and Princeton, the com-

mander-in-chief thought it imprudent to remain on the Jersey shore, so with his

prisoners and booty he re-crossed the Delaware on the evening after his victory.

This was indeed a victory in more aspects than that of a skillful military

operation. The Germans under Dunop, on the river below, thoroughly

alarmed, fled into the interior. The Tories and pliant Whigs
2
were abashed

;

the friends of liberty, rising from the depths of despondency, stood erect in the

pride and strength of their principles ;
the prestige of the Hessian name, lately

so terrible, was broken, and the faltering militia, anxious for bounties and

honors, flocked to the victorious standard of Washington. Fourteen hundred

soldiers, chiefly of the eastern militia, whose terms of enlistment would expire

with the year, agreed to remain six weeks longer, on a promise to each of a

bounty of ten dollars. The military chest was not in a condition to permit him

to fulfill his promise, and he wrote to Robert Morris, the eminent financier of

the Revolution, for aid, and it was given. Fifty thousand dollars, in hard

money, were sent to the banks of the Delaware, in time to allow Washington
to fulfill his engagement.

3

The victory was also productive of more vigilant efforts on the part of the

1 Ball spent the night at the house of a loyalist, named Hunt. Just at dawn, a messenger,
sent by a Tory on the line of march of the patriots, caine in hot haste to the colonel. Excited

by wine, and intent upon his game, that officer thrust the note into his pocket. Like the

Theban polemarch, who, when he received dispatches relative to a conspiracy, refused to open
them, saying, "Business to-morrow," Hall did not look at the message, but continued his

amusement until the roll of the American's drum, and the crack of his rifle, fell upon his

dull ears, and called him to duty.
2 Note 4, page 226.

3 Then it was that Bobert Morris not only evinced his faith in the success of the patriot cause,
and nis own love of country, but he tested the strength of his credit and mercantile honor. The
sum was large, and the requirement seemed almost impossible to meet. Government credit was
low butcontidencein Bobert Morris was unbounded. On leaving his office, musing upon how he
should obtain the money, he met a wealthy Quaker, and said, "I want money for the use of the

army." "Bobert. what security canst thou give ?" asked the Quaker. "My note and my honor."

promptly replied Morris. "Thou shalt have it," as promptly responded the lender, who offered him
a considerable sum, and the next morning it was on its way to the camp of Washington. Robert
Morris was a native of England, where he was born in 1733. He came to America in 1744, and
became a merchant's clerk in Philadelphia. By the force of industry, energy, and a good character,
he arose to the station of one of the first merchants of his time. He was a signer of the Declaration
of Independence, and was active as a public financier, throughout the war. Toward its close

[1781], he was instrumental in establishing a national bank. After the war, he was a state legis-

lator, and Washington wished him to be his first Secretary of the Treasury, but he declined it. By
land speculations he lost his fortune, and died in comparative poverty, in May, 1806, when a littli

more than seventy years of age. See his portrait on next page.
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invaders. Believing the rebellion tp be at an end, and the Amei.can army
hopeless!j annihilated, when Washington, with his shivering, halt-starved

troops, fled across the Delaware, Cornwallis, as we have observed, had returned

to New York to embark for England. The contempt of the British for the

0?*7*t</'

"
rebels," was changed to respect and fear, and when intelligence of the affair

at Trenton reached Howe, he ordered Cornwallis back with reinforcements, to

gain the advantage lost. Congress, in the mean while, perceiving the necessity

of giving more power to the commander-in-chief, wisely clothed him [December

27] with all the puissance of a military dictator, for six months, and gave him

absolute control of all the operations of war, for that period.
1

This act waa

accomplished before that body could possibly have heard of the victory at Tren-

ton, for they were then in session in Baltimore.

Inspirited by his success at Trenton, the panic of the enemy, and their

retirement from the Delaware, Washington determined to recross that river,

and act on the offensive. He ordered General Heath, who was with quite a

1 When Congress adjourned on the 12th, to meet at Baltimore, almost equal powers were given
to Washington, but they were not then defined. Now they were so, by resolution. They wrote to

Washington, when they forwarded the resolution,
"
Happy is it for this country, that the general

of their forces can be safely intrusted with unlimited power, and neither personal security, liberty,
nor property, be in the least degree endangered thereby." At that time, Congress had given Gen-
eral Putnam almost unlimited command in Philadelphia. All munitions of war there, were placed
trader his control. He was also authorized to employ all private armed vessels in the Delaware, in

the defense of Philadelphia. See note 1, page 246.
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large body of New England troops at Peekskill,
1

to move into New Jersey
with his main force

;
and the new militia levies were directed to annoy the flank

and rear of the British detachments, and make frequent attacks upon their

outposts. In the mean while, he again crossed the Delaware [December 30th],

with his whole army, and took post at Trenton, while the British and German

troops were concentrating at Princeton, only ten miles distant. Such was the

position and the condition of the two armies at the close of the second year of

the War for Independence the memorable year when this great Republic of

the West was born.

CHAPTER TV

THIRD TEAR OP THE WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE. [1777.]

THE strange apathy of nations, like individuals, in times of great danger, or

frhen dearest interests depend upon the utmost vigilance and care, is a remark-

able phase in human character, and the records thereof appear as monstrous

anomalies upon the pages of history. Such was the case with the executive

and legislative power of the British nation during the momentous year of 1776,

when the eye of ordinary forecast could not fail to perceive that the integrity

of the realm was in imminent danger, and that the American colonies, the fair-

est jewels in the British crown, were likely to be lost forever. Such an apathy,

strange and profound, seemed to pervade the councils of the British Govern-

ment, even while the public mind of England was filled with the subject of the

American rebellion. Notwithstanding an army had been driven from one city
1

[March, 1776], a fleet expelled from another
3

[June], their colonies declared

independent
1

[July 4], and almost thirty thousand of their choice troops and

fierce hirelings had been defied and combatted
5

[August], Parliament did not

assemble until the last day of October, to deliberate on these important mat-

ters. Then the king, in his speech, congratulated them upon the success of the

royal troops in America, and assured them (but without the shadow of good
reason for the belief) that most of the continental powers entertained friendly

feelings toward Great Britain. During a dull session of six weeks, new sup-

plies for the American service were voted, while every conciliatory proposition

was rejected ;
and when Parliament adjourned, in December, to keep the

Christmas holidays, the members appeared to feel that their votes had crushed

the rebellion, and that, on their re-assembling in January, they would be in-

vited to join in a Te Deum" at St. Paul's, because of submission and peace in

1 On the east bank of the Hudson, at the entrance to the Highlands, forty-fiva miles from the

wty of New York. See page 270.
8
Page 247. s

Page 249.
4
Page 251.

B
Page 253.

* The Ta Deum Laudamus
(
We praise thee, God) is always chanted in churches in England,

and on the continent, after a great victory, great deliverance, etc. There is something revolting in
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America. At that very moment, -Washington was planning his brilliant

achievement on the banks of the Delaware.
1

In contrast with this apathy of the British Government, was the vigilance

and activity of the Continental Congress. Their perpetual session was one of

^f
:

^.^ perpetual labor. Early in the year [March. 1776], the

Secret Committee of that body had appointed Silas Deane,
1

a delegate from Connecticut, to proceed to France, as their

agent, with general powers to solicit the co-operation of

other governments. Even these remote colonists knew

that the claims of the king of England to the friendship

of the continental powers, was fallacious, and that France,

Spain, and Holland, the Prince of Orange, and even Cath-

SILAS DEANE. arine of Russia, and Pope Clement the Fourteenth (Gan-

ganelli), all of whom feared and hated England, instead of being friendly to

her, were anxious for a pretense to strike her fiercely, and humble her pride,

because of her potency in arms, her commerce, her diplomacy, and her strong

Protestantism. All of these spoke kindly to the American agent, and Deane

was successful in his embassy. He talked confidently, and by skillful manage-

ment, during the summer of 1776, he obtained fifteen thousand muskets from

the French arsenals, and abundant promises of men and money. And when the

Declaration of Independence had been made [July 4], Congress appointed a reg-

ular embassy
3

[Sept. 22, 1776], to the court of France, and finally sent agents

to other foreign courts. 4

They also planned, and finally executed measures for

strengthening the bond of union between the several colonies, already made

powerfully cohesive by common dangers and common hopes. Articles of Con-

federation, which formed the organic laws of the nation until the adoption of

this to the true Christian mind and heart. "War, except strictly defensive as a last extremity, is

always a monstrous injustice; and for its success in soddening God's fair earth with human blood,
men in epaulettes, their hands literally dripping with gore, will go into the temple dedicated to the

Prince of Peace, and there sing a Te Deum! 1

Page 261.
4

Silas Deane was born at Groton, in Connecticut, and was educated at Tale College. He waa
elected to the first Congress [page 228] hi 1774, and after being some tune abroad, as agent for the

Secret Committee, he was recalled, on account of alleged bad conduct. He published a defense of

his character in 1778, but he failed to reinstate himself in the public opinion. He went to England
toward the close of 1784, where he died in extreme poverty, in 1789.

8 The embassy consisted of Dr. Franklin, Silas Deane, and Arthur Lee. Franklin and Lee

joined Deane at Paris, at the middle of December, 1776. Lee had then been in Europe for some

time, as a sort of private agent of the Secret Committee. He made an arrangement with the French

king to send a large amount of arms, ammunition, and specie, to the colonists, but in such a way
that it would appear as a commercial transaction. The agent on the part of the French was

Beaumarchais, who assumed the commercial title of Roderique Hortales & Co., and Lee took the

name of Mary Johnson. This arrangement with the false and avaricious Beaumarchais, was a source

of great annoyance and actual loss to Congress in after years. What was a gratuity on the part of

the Frtnch government,- in the name of Hortales & Co., Beaumarchais afterward presented a claim

for, and actually received from Congress four hundred thousand dollars. Benjamin Franklin was
born in Boston, in 1706. He was a printer; worked at his trade in London

;
became eminent in

his business in Philadelphia; obtained a high position as a philosopher and statesman
;
was agent

in England for several colonies
;
was chief embassador for the United States in Europe during the

Revolution, and filled various official stations in the scientific and political world. He was one of

the most remarkable men that ever lived
; and, next to Washington, is the best known and most

revered of all Americans. He died in 1790, at the age of more than eighty-four years Arthur
lee was a brother of Richard Henry Lee [page 250], and was born in Virginia, in 1 7*u. He was
a fine scholar, and elegant writer. He died in 1782.

*
Holland, Spain, and Prussia.
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the Federal Constitution, were, after more than two years' consideration, ap-

proved by Congress, and produced vastly beneficial results during the remain*

der of the struggle.
1

Such, in brief, were the chief operations of the civil power of the revolted

colonies. Let us now turn to the military operations at the opening o^ ?., new

1 In July, 1775, Dr. Franklin submitted a plan of union to Congress. On the llth of June,

1776, a committee was appointed to draw up a plan. Their report was laid aside, and not called

up until April, 1777. From the 2d of October until the 15th of November following, the subject
was regularly debated two or three times a week, when thirteen Articles of Confederation wero

adopted. The substance was that the thirteen confederated States should be known as the United

States of America; that all engage in a reciprocal treaty of alliance and friendship, for mutual ad-

vantage, each to assist the other when help should be needed
;
that each State should have tha

right to regulate its own internal affairs; that no State should separately send or receive embassies,

begin any negotiations, contract engagements or alliances, or conclude treaties with any foreign

power, without the consent of the general Congress ;
that no public officer should be allowed to

accept any presents, emoluments, office, or title, from any foreign power, and that neither Con-

gress nor State governments should possess the power to confer any title of nobility ;
that none

of the States should have the right to form alliances among themselves, without the consent of

Congress; that they should not have the power to levy duties contrary to the enactments of Con-

gress; that no State should keep up a standing army or ships of war, in time of peace, beyond
the amount stipulated by Congress ;

that when any of the States should raise troops for the com-
mon defense, all the officers of the rank of colonel and under, should be appointed by the Legis-
lature of the State, and the superior officers by Congress ;

that all expenses of the war should be

paid out of the public treasury ;
that Congress alone should have the power to coin money ;

and
that Canada might at any time be admitted into the confederacy when she felt disposed. The last

clauses were explanatory of the power of certain govemmertal operations, and contained details

of the same. Such was the form of government which existed for several years. See Supplement
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year. Congress, we have observed, \ delegated all military power to Washing-
ton, and he used it with energy and discretion. We left him at Trenton, pre-

pared to act offensively or defensively, as circumstances should require. There

he was joined by some troops under Generals Mifflin and Cadwalader, who

came from Bordentown and Crosswicks, on the night of the 1st of January.
Yet with these, his effective force did not exceed five thousand men. Toward

the evening of the 2d of January, 1777, Cornwallis, with a strong force, ap-

proached from Princeton, and after some skirmishing, the two armies encamped
on either side of a small stream which runs through the town, within pistol-

shot of each other. Washington commenced intrenching his camp, and Corn-

wallis, expecting reinforcements in the morning, felt sure of his prey, and

deferred an attack for the night.

The situation of Washington and his little army was now perilous in the

extreme. A conflict with such an overwhelming force as was gathering,

appeared hopeless, and the Delaware becoming more obstructed by ice every

hour, rendered a retreat across it,
in the event of a surprise, almost impossible.

A retreat down the stream was equally perilous. An escape under cover of the

night, was the only chance of safety, but the ground was too soft to allow the

patriots to drag their heavy cannons with them
;
and could they withdraw unob-

served by the British sentinels, whose hourly cry could be heard from the

camp ? This was a question of deep moment, and there was no time for long
deliberation. A higher will than man's determined the matter. The Protector

of the righteous put forth his hand. While a council of war was in session,

toward midnight, the wind changed, and the ground was soon so hard frozen,

that there could be no difficulty in conveying away the cannons. Instantly all

was in activity in the American camp, while Cornwallis and his army were

soundly sleeping perhaps dreaming of the expected sure victory in the morn-

ing. Leaving a few to keep watch and feed the camp-fires, to allay suspicion.

Washington silently withdrew, with all his army, artillery, and baggage ; and

at dawn [January 3, 1777], he was in sight of Princeton, prepared to fall upon
Cornwallis's reserve there

a The British general had scarcely recovered from

his surprise and mortification, on seeing the deserted camp of the Americans,

when the distant booming of cannons, borne upon the keen winter air, fell

ominously upon his ears. Although it was mid-winter, he thought it was the

rumbling of distant thunder. The quick ear of General Erskine decided other-

wise, and he exclaimed, "To arms, general! Washington has out-generaled

us. Let us fly to the rescue at Princeton !" Erskine was right, for, at that

moment, Washington and the British reserve were combating.

Owing to the extreme roughness of the roads, Washington did not reach

Princeton as early as he expected, and instead of surprising the British, and

then pushing forward to capture or destroy the enemy's stores at New Bruns-

wick, he found a portion of the troops already on their march to join Corn-

1
Page 264.

a A brigade, under Lieutenant-colonel Mawhood, consisting of three regiments and three troops
of dragoons, were quartered there.
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BATTLE AT PRINCETON.

wallis at Trenton. A severe encounter occurred, when the American militia

giving way, the British, with a victorious shout, rushed forward, expecting tc

produce a general rout. At that moment Washington
advanced with a select corps, brought order out of con-

fusion, and leading on his troops with waving sword and

cheering voice, turned the tide of battle and achieved a

victory. The brave General Mercer,
1

while fighting at

the head of his men, was killed, and many other be-

loved officers were lost on that snowy battle-field.
2 Nor

was the conflict of that morning yet ended. When Corn-

wallis perceived the desertion of the American camp,
and heard the firing at Princeton, he hastened with a

greater portion of his troops, to the aid of his reserve,

and to secure his stores at New Brunswick. The Ameri-

cans, who had not slept, nor scarcely tasted food for

thirty-six hours, were compelled, just as the heat of the first battle was over, to

contest with fresh troops, or fly with the speed of strong men. Washington
chose the latter alternative, and when Cornwallis entered Princeton, not a.

; '

rebel" was to be found.
3

History has no parallel to offer to these events of

a few days. Frederic the Great of Prussia, one of the most renowned com-

manders of modern times, declared that the achievements of Washington and

his little band of compatriots, between the 25th of December and the 4th of

January following, were the most brilliant of any recorded in the annals of

military performances.

The Americans were too weak to attempt the capture of the British stores

at New Brunswick, so, with his fatigued troops Washington retreated rapidly
toward the hill country of East Jersey.

4
Allowing time only to refresh his

little army at Pluckemin, he pressed forward to Morristown, and there estab-

lished his winter quarters. But he did not sit down in idleness. After plant-

ing small cantonments
5

at different points from Princeton to the Hudson

Highlands, he sent out detachments to harass the thoroughly perplexed British.

These expeditions were conducted with so much skill and spirit, that on the first

1 Mercer's horse had been shot under him, and he was on foot at the head of his men, when a
British soldier felled him with a clubbed musket [note 4, page 236]. At first, the British believed

it to be Washington, and, with a shout, they cried,
" The rebel general is taken." Hugh Mercer

was a native of Scotland. He was a surgeon on the field of Culloden, and was practicing medicine

in Fredericksburg, Virginia, when the Revolution broke out. He was with Washington in the

French and Indian War. He was made commander of the flying camp in 1776, and at the time of

his death was about fifty-six years of age. The picture of a house in the corner of the map of the

battle at Princeton, is a representation of the house in which General Mercer died. It is yet [1867]

Bunding.
8 The chief of these were Colonels Haslett and Potter, Major Morris, and Captains Shippen,

Fleming and Neal. The loss of the Americans in this engagement, was about thirty, including the

officers above named.
3 We have mentioned, on page 210, the planetarium, at Princeton, constructed by David Ritten-

house. This excited the admiration of Cornwallis, and he intended to carry it away with him. It

is also said that Silas Deane [page 264] proposed to present this work of art to the French govern-

ment, as a bonus for its good will. Cornwallis was kept too busy in providing for his own safety,

while in Princeton, to allow him to rob the college of so great a treasure.
*
Page 160.

*
Permanent stations for small bodies of troops.
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of March, 1777, not a British n'or a Hessian soldier could be found in

New Jersey, except at New Brunswick and Amboy.
1

Those dreaded bat-

talions which, sixty days before, were all-powerful in New Jersey, and had

frightened the Continental Congress from Philadelphia, were now hemmed in

upon the Raritan, and able to act only on the defensive. Considering the

attending circumstances, this was a great triumph for the Americans. It

revived the martial spirit of the people, and the hopes of all good patriots ;
and

hundreds in New Jersey, who had been deceived by Howe's proclamation, and

had suffered Hessian brutality, openly espoused the Whig cause. Congress
had returned to Philadelphia,

2
and commenced its labors with renewed vigor.

It was almost the first of June before the main body of the two armies com-

menced the summer campaign. In the mean while, smaller detachments were

in motion at various points. A strong armament was sent up the Hudson, in

March, to destroy American stores at Peekskill, at the southern entrance to the

Highlands. The Americans there, under the command of General McDougal,

perceiving a defense of the property to be futile, set fire to the stores and

retreated to the hills in the rear. The British returned to New York the same

evening [March 23, 1777]. Almost a month afterward [April 13], Corn-

wallis went up the Raritan from New Brunswick, to surprise the Americans

under General Lincoln, at Boundbrook. The latter escaped, with difficulty,

after losing about sixty men and a part of his baggage. Toward the close of

April [April 25], Governor Tryon,
3
at the head of two thousand British and

Tories, went up Long Island Sound, landed at Compo [April 26], between

Norwalk and Fairfield, marched to Danbury, destroyed a large quantity of

stores belonging to the Americans, burned the town, and cruelly treated the

inhabitants. Perceiving the militia to be gathering in great numbers, he

retreated rapidly the next morning, by way of Ridgefield. Near that village,

he had some severe skirmishing with the militia under Generals Wooster,

Arnold,
4 and Silliman. Wooster was killed,

6 Arnold narrowly escaped, but

Silliman, keeping the field, harassed the British all the way to the coast. At

Compo, and while embarking, they were terribly galled by artillery under

Lamb. 8

Tryon lost almost three hundred men during this expedition, and

killed or wounded about half that number of Americans. His atrocities on that

1 The Americans went out in small companies, made sudden attacks upon pickets, out-posts,
and foraging parties, and in this way frightened the detachments of the enemy and drove them in

to the main body on the Raritan. At Springfield, a few miles from Elizabethtown. they
attacked a party of Hessians who were penetrating the country from Elizabethport [January 7,

1777], killed between forty and tifty of them, and drove the remainder in great cunt'usion back to

Staten Island. A larger foraging party was defeated near Somerset court house [January 2n] by
about five hundred New Jersey militia under General Dickinson

;
and Newark, Elizabethtown and

"Woodbridge, were taken possession of by the patriots.
2
Page 262. 3

Page 223.
4
Page 234. For his gallantry at Ridgefield, Congress ordered a horse, richly caparisoned, to

be presented to him.
6 David "Wooster was born in Stratford, Connecticut, in 1710. He was at Louisburg in 1745

fprge 137], became a captain in the British army, and was in the French and Indian War. He was

in Canada in the spring of 1776 [page 243], and gave promise of being one of the most efficient of

the American officers in the war for Independence. His loss, at such a critical period of the conflict;

was much deplored. The State of Connecticut erected a monument to his memory, in 1854.
6
Page 240.



1777.] THIRD TEAR OF THE WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE. 271

occasion were never forgotten nor forgiven. The name of Tryon will ever be

held in detestation by all lovers of justice and humanity. He had already,

while governor of North Carolina, been named by the Indians, The Great

Wolf, and in his marauding expeditions during the earlier years of the war

for Independence, his conduct confirmed the judgment of the Bed Men. We
shall meet him again.

The Americans did not always act upon the defensive : they were some-

times the aggressors. Toward the close of May [May 22, 1777], Colonel

Meigs, '/nth one hundred and seventy men, crossed Long Island Sound in whale-

boats, from Guilford, Connecticut, and at two o'clock in the morning of the 23d

of that month, attacked a British provision post at Sagg Harbor, near the

eastern extremity of Long Island. They burned a dozen vessels, and the store-

houses and contents, secured ninety prisoners, and reached Guilford at two

o'clock the next day, without losing a man of their own party. For this exploit,

Congress voted thanks to Colonel Meigs and his men, and a sword to the com-

mander. A little later in the season, an equally bold exploit was performed

on Rhode Island. On a dark night in July [July 10], Colonel William Bar-

ton, with a company of picked men, crossed Narraganset Bay in whale-boats,

in the midst of the British fleet, stole cautiously to the quarters of General

Prescott,
1

the British commander on Rhode Island, seized him while in bed,

and carried him in triumph across the bay to Warwick. There a carriage was

in waiting for him, and at sunrise he was under a strong guard at Providence.

From thence he was sent to the headquarters of Washington, at Middlebrook,

on the Raritan,
2 and was exchanged, in April, the next year, for General

Charles Lee. 3 For Colonel Barton's bravery, on that occasion, Congress voted

him an elegant sword, and he was promoted to the rank and pay of a colonel

in the continental army.
The American commander-in-chief continued his head quarters at Morris-

town until near the last of May. During the spring he had inoculated a large

portion of his troops for the small-pox ;

4
and when the leaves put forth, a fair

degree of health prevailed in his camp, and his army had increased by recruits,

to almost ten thousand men. He was prepared for action, offensive and defens-

ive
;
but the movements of the British perplexed him. Burgoyne was assem-

bling an army at St. John, on the Sorel,
5 and vicinity, preparatory to an

invasion of New York, by way of Lake Champlain, to achieve that darling

object of the British ministry, the occupation of the country on the Hudson.
4

1

Page 240. Prescott's quarters were at a house yet standing in 1870, a short distance above

Newport, and about a mile from the bay.
8 While on his way, his escort stopped at Lebanon, Connecticut, to dine. Prescott was a

morose, haughty, and violent-tempered man. At the table, a dish of succotash (beans and corn)
was brought to him. Not being accustomed to such food, he regarded it as an insult, and taking
the dish from the hands of the hostess, he strewed its contents upon the floor. Her husband being
informed of

it, flogged the general severely, with a horsewhip.
3 Note 4, page 248

;
also page 288.

4 The common practice of vaccination at the present day was then unknown in this country.

Indeed, the attention of Jenner, the father of the practice, had then just been turned to the subject.
It was practiced here a year after the close of the war. 6

Page 240.
6

Page 283.
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But whether Howe was preparing to 'co-operate with Burgoyne, or to make

another attempt to seize Philadelphia,
1

Washington could not determine. He

prepared for both events by stationing Arnold with a strong detachment on the

west side of the Delaware, concentrating a large force on the Hudson, and

moving the main body of his army to Middlebrook, within ten miles of the

British camp at New Brunswick.

Washington was not kept in suspense a great while. On the 12th of June

[1777], Howe passed over from New York, where he made his head quarters

during the winter, concentrated the main body of his army at New Brunswick,

and tried to draw Washington into an engagement by a feigned movement [June

14] toward the Delaware. The chief, perceiving the meaning of this movement,
and aware of his comparative strength, wisely remained in his strong position

at Middlebrook until Howe suddenly retreated [June 19], sent some of his

troops over to Staten Island [June 22], and appeared to be evacuating New

Jersey. This movement perplexed Washington. He was fairly deceived
;
and

ordering strong detachments in pursuit, he advanced several miles in the same

direction, with his whole army. Howe suddenly changed front [June 25], and

attempted to gain the rear of the Americans
; but, after Stirling's brigade had

maintained a severe skirmish with a corps under Cornwallis [June 26], the

Americans regained their camp without much loss. Five days afterward [June

30], the whole British army crossed over to Staten Island, and left New Jersey
in the complete possession of the patriots.

Washington now watched the movements of his enemy with great anxiety
and the utmost vigilance. It was evident that some bold stroke was about to be

attempted by the British. On the 12th of July, Burgoyne, who had been

moving steadily up Lake Champlain, with a powerful army, consisting of about

seven thousand British and German troops, and a large body of Canadians and

Indians, took possession of Crown Point and Ticonderoga,
2 and spread terror

over the whole North. At the same time the British fleet at New York took

such a position as induced the belief that it was about to pass up the Hudson

and co-operate with the victorious invader. Finally, Howe left General Clinton

in command at New York, and embarking on board the fleet with eighteen

thousand troops [July 23], he sailed for the Delaware. When Washington

comprehended this movement, he left a strong force on the Hudson, and with

the main body of his troops pushed forward to Philadelphia. There he was

saluted by a powerful ally, in the person of a stripling, less than twenty years

of age. He was a wealthy French nobleman, who, several months before, while

at a dinner with the Duke of Gloucester,
3 first heard of the struggle of the

Americans, their Declaration of Independence, and the preparations made to

crush them. His young soul was fired with aspirations to give them his aid;

and quitting the army, he hurried to Paris. Although he had just married

a young and beautiful
girl, and a bright career was opened for him in his own

1

Page 261. Pa?e 234.
1 The duke was the brother of the king of England, and at the time in question, was dining with,

lome French officers, in the old town of Mentz, in German7.
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country, he left all, and hastened to America in a vessel fitted out at lib

own expense. He offered his services to the Continental

Congress, and that body gave him the commission [July

31] of a major-general. Three days afterward [Aug. 3]

he was introduced to Washington at a public dinner : and

within less than forty days he was gallantly fighting

[September 11], as a volunteer, for freedom in America,

on the banks of the Brandywine. That young general was

the Marquis de LA FAYETTE/ whose name is forever

linked with that of Washington and Liberty.
GENERAL LA

The British fleet, with the army under Sir William Howe,
5
did not go up

the Delaware, as was anticipated, but ascended Chesapeake Bay and at it3

head, near the village of Elkton, in Maryland, the land forces disembarked

[Aug. 25], and marched toward Philadelphia. Washington had advanced be-

yond the Brandywine Creek, and took post a few miles from Wilmington.
Howe's superior force compelled him to fall back to the east side of the Brandy-

and at Chad's Ford, severalwine

miles above Wilmington, he made

a stand for the defense of Phila-

delphia. At that point, the Hes-

ians under Knyphausen
3
attacked

the left wing of the Americans

[Sept. 11, 1777], commanded by

Washington in person ;
while Howe

and Cornwallis, crossing the stream

several miles above, fell upon the

American right, under General

Sullivan, near the Birmingham

meeting-house.
4 The contest raged

fearfully during the whole day.

At night the shattered and defeated battalions of patriots retreated to

Chester, and the following day [Sept. 12] to Philadelphia. Many brave men
were killed or disabled on that sanguinary field. La Fayette was severely

wounded
;

5 and the patriots lost full twelve hundred men, killed, wounded, and

1 He was born on the 6th of September, 1757. He married the daughter of the Duke de

Noailles, a beautiful heiress, at the age of eighteen years. He first landed on the coast of South

Carolina, in Winyaw Bay, near Georgetown, and made a land journey to Philadelphia. His appli-
cation was not received at first, by the Continental Congress ,

but when his true character and

designs were known, they gave him a major-general's commission. He was afterward an active

patriot in his own country in many perilous scenes. He visited America in 1824-5 [page 453],
and died in 1334, at the age of seventy-seven years. The Baron de Kalb [page 316] and eleven

other French and Polish officers, came to America in La Fayette's vessel.
1 After the battle near Brooklyn [page 254], the king conferred the honor of knighthood upon

General William Howe, the commander-in-chief of the British forces in America. The ceremony
was performed by several of his officers, at his quarters in the Beekman House, Turtle Bay, East
River. *

Page 259.
4 This was a substantial Quaker meeting-house, situated a few miles from Chad's Ford, on the

road from Jefferis's Ford (where Howe and Cornwallis crossed) to Wilmington
6 A bullet passed through his leg. He was conveyed to Bethlehem, in Pennsylvania, where

IS

BATTLE AT THE BRANDYWINE.
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made prisoners. The British lost almost eight hundred. Washington failed

of success more on account of false intelligence, by which he was kept in igno-

rance of the approach of the British on his left, than by want of skill or force.
1

Washington did not remain idle in the Federal capital, but as soon as the

troops were rested, he crossed the Schuylkill, and proceeded to confront Howe,
who was making slow marches toward Philadelphia. They met [Sept. 16]

twenty miles west of that city, and some skirmishing ensued
;
but a heavy rain

prevented a general battle, and the Americans withdrew toward Reading.

General Wayne, in the mean while, was hanging upon the rear of the enemy
with about fifteen hundred men. On the night of the 20th, he was surprised

by a party of British and Hessians, under General Grey, near the Paoli Tav-

ern, and lost about three hundred of his party.
2 With the remainder he joined

Washington, then near Valley Forge, and vigilantly watching the movements

of Howe. As these indicated the intention of the British commander to attempt
the seizure of a large quantity of ammunition and military stores which the

Americans had collected at Reading, Washington abandoned Philadelphia, and

took position at Pottsgrove, thirty-five miles distant, to protect those indispens-

able materials for his army. Howe crossed the Schuylkill [Sept. 23, 1777],

near Norristown, and marched to the Federal city
3

[Sept. 26], without oppo-
sition. Congress fled at his approach, first to Lancaster [Sept. 27], and then to

York, where it assembled on the 30th, and continued its session until the fol-

lowing summer. The main body of the British army was encamped at Ger-

mantown, four miles from Philadelphia, and Howe prepared to make the latter

place his winter quarters.
4

Upon opposite sides of the Delaware, a few miles below Philadelphia, were

wo forts of considerable strength (Mifflin and Mercer), garrisoned by the

Americans. While the British army was marching from the Chesapeake
6
to

Philadelphia, the fleet had sailed around to the Delaware, and had approached
to the head of that bay. The forts commanded the river

;
and chevaux-de-

frise
9

just below them, completely obstructed it, so that the army in Philadel-

phia could obtain no supplies from the fleet. The possession of these forts was

the Moravian sisters nursed him during his confinement. Count Pulaski began his military career

iu the American army, on the field of Brandywine, where he commanded a troop of horse, and
after the battle he was appointed to the rank of Brigadier. He was slain at Savannah. See note

3, page 350.
1 The building seen in the corner of the map, is a view of the head quarters of Washington, yet

[1881] standing, a short distance from Chad's Ford.
8 The bodies of fifty-three Americans, found on the field the next morning, were

interred in one broad grave; and forty years afterward, the "
Republican Artillerists"

of Chester county, erected a neat marble monument over them. It stands in the

center of an inclosure which contains the ground consecrated by the burial of these

patriots.
8
Philadelphia, New York, and "Washington, have been, respectively, federal

cities, or cities where the Federal Congress of the United States assembled.
4 Note 2, page 285.

"
Page 273.

*
Chevaiux-de-frise are obstructions placed in river channels to prevent the pass-

age of vessels. They are generally made of a series of heavy timbers, pointed with

iron, and secured at an angle in a strong frame filled with stones, as seen in the

engraving. Figure A shows the position under water; figure B shows how the tim-

bers are arranged and the stones placed in them.
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important,
and on the 22d of October, they were attached by detachments sent

by Howe. Fort Mercer was assailed by two thousand Hessian grenadiers under

Count Donop.
1

They were repulsed by the garrison of less than five hundred

men, under Lieutenant-Colonel Christopher Greene, of Rhode Island, after los-

ino- their commander,
2
and almost four hundred soldiers. The garrison of Fort

Mifflin, under Lieutenant-Colonel Samuel Smith, also made a gallant defense,

but after a series of assaults by land and water, it was abandoned [Nov. 16,

1777], Two days afterward, Fort Mercer was also abandoned, and several

British ships sailed up to Philadelphia.
3

When Washington was informed of the weakened

condition of the British army, by the detachment of

these forces to attack the Delaware forts, he resolved

to assail the camp at Germantown. He had moved

down the Schuylkill to Skippack Creek [Sept. 25],

and from that point he marched, silently, on the even-

ing of the 3d of October [1777], toward the camp
of the enemy. He reached Chestnut Hill, beyond

Germantown, at dawn the following morning, and the
.

{ BATTLE AT GERMANTOWN.
attack soon commenced near there. Alter a severe

battle, which continued almost three hours, the patriots were repulsed, with a

loss, in killed, wounded, and prisoners, about equal to that at Brandywine.
4

The British lost only about six hundred. On the 19th, Howe broke up his

encampment at Germantown, and three weeks afterward, he proceeded to place

his whole army in winter quarters in Philadelphia. Washington retired to

his camp on Skippack Creek
;
and on the 29th of November, he prepared to

go into winter quarters at White Marsh, fourteen miles from Philadelphia.

Let us now turn for a while from these scenes of conflict and disaster in

which the beloved commander-in-chief was personally engaged, to the consider-

ation of important events which were transpiring on the waters and banks of

Lake Champlain and the Hudson River. Burgoyne, with more than ten

thousand men, invested Ticonderoga on the 2d of July. The fortress was gar-

risoned by General St. Clair, with only about three thousand men. Upon

1

Page 263.
9
Donop was terribly wounded, and taken to the house of a Quaker near by, where he expired

ihree days afterward. He was buried within the fort. A few years ago his bones were disinterred,
and his skull was taken possession of by a New Jersey physician.

8 In the defense of these forts, the Americans lost about three hundred men, and the enemy
almost double that number.

*
Washington felt certain of victory at the beginning of the battle. Just as it commenced, a

dense fog overspread the country ;
and through the inexperience of his troops, great confusion, in

their movements, was produced. A false rumor caused a panic among the Americans, just as

the British were about to fall back, and a general retreat and loss of victory was the result In

Germantown, a strong stone house is yet [1883] standing, which belonged to Judge Chew. This
a part of the enemy occupied, and from the windows fired with deadly effect upon the Ameri-
cans. No blame was attached to Washington for this defeat, when victory seemed easy and certain.

On the contrary, Congress, on the receipt of Washington's letter, describing the battle, passed a vote

of thanks to him for his
" wise and well-concerted attack upon the enemy's army near German-

town;" and "to the officers and soldiers of the army, for their brave exertions on that occasion." A.

medal was also ordered to be struck, and presented to Washington.
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Mount Independence, on the opposite side of the lake, was a small fortifica-

tion and a weak garrison.
1

These composed the entire

force, except some feeble detachments of militia, to op-

pose the invaders. On the approach of Burgoyne, St.

Clair
2

left his outworks, gathered his forces near the

fortress, and prepared for an assault
;
but when, on the

evening of the 5th, he saw the scarlet uniforms of the

British on the top of Mount Defiance,
3 and a battery of

heavy guns planted there,
4 more than five hundred feet

above the fort, he knew resistance would be vain. That
GENERAL ST. CLAIR. ,

, . . . -
,

. .

evening he sent his ammunition and stores up the lake

to Skenesborough,
6 and under cover of the darkness, silently crossed over to

Mount Independence, and commenced a retreat to Fort Edward,
6
the head-

quarters of General Schuyler, who was then in command of the northern army.
The retreating army would have been beyond the reach of pursuers by

dawn, had not their exit been discovered. Contrary to express orders, a build-

ing was fired on Mount Independence, and by its light their flight was discov-

ered by the enemy, and a strong party, consisting of the brigade of General

Fraser, and two Hessian corps under Riedesel, was immediately sent in pursuit.

At dawn, the British flag was waving over Ticonderoga ;
and a little after sun-

rise [July 7, 1777], the rear division of the flying Americans, under Colonel

Seth Warner,
7
were overtaken in Hubbardton, Vermont, and a severe engage-

ment followed. The patriots were defeated and dispersed, and the victors

returned to Ticonderoga.
8 Before sunset the same evening, a flotilla of British

vessels had overtaken and destroyed the Americans' stores which St. Clair had

sent up the lake, and also a large quantity at Skenesborough. The fragments
of St. Clair's army reached Fort Edward on the 12th, thoroughly dispirited.

Disaster had followed disaster in quick succession. Within a week, the Amer-

icans had lost almost two hundred pieces of artillery, and a large amount of

provisions and military stores.

1

During the previous years, the Americans constructed a picketed fort, or stockade [note 2,

page 183], on that eminence, built about three hundred huts or barracks, dug several wells, and

.placed batteries at different points. The remains of these are now [1883] everywhere visible on
Mount Independence. That eminence received this name because the troops took possession of it

on the 4th of July, 1776. Page 250.
9 Arthur St. Clair was a native of Scotland, and came to America with Admiral Boscawen, early

in May, 1755. He served under Wolfe [page 291] ;
and when the Revolution broke out, he en-

tered the American army. He served during the war, and afterward commanded an expedition

against the Indians in Ohio, where he was unsuccessful He died in 1818, at the age of eighty-four

years.
*
This is a hill about 750 feet in height, situated on the south-west side of the outlet of Lake

George, opposite Ticonderoga.
4 With immense labor, Burgoyne opened a road up the northern slope of Mount Defiance, and

dragged heavy artillery to the summit. From that point, every ball might be hurled within the

fort below without difficulty. The position of that road may yet [1883] be traced by the second

growth of trees on its line up the mountain.
6 Now Whitehall It was named after Philip Skene, who settled there in 1764. The narrow

part of Lake Champlain, from Ticonderoga to Whitehall, was formerly called Wood Creek (the name
of the stream that enters the lake at Whitehall), and also South River.

8
Page 188.

7
Page 232.

8 The Americans lost, in killed, wounded, and missing, a little more than three hundred
;
tha

British reported their loss at one hundred and eighty-three.
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The force under General Schuyler was very small, and even with this rein-

forcement by the fugitives from the lake, he had only about four thousand effect-

ive men a number totally inadequate to combat with those of Burgoyne. He
therefore sent a strong party toward Skenesborough to fell huge trees across

the roads, and to destroy all the bridges, so as to obstruct the march of the

invaders, while he slowly retreated down the Hudson valley to the mouth of the

Mohawk, and there established a fortified camp.
1 His call for aid was nobly

responded to, for the whole country was thoroughly aroused to a sense of peril.

Detachments were sent from the regular army to strengthen him
;
and soon

General Lincoln came with a large body of New England militia. "When

General Gates arrived, to take the chief command,
2
he found an army of thir-

teen thousand men, ready to meet the invader.

The progress of Burgoyne was slow, and he did not reach Fort Edward
until the 30th of July.

3 The obstructions ordered by Schuyler, and the de-

struction of the bridges, were great hinderances.
4

His army was also worn down

by fatigue, and his provisions were almost exhausted. To replenish his stores,

he sent five hundred Germans, Canadians, and Tories, and one hundred Indians,

under Colonel Baume, to seize provisions and cattle which the Americans had

collected at Bennington, thirty-five miles distant. Colonel John Stark had

called out the New Hampshire militia : and near Hoosick, within five miles of

Bennington, they met [Aug. 16J and defeated the marauders. And toward

evening, when another German party, under Colonel Breyman, approached,

they also were defeated by a continental force under Colonel Seth Warner.6

Many of the enemy were killed, and a large number were made prisoners. Bur-

goyne's entire loss, in this expedition, was almost a thousand men. The Amer-
icans had one hundred killed, and as many wounded. This defeat was fatal to

Burgoyne' s future operations
6 this victory was a day-star of hope to the

1 Thaddeus Kosciuszko, a Polish refugee, who came with Lafay-
ette [page 273], was now attached to Schuyler's army, as engineer.
Under his direction, the intrenchments at the mouth of the Mohawk
River, were constructed

; also, those at Stillwater and Saratoga, The

camp at the mouth of the Mohawk" was upon islands just below the

Great, or Cohoes' Falls.
a General Schuyler had superseded Gates in June, and had been

skillfully confronting Burgoyne. But Gates, seeing a chance for gain-

ing laurels, and having a strong party of friends in Congress, sought
the chief command of the northern army. It was ungenerously taken

trom Schuyler at the moment when, by great exertions and through
great hardships, he had a force prepared to confront Burgoyue, with
some prospect of success.

3
It was while Burgoyne was approaching that point, that Jane KOSCIUSZKO.

M'Crea, the betrothed of a young Tory in the British army, was shot,
while being conveyed by a party of Indians from Fort Edward to the British camp. Her death was

untruly charged upon the Indians, and it was made the subject of the most bitter denunciations of the

British ministers, for employing such cruel instrumentalities. Tho place of her death is a short dis-

tance from the village of Fort Edward. The pine-tree which marked the spot, decayed a few years

since, and in 1853, it was cut down, and converted into canes and boxes for the curious.
4

Burgoyne was obliged to construct forty bridges on the way, and to remove the many trees

which lay across the roads. To estimate the amount of fatigue which the troops must have endured

daring that hot month, it must be remembered that each soldier bore a weight of sixty pounds, in

arms, accoutrements, and supplies.
B

Paeres 234 and 240.
8

It dispirited his troops, who were worn down with the faflgue of the obstructed march from

Ckeaesborough to Fort Edward. It also caused a delay of a month at that place, and in the meaa
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Americans. Applause of the New Hampshire militia rang through the land,

and Stark was made a brigadier in tKe continental army.

During Burgoyne's approach, the Mohawk valley had become a scene of

great confusion and alarm. Colonel St. Leger and his

savages, joined by the Mohawk Indians, under Brant,
1

and a body of Tories, under Johnson2 and Butler, had

arrived from Oswego, and invested Fort Stanwix
x
on

the 3d of August [1777J. The garrison was com-

manded by Colonel Gansevoort, and made a spirited

defense. General Herkimer rallied the militia of his

neighborhood ;
and while marching to the assistance of

Gansevoort, he fell into an Indian ambuscade [Aug. 6]
at Oriskany.

3 His party was totally defeated, after a

bloody conflict, and himself was mortally wounded. On
the same day, a corps of the garrison, under Colonel

Willet, made a successful sortie,
4 and broke the power of the besiegers.

Arnold, who had been sent by Schuyler to the relief of the fort, soon afterward

approached, when the besiegers fled [Aug. 22], and quiet was restored to thb

Mohawk valley.

The disastrous events at Bennington and Fort Stan-

wix, and the straitened condition of his commissariat,

greatly perplexed Burgoyne. To retreat, advance, or

remain inactive, seemed equally perilous. With little

hope of reaching Albany, where he had boasted he would

eat his Christmas dinner, he crossed the Hudson and

formed a fortified camp on the hills and plains of Sara-

toga, now the site of Schuylerville. General Gates

advanced to Bemis's Heights, about four miles north of

JOSEPH BRANT.

GENERAL BURGOYNE.

while their provisions were rapidly diminishing. "While at Fort Edward, Burgoyne received intel-

ligence of the defeat of St. Leger at Fort Stanwix.
1

Joseph Brant was a Mohawk Indian, and a great favorite of Sir William Johnson. He ad-

hered to the British, and went to Canada after the war, where he died in 1807, aged sixty-five

years.
2

Sir William Johnson [page 190] (then dead) had been a sort of auto-

crat among the Indians and Tories in the Mohawk valley. He flattered

the chiefs in various ways, and through them he obtained almost un-

bounded influence over the tribes, especially that of the Mohawka He
was in the habit of giving those chiefs who pleased him, a diploma, certi-

fying their good character, and faithfulness to his majesty. These con-

tained a picture, representing a treaty council, of which the annexed

engraving is a copy. His family were the worst enemies of the Ameri-

cans during the war, in that region. His son, John, raised a regiment of

Tories, called the Johnson Greens (those who joined St. Leger) ;
and John

Butler, a cruel leader, was at the head of another band, called Butter's Rangers. These co-operated
with Brant, the great Mohawk sachem, and for years they made the Mohawk valley and vicinity

truly a " dark and bloody ground." These men were the allies of St. Leger on the occasion in

question.
* The place of the battle is about halfway between TJtica and Rome. The latter village is upon

the site of Fort Stanwix, built by Bradstreet and his troops in 1758 [page 197]. It was repaired

and garrisoned in 1776, and its name was changed to Fort Schuyler. Another Fort Schuyler was

built during the French and Indian Wax, where Utica now stands.
* Note 7, page 241

A TREATY.
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BEMIS'S HEIGHTS.

Stillwater (and twenty-five from Albany), and also formed a fortified camp.
1

Bur^oyne perceived the necessity for immediate operations, and advancing toward

the American camp, a severe but indecisive action

ensued, on the 19th of September [1777J. Night

terminated the conflict, and both parties claimed the

victory.
8

Burgoyne fell back to his camp, where he

resolved to await the arrival of expected detach-

ments from General Clinton, who was to attack the

posts on the Hudson Highlands, and force his way to

Albany.
3 But after waiting a few days, and hearing

nothing from Clinton, he prepared for another at-

tempt upon the Americans, for the militia were flock-

ing to Gates's camp, arid Indian warriors of the Six

NATIONS4 were gathering there. His own force, on

the contrary, was hourly diminishing. As his star, which arose so brightly at

Ticonderoga,
3
began to decline upon the Hudson, the Canadians and his Indian

allies deserted him in great numbers.
6 He was compelled to fight or flee.

Again he advanced
;
and after a severe battle of several hours, on the 7th of

October, and almost on the same ground occupied on the 19th of September, he

was compelled to fall back to the heights of Saratoga, and leave the patriots in

the possession of the field. Ten days afterward [October 17], finding only-

three days' provisions in his camp, hearing nothing of Clinton, and perceiving

retreat impossible, he was compelled to surrender his whole army prisoners of

war.
7 Of necessity, the forts upon Lake Champlain now fell into the hands of

the patriots.

1 The remains of some of the intreuchments were yet visible in 1850, when the writer visitecj

the locality.
* The number of Americans engaged in this action, was about two thousand five hundred

;
that

of the British was about three thousand. The former lost, in killed, wounded, and missing, three

hundred and nineteen; the British loss was rather less than five hundred. *
Page 283.

4
Page 25.

6
Page 276.

8 The Indians had been disappointed in their expectations of blood and plunder ;
and now was

their hunting season, when provisions must be secured for winter use. The Canadians saw nothing
but defeat in the future, and left the army in whole companies.

7 The whole number surrendered was five thousand seven hundred and ninety-one, ofwhom
two thousand four hundred and twelve were Germans or Hessians [page 183], under the cnief com-
mand of the Baron Riedesel, whose wife accompanied him, and afterward wrote a very interesting
account of her experience in America. Burgoyne did dine at Albany, but as a prisoner, though a

guest at the table of General Schuyler. That noble patriot, though smarting under the injustice of

Congress and the pride of Gates, did not abate his zeal for the good cause when he had surrendered

his command into the hands of his successor, bu<t, as a private citizen, gave his time, his labor, and
his money freely, until he saw the invader humbled

;
and then, notwithstanding Burgoyne, without

the show of a just excuse, had destroyed Schuyler's fine mansion, his mills, and much other prop-

erty, at Saratoga, he made the vanquished general a guest at his own table. "When Burgoyne said,

"You are very kind to one who has done you so much injury," the generous patriot replied, "That
was the fate of war

;
let us say no more about it." Burgoyne's troops laid down their arms upon

the plain in front of Schuylerville ;
and the meeting of the conqueror and the conquered, for the

latter to surrender his sword, was a very significant scene. The two came out of Gates's marquee
together. Without exchanging a word, Burgoyne, according to previous arrangement, stepped
back, drew his sword, and, in the presence of the two armies, presented it to General Gates. The
latter received it with a courteous inclination of the head, and instantly returned it to the vanquished
general. They then returned to the marquee together. The British filed off, and took up their lino

of march for Boston : and thus ended this important act in the great drama*, upon the heights ol

Saratoga. Burgoyne's troops were marched to Cambridge, Massachusetts, with the view of sending
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Glorious, indeed, was this victory for the Americans. It gave them a fine

train of brass artillery, five thousand muskets, and a vast amount of munitions

of war. Its moral effect was of greater importance. All eyes had been

anxiously turned to the army of the North, and Congress and the people

listened eagerly for every breath of rumor from Saratoga. How electric was

the effect when a shout of victory came from the camp of Gates I

1

It rolled

over the land, and was echoed from furrows, workshops, marts of commerce,

the halls of legislation, and from the shattered army of Washington at White-

marsh.
2

Toryism stood abashed
;
the bills of Congress rose twenty per cent, in

value
;

3

private capital came from its hiding-places for public employment ;
the

militia nocked to the standards of leaders, and the great patriot heart of Amer-

ica beat with strong pulsations of hope. The effect in Europe was also favor-

able to the Americans. The highest hopes of the British ministry rested on

this expedition, and the generalship of Burgoyne justified their expectations.

It was a most severe blow, and gave the opposition in Parliament the keenest

weapons. Pitt, leaning upon his crutches,
4

poured forth eloquent denunciations

[December, 1777] of the mode of warfare pursued the employment of German

hirelings
6 and brutal savages.

6 "If I were an American, as I am an English-

man," he exclaimed,
" while a foreign troop was landed in my country, I never

would lay down my arms never, never, never !" In the Lower House/

Burke, Fox, and Barre were equally severe upon the government. When, on

the 3d of December, the news of Burgoyne' s defeat reached London, the latter

arose in his place in the Commons,
8 and with a serene and solemn countenance,

asked Lord George Germain, the Secretary of War, what news he had received

by his last expresses from Quebec, and to say, upon his word of honor, what

had become of Burgoyne and his brave army. The haughty secretary was

irritated by the cool irony of the question, but was compalled to acknowledge
that the unhappy intelligence of Burgoyns's surrender had reached him. He

added,
" The intelligence needs confirmation." That confirmation was not

slow in reaching the ministry.

Mightily did this victory weigh in favor of the Americans, at the French

them to Europe, but Congress thought it proper to retain them, and they were marched to the

interior of Virginia. John Burgoyne was a natural son of Lord Bingley, and was quite eminent as

a dramatic author. On his return to England, he resumed his seat as a member of Parliament, and

opposed the war. He died hi 1792.
1 General Gates was so elated with the victory, which had been prepared for him by General

Schuyler, and won chiefly by the valor of Arnold and Morgan [page 331], that he neglected the

courtesy due to the commander-in-chief, and instead of sending his dispatches to him. he sent hi

aid, Colonel Wilkinson, with a verbal message to Congress. That body also forgot its dignity in

the hour of its joy. and the young officer was allowed to announce the victory himself, on the floor

of Congress. In his subsequent dispatches, Gates did not even mention the names of Arnold and

Morgan. History has vindicated their claims to the honor of the victory, and placed a just estimate

upon the ungenerous conduct of their commander. Congress voted a gold medal to Gates.
1
Page 275. * Note 3, page 245. * Note 1, page 231.

6 Note 3, page 246-
* A member justified the employment of the Indians, by saying that the British had a right to

use the means " whioh God and nature had given them." Pitt scornfully repeated the passage, and

eaid, "These abominable principles, and this most abominable avowal of them, demands most

decisive indignation. I call upon that right reverend bench (pointing to the bishops), those holy
ministers of the gospel, and pious pastors of the church I conjure them to join in the holy work,
and to vindicate the religion of their God." ' Note 2, page 218.

8 Note 2, page 218.
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court. Unaided by any foreign power, the Americans had defeated and cap-

tured a well-trained army of about six thousand men, led by experienced com-

manders.
"
Surely such a people possess the elements of success, and will achieve

it. We may now safely strike England a severe blow,
1

by acknowledging the

independence, and forming an alliance with her revolted colonies," argued the

French government. And so it did. Intelligence of the surrender of Bur-

goyne reached Paris on the 4th of December, 177T. King Louis then cast off all

disguise, and informed the American commissioners that the treaty of alliance

and commerce, already negotiated, would be ratified, and "that it was decided

to acknowledge the independence of the United States." Within a little more

than a hundred days after Burgoyne laid down his arms at Saratoga, France

had formed an alliance with the confederated States [Feb. 6, 1778], and pub-

licly avowed it. The French king, in the mean while, wrote to his uncle, the

king of Spain, urging his co-operation ; for, according to the family compact
of the Bourbons, made in 1761, the king of Spain was to be consulted before

such a treaty could be ratified.

While these events were in progress at Saratoga, General Clinton was

making hostile demonstrations upon the banks of the lower Hudson. He

attempted the concerted co-operation with Burgoyne, but he was too late for

success. He ascended the Hudson with a strong force, captured Forts Clinton

and Montgomery, in the Highlands
2

[October 6, 1777], and sent a marauding

expedition above these mountain barriers, to devastate the country [October

13], and endeavor to draw off some of the patriot troops from Saratoga.
3

These

marauders burned Kingston, and penetrated as far r,s Livingston's Manor, in

Columbia county. Informed of the surrender of Burgoyne, they hastily

retreated, and Clinton and his army returned to New York. Some of Gates'

troops now joined Washington at White Marsh,
4
and Howe made several

attempts to entice the chief from his encampment, but without success.
5

Finally

1 France rejoiced at the embarrassments of England, on account of her revolted colonies, and
from the beginning secretly favored the latter. She thought it inexpedient to aid the colonies

openly, until there appeared some chance for their success, yet arms and money were secretly pro-
vided [note 3, page 266], for a long time previous to the alliance. Her motives were not the

benevolent ones to aid the patriots, so much as a selfish desire to injure England for her own bene-

fit. The French king, in a letter to his uncle, of Spain, avowed the objects to be to
"
prevent the

union of the colonies with the mother country," and to
" form a beneficial alliance with them." A

Bourbon (the family of French kings) was never known to be an honest advocate of free principles.
1 These forts were situated on opposite sides of a stream which forms the dividing line

between Orange and Rockland counties. Fort Indpendence, near Peekskill, and Fort Constitution,

opposite West Point, were abandoned on his approach. Fort Putnam, at West Point, was not yet
erected.

8 While the garrison of the two forts (who escaped) were re-gathering, back of New Windsor, a
man from the British army was arrested on suspicion of being a spy. He was seen to swallow

something. An emetic brought it up, and it was discovered to be a hollow silver bullet, containing
a dispatch from Clinton to Burgoyne, written on thin paper. That bullet is yet in the family of

George Clinton, who was the first republican governor of New York. The dispatch was as

follows: '"Nous y void [Here we arc], and nothing between us and Gates. I sincerely hope this

little success of ours will facilitate your operations. In answer to your letter of the 28th of Sep-
tember, by C. C., I shall only say, I can not presume to order, or even advise, for reasons obvious.

I heartily wish you success. Faithfully yours, H. CLINTON." The prisoner was taken to Kingston,
and there hanged as a spy.

*
Page 275.

* Howe marched out to attack Washington on the 4th of December, expecting to take him by
surprise. A Quaker lady of Philadelphia, at whose house some British officers were quartered, had



284 THE REVOLUTION. [1773.

Washington moved from that position [December 11], and went into winter

quarters at Valley Forge, where he might easier afford protection to Congress
at York, and his stores at Reading.

1 The events of that encampment at Valle/-

Forge afford some of the gloomiest as well as some of the most brilliant scenes

in the records of American patriotism.

CHAPTER Y.

FOURTH TEAR OF THE WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE.

IF there is a spot on the face of our broad land wherein patriotism should

delight to pile its highest and most venerated monument, it should be in the

bosom of that rugged gorge on the bank of the Schuylkill, twenty miles north-

west from Philadelphia, known as Valley Forge, where the American army
was encamped during the terrible winter of ITTT-'TS." In all the world's hirf-

overheard them talking about this enterprise, gave "Washington timely information, and he was too

well prepared for Howe, to fear his menaces. After some skirmishes, in which several Americans
were lost, Howe returned to Philadelphia.

1

Page 274.
8 That was a winter of severe and protracted cold. The waters of New York Bay were so

firmly frozen, that the British took heavy cannons from the city to Staten Island, on the ice.
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ENCAMPMENT AT VALLEY FOE6E-

tory, we have no record of purer devotion, holier sincerity, or more pious self-

immolation, than was then and there exhibited in the camp of Washington.

Many of the soldiers had marched thither from Whitemarsh, bare-footed, and

left bloody foot-prints in the snow on their dreary

journey.
1

There, in the midst of frost and snow, half-

clad and scantily fed, they shivered in rude huts,

while the British army was indulging in comforts and

luxuries within a large city.
2 Yet that freezing and

starving army did not despair ;
nor did the com-

mander-in-chief, who shared their privations and suf-

fered injury at the hands of intriguing men,
3
lose con-

fidence in the patriotism of the people or his troops,

or doubt the wisdom of Providence.
4 The winter wore

away, and when the buds began to burst, a cheering

ray of glad tidings came from Europe. The intelli-

gence of the treaty of alliance with France,
5 was a

hopeful assurance of success, and when the news

spread through the camp, on the 1st of May [1778],
shouts loud and long shook the forests which shrouded the hills around Valley

Forge.
6

Nor was that a solitary gleam of hope. Light also emanated from the

1
Gordon, the historian, says, that while at "Washington's table in 1784, the chief informed him

that bloody foot-prints were everywhere visible in the course of their march of nineteen miles, from
Whitemarsh to Valley Forge.

a The power of t' e British army was much weakened by indulgence, during that winter. Prof-

ligacy begat disease, 3rime, and insubordination. The evil effects produced upon the army led Dr.

Franklin to say,
" Howe did not take Philadelphia Philadelphia took Howe." General Howe took

leave of the army in May, and the officers gave him a splendid farewell fete, which was called a

Hischianza, signifying a medley. For a full description, see Lossing's Field Book of the Revolution.

During their occupation of the city, the enemy v.ere annoyed by the patriots in various ways. In.

January, some Whigs at Bordentown, where Francis Hopkinson, one of the signers of the Declara-

tion of Independence, resided, sent a number of kegs down the Delaware, which were filled with

powder, ind furnished with machinery, in such a manner, that on rubbing against any object in the

stream, they would explode. Thesa were the torpedoes invented by Bushnell of Connecticut,

already mentioned on page 252. The British vessels, hauled into the docks to keep clear of the ice,

escaped receiving any injury from these missiles. One of them exploded near the city, and pro-
duced intense alarm. Not a stick or a chip was seen floating, for twenty-four hours afterward, but
it was fired at by the British. This circumstance afforded the theme for that remarkable poem from
the pen of Hopkinson, entitled The Battle of the Kegs. Hopkinson [see page 284] was a native of

Philadelphia and married and settled in Bordentown, New Jersey. He was an elegant writer, a

great wit, a good musician, and a thorough-bred gentleman. He was a warm and active patriot,

became eminent as a jurist after the war, and died in 1791, at the age of forty-seven years. His
son, Joseph Hopkinson, was the author of our national song, Hnil Columbia.

3

During this season a scheme was formed among a few officers of the army, and members of

Congress, for depriving Washington of his command, and giving it to Gates or Lee. Both of these

ambitious men sought the honor, and the former was fully identified with the clandestine move-
ments toward that end. One of the chief actors in the plot, who was more the instrument of others

than a voluntary and independent schemer, was General Conway, an Irishman, who belonged to tho

continental army. The plot was discovered and defeated, and Conway was led to make a most
humble apology to Washington, for his conduct.

4 On one occasion, Isaac Potts, whose house was Washington's head-quarters at Valley Forge,
discovered the chief in a retired place, pouring out his soul in prayer to his God. Potts went home
to his wife, and said, with tears in his eyes,

" If there is any one on this earth to whom the Lord
will listen, it is George Washington

" 6
Page 283.

8 On the 7th day of May the army fired salutes in honor of the event, and by direction of the

chief, they all shouted,
" Huzza for the king of France!"
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British throne and Parliament. T-he capture of Burgoyne, and the general

failure of the campaign of 1777, had made the English people, and a powerful

minority in Parliament, clamorous for peace and reconciliation. Lord North,

the prime-minister/ was compelled to listen. To the astonishment of every

body, he proposed [Feb. 17] a repeal of all the acts of Parliament obnoxious to

the Americans, which had been enacted since 1763
;
and in the course of bis

speech in favor of his conciliatory plan, he actually proposed to treat the Con-

tinental Congress as a legal body.
2 Two bills, expressing these conciliatory

measures, -were passed after much opposition,
3 and received the signature of the

king, on the llth of March. Commissioners* were appointed to proceed to

America to negotiate for peace with Congress, and the British government
seemed really anxious to offer the olive branch, without qualification. But the

Americans had been too often deceived to accept any thing confidingly from that

source, and as soon as these bills reached Congress [April 15], and it was found

that they made no mention of the independence of the colonies, that body at

once rejected them as deceptive. When the commissioners came [June 4],

Congress refused to negotiate with them until Great Britain should withdraw

her fleets and armies, or unequivocally acknowledge the independence of the

United States. After unsuccessfully appealing to the American people, and

one of them endeavoring to bribe members of Congress,
6
the commissioners

returned to England, and the war went on.

The alliance with France gave the patriots greater confidence in their ulti-

mate success. It was immediately productive of action. The first movement

of the French government, in compliance with the requirements of that treaty,

was to dispatch a squadron, consisting of twelve ships of the line, and four

large frigates, under Count D'Estaing, to blockade the British fleet in the Del-

aware. When, a month before he sailed, the British ministry was officially

informed [March 17, 1778] of the treaty, and it was considered equivalent to a

declaration of war, a vessel was dispatched with a message to the British com-

manders, ordering them to evacuate Philadelphia and the Delaware, and to con-

centrate their forces at New York. Fortunately for Lord Howe, he had left

1
Page 224.

* Note 2, page 253.
1

Pitt was favorable to these bills, but when a proposition was made to acknowledge the independ-
ence of the colonies, and thus dismember the British empire, he opposed the measure with all his

might. He was in favor of reconciliation, not of separation. It was during his speech on this sub-

ject, that he was seized [April 7] with the illness which terminated his life a month afterward.

Pitt wag born hi November, 1708, and died on the llth of May, 1778, when almost seventy years

4 Th Earl of Carlisle, George Johnstone, formerly governor of Florida, and "William Eden,
a brother of Sir Robert Eden, the last royal governor of Maryland. Adam Ferguson, the eminent

professor of Moral Philosophy in the University of Edinburg, accompanied them as secretary.
*
Among those who were approached was General Joseph Reed, a delegate from Pennsyl-

vania. Mrs. Ferguson, wife of a rektive to the secretary of the commissioners, then residing hi

Philadelphia, and who was intimate with Mr. Reed, was employed to sound him. Mr. Reed had

been suspected by some of his compatriots of rather easy virtue as a republican, and the tact that

he was approachable in this way, confirmed their suspicions. Mrs. Ferguson was authorized to

offer him high official station and a large sum of money, if he would use his influence in favor of

peace, according to the submissive terms offered by the commissioners. Her mission became

known, and General Reed alleged that he said to her,
" I am not worth purchasing; but such as I

am, the king of England is not rich enough to do it."
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the Delaware a few days before the arrival of D'Estaing
1

[July 8, 1778], and

found safety in the waters of Amboy or Raritan Bay, into which the heavy
French vessels could not enter over the bar that stretches northward from

Sandy Hook toward the Narrows. A little earlier than this, there had been a

change in the command of the British army. Sir Henry Clinton,
9
a more effi-

cient officer than Howe, had succeeded him as general-

in-chief, toward the close of May, and on the 18th of

June, he withdrew his whole army from Philadelphia.

With eleven thousand men, and an immense baggage
and provision train, he started for New York, by the

way of New Brunswick and Amboy. Washington, sus-

pecting some important movement, was on the alert, and

breaking up his encampment at Valley Forge, he pur-

sued Clinton with more than equal force.
3 By adroit

, , . ~ ., A . . L
GENERAL CLINTON.

movements, detachments ot the American army so inter-

cepted Clinton's march, as to compel him to change his course in the direction

of Sandy Hook, while New Jersey militia continually harassed his flanks and

rear. 4

Finally, a general engagement took place [June 28, 1778] on the-

plains of Monmouth, in the present village of Freehold, in New Jersey.
The 28th of June, 1778, a day memorable in. the annals of Freedom, was

the Christian Sabbath. The sky was cloudless over the plains of Monmouth,*
when the morning dawned, and the sun came up with all the fervor of the sum-

mer solstice. It was the sultriest day of the year one of the warmest ever

known. On that calm Sabbath morning, in the midst of paradisal beauty,

twenty thousand men girded on the implements of hellish war, to maim am1

destroy each other to sully the green grass and the fragrant flowers with

human blood. Nature was smiling in her summer garments, and in earth and

air there was fullness of love and harmony. Man, alone, was the discordant

note in the universal melody. He, alone, the proud "lord of creation," dis-

turbed the chaste worship of the hour, which ascended audibly from the groves,

the streams, the meadows, and the woodlands.

The two armies began to prepare for action at about one o'clock in the

morning, and at day-break they were in motion. Before nine, detachments met

1
Silas Deane [page 266] returned to America in D'Estaing's flag-ship, and Gerard, the first

French minister to the United States, came in the same vessel. Congress was now in session in

Philadelphia, having returned from York [page 274J on the 30th of June, twelve days after the
British had left for New York.

a
Henry Clinton was a son of George Clinton, governor of the province of New York in 1743,

*nd a grandson of the Earl of Lincoln. After the war he was made governor of Gibraltar [1795],
and died there the same year

8 Arnold was yet quite lame from the effects of a severe wound in the leg, which he received in

the battle on Bemis's Heights [page 278], and at his solicitation, Washington left him in command of
a corps at Philadelphia, with the powers of a military governor. Washington crossed the Delaware
in pursuit of Clinton, with a little moro than 12,000 men.

4

Washington was anxious to attack Clinton when he was in the vicinity of Allentown, but Lee
and others overruled his opinions, in a council of war. Greene, La Fayette, and Wayne agreed
with the chief, and supported by these able officers, he resolved on a general engagement.

The battle of Monmouth was fought in the immediate vicinity of the present village of Free-

hold, New Jersey, chiefly within the space of two miles north-west of the town.
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BATTLE AT MOXMOUTH.

in deadly conflict, and from that hour, until dark, on that long summer day, the

terrible contest raged. It was

commenced by the advanced division

of the American army, under Gen-

eral Charles Lee.
1

His apparent
want of skill or courage, and a mis-

understanding of orders on the

part of some of his officers, pro-
duced a general and tumultuous

retreat of his division. The fugitives were met by the approaching main body,
Hinder Washington,

2 and being speedily checked and restored to order by the

chief, they were led to action, and the battle became general. Many fell under

the excessive heat of the day, and when night came, both parties were glad to

rest. The Americans slept on their arms3

during the night, with the intention

of renewing the battle at dawn, but when light appeared, the British camp was

deserted. Clinton had silently withdrawn [June 29 J, and was far on his way
toward Sandy Hook.

4

"Washington did not follow, but marching to New
Brunswick, and thence to the Hudson River, he proceeded to White Plains,*

where he remained until late in autumn. Then he crossed into New Jersey,
and made his winter quarters at Middlebrook, on the Raritan, where he was

1
Page 248. This command was first given to La Fayette, but when Lee, who had opposed the

measure in council, signilied his readiness to lead it, it was given to him, as he was the senior

officer.
a
"Washington was greatly irritated when he met the fugitives, and riding up to Lee, he

addressed him w>th much warmth of language, and directed him to assist in restoring order. Lee

promptly obeyed, but the sting of Washington's words rankled in his bosom, and on that day, after

the battle, he addressed an offensive letter to the chief. Lee was arrested and tried by a court-

martial, on the charges of disobedience of orders, misbehavior before the enemy, and disrespect to

the commander-in-chief. He was found guilty, and was suspended from command for one year.
He never entered the army again, and died in obscurity, in Philadelphia, in October, 1782. He
was brave, but bad in manners and morals, profane in language, and a contemner of religion. It is

believed that he was willing to have Washington lose the battlo of Monmouth, because he (Lee),
was opposed to it, and at the same time was seeking to rise to the chief command upon the ruins

of Washington's reputation. We have already alluded to the conspiracy toward that end, en page
285. The hottest of the battle occurred a short distance from the Freehold Presbyterian Church

yet [1883] standing. Near it is a board, with an inscription, showing the burial-spot of Colonel

Monckton, of the British army, who was killed in the battle.
3 This expression is used respecting troops who sleep with all their accoutrements on, and

their weapons by their side, ready for action in a moment The British left about three hundred
killed on the field of battle. They also left a large number of the sick and wounded to the mercy
of the Americans. The Americans lost in killed, wounded, and missing, two hundred and twenty-

eight Many of the missing afterward rejoined the army. They had less than seventy killed.
4 In his dispatch to the Secretary of War, General Clinton said,

"
I took advantage of the moon-

light to rejoin General Knyphausen," &<x As, according to an almanac of that year, the moon waa

quite new, and set two hours before Clinton's march, this boast of leaving in the moonlight occa-

sioned much merriment Trumbull, in his JfFingal, alluding to this, says,

" He forms his camp with great parade,
While evening spreads the world in shade,
Then still, like some endanger' d spark,
Steals off on tiptoe in the dark ;

Yet writes his king, in boasting tone,
How grand he march'd by light of moon I

Go on, great general, nor regard
The scofls of every scribbling bard,

8
Page 305.

1 Who sings how gods, that fearful night,
Aided by miracle your flight ;

As once they used, in Homer's day,
To help weak heroes run away ;

Tells how the hours, at this sad trial,

Went back, as erst on Ahaz' dial,

While British Joshua stayed the moon
On Monmouth's plain for Ajalon.
Heed not their sneers or gibes so arch,
Because she set before your march."







I77a] FOURTH TEAR OF THE "WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE. 289

encamped in the spring and summer of the previous year.
1

Clinton's shattered

forces went on board the British fleet at Sandy Hook, and proceeded to New
York, where the head quarters of the royal army continued until the close of

the war.
2 And when D'Estaing appeared off Sandy Hook, the British fleet was

safe in Raritan Bay. As we have already mentioned,

the bar from Sandy Hook' to Staten Island would not

allow the heavy French vessels to pass, and D'Estaing
therefore relinquished his design of attacking Howe's

fleet, and on the solicitation of Washington, he proceeded
to Newport, to assist the Americans in an attempt to

drive the British from Rhode Island.
3

General Sullivan

had been sent to supersede General Spencer in command

there
;
and Washington also dispatched La Fayette, with

two continental regiments (accompanied by General COUNT D'ESTAING.

Greene, then quartermaster general), to aid in the expe-
dition. John Hancock4 came at the head of Massachusetts militia, and similar

troops gathered at Tiverton, from Connecticut and Rhode Island.
6 On the 9th

of August, [1778], the whole American force crossed from Tiverton to the north

end of Rhode Island, and the British guards fled to the camp of General Pigot,
at Newport.

Several ships of war came from England at about this time, to reinforce the

British fleet at New York, and a few days after D.'Estaing sailed for Newport,
a large squadron under Howe, proceeded to the relief of Pigot. It appeared
off Rhode Island on the same day [Aug. 9] when the Americans landed on the

northern end of it. D'Estaing, who was then within the harbor, went out to

meet Howe, but before they came to an engagement, a terrible storm arose

[Aug. 12], and scattered and disabled both fleets.
6 The French squadron

returned to Newport [August 20], and immediately sailed for Boston to be

repaired. The Americans had then advanced almost to Newport, with every

prospect of making a successful siege. They had been promised four thousand

land troops from the French fleet. These wsre denied them
;
and refusing to

listen to entreaties or remonstrances, D'Estaing sailed for Boston and abandoned

the Americans. 7 The latter hastily withdrew to the north end of the island

1

Page 272. 2
Page 350.

*
Page 361. 4

Page 231.
6 The people of Rhode Island had suffered dreadfully from the brutality of the British troops.

There had been some amelioration of their condition since the capture of Prescott [page 271], and
under the rule of Pigot, the present commander. "When success seemed possible, thousands o(

volunteers nocked to the standards of Sullivan and La Fayette. John Hancock was appointed a

general of some of these volunteers. But his term of service was short. Like Dr. Franklin [page
193], Hancock was better fitted for a statesman than a soldier.

Very old people on Rhode Island, who remembered this gale, spoke of it to the writer in

1850, as " the great storm." So violent was the wind, that it brought spray from the ocean a mile

distant, and encrusted the windows of the town with salt.
1
This conduct was warmly censured by the American commanders, because it had no valid

excuse. It deprived them of a victory just within their grasp. Congress, however, afraid to offend

the French, uttered not a word of blame. The matter was passed over, but not forgotten. Once

again [page 305], the same admiral abandoned the Americans. D'Estaing was a native of

A uvergne, France. He became involved in the French Revolution, in 1792, and hi the spring of

1793, he was guillotined. The guillotine was an instrument for cutting off the head, invented by
M. Guillotine, who was eventually beheaded by it himself.
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[August 28], pursued by the British, and a severe engagement took place

[August 29j at Quaker Hill. Sullivan repulsed the British, and on the night

of the 30th, withdrew his whole army to the main, near Bristol, in time to

avoid an interception by Sir Henry Clinton, who had just arrived with four

thousand troops, in light vessels.' The Americans lost in this expedition, thirty

killed, and one hundred and seventy-two wounded and missing. The British

loss was about two hundred and twenty.

While these events were transpiring on the sea-board, a dreadful tragedy

was enacted in the interior, when the Wyoming, Mohawk, Schoharie, and

Cherry Valleys, were made the theaters of terrible scenes of blood and devasta-

tion. Tories from distant Niagara,
2 and savages upon the head waters of the

Susquehanna, gathered at Tioga early in June
;
and at the beginning of July,

eleven hundred of these white and dusky savages, under the general command

of Colonel John Butler,
8
entered [July 2, 1778] the lovely valley of Wyoming,

in northern Pennsylvania. Most of the strong men were then away on distant

duty, and families and homes found defenders only in aged men, tender youths,

resolute women, and a few trained soldiers. These, about four hundred strong,

under Colonel Zebulon Butler,
4 marched up the valley [July 4], to drive back

the invaders. But they were terribly smitten by the foe, and a large portion

of them were slain or made prisoners. A few escaped to Forty Fort, near

Wilkesbarre, wherein families, for miles around, had sought safety. Uncertain

of their fate for the invaders were sweeping like a dark storm down the Sus-

quehanna the night of the battle-day was a terrible one for the people in the

fort. But their agony of suspense was ended the following morning, when the

leader of the invaders, contrary to the expectations of those who knew him,

agreed upon humane terms of surrender.
5 The gates of the fort were thrown

open, and most of the families returned to their homes in fancied security. They
were doomed to terrible disappointment and woe. Brant, the great Indian

1 When Clinton was assured of the security of Rhode Island, he detached General Grey on a

marauding expedition upon the southern shores of Massachusetts, and among the adjacent islands,

and then returned to New York. Grey burned about seventy vessels in Buzzard's Bay, near New
Bedford, and in that vicinity destroyed property valued at more than three hundred and twenty-
three thousand dollars. He then went to Martha's Vineyard [page 57], and carried away, for the

army in New York, about three hundred oxen, and ten thousand sheep. On the first of October,
Clinton sent a successful expedition to capture American stores at Little Egg Harbor, on the New
Jersey coast.

*
Page 200.

' Note 2, page 278.
4 Zebulon Butler was a native of Connecticut, and was born in 1731. He was in the French

and Indian War, and was one of the earlier settlers in Wyoming. In 1778 he was appointed
colonel, and was with Sullivan in his memorable expedition against the Senecas [page 304] the fol-

lowing year. He was in active service thoughout the war, and died in Wyoming in 1795, at the

age of sixty-four years.
* All our histories contain horrible statements of the fiend-like character of John Butler, and hia

unmitigated wickedness on this occasion. They also speak of the "monster Brant" [page 278] as

the leader of the Indians, and the instigator of the crimes of which they were guilty. Both of these

men were bad enough ; but recent investigations clearly demonstrate that Brant was not there at

all
;
and the treaty for surrender, which is still in existance, granted most humane terms to the be-

sieged, instead of the terrible one reported in our histories. The fugitives who fled over the mount-

ains, and made their way back to their native Connecticut, crossed the Hudson, many of them at

Poughkeepsie, where John Holt was publishing a weekly paper. Their fears had magnified events,

and their tales of terror were published in Holt's journal, and thus became records for future his-

torians. Among other things, it was related that when the question was asked, on what terms the

fort might be surrendered, Colonel John Butler, with more than savage cruelty, replied, Tfie Hatchet I

This is wholly untrue, and yet the story is repeated in all our histories.
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leader, was not there to restrain his savage bands,
1 and their thirst for blood

and plunder soon overcame all their allegiance to their white commander. Be-

fore sunset they had scattered over the valley ;
and when night fell upon the

scene, the blaze of more than twenty dwellings cast its lurid glare over the

paradise of yesterday. The cries of the murdered went up from almost every
house and field

;
and when the moon arose, the terrified inhabitants were fleeing

to the Wilkesbarre mountains, and the dark morasses of the Pocono beyond. In

that vast wilderness between the valley and the Delaware, appropriately called

the S/iaa^s of Death, many women and children, who escaped the hatchet,

perished by hunger and fatigue. That "
Wyoming Massacre," as it has been

appropriately called, stands out in bold relief as one of the darkest crimes per-

petrated during the War for Independence.
In the mean while, Brant2

was leading or sending war parties through the

country south of the Mohawk River
;
and the Johnsons

3 and their Tory adher-

ents were allies of the savages in the Mohawk valley. On the llth and 12th

of November [1778 J, a party of Tories, under Walter N. Butler,
4

accompanied

by Indians, under Brant, fell like lightning upon the settlement of Cherry Val-

ley. Many of the people were killed, or carried into captivity ;
and for months

no eye was closed in security at night, within an area of a hundred miles and

more, around this desolated village. Tryon county, as that region of New
York was then called, was a " dark and bloody ground" for full four years, and

the records of the woes of the people have filled volumes. 5 Our space allows

us to mention only the most prominent events of that period.

And now, when the year 1778 the fourth year of the war drew to a

close, the British army had accomplished very little more in the way of conquest,

than at the end of the second year. The belligerent forces occupied almost the

same relative position which they did in the autumn of 1776, while the Amer-

icans had gained strength by a knowledge of military tactics,
8
naval operations,

1 The Indians were led by Gi-en-gwa-tah (he who goes in the smoke), a celebrated Seneca
chief.

2

Page 278.
3 Note 2, page 278.

4 He was a son of Colonel John Butler, and one of the most brutal of the Tory leaders. In the

attack upon the defenseless people at Cherry Valley, on the 10th of November. 1778, ho was the

most conr.meuous for cruelty ;
in fact, he was the head and front ot all the villainy perpetrated

there. Thirty-two of the inhabitants, mostly women and children, and sixteen soldiers of the little

garrison there, were killed. The whole settlement was then plun-

dered, and every building in the village was fired. Among the pris-

oners carried into captivity, were the wife and children of Colonel

Campbell, who was then absent. One of the children (Judge James
S. Campbell of Cherry Valley), then six years of age, survived until

18G8. During the summer of 1855, after an absence of seventy-
five years, he visited the Indian village of Caughnawaga, twelve miles

from Montreal, where he resided some time with his captors. Walter
Butler was shot by an Oneida Indian, in West Canada Creek, and his

body was left to be eaten by wild beasts.
6 See Campbell's Annals of Tryon County, Simm's History of Scho-

harie County, Stone's Life of Brant, etc.
6
Among the foreign officers who came to America in 1777. was

the Baron Steuben, who joined the Continental army at Valley Forge
[page 285]. He was a veteran from the armies of Frederic the BARON STEUBEN.

Great of Prussia, and a skillful disciplinarian. He was made Inspector-
General of the army ;

and the vast advantages of his military instruction were seen on the field

of Monmouth [page 287], and in subsequent conflicts. Steuben died at Steubenville, in the interior



292 THE REVOLUTION". [1778.

and the art of civil government ;
and they had secured the alliance of France,

the powerful European rival of Great "Britain, and the sympathies of Spain and

Holland. The British forces occupied the real position of prisoners, for they

were hemmed in upon only two islands,
1

almost two hundred miles apart, and

each about fourteen miles in length ;
while the Americans possessed every

other stronghold of the country, and, unlike the invaders, were warring for the

dearest rights of common humanity.
The scene of the most active military operations now changed. In the

autumn [Nov. 3, 1778], D'Estaing sailed for the West Indies, to attack the

British possessions there. To defend these, it was necessary for the British

fleet on our coast to proceed to those waters." This movement would prevent

any co-operation between the fleet and army in aggressive movements against

the populous and now well-defended North
; they could only co-operate in act-

ive operations against the sparsely-settled South. These considerations caused

a change in the plans of the enemy; and late in November [Nov. 27]. Sir

Henry Clinton dispatched Colonel Campbell, with about two thousand troops,

to invade Georgia, then the weakest member of the Confederacy. They pro-

ceeded by water, and landed at Savannah, the capital of the State, on the

morning of the 29th of December. General Robert Howe 3 was there, with only
about a thousand men, and these were dispirited by the failure of a recent expe-

dition against Florida in which they had been engaged.
4

They defended the

city nobly, however, until an overwhelming force, by power and stratagem, com'

pelled them to retire. They then fled, in confusion, up the Savannah River,

and took shelter in the bosom of South Carolina. The capital of Georgia be-

came the head-quarters of the British army at the South
;
and the enemy re-

tained it until near the close of the contest [1782], even when every foot of soil

in the State, outside the intrenchments around the city, was possessed by the

patriots.

CHAPTER, VI.

FIFTH TEAR OF THE WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE. .[1779.]

THICKLY mottled with clouds of evil forebodings for the Republican cause,

Was the political firmament at the dawn of the year 1779. The finances of the

of New York, in 1795, and his remains rest beneath a slab in the town of Steuben, about seven
miles north-west of Trenton Falls.

'

Manhattan, or York Island, and Rhode Island.
3 Admiral Hotham sailed for the "West Indies on the 3d of November

;
and early in December,

Admiral Byron, who had just succeeded Lord Howe in chief naval command, also sailed tor that

destination. 3
Page 244.

4 A great number of Tories were organized in Florida, and committed so many depredations upon
the settlers on the Georgian frontiers, that Howe, during the summer of 1778, went thither to dis-

perse them. He penetrated to the St Mary's River, in June, where he awaited reinforcements,
and supplies, by water. Want of co-operation on the part of the governor of Georgia and the naval

commander, produced much disunion
;
and sickness soon reduced the number of effective men so

much, that the enterprise was abandoned.
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country were in a most wretched condition. Already, one hundred millions of

dollars of continental money
1

were afloat without the security of even good

public credit
;

2
and their value was rapidly depreciating. While the amount

of the issues was small, the credit of the bills was good ;
but when new emis-

sions took place, and no adequate measures for redemption were exhibited, the

people became suspicious of those frail representatives of money, and their value

began to depreciate. This effect did not occur until eighteen months after

the time of the first emission.
3

Twenty millions of the continental bills were

then in circulation, besides a large amount of local issues by the several States.

It was perceived that depreciation was inevitable, and Congress proposed, as a

substitute for further issues, a loan of five millions, at an interest of four per
cent. A lottery had been early authorized, and was now in operation, designed
to raise a like sum, on loan, the prizes being payable in loan-office certificates.

4

Although these offices were opened in all the States, and the interest raised to

six per cent., the loans came in slowly. The treasury became almost exhausted,

the loan-offices were overdrawn upon by the commissioners' drafts, and the issue

of bills was reluctantly recommenced.

The financial embarrassments were increased by the circulation of an

immense amount of counterfeits of the continental bills, by the British

and the loyalists, which rapidly depreciated the currency. They were

sent out from New York, literally, by
" cart-loads."

6

Congress felt the neces-

sity of making some extraordinary efforts for redeeming the genuine bills, so as

to sustain their credit. The several States were taxed, and on the 2d of Janu-

ary, 1779, it was, by Congress,
"
Resolved, That the United States be called

on to pay in their respective quotas of fifteen millions of dollars, for the year

1779, and of six millions of dollars annually for eighteen years, from and after

the year 1779, as a fund for sinking the emissions," &c.
; yet all was in vain;

prices rose as the bills sank in value, and every kind of trade was embarrassed and

1

Page 245.
a At this time, when Congress could not borrow a dollar upon its own credit, Robert Morris

[page 264] found no difficulty in raising millions upon his own. For a long time he, alone, furnished

the " hard money" used by that body.
a Note 3, page 245.

4 On tha first of November, 1776, the Continental Congress "Resolved, That a sum of money
be raised by way of lottery, for defraying the expenses of the next campaign, the lottery to be
drawn in Philadelphia." A committee was appointed to arrange the same, and on the 18th,

reported a scheme. The drawer of more than the minimum prize in each class, was to receive

either a treasury bank note, payable in five years, with an annual interest at four per cent., or the

preemption of such billets in the next succeeding class
;

this was optional with the adventurers.

Those who should not call for their prizes within six weeks after the end of the drawing, were
considered adventurers in the next succeeding class. Seven managers were appointed, who were
authorized to employ agents in different States to sell the tickets. The first drawing was decided to

be made at Philadelphia, on the first of March, 1777; but purchasers were comparatively few and

tardy, and the drawing was postponed from time to time. Various impediments continually presented

themselves, and the plan, which promised such success at the beginning, appears to have been a

failure. Many purchasers of tickets were losers
;
and this, like some other financial schemes of the

Revolution, was productive of much hard feeling toward the Federal Government.
5

It was no secret at the time, as appears by the following advertisement in Games' New York

Mercury :
" ADVERTISEMENT. Persons going into other colonies, may be supplied with any number

of counterfeited Congress notes, for the price of the paper per ream. They are so neatly and exactly

executed, that there is no risk in getting them off, it being almost impossible to discover that they
are not genuine. This has been proven by bills to a very large amount, which have already been

successfully circulated. Inquire of Q. E. D., at the Coffee-house, from 11 A. M., to 4 P. M., during
the presant month. '



294 THE REVOLUTION. [1779.

deranged. The federal government was thoroughly perplexed. Only about

four millions of dollars had been obtained, by loan, from Europe, and present

negotiations appeared futile. No French army was yet upon our soil, to aid

us, nor had French coin yet gladdened the hearts of unpaid soldiers. A French

fleet had indeed been upon our coasts,
'

but had now gone to fight battles for

France in the West Indies, after mocking our hopes with broken promises of

aid.
2

Gloomy, indeed, appeared the firmament at the dawn of 1779, the fifth

year of the War for Independence.
In the autumn of 1777, a plan for invading Canada and the eastern British

provinces, and for seizing the British posts on the western lakes, had been

matured by Congress and the Board of War,
3
but when it was submitted to

Washington, his sagacious mind perceived its folly, and the influence of his

opinions, and the discovery, by true patriots, that it was a part of the secret

plan, entered into by Gates and others, to deprive Washington of chief com-

mand, caused an abandonment of the scheme. Others, more feasible, occu-

pied the attention of the Federal Legislature ;
and for several weeks the com-

mander-in-chief co-operated with Congress [January, 1779], in person, in

preparing a plan for the campaign of 1779. It was finally resolved to act on

the defensive, except in retaliatory expeditions against the Indians and Tories

in the interior.
4

This scheme promised the most beneficial results, for it would

be safer and less expensive, than offensive warfare. During the entire year,

the principal military operations were carried on in the two extreme sections of

the confederacy. The chief efforts of the Americans were directed to the con-

finement of the British army to the seaboard, and chastising the Indian tribes.

The winter campaign opened by Lieutenant-colonel Campbell
5

[December 29,

1778], continued until June, and resulted, as we have mentioned [page 292],
in the complete subjugation of Georgia to British rule.

When Campbell had garrisoned Savannah, and arranged for its defense, he

prepared to march against Sunbury, twenty-eight miles further south, the only

post of any consequence now left to the Americans on the Georgia seaboard.

He treated the people leniently, and, by proclamation, invited them to join the

British standard. These measures had their desired effect,

and timid hundreds, seeing the State under the heel of

British power, proclaimed their loyalty, and rallied be-

neath the standard of King George. At the same time,

General Prevost, who was in command of the British and

Indians in east Florida, marched northward, captured

Sunbury [January 9, 1779], and assumed the chief com-

mand of the British forces in the South. With this post
GENERAL LINCOLN. fen the hopes of the Republicans in east Georgia. In the

1

Page 289.
"
Page 289.

* On the 12th of Jane, 17-76, Congress appointed a committee, to be styled the "Board of War
and Ordnance," to have the general supervision of military affairs. John Adams was the chairman,

and Richard Peters was secretary. Peters was the real
"
Secretary of War" under the old Confed-

eration, until 1781, when he was succeeded by General Lincoln. General Gates was chairman in

1778. Page"291.
"
Page 293.
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mean while, General Benjamin Lincoln, of Massachusetts, had been appointed

[September, 1778J, commander-in-chief of the southern army of patriots.
' He

made his head-quarters at Purysburg [January 6], twenty-five miles above

Savannah, and there commenced the formation of an army, composed of some con-

tinental regiments, new recruits, and the broken forces of General Howe. 2
While

Lincoln was collecting his army on the Carolina bank of the Savannah, Camp-
bell marched up the Georgia side to Augusta,

3

for the purpose of encouraging
the Tories, opening a communication with the Creek Indians* in the West (among
whom the British had active emissaries), and to awe the Whigs. At the same

time a band of Tories, under Colonel Boyd, was desolating the Carolina fron-

tiers, while on their march to join the royal troops. When within two days'

march of Augusta, they were attacked
5

[February 14, 1779] and utterly defeated

by Colonel Pickens, at the head of the militia of Ninety-six.
8

Boyd and

seventy of his men were killed, and seventy-five were made prisoners.
7

Pick-

ens lost thirty-eight of his men.

This defeat of Boyd alarmed Campbell and encouraged Lincoln. The latter

immediately sent General Ashe, of North Carolina, with about two thousand

men,
8
to drive Campbell from Augusta, and to confine the invaders to the low,

sickly sections near the sea, hoping for aid from the deadly malaria of the

swamps, when the heats of summer should prevail. The British fled [February

13, 1779J at the approach of Ashe, and were pursued by him [February 16]

as far as Brier Creek, about forty miles below Augusta, where he halted to

establish a camp. There Ashe was surprised and defeated [March 3] by Gen-

eral Prevost, who, with quite a large force, was marching up the Savannah to

the relief of Campbell. Ashe lost almost his entire army by death, captivity, and

dispersion. Some were killed, others perished in the morasses, and many were

drowned in attempting to escape across the Savannah.
9

This blow deprived
Lincoln of one fourth of his army, and led to the temporary re-establishment of

royal government in Georgia.
10

1

Benjamin Lincoln was born in Hingham, Massachusetts, in 1733. He was a farmer, yet took

an active part in public affairs. He joined the continental army in 1777, and rose rapidly to the

station of major-general. He commanded the militia against Shay's insurgents [See 5, page 353.]
in 1786. He was also a useful public officer in civil affairs, and died in 1810. a

Page 292.
8 When Campbell departed for Augusta, Prevost sent Colonel Gardiner with some troops, to take

possession of Port Jtoyal Island, some sixty miles below Charleston, preparatory to a march upon
that city. Gardiner was attacked by General Moultrio [page 249], with Charleston militia, on the

morning of the 3d of February. Almost every British officer (except the commander), and many
privates, were killed. Gardiner and a few men escaped in boats, and Moultrie, whose loss was

trirting, joined Lincoln at Purysburg.
4
Page 30.

6 The place of the skirmish was upon Kettle Creek, in Oglethorpe county, Geor^' .

Page 336.
7

Seventy of them were tried and found guilty oftreason, and sentenced to be hung. Only five

were executed.
8 Lincoln wa? joined by Generals Ashe and Rutherford, with North Carolina regiments, about

the first of February, and his army now amounted to little more than three thousand men. John
Ashe was born in England in 1721, and came to America when a child. He was engaged in the

Regulator War [page 223], and was one of the most active of the North Carolina patriots. Ho died

ofsmail-pox in 17^1.
9 About one hundred and fifty were killed and drowned, eighty-nine were made prisoners, and

a large number, who were dispersed, did not take up arms again for several months.
10 At the beginning of 1776, the bold Whigs of Savannah had made the royal governor, Sir

James Wright, a prisoner in his own house
;
and the provincial Assembly, assuming governmental
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Prevost now prepared for an invasion of South Carolina. Toward the last

of April, he crossed the Savannah [April 27] with two thousand regulars, and

a large body of Tories and Creek Indians, and marched for Charleston. Lin-

coln had recruited, and was now in the field with about five thousand men,

preparing to recover lost Georgia, by entering the State at Augusta, and sweep-

ing the country to the sea. But when he discovered the progress of Prevost,

and that even the danger of losing Savannah did not deter that active general

from his attempts upon Charleston, Lincoln hastened to the relief of the men-

aced city. The people on the line of his march hailed him as a deliverer, for

Prevost had marked his progress by plunder, conflagration, and cruelty. For-

tunately for the Republicans, the invader's march was so slow, that when he

arrived [May 11] before the city, the people were prepared for resistance.

Prevost, on the morning of the llth of May, approached the American

intrenchments thrown across Charleston Neck,
1 and demanded an immediate

surrender of the city. He was answered by a prompt refusal, and the remain-

der of the day was spent by both parties, in preparations for an assault. That

night was a fearful one for the citizens, for they expected to be greeted at dawn

with bursting bomb-shells,
2 and red-hot cannon-balls. When morning came

[May 12, 1779], the scarlet uniforms of the enemy were seen across the waters

upon John's Island, and not a hostile foot was upon the Charleston peninsula.

The cause of this was soon made manifest. Prevost had been informed of the

approach of Lincoln, and fearing his connection with Savannah might be cut

off, he commenced a retreat toward that city, at midnight, by way of the islands

along the coast. For more than a month some British detachments lingered

upon John's Island. Then they were attacked at Stono Ferry, ten miles below

Charleston [June 20] by a party of Lincoln's army, but after a severe engage-

ment, and the loss of almost three hundred men in killed and wounded, they

repulsed the Americans whose loss was greater. Prevost soon afterward

established a military post at Beaufort, on Port Royal Island,
3 and then retreated

to Savannah. The hot season produced a suspension of hostilities in the South,
and that region enjoyed comparative repose for several months.

Sir Henry Clinton was not idle while these events were in progress at the

South. He was sending out marauding expeditions from New York, to plunder
and harass the people on the sea-coast. Governor Tryon* went from Kings-

bridge
5
on the 25th of March [1779], with fifteen hundred British regulars and

powers, made provisions for militaiy defenso [February, 177G]. issued bills of credit, &c. "Wright

escaped and went to England. He returned in July, 1779, and resumed his office as governor of

the "colony."
1
Charleston, like Boston [note 3, page 229], is situated upon a peninsula, the neck of -which is

made quite narrow by the Ashley and Cooper Rivers, and the marshes. Across this the Americans
had hastily cast up embankments. They served a present purpose, and being strengthened, were
of great value to the Americans the following year. See page 310.

a Hollow balls or shells of cast iron, filled with gunpowder, slugs, &c. In an orifice communi-

cating with the powder, is a slow match. This is ignited, and the shell is hurled from a mortar (a

short cannon) into the midst of a town or an army. "When the powder ignites, the shell is bureted

into fragments, and these with the slugs make terrible havoc. They are sometimes the size of a

man's head. 3 Note 5. page 166. 4
Page 248.

6 The passage across the Harlem River (or as it is sometimes there called, Spuyten Duyvil Creek);
at the upper end of York or Manhattan Island.
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Hessians,
1

to destroy some salt-works at Horcenook, and attack an American
detachment under General Putnam, at Greenwich, in Connecticut. The Amer-
icans were dispersed [March 26], and Putnam barely escaped capture by some

dragoons.
3 He rallied his troops at Stamford, pursued the British on their

return toward New York the same evening, recaptured a quantity of plunder in

their possession, and took thirty-eight of them prisoners.

On the 9th of May, Sir George Collier entered Hampton Roads,
3 with a

small fleet, bearing General Mathews, with land troops, destined to ravage the

country in that vicinity. They spread desolation on both sides of the Elizabeth

River, from the Roads to Norfolk and Portsmouth. After destroying a vast

amount of property, they withdrew
;
and at the close of the month, the same

vessels and the same troops were up the Hudson River, assisting Sir Henry
Clinton in the capture of the fortress at Stony Point, and also the small fort on

Verplanslc's Point, opposite. Both of these posts fell into the power of the

British, after a spirited resistance
;
the first on the 31st of May, and the latter

on the 1st of June. These achievements accomplished, Collier, with a band

of twenty-five hundred marauders, under Governor Tryon, sailed on the night
of the 4th of July [1779 J, for the shores of Connecticut, to plunder and destroy
the towns on the coast. They plundered New Haven on the 5th, laid East

Haven in ashes on the 6th, destroyed Fairfield in the same way on the 8th, and

burned and plundered Norwalk on the 12th. Not content with this wanton

destruction of property, the invaders insulted and cruelly abused the defense-

less inhabitants. While Norwalk was burning, Tryon sat in a rocking-chair,

upon an eminence near by, and viewed the scene with great complacency, and

apparent pleasure a puny imitation of Nero, who fiddled while Rome was

blazing.
4 The Hessian mercenaries generally accompanied these expeditions, for,

unlike the British soldiers, they were ever eager to apply the torch and abuse

the inhabitants. They were the fit instruments for such a warfare. When

Tryon (whom the English people abhorred for his wrong-doings in America),
had completed the destruction of these pleasant villages, he boasted of his ex-

1

Page 246.
* On this occasion he performed the feat, so often related, of descending a steep hill on horse-

back, making his way, as common history asserts, down a flight of stone steps, which had been
constructed for the convenience of people who had to ascend this hill to a church on its summit.
The whole matter is an exaggeration. An eye-witness of the event says that Putnam pursued a

zig-zag course down the hill, and only descended four or five of the steps near the bottom. The
feat was not at all extraordinary when we consider that a troop of dragoons, with loaded pistols,

were at his heels. Thesa, however, dared not follow the general In 1825, when a company of

horsemen were escorting La Fayette the "Nation's Guest" along the road at that place, some of

them went down the same declivity on horseback. The stone steps are now [1883] visible in some

places, among the shrubbery and overlying sod.
3

Page 69. This is a body of water at the conjunction of the James and Elizabeth Rivers, and

communicating with the sea. It is one of the most spacious harbors in the world. The village of

Hampton lies upon its northern border. See page 243.
4

Alluding to these outrages of Tryon, and the burning of Kingston [page 283] by Vaughan,
Trumbull, in hia ATFingal, says :

"
Behold, like whelps of British lion,

Our warriors, Clinton, Vaughan, and Tryon,
March forth, with patriotic joy,
To ravish, plunder, and destroy.
Great generals 1 Foremost in their nation

The journeymen of desolation 1"
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STONY POINT.

treme clemency in leaving a single house standing on the New England
coast.

While these marauding forays were in progress,

the Americans were not idle. They were preparing to

strike the enemy heavy and unexpected blows. Only
three days after the destruction of Norwalk [July 15J,

General Anthony Wayne was marching secretly to

attempt the re-capture of Stony Point, on the Hud-

son. The fort stood upon a rocky promontory, sur-

rounded by water and a marsh, and was very strong

in its position. So secretly was the whole movement

conducted, that the British garrison were unsuspicious

of danger. At midnight, the little army of patriots

crossed the morass in the rear, and attacked the fort

with bull and bayonet, at two separate points, in the

face of a heavy cannonade from the aroused garrison.

At two o'clock in the morning [July 16, 1779], Wayne,

though so badly wounded in the head by a glancing
blow of a bullet, as to fall senseless, wrote to Washing-

ton,
" The fort and garrison, with Colonel Johnson, are

ours. Our officers and men behaved like men who are

determined to be free." This was considered one of

the most brilliant events of the war.
1 The British lost,

in killed, wounded, and prisoners, about six hundred

men
;
the loss of the Americans was fifteen killed, and eighty-three wounded.

The spoils were a large amount of military stores. The post was abandoned by
the Americans, for, at that time, troops sufficient to garrison it could not be

spared.*

The capture of Stony Point was followed by another brilliant achievement,

a month later [August 19], when Major Henry Lee,
3 at three o'clock in the

morning, surprised a British garrison at Paulus' Hook (now Jersey City),
4

op-

posite New York, killed thirty soldiers, and took one hundred and sixty pris-

1
"Wayne was highly complimented by all General Charles Lee [page 248], who was not on

the most friendly terms with Wayne, wrote to him, saying,
" I do most seriously declare that your

assault of Stony Point is not only the most brilliant, in my opinion, throughout the whole course of

the war, on either side, but that it is the most brilliant I am acquainted with in history. The as-

sault of Schiveidnitz, by Marshal Laudon, I think inferior to it." Dr. Rush wrote, saying, "Our
streets rang for many days with nothing but the name of General Wayne. You are remembered

constantly next to our good and great Washington, over our claret and Madeira. You have estab-

lished the national character of our country; you have taught our enemies that bravery, humanity,
and magnanimity are the national virtues of the Americans." Congress gave him thanks, find a

gold medal
;
and silver medals were awarded to Colonels Stewart and De floury, for their gallantry

on the occasion. Anthony Wayne was born in Pennsylvania in 1745. He was a professional sur-

veyor, then a provincial legislator, and became a soldier in 1775. He was very active during the

whole war; and was efficient in subduing the Indians in the Ohio country, in 1795 [see page 374].
He died at Erie, on his way home, near the close of 1796.

* After the Americans had captured Stony Point, they turned the cannons upon Fort La Fay-

ette, upon Verplanck's Point, opposite. General Robert Howe [page 292] was directed to attack

that post, but on account of some delays, he did not reach there before Sir Henry Clinton sent up
relief for the garrison.

8 Note 2, page 133.
* Note 1, page 94.

GENERAL WAYNE.
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oners. This gallant act was greatly applauded in the camp, in Congress, and

throughout the country, and made the -enemy more cautious and circumspect.

The hero was honored by Congress with thanks and a gold medal. These and

some smaller successes at about this time, elated the Americans
;
but their joy

was soon turned into sorrow, because of disasters in the extreme East. Massa-

chusetts had fitted out almost forty vessels to attempt the seizure of a British

post on the Penobscot River. The assailants delayed more than a fortnight

after their arrival [July 25] before determining to carry the place by storm.

Just as the troops were about to land for the purpose, a British fleet arrived,

destroyed the flotilla, took many of the soldiers and sailors prisoners, and drove

the remainder into the wilderness [Aug. 13]. These, after great hardships in

the forests, reached Boston toward the close of September.

The storm of war was not confined to the Atlantic settlements. It burst

over the lofty Alleghanies, and at an early period, even while it was gathering,

a low, muttering peal of thunder came from clouds that brooded over the far-

off wilderness of the great valleys of the West. Pioneers from the sea-board

colonies were there, and they were compelled, almost at the moment of arrival,

to wage war with the Indian, and hunt savage men as well as savage beasts.

Among the earliest and most renowned of these pioneers, was Daniel Boone,

the great,
" Hunter of Kentucky," of whom Byron wrote,

"Of all men, saving Sylla, the man-slayer,

Who passes for, in lifo and death, most luckj,



300 THE REVOLUTION. [1779.

Of the great names which in our faces stare,

The General Boone, backwoodsman of Kentucky,
Was happiest among mortals anywhere."

l

He went west of the Blue Ridge as early as 1769, and in 1773, his own
and a few other families accompanied him to the paradise lying among the

rich valleys south of the Ohio River.
2 From that period until the power of the

western Indians (who were continually incited to hostilities by the British and

Tories) was broken by George Rogers Clarke, Boone's life was one of almost

continual warfare with the children of the forest.

Nor did Boone and his companions measure strength with the Indians alone
;

1 Don Juan, VIII., Ixi.
* The wife and daughters of Boone were the first white females that set foot in the valleys west

of the AUeghanies. Daniel Boone was born in Berks county, Pennsylvania, in 1734. While he
was a small boy, his parents settled on the Yadkin, in North Carolina. When in the prime of life,

he went over the mountains, and became a famous hunter. He planted the first settlement on the

Kain-tuck-ee River, yet known as Boonsborough. During the Revolution he fought the Indians

bravely, and was a prisoner among them for some time, but escaped. He was active in all matters

pertaining to the settlement of Kentucky, until it became an independent State. Yet he was, by
the technicalities of law, doomed to be disinherited of every foot of the soil he had helped to

redeem from the wilderness, and, at almost eighty years of age, he was trapping beaver upon the

Little Osage River, beyond the Mississippi He died in Missouri, when almost ninety years of

age, in September, 1820.



PUTNAM'S ESCAPE AT HORSE NECK. (Page 297.)





1779.] FIFTH TEAR OF THE "WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE. 303

but in time they confronted white leaders and white followers. These conflicts,

however, were only a series of border forays, until 1778, when Majo~ George

Rogers Clarke
1

led a regular expedition against the frontier posts of the enemy,
in the wilderness in the far north-west, now the States of Indiana and Illinois.

His little army rendezvoused at the Falls of the Ohio, where Louisville now

stands, where he was joined by Simon Kenton, and other pioneers. From
thence they penetrated the country northward, and on the 4th of July [1778].

they captured Kaskaskia.
2 On the 9th, they took the village of Cahokia,

sixty miles further up the river
;
and finally, in August, the stronger British

post of Vincennes, on the Wabash, fell into their hands.

Acting in the capacity of a peace-maker, Clarke was working successfully

toward the pacification of the western tribes, when, in the month of January,

1179, the commander of the British fort at Detroit retook Vincennes. With

one hundred and seventy-five men, Clarke penetrated the dreadful wilderness

a hundred miles from the Ohio. For a whole week they traversed the

'drowned lands" of Illinois, suffering every privation from wet, cold, and

hunger. When they arrived at the Little Wabash, at a point where the forks

of the stream are three miles apart, they found the intervening space covered

with water to the depth of three feet. The points of dry land were five milea

apart, and all that distance those hardy soldiers, in the month of February,
waded the cold snow-flood

3
in the forest, sometimes arm-pit deep ! They

arrived in sight of Vincennes on the 18th [February, 1779], and the next

morning at dawn, with their faces blackened with gunpowder, to make them-

selves appear hideous, they crossed the river in a boat, and pushed toward the

town. On the 20th, the stripes and stars were again unfurled over the fort at

Vincennes and a captured garrison. Had armed men dropped from the clouds,

the people and soldiers at Vincennes could not have been more astonished, than

at the apparition of these troops, for it seemed impossible for them to have

traversed the deluged country.
The indignation of the people was fiercely aroused by the atrocities at

Wyoming and upon the head waters of the Susquehanna ;
and in the summer of

1779, General Sullivan
4 was sent into the heart of the country of the Six NA-

TIONS,
5
to chastise and humble them. He collected troops in the Wyoming

1

George Rogers Clarke, was born in Albemarle county, Virginia, in 1752, and first appears in

history as an adventurer beyond the Alleglianies, twenty years afterward. He had been a land-

8'irveyor, and first went to the Ohio region in 1772. He was a captain in Dunmore's ariiiy [note 4

page 237] in 1774, and in 1775, he accompanied some emigrants to Kentucky. Pleased with the

country, he determined to make it his home; and during the war for Independence, he labored

nobly to secure the vast region of the west and north-west, as a home for the free. Under his

leadership, what afterward became the North-west Territory, was disenthralled, and he has beea

appropriately styled the Father of that region. He was promoted to the rank of brigadier, after

serving under the Baron Steuben against Arnold, in Virginia, in 1781, and at the close of the war
he remained in Kentucky. He died near Louisville, in February, 1818, at vhe age of sixty-six

years.
a
Page 180.

s Note 3, page 241.
4 John Sullivan was born in Maine, in 1740. He was a delegate in the first Continental Con-

gress [1774]. and was one of the first eight brigadiers in the Continental Army. After being in act-

ive service about four years, he resigned his commission in 1779. He was afterward a member of

Congress, and governor of New Hampshire, and died in 1795.
6
Page 25. British emissaries had gained over to the royal interest the whole of the Six NA-

TIONS except the Oneidas. These were kept loyal to the republicans, chiefly through the iustru-
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Valley ;
and on the last day of July, marched up the Susquehanna, with

about three thousand soldiers. At Tioga Point, he met General James Clinton,
1

on the 22d of August, who came from the Mohawk

Valley, with about sixteen hundred men. On the 29th,

they fell upon a body of Indian and Tory savages,

strongly fortified, at Chemung (new Elmira), and dis-

persed them. Without waiting for them to rally, Sulli-

van moved forward, and penetrated the country to the

Genesee River. In the course of three weeks, he de-

stroyed forty Indian villages, and a vast amount of food

growing in fields and gardens. One hundred and sixty
GENERAL SULLIVAX. J 1_ V 1 ~tf -xl.1J J

thousand bushels ot corn in the fields and in granaries

were destroyed ;
a vast number of the finest fruit-trees, the product of years of

tardy growth, were cut down
;
hundreds of gardens covered with edible vegetables,

were desolated
;
the inhabitants were driven into the forests to starve, and were

hunted like wild beasts
;
their altars were overturned, and their graves trampled

upon by strangers ;
and a beautiful, well-watered country, teeming with a

prosperous people, and just rising from a wilderness state, by the aid of culti-

vation, to a level with the productive regions of civilization, was desolated and

cast back a century in the space of a fortnight.
2 To us, looking upon the scene

from a point so remote, it is difficult to perceive the necessity that called for a

chastisement so cruel and terrible. But that such necessity seemed to exist we

should not doubt, for it was the judicious and benevolent mind of Washington
that conceived and planned the campaign, and ordered its rigid execution in the

manner in which it was accomplished. It awed the Indians for the moment,
but it did not crush them. In the reaction they had greater strength. It

kindled the fires of deep hatred, which spread far among the tribes upon the

lakes and in the valley of the Ohio. Washington, like Demetrius, the son of

Antigonus, received from the savages the name of An-na-ta-kau-les, which sig-

nifies a taker of toivns, or Towx DESTROYER. s

mentality of one or two Christian missionaries. After the war, those of the Six Nations who joined
the British, pleaded, as an excuse, the noble sentiment of loyalty. They were the friends of the En-

glish, and regarded the parent country as their ally. When they saw the children of their great
Hither, the king, rebelling against him, they felt it to be their duty, in accordance with stipulations
of solemn treaties, to aid him.

1 General James Clinton was born in Ulster county, New York, in 1736. He was a captain in

the French and Indian War, and an active officer during the Revolution. He died in 1812.
a The Seneca Indians were beginning to cultivate rich openings in the forests, known as the

" Genesee Flats," quite extensively. They raised large quantities of corn, and cultivated gardens
and orchards. Their dwellings, however, were of the rudest character, and their villages consisted

of a small collection of these miserable huts, of no value except for winter shelter.
8 At a council held in Philadelphia in 1792, Corn Planter, the distinguished Seneca chief, thus

addressed "Washington, then President of the United States :

" FATHER The voice of the Seneca
nation speaks to you, the great counselor, in whose heart the wise men of all the thirteen fires have

placed their wisdom. It may be very small in your ears, and, therefore, we entreat you to hearken

with attention, for we are about to speak to you of things which to us are very great When your

army entered the country of the Six Nations, we called you The Toivn Destroyer ; and to this day,
when that name is heard, our women look behind them and turn pale, and our children cling close

to the necks of their mothers. Our counselors and warriors are men, and can not be afraid
;
but

their hearts are grieved with the fears of our women and children, and desire that it may be buried

BO deep that it may be heard no more."
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While theso events were in progress at the North, the Southern army,
under Lincoln,

1 was preparing to attack Savannah, in concert with the French

fleet, then in the West Indies. During that sum-

mer, Count D'Estaing had battled successfully

with Admiral Byron there, and early in Septem-

ber, he appeared off the coast of Georgia with a

powerful fleet, prepared to co-operate with Lincoln.

D'Estaing landed troops and heavy battery cannon

a few miles below Savannah
;
and on the 23d of

September, the combined armies commenced the

It was soon perceived that the town mustsiege.
SIEGE OP SAVANNAH. 1779.

be taken by regular approaches, and to that end

all energy was directed. On the morning of the 4th of October, a heavy can-

nonade and bombardment was opened upon the Britsh works. It continued for

five days, but with very little effect upon the strong British intrenchments.

D'Estaing became impatient of delay,
2
and proposed an attempt to take the

place by storm. It was reluctantly agreed to, for there seemed a certainty of

final victory if the siege should continue. D'Estaing would listen to no re-

monstrances, and the assault commenced on the morning of the 9th of October.

After five hours of severe conflict, there was a truce for the purpose of burying
the dead. Already, nearly a thousand of the French and Americans had been

killed and wounded.
3 The standards of France and Carolina, which gallant men

had planted upon the parapet, had been torn down. Yet important breaches were

made, and another assault promised a sure triumph. But D'Estaing, strangely

perverse, was unwilling to renew the assault, and made preparations to withdraw.

Lincoln yielded a reluctant assent to the movement, and the enterprise was

abandoned at the moment when the American commander felt certain of victory.
4

Ten days afterward, the French fleet had left the coast, and Lincoln was re-

treating toward Charleston. Thus closed the campaign for 1779, at the South.

The repulse at Savannah was a severe blow to the hopes of the patriots of

Georgia, and spread a gloom over the whole South. Toward the Georgia sea-

board, every semblance of opposition to royal power was crushed, and only in

the interior did armed resistance appear.
1

Page 294.
2
D'Estaing expressed his fears, not only of the arrival of a British fleet, to blockade his own in

the Savannah River, but of the autumn storms, which might damage his vessels before he could get
to sea.

3
Among the mortally wounded, was Count Pulaski, the brave Pole

whom we first met in the battle on the Brandywine [note 5, page 273].
He died on board a vessel bound for Charleston, a few days after the

siege. Serjeant Jasper, whose bravery at Fort Moultrie we have not-

iced [note 5, page 249]. was also killed, while nobly holding aloft, upon
a bastion of the British works which he had mounted, one of the beauti-

ful colors [note 5, page 249] presented to Moultrie's regiment by ladies

of Charleston. The colors were beautifully embroidered, and given to

the regiment, in the name of the ladies of Charleston, by Mrs. Su-

sanna Elliott. Just before he died, Jasper said, "Tell Mrs. Elliott I

I
""

flHIBi'3ilBP!ISlP
>
'

lost my life supporting the colors she presented to our regiment." Theso

colors, captured during this siege, are among British trophies in the

COUNT PULASKI. tower of London. Savannah honors both these heroes by having finel/-

shaded parks bearing their respective names. 4
Page 289.
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After the close of Sullivan's campaign against the Senecas, very little of

general interest transpired at the North, except the "withdrawal of the British

troops from Rhode Island, on the 25th of October, 1779. La Fayette had

been in France during the summer, and chiefly through his efforts, the French

government had consented to send another powerful fleet/ and several thousand

troops, to aid the Americans. When informed of this intended expedition, the

British ministry ordered Clinton to cause the evacuation of Rhode Island, and

to concentrate, at New York, all his troops at the North. This was accom-

plished with as little delay as possible, for rumors had reached Rhode Island

that the new French armament was approaching the coast. So rapid was the

retreat of the British, caused by their fears, that they left behind them all their

heavy artillery, and a large quantity of stores. Clinton sailed for the South at

the close of the year [December 25], with about five thousand troops, to open a

vigorous campaign in the Carolinas. Washington, in the mean while, had gone
into winter quarters at Morristown,

2
where his troops suffered terribly from the

severity of the cold, and the lack of provisions, clothing, and shelter.
3

Strong
detachments were also stationed among the Hudson Highlands, and the cavalry

were cantoned in Connecticut.

During this fifth year [1779] of the war for Independence, difficulties had

gathered thick and fast around Great Britain. Spain had declared war against

her
4 on the 16th of June, and a powerful French and Spanish naval armament

had attempted to effect an invasion of England in August. American and

French cruisers now became numerous and quite powerful, and were hovering
around her coasts

;
and in September, the intrepid John Paul Jones

3
had

conquered two of her proud ships of war, after one of the most desperate

1

Page 286.
*
Page 269.

* Dr. Thacher, in his Military Journal, says,
" The sufferings of the poor soldiers can scarcely b

described
;
while on duty they are unavoidably exposed to all the inclemency of storms and severe

cold
;
at night, they now have a bed of straw upon the ground, and a angle blanket to each man

;

they are badly clad, and some are destitute of shoes. "We have contrived a kind of stone chimney
outside, and an opening at one end of our tents gives us the benefit of the fire within. The snow
is now [January 6th, 1780] from four to six feet deep, which so obstructs the roads as to prevent
our receiving a supply of provisions. For the last ten days we have received but two pounds of

meat a man, and we are frequently for six or eight days entirely destitute of meat, and then as long
without bread. The consequence is, the soldiers are so enfeebled from hunger and cold as to be
almost unable to perform their military duty, or labor in constructing their huts. It is well known
that General Washington experiences the greatest solicitude for the suffering of his army, and
is sensible that they, in general, conduct with heroic patience and fortitude." In a private
letter to a friend, "Washington said,

" "We have had the virtue and patience of the army put to the

severest trial. Sometimes it has been five or six days together without bread, at other times as

many without meat, and once for two or three days at a time without either. * * * At one

time the soldiers ate every kind of horse food but hay. Buckwheat, common wheat, rye, and Indian

corn composed the meal which made their bread. As an army, they bore it with the most heroic

patience ;
but sufferings like these, accompanied by the want of clothes, blankets, &c., will produce

frequent desertions in all armies
;
and so it happened with us, though it did not excite a single

mutiny."
4
Hoping to regain Gibraltar, Jamaica, and the two Floridas, which Great Britain had taken

from her, Spain made a secret treaty of peace with France in April, 1779, and in June declared war

against Great Britain. This event was regarded as highly favorable to the Americans, because any

feing that should cripple England, would aid them.
' John Paul Jones was born in Scotland in 1747, and came to Virginia in boyhood. He entered

ine American naval service in 17 7&, and was active during the whole war. He vas afterward

>ery active in the Russian service, against the Turks, in the Black Sea, and was created rear-admi-

ral in the Russian navy. Ha died in Paris in 1782.
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naval fights ever known. These were the Serapis and Countess of Scar-

borough. The conflict occurred in the evening, off Flamborough Head, en the

east coast of Scotland. Jones's ship was the Bonhomme Richard, which had

been fitted out in France. After much maneuvering, the Serapis and

Richard came alongside of each other, their rigging intermingling, and in this

position they poured heavy broadsides from their respective guns. Three times

both ships were on fire, and their destruction appeared inevitable. A part of

the time the belligerents were fighting hand to hand upon the decks. Finally,

the commander of the Serapis was obliged to yield, and ten minutes afterward,

the Countess of Scarborough, which had been fighting with another vessel of

Jones's little fleet, struck her colors. The Richard was a perfect wreck, and

was fast sinking when the conflict ended
;
and sixteen hours afterward, she went

do'Tn into the deep waters of the North Sea, off Bridlington Bay. Jones, with

his prizes, sailed for Holland, having, during that single cruise, captured prop-

erty to the value of two hundred thousand dollars.
1

1 The naval operations during the war for Independence, do
not occupy a conspicuous place in history, yet they were by no
means insignificant. The Continental Congress took action on the

subject of an armed marine, in the autumn of 1775. Already
Washington ha<? fitted out some armed vessels at Boston, and
instructed some gun-boats for use in the waters around that city. A GUN-BOAT AT BOSTON.
These were propelled bf oars, and covered. In November, the

government of Massachusetts established a Board of Admiralty. A committee on naval affairs, of
Which Silas Deane [page 266] was chairman, was appointed by the Continental Congress in Octo
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On the land, in America, there had been very little success for the British

arms
;
and sympathy for the patriots was becoming more and more manifest in

Europe. Even a great portion of the intelligent English people began to

regard the war as not only useless, but unjust. Yet in the midst of all these

difficulties, the government put forth mighty energies energies which miorht

have terminated the war during the first campaign, if they had been then

executed. Parliament voted eighty-five thousand seamen and tiirty-five thou-

.sand troops for general service, in 1780, and appropriated one hundred millions

of dollars to defray the expenses. This formidable armament in prospective,

was placed before the Americans, at this, the gloomiest period of the war, yet

they neither quailed nor faltered. Relying upon the justice of their cause, and

the favor of a righteous God, they felt prepared to meet any force that Great

Britain might send to enslave them

her, 1775. Before the close of the year, the construction of almost twenty vessels had been ordered

by Congress ;
and the Marine Committee was so re-organized as to have in it a representative from

each colony. In November, 1776, a Continental Navy Board, to assist the Marine Committee, was

appointed; and in October, 1779, a Board of Admiralty was installed. Its Secretary (equivalent to

our Secretary of the Navy) [page 382J was John Brown, until 1781, when he was succeeded by
General McDougaL Robert Morris also acted as authorized Agent of Marine; and many privateers,

were fitted out by him on his own account In November, 1776,.

Congress determined the relative rank of the naval commanders, such
as admiral to be equal to a major-general on land : a commodore equal
to a brigadier-general, &c. The first commander-in-chief of the navy,
or high admiral, was Esek Hopkins, of Rhode Island, whom Congress
commissioned as such in December, 1775. He first went against
Dunmore [page 244] on the coast of Virginia. He also >-nt to the

Bahamas, and captured the town of New Providence and its governor.

Sailing for home, he captured some British vessels off the east end of

Long Island, and with these prizes, he went into Narraganset Bay.
In the mean, while, Paul Jones and Captain Barry were doing-

good service, and New England cruisers were greatly annoying
English shipping on our coast. In 1777, Dr. Franklin, under the

authority of Congress, issued commissions to naval officers in Europe.

Expeditions were fitted out in French sea-ports, and these produced
ADMIRAL HOPKIXS. great alarm on the British coasts.

While these things were occurring in European waters, Captains
Biddle, Manly, M'Neil, Hinman, Barry, and others, were making many prizes on the American
coasts. Finally, in the spring of 1779, an expedition was fitted out at L'Orient, under the auspices
of the French and American governments. It consisted of five vessels under the command of John
Paul Jones. They sailed first, in June, for the British waters, took a few prizes, and returned.

They sailed again in August, and on the 23d of September, while off the coast of Scotland, not far

above the mouth of the Humber, Jones, with his flag-ship (the Bonhomme Richard), and two others,
fell in with and encountered a small British fleet, which was convoying a number of merchant ves-

sels to the Baltic Sea, when the engagement took place which is described in the text Congress

gave Jones a gold medal for his bravery. Many other gallant acts were performed by American

seamen, in the regular service and as privateers, during the remainder of the war. The " whale-

boat warfare" on the coast, was also very interesting, and exhibited many a brave deed by those

whose names are not recorded in history men who belong to the great host of " unnamed demi-

gods," who, in all ages, have given their services to swell the triumphs of leaders who, in rcul

merit, have often been less deserving than themselves.
For a condensed account of the whole naval operations of the Revolution, on the coast, see sup-

plement to Lossing's Field Book of the devolution.
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CHAPTER VI T.

SIXTH YEAE OF THE WAE FOE INDEPENDENCE. [1780.]

WHEN, on Christmas day, 1779, Sir Henry Clinton sailed for the South,

with the main body of his army, he left the Hessian general, Knyphausen,
1

in

command at New York. To aid the southern patriots, Washington sent thither

the Baron De Kalb* and others the following spring [1780 J, and thus the

two armies Avere so much weakened at head-quartera, that military operations at

the North almost ceased during that year. The Carolinas became the chief

theater of war, and many and bloody were the acts upon that stage. Invasions

from without, and the cruelties of Tories
3
in their midst, made 1780 a year of

great woe for the patriots and their families below the Roanoke, for they also

suffered all the horrors of civil Avar. At no time, during theO ^
whole conflict, were the Tories, or adherents of the crown, more **jff !^ jj^jp

active throughout the whole country, than in 1780. They &* LA.^
were the most inveterate enemies of the patriots, and the lead- " V |j*

ers were in continual correspondence with each other, with the c%
IjJL u^

British government, and with the royal commanders in Amer- ~*

ica. Their correspondence was carried on chiefly in cipher

writing, understood only by themselves, so that in the event of

their letters falling into the hands of the Whigs, their contents

would remain a secret. These characters sometimes varied, and

it was a frequent occurrence for two persons to invent a cipher 3// 2L-

alphabet, for their own exclusive use. The engraving shows * *^* **

the alphabet of the cipher writing of some New York Tories. ZEf ^Z* ^CL/

A fleet, under Admiral Arbuthnot, with two thousand ma- i. rff) fr

rines, bore the forces of Sir Henry Clinton to the southern t *^ ~
, ,

- , CIPIIEE ALPHABET.
waters. Alter encountering heavy storms, they arrived on the

coast of Georgia in January; and early in February [Feb. 10], turned north-

ward, and proceeded to invest Charleston. Clinton's troops were landed [Feb.

11] upon the islands below the city, on the shores of the Edisto Inlet, thirty

miles distant
;
but instead of marching at once to make an assault upon the

town, the British commander prepared for a regular siege. General Lincoln

was in Charleston with a feeble force5 when Clinton landed
;
and he was about

to evacuate the city and flee to the interior, when intelligence of the tardy plans

of the British reached him. He then resolved to remain, and prepare for de-

1

Page 259. 9
Page 316.

3 Note 4, page 226.
4
During a severe storm off Cape Hatteras, one vessel, carrying heavy battery cannons, was lost,

and almost all the cavalry horses of Tarleton's legion, perished at sea. Tarleton supplied himself

with others, soon after landing, by plundering the plantations near the coast.
*
During the preceding winter, Lincoln's army had dwindled to a mere handful. The repulse at

Savannah had so disheartened the people, that very few recruits could be obtained, and when Clin-

ton arrived, Lincoln's army did not exceed fourteen hundred men in number. The finances of the

State were in a wretched condition, and the Tories were everywhere active and hopeful.
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fense. John Rutledge,
1 the governor of South Carolina, was clothed with all

the powers of an absolute dictator
;
and so nobly did the

civil and military authorities labor for the public good,
that when the invaders crossed the Ashley [March 29,

1780 J, and sat down before the American works on

Charleston Neck," the besieged felt strong enough to

resist them. In the mean while, the intrenchments had

been greatly strengthened, and works of defense had

been cast up along the wharves, and at various points
around the harbor. Fort Moultrie

3
was strongly gar-

risoned, and Commodore Whipple
4 was in command of

a flotilla of small armed ships in the harbor.

GOVERNOR RUTLEDGE.

On the 25th of March, Admiral Arbuthnot crossed Charleston bar, drove

tVhipple's little fleet to the waters near the town, and cast anchor in Five

* John Rutledga was born in Ireland, and came to South Carolina when a child. He was one
of the most active patriots of the South. After the war he was made a judge of the Supreme
Court of the United States, and also chief justice of South Carolina. He died in the year 1800.

a Note 1, page 296.
s Note 5, page 249.

4 Abraham Whipple was born in Providence, Rhode Island, in 1733. His early life \vas spent

chiefly upon the ocean, and, in later years, he was long engaged in the merchant service. At the

age of twenty-seven, he was commander of a privateer, and during a single cruise, in 1760, he took,

twenty-three French prizes. He was engaged in the destruction of the Gaspe, in 1772 [page 223].
In 1775, he was appointed to the command of vessels to drive Sir James Wallace from Narragan-
sett Bay. He was active in naval service until the fall of Charloston, when he was taken prisoner.
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Fathom Hole, not far from St. John's Island. On the morning of the 9th of

April, he sailed up the harbor, and sustaining but trifling damage from the

guns of Fort Moultrie, anchored within cannon-shot of the city. As Whipple
could not contend with the strong ships, he sunk several of his vessels near the
mouth of the Cooper River, and formed a chevaux-de-frise

l

to prevent the en-

emy's ships passing beyond the town, so as to enfilade the American works on the
Neck. Clinton, in the mean while, had erected batteries

2
in front of these

works, and both commanders joined in a summons for the patriots to surrender.

Expecting reinforcements from the interior, the people of the beleagured city
refused compliance, and for more than a month the siege went on.2 In the
mean while, American detachments sent out between the Cooper and Santee
Rivers to keep open a communication with the interior, were attacked and de-

feated by parties of British horsemen
;

4 and at the close of the month [April
1780], the city was completely environed by the foe. Cornwallis had arrived

[April 18], from New York, with three thousand fresh troops, and all hopes
for the patriots faded.

The night of the 9th of May was a terrible one for Charleston. That day
a third summons to surrender had been refused, and late in the evening a gen-
eral cannonade commenced. Two hundred heavy guns shook the city with

their thunders, and all night long destructive bombshells
5
were hailed upon it.

At one time ths city was on fire in five

different places. Nor did morning

bring relief. The enemy had deter-

mined to take the city by storm. The

cannonade continued all the day, and

the fleet moved toward the town to open
a bombardment. Further resistance

would have been sheer madness, for the

destruction of the town and the people
seemed inevitable. At two o'clock on the morning of the llth, a proposition

for surrender was made to Clinton, and his guns were all silenced before day-

light. At about noon on the 12th [May, 1780], the continental troops marched

out, and laid down their arms, after a gallant and desperate defense for
fortj'

days. Lincoln and his army, with a large number of citizens, were made pris-

oners of war. The citizens, and a great number of soldiers, were paroled
"

He was the first who unfurled the American flag in the Thames, at London, after the war. Accom-

panying settlers to Ohio, he became a resident of Marietta, from which he sailed, in 1800, dowi*
the Ohio, with pork and flour, for Havana. He died in 1819, at the age of eighty-five years.

1 Note 6, page 274.
1 On Saturday morning, the first of April, the British first broke ground in the face of eight?

cannons and mortars on the American works.
3
General Woodford had just arrived with seven hundred Virginians, and others from North

Carolina were reported on their way.
4 On the 14th of April, Tarleton. defeated Colonel Huger on the head waters of the Cooper

River, and killed twenty-five Americans. On the 6th of May, a party under Colonel White, of New
Jersey, were routed at a ferry on the Santee, with a loss of about thirty in killed, wounded, and

prisoners. These British detachments overran the whole country below the Cooper and Santee, in

the course of a few days.
* Note 2, page 236.

8 A prisoner on parole is one who is left free to go anywhere within a prescribed space of coun

SIEGE OP CHARLESTON. 1780.
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Altogether, the captives amounted to between five and six thousand
;'

and

among the spoils of victory were four hundred pieces of cannon.

The fall of Charleston, and the loss of this southern army, was a severe

blow for the Republicans. It paralyzed their strength ;
and the British com-

manders confidently believed that the finishing stroke of the war had been

given. It was followed by measures which, for a time prostrated South Caro-

try, or within a city, under certain restrictions relative to conduct. Prisoners taken in war are often

paroled, and allowed to return to their friends, with an agreement not to take up arms. It is a

noint of honor, with a soldier, to "keep his parole," and when such a one is again taken in battle,

during the period of his parole, he is treated not as a prisoner, but as a traitor.
1 In violation of the solemn agreement for surrender, Clinton caused a great number of the lead-

ing men in Charleston to be seized, and carried on board prison-ships, where hundreds suffered ter-

ribly. Many were taken to St. Augustine, and immured in the fortress there. Among otner

prominent citizens thus treated, were Lieutenant-Governor Christopher Gadsden, and David Ram-

say, the historian, who, with about twenty others, remained in prison at St. Augustine almost eleven

months, before they were paroled. Both of these men were exceedingly active patriots. Ramsay
was a native of Lancaster county, Pennsylvania, where he was born in 1749. He was educated at

Princeton
;
studied medicine, and became an eminent physician at Charleston. He was an efficient

member of the Council of Safety when the Revolution broke out, and was also an esteemed legis-

.ator. He was also a member of the Continental Congress. In 1790, he published hi History of

the American Revolution. He wrote and published a Life of Washington, in 1801
;
a History of

South, Carolina, in 1808; and when he died, from a shot by a maniac-, in 1815, he had almost com-

pieted a History of the United States. Soon after the assembling of the first National Congress,
under the new Constitution, in 1789, Dr. Ramsay sent in a- petition, asking for the passage of a
law for securing to him and his hem the exclusive right to vend and dispose of his books, re-

spectively entitled, History of the Revolution in South Carolina, and A History of the American
Revolution. A bill for that purpose was framed and discussed. Finally, in August, it was "

post-

poned until the next Congress." A similar bill was introduced in January, 1790, and on the 30th
of April following, the first copyright law recorded on tl.e statute books of Congress, was passed.
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lina at the feet of royal power. With an activity hitherto nnusual for the

British officers, Clinton took steps to extend and secure his conquest, and to

re-establish royal power in the South. He sent out three strong detachments of

his army to overrun the country. One under Cornwallis marched up the

Santee toward Camden
-,

another under Lieutenant-colonel Cruger, was ordered

penetrate the country to Ninety-six,
1 and a third, under Lieutenant-colonel

rown, marched co Augusta,
2
in Georgia. A general truce was proclaimed,

and a pardon to all who should accept British protection. The silence of fear

overspread the whole country ;
and mistaking this lull in the storm of war for

permanent tranquillity, Clinton and Arbuthnot, with a large body of troops,

sailed, on the 5th of June [1780], for New York.

The last and most cruel blow struck by the British, was that which almost

annihilated an American detachment under Colonel Abraham Buford. He had

hastened toward Charleston for the relief of Lincoln
;
but when he heard of the

disasters there, he commenced retreating toward North Carolina. His force

consisted of nearly four hundred Continental infantry, a small detachment

of Colonel Washington's cavalry, and two field-pieces. He had evacuated

Camden, and, in fancied security, was retreating leisurely toward Charlotte, in

North Carolina. Cornwallis resolved to strike Buford, if possible, and, for

that purpose, he dispatched Tarleton, with seven hundred men, consisting /f his

cavalry and mounted infantry. That officer marched one hundred and five

miles in fifty-four hours, and came up with Buford upon the Waxhaw. Impa-
tient of delay, he had left his mounted infantry behind, and with only his

cavalry, he almost surrounded Buford before that officer was aware of danger.

Tarleton demanded an immediate surrender upon the terms granted to the

Americans at Charleston. These terms were humiliating, and Buford refused

compliance. Whila the flag? for conference were passing and re-passing, Tarle-

ton, contrary to military rules, was making preparations for an assault, and

the instant he received Buford' s reply, his cavalry made a furious charge upon
the American ranks. Having received no orders to defend themselves, and

supposing the negotiations were yet pending, the Continentals were utterly

dismayed by this charge. All was confusion
;
and while some fired upon their

assailants, others threw down their arms and begged for quarter. None was

given ;
and men without arms were hewn in pieces by Tarleton's cavalry. One

hundred and thirteen were slain
;
one hundred and fifty were so maimed as to

be unable to travel
;
and fifty-three were made prisoners, to grace the triumphal

entry of the conqueror into Camden. Only five of the British were killed, and

fifteen wounded. The whole of Buford's artillery, ammunition, and baggage,

fell into the hands of the enemy. For this savage feat, Cornwallis eulogized

Tarleton, and commended him to the ministry as worthy of special favor. It

was nothing less than a cold-blooded massacre
;
and Tarleton's quarter became

proverbial as a synonym to cruelty.
3 The liberal press, and all right-minded

1

Page 336.
*
Page 336.

8
Stedman, one of Cornwallis's officers, and afterward an eminent English historian of the war,

Bays,
" On this occasion, the virtue of humanity was totally forgot."
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men in England, cried Shame ! After the battle, a large number of the

wounded were taken to the log meeting-house of the Waxhaw Presbyterian

Congregation, where they were tenderly cared for by those who had courage
to remain. This blow, however, was so terrible, that fear seized the people,

and women and children fled from their homes in dismay, to avoid falling in the

track of the invader.
1

Brief was the lull of the storm. Be Kalb2
did not reach the borders 01

South Carolina until midsummer, and then not an

American was in arms in the lower country. Although

Congress had confidence in the skill of De Kalb (who

by the capture of Lincoln, became the commander-in-

chief at the South), yet it was thought best to send

General Gates
3

thither, because of the influence of his

name. The prospect before him was far from flattering.

An army without strength ;
a military chest without

money ;
but little public spirit in the commissary

department ;
a climate unfavorable to health

;
the spirit

GENERAL GATE?. of the Republicans cast down
; loyalists swarming in

every direction; and a victorious enemy pressing to

/spread his legions over the territory he had come to defend, were grave obsta-

cles in the way of success. Yet Gates did not despond ; and, retaining De
Kalb in command of his division, he prepared to march into South Carolina.

When it was known that he was approaching, southern hearts beat high with

hope, for they expected great things from the conqueror of Burgoyne.
4

Many
patriots, who, in their extremity, had signed "paroles" and "protections,"'

seeing how little solemn, promises were esteemed by the conqueror, disregarded

both, and flocked to the standard of those brave partisan leaders, Sumter,

Marion, Pickens, and Clarke, who now called them to the field. While Gates

and his army were approaching, these partisans were preparing the way for

conquest. They swept over the country in small bands, striking a British

1 Among those who fled, was the widowed mother of Andrew Jackson, the seventh President

of the United States, who, with her two sons, Robert and Andrew, took refuge in the vicinity of

Charlotte, North Carolina. The dreadful scenes of that massacre, was the first lesson that taught
Andrew to hate tyranny. It fired his patriotism ;

and at the age of thirteen years, he entered the

army, with his brother Robert, under Sumter. They were both made prisoners ;
but oven while in

the power of the British, the indomitable courage of the alter man appeared in the boy. When
ordered to clean the muddy boots of a British officer, he proudly refused, and for his temerity
received a sword-cut. After their release, Andrew and his brother returned to the Waxhaw set-

tlement with "then* mother. That patriotic matron and two sons perished during the war. Her son

Hugh was slain in battle, and Robert died of a wound which he received from a British officer while

he was prisoner, because, liko Andrew, he refused to do menial service. Th3 heroic mother, while

on her way home from Charleston, whither she went to carry some necessaries to her friends and

relations on board a prison-ship, was seized with prison-fever, and died. Her unknown grave is

somewhere between what was then called the Quarter House and Charleston. Andrew was left

the sole survivor of the family.
2
Page 316.

* Horatio Gates was a native of England, and wn educated for military life. He was the first

adjutant-general of the Continental army [note 5, pag^ 238], and was made major-general in 1776.

He retired to his estate in Virginia at the close of the war, and finally took up his abode in New
Tork, where ke died in 1806, at the age of seventy-eight years.

4
Page 281. Note 6, page 311. .
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GENERAL SUMTER,

detachment here, and a party of Tories there
;
and soon, they so effectually

alarmed the enemy in the interior, as to check the onward progress of invasion.

General Sumter
1

first appeared in power on the

Catawba River. Already Whigs, between that and

the Broad River, led by local officers, had assailed

the enamy at different points. In the mean while

Sumter had collected a considerable force, and on

the 30th of July, he attacked a British post at Rocky
Mount, on the Catawba. He was repulsed, but not

disheartened. He immediately crossed the river, and

at Hanging-rock, a few miles eastward, he fell upon
and dispersed a large body of British and Tories, on

the 6th of August. Through the folly of his men,
he did not secure a victory. They commenced plundering, and drinking the

liquors found in the camp, after they had secured it,
and becoming intoxicated,

were unable to complete the triumph. Yet the British dared not follow Sumter

in his slow retreat. Marion, at the same time, was smiting the enemy, with

sudden and fierce blows, among the swamps of the lower country, on the

borders of the Pedee. Pickens was annoying Cruger in the neighborhood of

the Saluda
;
and Clarke was calling for the patriots along the Savannah, Ogee-

chee, and Alatamaha, to drive Brown2 from Augusta.
General Clinton left Earl Cornwallis in the chief command of the British

army at the South, and his troops on the Santee were intrusted to Lord Raw-

don, an active and meritorious officer. When that general heard of the approach
of Gates, he gathered all his available forces at Camden, where he was soon joined

by the earl. Rumor had greatly magnified the number of the army under Gates.

The loyalists became alarmed, and the patriots took courage. He came down

from the hill country, through Lancaster district, and took post at Clermont, a

few miles north of Camden. Feeling certain of victory, he marched from his

camp on the night of the 15th of August, to surprise the British at Camden.

Without being aware of this movement, Cornwallis and Rawdon advanced at

the same hour to surprise the Americans. A little after

midnight the belligerents met [August 16, 1780], near San-

ders's Creek, about seven miles north of Camden, on the Lan-

caster road. The sand was so deep that the footsteps of the

approaching armies could not be heard by each other. They
came together in the dark, almost noiselessly, and both were

equally surprised. A slight skirmish between the vanguards

ensued, and early in the morning a general battle began.
After a desperate struggle with an overwhelming force, the

Americans Avere compelled to yield to the British bayonets in SANDERS'S CREEK.

1 Thomas Sumter was a native of South Carolina, and was early in the field. Ill health com-
pelled him to leave the army just before the close of the war. in 1781. He was afterward a mem-
ber of the National Congress, and died on the High Hills of Santee [page 337], in 1832, at the
age of ninety-eight years. 2 Page 336.
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BAROX DE KALB.

front, and the sabres of Tarleton's dragoons on their flanks. The rout

became general. The militia fell in great numbers, under the heavy blows

from the British cavalry ;
and for more than two miles, along the line of

their retreat, the open wood was strewn with the dead and dying. Arms, artil-

lery, horses, and baggage, were scattered in every direction. More than a third

of the continental troops were killed
;
and the entire loss of

the Americans, in killed, wounded, and prisoners, was

about a thousand men, besides all of their artillery and

ammunition, and a greater portion of their baggage and

stores.
1 The British loss was three hundred and twenty-

five. Among the killed was the brave Baron de Kalb,
4

whose remains were buried at Camden, and there they

yet lie, under a neat monument, the corner-stone of

which was laid by La Fayette in 1825. 3

Having vainly endeavored to rally his flying troops,

Gates fled to Charlotte,
4

eighty miles distant. There he continued to be

joined by officers and men, and he began to hope that another army might be

speedily collected. But when, a few days after his own defeat, he received intel-

ligence that Sumter's force had been nearly annihilated by Tarleton' near the

Catawba, he almost despaired. That event was a sad one

for the republicans. Sumter had been ordered, by Gates,

to intercept a British detachment which was conveying
stores for the main army, from Ninety-Six.

6 He was

joined by other troops sent to assist him, and they cap-

tured forty-four wagons loaded with clothing, and made a

number of prisoners. On hearing of the defeat of Gates,

Sumter continued his march up the Catawba. and on the

18th [August, 1780] he encamped near the mouth of

the Fishing Creek. There he was surprised by Tarleton, and his troops were

routed with great slaughter. More than fifty were killed, and three hundred

were made prisoners. All the booty captured by the Americans fell into the

hands of Tarleton. Sumter escaped, but was stripped, of power.
With the dispersion of Gates's army, and Sumter's brave band, the victory

of the British was again complete ;
and at the close of summer, there were no

COLOXEL TARLETON.

1 General Gates had felt so certain of victory, that he had made no provisions for a retreat, or

the salvation of his stores in the rear. His troops were scattered in all directions, and he, appar-

ently panic-stricken by the terrible blow, fled, almost alone, to Charlotte. Even now [1883] bul-

lets are found in the old pine-trees on the route of their retreat. Gates did indeed, as General

Charles Lee predicted he would, when he heard of his appointment to the command of the south-

ern army,
"
exchange his northern laurels for southern willows."

8 De Kalb was a native of Alsace, a German province ceded to France. He had been in Amer-
ica as a secret French agent, about fifteen years before. He came to America with La Fayette in

1777, and Congress commissioned him a major-general He died of his wounds at Camden, three

days after the battle.
*
Page 453.

4
Page 237.

6
Tarleton was one of the most active and unscrupulous officers of the British army. He was

distinguished for his abilities and cruelties during the southern campaigns of 1780-'81. He was

born in Liverpool, in 1754. He married a daughter of the Duke of Ancaster, in 1798, and was

afterward made a major-general
"
Page 336.
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republicans in arms in South Carolina, except Marion and his men. Within

three months [May 12 to August 16 J, two American armies had been annihil-

ated, and one of the most formidable partisan corps (Sumter's) scattered to the

winds.

^r J/
fZi r~v /S7

*

<^>^^ex%t*^^^^Pr-^-^

The exploits of Marion1 and his men, form the materials of one of the most

interesting chapters in the history of our War for Independence. He was in

Charleston during the long siege, but having been disabled by an accident,
1
he

had retired to the country, and was not among the prisoners when the city

passed in the possession of the British.
3 He was therefore untrammeled by any

parole, and as soon as he was able, he mounted his horse, and took the field.

With a few ragged followers, equal in grotesque appearance to any Falstaff

!
Francis Marion was a descendant of a Huguenot [page 49] settler, and was born near George-

town, South Carolina, in 1732. His first military lessons were learned in the war with the Chero-
kees [page 204], in l^Gl. He entered the army at the commencement of the Revolution, and was
one of the bravest and most useful of all the partisan officers at the South. He was also a member
of '-.he South Carolina Legislature, during, and after the war. He died at his home, near Eutaw
Spnnor.-i, on his beloved Santee, in 1795, in the sixty-third vear of his age.

7
Marion was dining with some friends at a house in Tradd-street, Charleston, when, on an at-

tempt being made to cause him to drink wine, contrary to his practice and desire, he leaped from a

window, and sprained his ankle. The Americans yet kept the country toward the Santee, open,
and Marion was couveyed to his home.

*
Page 311.
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ever saw,
1

he was annoying the Tories in the neighborhood of the Pedee, when

Gates was moving southward
;
and just before the battle at Camden, he ap-

peared in Gates's camp. The proud general would have treated him with con-

tempt, had not Governor Rutledge," then in the camp, known the sterling

worth of the man before them. While Marion was there, the people of tha

Williamsburg district, who had arisen in arms, sent for him to be their com-

mander. Governor Rutledge gave him the commission of a brigadier on the

spot ;
and soon afterward, Marion organized that noted brigade, which per-

formed such wonderful exploits among the swamps, the broad savannahs, and

by the water-courses of the South. It was this motley brigade, only, that

appeared in the field, and defied British power, after the dispersion of Gates's

army at Camden.

Had Cornwallis been governed by good judgment and humanity, the con-

quest of South Carolina might have been permanent,
for the State swarmed with Tories, and the Republic-
ans were wearied with the unequal contest. But he

was governed by a foolish and wicked policy, and pro-

ceeded to establish royal authority by the most severe

measures. Instead of winning the respect of the people

by wisdom and clemency, he thought to subdue them

by cruelty. Private rights were trampled under foot,

and social organization was superseded by the iron rule

LORD CORNWALLIS of military despotism.
3

His measures created the most

bitter hatred; and hundreds of patriots, who might
have been conciliated, were goaded into active warfare by the lash of military

power. Everywhere the people thirsted for vengeance, and only awaited the

call of leaders, to rally and strike again for homes and freedom.

Now, feeling confident of his power in South Carolina, Cornwallis* prepared
to invade the North State. Early in Ssptem^sr ha proceeded with his army
to Charlotte,

5
while detachments were sant out in various directions to awe the

Republicans and encourage the loyalists. While Tarleton, with his legion,

1 Colonel Otho H. "Williams said of his appearance then, that his followers were "
distinguished

by small leathern caps, and the wretchedness of their attire. Their number did not exceed twenty
men and boys, some white, some black, and all mounted, but most of them miserably equipped
Their appearance was, in fact, so burlesque, that it was with much difficulty the diversion of the

regular soldiery was restrained by the officers
;
and the general himself [Gates] was glad of an op-

portunity of detaching Colonel Marion, at his own instance, toward the interior of South Carolina,
with orders to watch the motions of the enemy, and furnish intelligence."

3
Page 310.

* He issued cruel orders to his subalterns. They were directed to hang every muitia-man who
had once served in Loyalist corps, but were now found in arms against the king. Many who had
submitted to Clinton [page 313], and accepted protection, and had remained at home quietly during

the recent revolt, were imprisoned, their property taken from them or destroyed, and their families

treated with the utmost rigor. See note 3, page 337.

*
4

Charles, Earl Cornwallis, was born, in Suffolk, England, in 1738. He was educated for mili-

tary life, and commenced his career in 1759. After the Revolution in America, he was made gov-

ernor-general of India [note 2, pasre 224], then lord-lieutanant of Ireland, and again governor of

India. He died near Benares, East Indies, in 1805.
6 His advanced corps were attacked by the Americana under Colonel Davie, on their arrival at

Charlotte, but after a severe skirmish, the patriots were repulsed.
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was operating on the east side of the Catawba, Major Patrick Ferguson was

sent to embody the militia who favored the king, among the mountains west of

the Broad River. Many profligate and worthless men joined his standard, and

on the first of October, 1780, he crossed the Broad River at the Cherokee ford,

in Yorkville district, and encamped among the hills of King's Mountain, with

about fifteen hundred men. Several corps of Whig militia united to oppose

him,
' and on the 7th of October, they fell upon his camp on King's Mountain,

there, a cluster of high, wooded, gravelly hills, about two miles below the

southern line of North Carolina. A very severe engagement ensued, and the

British were totally defeated. Ferguson was slain,
2 and three hundred of his

men were killed and wounded. The spoils of victory, which cost the Americans

eighty-eigh men, were eight hundred prisoners, and fifteen hundred stand of

arms. This defeat was to Cornwallis, what the affair at Bennington
3
was to

Burgoyne, and it gave the Republicans hope.

Nearer the sea-board, in the mean while, the patriots were daily gaining

strength. Marion and his men4
were striking the banding Tories here and

there, and annoying British outposts continually ;
while Colonel Pickens and

Clarke were hourly augmenting their forces in Georgia and south-western

Carolina. Sumter, too, undismayed by his recent defeat, again appeared in the

field
;

5 and other leaders were coming forth between the Yadkin and Broad

Rivers. Alarmed by the defeat of Ferguson, and these demonstrations on flank

and rear, Cornwallis withdrew [October 14] to South Carolina, and toward the

close of October [27th], made his head quarters at Winnsborough, midway
between the Broad and Catawba Rivers, in Fairfield district. Here he

remained until called to the pursuit of Greene,
8
a few weeks later.

Victory after victory was achieved by Marion and his brigade, until late in

October, when they pushed forward to assail the British post at Georgetown,
for the purpose of obtaining necessary supplies. Hitherto Marion had confined

his operations to forays upon British and Tories
;
now he undertook a more

1 These were commanded by Colonels William Campbell, Isaac Shelby, Benjamin Cleveland,
John Sevier, Joseph Winston, Charles McDowell, and James Williams. Their united forces

amounted to nearly eighteen hundred men.
2 On the spot where Ferguson was slain, a plain stone has been erected to the memory of that

officer, and of Americans who were killed. The following inscriptions upon the stone, give the

names: North side. "Sacred to the memory of Major WILLIAM CHRONICLE, Captain JOHN MAT-

TOCKS, WILLIAM ROBB, and JOHN BOYD, who vvere killed here fighting in defense of America, on
the seventh of October, 1780." South side.

" Colonel FERGUSON, an officer belonging to his Britan-

nic majesty, was here defeated and killed." Ferguson's rank is incorrectly given, on the monument.
He was only a major ;

but his good conduct was placing him in the way of speedy promotion. He
was a son of the eminent Scotch jurist, James Ferguson, and came to America in 1777. He was
in the battle on the Brandywine, in the autumn of that year [page 273], and accompanied Sir Henry
Clinton to South Carolina [page 306] at the close of 1779.

3
Page 277.

4
Page 317.

6 Sumter collected a small force in the vicinity of Charlotte, and returned to South Carolina.

For somo weeks he annoyed the British and Tories very much, and Lord Cornwallis, who called him
The Carolina Game Cock, used great endeavors to crush him. On the night of the 1 2th of Noveir

ber, Major Wemyss, at the head of a British detachment, fell upon him near the Broad River, but
w-w repulsed. Eight days afterward he had a severe engagement with Tarleton, at Blackstock's

p itatioD- on the Tyger River, in Union district. lie had now been joined by some Georgians
to^i Colonels Clarke and Twiggs. The British were repulsed, with a loss, in killed and wounded,
of about three hundred. The Americans lost only three killed and five wounded. Sumter waa
among the latter, and he was detained from the field several months, by his wounds.

6

Page 332.



320 THE REVOLUTION. [1780.

serious business. The garrison was on the alert, and in a severe skirmish with

a large party near the town, the Partisan was repulsed. He then retired to

Snow's Island, at the confluence of Lynch's Creek and the Pedee, where he

fixed his camp, and secured it by such works of art as the absence of natural

defenses required. It was chiefly high river swamp, dry, and covered with a

heavy forest, filled with game. From that island camp, Marion sent out and

led detachments as occasion required ;
and for many weeks, expeditions which

accomplished wonderful results, emanated from that point. Their leader seemed

to be possessed of ubiquitous powers, for he struck blows at different points in

rapid succession. The British became thoroughly alarmed, and the destruction

of his camp became, with them, an object of vital importance.
1

That work was

accomplished in the spring of 1781, when a party of Tories penetrated to

Marion's camp, during his absence, dispersed the little garrison, destroyed the pro-

visions and stores found there, and then fled. The Partisan was not disheartened

by this misfortune, but pursued the marauder some distance, and then wheeling,
he hastened through the then overflowed swamps to confront Colonel Watson,
who was in motion with a body of fresh troops, in the vicinity of the Pedee.

While these events were progressing at the South, others of great import-
ance were transpiring at the North. As we have observed,

2

military operations

were almost suspended in this region during the year, and there were no offens-

ive movements worthy of notice, except an invasion of New Jersey, in June.

On the 6th of that month (before the arrival of Clinton from Charleston), Knyp-
hausen

3

dispatched General Matthews from Staten Island, with about five

thousand men, to penetrate New Jersey. They took possession of Elizabeth-

town [June 7], and burned Connecticut Farms (then a hamlet, and now the

village of Union}, on the road from Elizabethtown to Springfield. When the

invaders arrived at the latter place,*they met detachments which came down

from Washington's camp at Morristown, and by them were driven back to the

coast, where they remained a fortnight. In the mean while Clinton arrived,

and joining Matthews with additional troops [June 22], endeavored to draw

Washington into a general battle, or to capture his stores at Morristown.

Feigning an expedition to the Highlands, Clinton deceived Washington, who,
with a considerable force, marched in that direction, leaving General Greene in

command at Springfield. Perceiving the success of his stratagem, he, with

Knyphausen, marched upon Greene, witn Jbout five thousand infantry, a con-

siderable body of cavalry and almost twenty pieces of artillery. After a severe

1 Here was the scene of the interview between Marion and a young British officer from George-
town, so well remembered by tradition, and so well delineated by the pen of Simms and the pencil
of White. The officer who came to treat respecting prisoners, was led blindfolded to the camp of

Marion. There he first saw the diminutive form of the great partisan leader, and around him, in

groups, were his followers, lounging beneath magnificent trees draped with moss. "When their business

was concluded, Marion invited the young Briton to dine with him. He remained, and to his utter

astonishment he saw some roasted potatoes brought forward on a piece of bark, of which the

general partook freely, and invited his guest to do the same. "Surely, general," said the officer,

"this can not be your ordinary fare !"
" Indeed it is," replied Marion, "and we are fortunate on

this occasion, entertaining company, to have more than our usual allowance." It is related that

the young officer gave up his commission on his return, doc! iring that such a people could not be,

id ought not to be subdued.
'

Page 309.
*
Page 259.
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skirmish at Springfield, the British were defeated [Vane 23, 1780], and setting

fire to the village, they retreated, and passed over to Staten Island.

Good news for the Americans came from the East, a few days after this

vasion. It was that of the arrival, at Newport, Rhode Island, on the 10th

of July [1780], of a powerful French fleet, under Admiral Ternay, bearing
six thousand land troops under the Count de Rochambeau. This expedition

bad been expected for some time, it having sailed from Brest early in April

The whole matter had been arranged with the French government by La

ette, who had returned from France in May, and brought the glad tidings to

the Americans. With wise forethought, the relation between Washington and

Rocaambeau had been settled by the French government. In order to prevent

any difficulties in relation to command, between the American and French offi-

cers, the king commissioned Washington a lieutenant-general of the empire.

This allowed him to take precedence of Rochambeau, and made him commander-

in -chief of the allied armies. Soon after his arrival, Rochambeau, by appoint-

nan':, ^et Washington at Hartford, in Connecticut, to confer upon their future

novements. The season being so far advanced, that it was thought imprudent
or the French army to enter upon active duties during the current campaign, it



324 THE REVOLUTION.
[1780.

was determined to have the main body of it remain in camp, on Rhode Island

while the cavalry should be cantoned at Lebanon, in Connecticut, the place of

residence of Jonathan Trumbull, governor of that State. That eminent man
was the only chief magistrate of a colonj who retained his office after the change
from royal to Republican rule

;
and throughout the war, he was one of the

most efficient of the civil officers among the patriots.
1

The arrival of the French caused Clinton to be more circumspect in his

movements, and he made no further attempts to entice Washington to fight.

Yet he was endeavoring to accomplish by his own strategy, and the treason of an

American officer, what he could not achieve by force. At different times during
the war, the British officials in America had tampered, directly or

indirectly,

with some Americans, supposed to be possessed of easy virtue, but it was late in

the contest before one could be found who was wicked enough to be a traitor.

Finally, a recreant to the claims of patriotism appeared, and while the French

army were landing upon Rhode Island, and were preparing for winter quarters

there, Clinton was bargaining with Benedict Arnold for the strong military

post of West Point,
3 and its dependencies among the Hudson Highlands, and

with it the liberties of America, if possible.

Arnold was a brave soldier, but a bad man. 3 He fought nobly for freedom,

from the beginning of the war, until 1778, when his passions gained the mas-

tery over his judgment and conscience. Impulsive, vindictive, and unscrupu-

lous, he was personally unpopular, and was seldom without a quarrel with some

of his companions-in-arms. Soon after his appointment to the command at

Philadelphia,
4 he was loarried to the beautiful young daughter of Edward

Shippen, one of the len^Jng loyalists of that city. He lived in splendor, at an

expense far beyond hh income. To meet the demands of increasing creditors,

he engaged i\ fraudulent acts which made him hated by the public, and caused

charges of dishonesty and malpractices in office to be preferred against him,
before the Continental Congress. A court-martial, appointed to try him, con-

1 Jonathan TrKTibull was born at Lebanon, Connecticut, in June, 1710, and was educated at

Harvard College. He prepared for the ministry, but finally became a merchant. He was a mem-
ber of the Cor.necticut Assembly at the age of twenty-three years. He was chosen governor of

Connecticut ir. 1 769, and for fourteen consecutive years he was elected to that office. He died at

Lebanon, in August, 1785, at the age of seventy-five years. See page 323.
2
During the spring and summer of 1778, the passes of the Hudson Highlands were much

strengthened. A strong redoubt called Fort Clinton (in honor of George Clinton, then governor of

^ew York), was erected on the extreme end of the promontory of West Point. Other redoubts

frere erected in the rear; and upon Mount Independence, five hundred feet above the Point, the

>trong fortress of Fort Putnam was built, whose gray ruins are yet visible. Besides these, an
.tiormous iron chain, each link weighing more than one hundred pounds, was stretched across the

"Judson at West Point, to keep British ships from ascending the river. It was floated upon timbers,
'nked together with iron, and made a very strong obstruction. Two of these floats, with the con-

necting links, are preserved at Washington's Head .Quarters, at Newburgh; and several links of the

great chain may be seen on the parade ground, at West Point.
8 While yet a mere youth, he attempted murder. A young Frenchman was an accepted

suitor of Arnold's sister. The young tyrant (for Arnold was always a despot among his play-fellows)
disliked him, and when he could not persuade his sister to discard him, he declared he would shoot

the Frenchman if he ever entered the house again. The opportunity soon occurred, and Arnold

discharged a loaded pistol at him, as he escaped through a window. The young man left the place

forever, and Hannah Arnold lived the life of a maiden. Arnold and the Frenchman afterward met
at Honduras, and fought a duel, in which the Frenchman was severely wounded.

4 Note 3, page 287.
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victed him, but sentenced him to a reprimand only. Although Washington

performed that duty with the utmost delicacy, Arnold felt the disgrace. It

awakened vengeful feelings which, operating with the pressure of debt, made him

listen T/ith complacency to the suggestions of a bad nature. He made treason-

able overtures to Sir Henry Clinton, and by a correspondence of several months

Binder an assumed name, and with propositions couched in commercial phrases)
with the accomplished Major Andre,

1

Clinton's adjutant-general, he bargained
with the British commander to betray West Point and its dependencies into his

hands. For this service he was to receive a brigadier's commission, and
fifty

thousand dollars in cash.

The traitor managed the affair very adroitly. For a long time, Washington
had been suspicious of Arnold's integrity, but was unwilling to believe him

capable of treason. Under pretense of having private business in Connecticut,
Arnold left Philadelphia, passed through Washington's camp on the Hudson,
and on his return, he suggested to the chief that he would be glad to have com-

mand of West Point. He made many patriotic professions, and his desires were

gratified. He was appointed to the command of that post, in August, 1780,
and then all his thoughts were turned to the one great object of the betrayal of

1
Arnold's hand-writing was disguised, and he signed his letters Guslavm. Andre's letters

Were signed John Anderson. A correspondence was carried on between them for more than a

year.
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his trust. The tiino chosen for the consummation of his treasonable (lesionsO
was when Washington was absent, in September, in conference with the French

officers at Hartford, Connecticut.
1

Up to the time of his taking command of

West Point, Arnold and Andre had negotiated in writing. They had never

met, but now a personal conference was necessary. For that purpose, Andre
went up the Hudson in the sloop of war, Vulture, which anchored off Teller's

Point, just above the mouth of the Croton River. Andre was taken ashore,

near Haverstraw, on the west side of the Hudson, where, by previous appoint-

ment, he met Arnold. Before they parted [Sept. 22, 1780J, the whole matter

was arranged. Clinton was to sail up the river with a strong force, and

after a show of resistance, Arnold was to surrender West Point and its depend-
encies into his hands. But all did not work well. Some Americans dragged
an old iron six-pound cannon (yet preserved at Sing Sing) to the end of Teller's

Point, and with it so galled the Vulture, that she was driven from her anchor-

age, and, dropping down the river, disappeared from Andre's view. He was

consequently compelled to cross to the eastern side of the Hudson in disguise,

and make his way toward New York, by land. At Tarrytown, twenty-seven
miles from the city, he was stopped [Sept. 23] and searched by three young
militia men,

2

who, finding papers concealed in his boots,
3
took him to the near-

est American post. Colonel Jameson, the commander, could not seem to com-

prehend the matter, and unwisely allowed Andre to send a letter to Arnold,

then at his quarters opposite West Point. The alarmed and warned traitor im-

mediately fled down the river in his barge, and escaped to the Vulture in safety,

leaving behind him his young wife and infant son, who were kindly treated by

Washington.*
The unfortunate Major Andre was tried and found guilty as a spy, and was

hanged on the 2d of October, 1780, at Tappan opposite Tarrytown, while the real

miscreant escaped. Strenuous efforts were made to gain possession of Arnold, and

save Andre, but they failed,
5 and that accomplished officer, betrayed by circum-

stances, as he said in a letter to Washington, "into the vile condition of an

enemy in disguise," suffered more because of the sins of others, than of his own.

Washington would have spared Andre, if the stern rules of war had permitted.

1

Page 323.
9 John Paulding, David "Williams, and Isaac Van "Wart, all residents of "Westehester county.

Ajidre offered them large bribes if they would allow him to pass, but they refused, and thus saved

ttheir country from ruin.
1 These papers are well preserved. After being in private hands more than seventy years, they

urere purchased, and deposited in the New York State Library, in 1853.
4
Washington returned from Hartford on the very morning of Arnold's escape, and reached his

quarters (yet standing opposite West Point) just after the traitor had left. The evidences of his

treason were there, and officers were sent in pursuit, but in vain. Washington sent the wife and
son of Arnold to New York, whither the traitor was conveyed by the Vulture. That infant, who
was named James Robertson Arnold, was born at West Point He became a distinguished officer

in the British army, having passed through all the grades of office, from lieutenant. On the accession

of Queen Victoria, in 1835, he was made one of her aids-de-camp, and rose to the rank of major-

general, with the badge of a Knight of the Royal Hanoverian Guelphic Order.
*
Serjeant Charripe, of Lee's legion [page 333], went into New York City, in the disguise of a

deserter, joined the corps which had been placed under Arnold's command, and had every thing

arranged for carrying off the traitor, in a boat, to the New Jersey shore. On the very day when he

was to execute his scheme, at night, Arnold's corps were ordered to Virginia, and Champe was-

compelled to accompany it There he escaped, and joined Lee in the Carolinas.
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CAPTOR'S MEDAL.*

The young soldier has always been more pitied than blamed
;
while the nam?

of Arnold will ever be regarded with the bitterest scorn.
1

Although he did not

accomplish his wicked schemes, he received the stipulated reward for his treason-

able services. And history, too, has given him its reward of recorded shame,
while those who were instrumental in securing

Andre, and with him the evidences of the foul

treason, are honored by the nation with its ever-

lasting gratitude. Thankful for deliverance from

the dangers of treason, Congress voted [Nov. 3,

1780] each of the three young militia men, a sil-

ver medal and a pension of two hundred dollars a

year, for life. And marble monuments have been

erected to their memories
;

3
while the sentiment of

sympathy for the unfortunate Andre, has also caused a memorial to him, to be

erected at Tarrytown, upon the spot where he was executed.

And now another year drew to a close, and yet the patriots were not sub-

dued. England had already expended vast treasures and much blood in en-

deavors to subjugate them
; and, on account of the rebellion, had involved

herself in open war with France and Spain. Notwithstanding all this, and

unmindful of the fact that a large French land and naval armament was already
on the American shores,

4
she seemed to acquire fresh vigor as every new ob-

stacle presented itself. And when the British ministry learned that Holland,
the maritime rival of England, was secretly negotiating a treaty with the United

States for loans of money and other assistance, they caused a declaration of war

against that government to be immediately proclaimed [Dec. 20, 1780], and

procured from Parliament immense appropriations of men and money, ships and

stores, to sustain the power of Great Britain on land and sea.

CHAPTER VIII.

SEVENTH TEAR OF THE WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE. [1781.]

ONE of the noblest displays of true patriotism, for which the war for Inde-

pendence was so remarkable, signalized the opening of the year 1781. Year

1 Benedict Arnold was born in Norwich, Connecticut, in January, 1730. He was bred to the

business of an apothecary, and for some time carried on that, with bookselling, in New Haven.
We have already met him in his career during the war, up to the time of his treason. We shall

meet him again, in Virginia [page 330], with the enemy. At the close of the war, he went to En-

gland, then to Nova Scotia, but he was everywhere despised. He died in London, in June, 1801,

where, just three years afterward, his wife also died.
8 On one s de is the word "

FIDELITY," and on the other,
" VINCIT AMOR PATRI.E" " The love

of country conquers."
3 To Paulding, in Sts Peter's church-yard, about two miles from Peekskill, and to Van Wart in

Greenburg church-yard, a little more than that distance from Tarrytown. Williams was buried in

Schobarie county, where a monument is about to be erected to his memory.
4
Page 323.
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after year the soldiers had suffered e"very privation, from lack of money and

clothing. Faction had now corrupted the Continental Congress, and the public

welfare suffered on account of the tardiness of that body in the performance of

its legitimate duties. Continental money had become almost worthless,
1

and

the pay of officers and men was greatly in arrears. The frequent promises of

Congress had been as frequently unfulfilled, and the common soldiers had cause

to be dissatisfied with the illiberal interpretation which their officers gave to

the terms of enlistment.
2

They had asked in vain for aid
;
and finally, on the

first day of January, 1781, thirteen hundred of the Pennsylvania line, whose

time, as they understood it, had expired, left the camp at Morristown,
3

with the

avowed determination of marching to Philadelphia, and in person demanding

justice from the national legislature. General Wayne
4
was in command of the

Pennsj'-lvania troops, and was much beloved by them. He exerted all his influ-

ence, by threats and persuasions, to bring them back to duty until their griev-

ances should be redressed. They would not listen to his remonstrances
; and,

on cocking his pistol, they presented their bayonets to his breast, saying, "We
respect and love you ;

often have you led us into the field of battle, but we are

no longer under your command
;
we warn you to be on your guard ;

if you fire

your pistol, or attempt to enforce your commands, we shall put you instantly

to death." Wayne appealed to their patriotism ; they pointed to the impo-
sitions of Congress. He reminded them of the strength their conduct would

give to the enemy ; they exhibited their tattered garments and emaciated forms.

They avowed their willingness to support the cause of freedom, for it was dear

to their hearts, if adequate provision could be made for their comfort, and then

boldly reiterated their intention to march directly to Philadelphia, and demand

from Congress a redress of their grievances.

Finding threats and persuasions useless, Wayne concluded to accompany
the mutineers. When they reached Princeton, they presented the general with

a written programme of their demands. It appeared reasonable
;
but not being

authorized to promise them any thing, the matter was referred to Congress.
That body immediately appointed a commission to confer with the insurgents.

The result was a compliance with their just demands, and the disbanding of a

large part of the Pennsylvania line, for the winter, which was filled by new

recruits in the spring.
6

1

Page 245. Thirty dollars in paper were then worth only one in silver.
9 The terms, as expressed, were, that they should "serve for three years, or during the war;"

that is, for three years if the war continued, or be discharged sooner if the war should end sooner.

The officers claimed that they were bound to serve as long as the war should continue.
3 The head-quarters of Washington were now at New Windsor, just above the Hudson High-

lands. The Pennsylvania troops were cantoned at Morristown, New Jersey ;
and the New Jersey

troops were at Pompton, in the .same State.
*
Page 298.

6
Intelligence of this revolt reached Washington and Sir Henry Clinton on the same day.

Washington took measures immediately to suppress the mutiny, and prevent the bad influence of its

xample. Sir Henry Clinton, mistaking the spirit of the mutineers, thought to gain great advantage

by the event He dispatched two emissaries, a British sergeant, and a New Jersey Tory named

Ogden, to the insurgents, with the written offer that, on laying down their arms and marching to

New York, they should receive their arrearages, and the amount of the depreciation of the Conti-

nental currency, in hard cash
;
that they should be well clothed, have a free pardon for all past

offenses, and be taken under the protection of the British government ;
and that no military service
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On the 18th of January, a portion of the New Jersey line, at Pompton,

followed the example of their comrades at Morristown. The mutiny was soon

quelled [January 27], but by harsher means than Wayne had employed. Gen-
eral Robert Howe 1

was sent by Washington, with five hundred men, to restore

order. Two of the ringleaders were hanged, and the remainder quietly sub-

mitted. These events had a salutary effect. They aroused Congress and the

people to the necessity of more efficient measures for the support of the army.
Taxes were imposed and cheerfully paid ;

a special agent, sent abroad to obtain

loans, was quite successful,
2 and a national bank

3
was established at Philadel-

phia, and placed under the charge of Robert Morris,
4
to whose superintendence

Congress had recently intrusted the public Treasury. To his efforts and finan-

cial credit, the country was indebted for the means to commence offensive opera-
tions in the spring of 1781. He collected the taxes, and by the free use of his

ample private fortune, and his public credit, he supplied the army with flour

and other necessaries, and doubtless prevented their disbanding by their own
act.

Let us now turn our attention to events in the South. While half-starved,

half-naked troops were making such noble displays of patriotism amid the snow3

should be required of them, unless voluntarily offered. Sir Henry requested them to appoint agents
to treat with his and adjust the terms of a treaty; and, not doubting the success of his plans, ho
went to Staten Island himself, with a large body of troops, to act as circumstances might require.
Like his masters at home, he entirely misapprehended the spirit and the incentives to action of the

American soldiers. They were not mercenary not soldiers by profession, fighting merely for hire.

The protection of their homes, their wives and little ones, and the defense of holy principles, which
their general intelligence understood and appreciated, formed "the motive-power and the bond of union
of the American army ;

and the soldier's money stipend was the least attractive of all the induce-

ments which urged him to take up arms. Yet as it was necessary to his comfort, and even his

existence, the want of it afforded a just pretext for the assumption of powers delegated to a few.

The mutiny was a democratic movement : and, while the patriot felt justified in using his weapons
to redress grievances, he still looked with horror upon the armed oppressors of his country, and

regarded the aot and stain, of treason, under any circumstances, as worse than the infliction of death.

Clinton's proposals were, therefore, rejected with disdain. "See, comrades," said one of the leaders,
" he takes us for traitors. Let us show him that tho American army can furnish but one Arnold,
and that America has no truer friends than we." They immediately seized the emissaries, who,
being delivered, with Clinton's papers, into the hands of Wayne, were tried and executed as spies,

and the reward which had been offered for their apprehension was tendered to the mutineers who
seized them. They sealed the pledge of their patriotism by nobly refusing it, saying,

"
Necessity

wrung from us the act of demanding justice from Congress, but we desire no reward for doing our

duty to our bleeding country !" A committee of Congress, appointed to report on the condition of

the army, said, a short time previous to this event, that it was "
unpaid for five months

;
that it

seldom had more than six days' provisions in advance, and was, on several occasions, for sundry
successive days, without meat

;
that tho medical department had neither sugar, coffee, tea, choco-

late, wine, nor spirituous liquors of any kind, and that every department of the army was without

money, and had not even the shadow of credit left."
*
Page 292.

*
Colonel John Laurens [See page 348], a son of Henry Laurens [page 348], had been sent

to France to ask for aid. Whilo earnestly pressing his suit, with Vergennes, the French minister,
one day, that official said, that the king had every disposition to favor the United States. This

patronizing expression kindled the indignation of the young diplomatist, and he replied with empha-
sis,

"
Favor, sir ! The respect which I owe to my country will not admit the term. Say that the

obligation is mutual, and I will acknowledge the obligation. But, as the last argument I shall offer

to your Excellency, the sword which I now wear in defense of France, as well as my own country,
unless the succor I solicit is immediately accorded, I may be compelled, within a short time, to draw

against France, as a British subject." This had the effect intended. The French dreaded a recon-

ciliation of the colonies with Great Britain, and soon a subsidy of one million two hundred thousand

dollars, and a further sum, as a loan, was granted. The French minister also gave a guaranty ibr

a Dutch loan of about two millions of dollars.
1
This was called the Bank of North America, and was the first institution of the kind estab-

lished in this country.
*
Page 264.
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of New Jersey, Arnold, the arch-traitor,
1 now engaged in the service of his

royal master, was commencing a series of depredations upon lower Virginia,

with about sixteen hundred British and Tory troops, and a few armed vessels.

lie arrived at Hampton Roads
2
on the 30th of December. Anxious to distin-

guish himself, he pushed up the James River, and after destroying [January 5,

1781] a large quantity of public and private stores at Richmond, and
vicinity,

he went to Portsmouth [Jan. 20], opposite Norfolk, and made that his head-

quarters. Great efforts were made by the Americans to seize and punish the

traitor. The Virginia militia men were collected in great numbers, for the

purpose ;
and Jefferson, then governor of that State, offered a reward of five

thousand guineas for his capture.
3 La Fayette was sent into Virginia, with

twelve hundred men, to oppose him
;
and a portion of the French fleet went

[March 8, 1781] from Rhode Island, to shut him up in the Elizabeth River,

vnd assist in capturing him. But all these efforts failed. He was brave, vigil-

ant, and exceedingly cautious. Admiral Arbuthnot
4

pursued and attacked the

French fleet on the 16th of March, and compelled it to return to Newport ;
and

General Phillips soon afterward joined Arnolft [March 26], with more than

two thousand men, and took the chief command. In April, the traitor accom-

panied Phillips on another expedition up the James River, and after doing as

much mischief as possible between Petersburg and Richmond, he returned to

New York.
5 We shall meet Arnold presently on the New England coast.

8

During the year 1781, the southern States became the most important
theater of military operations. General Greene

7 was appointed, on the 30th of

October, 1780, to succeed General Gates in the direction of the southern army.
He first proceeded to Hillsborough, to confer with Governor Nash, and other

civil oflicers of North Carolina, and arrived at the head-quarters of the army,
at Charlotte, on the second of December. On the following day he took formal

command, and Gates immediately set out for the head-quarters of Washington,
in East Jersey, to submit to an inquiry into his conduct at Camden,

8 which

Congress had ordered. Greene, with his usual energy, at once prepared to

confront or pursue the enemy, as occasion might require. He arranged his

little army into two divisions. With the main body he took post at Cheraw,
east of the Pedee, and General Morgan was sent with the remainder (about

a thousand strong) to occupy the country near the junction of the Pacolet and

Broad Rivers. Cornwallis, who was just preparing to march into North Car-

1
Page 325.

a
Page 243. s

Page 326.
4
Page 310.

* General Phillips sickened and died at Petersburg. Lord Cornwallis, who arrived from North

Carolina soon afterward [page 338] took the chief command. In a skirmish, a short distance from

Petersburg, on the 2Tth of April [1781], in which Arnold was engaged, he took some Americans

prisoners. To one of them he put the question,
" If the Americans should catch me, what would

thoy do to me?" The soldier promptly replied, "They would bury with military honors the leg

which was wounded at Saratoga, and hang the remainder of you upon a gibbet."
6
Page 340.

1 Nathanial Greene was born, of Quaker parents, in Rhode Island, in 1740. He was an anchor-

fimith, and was pursuing his trade when the Revolution broke out. He hastened to Boston after

the skirmish at Lexington, and from that time until the close of the war, he was one of the mosf

u.s*>fijl officers in the army. He died near Savannah, in June, 1786, and was buried in a vault i

thrvt city. His sepulchre can not now be identified. No living person knows in what vault his

remains were deposited, and there is no record to cast light upon the question.
"
Page 315.
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olina again,
1 when Greene made this disposition of his army, found himself in

a dangerous position, for he was placed between the two divisions. Unwilling
to leave Morgan in his rear, he sent Tarleton to capture or disperse his com-

mand. The Americans retreated before this superior force, but were overtaken

at the Cowpens, in Spartanburg district, and compelled to fight.
5

There, well

posted upon an eminence, Morgan
3 and his brave follow-

ers turned upon their pursuers. Tarleton was discon-

certed bj this movement, for he expected to overtake the

Americans while on the wing ; yet, feeling confident of

an easy victory, he quickly arranged his line in battle

order. It was now nine o'clock in the morning [January

17, 1781]. At a signal from Tarleton, his advance gave
a shout, and rushed furiously to the contest, under cover
C ,-11 -i . ] i e i . GENERAL MORGAN.

ot
artillery, and an incessant discharge or musketry.

1

Page 318.
8 The scene of the battle is among the Thicketty Mountains, west of the Broad River. It was

called Cowpens from the fact, that some time before the Revolution, some traders at Camdeu kept
herds of cows in that fertile region.

8
Daniel Morgan, commander of the famous rifle corps of the Revolution, was born in New Jer-

sey, in 17 28, and was in the humble, sphere of a wagoner, when called to the field. He had been
a soldier und^r Braddock, and joined Washington at Cambridge, in 1775. He served with distinc-

tion in the army of the Revolution, and was a farmer in Virginia after the war, where he died iu

1802.
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The Americans were prepared to receive them, and combatted with them for

more than two hours, with skill arid bravery. The British were defeated, with

a loss of almost three hundred men in killed and

wounded, five hundred made prisoners, and a large quan-

tity of arms, ammunition, and stores. It was a brilliant

victory ;
and Congress gave Morgan a gold medal, as a

token of its approbation. Colonels Howard 1 and Wash-

ington,
2
whose soldierly conduct won the battle, received

each a silver medal.

When the battle was ended. Morgan pushed forward
COLOXEL WASHINGTON. -.11 . j ^ r* A i

with his prisoners, intending to cross the Catawba, and

make his way toward Virginia. Cornwallis started in pursuit of him, as soon

as he heard of the defeat of Tarleton. He destroyed his heavy baggage, and

hastened with his whole army toward the Catawba to intercept Morgan and

his prisoners, before they should cross that stream. But he was too late. He
did not reach that river until in the evening, two hours after Morgan had

crossed. Then feeling confident of his prey, he deferred his passage of the

stream until morning. A heavy rain during the night filled the river to its

brim
;
and while the British were detained by the flood, Morgan had reached

the banks of the Yadkin, where he was joined by General Greene and his escort.

One of the most remarkable military movements on record, now occurred.

It was the retreat of the American army, under Greene, from the Catawba,

through North Carolina, into Virginia. When the waters of the Catawba had

subsided, the next day, Cornwallis crossed, and resumed his pursuit. He
reached the western bank of the Yadkin on the 3d of February [1781], just as

the Americans were safely landed on the eastern shore. There he was again
arrested in his progress by a sudden swelling of the floods. Onward the patriots

pressed, and soon again Cornwallis was in full chase. At Guilford Court-house,

the capital of Guilford county, Greene was joined [February 7], by his main

body from Cheraw,
3 and all continued the flight, for they were not strong

enough to turn and fight. After many hardships and narrow escapes during
the retreat, the Americans reached the Dan on the 13th of February, and

1 John Eager Howard, of the Maryland line. He was born in Baltimore county in 1752. He
went into military service at the commencement of the war. He was in all the principal battles of

the Revolution, was chosen governor of Maryland in 1778, was afterwad United States Senator, and
died in October, 1827.

1 William Washington, a relative of the general He was born in Stafford county, Virginia.
He entered the army under Mercer, who was killed at Princeton [page 269], and greatly distin-

guished himself at the South, as a commander of a corps of cavalry. Taken prisoner at Eutaw

Springs [page 338], he remained a captive till the close of the war, and died in Charleston, in

March, 1810. In a personal combat with Tarleton in the battle at the Cowpens, Washington
wounded his antagonist in his hand. Some months afterward, Tarleton said, sneeringly, to Mrs.

Willie Jones, a witty American lady, of Halifax, North Carolina, "Colonel Washington, I am told,

is illiterate, and can not write his own name." "Ah! colonel," said Mrs. Jones, "you ought to

know better, for you bear evidence that he can make his mark." At another time he expressed a

desire to see Colonel Washington. Mrs. Ashe, Mrs. Jores's sister, instantly replied,
" Had you

looked behind you at the Cowpens you might have had that pleasure." Stung by this keen wit,

Tarleton placed his hand upon his sword. General Leslie [page 3471, who was present, remarked,

"Say what you please, Mrs. Ashe; Colonel Tarleton knows better than to insult a lady in my
presence."

3
Page 330.
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crossed its rising waters safely into tne friendly bosom of Halifax county, in

Virginia, When Cornwallis arrived, a few hours later [February 14], the

stream was too much swollen to allow him to cross. For the third time the

waters, as if governed by a special Providence, interposed a barrier between

the pursuers and the pursued. Mortified and dispirited, the earl here aban-

doned the chase, and moving sullenly southward through North Carolina, he

3Stablished his camp at Hillsborough.

General Greene remained in Virginia only long enough to refresh his troops,

and receive recruits,
1 and then he re- crossed the Dan

[February 23], to oppose Cornwallis in his efforts to

embody the loyalists of North Carolina under the royal
banner. Colonel Lee,

2
with his cavalry, scoured the

country around the head waters of the Haw and Deep
Rivers, and by force and stratagem foiled the efforts

of Tarleton, who was recruiting in that region. On one

occasion he defeated and dispersed [March 2] a body of

three hundred loyalists under Colonel Pyle,
3
near the

Alamance Creek, after which the Tories kept quiet, and

very few dared to take up arms. Greene, in the mean

while, had moved cautiously forward, and on the first

of March [1781], he found himself at the head of almost five thousand troops.

Feeling strong enough now to cope with Cornwallis, he sought an engagement
With him, and on the 15th they met, and fiercely contended, near Guilforcl

Court-house, about five miles from the present village of

Greensborough, in Guilford county, North Carolina.

That battle, which continued for almost two hours, was

one of the severest of the war. Although the Americans

were repulsed and the British became masters of the field,

the victory was almost as destructive for Cornwallis as a

defeat.
" Another such victory," said Charles Fox in the

British House of Commons,
"
will ruin the British army."*

Both parties suffered severely ; and, in some degree, the

line of the Scotch ballad might be applied to them ;

COLONEL HENKY LEE.

BATTLE OF GUILFORD.

"
They baith did fight, they baith did beat, they baith did rin awa."

1 On his way south, to take command of the southern army, he left the Baron Steuben [page

291] in Virginia, to gather recruits, provisions, &c., and forward them to him. This service the

Baron performed with efficiency.
a
Henry Lee was born in Virginia, in 1756. He entered the military service as captain of a

Virginia company in 1776, and in 1777 joined the continental army. At the head of a legion, he

performed extraordinary services during the war, especially at the South. He was afterward gov-
ernor of Virginia, and a member of Congress. He died in 1818.

8 Lee sent two young countrymen, whom he had captured, to the camp of Pyle, to inform that

leader that Tarleton was approaching, and wished to meet him. Pyle had never seen Tarleton, and

when he came up he supposed Lee and his party to be that of the renowned British officer.

Friendly salutations were expressed, and at a word, the Americans foil upon the loyalists, killed

almost a hundred of them, and dispersed the remainder. This event took place two or three milea

from the scene of the Regulator battle mentioned on page 223.
4 That statesman moved in committee, "That his majesty's ministers ought immediately to take

every possible means for concluding peace with our American colonies." Young William Pitt, the
1
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The battalions of Cornwallis were- so shattered,
1

that he could not maintain

the advantage he had gained ;
while the Americans retreated in good ordor to

the Reedy Fork. Thoroughly dispirited, he abandoned Western Carolina, and

mored [March 19] with his whole army, to Wilmington, near the sea-board.

Greene rallied his forces and pursued the British as far as Deep River, in

Chatham county. There he relinquished the pursuit, and prepared to re-enter

South Carolina.

Lord Rawdon,
2
one of the most efficient of Cornwallis's chief officers, was

now in command of a British force at Camden. On the 6th of April, Greene

marched directly for that place, and on the 19th, he

encamped on Hobkirk's Hill, about a mile from Rawdon's

intrenchments. Six days afterward [April 25, 1781], he

was surprised
3 and defeated by Rawdon, after a sharp battle

for several hours, in which the Americans lost, in killed,

wounded, and missing, two hundred and sixty-six men.

The British lost two hundred and fifty-eight.
4 The British

retired to their works at Camden, and Greene, with his

little army, encamped for the night on the north side of

Sanders' s Creek.
6 Greene conducted his retreat so well,

HOBKIRK'S HILL. ,, ,
, . , n i- ,-M j i. -^

that he carried away all his artillery and bafffrage, with
/ / c_-O Cj I

fifty British prisoners, who were captured by Colonel Washington.
8

This defeat was unexpected to Greene,
7

yet he was not the man to be

(successor of his father, the Earl of Chatham, inveighed eloquently against a further prosecution of

the war. He averred that it was "wicked, barbarous, unjust, and diabolical conceived in injust-

ice, nurtured in folly a monstrous thing that contained every characteristic of moral depravity and
human turpitude as mischievous to the unhappy people of England as to the Americans." Yet,
as in former years, the British government was blind and stubborn stilL

1 The Americans lost in killed and wounded, about four hundred men, besides almost a thousand

Who deserted to their homes. The loss of the British was over six hundred. Among the officers

who were killed was Lieutenant-Colonel Webster, who was one of the most efficient men in the

British army. On this occasion, Greene's force was much superior in number to that of Cornwallis,
and he had every advantage of position. Events such as are generally overlooked by the historian,

but which exhibit a prominent trait in the character of the people of North Carolina, occurred during
this battle, and deserve great prominence in a description of the gloomy picture, for they form

a few touches of radiant light in the midst of the sombre coloring. "While the roar of cannon
boomed over the country, groups of women, in the Buffalo and Alamance congregations, who were
under the pastoral charge of the Reverend Dr. Caldwell, might have been seen engaged in common

prayer to the God of Hosts for his protection and aid
;
and in many places, the solitary voice of a

pious woman went up to the Divine Ear, with the earnest pleadings of faith, for the success of the

Americans. The battling hosts were surrounded by a cordon ofpraying women during those dread-

ful hours of contest
*
Page 315.

' Greene was breakfasting at a spring on the eastern slope of Hobkirk's Hill, when Rawdon's

army, by a circuitous rout through a forest, fell upon him. Some of his men were cleaning their

guns, others were washing their clothes, and all were unsuspicious of danger.
4 The number killed was remarkably small Only eighteen of the Americans, and thirty-eight

of the British, were slain on the battle-field.
*
Page 315.

6 He had captured two hundred, but hastily paroling the officers and some of the men, he took

only fifty with him.
*
Greene had some desponding views of the future at this time. To Luzerne, the French min-

ister at Philadelphia, he earnestly wrote :

" This distressed country cannot struggle much longer
without more effectual support

* * * We fight, get beaten, rise, and fight again. The whole

country is one continued scene of blood and slaughter." To La Fayette. he wrote: "You may
depend upon it, that nothing can equal the sufferings of our little army, but their merit." To Gov-

ernor Reed, of Pennsylvania, he wrote: "If our good friends, the French, cannot lend a helping
hand to save these sinking States, they must and will fall." At that time, the French army had

remained for several months inactive, in New England.
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crushed by adversity. On the morning succeeding the battle, he retired as far

as Rugeley's Mills, and then srossing the Wateree, he took a strong position

tor offensive and defensive operations. The two armies were now about equal
ia numbers, and Greene's began to increase. Alarmed by this, and for the

safety of his posts in the lower country, Rawdon set fire to Camden and

retreated [May 10, 1781] to Nelson's Ferry, on the Santee. He had ordered

Lieutenant-Colonel Cruger
1

to abandon Ninety-six
2 and join Brown at Augusta,'

and had also directed Maxwell, the commander of Fort Granby,
4
to leave that

post, and retire to Orangeburg,
6 on the North Edisto. But his orders and his

movements were made too late. Within the space of a week, four important

posts fell into the hands of the Americans,
6 and Greene was making rapid marches

toward Ninety-six. Lee had pressed forward and co-operated with Piekens in

1

Page 313.
* So called because it wag ninety-six miles from the frontier fort, Prince George, on the Keowee

River. Its site is occupied by the pleasant village of Cambridge, in Abbeville District, one hundred
and forty-seven miles north-west from Charleston.

3
Page 313.

4 On the western side of the Congaree, two miles from the present city of Columbia, South
Carolina

* On the east bank of the North Edisto, about sixty-five miles south of Columbia.
' L?e and Marion were the principal leaders against these posts. Orangeburg was taken on the

llth of May; Fort Motte on the 12th; the post at Nelson's Ferry on the 14th, and Fort Granby on
the 16th. Fort Watson, situated on the Santee, a few miles above Nelson's Ferry, was taken on
the 1 6th of A pril. Nelson's Ferry is at the mouth of Eutaw Creek, on the Santee, about fifty miles
from Charleston. Fort Motte was near the junction of the Wateree and Congaree Rivers, and was,

because ol its <reoerraphical position, the mot important of all those posts. It was composed of the

fine residence of Rbecca Mott (a widowed mother, with ix children), and temporary fortifications

constructed around it. Mrs. Motte, who was an ardent Whi?, had been driven to her farm-house

upon an eminence near by. M-irion and Lee appeared before Fort Motte with a considerable force,

but having only one piece of artillery, could make but slight impression. The expected approach
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holding the country-between Ninety-six and Augusta, to prevent a junction of

the garrisons at either of those places ;
and thus, by skillful operations, the

Americans completely paralyzed the lately potent strength of the enemy. At

the beginning of June [1781], the British possessed only three posts in South

Carolina, namely, Charleston, Nelson's Ferry, and Ninety-six.

On the 22d of May [1781], Greene commenced the siege of Ninety-six,
1

with less than a thousand regulars and a few raw militia. Koseiuszko.
2
the

brave Pole, was his chief engineer, and the post being too strong to be captured

by assault, the Americans commenced making regular ap-

proaches, by parallels.
3

Day after day the work went

slowly on, varied by an occasional sortie. For almost a

month, the efforts of the Americans were unavailing. Then

hearing of the approach of Rawdon, with a strong force, to

the relief of Cruger, they made an unsuccessful effort, on

the 18th of June, to take the place by storm. They raised

the siege the following evening [June 19], and retreated

Rawdon pursued them a short distance, when he wheeled

FORT NIXETY-SIX.

beyond the Saluda.

and marched to Orangeburg.

Although unsuccessful at Ninety-six, detachments of the Republican army
were victorious elsewhere. While this siege was pro-

gressing, Lee and Pickens, with Clarke and others of

Georgia, were making successful efforts on the Savan-

nah River. Lee captured Fort Galphin, twelve miles

below Augusta, on the 21st of May, and then he sent

an officer to that post, to demand of Brown an instant

surrender of his garrison. Brown refused, and the

siege of Augusta was commenced on the 23d. It

continued until the 4th of June, when a general as-
GENERAL PICKETS.

of Rawdon, would not allow them to make the slow process of a regular siege. Lee proposed to

hurl some burning missile upon the building, and consume it. To this destruction of her property,
Mrs. Motte at once consented, and bringing out a bow and some arrows, which had been brought
from the East Indies, these were used successfully for the purpose of conveying fire to the dry roof.

The house was partially destroyed, when the British surrendered. The patriotic lady then regaled
both the American and British officers with a good dinner at her own table. Colonel Horry (one
of Marion's officers), in his narrative, mentions some pleasing incidents which occurred at the table

of Mrs. Motte, on this occasion. Among the prisoners was Captain Ferguson, an officer of consider-

able reputation. Finding himself near Horry, Ferguson said,
" You are Colonel Horry, I presume,

sir." Horry replied in the affirmative, when Ferguson continued,
"
Well, I was with Colonel Wat-

son when he fought your General Marion on Sampit. I think I saw you there with a party of

horse, and also at Xelson's Ferry, when Marion surprised our party at the house. But," he con-

tinued,
"
I was hid in high grass, and escaped. You were fortunate in your escape at Sampit, for

Watson and Small had twelve hundred men." " If so," replid Horry, "I certainly was fortunate,
for I did not suppose they had more than half that number." "I consider myself," added the cap>

tain, "equally fortunate in escaping at Nelson's Old Field." "Truly you were," answered Horry

dryly, "for Marion had but thirty militia on that occasion." The officers present could not suppress

laughter. When Greene inquired of Horry how he came to affront Captain Ferguson, he replied,
" He affronted himself by telling his own story."

1 The principal work was a star redoubt [note 3, page 192]. There was a picketed inclosuro

fnote 1, page 127] around the little village; and on the west side of a stream running from a

spring (a) was a stockade [note 2, page 183] fort. The besiegers encamped at four different points
around the works.

a
Page 277.

* These are trenches, dug hi a zig-zag line in the direction of the fortress to be assailed. Th
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sault was agreed upon. Brown now proposed a surrender
;
and the following

day [June 5, 1781J the Americans took possession of that important post.

They lost fifty-one men, killed and wounded
;
the British lost fifty-two killed,

and three hundred and thirty-four (including the wounded) were made pris-

oners. At the close of the siege, Lee and Pickens
1

hastened to join Greene

before Ninety-six, and all, on the approach of Rawdon, retreated beyond the

Saluda, as we have observed.

The two chief commanders of the belligerent forces now changed relative

positions. When Rawdon retired toward Orangeburg, Greene became his pur-

suer, and sent a message to Marion and Sumter, then on the Santee, to take a

position in front of the enemy, so as to retard his progress.
2

Finding Rawdon

strongly intrenched at Orangeburg, Greene deemed it prudent not to attack

him. The Americans crossed the Congaree, and the main body encamped on

the High Hills of Sa?itee, in Santee district, there to pass the hot and sickly
season. Leaving his troops at Orangeburg, in the command of Colonel Stew-

art (who had come up from Charleston with a reinforcement), Rawdon went to

the sea-board and embarked for England.
3

Early in August, Greene was reinforced by North Carolina troops, under

General Sumner
;
and at the close of that month he crossed the Wateree and

Congaree, and marched upon Orangeburg. Stewart (who had been joined by

earth is cast up in such a way that the workmen are shielded from shots from the assailed works,
and in this way they get near enough to undermine a fort, or erect a battery, so as to have a power-
ful effect

1 Andrew Pickens was born in Pennsylvania, in 1739. In childhood he went to South Car-

olina, and was one of the first in the field for liberty, in the upper country of that State. He was a

very useful officer, and good citizen. He died in 1817, at the age of seventy-eight years.
a

It is related that the message to Sumter from Greene was conveyed by Emily Geiger, the

daughter of a German planter in Fairfield district. He prepared a letter to that officer, but none
of his men appeared willing to attempt the hazardous service, for the Tories were on the alert, as

Rawdon was approaching the Congaree. Greene was delighted by the boldness of a young girl,

not more than eighteen years of age, who came forward and volunteered to carry the letter to Sum-
ter. With his usual caution, he communicated the contents of the letter to Emily, fearing she

might lose it on the way. The maiden mounted a fleet horse, and crossing the Wateree at the

Camden Ferry, pressad on toward Sumter's camp. Passing through a dry swamp on the second

day of her journey, she was intercepted by some Tory scouts. Coming from the direction of Greene's

army, she was an object of suspicion, and was taken to a house on the edge cf the swamp, and con-

fined in a room. With proper delicacy, they sent for a woman to search her person. No sooner

was she left alone, than she ate up Greene's letter piece by piece. After a while, the matron ar-

rived, mada a careful search, but discovered nothing. With many apologies, Emily was allowed to

pursue her journey. She reached Sumter's camp, communicated Greene's message, and soon Raw-
don was flying before the Americans toward Orangeburg. Emily Geiger afterward married Mr.

Thurwits, a rich planter on the Congaree.
3 A short time before ho sailed, Rawdon was a party to a cruel transaction which created a

great deal of excitement throughout the South. Among those who took British protection after the

fall of Charleston in 1780 [page 311], was Colonel Isaac Hayne, a highly respectable Carolinian.

When General Greene, the following year, confined the British to Charleston alone, and their pro-
tection hid no force, Hayne considered himself released from the obligations of his parole, took up
arms for his country, and was made a prisoner. Colonel Balfour was then in chief command at

Charleston, and from the beginning seemed determined on the death of Hayne. Without even the

form of a trial, that patriot was condemned to be hanged. Not one, not even the prisoner, supposed
that such a cruelty was contemplated, until the sentence was made public, and he was informed

that he had but two days to live. The men of the city pleaded for him
;
the women signed peti-

tions, and went in troops, and upon their knees, implored a remission of his sentence. All was
in vain. Rawdon had "exerted his influence to save the prisoner, but finally he consented to hig

execution, as a traitor, and he became as inexorable as Balfour. Greene was inclined to retaliate,

but, fortunately, hostilities soon afterward ceased, and the flow of blood was stopped.

22
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Cruger from Ninety-six), immediately retreated to Eutaw Springs, near the

south-west bank of the Santee, and there encamped. Greene pursued ;
and on

the morning of the 8th of September [1781], a severe battle commenced. The

British were driven from their camp ;
and Greene's troops, like those of Sum-

ter at Hanging Rock,
1

scattered among the tents of the enemy, drinking and

plundering. The British unexpectedly renewed the battle, and after a bloody
conflict of about four hours, the Americans were obliged to give way. Stewart

felt insecure, for the partisan legions were not far off, and that night the Brit-

ish retreated toward Charleston. The next day [Sept. 9, 1781], Greene ad-

vanced and took possession of the battle-field, and then sent detachments in

pursuit of the enemy. Both parties claimed the honor of a victory. It be-

longed to neither, but the advantage was with the Americans. Congress and

the whole country gave warm expressions of their appreciation of the valor of

the patriots. The skill, bravery, caution, and acuteness of Greene, were highly

applauded ;
and Congress ordered a gold medal, ornamented with emblems of

the battle, to be struck in honor of the event, and presented to him, together

with a British standard, captured on that occasion. The Americans lost, in

killed, wounded, and missing, five hundred and fifty-five. The British lost six

hundred and ninety-three.

While these events were transpiring upon the upper waters of the Santee,'

Marion, Sumter, Lee, and other partisans, were driving British detachments

from post to post, in the lower country, and smiting parties of loyalists in every
direction. The British finally evacuated all their interior stations, and retired

to Charleston, pursued almost to the verge of the city by the bold American

scouts and partisan troops. At the close of the year [1781] the British at the

South were confined to Charleston and Savannah
;
and besides these places,

they did not hold a single post south of New York. Late in the season

[November] Greene moved his army to the vicinity of Charleston,
3

placing it

between that city and the South Carolina Legislature, then in session at Jack-

sonborough ;
while Wayne, at the opening of 1782, was closely watching the

British at Savannah.

We left Cornwallis, after the battle at Guilford Court-house, making his

way toward Wilmington,
4
then in possession of a small British garrison, under

Major Craig. Cornwallis arrived there on the seventh of April, 1781, and

remained long enough to recruit and rest his shattered army. Apprised of

Greene's march toward Camden, and hoping to draw him away from Lord

Rawdon, then encamped there,
5
he marched into Virginia, joined the forces of

Phillips and Arnold, at Petersburgh,
5
and then attempted the subjugation of

that State. He left Wilmington on the 25th of April, crossed the Roanoke at

1

Page 315.
* At Columbia, the Saluda and "Wateree join, and form the Congaree. This, with other and

smaller tributaries, form the Santee. The "Wateree, above Camden, is called the Catawba.
1 After the battle at Eutaw Springs, Greene again encamped on the High Hills of Santee, from

whence he sent out expeditions toward Charleston. The?e were successful, and the enemy was

kept close upon the sea-board during the remainder of the war.
4

Page 334.
*
Page 315.

*
Page 330.
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Halifax, and on the 20th of May, reached Petersburg. La Fayette was then

in Virginia,
1

but his force was too small effectually to oppose the invaders, and

the State seemed doomed to British rule.

For the purpose of bringing La Fayette into action, Cornwallis penetrated
the country beyond Richmond, and destroyed an immense amount of property

J

He also sent out marauding parties in various directions,
3

and for several weeks

the whole State was kept in great alarm. He finally proceeded [June, 1781]

slowly toward the coast, closely pursued by La Fayette, Wayne, and Steuben.

While lying at Williamsburg, he received [June 29] orders from General

Clinton, to take post near the sea, in order to reinforce the garrison at New
York, if necessary, which was now menaced by the combined American and

French armies. He crossed the James River [July 9] at Old Jamestown,
where he was attacked by Wayne before he could embark his troops. Wayne
struck a severe blow, and then skillfully and hastily retreated back to

the main army under La Fayette, then only two miles distant. His loss was

inconsiderable, but the attack damaged the British seriously. After crossing
the river, Cornwallis proceeded by land to Portsmouth, opposite Norfolk

;
but

disliking that situation, he went to Yorktown, on the York River, and com-

menced fortifying that place and Gloucester Point, opposite.

The French army under Rochambeau,
4
in the mean while, had left New

England, and made its way to the Hudson River, where

it joined [July 6, 1781] that of the Americans, in the

vicinity of Dobbs' Ferry.
6 At that time, Washington,

who had the immediate command of the American

forces, contemplated an attack upon the British in New
York city. For six weeks the two armies remained in

Westchester waiting for the arrival of the Count De

Grasse, an eminent French naval commander, to co-

operate in the attack. While preparing to strike the

blow, Clinton was reinforced [August 11] by nearly three OOUNT DB

thousand troops from Europe; and intelligence came

from De Grasse that he could not then leave the West Indies. Thus foiled,

Washington turned his thoughts to Virginia ;
and when, a few days afterward,

he learned from De Barras, the successor of Ternay,
6
in command of the French

1

Page 330.
4 The principal object of Cornwallis in marching beyond Richmond, was to prevent a junction

with La Fayette of troops under Wayne, then approaching through Maryland. But the marquia
was too expert, outmarched the earl, and met Wayne on the 10th of June.

*
Colonel Simcoe, commander of an active corps called the Queen's Rangers, was sent to capture

or destroy stores at the junction of the Fluvanna and Rivanna Rivers. Cornwallis also dispatched
Tarleton to attempt the capture of Governor Jefferson and the Legislature, who had fled from Rich-

mond to Cbarlottesville, near the residence of Mr. Jefferson. Seven members of the Legislature fell

into his hands [June 4], and Mr. Jefferson narrowly escaped capture by fleeing from his house to

the mountains.
4 The Count Rochambeau was born at Vendome, in France, in 1725. He was a distinguished

officer in the French army, and after his return from America, was made a Field Marshal by his

king. He was pensioned by Bonaparte, and died in 1807.
*
Page 257.

*
Admiral Ternay died at Newport, soon after the arrival of the fleet there, in the summer of

1780. His remains were deposited in Trinity Church-yard there, and a marble slab was placed
over his grave.
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fleet at Newpor^ that De Grasse was about to sail for the

Chesapeake, he resolved to march southward, and assist

La Fayette against Cornwallis. He wrote deceptive let-

ters to General Greene in New Jersey, and sent them so

as to be intercepted by Sir Henry Clinton.
1 He thus

blinded the British commander to his real intentions
;
and

it was not until the allied armies had crossed the Hudson,

passed through New Jersey, and were inarching from the

DelaAvare toward the head of Chesapeake Bay,
2
that Clin-

COUXT DE GRASSE. ton was convinced that an attack upon the city of New
York was not the object of Washington's movements. It

was then too late for successful pursuit, and he endeavored to recall the Amer-
icans by sending Arnold to desolate the New England coast. Although there

was a terrible massacre perpetrated by the invaders at Fort Griswold
3

[Septem-
ber 6, 1781], and New London, opposite (almost in sight of the traitor's birth-

place),
4 was burned, it did not check the progress of Washington toward that

goal where he was to win the greatest prize of his military career. Nor did

reinforcements sent by water to aid Cornwallis, effect their object, for when

Admiral Graves arrived off the Capes [September 5], De Grasse was there to

guard the entrance to the Chesapeake.
5 He went out to fight Graves, but after

a partial action, both withdrew, and the French fleet was anchored [September

10] within the Capes.'

While Cornwallis was fortifying Yorktown and Gloucester, and the hostile

fleets were in the neighboring waters, the allied armies, twelve thousand strong,
7

were making their way southward. They arrived before Yorktown on the 28th

of September, 1781
;
and after compelling the British to abandon their out-

works, commenced a regular siege. The place was completely invested on the

30th, the line of the allied armies extending in a semi-circle, at a distance of

almost two miles from the British works, each wing resting upon the York

River. Having completed some batteries, the Republicans opened a heavy can-

nonade upon the town and the British works on the evening of the 9th of Oc-

1 These letters directed Greene to prepare for an attack on New York.
3 This is generally called in the letters and histories of the time, "Head of Elk," the narrow,

upper part of the Chesapeake being called Elk River. There stands the village of Elkton.
8 Arnold landed at the mouth of the Thames, and proceeded to attack Fort Trumbull, near New

London. The garrison evacuated it, and the village was burned. Another division of the expe-
dition went up on the east side ofthe Thames, attacked Fort Griswold at Groton, and after Colonel

Ledyard had surrendered it, he and almost every man in the fort were cruelly murdered, or badly
wounded. There is a monument to their memory at Groton.

4 He was born at Norwich, at the head of the Thames, a few miles north of New London. See

note 1, page 327.
6 Graves intended to intercept a French squadron, which was on its way with heavy cannons

and military stores for the armies at Yorktown. He was not aware that De Grasse had left the

West Indies.
8 The place of anchorage was in Lynn Haven Bay. The hostile fleets were in sight of each

other for five successive days, but neither party was anxious to renew the combat.
7
Including the Virginia militia, the whole of the American and French forces employed in the

siege, amounted to a little over sixteen thousand men. Of the Americans, about seven thousand

were regular troops, and four thousand militia. The French troops numbered about five thousand,

including those brought by De Grasae from the West Indies.
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tober. On the following evening they hurled red-hot balls among the British

shipping in front of the town, and burned several vessels. Hour after hour,
disasters were gathering a fearful web of

difficulty around Cornwallis. De-

spairing of aid from Clinton, and perceiving his strong fortifications crumbling
one by one, under the terrible storm of iron from a hundred heavy cannons, ho

attempted to escape on the night of the 16th, by crossing to Gloucester, break-

ing through the French troops stationed there, and making forced marches to-

ward New York. When the van of his troops embarked, the waters of the

York River were perfectly calm, although dark clouds were gathering in the

horizon. Then a storm arose as sudden

and as fearful as a summer tornado, dis-

persed the boats, compelled many to put

back, and the attempt was abandoned.
1

Hope now faded
;
and on the 19th, Corn-

wallis surrendered the posts at York-

town and Gloucester, with almost seven

thou3and British soldiers, and his ship-

ping and seamen, into the hands ofWash-

ington and De Grasse.
2

The ceremony, on the occasion of

the surrender, was exceedingly impos-

ing. The American army was drawn

up on the right side of the road lead-

ing from Yorktown to Hampton (see

map), and the French army on the left,

mile in length. Washington, upon his white charger, was at the head of the

American column
;
and Rochambeau, upon a powerful bay horse, was at the

head of the French column. A vast concourse of people, equal in number, ac-

cording to eye-witnesses, to the military, was also assembled from the sur-

rounding country to participate in the joy of the event. Universal silence pre-

vailed as the vanquished troops slowly marched out of their intrenchments, with

their colors cased, and their drums beating a British tune, and passed between

the columns of the combined armies. All were eager to look upon Lord Corn-

wallis, the terror of the South,
8
in the hour of his adversity. They were dis-

1 Note 4, page 247.
a The British lost one hundred and fifty-six killed, three hundred and twenty-six wounded, and

seventy missing. The combined armies lost, in killed and wounded, about three hundred. Among
the spoils were seventy-five brass, and one hundred and sixty iron cannons

;
seven thousand seven

hundred and ninety-four muskets
; twenty-eight regimental standards

;
a large quantity of musket

and cannon-balls
;
and nearly eleven thousand dollars in specie in the military chest. The army

was surrendered to "Washington, and the shipping and seamen to De Grasse. The latter soon after-

ward left the Chesapeake, and went to the West Indies. Rochambeau remained with his troops in

Virginia during the winter, and the main body of the American army marched north, and went into

winter quarters on the Hudson. A strong detachment, under General St. Glair [page 276], was
lent south to drive the British from Wilmington, and reinforce the army of General Greene, then

lying near Charleston.
' The conduct of Lord Cornwallis, during his march of over fifteen hundred miles through the

Southern States, was often disgraceful to the British name. He suffered dwelling-houses to be

plundered of every thing that could be carried off
j
and it was well known that his lordship's table

SIEGE OF YORKTOWN.

Their lines extended more than a
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appointed ;
he had given himself up to vexation and despair, and, feigning

illness, he sent General O'Hara with his sword, to lead the vanquished army to

the field of humiliation. Having arrived at the head of the line, General

O'Hara advanced toward Washington, and, taking off his hat, apologized for the

absence of Earl Cornwallis. The commander-in-chief pointed him to General

Lincoln for directions. It must have been a proud moment for Lincoln, for

only the year before he was obliged to make a humiliating surrender of his

army to British conquerors at Charleston.
1

Lincoln conducted the royal troops

to the field selected for laying down their arms, and there General O'Hara

delivered to him the sword of Cornwallis. Lincoln received it. and then po-

litely handed it back to O'Hara, to be returned to the earl.

The delivery of the colors of the several regiments, twenty-eight in num-

ber, was next performed. For this purpose, twenty-eight British captains,

each bearing a flag in a case, were drawn up in line. Opposite to them, at a

distance of six paces, twenty-eight American sergeants were placed in line to

receive the colors. An ensign was appointed by Colonel Hamilton, the officer

of the day, to conduct this interesting ceremony.- When the ensign gave the

order for the British captains to advance two paces, to deliver up their colors,

and the American sergeants to advance two paces to receive them, the former

hesitated, and gave as a reason, that they were unwilling to surrender their

flags to non-commissioned officers. Hamilton, who was at a distance, observed

this hesitation, and rode up to inquire the cause. On being informed, he will-

ingly spared the feelings of the British captains, and ordered the ensign to

receive them himself, and hand them to the American sergeants. The scene is

depicted in the engraving.

Clinton appeared at the entrance to Chesapeake Bay a few days afterward,

with seven thousand troops, but it was too late. The final blow which struck

down British power in America had been given. The victory was complete ;

and Clinton returned to New York, amazed and disheartened.

Great was the joy throughout the colonies when intelligence of the capture
of the British army reached the people. From every family altar where a love

of freedom dwelt from pulpits, legislative halls, the army, and from Congress,
3

was furnished with plate thus obtained from private families. His march was more frequently that

of a marauder than an honorable general. It is estimated that Virginia alone lost, during Corn-
wallis's attempt to reduce it, thirty thousand slaves. It was also estimated, at the time, from the best

information that could be obtained, that, during the six months previous to the surrender at York-

town, the whole devastations of his army amounted in value to about fifteen millions of dollars.
1

Page 311.
9
Ensign Robert Wilson, of General James Clinton's New York Brigade. He was the youngest

commissioned officer in the army, being then only eighteen years of age. He was afterward a magis-
trate in central New York for a number of years, and was for some time postmaster at Manlius, in

Onondago county. He died in 1811.
* A mess3nger, with a dispatch from "Washington, reached Philadelphia at midnight. Soon the

watchmen in the streets cried,
" Past twelve o'clock, and Cornwallis is taken." Before dawn the

exulting people filled the streets; and at an early hour, Secretary Thomson [page 227] read that

cheering letter to the assembled Congress. Then that august body went in procession to a temple
of the living God [Oct. 24th, 1781], and there joined in public thanksgivings to the King of kings,
for the great victory. They also resolved that a marble column should be erected at Yorktown, to

commemorate the event
;
and that two stands of colors should be presented to Washington, and two

pieces of cannon to each of the French commanders, Rochambeau and De Grasse.
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there went up a shout of thanksgiving and praise to the Lord God Omnipotent,
for the success of the allied troops, and these were mingled with universal eulo-

gies of the great leader and his companions in arms. The clouds which had

lowered for seven long years, appeared to be breaking, and the splendors of

the dawn of peace burst forth, like the light of a clear morning after a dismal

night of tempest and woe. And the desire for peace, which had long burned

in the bosom of the British people, now found such potential expression, as to

be heeded by the British ministry. The intelligence of the fate of Cornwallis

and his party, fell with all the destructive energy of a bomb-shell in the midst

of the war-party in Parliament;
1 and the stoutest declaimers in favor of bay-

onets and gunpowder, .Indians and German mercenaries,
2
as fit instruments for

enslaving a free people, began to talk of the expediency of peace. Public

opinion soon found expression in both Houses of Parliament
;
and Lord North3

and his compeers, who had misled the nation for twelve years, gave way
under the pressure of the peace sentiment, and retired from office on the 20th

of March, 1782. The advocates of peace then came into power ;
and early in

the following May, Sir Guy Carleton4 arrived in New York, with propositions

for a reconciliation.

CHAPTER IX.

CLOSING- EVENTS OF THE WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE. [17821789.]

GENERAL GREENE, with the main body of the Southern army, was yet on

the High Hills of Santee, when, on the 30th of October [1781], intelligence

of the capture of Cornwallis reached him. The day of its arrival was made

jubilant with rejoicings by the army. The event seemed to be a guaranty for

the future security of the Republicans in the South, and Governor Rutledge"

soon called a Legislative Assembly, to meet at Jacksonborough, to re-establish

civil authority. An offer of pardon for penitents, brought hundreds of Tories

from the British lines at Charleston, to accept the clemency. The North Caro-

lina Tories were dismayed, for immediately after the surrender of Cornwallis,

St. Clair
6 had marched upon Wilmington, when the frightened enemy imme-

diately abandoned that post, and Major Craig, the commander, and a few

followers, took post upon St. John's Island, near Charleston. Yet the vigilance

of the Americans was not allowed to slumber, for a wary foe yet occupied the

capitals of South Carolina and Georgia. Marion and his men kept
l

'

r"tch and

ward" over the region between the Cooper and the Santee,
7
while Greene's main

1 Lord George Germaine said that Lord North received the intelligence "as he would have
done a cannon-ball in his breast." He paced the room, and throwing his arms wildly about, kept
exclaiming,

"
0, God ! it is all over, it is all over !"

8
Page 246. 3

Page 224. 4
Page 240. *

Page 310. Page 276.
T On one occasion, Marion's brigade pufifered a severe defeat, while the commander was attend-
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army lay near the Edisto
;
and Wayne, always vigilant, kept the enemy as

close within his intrenchments at Savannah. Washington, who returned to the

North immediately after the surrender, was, at the same time, keeping Clinton

and his army close prisoners in New York.

While the theater of war was thus narrowing, British statesmen of all

parties, considering the capture of Cornwallis and his army as the death-blow

to all hope for future conquests, turned their attention to measures for an

honorable termination of the unnatural war. General Conway, the firm and

long-tried friend of the Americans, offered a resolution in Parliament in Febru-

ary [1782], which was preliminary to the enactment of a decree for command-

ing the cessation of hostilities. It was lost by only one vote. Thus encouraged,

ng his duties as a member of the South Carolina Legislature. He left his men in command of

Colonel Horry, and near the Santee, Colonel Thompson (afterward the eminent Count Rumford)
attacked the corps, with a superior force, and dispersed it. Marion arrived during the engagement^
rallied his brigade, and then retired beyond the Santee, to reorganize and recruit. Benjamin
Thompson wis a native of Massachusetts, and was born in March, 1753. He became a school-

master, and while acting in that capacity, he married a rich widow. Already his mind was filled

with scientific knowledge, and now he pursued his studies and investigations with energy. When
the Revolution broke out, he refused to take part in political matters. The Whigs drove him to

Boston for British protection, and he was sent to England by Lord Howe, with dispatches.
Toward

the close of the war, he commanded a corps of Tories at New York and Charleston. He returned

to^Europe,
became acquainted with the sovereign of Bavaria, made himself exceedingly useful, was

raised to the highest dignity, and was created a count. After suffering many vicissitudes, he died, near

Paris, in August. 1814. His daughter, the Countess of Rumford, who was born in America, died as

Conco>i, New Hampshire, in 1852. See Lossing's Eminent Americans.
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the opposition pressed the subject warmly upon the attention of the House of

Commons and the nation, and on the 4th of March, Conway moved "That th$

House would consider as enemies to his majesty and the country all those whc

flhould advise, or by any means attempt, the further prosecution of offensive

war on the Continent of North America." The resolution was carried without

a division, and the next day the attorney-general introduced a plan for a truce

with the Americans. Orders for a cessation of hostilities speedily went forth

to the British commanders in America, and preparations were soon made for

evacuating the cities of Savannah and Charleston.

When General Leslie, the British commander at Charleston, was apprised

of these proceedings in Parliament, he proposed to General Greene a cessation

of hostilities. Like a true soldier, Greene referred the matter to Congress, and

did not for a moment relax his vigilance. Leslie also requested Greene to allow

him to purchase supplies for his army, at the same time declaring his intention

to evacuate Charleston. Greene was unwilling thus to nourish a viper, until

his power to injure was destroyed, and he refused. Leslie then resorted to

force to obtain provisions. Already he had made several efforts to penetrate
the country for the purpose, and now, late in August, he attempted to ascend

the Combahee,
1 when he was opposed by the Americans under General Gist, of

1 Page 42.
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the Maryland line. Colonel John Lanrens 1

volunteered in the service
;
and in

a skirmish at day-break, on the 25th of August, he was killed. He was greatly

beloved by all, and his death was mourned with real sorrow. His was almost

the last life sacrificed in that glorious old war. The blood of one other was

shed at Stono Ferry," a few weeks afterward, when Captain Wilmot was killed in

a skirmish with a British foraging party.

Several weeks previous to this, the British had evacuated Savannah. That

event occurred on the llth of July, when General Wayne, in consideration of

the eminent services of Colonel James Jackson,
3

appointed him to "receive the

keys of the city of Savannah" from a committee of British officers. He per-

formed the duty with great dignity, and on the same day the American army
entered the city. Royal power then ceased in Georgia, forever. On the 14th

of December following, the British evacuated Charleston, and the next day, the

Americans, under General Greene, took possession of it, greeted from windows,

balconies, and even house-tops, with cheers, waving of handkercniefs, and cries

of "God bless you, gentlemen! Welcome! Welcome!" The British

remained in New York almost a year longer (until the 25th of November,

1783), under the command of Sir Guy Carleton, who had succeeded Sir Henry
Clinton, because the final negotiations for peace wers not completed, by ratifi-

cation, until near that time.

Measures were now taken by Congress and the British government to

arrange a treaty of peace. The United States appointed five commissioners for

the purpose, in order that different sections of the Union might be represented.

These consisted of John Adams, John Jay, Benjamin Franklin, Thomas Jef-

ferson, and Henry Laurens. These met Richard Oswald, the English com-

missioner, at Paris, and there, on the 30th of November, 1782, they signed a

preliminary treaty.
4 French and English commissioners also signed a treaty

of peace on the 20th of January following. Congress ratified the action of its

commissioners in April, 1783, yet negotiations were in progress until September

following, when a definitive treaty was signed [September 3, 1783] at Paris/

In that treaty, England acknowledged the Independence of the United

States
;
allowed ample boundaries, extending northward to the Great Lakes.

1 Note 2, page 329. a
Page 2.

* James Jackson was one of the most eminent men in Georgia He was born in England, in

September, 1757, and came to America in 1772. He studied law at Savannah, and was an active

soldier during the whole war for Independence. When a little past thirty years of age, he was
elected governor of Georgia, but declined the honor on account of his youth. He was a member
of the United States Senate for some time, and was governor of his State for two years. He died,

while at "Washington, as United States senator, in 1808, and his remains are in the Congressional

burial-ground. See his portrait on page 347.
4
Vergennes, the French minister, was dissatisfied with the manner in which the matter ha<1

been conducted. It was understood, by the terms of the alliance between the United States and
France (and expressly stated in the instructions of the commissioners), that no treaty should bo

signed by the latter without the knowledge of the other. Yet it was done on this occasion. A
portion of the American commissioners doubted the good faith of Vergennes, because he favored

Spanish claims. Dr. Franklin, however, trusted Vergennes implicitly, and the latter appears to

have acted honorably, throughout. The cloud of dissatisfaction soon passed away, when Franklin,
with soft words, explained the whole matter.

'
It was signed, on the part of England, by David Hartley, and on that of the United States, by

Dr. Franklin, John Adams, and John Jay.
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and westward to the Mississippi, and an unlimited right of fishing on the banks

of Newfoundland. The two Floridas were restored to Spain. At the same

time, definitive treaties between England, France, Spain, and Holland, were

signed by their respective commissioners,
1 and the United States became an

active power among the nations of the earth.
2

A great work had now been accomplished, yet the joy of the American

people, in view of returning peace and prosperity, was mingled with many
gloomy apprehensions of evil. The army, which, through the most terrible

sufferings, had remained faithful, and become conqueror, was soon to be dis-

banded
;
and thousands, many of them made invalids by the hard service in

which they had been engaged, would be compelled to seek a livelihood in the

midst of the desolation which war had produced.
3 For a long time the public

treasury had been empty, and neither officers nor soldiers had received any pay
for their services. A resolution of Congress, passed in 1780 [October 21], to

allow the officers half pay for life, was ineffective, because funds were wanting.

Already the gloomy prospect had created wide-spread murmurings in the army,
and there were many men who sighed for a stronger government. They ascribed

the weakness of the Confederation to its republican form, and a change, to be

wrought by the army, was actually proposed to Washington. Nicola, a foreign

officer in a Pennsylvania regiment, made the proposition, in a well-written letter,

and not only urged the necessity of a monarchy, but endeavored to persuade

Washington to become king, by the voice of the army. The sharp rebuke of the

commander-in-chief [May, 1782], checked all further movements in that direction.

The general discontent soon assumed another shape, and on the llth of

March, 1783, a well-written address was circulated through the American camp

(then near Newburg), which advised the army to take matters into its own

hands, make a demonstration that should arouse the fears of the people and of

Congress, and thus obtain justice for themselves.
4 For this purpose a meeting

of officers was called, but the great influence of Washington prevented a

response. The commander-in-chief then summoned all the officers together,

laid the matter before them [March 15], and obtained from them a patriotic

expression of their faith in the "justice of Congress and the country." In a

few days the threatening cloud passed away, and soon after this event Congress
made arrangements for granting to the officers full pay for five years, instead

of half pay for life; and to the soldiers full pay for four months, in partial

liquidation of their claims. This arrangement was not satisfactory, and discon-

1 That between Great Britain and Holland was signed on the second.
a John Adams was the first minister of the United States to Great Britain. He was politely

received by King George the Third
;
and that monarch was faithful to his promises to preserve

inviolate the covenant he had made by acknowledging the independence of the new Republic.
3 The army, consisting of about ten thousand men, was then encamped on the Hudson, near

Newburg.
4
This address was anonymous, but it was afterward acknowledged to be the production of John

Armstrong, then a major, and one of General Gates's aids. It is believed that Gates and other

officers were the instigators of the scheme, and that Armstrong acted under their direction. Ha
was an accomplished writer, and was much in public life after the war. He was United States min-

ister to France for six years, from 1804. He was Secretary of "War in 1814; and died ill Duchess

county, New York, in 1843, in the eighty-fifth year of his age.
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tent still prevailed.
1

In the mean while [March 2] the preliminary treaty had

arrived. On the eighth anniversary of the skirmish at Lexington [April 19,

1783], a cessation of hostilites was proclaimed in the army, and on the 3d of

November following, the army was disbanded by a general order of Congress. A
small force was retained under a definite enlistment, until a peace establishment

should be organized.
2

These were now at West Point, under the command of

General Knox. The remainder of that glorious band of patriots then quietly
returned to their homes, to enjoy, for the remnant of their lives, the blessings of

the liberty they had won, and the grateful benedictions of their countrymen.
Of the two hundred and thirty thousand Continental soldiers, and the fifty-six

thousand militia who bore arms during the war, the names of only two are now

[1 867] on the pension list !* And the average of these must be full ninety years.

The British army evacuated the city of New York on the 25th of Novem-

ber, 1783. With their departure, went, forever, the last instrument of royal

power in these United States. On the morning of that day a cold, frosty,

but clear and brilliant morning the American troops,

under General Knox,
4 who had come down from West

Point and encamped at Harlem, marched to the Bowery

Lane, and halted at the present junction of Third

Avenue and the Bowery. Knox was accompanied by

George Clinton,
6
the governor of the State of New

York, with all the principal civil officers. There they
remained until about one o'clock in the afternoon, when

the British left their posts in that vicinity and marched

to Whitehall." The American troops followed, and
GOVERNOR CLINTON.

1 In May, 1783, a portion of the Pennsylvania troops, lately arrived from the South, marched
to Philadelphia, where they were joined by others, and for three hours they stood at the door of the

State House, and demanded immediate pay from Congress. St. Glair, then in command there,

pacified them for the moment, and Washington soon quelled the mutiny. See page 328.
* A great portion of the officers and soldiers had been permitted, during the summer, to visit

their homes on furlough. The proclamation of discharge, by Congress, was followed by "Washing-
ton's farewell address to his companions in arms, written at Rocky Hill, New Jersey, on the 3d of

November. He had already issued a circular letter (Newburg, June 8th, 1783) to the governors
of all the States on the subject of disbanding the army. It was designed to be laid before the sev-

eral State Legislatures. It is a document of great value, because of the soundness of its doctrines,

and the weight and wisdom of its counsels. Four great points of policy constitute the chief theme
of his communication, namely, an indissoluble union of the States; a sacred regard for public justice;

the organization of a proper peace establishment ; and a friendly intercourse among the people of the

several States, by which local prejudice might be effaced.
"
These," he remarks, "are the pillars on

which the glorious fabric of our independency and national character must be supported." No
doubt this address had great influence upon the minds of the whole people, and made them yearn
for that more efficient union which the Federal Constitution soon afterward secured.

* Great Britain sent to America, during the war, one hundred and twelve thousand five hun-

dred and eighty-four troops for the land service, and more than twenty-two thousand seamen. Of
all this host, not one is known to be living. One of them (John Battin) died in the city of New
York, in June, 1852, at the age of one hundred years and four months.

4
Henry Knox, the able commander of the artillery during the Revolution, was born in Boston,

in 1740. He entered the army at the commencement of the war. He was President Washington's

Secretary of War, and held that office eleven years. He died at Thomaston, in Maine, in 1806.
* Like Governors Trumbull [page 323] and Rutledge [page 310], Clinton, in a civil capacity,

<vas of immense service to the American cause. He was born in Ulster county, New York, in 1739.

He was governor about eighteen years, and died in 1812, while Vice-President of the United

Btatea. See page 404
' Now the South Ferry to Brooklyn.
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before three o'clock General Knox took formal possession of Fort George amid

the acclamations of thousands of emancipated freemen, and the roar of artillery

upon the Battery.

On Thursday, the 4th of December, Washington met his officers, yet re*

maining in service, at his quarters, corner of Broad and Pearl-streets, New

York, for the last time. The scene, as described by Marshall,
1

the best of the

early biographers of Washington, was one of great tenderness. The commander-

in-chief entered the room where they were all waiting, and taking a glass of

wine in his hand, he said,
" With a heart full of love and gratitude, I now take

1 John Marshall, the eminent Chief Justice of the United States, was born in Fauquier county,

Virginia, in 1755, and was the eldest of fifteen children by the same mother. He entered the mil-

itary service, in the Virginia militia, against Dunmore [page 244], in 1775, and was in the battle at

the Great Bridge [see page 243]. He remained in service, as an excellent officer, until early in

1780, when he studied law, and became very eminent in his profession. He was again in the field in

1781. In 1782 he was a member of the Virginia Legislature. He was chosen Secretary of War in

1800, and the next year was elevated to the Chief Justiceship of the United States. His Life of

Washington was published in 1805. Judge Marshall died at Philadelphia in 1835, in the eightieth

year of his age. He was an exceedingly plain man, in person and habits, and always carried his

own marketing home in his hands. On one occasion, a young housekeeper was swearing lustily

because he could not hire a person to carry his turkey home for him. A plain man, standing by
offered to perform the service, and when they arrived at the door, the young man asked,

" What
shall I pay you?" "Oh, nothing," replied the old man; "you are welcome; it was on my way,
and no trouble." " Who is that polite old gentleman who brought home my turkey for me ?" in-

quired the young man of a bystander.
"
That," he replied,

"
is John Marshall, Chief Justice of the

United States." The astonished young man exclaimed, "Why did he bring home my turkey?"
" To give you a severe reprimand," replied the other, "and to learn you to attend to your own bus-

iness." The lesson was never forgotten.
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GENERAL MIFFLIN.

leave of you. I most devoutly wish that your latter days may be as prosperous
and happy as your former ones have been glorious and honorable." Having
drank, he continued, "I can not coine to each of you to take my leave, but

shall be obliged to you if each will come and take me by the hand." Knox,
who stood nearest to him, turned and grasped his hand, and, while the tears

flowed down the cheeks of each, the commander-in-chief kissed him. This he

did to each of his officers, while tears and sobs stifled utterance. Washington
soon left the room, and passing through corps of light infantry, he walked in

silence to Whitehall, where he embarked in a barge for Elizabethtown, on his

way to Annapolis, in Maryland, where Congress was in session. There, on the

23d of December, he resigned into its custody the com-

mission which he received [June 16, 1775J from that

body more than eight years before.
1 His address on

that occasion was simple and touching, and the re-

sponse of General Mifflin," the president, was equally

affecting. The spectacle was one of .^reat moral sub-

limity. Like Cincinnatus, Washington, having been

instrumental, under Providence, in preserving the lib-

erties of his country and achieving its independence,
laid down the cares of State and returned to his plow.

A few months before the final disbanding of the army, many of the officers,

then at Newburg, on the Hudson, met [June 19, 1783] at the head-quarters ot

the Baron Steuben, situated about two miles from the Fishkill

Ferry, and there formed an association, which they named the

SOCIETY OF THE CINCINNATI. The chief objects of the Society
were to promote cordial friendship and indissoluble union among
themselves

;
to commemorate, by frequent re-unions, the great

struggle they had just passed through ;
to use their best en-

deavors for the promotion of human liberty ;
to cherish good

feeling between the respective States
;
and to extend benevolent

aid to those of the Society whose circumstances might require
it. They formed a General Society, and elected Washington
its first president. They also made provision for the formation

of auxiliary State societies. To perpetuate the Association, it

was provided, in the constitution, that the eldest male descend-

ant of an original member should be entitled to bear the ORDER,
and enjoy the privileges of the Society. The Order" consists

tf a gold eagle, suspended upon a ribbon, on the breast of which is a medallion

1

Page 238. At the same time "Washington rendered the account current of his expenditures,
for reconnoitering, traveling, secret service, and miscellaneous expenses, amounting to about

$74,480. He would receive nothing in compensation for his own services as commander-i:i-ohie
a Thomas Mifflin was born in Philadelphia in 1744. He was a Quaker [note 7, page 94], but

joined the patriot army in 1775, and rapidly rose to the rank of major-general He was a member
of Congress after the war, and also governor of Pennsylvania. He died in January, 1800.

4 An order is a badge,' or visible token of regard or distinction, conferred upon persons for mer-
itorious services On the breast of Baron Steuben on page 291, is the order of Fidelity, presented
to him by Frederic the Great of Prussia, for his services in the army of that monarch. Some of the

ORDER.
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with a device, representing Cincinnatus receiving the Roman senators.
1

Sev-

eral State societies are yet [1883] in existence.

The war was ended, and peace was guarantied, but the people had much to

do in the adjustment of public affairs, so as to lay the foundations of permanent

prosperity, and thus secure the liberty and independence proclaimed and

acknowledged. The country was burdened with a heavy debt, foreign and do-

mestic,
2 and the Articles of Confederation

3

gave Congress no power to dis-

charge them, if it had possessed the ability. On its recommendation, however,
the individual States attempted to raise their respective quotas, by direct tax-

ation. But all were impoverished by the war, and it was found to be impos-
sible to provide means even to meet the arrears of pay due the soldiers of the

Revolution. Each State had its local obligations to meet, and Congress could

not coerce compliance with its recommendations.

This effort produced great excitement in many of the States, and finally, in

1786, a portion of the people of Massachusetts openly rebelled. Daniel Shays,
who had been a captain in the continental army, marched at the head of a thou-

sand men, took possession of Worcester, and prevented a session of the Supreme
Court. He repeated the same at Springfield. The insurrection soon became

so formidable, that Governor Bowdoin was compelled to call out several thou-

sand militia, under General Lincoln, to suppress it. Lincoln captured one hun-

dred and fifty of the insurgents, and their power was broken. A free pardon

was, finally, offered to all privates who had engaged in the rebellion. Several

leaders were tried, and sentenced to death, but none were executed, for it was

perceived that the great mass of the people sympathized with them. This epi-

sode is known as Shays's Rebellion.

We have already noticed the fact that the Pope was unfriendly to England,*
and looked with favor upon the rebellious movements of her colonies. Soon

after the treaty of peace was concluded [Sept. 3, 1783], the Pope's Nuncio at

Paris made overtures to Franklin, on the subject of appointing an apostolic

vicar for the United States. The matter was referred to Congress, and that

body properly replied, that the subject being purely spiritual, it was beyond
their control. The idea of entire separation between the State and spiritual

governments the full exercise of freedom of conscience was thus early enun-

orders conferred by kings are very costly, being made of gold and silver, and precious stones. The

picture of the order of the Cincinnati, given on the preceding page, is half the size of the original
1 Cincinnatus was a noble Roman citizen. When the Romans were menaced with destruction

by an enemy, the Senate appointed delegates to invite Cincinnatus to assume the chief magistracy
of the nation. They found him at his plow. He immediately complied, raised an army, subdued

the enemy, and, after bearing the almost imperial dignity for fourteen days, he resigned his office,

and returned to his plow. How like Cincinnatus were Washington and his compatriots of the War
lor Independence I

"
According to an estimate made by the Register of the Treasury in 1790, the entire cost of the

War for Independence, was at least one hundred and thirty millions of dollars, exclusive of vast sums
lost by individuals and the several States, to the amount, probably, of forty millions more. The

treasury payments amounted to almost ninety-three millions, chiefly in continental bills. The foreign

debt amounted to eight millions of dollars
;
and the domestic debt, due chiefly to the officers and

soldiers of the Revolution, was more than thirty millions of dollars.

2 Note 1, page 267, and Supplement.
4 Page 266.
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siated. The Pope accordingly appointed the Reverend John Carroll, of

Maryland, to the high office of Apostolic-Vicar.
1 At about the same time,

the Church of England in the United States sought a re-organization. In

compliance with the wishes of the Churchmen of Connecticut, the Rev-

erend Samuel Seabury went to England in 1784, to obtain ordination as

bishop. The English bishops hesitating to act in consequence of the

refusal of Seabury to take the oath of allegiance to the king of England
as head of the Church, he obtained ordination by Scotch bishops at

Aberdeen.8

Three years later, the Reverend "William White, who had been elected

bishop of the diocese of Pennsylvania, was consecrated, (with Bishop

Provoost, of New York,) by the Archbishop of Canterbury ;

3 and a few

years later, the independent
" Protestant Episcopal Church in the United

States of America," was established. Such was the commencement of

two of the most prominent prelatical Churches in this country. The
Methodist Church, which has since flourished so wonderfully, was then

just taking firm root.

1 John Carroll was a native of Maryland. He was ordained to the ministry in the Koman
Catholic Church in 1769

; was consecrated a bishop in 1790, and made archbishop in 1808.
2 Samuel Seabury was a native of Connecticut. He entered the ministry in 1758, and became

the first bishop of the Protestant Episcopal Church, in this country, in 1784.
8 William White entered the ministry by ordination in London, in 1770

;
and at one time he

was chaplain to the Continental Congress. He was consecrated a bishop in 1787, and in 1789 he

presided over the convention called to consider the organization of an American Church. He
wrote the constitution of that Church ; and with the assistance of Bishop Seabury, he revised thf

Book of Common Prayer, so as to adapt it to the new order of things.
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For a long time it had been clearly perceived that, while the Articles of
Confederation formed a sufficient constitution of government during the prog-
ress of the war, they were not adapted to the public wants in the new condition

of an independent sovereignty in which the people found themselves. There

appeared a necessity for a greater centralization of power by which the general

government could act more efficiently for the public good. To a great extent,
the people lost all regard for the authority of Congress, and the commercial

affairs of the country became wretchedly deranged. In truth, every thing
seemed to be tending toward utter chaos, soon after the peace in 1783,

1 and the

leading minds engaged in the struggle for Independence, in view of the increas-

ing and magnified evils, and the glaring defects of the Articles of Confedera-

tion, were turned to the consideration of a plan for a closer union of the States,

and for a general government founded on the principles of the Declaration of

Independence, from which the confederation in question widely departed.
The sagacious mind of Washington early perceived, with intense anxiety,

the tendency toward ruin of that fair fabric which his wisdom and prowess had

helped to rear, and he took the initial step toward the adoption of measures

which finally resulted in the formation of the present Constitution of the United

States. 2 At his suggestion, a convention, for the purpose of consulting on the

best means of remedying the defects of the Federal Government, was held at

Annapolis, in Maryland, in September, 1786. Only five States (Virginia,

Delaware, Pennsylvania, New Jersey and New York) were represented. They
met on the llth of that month, and John Dickenson 3 was chosen chairman.

They finally appointed a committee to prepare a draft of a report to be made to

the Legislatures of the several States, then represented. The committee

reported on the 14th, but there not being a representation from a majority of

the States, it was thought advisable to postpone further action. They adjourned,

after recommending the appointment of deputies to meet in convention at

Philadelphia, in May following. The report was adopted and transmitted to

Congress. On the 21st of February, 1787, a committee of that body,
4 to whom

the report of the commissioners was referred, reported thereon, and strongly

recommended to the different Legislatures to send forward delegates to meet in

the proposed convention at Philadelphia. Propositions were made by delegates

from New York and Massachusetts, and finally the following resolution, sub-

mitted by the latter, after being amended, was agreed to :

"
Resolved, That in the opinion of Congress, it is expedient that on the

second Monday in May next, a convention of delegates, who shall have been

appointed by the several States, be held at Philadelphia, for the sole and

express purpose of revising the Articles of Confederation, and reporting to

Congress and the several Legislatures such alterations and provisions therein

as shall, when agreed to in Congress, and confirmed by the States, render the

1 Page 348. * Page 359. 3 Page 219.
4 The committee consisted of Messrs. Dana, Varnum, S. M. Mitchell, Smith, Cadwalader,

Irvine, Mitchell, Forest, Grayson, Blount, Bull and Few.
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Federal Constitution adequate to the exigences of the government and the

preservation of the Union."

This resolution, with a preamble, was immediately transmitted to the several

Speakers of State Legislatives Assemblies, and they were laid before the repre-

sentatives of the people in all the States of the Confederacy. While a feeling

generally prevailed, that something must be done to avert the threatened anarchy,

toward which governmental operations were rapidly tending, great caution was

observed in the delegation of powers to those who should be appointed members

of the proposed convention.
1 In May, 1787,

2

delegates from all the States,

except New Hampshire and Rhode Island,
3
assembled at Philadelphia, in the

room where Congress was in session when the Declaration of Independence was

adopted.* Washington, who was a delegate from Virginia, was, on motion of

Jlobert Morris, chosen President. Able statesmen were his associates,
6
and they

entered earnestly upon their duties. They had not proceeded far, however,

before they perceived that the Articles of Confederation were so radically

defective, and their powers so inadequate to meet the wants of the country, that,

instead of trying to amend that old code, they went diligently to work to form

A new Constitution. For some time they made but little progress. There

1 The great question that came up before the members, at the very commencement of the session

of the Convention, was,
" What powers do we possess ? Can the amendments to the Articles of

Confederation be carried so far as to establish an entirely new system ?"
s The day fixed for the assembling of the Convention, was the 14th of May. On that day, del-

egates from only half the States were present The remainder of the delegates did not all arrive

before the 25th.
8
Ignorant and unprincipled men, who were willing to liquidate public and private debts by the

jigency of unstable paper money, controlled the Assembly of Rhode Island, and that body refused

to elect delegates to the Convention. But some of the best and most influential men hi the State

joined in sending a letter to the Convention, in which they expressed their cordial sympathy with
the object of that national assembly, and promised their adhesion to whatever the majority might
propose. The following are the names of the delegates :

New Hampshire. John Langdon, John Pickering, Nicholas Oilman, and Benjamin West.
Massachusetts. Francis Dana, Elbridge Gerry, Nathaniel Gorham, Rufus King, and Caleb Strong.
Connecticut. William Samuel Johnson, Roger Sherman, and Oliver Ellsworth.

New York. Robert Yates, John Lansing, Jr., and Alexander Hamilton.

New Jersey. David Brearley, William Churchill Houston, William Paterson, John Neilson,
William Livingston, Abraham Clark, and Jonathan Dayton.

Pennsylvania. Thomas Mifflin, Robert Morris, George Clymer, Jared Ingersoll, Thomas Fitz-

eunmons, James Wilson, Gouverneur Morris, and Benjamin Franklin.

Delaware. George Read, Gunning Bedford, Jr., John Dickenson, Richard Bassett, and Jacob
Brown.

Maryland. James M'Henry, Daniel of St. Thomas Jenifer, Daniel Carroll, John Francis Mercer,
and Luther Martin.

Virginia. George Washington, Patrick Henry, Edmund Randolph, John Blair, James Madison,
Jr.. George Mason, and George Wythe. Patrick Henry having declined his appointment, James
M'Clure was nominated to supply his place.

North Carolina. Richard Caswell, Alexander Martin, William Richardson Davie, Richard
Dobbs Spaight, and Willie Jones. Richard Caswell having resigned, William Blount was appointed
a deputy in his place. Willie Jones having also declined his appointment, his place was supplied by
Hugh Williamson.

South Carolina. John Rutledge, Charles Pinckey, Charles C. Pinckney, and Pierce Butler.

Georgia. William Few, Abraham Baldwin, William Pierce, George Walton, William Houston,
and Nathaniel Pendleton. 4

Page 250.
* The members who were most conspicuous as debaters in the Convention, were Randolph,

Madison, and Mason, of Virginia ; King, Gerry, and Gorham, of Massachusetts : Gouverneur Mor-

ris, Wilson, and Dr. Franklin, of Pennsylvania ; Johnson, Sherman, and Ellsworth, of Connecticut;

Lansing and Hamilton, of New York; the two Pinckneys, of South Carolina; Paterson, of New
Jersey ; Martin, of Maryland ; Dickenson, of Delaware

;
and Dr. Williamson, of North Carolina,
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great diversities of opinion,
* and it seemed, after several days, that the conven-

tion must, of necessity, dissolve without accomplishing any thing. Some pro-

posed a final adjournment. At this momentous crisis, Dr. Franklin arose, and

said to the President, "How has it happened, sir, that while groping so long
in the dark, divided in our opinions, and now ready to separate without accom-

plishing the great objects of our meeting, that we have hitherto not once thought
of humbly applying to the Father of Lights to illuminate our understandings ?

In the beginning of the contest with Britain, when we were sensible of danger,
we had daily prayers in this room for divine protection. Our prayers, sir,

were heard, and graciously answered.
" He closed by saying, "The longer

I live the more convincing proofs I see of the truth that God governs
in the affairs of men" and then moved that "henceforth, prayers, im-

ploring the assistance of Heaven, and its blessings on our deliberations,

be held in this Assembly every morning before we proceed to business."

The resolution was not adopted. On a memorandum of it, Franklin

wrote, "The Convention, except three or four members, thought prayers

unnecessary."
After long and animated debates, the Convention referred all propositions,

reports, etc.
,
which had been agreed to from time to time, to a Committee of

Detail, consisting of Rutledge, Randolph, Gorham, Ellsworth,
2 and Wilson.

The Convention then adjourned, and ten days afterward [August 6, 1787] it

met, and that committee reported a rough sketch of the Constitution, as it now
stands. Now, again, long and sometimes angry debates were had. Amend-
ments were made, and all were referred to a committee for final revision.

That committee submitted the following resolution on the 12th of September,
which was adopted :

1 Edmund Randolph submitted a plan on the 29th of May, in a series of Resolutions, which
was known as the '

'Virginia Plan.
"

It proposed to form a general government, composed of a

legislature, and an executive andjudiciary department; arevenue, and an army and navy, inde-

pendent of the control of the several States ;
to have power to conduct war, establish peace, and

make treaties; to have the exclusive privilege of coining money, and the general supervision of
all national transactions. Upon general principles, this plan was highly approved; but in that
Convention there weremany ardent and pure patriots, who looked upon the preservation ofthe
State sovereignties as essential, and regarded this proposition as an infringement upon State

Rights. Mr. Paterson also submitted a plan for amending theArticles of Confederation. It pro-
posed to enlarge the powers of Congress, but left its resources and supplies to be found through
the medium of theState governments. This was one of the most serious defectsof the oldLeague

a dependence of the general government upon the State governments for its vitality. Other

propositions were submitted from time to time, and the most intense solicitude was felt by evt ry
member. Subjects of the most vital interest were ably discussed, from day to day; but none
created more earnest debate than a proposition for the general government to assume the debts
of the States contracted in providing means for carrying on the war. The debts of the several

States were unequal. Those of Massachusetts and South Carolina amounted to more than ten
millions and a half of dollars, while the debts of all the other States did not extend, in the

aggregate, to fifteen millions. This assumption was finally made, to the amount of twenty-
one millions five hundred thousand dollars. See page 370.

2 Oliver Ellsworth was one of the soundest men in the convention, and was ever one of the
most beloved of the New England patriots. He was born in Windsor, Connecticut, in April, 1745.

He was educated at Yale College, and at Princeton, and at the age of twenty-five, he commenced
the practice of law at Hartford. He was an eloquent speaker, and became very eminent in

his profession. He was a member of the Continental Congress in 1777, and in 1784 he was

appointed Judge of the Superior Court of Connecticut. He was the first United States senator

from Connecticut, under the new Constitution, and in 1796 he was appointed Chief Justice

of the United States. He wns an embassador to the French court from 1799 to 1801. He
died in November, 1807, at the age of sixty-two years. See next page.
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"Resolved unanimously, That t}ie said report, with the resolutions and

letters accompanying the same, be transmitted to the several Legislatures, in

'Order to be submitted to a convention of delegates chosen in each State by
the people thereof, in conformity to the resolves of the Convention, made and

provided, in that case."

The new Constitution, when submitted to the people,
1 found many and able

-opposers. State supremacy, sectional interests, radical democracy, all had nu-

merous friends, and these formed the phalanx of opposition. All the persuasive

eloquence of its advocates, with pen and speech, was needed to convince the

people of its superiority to the Articles of Confederation, and the necessity for

its ratification. Among its ablest supporters was Alexander Hamilton,
2 whose

1 The Convention agreed to the revised Constitution on the 15th of September, and on the 17th
rit was signed by the representatives of all the States then present, except Randolph, Gerry, and
!Mason. The Constitution was submitted to Congress on the 28th, and that body sent copies of it

'to all the State Legislatures. State Conventions were then called to consider it
;
and more than a

-jear elapsed before the requisite number of States had ratified it. These performed that act in the

following order: Delaware, Dec. 7, 1787; Pennsylvania, Dec. 12, 1787; New Jersey, Dec. 18,

1787; Georgia, Jan. 2, 1788; Connecticut, Jan. 9, 1788; Massachusetts, Feb. 6, 1788; Maryland,

April 28, 1788; South Carolina, May 23, 1788; New Hampshire, June 21, 1788; Virginia, June

25,1788; New York, July 26, 1788; North Carolina, Nov. 21, 1788; Rhode Island, May 29,

1790.
a Alexander Hamilton was born on the Island of Nevis, British West Indies, in January, 1757.

"He was of Scotch and French parentage. He became a clerk to a New York merchant at St

'Croix, and he was finally brought to New York to be educated. He was at King's (now Columbia)

College, and was distinguished as a good speaker and writer, while yet a mere lad. When the Rev-
olution broke out, he espoused the Republican cause, entered the army, became Washington's favor-

ite aid and secretary, and was an efficient officer until its close. He made the law his profession,

&ad, as an able financier, he was made the first Secretary of the Treasury, under the new Constitu-
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pen and sword had been identified with the career of Washington during almost

the whole War for Independence. He gave to its advocacy the whole weight of

his character and power of his genius ; and, aided by Jay and Madison, he scat-

tered broadcast among the people, those able papers called Th? Federalist.

These, like Paine's Crisis, stirred the masses
;
and soon eleven States, in Con-

vention assembled, gave the National Constitution their support, and ratified

it. Congress then fixed the time for choosing electors for President and Vice-

President,
1 and provided for the organization of the new government. On

Wednesday, the 4th day of March, 1789, the old Continental Congress' ex-

pired, and the NATIONAL CONSTITUTION became the organic law of the

Republic. This was the crowning act of the War for Independence,
3 and

then the UNITED STATES OF AMERICA commenced their glorious career as a

powerful empire among the nations of the earth.

tion. He was shot in a duel, by Aaron Burr, in July, 1804, at the early age of forty-seven years.
His widow, daughter of General Schuyler, died in November, 1854, in the ninety-seventh year of
her age.

1 These are men elected by the people in the various States, to meet and choose a President and
Vice-President of the United States. Their number is equal to the whole number of Senators and

Representatives to which the several States are entitled. So the people do not vote directly for tho
Chief Magistrate. Formerly, the man who received the highest number of votes was declared to

be President, and he who received the next highest number was proclaimed Vice-President Now
these are voted for as distinct candidates for separate offices. See Article II. of the National Con-

stitution, Supplement. The first electors were chosen on the first Wednesday in February, 1789. The

inauguration of the first President did not take place [page 366] until the 30th of April following
2

Page 226.
3 For details of the history, biography, scenery, relics, and traditions ofthe War for Independ-

ence, see Lossing's Pictorial 'Field Book of the Revolution.
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Congress was in session at New York while the Convention at Philadelphia

was busy in preparing the National Constitution. During that time it disposed

of the subject of organizing a Territorial Government for the vast region north-

ward of the Ohio River, within the domain of the United States.
1 On the llth

of July, 1787, a committee of Congress reported
" An Ordinance for the Gov-

ernment of the Territory of the United States North-west of the Ohio." This

report embodied a bill, whose provisions in regard to personal liberty and distri-

bution of property, were very important. It contained a special proviso that

the estates of all persons dying intestate, in the territory, should be equally
divided among all the children, or next of kin in equal degree, thus striking

down the unjust law of primogeniture, and asserting a more republican prin-

ciple. The bill, also, provided and declared, that "there shall be neither

slavery nor involuntary servitude in the said territory, otherwise than in the

punishment of crimes whereof the party shall have been duly convicted." This

ordinance was adopted on the 13th, after adding a clause relative to the reclam-

ation of fugitives from labor, similar to that incorporated in the National Con-

stitution a few weeks later.
2

This ordinance, together with the fact that Indian titles to seventeen mil-

lions of acres of laud in that region, had been latel} extinguished by treatj

1

Page 390.
a See the National Constitution, Article IV.. Section 2. Clause 3,
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with several of the dusky tribes,
1

caused a sudden and great influx of immi-

grants into the country along the northern banks of the Ohio. Manasseh Cut-

ler, Rufus Putnam, Winthrop Sargent, and other New Englanders, organized
the

" Ohio Company," and entered into a contract for the sale of a tract of five

millions of acres, extending along the Ohio from the Muskingum to the Scioto."

A similar contract was entered into with John Cleves Symmes, of New Jersey,
for the sale of two millions of acres, between the Great and Little Miamis.

These were the first steps taken toward the settlement of the vast North-west

Territory, which embraced the present States of Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, Mich-

igan, and Wisconsin. It was estimated that, during the year following the

organization of that Territory [1788], full twenty thousand men, women, and

children had passed down the Ohio River, to become settlers upon its banks.

Since, then, how wonderful has been the progress of settlement beyond the

Alleghanies ! How wide and deep has been the ever-flowing tide of emigration
thither.! The original THIRTEEN STATES have now [1883] expanded into

THIRTY-EIGHT, and vast territories, destined to become numerous other States,

are rapidly filling with people.
1

1 The Six Nations [page 25], the Wyandots [page 23], the Delawares [page 20], and the

Shawnees [page 19].
* Rufus Putnam, who had been an active officer during the "War for Independence, was one of

the most efficient of the Ohio settlers. He was born in "Worcester county, Massachusetts, in 1738.

He entered the provincial army in 1757, and continued in service during the remainder of the

French and Indian "War. He entered the army of the Revolution in 1775, and at near the close of

the war, he was promoted to brigadier-general He went to the Ohio country, with about forty

settlers, in 1788. They pitched their tents at the mouth of the Muskingum River, formed a settle-

ment, and called it Marietta. Suspicious ofthe Indians, they built a stockade, and called it Campus
Martins. In 17 80, President "Washington commissioned General Putnam Supreme Judge ofthe North-
west Territory; and in 1792, he was appointed a brigadier, under "Wayne. He was appointed sur-

veyor-general of the United States in 1796
; helped to frame the Constitution of Ohio in 1802

;
and

then retired to private life. He died at Marietta hi 1824. at the age of eighty-six years. He IP

called the FATHER OP OHIO.
. 3 The following table gives the names, in alphabetical order, of the States that compose the

Republic, at this time [1883], with the area of each in square miles, and its population in 1880:

STATES. ABEA.STATES. AREA
Alabama 50,722
Arkansas 52,198
California 188,981
Colorado 104,5-0
Connecticut 4,750
Delaware 2,120
Florida 59,248

Georgia 58,000
Illinois 55,410
Indiana &3,809
Iowa 55,045
Kansas 81,318
Kentucky 37,680
Louisiana 41,346
Maine 35,000
Maryland 11,124
Massachusetts 7,800

Michigan 56,451
Minnesota 83,531

POPULATION.

1,262,505
802,525
864,694
194,327

622,700
146,608

1,542,180
3,677,871
1,978,301

1,624,615

1,648.090
939.946

648,936
934,943

1,783,085
1,636.937
780,773

Mississippi 47,156
Missouri 65,350
Nebraska 75,995
Nevada 81,531
New Hampshire 9,280
New Jersey 8,320
New York 47.00C
North Carolina 50,704
Ohio 30,964
Oregon 95,274
Pennsylvania 46,000
Rhodelsland 1,306
South Carolina 34,000
Tennessee 45,600
Texas 274,356
Vermont 10,212

Virginia 38,352
West Virginia 23,000
Wisconsin 53,924

POPULATION.

1,131,507
2,168,380
452,403
62,266

846,991
1,131,116
5,082,871
1,399,750
3,198,062
174,768

4.282,801
276,531
995,577

1,542,359
1,591,749
332,286

1,512,565
618,457

1,315,497

TheseThere are also eight organized Territories, in which population is rapidly increasing. These
are Arizona, Dakota, Idaho, Montana, New Mexico, Utah, Washington, and Wyoming Ter.

The aggregate area of these Territories is 906,650 square miles, and the aggregate population
in 1880 was 586,819 ; making the grand total of the area of the Republic 3,002,018, and of

population 50,155,783 ; besides these there is the District of Columbia, an Indian Territory,
and Alaska.
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CHAPTEK I.

WASHINGTON'S ADMINISTRATION. [17391797.]

WHEN the National Constitution
1 had received the approval of the

people, and was made the supreme law of the Republic, all minds and

hearts seemed spontaneously turned toward Washington as the best

man to perform the responsible duties of chief magistrate of the nation.

On the 6th of April, 1789, he was chosen President of the United

States by the unanimous vote of the electors,* and John Adams was

made Yice-President. The journey of Washington from Mount Yernon

to New York was like a triumphal march. He had scarcely left

his porter's lodge when he was met by a company of gentlemen
from Alexandria, who escorted him to that town. Everywhere the

people gathered to see him as he passed along the road. Towns sent

out committees to receive him, and public addresses and entertainments

1 The Constitution was ratified by Delaware, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Georgia,
Connecticut, Maryland, South Carolina and New Hampshire substantially without con-

test, but in Massachusetts and Virginia there was a strong and bitter contest over the

question. In Massachusetts those in favor of adoption waged a brave and fiercely con-
tested campaign, which resulted in the close vote of 187 to 168, February 6, 1788. In

Virginia, Washington and Madison favored the adoption, but Jefferson and Henry were
opposed to it. After a warm and spirited contest, the State Convention adopted it by a
vote of 89 to 79, July 26, 1788. North Carolina adopted it November 13, 1789, but Rhode
Island held out until ten amendments had been adopted by the requisite number of States,
and finally she yielded and adopted the Constitution May 29, 1790.

We have observed that Gouverneur Morris was one of the committee to make the
final revision of the Constitution. The committee placed it in his hands, and that instru-

ment, in language and general arrangement, is the work of that eminent man. Gouver-
neur Morris was born near New York in 1752. He was a lawyer, and was always active
in public life. In 1792 he was appointed minister to France, and after his return he was
a legislator for many years. He died in 1816.

8 Note 1, page 361.
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were given in his honor in many places. Militia companies escorted him from

place to place, and firing of cannons and ringing of bells, announced his approach

to the large towns. At Trenton, his reception was peculiar and gratifying. It

was arranged by the ladies. Over Trenton bridge an arch was thrown, which

was adorned with laurel leaves and flowers from the conservatories. Upon the.

crown, and formed of leaves and flowers, were the words,
" DECEMBER 26,

1776 ;"
' and on the sweep beneath was the sentence, also formed of flowers :

"THE DEFENDER OF THE MOTHERS WILL BE THE PROTECTOR OF THE

DAUGHTERS." Beneath that arch the President war met by a troupe of

females. As he approached, a group of little girls, bearing each a basket,

commenced strewing flowers in the road, and the whole company, young and

old, joined in singing the following ode, written for the occasion by Governor

Howell .

"
Welcome, mighty chief, once more

Welcome to this grateful shore.

Now no mercenary foe

Aims again the fatal blow

Aims at THEE the <atal blow.

Virgins fair and matrons grave,

Those thy conquering arm did save,

Build for THEE triumphal bowers

Strew your HERO'S way with flowers I"

1

Page 262.
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Washington reached New York on the 23d of April, 1789. On the

30th he appeared upon the street-gallery of the old City Hall
1

in New York,

and there, in the presence of an immense concourse of people assembled in

fi ont, the oath of office was administered to him by Chancellor Livingston.
8

After delivering an impressive address to the members of both Houses of Con-

gress, the President and the representatives of the people went in solemn pro-
cession to St. Paul's Church, and there invoked the blessings of the Supremo
Ruler upon the new government just inaugurated.

Men were never called upon to perform duties of greater responsibility, than

thoso which demanded the consideration of Washington and his compeers. Th;>

nrst session of Congress
8 was chiefly occupied in the organization of the nerr

government, and in the elaborating of schemes for the future prosperity of tho

Republic. The earliest efforts of that body were directed to the arrangement
of a system of revenues, in order to adjust and regulate the wretched financial

1
It stood on the site of the present Custom House, corner of "Wall and Broad-streets. In tb.3

picture on page 364, a correct representation of its street-gallery is given.
a One of the committee [note 2, page 251] to draft the Declaration of Independence, He was

born in New York in 1747, became a lawyer, and was always an active public man. He was
minister to France in 1801, when he purchased Louisiana for the United States. See page 390. He
joined Robert Fulton in steamboat experiments [page 398J, and died hi 1813.

3 Members of the House of Representatives are elected to seats for two years, and they

usually hold two sessions or sittings during that time. Each full term is called a Congress.
There are usually two sessions of each Congress, both commencing on the first Monday in De-

cember, and the last ending on the 3d of March. Senators ai-e elected by the State Legislatures.
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affairs of the country.
1

This subject was brought forward by Madison,
4
the

tacitly acknowledged leader in the House of Representatives, two days after the

votes for President and Vice-President had been counted. Pursuant to his suf-o

gestion. tonnage duties were levied, and also a tariff, or duties upon foreign

goods imported into the United States. These duties were made favorable to

American shipping. This was the commencement of our present, though con-

siderably modified, revenue system.

Having made provision for the collection of revenue, Congress next turned

its attention to the reorganization of the executive departments. Three Treas-

ury, War, and Foreign Affairs were created, the heads of which were to be

styled secretaries, instead of ministers, as in Europe. These the President

might appoint or dismiss with the concurrence of the Senate. They were to

constitute a cabinet council, always ready for consultation with the President,

on public affairs, and bound to give him their opinions in writing, when

required.

It may be instructive to take a brief retrospective view of the progress of

legislative action concerning the commerce of the United States from the close

of the Revolution until the time in question. In March, 1783, the younger
Pitt

3

proposed in the British Parliament, a scheme for the temporary regulation

of commercial intercourse between Great Britain and the United States. Its

chief feature was the free admission into the British West India ports of American

vessels laden with the products of American industry the West India people,

in turn, to be allowed like free trade with the United States. The proposition

was rejected, and soon an order went forth from the Privy Council,
4 for the

entire exclusion of American vessels from West India ports, and prohibiting the

importation there of several products of the United States, even in British bot-

toms. Notwithstanding this unwise and narrow policy was put in force, Mr.

Adams, the American minister at the court of St. James, proposed, in 1785,
to place the navigation and trade between all the dominions of the British crown

and all the territories of the United States, upon a basis of perfect reciprocity.

This generous offer was not only declined, but the minister was haughtily
assured that no other would be entertained. Whereupon Mr. Adams imme-

diately recommended the United States to pass navigation acts for the benefit

of their commerce.

Some individual States attempted to legislate upon commercial matters

and the subject of duties for revenue, but their efforts were comparatively

fruitless. The importance of having the united action of all the States, in

framing general navigation laws, was clearly perceived, and this perception was

one of the chief causes which led to the Convention that formed the National

Constitution.
5 The new government was inaugurated in due time, and, as we

have mentioned, the earliest efforts of Congress, under the new order of things,

were the consideration of schemes fir imposing discriminating duties.
8

These

1
Page 353.

* Note 5, page 356.
*
Page 217.

4 Note 1, page 400.
'
Page 355.

f
Page 366.
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measures immediately opened the blind eyes of British legislators to the neces-

sity of a reciprocity in trade between the two countries. They saw that Amer-
ican commerce was no longer at the mercy of thirteen distinct legislative bodies,

as under the old Confederation, nor subject to the control of the king and his

council. They perceived that its interests were guarded and its strength nur-

tured, by a central power, of wonderful energy, and soon haughty Britain

became the suppliant. Soon after the passage of the revenue laws by Con-

gress, a committee of Parliament proposed to ask the United States to con-

sent to an arrangement precisely the same as that suggested by Mr. Adams,
six years before, which was so scornfully rejected. The proposition was met

by generous courtesy on the part of the United States
; yet it was not until

1816, when the second war for Independence
1 had been some time closed, that

reciprocity treaties fairly regulated the commerce between the two countries.

During the period here referred to, another great commercial interest, then

in embryo, was under contemplation and discussion, by a few men of forecast.

It was that of the production of COTTON. Primarily it is an agricultural inte-

rest, but now, when a large portion of the cotton used in Europe is grown
in the United States, it has become a great commercial interest. Among the first

and most powerful advocates of the cultivation of this plant, was Tench Coxe,
a of

Philadelphia, who, as early as 1785, when he was only thirty years of age, pub-
lished the fact that he "

felt pleasing convictions that the United States, in its

extensive regions south of Anne Arundel and Talbot counties, Maryland, would

certainly become a great cotton-producing country." And while the National

Convention was in session in Philadelphia, in 1 787,
3 Mr. Coxe delivered a powerful

public address on that and kindred subjects, havingfor his object the establishment

of a society for the encouragement of manufactures and the useful arts. Before

that time, not a bale of cotton had ever been exported from the United States

to any other country, and no planter had adopted its cultivation, as a "
crop."

*

The Senate was engaged upon the important matter of a National judiciary,

while the Houss was employed on the Revenue bills. A plan, embodied in a

bill drafted by Ellsworth of Connecticut,
5
was, after several amendments, con-

curred in by both Houses. By its provisions, a national judiciary was estab-

lished, consisting of a supreme court, having one chief justice, and five associate

1
Page 409.

a Tench Coxe was born in Philadelphia, in May, 1755, and, as we have mentioned in the text,

was one of the earliest advocates of the cotton culture. From 1787 until his death, there was
never an important industrial movement in which he was not greatly interested, or in which his

name did not appear prominent. In 1794, while he was the Commissioner of Revenue, at Phila-

delphia, he published a large octavo volume, containing his views, as expressed in speech and

writing, on the subject of the cotton culture. In 1806, he published an essay on naval power
and the encouragement of manufactures. The following year he published an essay on the cultl

vation of cotton, and from time to time thereafter, he wrote and published his views on these

subjects. He died in July, 1824, at the age of more than sixty-eight years. See next page.
8
Page 356.

4 It has been estimated that the entire produce of cotton, in all countries, in 1791, was four hun-
dred and ninety millions of pounds, and that the United States produced only one twenty-fifth of

the entire quantity. In the years 1859-60, the ten cotton-growing States of the Union produced
four millions, six hundred and seventy-five thousand, seven hundred and seventy bales, of four

hundred pounds each, making an aggregate of 1,870,680,000 pounds. The whole world did not

produce as much cotton as this, annually, previous to the year 1840.
*
Page 360.
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justices, who were to hold two sessions annually, at the seat of the National
Government.

1

Circuit and district courts were also established, which had ju-
risdiction over certain specified cases. Each State was made a district, as were
also the Territories of Kentucky

2 and Maine. 3 The districts, except Kentucky

and Maine, were grouped together into three circuits. An appeal from these

lower courts to the Supreme Court of the United States, was allowed, as to

points of law, in all civil cases when the matter in dispute amounted to two

thousand dollars. A marshal was to be appointed by the President, for each

district, having the general powers of a sheriff, who was to attend all courts,

and was authorized to serve all processes. A district attorney, to act for the

United States in all cases in which the National Government might be inter-

ested, was also to be appointed for each district. Such, in brief outline, and

in general terms, was the National judiciary, organized at the commencement
of the Government, and still in force, with slight modifications.

The next business of importance that engaged the attention of Congress,

1 John Jay [page 379] of New York, one of the most active and acute lawyers in the country
was apppointed the first Chief Justice of the United States ;

and Edmund Randolph, of Virginia,
was made Attorney-General. Randolph succeeded Patrick Henry as governor of Virginia, in 1786,
and was very active in the Convention of 1787. See note 1, page 359. He succeeded Jefferson as

Secretary of State, and died in 1813. John Rutledge [page 210], of South Carolina; James Wilson,
of Pennsylvania ;

William Gushing, of Massachusetts
;
Robert H. Harrison, of Maryland ;

and John

Blair, of Virginia, we-e appointed associate judges.
a
Page 377. 8

Page 452.

24
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was the proposed amendment to the National Coi?.st
:

ttition, made by the minor

ities of the several conventions which ratified that instrument. This subject

was brought forward by Madison, in justice to these minorities, and pursuant
to pledges which he had found it necessary to give, in order to secure its ratifi-

cation in Virginia. These amounted, in the aggregate, to one hundred and

forty-seven,
1

besides separate bills of rights proposed by Virginia and New
York. Many of these amendments were identical in spirit, as, for example, the

nine propositions by Massachusetts were repeated by New Hampshire. And it

is a singular fact, that of all the proposed amendments, not one, judged by sub-

sequent experience, was of a vital character. How well this illustrates the

profound wisdom embodied in our Constitution ! Sixteen amendments were

finally agreed to by Congress, ten of which were subsequently ratified by the

States, and became a part of the Supreme Law," After a session of almost

six months, Congress adjourned,
3
on the 29th of September [1789], and Wash-

ington, having appointed his cabinet council,
4 made a brief tour through the

northern and eastern States, to make himself better acquainted with the people
and their resources.

5

On the 8th of January, 1790, the second session of the first Congress com-

-jaenced, during which Alexander Hamilton,* the first Secretary of the Treasury,
made some of those able financial reports which established the general line of

aational policy for more than twenty years. On his recommendation, the gen-
oral government assumed the public foreign and domestic debt incurred by the

iate war,
7 and also the State debts contracted during that period. The foreign

debt, including interest, due to France and to private lenders in Holland, with

a small sum to Spain, amounted to $11,710,378. The domestic debt, regis-

tered and unregistered, including interest, and some claims, principally the out-

standing continental money,
8 amounted to $42.414,085. Nearly one third of

this was the arrears of interest. As the government certificates, continental

1 The minority of the Pennsylvania Convention proposed 14; of Massachusetts, 9; of Maryland,
28; of South Carolina, 4; of New Hampshire, 12; of Virginia, 20; of New York, 32.

4 See Supplement.
9 A few days before the adjournment, a resolution was adopted, requesting the President of the

United States to recommend a day of public thanksgiving and prayer, to be observed by the people
of the nation, in acknowledgment of the many signal favors of the Almighty, in permitting them to

establish, in peace, a free gove^-nment
4 Alexander Hamilton was appoL.t?^ Secretary of the Treasury ,

Henry Knox, Secretary of "War
;
and Thomao Jefferson, Secretary

of Foreign Affaire. Jefferson was then United States minister at the

court of France, and did not enter upon his duties until March, 1790.

The office of Secretary of the Navy was not created until the pres-

idency of Mr. Adams. Naval affairs were under the control of the

Secretary of "War. General Knox was one of the most efficient

officers of the Revolution, having, from the beginning, the chief com-

mand of the artillery. He entered the army as captain of artillery,

and rose to the rank of major-generaL Note 4, page 350.
6
"Washington was everywhere received with great honors

;
and

Trumbull, author of APFingdi, wrote to his friend, Oliver "Wolcott.

GEXERAL KNOX. "We have gone through all the popish grades of worship ;
and the

President returns all fragrant with the odor of incense."
*

JTote 2, page 360.

Note 2, jiage 253. In that note the amount given is the principal, without the interest.

Page 24f.
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bills, and other evidences of debt, were now held chiefly by speculators, who
had purchased them at reduced rates, the idea had been put forth by prominent
men, that it would be proper and expedient to apply a scale of depreciation, as

in the case of the paper money toward the close of the war,
1

in liquidating these

claims. But Hamilton opposed it as dishonest and impolitic, arguing, in sup-
port of the latter objection, that public credit was essential to the new Federal
Government. He therefore urged that all the debts of the government should
be met according to the terms of the contract. He proposed the funding of the

public debt, in a fair and economical way, by which the public creditors should
receive their promised six per cent, interest, until the Government should ba
able to pay the principal, the Secretary assuming that, in five years, the

United States might effect loans at five, and even at four per cent., with which
these claims might be liquidated. He proposed to have the proceeds of the

post-office
2
as a sinking fund, for the gradual extinction of the debt. After

much debate, the propositions of Hamilton, in general, were agreed to by Con-

gress, on the 9th of March, 1790.
3 A system of revenue from imposts and

internal excise, proposed by Hamilton, was also adopted. A petition from
the Society of Friends, or Quakers, presented on the llth of February, on the

subject of slavery, caused long, and, sometimes, acrimonious debates. An act

was also passed, during this session, making the District of Columbia the per-
manent seat of the National Government, after the lapse of ten years from that

date.

The First Congress commenced its third session
4
in December, 1790, and

before its close, measures were adopted which laid the foundations of public
credit and national prosperity, deep and abiding. During the two years in

which the new government had been engaged in the business of organization, a

competent revenue had been provided for
;
the public debt, national and State,

had been funded, and the interest thereon had been provided for
;
a national

judiciary, wise in all its features, had been established
;
and the nation, in

its own estimation and that of other States of the world, had taken a proud

position in the great political family. North Carolina [Nov. 21, 1789] and

Rhode Island [May 29, 1790], had already become members of the Nation;il

Union, by ratifying the Constitution
;

Band during this session, Vermont"had been

admitted [February 18, 1791] as a State. Settlements were now rapidly

spreading beyond the Alleghanies,
7 and the subject of territorial organizations

1 Note 3, page 245.
a
Page 373.

s The President was authorized to borrow $12,000,000, if necessary, to pay off the foreign debt;
and a new loan was to be opened, payable in certificates, of the domestic debt, at their par value,
and in continental bills of credit, at the rate of one hundred for one. Congress also authorized an
additional loan, payable in certificates of the State debts, to the amount of $21,500,000. These

certificates were those which had been issued for services or supplies, during the war. A new-

board of commissioners was appointed, with full power to settle all claims on general principles of

equity.
4 Note 3, page 366.

'
Page 360.

* Vermont was originally called the New Hampshire Grants, and was claimed by both New
York and New Hampshire. In 1777, the people met in convention, and proclaimed the territory

an independent State. After purchasing the claims of New York for $30,000, it was admitted into

the Union.
7 The first census, or enumeration of the inhabitants of the United States, was completed in

1791. The number of all sexes and colors, was 3,929,000. The number of slaves was 695,000.
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\vas pressed upon the consideration of. Congress. Already the North-western

Territory, as we have seen,
1 had been established [July, 1787], and Tennessee

had been constituted [March 28, 1790] the Territory South-west of the Ohio?

The subject of a national currency early engaged the attention of Congress,

and at the commencement of the last session of the First Congress, a bill for

the establishment of a national bank was introduced into the Senate, in accord^

anee with the suggestion and plan of Hamilton. At that time the whole bank-

ing capital in the United States was only $2,000,000, invested in the Bank of
North America, at Philadelphia, established by Robert Morris

;

3
the Bank of

New York, in New York city, and the Bank of Massachusetts, in Boston.

The charter was limited to twenty years ;
its location was to be in the city of

Philadelphia, and its management to be intrusted to twenty-five directors.

Although chartered in January, 1791, the National Bank did not commence

its operations, in corporate form, until in February, 1794, when it began with

a capital of $10,000,000.

Early in the first session of the second Congress, the important subject of

a national mint received the attention of the representatives of the people. That

subject had been frequently discussed. As early as 1782, the topic of coins

and currency had been presented to the Continental Congress, by Gouvernenr

Morris, in an able report, written at the request of Robert Morris. In 1784,
Mr. Jefferson, as chairman of a committee appointed for the purpose, submitted

a report, agreeing with Morris in regard to a decimal system, but entirely dis-

agreeing with him in the details. 4 He proposed to strike four coins, namely,
a golden piece of the value of ten dollars

;
a dollar, in silver

;
a tenth of a dol-

lar, in silver; and a hundredth of a dollar, in copper. In 1785, Congress

adopted Mr. Jefferson's report, and made legal provision, the following year,
for a coinage upon that basis. This was the origin of our cent, dime, dollar,

and eagle. Already several of the States had issued copper coins
;

5
but the

National Constitution vested tLe right of coinage solely in the General Govern-
ment. The establishment of a Mint was delayed, however, and no special action

in that direction was taken until 1790, when Mr. Jefferson, then Secretary of

1
Page 362.

a The subject of the public lands of the United States has always been one of interest. The
first act of Congress, on the subject of limited sales, was in accordance with a scheme proposed by
Hamilton, in 1790, which provided in some degree for the protection of small purchasers. Previous
to that, not less than a tract of four thousand acres could be purchased. This was calculated to
make labor subservient to wealth, in new settlements. Hamilton's scheme was highly approved.
The minimum price of public land, previous to 1800, was two dollars per acre

;
since then, one dol-

Jar and twenty-five cents. The extent of the public domain has greatly increased, by accessions,
within a few years. At the close of 1855, there remained unsold about 96,000,000 of acres of sur-

veyed public domain, and of the unsurveved, about 136,000,000 of acres, worth, in the aggregate,
about $276,000,000. Since then nearly 200,000,000 acres have been granted for the aid of
various enterprises, notably for the construction of 15,000 miles of railway.

4 Note 3, page 263.
* Morris attempted to harmonize the moneys of all the States. Starting with an ascertained

fraction as an unit, for a divisor, he proposed the following table of moneys :

Ton units to be equal to one penny.
Ten pence to one bill.

Ten bills one dollar (or about seventy-five cents of our currency).
Ten dollars one crown.

* Note 4, page 122.
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State, urged the matter upon the attention of Congress. Still there was delay,
until on the 2d of April, 1792, laws were enacted for the establishment of a

Mint. During three years from that time, its operations were chiefly experi-

mental, and long debates were had concerning the devices for the new coins.
1

Ihe Mint was finally put into full operation, in 1795/ and has continued to

increase in its issues of coin, ever since.
3

A bill for the organization of a post-office system, was passed during the

same session that measures were adopted for the establishment of a Mint. Very
soon after the commencement of the first session of the first Congress, a letter

was received from Ebenezer Hazzard [July 17, 1789], then postmaster-general
under the old Confederation, suggesting the importance of some new regula-
tions for that department. A bill for the temporary establishment of the post
office was passed soon afterward. The subject was brought up, from time to

time, until the present system was organized in 1792. The postmaster-general
was not made a cabinet officer until the first year [1829] of President Jack-

son's administration.
4

British agents on the north-western frontier continued to tamper with the

Indians, and excite them to hostilities against the United States, for several

years after the peace of 1783.
B

And, contrary to the terms of that treaty, the

British held possession of western posts belonging to the United States. These

facts caused a prevalent belief that the British government yet hoped for an

opportunity to bring the new Republic back to colonial dependence. The pub-
lic mind in America became excited, and the fact, that Sir John Johnston6 was

the British Indian agent on that frontier, and Sir Guy Carleton (then Lord

Dorchester) was again governor of Canada,
7

strengthened that opinion and

apprehension. Finally, in the spring of 1790, the fostered discontents of the

Indians were developed into open hostilities. Attempts at pacific arrangements
were fruitless, and General Harmer was sent into the Indian country north of

the present Cincinnati, with quite a strong force, to desolate their villages and

I The Senate proposed the head of the President of the United States who should occupy the

chair at the time of the coinage. In the House, the head of Liberty was suggested, as being less

aristocratic than that of the President having less the stamp of royalty. The head of Liberty was

finally adopted.
II The first mint was located in Philadelphia, and remained the sole issuer of coin, in the United

States, until 1835, when a branch was established in each of the States of Georgia, North Carolina,
and Louisiana in Charlotte, Dahlonega, and New Orleans. These three branches went into oper-
ation in the years 1837-'38.

3 From 1793 to 1795, inclusive, the value of the whole issue was less than half a million of

dollars. Previous to the year 1830, almost the entire supply of gold for our coinage was fui.

nished by foreign countries. North Carolina was the first State of the Union that sent gold to

the Mint from its mines. Since then, almost every State has made contributions, some very
small. During the fiscal year ending in June, 1861, when the Civil War was kindling, the value

of the entire issue of coin, by the Government Mint and its branches, was $84,000,000. The

discovery of gold ia California, in 1848, opened an immense treasury, and, up to the beginning
of the war, that was the only great gold producing region within the Republic. Of the entire

amount of gold, from domestic mines, deposited in the Mint up to 1860, valued at $489,311,000,

$469,406,003 was sent from California. Adjacent territories are now [188:]] yielding largely.
4
Page 459. The operations of the post-office department increased very rapidly year after

year. In 1795, the number of post-office routes was 45.'i
;
over 13,207 miles of travel. The

ftevenue of the department was $160,620. When the Civil War began, in 1861, the number of

routes was about 9,000; the number of miles traveled, full 260,000; and the revenue nearJj

$9,000,000.
B
Page 348.

" Note 2, page 278.
T
Page 240.
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crops, as Sullivan did those of the Senecas in 1779.
1

In this he succeeded, but

m two battles [Oct. 17 and 22. 1790J, near the present village of Fort Wayne,
in Indiana, he was defeated, with considerable loss. The following year, an

expedition of Kentucky volunteers, under General Scott, marched against the

Indians on the Wabash. General Wilkinson led a second expedition against

them, in July following, and in September, General St. Clair,
2
then governor

of the North-west Territory, marched into the Indian country, with two thou-

sand m^.n. While in camp near the northern line of Darke county, Ohio, on

the borders of Indiana, he was surprised and defeated pTov. 4, 1791] by the

Indians, with a loss of about nine hundred men, killed and wounded.

The defeat of St. Clair produced great alarm on the whole north-western

frontier. Even the people of Pittsburg
3
did not feel secure, and the border

settlers called loudly for help. Fortunately the Indians did not follow up the

advantage they had gained, and for a while hostilities ceased. Commissioners

were appointed to treat with them, but through the interference of British

officials, their negotiations were fruitless. General Wayne
4 had been appointed,

in the mean while, to succeed St. Clair in military command, and apprehend-

ing that the failure of the negotiations would be followed by an immediate

attack upon the frontier settlements, he marched into the Indian country in the

autumn of 1793. He spent the winter at Greenville,
5
near the place of St.

Glair's defeat, where he built Fort Recovery. The following summer [1794]
he pushed forward to the Maumee River, and built Fort Defiance

;

a and on the

St. Mary's he erected Fort Adams as an intermediate post. On the 16th of

August he went down the Maumee, with three thousand men, and not far from

the present Maumee City,
7 he fought and defeated the Indians, on the 20th of

the same month. He then laid waste their country, and after a successful

campaign of about ninety days, he went into winter quarters at Greenville.

There, the following year, the chiefs and warriors of the western tribes, in all

about eleven hundred, met [August 3, 1795] commissioners of the United

States, made a treaty of peace, and ceded to the latter a large tract of land in

the present States of Michigan
8 and Indiana. After that, the United States

had very little trouble with the western Indians until just before the breaking
out of the war of 1812-15.'

Party spirit, which had been engendered during the discussions of the

National Constitution,
10

gradually assumed distinct forms, and during the second

session of the second Congress, it became rampant among the people, as well as

in the national legislature. Hamilton and Jefferson, the heads of distinct

departments
11

in Washington's cabinet, differed materially concerning important

public measures, and then, under the respective leadership of those statesmen,

1

Page 304.
a
Page 276.

*
Page 205.

'

Page 298.
8 In Darke county, Ohio.

At the junction of the Au Glaize with the Maumee River, in the south-east part of Williams

county, Ohio.
7 In the town of "Waynesfield. The British then occupied a fort at the Maumee Rapida,

near by.
" The British held possession of Detroit, and nearly all Michigan, until 1796. See page 380.
9
Page 409. w

Page 360.
"

Page 367.
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were drawn those lines of party distinction known as Federalist and Repub-
lican, which continued for a quarter of a century. The Federalist party was

composed of those who favored great concentration of power in the general gov-
ernment. The Republicans, on the contrary, were for diffusing power among
the people. Here were antagonistic points of great difference, and the warfare

between the parties was acrimonious in the extreme.

During the summer of 1792, very little of public interest occurred, except

the admission [June 1] of Kentucky
1

into the Union, but the marshalling of

forces for the presidential election, which was to take place in the autumn.

Washington yearned for the quiet of private life, and had expressed his deter-

mination to withdraw from public station on the expiration of his presidential

term
;
but it was made evident to his mind, that the great majority of the

people desired his continuance in office, and that the public safety demanded

it. Under these circumstances, he consented to be a candidate, and he and

Adams were re-elected by large majorities.

Yet the Republican party was daily gaining strength, partly from develop-
ments within the body politic of the United States, and partly from events then

transpiring in Europe. A bloody revolution was in progress in France. The

people there had abolished monarchy, and murdered their king, and the new

Republic in name (a political chaos in reality), having the avowed sympathies
of the Republican party in America,

2
sent M. Genet

3
as its minister to the

United States, to obtain the co-operation of the American people. The French

Republic had declared war against England, Spain, and Holland, and needed

transatlantic assistance. Remembering the recent alliance,
4 and sympathizing

with all efforts for popular freedom, the Republican party here, and also many
of the Federalists, received Genet (who arrived at Charleston, South Carolina,

in April, 1793) with open arms, and espoused his cause.

But Genet's zeal outstripped his prudence, and defeated his plans. With-

out waiting for an expression of opinions or intentions from the government of

the United States, he began to fit out privateers
6
in our ports, to depredate

upon English, Dutch, and Spanish property ;

a and when Washington prudently
issued [May 9, 1793] a proclamation, declaring it to be the duty and the inter-

1
Kentucky, which had been settled chiefly by Virginians, and was claimed as a part of the

territory of that State, was now erected into a sovereign member of the confederation. Its first

settlement, as we have seen [note 2, page 300], was at Boonesboro', by Daniel Boone, in 1775.
a There was a general burst of enthusiasm in the United States, on receipt of the intelligence of

the advent of Liberty in France, and public demonstrations of it were made in several places. In

Boston, an ox, roasted whole, was placed upon a car drawn by sixteen horses, and with the Amer-
ican and French flags displayed from its horns, was paraded through the streets, followed by carts,

bearing bread and two hogsheads of punch, which were distributed among the people. A civic

feast was held at Faneuil Hall, over which Samuel Adams [note 1, page 221] presided. In Phil-

adelphia the anniversary of the French alliance [page 283] was celebrated by a public dinner, at

which General Mifflin [page 352] presided; and in other places festivals were held.
3 Edmund Charles Genet was the son of a distinguished public man in France. He married, in

this country, a daughter of Governor George Clinton [note 5. page 350], and remained in the

United States. He died at Greenbush, opposite Albany, in 1834, aged about seventy-two years.
4
Page 283. * Note 1, page 246.

8 These cruisers brought captured vessels into our ports, and French consuls actually held

courts of admiralty, and authorized the sale of the prizes. All this was done before Genet waa

recognized as a minister by the American government.
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est of the people of the United States 'to preserve a strict neutrality toward the

contending powers of Europe, Genet persisted, and tried to excite hostility

between our people and their government. Washington finally requested and

obtained bis recal, and Fauchet, who succeeded him in 1794, was instructed to

assure the President that the French government disapproved of Genet's con-

duct. No doubt the prudence and firmness of Washington, at this time, saved

our Republic from utter ruin.

A popular outbreak in western Pennsylvania, known in history as The

Whiskey Insurrection, gave the new government much trouble in 1794. An
excise law, passed in 1791, which imposed duties on domestic distilled liquors,

was very unpopular. A new act, passed in the spring of 1794, was equally

unpopular ;
and when, soon after the adjournment of Congress, officers were

sent to enforce it in the western districts of Pennsylvania, they were resisted

by the people, in arms. The insurrection became general throughout all that

region, and in the vicinity of Pittsburg many outrages were committed.

Buildings were burned, mails were robbed, and government officers were in-

sulted and abused. At one time there were between six and seven thousand

insurgents under arms. The local militia would have been utterly impotent to

restore order, if their aid had been given. Indeed, most of the militia assem-

bled in response to a call made by the leaders of the insurgents, and these com-

posed a large portion of the " rebels." The insurgent spirit extended into the

border counties of Virginia ;
and the President and his cabinet, perceiving, with

alarm, this imitation of the lawlessness of French politics, took immediate steps

to crush the growing hydra. The President first issued two proclamations

[August 7, and September 25], but without effect. After due consideration,

and the exhaustion of all peaceable means, he ordered out a large body of the

militia of Virginia, Maryland, Pennsylvania, and New Jersey, who marched to

the insurgent district, in October [1794], under the command of General
T
Ienry Lee, then governor of Virginia.

1

This last argument was effectual
;
and

soon this insurrection, like that of Shays's, of Massachusetts, some years

earlier,* which threatened the stability of the National Government, was

allayed.

Another cloud was now rising in the political horizon. While these inter-

nal commotions were disturbing the public tranquillity, a bitter feeling was

growing up between the American and British governments. Each accused

the other of infractions of the treaty of 1783,
3 and the disputes, daily assuming

a more bitter tone, threatened to involve the two nations in another war. The

Americans complained that no indemnification had been made for negroes car-

ried away at the close of the Revolution
;*

that the British held military posts

on their frontiers, contrary to the treaty ;

6
that British emissaries had excited

the
hostility of the Indians

;

8 and that, to retaliate on France, the English had

1

Page 333. 2
Page 353. s

Page 348.
4
During the last two years of the war in the Carolinas and Georgia, and at the final evacua-

tion, the British plundered many plantations, and sold the negroes in the West Indies.
* Note 8, page 374. Page 373;
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captured our neutral vessels, and impressed our seamen into the British service.
1

The British complained that stipulations concerning the property of loyalists,
3

and also in relation to debts contracted in England before the Revolution, had

not been complied with. In order to avert an event so very undesirable as

a war with Great Britain, the President proposed to send a special envoy to the

British court, in hopes of bringing to an amicable settlement, all matters in

dispute between the two governments. The National Legislature approved of it

and on the 19th of April, 1794, John Jay
3
was appointed an envoy extraordi-

nary for the purpose.
The special minister of the United States was received with great courtesy

in England, where he arrived in June
;
and he negotiated a treaty which, at the

time, was not very satisfactory to a large portion of his countrymen. It hon-

estly provided for the collection of debts here, by British creditors, which had

J This practice was one of the causes which finally produced a war between the two nations,
in 1812. See page 409.

9 The loyalists, or Tories [note 4, page 226], who had fled from the country during the prog-
ress, or at the close of the "War for Independence, and whose property had been confiscated,
endeavoured to regain their estates, and also indemnity for their other losses. The British govern-
ment finally paid to these sufferers more than $15,000,000.

3 John Jay was a descendant of a Huguenot family [page 49], and was born hi the city of New
York in 1745. He was early in the ranks of active patriots, and rendered very important services

during the Revolution After the war he was one of the most efficient of our countrymen in laying

the foundations of our National Government, and of establishing the civil government of his

native State, of which he was chief magistrate at one time. He retired from public life hi 1801

and died in 1829, at the age of eighty-four years. His residence was at Bedford, Westcheste*

county, New York.
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been contracted before the Revolution, but it procured no redress for those who
had lost negroes. It secured indemnity for unlawful captures on the seas, and

the evacuation of the forts on the frontiers (yet held by the British), by the 1st

of June, 1796. In order to secure certain points of great importance, Jaj was

compelled to yield others
;
and he finally signed a treaty, defective, in some

things, and objectionable in others, but the best that could then be obtained.

The treaty gave rise to violent debates in Congress,
1 and in State Legislatures,

but was ratified by the Senate on the 24th of June, 1795." The wisdom,

1 The debates, on that occasion, developed talent of the highest order, and present a memorable

epoch in the history of American politics and statesmanship. Albert Gallatin then established

his title to the leadership of the opposition in the House of Representatives, while Fisher Ames, in a

speech of wonderful power, in favor of the treaty and the Administration, won for himself the
laurels of an unrivaled orator. He was then in feeble health

;
and when he arose to speak, thin

and pale, he could hardly support himself on his feet, and his voice was feeble. Strength st emed
to come as he warmed with the subject, and his eloquence and wisdom poured forth as from a

mighty and inexhaustible fountain. So powerful was his speech, that a member opposed to him
moved that the question on which he had spoken should be postponed until the next day,

"
that

they should not act under the influence of an excitement of which their calm judgment might not

approve." In allusion to this speech, John Adams bluntly said: "There wasn't a dry eye in the

House, except some of the jackasses that occasioned the necessity of the oratory." Fisher Ames
was born hi Dedham, Massachusetts, in April, 1756. His health was delicate from infancy. He
was so precocious that he commenced the study of Latin when six years of age, and was admitted
to Harvard College at the age of twelve. He chose the law for a profession, and soon stood at the
head of the bar in his native district. He was a warm advocate of the Federal Constitution. He
was the first representative of his district in the National Congress. He died on the 4th of

July, 1808, at the age of forty-eight years.
" Great excitement succeeded. In several cities mobs threatened personal violence to the sup
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and policy, and true patriotism of Mr. Jay were soon made manifest. In Oc-

tober following, a treaty was concluded with Spain, by which the boundaries be-

tween the Spanish territories of Louisiana and Florida, and the United States,

were defined. That treaty also secured to the United States the free naviga-
tion of the Mississippi, and the use of New Orleans, as a port, for ten years.

As soon as one excitement was fairly allayed, causes for others appeared ;

and during the whole time of Washington's administration of eight years, when
the policy of the new government had to be established, and its machinery put
in operation, the greatest wisdom, circumspection, and conservative action, on

the part of officials, were continually demanded. Difficulties appeared like

little clouds on the distant horizon, sometimes as mere specks, at others, in

alarming shapes. These were chiefly in connection with trade, especially in

foreign lands. American commerce was rapidly expanding, and now began to

find its way into the Mediterranean Sea. There it was met by Algerine

pirates, who seized the merchandise, and held the seamen in captivity, in order

to procure ransom-money. These depredations, which finally gave rise to efforts

to organize a navy, had continued many years before the government took

active measures to suppress them. President Washington called the attention

of Congress to the subject, toward the close of 1790
;
and at the same time,

Jefferson, then Secretary of State, gave many interesting details, in his annual

report, on the subject of these piracies. A commissioner was sent to treat with

the Dey, or Governor, of Algiers on the subject, but that semi-barbarian robber

argued in reply :

" If I were to make peace with everybody, what should I do

with my corsairs ? what should I do with my soldiers ? They would take off

my head for the want of other prizes, not being able to live on their miserable

allowance."

In the spring of 1794, Congress, on account of these depredations, passed

an Act to provide for a naval armament, and appropriated almost seven hun-

dred thousand dollars for the purpose. But the United States, in the absence

of the proposed navy, was compelled to make a treaty of peace in the autumn

of 1795 [November 28], with the Dey of Algiers, by which an annual

tribute was to be given for the redemption of captives, in accordance with the

long-established usages of European nations.
1

This was humiliating, but could

not then be avoided. Congress had given the President power to provide by

purchase or otherwise, and equip, several vessels. To this end he put forth

his energies immediately, and in July [1794], he commissioned captains and

superintendents, naval constructors and navy agents, six each, and ordered the

construction of six ships The treaty with the Dey of Algiers caused work on
f

porters of the treaty. Mr Jay was burned in effigy [note 6, page 215], Mr. Hamilton was stoned

at a public meeting, and the British minister at Philadelphia was insulted.
1 Between the years 1785 and 1793, the Algerine pirates captured and carried into Algiers,

fifteen American vessels, used the property, and made one hundred and eighty officers and seamen

slaves of the most revolting kind. In 1795, the United States agreed, by treaty, to pay eight hun-

dred thousand dollars for captives, then alive, and in addition, to make the dey, or governor, a

present of a frigate worth a hundred thousand dollars. An annual tribute of twenty-three thousand

dollars was also to be paid. This was comnlied with until the breaking out of the war of 1812

See pages 390 and 445.
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these vessels to be suspended in 1795. Soon the folly of not completing the

little navy, so well begun, was made manifest, when British cruisers com-

menced the practice of taking seamen from American vessels, and impressing
them into the English service.

1 The ships of the French Republic soon after-

ward commenced depredations upon American commerce
;
and in 1797, when

war with that government seemed inevitable,
4

Congress, on the urgent rec-

ommendation of President Adam,1

?,
caused the frigates United States, Con-

stellation, and Constitution to be completed, equipped, and sent to sea. This

was the commencement of the American navy,
3

which, in after years, though
weak in numbers, performed many brilliant exploits. From this time the

navy became the cherished arm of the national defense
;
and chiefly through

its instrumentality, the name and power of the United States began to be

properly appreciated in Europe, at the beginning of the present century.
Now [1796], the administration of Washington was drawing to a close. It

had been one of vast importance and incessant action. All disputes with

foreign nations, except France,
4
had been adjusted ; government credit was

established, and the nation was highly prosperous.
5 The embryos of new em-

pires beyond the Alleghenies had been planted; and the last year of his admin-

istration was signalized by the admission [June, 1796] of Tennessee into the

Union of States, making the number of confederated republics, sixteen.

During the closing months of Washington's administration, the first great

struggle among the people of the United States, for ascendency between the

Federalists and Republicans/ took place. The only man on whom the nation

now could possibly unite, was about to retire to private life. He issued his

admirable Farewell Address to his countrymen that address so full of wis-

dom, patriotism, and instruction early in the autumn of 1796 [September 19],

and then the people were fully assured that some other man must be chosen to

fill his place. There was very little time for preparation or electioneering, for

the choice must be made in November following. Activity the most extraordi-

nary appeared among politicians, in every part of the Union. The Federalists

nominated John Adams for the high office of Chief Magistrate, and the Repub-
licans nominated Thomas Jefferson for the same. The contest was fierce, and

party spirit, then in its youthful vigor, was implacable. The result was a vic-

1 Page 401. 2 Page 385.
3 Congress had created the office of Secretary of the Navy, as an executive department, and on

the 30th of April, 1798, Benjamin Stodert of Georgetown, in the District of Columbia, was appointed
to that chair. Hitherto the business of the war and navy departments had been performed by the

Secretary of War.
* The French government was highly displeased because of the treaty made with England, by

Mr. Jay, and even adopted hostile measures toward the United States. It wanted the Americans
to show an active participation with the French in hatred of the English, and therefore the strict

neutrality observed by Washington, was exceedingly displeasing to the French Committee of
Public Safety. The conclusion of the treaty with Algiers, independently of French intervention,
and the success of the negotiation with Spain, excited the jealousy of the French rulers. In a

word, because the United States, having the strength, assumed the right to stand alont, the French
were offended, and threatened the grown-up child with personal chastisement.

6 Commerce had wonderfully expanded. The exports had, in five years, increased from nine-
teen millions of dollars to more than fifty-six millions of dollars, and the imports in about the same
ratio. Page 377.
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tory for both parties Adams being elected President, and Jefferson, having
the next highest number of votes, was chosen Vice-President.

1 On the 4th of

March, 1797, Washington retired from office, and Adams was inaugurated the

second President of the United States. The great leader of the armies in the

War for Independence was never again enticed from the quiet pursuits of agri-

culture at Mount Vernon, to the performance of public duties.

CHAPTER II.

ADAMS'S ADMINISTRATION. [1797 1801.]

JOHN ADAMS' was in the sixty-second year of his age when, dressed in a

full suit of pearl-colored broadcloth, and with powdered hair, he stood in Inde-

pendence Hall [March 4, 1797J, in Philadelphia, and took the oath of office.

1 The whole number of electoral votes [see note 1, page 361] was one hundred and thirty-eigh^

making seventy necessary to a choice. John Adams received seventy-one, and Jefferson sixty-seven.
a John Adams was born at Braintree, Massachusetts, in October, 1735. He chose the law as a

profession, but being a good writer and fair speaker, he entered the political field quite early, and
with Hancock, Otis, and others, he took an active part in the earlier Revolutionary movemeats, ia

Boston and vicinity. He was a member of the Continental Congress, from which he was trans-

ferred to the important post of a minister to the French and other courts in Europe. He was one
of the *nost industrious men in Congress. In tl" course of the eighteen months preceding his de
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as President of the United States, administered by Chief Justice Ellsworth.
1

He was pledged, by his acts and declarations, to the general policy of Washing-
ton's administration, and he adopted, as his own, the cabinet council left by his

predecessor.
2 He came into office at a period of great trial for the Republic.

Party spirit and sectional differences were rife in its bosom, and the relations

of the United States with France were becoming more and more unfriendly,

Already Charles Cotesworth Pinckney, the American minister at the French

court, had been ordered to leave their territory by the Directory, then the su-

preme executive power in France.
3

Depredations upon American commerce

had also been authorized by them
;
and the French minister in the United

parture for Europe, Mr. Adams had been on ninety different committees, and was chairman of

thirty-five of them. He was, at one time, intrusted with no less than six missions abroad, namely,
to treat for peace with Great Britain

;
to make a commercial treaty with Great Britain

;
to negoti-

ate the same with the States General of Holland
;
the same with the Prince of Orange ;

to pledge
he faith of the United States to the Armed Neutrality ;

and to negotiate a loan of ten millions of
dollars. He was a signer of the Declaration of Independence ;

and died on the fiftieth anniversary
of that great act [1826], with the words "Independence forever I" upon his lips. He was in the

ninety-second year of his age. See page 459.
'

Page 360.
a
Timothy Pickering, Secretary of State; Oliver "Wolcott, Secretary of the Treasury; James

M'Henry, Secretary of "War
;
and Charles Lee, Attorney-General. Washington's first cabinet had

all resigned during the early part of bis second term of office (the President is elected for four years),
and the above-named gentlemen were appointed during 1795 and 1796.

* The Eepublican government of France was administered by a council called the Directory. It

was composed of five members, who ruled in connection with two representative bodies, called, re-

spectively, the Council of Ancients, and the Council of Five Hundred, The Directory was the head*
or executive power of the government.
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States had grossly insulted the government. President Adams perceived the

necessity of prompt and energetic action, and he convened an extraordinary
session of Congress, on the 15th of May. "With the concurrence of the Senate,
the President appointed [July] three envoys,

1

with Pinckney at their head, to

proceed to France, and endeavor to adjust all difficulties. They met at Paris,

in October, but were refused an audience with the Directory, unless they
should first pay a large sum of money into the French treasury. Overtures

for this purpose were made by unofficial agents. The demand was indignantly

refused; and then it was that Pinckney uttered that noble sentiment, "Mil-

lions for defense, but not one cent for tribute !" The two Federalist envoys

(Marshall and Pinckney) were ordered out of the country, while Mr. Gerry,
who was a Republican, and whose party sympathized with the measures of

France, was allowed to remain. The indignant people of the United States

censured Mr. Gerry severely for remaining. He, too, soon found that nothing
could be accomplished with the French rulers, and he returned home.

The fifth Congress assembled at Philadelphia, on the 13th of November,
1797. Perceiving the vanity of further attempts at negotiation with France,

Congress, and the country generally, began to prepare for war. Quite a large

standing army was authorized [May, 1798] ;
and as Washington approved of the

measure, he was appointed [July] its commander-in-chief, with General Alex-

ander Hamilton as his first lieutenant. Washington consented to accept the

office only on condition that General Hamilton should be the acting commander-

in-chief, for the retired President was unwilling to enter into active military serv-

ice again. A naval armament, and the capture of French vessels of war, was

authorized; and a naval department, as we have observed,
2
with Benjamin

Stodert at its head, was created. Although there was no actual declaratioi

of war made by either party, yet hostilities were commenced on the ocean, and a

vessel of each nation suffered capture ;

3
but the army was not summoned to the

field.

The proud tone of the French Directory was humbled by the dignified and

decided measures adopted by the United States, and that body made overtures

for a peaceful adjustment of difficulties. President Adams immediately ap-

pointed [Feb. 26, 1799] three envoys* to proceed to France, and negotiate fo*

1 Charles Cotesworth Pinckney, Elbridge Gerry, and John Marshall Pinckney was an active

patriot in South Carolina during the Revolution. He was born in Charleston, in February, 1746,

and was eduated in England. He studied law there, and on his return to his native country, ia

1769, he commenced a successful professional career in Charleston. He took part early in Repub-
lican movements, held military offices during the War for Independence, and when war with France

seemed certain, in 1797, Washington appointed him next to Hamilton in command He died, in

August, 1825, in the eightieth year of his age. Gerry was one of the signers of the Declaration of

Independence, and Marshall had been an active patriot and soldier. See page 351. The latter,

as Chief Justice of the United States, administered the oath of office to several Presidents.
8
Page 382.

8 The United States frigate Constellation, captured the French frigate Ulnsurgente, in February,
Ii99. That frigate had already taken the American schooner Retaliation. On the 1st of February,

1800. the Constellation had an action with the French frigate La Vengeance, which escaped cap-

ture after a loss of one hundred and sixty men, in killed and wounded.
4 W. V. Murray, Oliver Ellsworth, and Patrick Henry. Mr. Henry declined, and William R

Davie [note 5, page 318], of North Carolina, took his place.

25
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peace, but when they arrived, the weak Directory was no more. The govern^
ment was in the hands of Napoleon Bonaparte [Nov. 1799] as First Consul,

1

whose audacity and energy now saved France from anarchy and utter ruin. He

promptly received the United States embassadors, concluded a treaty [Sept. 30,

1800], and gave such assurances of friendly feelings that, on the return of the

ministers, the provisional army of the United States, whose illustrious com-

mander-in-chief had, in the mean while, been removed by death, was disbanded.

Two unpopular domestic measures were adopted in the summer of 1798,
known as the Alien and Sedition laws. The first authorized the President to

expel from the country any alien (not a citizen) who should be suspected of

conspiring against the Republic. An apology for the law was, that it was com-

puted that there were more than thirty thousand Frenchmen in the United

States, all of whom were devoted to their native country, and were mostly asso-

ciated, by clubs or otherwise. Besides these, there were computed to be in the

country at least fifty thousand persons who had been subjects of Great Britain,

some ofwhom had found it unsafe to remain at home. The Sedition law author-

ized the suppression of publications calculated to weaken the authority of the

government. At that period there were two hundred newspapers published in the

United States, ofwhich about one hundred and seventy-five were in favor of the

National administration
;
the remainder were chiefly under the control of aliens.

These measures were unpopular, because they might lead to great abuses. ID

Kentucky and Virginia, the legislatures declared them to be decidedly uncon-

stitutional, and they were finally repealed.

The nation suffered a sad bereavement near the close of the last year of the

century. Washington, the greatest and best-beloved of its military and civil

leaders, died at Mount Vernon on the 14th of December, 1799, when almost

sixty-eight years of age. No event since the foundation of the government,
had made such an impression on the public mind. The national grief was

sincere, and party spirit was hushed into silence at his grave. All hearts

.united in homage to the memory of him who was properly regarded as the

FATHER OF HIS COUNTRY. Congress was then in session at Philadelphia, and

when Judge Marshall
9 announced the sad event, both Houses 3

immediately

adjourned for the day. On re-assembling the next day, appropriate resolutions

were passed, and the President was directed to write a letter of condolence to

Mrs. Washington,
4
in the name of Congress. Impressive funeral ceremonies were

1
Bonaparte, Cambaceres, and the Abbe Sieyes became the ruling power in France, with the

title of Consuls, after the first had overthrown the Directory. Bonaparte was the First Consul, and

was, in fact, an autocrat, or one who rules by his own will.
*
Page 351. * Note 3, page 366.

4 Martha Dandridge, who first married Daniel Parke Custis, and afterward, while yet a young
widow, was wedded to Colonel Washington, was born in Kent county, Virginia, in 1732, about
three months later than her illustrious husband. Her first husband died when she was about

twenty-five years of age, leaving her with two children, and a large fortune in lands f>nd money.
She was married to Colonel Washington, in January, 1759. She was ever worthy of such a hua-

band; and while he was President of the United States, sha presided with dignity over the execu-

tive mansion, both in New York and Philadelphia. When her husband died, she said :
"
'Tis well

;

all is now over; I shall soon follow him
;

I have no more trials to pass through." In little less

than thirty months afterward, she was laid in the family vault at Mount Vernon. Her grandson,

and adopted son of Washington (also the last surviving executor of his will), G. W. P. Custis,

dud at Arlington House, opposite Washington City, October 10, 1857.
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observed by that body, and throughout the country.
1

General Henry Lee,* of

Virginia, on the invitation of Congress, delivered [December 26, 1799] an

eloquent funeral oration before the national legislature ;
and the recommenda-

tion of Congress, for the people of the United States to wear crape on their left

arms for thirty days, was generally complied with. The whole nation put on

tokens of mourning.

The death of Washington also made a profound impression in Europe. To
the people there, who were aspiring for freedom, it seemed as if a bright star

had disappeared from the firmament of their hopes. Rulers, also, joined in

demonstrations of respect. Soon after the event of his death was known in

France, Bonaparte, then First Consul,
3
rendered unusual honors to his name.

On the 9th of February [1800], he issued the following order of the day to

the army :

"
Washington is dead ! This great man fought against tyranny ;

he

established the liberties of his country. His memory will always be dear to

the French people, as it will be to all free men of the two worlds
;
and especially

to French soldiers, who, like him and the American soldiers, have combatted

for liberty and equality." Bonaparte also ordered, that during ten daya black

crape should be suspended from all the standards and flags throughout the

French Republic. Splendid ceremonies in the Champs de Mars, and a

funeral oration in the Hotel des Invalides, were also given, at both ot which

1
Congress resolved to erect a mausoleum, or monument, at "Washington City, to his memory

marble, is now [1883] in course of erection there, to be paid for largely by individual sub-

scriptions. Congress has made a liberal appropriation for completing the monument.
1 Note 2, page 333.

3 Note 1, page 895.
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the First Consul, and all the civil and military authorities of the capital were

present. Lord Bridport, commander of a British fleet of almost sixty vessels,

lying at Torbay, on the coast of France, when he heard of the death of Wash-

ington, lowered his flag half-mast, and this example was followed by the whole

leet. And from that time until the present, the name of Washington has

inspired increasing reverence at home and abroad, until now it may be said that

the praise of him fills the whole earth.

After the close of the difficulties with France, very little of general interest

occurred during the remainder of Mr. Adams's administration, except the

removal of the seat of the National Government to the District of Columbia,
1 in

the summer of 1800 ; the admission into the Union [May, 1800] of the country

between the western frontier of Georgia and the Mississippi River, as the Mis-

sissippi Territory ; and the election of a new President of the United States.

Now, again, came a severe struggle between the Federalists and Republic-

ans, for political power.
3 The former nominated Mr. Adams and Charles

Cotesworth Pinckney,
3
for President; the latter nominated Thomas Jefferson

and Aaron Burr,
4
for the same office. In consequence of dissensions among the

Federalist leaders, and the rapid development of ultra-democratic ideas among
the people, the Republican party was successful. Jefferson and Burr had an

equal number of electoral votes. The task of choosing, therefore, was trans-

ferred to the House of Representatives, according to the provisions of the

National Constitution. The choice finally fell upon Mr. Jefferson, after thirty-

five ballotings ;
and Mr. Burr was proclaimed Vice-President.

During the year 1800, the last of Adams's administration, the second enu-

meration of the inhabitants of the United States took place. The population

was then five millions, three hundred and nineteen thousand, seven hundred and

sixty-two an increase of one million, four hundred thousand in ten years.

The National revenue, which amounted to four millions, seven hundred and

ceventy-one thousand dollars in 1790, was increased to almost thirteen millions

in 1800.

CHAPTER III.

JEFFERSON'S ADMINISTRATION. [1801 1809].

THOMAS JEFFERSON,' the third President of the United States, was in the

fifty-eighth year of his age when, on the 4th of March, 1801, he was duly

1
Page 371. The District is a tract ten miles square on each side of the Potomac, ceded to the

United States by Maryland and Virginia in 1790. The city ofWashington was laid out there in 1 791,

and the erection of the Capitol was commenced in 1793, when [April 18] President Washington laid

the corner stone of the north wing, with Masonic honors. The two wings were completed in 1808,

and these were burned by the British in 1814. See page 436. The central portion of the Capitol

was completed in 1827, the wings having been repaired soon after the conflagration. Altogether
it covered an area of a little more than an acre and a half of ground. In course of time it became
too small, and its dimensions were greatly extended. These were completed in 1865. The addition
is in the form of wings, north and south, projecting both east and west beyond the main building.

i Pago 377. 3 Note 1, page 385. * Note 4, page 241, and page 397.
' Thomas Jefferson was Dora ia Albemarle county, Virginia, in April, 1743. He was educated
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inaugurated the Chief Magistrate of the Republic, in the new Capitol, at Wash-

ington City. His "inaugural speech, which was looked for with great anxiety,
as a foreshadowing of the policy of the new President, was manly and conserv-

ative, and it allayed many apprehensions of his opponents. From its tone, they

imagined that few ofthe National office-holders would be disturbed
;
but in this

they soon found themselves mistaken. The Federal party, while in power,

having generally excluded Republicans from office, Jefferson felt himself justi-

fied in giving places to his own political friends. He therefore made many
removals from official station throughout the country ;

and then was commenced
the second act in the system of political proscription,

1

which has not always

proved wise or salutary. He retained, for a short time, Mr. Adams's Secretaries

of the Treasury and Navy (Samuel Dexter and Benjamin Stoddart), but called

at William and Mary College, studied law with the eminent George "Wythe, and had his patriotism
first inflamed by listening to Patrick Henry's famous speech [note 1, page 214] against the Stamp Act
He first appeared in public life in the Virginia Assembly, in 1769, and was one of the most active

workers in that body, until sent to perform more important duties in the Continental Congress.
The inscription upon his monument, written by himself, tells of the most important of his public
labors: "Here lies buried THOMAS JEFFERSON, Author of the Declaration of Independence ;

of the

Statute of Virginia for religious freedom ;
and Father of the University of Virginia." He was

governor of his own State, and a foreign minister. He lived until the fiftieth anniversary of the

Declaration of Independence [July 4, 1826], and at almost the same hour when the spirit of Adams,
took its flight [page 457], his also departed from the body, when he was at the age of eighty-
three years.

*
Page 461.
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Republicans to fill the other seats in* his cabinet.
1 He set vigorously at work

to reform public abuses, as far as was in his power ;
and so conciliatory were

his expressed views in reference to the great body of his opponents, that many
Federalists joined the Republican ranks, and became bitter denouncers of their

former associates and their principles.

President Jefferson's administration was signalized at the beginning by the

repeal of the Excise Act,
2 and other obnoxious and unpopular laws. His sug-

gestions concerning the reduction of the diplomatic corps, hauling up of the

navy in ordinary, the abolition of certain offices, and the revision of the

judiciary, were all taken into consideration by Congress, and many advances

in jurisprudence were made. Vigor and enlightened views marked his course
;

and even his political opponents confessed his forecast and wisdom, in many

things. During his first term, one State and two Territories were added to the

confederacy. A part of the North-western Territory
3
became a State, under

the name of Ohio,
4
in the autumn of 1802

;
and in the spring of 1803, Louisi-

ana was purchased [April] of France for fifteen millions of dollars. This

result was brought about with much difficulty, for the French ruler was
desirous of injuring England, and saw in this an excellent way to do it. In

violation of a treaty made in the year 1795, the Spanish governor of Louisiana

closed the port of New Orleans in 1802. Great excitement prevailed through-
out the western settlements; and a proposition was made in Congress to take

forcible possession of the Territory. It was ascertained that, by a secret treaty
the country had been ceded to France, by Spain. Negotiations for its purchase
were immediately opened with Napoleon, and the bargain was consummated in

April, 1803. The United States took peaceable possession in the autumn of

that year. It contained about eighty-five thousand mixed inhabitants, and

about forty thousand negro slaves. When this bargain was consummated,

Napoleon said, prophetically, "This accession of territory strengthens forever

the power of the United States
;
and I have just given to England a maritime

rival that will sooner or later humble her pride." Out of it two Territories

were formed, called respectively the Territory of New Orleans and the Dis-

trict of Louisiana.

We have already adverted to the depredations of Algerine corsairs upon
American commerce. The insolence of the piratical powers on the southern

hores of the Mediterranean,
5
at length became unendurable; and the United

States government resolved to cease paying tribute to them. The Bashaw of

Tripoli thereupon declared war [June 10, 1801] against the United States
;

and Captain Bainbridge was ordered to cruise in the Mediterranean to protect

1 James Madison, Secretary of State
; Henry Dearborn, Secretary of "War

;
Levi Lincoln, Attor-

ney General. Before the meeting of Congress in December, he appointed Albert Gallatin [note 1,

page 380, and note 6, page 443], Secretary of the Treasury, and Robert Smith, Secretary of the Navy.
They were both Republicans.

2
Page 378. 3

Page 362.
* No section of the Union had increased, in population and resources, so rapidly as Ohio. When,

in 1800, it was formed into a distinct Territory, the residue of the North-western Territory remained
as one until 1809. Then the Territories of Indiana and Illinois were formed. When Ohio was
admitted as a State, it contained a population of about seventy-two thousand souls.

*
Morocco, Algiers, Tunis, and Tripoli, hi Africa. They are known as the Barbary Powers.
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American commerce.
1

In 1803, Commodore Preble was sent thither to humble
the pirates. After bringing the Emperor of Morocco to terms, he appeared
before Tripoli with his squadron. One of his vessels (the Philadelphia), com-
manded by Bainbridge,

8
struck on a rock in the harbor, while reconnoitering ;

and before she could be extricated, she was captured [October 31, 1803] by
the Tripolitans. The officers were treated as prisoners of war, but the crew

were made slaves.

1

Captain Bainbridge had been on that coast the previous year.
He arrived at Algiers in September, 1800, in the frigate George Washing-
ion, with the annual tribute money [page 381]. The dey, or governor,
demanded the use of his vessel to carry an ambassador to Constan-

tinople. Bainbridge remonstrated, when the dey haughtily observed :

" You pay me tribute, by which you become my slaves, and therefore

I have a right to order you as I think proper." Bainbridge was
obliged to comply, for the castle guns would not allow him to pass out
of the harbor. He sailed for the East, and had the honor of first dis-

playing the American flag before the ancient city of Constantinople.
The Sultan regarded it as a favorable omen of future friendship, because
hisft&v bore a crescent or half-moon, and the American a group of stars.

9 William Bainbridge was born in New Jersey, in 1774. He was captain of a merchant vessel

at the age of nineteen years, and entered the naval service in 1798. He was distinguished during
the second "War for Independence [page 40y], and died in 1833.

UNITED STATES FRIGATE.
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LIEUTENANT DECATUR.

The credit of the American navy was somewhat repaired, early in the

following year, when Lieutenant Decatur,
1

with only sev-

enty-six volunteers, sailed into the harbor of Tripoli, in

the evening of February 16, 1804, and runing alongside
the Philadelphia (which lay moored near the castle, and

guarded by a large number of Tripolitans), boarded her,

killed or drove into the sea all of her turbaned defenders,

set her on fire, and under cover of a heavy cannonade

from the American squadron, escaped, without losing a

man.
2 As they left the burning vessel, the Americans

raised a shout, which was answered by the guns of the

batteries on the shore, and by the armed vessels at anchor

near. They went out into the Mediterranean unharmed, sailed for Syracuse,
and were received there with great joy by the American squadron, under Com-

modore Preble. This bold act humbled and alarmed the bashaw;
3

yet his

capital withstood a heavy bombardment, and his gun-boats gallantly sustained a

severe action [August 3] with the American vessels.

In the following year, through the aid of Hamet Caramelli, brother of Jes-

suff, the reigning bashaw (or governor) of Tripoli, favorable terms of peace
were secured. The bashaw was a usurper, and Hamet, the rightful heir to the

throne,
4 was an exile in Egypt. He readily concerted, with

Captain William Eaton, American consul at Tunis, a plan
for humbling the bashaw, and obtaining his own restoration to

rightful authority. Captain Eaton acted under the sanction of

his government ;
and early in March [March 6, 1805], he left

Alexandria, with seventy United States seamen, accompanied

by Hamet and his followers, and a few Egyptian troops. They
made a journey of a thousand miles partly across the Barcan

desert, and on the 27th of April, captured Derne, a Tripolitan

city on the Mediterranean. Three weeks later [May 1 8], they
had a successful battle with Tripolitan troops ;

and on the 18th

of June they again defeated the forces of the bashaw, and

MOHAMMEDAN
SOLDIER.

1
Stephen Decatur was born in Maryland in 1779. He entered the navy at the age of nineteen

years. After his last cruise in the Mediterranean, he superintended the building of the gun-boats.
He rose to the rank of commodore

;
and during the second War for Independence [page 409], he

was distinguished for his skill and bravery. He afterward humbled the Barbary Powers [note 5,

page 390] ;
and was esteemed as one among the choicest flowers of the navy. He was killed, at

Bladensburg, in a duel with Commodore Barren, in March, 1820, when forty-one years of age.
8 While the American squadron was on its way to Syracuse, it captured a small Tripolitan ves-

sel, bound to Constantinople, with a present of female slaves for the Sultan. This was taken into

service, and named the Intrepid, and was the vessel with which Decatur performed his bold exploit
at Tripoli This act greatly enraged the Tripolitans, and the American prisoners were treated with
the utmost severity. The annals of that day give some terrible pictures of white slavery on the

southern shores of the Mediterranean Sea.
8

Bashaw, or Pacha [Pas-shaw], is the title of the governor of a province, or town, in the do-

minions of the Sultan (or emperor) of Turkey. The Barbary States [note 5, page 390] are all under*

the Sultan's rule.
4 The bashaw, who was a third son, had murdered his father and elder brother, and compelled

Hamet to fly for his life. With quite a large number of followers, he fled into Egypt
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pressed forward toward Tripoli. The terrified ruler had made terms of peace
[June 4, 1805] with Colonel Tobias Lear, American consul-general

1

in the

Mediterranean, and thus disappointed the laudable ambition of Eaton, and the

hopes of Hamet. 2

While these hostile movements were occurring in the East
;
the President

had, in a confidential message to Congress, in January, 1803, proposed the first

of those peaceable conquests which have opened, and are still opening, to civil-

ization and human industry, the vast inland regions of our continent. He re-

commended an appropriation for defraying ihe expenses of an exploring ex-

pedition across the continent from the Mississippi to the Pacific Ocean. The

appropriation was made, and presently an expedition, consisting of thirty indi-

viduals, under Captains Lewis and Clarke, was organized. They left the banks

of the Mississippi on the 14th of May, 1804, and were absent about twenty-seven
months. It was very successful, particularly in geographical discoveries, and

1 A consul is an officer appointed by a government to reside in a foreign port, to have a general

supervision of the commercial interests of his country there. In some cases they have powers almost

equal to a minister. Such is the case with consuls within the ports of Mohammedan countries. The
word consul was applied to Napoleon [page 387] in the ancient Roman sense. It was the title of

the chief magistrate of Rome during the Republic. The treaty made by Lear provided for an ex-

change of prisoners, man for man, as far as they would go. Jessuff had about two hundred more

prisoners than the Americans held, and for these, a ransom of 86 ',000 was to be paid. It was also

stipulated that the wife and children of Hamet should be given up to him.

2 Hamet afterward came to the United States, and applied to Congress for a remuneration for

his services in favor of the Americans. He was unsuccessful; but Congress voted $2,4CO for his

temporary relief.
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furnished the first reliable information.respecting the extensive country between

the Mississippi and the Pacific Ocean. During the same year, the election for

President of the United States recurred. Aaron Burr, having lost the confi-

dence of the Democratic party,
1 waa not re-nominated for Vice-President.

George Clinton
2
was put in his place ;

and Jefferson and Clinton were elected

by a great majority
3
over their Federal opponents, Charles Cotesworth Pinck-

ney,
4
of South Carolina, who was nominated for President, and Rufus King,'

of New York, for Vice-President.

A serious difficulty commenced in the West during the second year [1805]
of Mr. Jefferson's second administration. The fertile valleys of the Ohio and

Mississippi were then very rapidly filling with adventurers, and the materials

for new States, strong and ample, were gathering. Michigan was erected into

a Territory in 1805
;
and all along the Mississippi, extensive settlemBnts were

taking root and flourishing. The tide of population was full and unceasing, and

was composed, chiefly, of adventurous characters, ready for any enterprise that

should offer the result of great gain. Taking advantage of the restless spirit

of these adventurers, and the general impression that the Spanish population of

Louisiana would not quietly submit to the jurisdiction of the United States,
8

Aaron Burr7

thought to make them subservient to his own ambitious purposes.

His murder of Hamilton in a duel,
3 on the 12th of July, 1804, made him

everywhere detested
; and, perceiving his unpopularity in the fact of his having

been superseded in the oflice of Vice-President of the United States, by George

Clinton,
9 he sought a new field for achieving personal aggrandisement. In

April, 1805, he departed for the West, with several nominal objects in view,

but chiefly in relation to pecuniary speculations. These seemed to conceal his

real design of effecting a strong military organization, for the purpose cf invad-

ing the Spanish possessions in Mexico. General Wilkinson,
10
then in the West

and the commander-in-chief of the National army, became his associate. WL1

377. a
Page 350.

8 The great popularity of Jefferson's administration was shown by the result of this election. H
received in the electoral college [note 1, page 361] one hundred and sixty-two votes, and Mr.

Pinckney only fourteen. 4
Page 384.

6 Rufus King was born in 1755, and was in Harvard College in 1775, when hostilities will"

Great Britain commenced, and the students were dispersed. He chose the law for a profession, ana
became very eminent as a practitioner. He wa-s in Sullivan's army, on Rhode Island [page 289],
in 1778; and in 1784, the people, appreciating his talents and his oratorical powers, elected him to a
seat in the Legislature of Massachusetts. He was an efficient member of the National Convention,
in 1787, and nobly advocated the Constitution afterward. He removed to New York, was a mem-
ber of the State Legislature, was also one of the first United States Senators from New York, and
in 1796 was appointed minister to Great Britain. From 1813 to 1826 he was a member of the

United States Senate, and in 1825 was again sent to England as minister plenipotentiary. He
died, near Jamaica, Long Island, in April, 1827, at the age of seventy-two years.

6
Page 390.

7 Aaron Burr was born in New Jersey, in 1756. In his twentieth year he joined the conti-

nental army, and accompanied Arnold [note 4, page 241] in his expedition against Quebec, in 1775.

His health compelled him to leave the army in 1779, and he became a distinguished lawyer and
active public man. He died on Staten Island, near New York, in 1836, at the age of eighty years.

8 Note 2, page 360. A political quarrel led to fatal results. Burr had been informed of some
remarks made by Hamilton, in public, derogatory to his character, and he demanded a retraction.

Hamilton considered his demand unreasonable, and refused compliance. Burr challenged him to

fight, and Hamilton reluctantly met him on the west side of the Hudson, near Hoboken, where they
fought with pistols. Hamilton discharged his weapon in the air, but Burr took fatal aim, and his

antagonist fell Hamilton died the next day.
'
Page 350. w

Page 410.
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kinson had just been appointed governor of Louisiana, and his official position

secured precisely the advantage which Burr sought.

Burr went down the Ohio
;
and one beautiful morning at the close of April

[1805], he appeared at the house of Blennarhasset, an Irishman possessed of

fine education, a large fortune, and an accomplished and enthusiastic wife.
1 To

him he unfolded his grand military scheme
;
and the imaginations of Blennar-

hasset and his wife were fired. Dreams of immense wealth and power filled

their minds
;
and when Burr had departed from the quiet home of this

gentleman, the sunshine of his house faded. Blennarhasset was a changed man.

He placed his wealth and reputation in the keeping of an unprincipled dema-

gogue, and lost both. At that time, the brave and noble Andrew Jackson" was

in command of the militia of Tennessee. In May, Burr appeared at the door

of that stern patriot, and before he left it, he had won Jackson's confidence, and

his promise of co-operation. He also met Wilkinson at St. Louis, and there

gave him some hints of a greater scheme than he had hitherto unfolded, which,

that officer alleged, made him suspicious that Burr's ultimate aim was damage

1 His residence was upon an island a little below the mouth of the Muskingum River. There
he had a fine library, beautiful conservatories, and a variety of luxuries hitherto unseen in that

wilderness region. His home was an earthly paradise, into which the vile political serpent crawled,
and despoiled it with his slime. Blennarhasset became poor, and died in 1831. His beautiful and

accomplished wife was buried by the Sisters of Charity, in the city of New York, in the year 184? .

9
Page 460.
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to the Union. However, the schemer managed the whole matter with great

skill. He made friends with some of the dissatisfied military and naval officers,

and won their sympathies ;'
and in the summer of 1806, he was very active in

the organization of a military expedition in the West. The secresy with

which it was carried on, excited the suspicions of many good men beyond the

mountains, among whom was Jackson. Burr was suspected of a design to dis-

member the Union, and to establish an independent empire west of the Alleg-

hanies, with himself at the head. Those suspicions were communicated to the

Federal Government, which, having reason to suspect Burr of premeditated

treason, put forth the strong arm of its power, and crushed the viper in its egg.

Burr was arrested [February, 1807], near Fort Stoddart, on the Tombigbee

River, in the present State of Alabama, by Lieutenant (afterward Major-Gen-

eral) Gaines," taken to Richmond, in Virginia, and there tried on a charge of

treason. He was acquitted. The testimony showed that his probable design

was an invasion of Mexican provinces, for the purpose of establishing there an

independent government.
While Burr's scheme was ripening, difficulties with Spain were increasing,

and the United States were brought to the verge of a war with that country.

1

Many hi the "West supposed the government was secretly favoring Burr's plans against Mex-

ico, and, having no suspicions of any other designs, some of the truest men of that region became,
flome more and some less, involved in the meshes of his scheme, *

Page 467.
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At the same time, the continued impressment of American seamen into the

English navy, and the interruptions to American commerce by the British gov-

ernment, irritated the people of the United States, and caused the President to

recommend partial non-intercourse with Great Britain. This policy was

adopted by Congress [April 15, 1806], the prohibition to take effect in Novem-
ber following. This was one of the first of the retaliatory measures of the

American government toward that of Great Britain.

The following year [1807] is remarkable in American history as the era

of the commencement of successful steamboat navigation. Experiments in that

direction had been made in this country many years before, but it was

reserved for Robert Fulton
1

to bear the honor of success. He spent a

long time in France, partly in the pursuit of his profession as a portrait-painter,

and in the study of the subject of steam navigation. Through the kindness of

Joel Barlow, then [1797] in Paris (in whose family he remained seven years),

he was enabled to study the natural sciences, modern languages, and to make

experiments. There he became acquainted with Robert R. Livingston,
4
and

through his influence and pecuniary aid, on his return

to America, he was enabled to construct a steamboat,

and to make a voyage on the Hudson from New York

to Albany, "against wind and tide," in thirty-six

hours.
3 He took out his first patent in 1809. Within

fifty years, the vast operations connected with steam-

boat navigation, have been brought into existence.

Now the puff of the steam-engine is heard upon the

waters of every civilized nation on the face of the globe.

And now the progress of events in Europe began to disturb the amicable

relations which had subsisted between the governments of the United States and

Great Britain since the ratification of Jay's treaty.
4

Napoleon Bonaparte was

upon the throne of France as emperor ;
and in 1806 he was King of Italy, and

his three brothers were made ruling monarchs. He was upon the full tide of

his success and conquests, and a large part of continental Europe was now

FULTON'S STEAMBOAT.

1 Robert Fulton was born in Pennsylvania, in 1765, and was a student of West, the great

painter, for several years. He had more genius for mechanics than the fine arts, and when he

turned his efforts in that direction, he became very successful. He died in 1815, soon after launch-

ing a steamship of war, at the age of fifty years. At that time there were six steamboats afloat on
the Hudson, and he was building a steamship, designed for a voyage to St. Petersburg, in Russia.

8
Page 366.

* This was the Clermont, Fulton's experimental boat. It was one hundred feet in length, twelve
feet in width, and seven in depth. The engine was constructed by Watt and Bolton, in England,
and the hull was made by David Brown, of New York. The following advertisement appeared in

the Albany Gazette, September 1st, 1807: "The North River Steamboat will leave Paulus's Hook

[Jersey City] on Friday, the 4th of September, at 9 in the morning, and arrive at Albany on Satur-

day, at 9 in the afternoon. Provisions, good berths, and accommodations are provided. Tho

charge to each passenger is as follows :

" To Newburg, dollars, 3, time, 14 hours.

4
Page 380.
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prostrate at his feet. Although England had joined the continental powers

against him [1803], in order to crush the Democratic revolution commenced in

France, and the English navy had almost destroyed the French power at sea,

all Europe was yet trembling in his presence. But the United States, by

\/

maintaining a strict neutrality, neither coveted his favors nor feared his power-,

at the same time American shipping being allowed free intercourse between

English and French ports, enjoyed the vast advantages of a profitable carrying
trade between them.

The belligerents, in their anxiety to damage each other, ceased, in time, to

respect the laws of nations toward neutrals, and adopted measures at once

destructive to American commerce, and in violation of the most sacred rights

of the United States. In this matter, Great Britain took the lead. By an

order in council,
1

that government declared [May 16, 1806] the whole coast of

Europe, from the Elbe, in Germany, to Brest, in France, to be in a state of

blockade. Napoleon retaliated by issuing [November 21] a decree at Berlin,

which declared all the ports of the British islands to be in a state of blockade.

This was intended as a blow against England's maritime superiority,
and it was

* The British privy council consists of an indefinite number of gentlemen, chosen by the sover-

eign, and having no direct connection with the cabinet ministers. The sovereign may, under the

advice of this council, issue orders or proclamations which, if not contrary to existing laws, are

binding upon the subjects. These are for temporary purposes, and are called Orders in Council*
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the beginning df what he termed the continental system, the chief object of

which was the ruin of Great Britain. The latter, by another order [Januar/
7, 1807J, prohibited all coast trade with France; and

tlius the gamesters played with the world's peace and

prosperity. In spite of pacific attempts to put an

end to these ungenerous measures, American vessels

were seized by both English and French cruisers, and

American commerce dwindled to a domestic coast trade.
1

The United States lacked a navy to protect her commerce

on the ocean, and the swarms of gun-boats
2
which Con-

gress, from time to time, had authorized as a substitute,
A FELUCCA GUN-BOAT,

were quite inefficient, even as a coast-guard.

The American merchants and all in their interest, so deeply injured by the

"orders" and "decrees" of the warring monarchs, demanded redress of griev-

ances. Great excitement prevailed throughout the country, and the most bitter

feeling was beginning to be felt against Great Britain. This was increased by
her haughty assertion and offensive practice of the doctrine that she had the

right to search American vessels for suspected deserters from the British navy,
and to carry away the suspected without hinderance.

3

This right was strenu-

ously denied, and its policy vehemently condemned, because American seamen

might be thus forced into the British service, under the pretense that they were

deserters. Indeed this had already happened.
4

Clouds of difficulty now gathered thick and black. A crisis approached.
Four seamen on board the United States frigate Chesapeake, were claimed as

deserters from the British armed ship Melampus.*" They were demanded, but

Commodore Barron, of the Chesapeake, refused to give them up. The

1 In May, 1806, James Monroe [page 447] and "William Pinkney, were appointed to assist in

the negotiation of a treaty with Great Britain, concerning the rights of neutrals, the imprisonment
of seamen, right of search, &c. A treaty was finally signed, but as it did not offer security to

American vessels against the aggressions of Britisli ships in searching them and carrying off seamen,
Mr. Jefferson refused to submit it to the Senate, and rejected it. The Federalists condemned the

course of the President, but subsequent events proved his wisdom. Mr. Pinkney, one of the special

envoys, was a remarkable man. He was born at Annapolis, Maryland, in March, 1764. He was
admitted to the bar, at the age of twenty-two years, and became one of tho most profound states-

men and brilliant orators of the age. He was a member of the Maryland Senate, in 1811, when
President Madison appointed him Attorney-General for the United States. He was elected a
member of Congress, and in 1816 was appointed United States minister to St. Petersburg. After

a short service in the Senate, his health gave way, and he died in February, 1822, in the fifty-ninth

year of his age.
a These were small sailing vessels, having a cannon at the bow and stern, and manned by fully

armed men, for the purpose of boarding other vessels.
8
England maintains the doctrine that a British subject can never become an alien. At the

time in question, she held that she had the right to take her native-born subjects wherever found, and

place them in the army or navy, even though, by legal process, they had become citizens of another

nation. Our laws give equal protection to the native and adopted citizen, and would not allow

Great Britain to exercise her asserted privilege toward a Briton who had become a citizen of the

United States.
4
During nine months, in the years 1796 and 1797, Mr. King [page 395], the American minis-

ter in London, had made application for the release of two hundred and seventy-one seamen (a

greater portion of whom were Americans), who had been seized on the false charge of being desert-

ers, and pressed into the British service.
6 A small British squadron, of which the Melampus was one, was lying in Lynn Haven Bay, at

the mouth of the Chesapeake Bay, at this time. It was commanded by Admiral Berkeley.
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Chesapeake left the capes of Virginia on a cruise, on the 22d of June, 1807,
and on the same day she was chased and attacked by the British frigate

Leopard. Unsuspicious of danger and unprepared for an attack, Barron sur-

rendered his vessel, after losing three men killed and eighteen wounded. The
four men were then taken on board the Leopard, and the Chesapeake
returned to Hampton Roads.

1

Investigation proved that three of the seamen,
who were colored men, were native Americans, and that the fourth had been

impressed into the British service, and had deserted.

Forbearance was no longer a virtue. The outrage upon the Chesapeake
aroused the nation, and provoked retaliatory measures. All parties joined in

one loud voice of indignation, and many were very anxious for a declaration of

war with England. Tho President, however, proposed a pacific course, as long
as any hope for justice or reconciliation remained. He issued a proclamation,
in July [1807], ordering all British armed vessels to leave the waters of the

United States immediately, and forbidding any one to enter until full satisfac-

tion for the preser.t insult, and security against future aggressions, should be

made. Although t'ao British government understood the attack on the Chesa-

peake as an outrage, yet diplomacy, which is seldom honest, was immediately

employed to mistify the plain question of law and right.
2 In the mean while,

France and England continued to play their desperate game, to the detriment

of commerce, unmindful of the interests of other nations, or the obligations

of international law. A British order in council
3
was issued on the llth

of November, 1807, forbidding neutral nations to trade with France or her

allies, except upon payment of tribute to Great Britain. Napoleon retaliated,

by issuing, on the 17th of December, a decree at Milan, forbidding all trade

with England or her colonies
;
and authorizing the confiscation of any vessel

found in his ports, which had submitted to English search, or paid the exacted

tribute. In other words, any vessel having goods upon which any impost
whatever should have been paid to Great Britain, should be denationalized,
and subject to seizure and condemnation. These edicts were, of course, destruct-

ive to the principal part of the foreign commerce of the United States. In

this critical state of affairs, the President convened Congress several weeks

|
Oct. 25, 1807] earlier than usual

;
and in a confidential message [December

18], he recommended to that body the passage of an act, levying a commercial

embargo. Such an act was passed [December 22], which provided for the de-

tention of all vessels, American and foreign, at our ports ;
and ordered Ameri-

can vessels abroad to return home immediately, that the seamen might be

1

Page 297.
* The President forwarded instructions to Mr. Monroe, our minister to England, to demand im-

mediate satisfaction for the outrage, and security against similar events in future. Great Britain

thereupon dispatched an envoy extraordinary (Mr. Rose) to the United States, to settle the diffi-

culty in question. The envoy would not enter into negotiations until the President should with-
draw his proclamation, and so the matter stood until November, 1811 (more than four years), when
the British government declared the attack on the Chesapeake to have been unauthorized, and pro-
mised pecuniary aid to the families of those who were killed at that time. But Britain would not

relinquish the right of search, and so a cause for quarrel remained,
* Note 1, page 400.
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trained for the inevitable war. Thus the chief commerce of the world was

brought to a full stop.

The operation of the embargo law was the occasion of great distress, especi-

ally in commercial communities, yet it was sustained by the great body of the

American people. It put patriotism and firmness to a severe test. It bore

extremely hard upon seamen and their employers, for it spread ruin throughout
the shipping interest. It was denounced by the Federal party, chiefly for polit-

ical effect
;

J and as it failed to obtain from England and France any acknowl-

edgment of American rights, it was repealed on the 1st of March, 1809, three

days before Mr. Jefferson retired from office. Congress, at the same time,

passed [March 1, 1809] a law which forbade all commercial intercourse with

France and England, until the "orders in council" and the "decrees" should

be repealed.

1 Mr. Jefferson truly wrote to a friend :
" The Federalists are now playing a game of the most

mischievous tendency, without, perhaps, being themselves aware of it. They are endeavoring
to convince England that we suffer more from the embargo than they do, and that, if they will

*io1d out awhile, we must abandon it. It is true, the time will come when we must abandon it;

but if this is before the repeal of the orders in council, we must abandon it only for a state of war."

John Quiucy Adams, who had resigned his seat in the Senate of the United States, because he dif-

fered from the majority of his constituents in supporting the measures of the administration, wrote
to the President to the effect, that from information received by him, it was the determination of
the ruling party (Federalists) in Massachusetts, and even throughout New England, if the embargo
was persisted in, no longer to submit to it, but to separate themselves from the Union

;
and that sucfe

was the pressure of the embargo upon the community, that they would be supported by the people.
This was explicitly denied, in after years, by the Federalist leaders.
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In the midst of the excitement oft account of the foreign relations of the

United States, another Presidential election was held. Who should be the Dem-
ocratic candidate ? was a question of some difficulty, the choice lying between

Messrs. Madison and Monroe, of Virginia. For some time, a portion of the Dem-
ocratic party in that State, under the leadership of the eminent John Randolph,

1

of Roanoke, had differed from the Administration on some points of its foreign

policy; yet, while they acted with the Federalists on many occasions, they

studiously avoided identification with that party. Mr. Madison was the firm

adherent of Jefferson, and an advocate and apologist of his measures, while Mr.

Monroe
3
rather favored the views of Mr. Randolph and his friends. The strength

of the tw6 candidates was tried in a caucus of the Democratic members of the

Virginia Legislature, and also in a caucus of the Democratic members of Con-

gress. Mr. Madison, having a large majority on both occasions, was nominated

for the office of President, and George Clinton for that of Vice-President.

Charles Cotesworth Pinckney and Rufus King were the Federalist candidates.

Madison and Clinton were elected. At the close of eight years' service, as

Chief Magistrate of the United States, Mr. Jefferson left office [March 4, 1809],
and retired to his beautiful Monticello, in the bosom of his native Virginia.

CHAPTER IV.

MADISON'S ADMINISTRATION. [1809 1817.]

WHEN James Madison, the fourth President of the Republic, took the

chair of state, the country was overspread with gloom and despondency.

Although somewhat highly colored, the report of a committee of the Massachu-

setts Legislature, in January, 1809, gives, doubtless, a fair picture of the con-

dition of affairs. It said: "Our agriculture is discouraged; the fisheries

abandoned; navigation forbidden; our commerce at home restrained, if not

1 John Randolph was seventh in descent from Pocahontas [page 66], the beloved daughter of

the emperor of the Powhatans. He was born at Petersburg, in Virginia, in June, 1773. He was
in delicate health from infancy. He studied in Columbia College, New York, and "William and

Mary College, in Virginia. Law was his chosen profession ; yet he was too fond of literature and

politics to be confined to its practice. He entered public life in 1799, when he was elected to a
seat in Congress, where he was a representative of his native State, in the lower House, for thirty

years, with the exception of three intervals of two years each. During that time he was a member
of the Senate for two years. He opposed the war in 1812. His political course was erratic.

Jackson appointed him minister to St. Petersburg in 1830. His health would not permit him to

remain there. On his return he was elected to Congress, but consumption soon laid him in the

grave. He died at Philadelphia, in May, 1 833. Mr. Randolph was a strange compound of moral

and intellectual qualities. He was at times almost an atheist
;

at others, he was imbued with the

deepest emotions of piety and reverence for Deity. It is said that, on one occasion, he ascended a

lofty spur of the Blue Ridge, at dawn, and from that magnificent observatory saw the sun rise. As
its light burst in beauty and glory over the vast panorama before him, he turned to his servant and

said, with deep emotion, "Tom, if any body says there is no God, tell them they lie!" Thus he

expressed the deep sense which his soul felt of the presence of a Great Creator.
*
Page. 447.
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annihilated
;

our commerce abroad cut off
;

our navy sold, dismantled, or

degraded to the service of cutters, or gun-boats;
1

the revenue extinguished;
the course ofjustice interrupted; and the nation weakened by internal animos-
ities and divisions, at the moment when it is unnecessarily and improvidently
exposed to war with Great Britain, France, and Spain." This was the lan-

guage of the opponents of the administration, and must be taken with some
allowance. That party was strongly opposed to Mr. Madison, because they

believed that he would perpetuate the policy of Mr. Jefferson. But when,
dressed in a suit of plain black, he modestly pronounced his inaugural address

[March 4, 1809], the tone and sentiment of which fell like oil upon the

troubled waters, those of his most implacable political enemies who heard him,

could not refrain from uttering words of approbation ;
and hopes were enter-

tained by the whole nation, that his measures might change the gloomy aspect

of affairs.

To all unbiassed minds, no man appeared better fitted for the office of Chief

Magistrate of the Republic, at that time of general commotion, than Mr. Mad-

ison.
2 He had been Secretary of State during the wh )le administration of Mr.

1

Page 401.
8 James Madison was born in Virginia, in March, 1751. He was educated at Princeton, New

Jersey, and was diverted from the intended practice of the law by the charms and excitements of

political life. He assisted in framing the first Constitution of Virginia, in 1776. He was a mem-
ber of his State Legislature and of the Executive Council, and in 1780 was a delegate in the Conti-

nental Congress. In public life, there, and in his State councils, he was ever the champion of

popular liberty. As a member of the National Convention, and supporter of the Constitution, he
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Jefferson, and wa& familiar with every levent which had contributed to produce

the existing hostile relations between the United States and Great Britain.

His cabinet was composed of able men,
1 and in the eleventh Congress, which

convened on the 22d of May, 1809, in consequence of the critical state of

affairs,
3
there was a majority of his political friends. Yet there was a powerful

party in the country (the Federalists) hostile to his political creed, and opposed

to a war with England, which now seemed probable.

At the very beginning of Madison's administration, light beamed upon the

future. Mr. Erskine, the British minister, assured the President, that such

portions of the orders in council
3
as affected the United States, should be

repealed by the 10th of June. He also assured him that a special envoy would

soon arrive, to settle all matters in dispute between the two governments.

Supposing the minister to be authorized by his government to make these

assurances, the President, as empowered by Congress, issued a proclamation

[April 19, 1809], permitting a renewal of commercial intercourse with Great

Britain, on that day. But the government disavowed Erskine' s act, and the

President again [August 10] proclaimed non-intercourse. The light had

proved deceitful. This event caused great excitement in the public mind
;
and

had the President then declared war against Great Britain, it would doubtless

have been very popular.

Causes for irritation between the two governments continually increased,

and, for a time, political intercourse was suspended. France, too, continued

its aggressions. On the 23d of March, 1810, Bonaparte issued a decree at

Rambouillet, more destructive in its operations to American commerce, than any
measures hitherto employed. It declared forfeit every American vessel which

had entered French ports since March, 1810, or that might thereafter enter
;

and authorized the sale of the same, together with the cargoes the money to

be placed in the French treasury. Under this decree, many American vessels

were lost, for which only partial remuneration has since been obtained.
4 Bona-

parte justified this decree by the plea, that it was made in retaliation for the

American decree of non-intercourse.
5 Three months later [May, 1810], Con-

gress offered to resume commercial intercourse with either France or England,
or both, on condition that they should repeal their obnoxious orders and

decrees, before the 3d of March, 1811.
6 The French emperor, who was always

governed by expediency, in defiance of right and justice, feigned compliance,
and by giving assurance [August] that such repeal should take effect in Novem-

was one of the wisest and ablest; and his voluminous writings, purchased by Congress, display tho

most sagacious statesmanship. As a Republican, he was conservative. For eight yeafs he was
President of the United States, when he retired to private life. He died in June, 1836, at the ago
of eighty-five years,

1 Robert Smith, Secretary of State; Albert Gallatin, Secretary of the Treasury; "William Eustis,

Secretary ofWar; Paul Hamilton, Secretary of the Navy; Csesar Rodney, Attorney-General.
8

Its session lasted only about five weeks, because peace seemed probable.
* Note 1, page 400. 4

Page 468.
B
Page 402.

* The act provided, that if either government should repeal its obnoxious acts, and if the other

government should not do the same within three months thereafter, then the first should enjoy
commercial intercourse with the United States, but the other should not
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her, caused the President to proclaim such resumption of intercourse. It was
a promise intended to be broken at any moment when policy should dictate.

American vessels continued to be seized by French cruisers, as usual, and con-

fiscated
;
and in March, 1811, Napoleon declared the decrees of Berlin

1

and

Milan
2
to be the fundamental laws of the empire. A new envoy from France,

who arrived in the United States at about this time, gave official notice to the

government, that no remuneration would be made for property seized and con-

fiscated.

The government of Great Britain acted more honorably, though wickedly.
She continued her hostile orders, and sent ships of war to cruise near the prin-

cipal ports of the United States, to intercept American merchant vessels and

send them to England as lawful prizes. While engaged in this nefarious busi-

ness, the British sloop of war3
Little Belt, Captain Bingham, was met [May

16, 1811], off the coast of Virginia, by the American frigate President
',
Com-

modore Rogers.
4 That officer hailed the commander of the sloop, and received

a cannon shot in reply. A brief action ensued, when Captain Bingham, after

having eleven men killed and twenty-one wounded, gave a satisfactory answer

to Rogers. The conduct of both officers was approved by their respective gov-
ernments. That of the United States condemned the act of Bingham as an

outrage without palliation ;
arid the government and people felt willing to take

up arms in defense of right, justice, and honor. Powerful as was the navy of

Great Britain, and weak as was that of the United States, the people of the

latter were willing to accept of war as an alternative for submission, and to

measure strength on the ocean. The British navy consisted of almost nina

hundred vessels, with an aggregate of one hundred and forty-four thousand

men. The American vessels of war, of large size, numbered only twelve, with

an aggregate of about three hundred guns. Besides these, there were a great

number of gun-boats, but these were hardly sufficient for a coast-guard. Here

was a great disparity ;
and for a navy so weak to defy a navy so strong,

seemed madness. It must be remembered, however, that the British navy was

necessarily very much scattered, for that government had interests to protect in

various parts of the globe.

The protracted interruption of commercial operations was attended with

very serious effect upon the trade and revenue of the United States, and all

parties longed for a change, even if it must be brought about by war with

European governments. The Congressional elections in 1810 and 1811, proved

that the policy of Mr. Madison's administration was sustained by a large ma-

jority of the American people, the preponderance of the Democratic party

being kept up in both branches of the National Legislature. The opposition,

who, as a party, were unfavorable to hostilities, were in a decided minority;

and the government had more strength in its councils than at any time during

Jefferson's administration.

For several years war with England had seemed inevitable, and now [1811 j

1
Page 400. Page 402.

*
Pag *16-

4 He died in the Naval Asylum, Philadelphia, in August, 1838.
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many causes were accelerating the progress of events toward such a result.

Among these, the hostile position of the Indian tribes on the north-western

frontier of the United States, was one of the most powerful. They, too, had

felt the pressure of Bonaparte's commercial system. In consequence of the

exclusion of their furs from the continental markets, the Indian hunters found

their traffic reduced to the lowest point. The rapid extension of settlements

north of the Ohio was narrowing their hunting-grounds, and producing a rapid
diminution of game ;

and the introduction of whiskey, by the v^hite people, was

spreading demoralization, disease, and death among the Indians. These evils,

combined with the known influence of British emissaries, finally led to open
hostilities.

In the spring of 1811, it was known that Tecumtha, a Shawnoe1

chief,

who was crafty, intrepid, unscrupulous, and cruel, and who possessed the qual-

ities of a great leader, almost equal to those of Pontiac," was endeavoring to

emulate that great Ottawa by confederating the tribes of the north-west in a

war against the people of the United States. Those over whom himself and

twin-brother, the Prophet,
8 exercised the greatest control, were the Delawnres,

Shawnoese, Wyandots, Miamies, Kickapoos, Winnebagoes, and Chippewas.

During the summer, the frontier settlers became so alarmed by the continual

military and religious exercises of the savages, that General Harrison,
6
then

governor of the Indiana Territory,
8

marched, with a considerable force, toward

the town of the Prophet, situated at the junction of the Tippecanoe and

Wabash Rivers, in the upper part of Tippecanoe county, Indiana. The

Prophet appeared and proposed a conference, but Harrison, suspecting treach-

ery, caused his soldiers to sleep on their arms [Nov. 6, 1811] that night. At

four o'clock the next morning [Nov. 7] the savages fell upon the American

camp, but after a bloody battle until dawn, the Indians were repulsed. The

battle of Tippecanoe was one of the most desperate ever fought with the Indians,

and the loss was heavy on both sides.
7 Tecumtha was not present on this occa-

sion, and it is said the Prophet took no part in the engagement.
These events, so evidently the work of British interference, aroused the

spirit of the nation, and throughout the entire West, and in the Middle and

Southern States, there was a desire for war. Yet the administration fully

appreciated the deep responsibility involved in such a step ;
and having almost

the entire body of the New England people in opposition, the President and his

friends hesitated. The British orders in council3 continued to be rigorously

enforced
;

insult after insult was offered to the American flag ;
and the British

press insolently boasted that the United Stages
" could not be kicked into a

%
1

Page 19.
a
Page 204.

1 In 1809, Governor Garrison had negotiated a treaty with the Miamies [page 19] and other

tribes, by which they sold to the United States a large tract of land en both sides of the Wabasb.
The Prophet was present and made no objection ;

but Tecumtha, who was absent, was greatly
dissatisfied. The British emissaries took advantage of this dissatisfaction, to inflame him and his

people against the Americans.

Tage 17. 6
Page 474.

" Note 4, page 890.
T Harrison had upward of sixty killed, and more than a hundred wounded.
" Note 1, page 400.
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war." Forbearance became no longer a virtue
;
and on the 4th of April, 1812,

Congress laid another embargo
1

upon vessels in American waters, for ninety

days. On the 1st of June, the President transmitted a special message to

Congress, in which he reviewed the difficulties with Great Britain, strongly

portrayed the aggressions inflicted upon us by that nation, and intimated the

necessity of war. The message was referred to the Committee on Foreign

Relations, in the House of Representatives, a majority of whom2

agreed upon,
and reported a manifesto [June 3], as the basis of a declaration of war. On
the following day [Juris. 4, 1812], a bill, draAvn up by Mr. Pinckney, the

Attorney-General of the United States,
3

declaring war to exist between the

United States and Great Britain, was presented by Mr. Calhoun.. During the

proceedings on this subject, Congress sat with closed doors. The measure was

finally agreed to, by both Houses, by fair majorities. It passed the House of

Representatives by a vote of 79 to 49. On the 17th it passed the Senate by a

vote of 19 to 13, and on that day it received the signature of the President.
4

Two days afterward [June 19], the President issued a proclamation which

formally declared war against Gr^at Britain.
6

This is known in history as THE
WAR OF 1812

;
or

THE SECOND WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE.6

Congress, having authorized the President to declare war, took immediate

measures to sustain that declaration. It passed an act which gave him author-

ity to enlist twenty-five thousand men, to accept fifty thousand volunteers, and

to call out one hundred thousand militia for the defense of the sea-coast and

frontiers. Fifteen millions of dollars were appropriated for the army, and

almost three millions for the navy. But at the very threshhold of the new order

1
Page 402. Four days after this [April 8] Louisiana was admitted into the Union as a State.

a John C. Calhoun, of South Carolina
;
Felix Grundy, of Tennessee

;
John Smilie, of Pennsyl-

vania
;
John A. Harper, of New Hampshire ; Joseph Desha, of Kentucky ;

and Ebenezer Seaver,
of Massachusetts.

s
Page 400.

* The following are the words of that important bill :
" Be it enacted, etc., That war be, and the

same is hereby declared to exist between the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland, and
the dependencies thereof, and the United States of America and their Territories; and that the

President of the United States is hereby authorized to use the whole land and naval force of the

United States to carry the same into effect, and to issue to private armed vessels of the United

States, commissions, or letters of marque;, and general reprisal, in such form as he shall think proper,
and under the seal of the United States, against the vessels, goods, and effects of the government
of the said United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland, and the subjects thereof."

& The chief causes for this act were the impressment of American seamen by the British
;
the

blockade of French ports without an adequate force to sustain the act
;
and the British Orders in

Council. The Federalists in Congress presented an ably-written protest, which denied the necessity
or the expediency of war.

* This is an appropriate title, for, until the termination of that war, the United States were only

nominally free. Blessed with prosperity, the people dreaded war, and submitted to many acts of

tyranny and insult from Great Britain and France, rather than become involved in another conflict

Socially and commercially, the United States were dependent upon Europe, and especially upon
England ;

and the latter was rapidly acquiring a dangerous political interest here, when the war
broke out. The war begun in 1775 was really only the first great step toward independence; the

war begun in 1812, first thoroughly accomplished it Franklin once heard a person speaking of

the Revolution as the War of Independence, and reproved him, saying, "Sir. you mean the Revolu-

tion
;
the war of Independence is yet to come. It was a war for Independence, but not of Inde-

pendence."
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of things, the administration was met by determined opposition. The Federal

members of the House of Representatives published an address to their con-

stituents, in which they set forth the state of the country at that time, the

course of the administration and its supporters in Congress, and the reasons of

the minority for opposing the war. This was fair and honorable. But outside

of Congress, a party, composed chiefly of Federalists, with some disaffected

Democrats, was organized under the name of the Peace party. Its object was

to cast such obstructions in the way of the prosecution of the war, as to compel
the government to make peace. This movement, so unpatriotic, the offspring

of the lowest elements of faction, was frowned upon by the most respectable

members of the Federal party, and some of them gave the government their

hearty support, when it was necessary, in order to carry on the war with vigor
and effect.

The first care of the government, in organizing the army, was to select

efficient officers. Nearly all of the general officers of the Revolution were in

their graves, or were too old for service, and even those of subordinate rank in

that war, who yet regained, were far advanced in life.

Yet upon them the chief duties of leadership were

devolved. Henry Dearborn 1

was appointed major-

general and commander-in- chief
;
and his principal

brigadiers were James Wilkinson,
2 Wade Hampton,

3

William Hull,
4 and Joseph Bloomfield all of them

esteemed soldiers of the Revolution.

Hull was governor of the Territory of Michigan,
and held the commission of a brigadier-general. When
war was declared, he was marching, with a little more

GENERAL DEARBORN, than two thousand troops, from Ohio, to attempt the

subjugation of the hostile Indians.
5

Congress gave
him discretionary powers for invading Canada, but caution and preparation

were necessary, because the British authorities, a long time in expectation of

war, had taken measures accordingly." Feeling strong enough for the enemy,

Hull, on the 12th of July, 1812, crossed the Detroit River with his whole

force, to attack Fort Maiden, a British post near the present village of Amherst-

burg. At Sandwich, he encamped, and by a fatal delay, lost every advantage
which an immediate attack might have secured. In the mean while, Fort

1

Henry Dearborn was a native of New Hampshire, and a meritorious officer in the continental

army. He accompanied Arnold to Quebec, and was distinguished in the battles which ruined

Burgoyne [page 281]. He held civil offices of trust after the Revolution. He returned to private
life in 1815, and died at Roxbury. near Boston, in 1829, at the age of seventy-eight years.

*
Pages 396 and 426. 8 Note 3, page 427.

4 Note 4, page 411.
6
Page 408.

* Canada then consisted of two provinces. The old French settlements on the St. Lawrence,
with a population of about three hundred thousand, constituted Lower Canada

;
while the more

recemt settlements above Montreal, and chiefly upon the northern shore of Lake Ontario, including
about one hundred thousand inhabitants, composed Upper Canada These were principally the

families of American loyalists, who were compelled to leave the States at the close of the Revolu-

tion. Then each province had its own governor and Legislature. The regular military force, which
was scattered over a space of more than a thousand miles, did not exceed two thousand men;
hence the British commanders were compelled to call for volunteers, and they used the Indiana
to good effect, in their favor.
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Mackinaw, one of the strongest posts of the United States in the north-west,
1

was surprised and captured [July 17, 1812] by an allied force of British and

Indians
;
and on the 5th of August, a detachment under Major Van Home,

sent by Hull to escort an approaching supply-party to camp, were defeated by
some British and Indians near Brownstown, on the Huron River.

1
These

events, and the reinforcement of the garrison at Maiden, by General Brock,
the British commander-in-chief, caused Hull to recross the river on the 7th of

August, abandon the expedition against Canada, and take post at Detroit, much
to the disappointment of his troops, who were anxious to measure strength with

the enemy.
On the 9th of August, General Brock crossed the river with seven hundred

British troops and six hundred Indians, and demanded an instant surrender of

Detroit, threatening at the same time to give free rein to Indian cruelty in the

event of refusal. Hull's excessive prudence determined him to surrender,

rather than expose his troops to the hatchet. When the assailants approached,
and at the moment when the Americans were hoping for and expecting a com-

mand to fire, he ordered his troops to retire within the fort, and hung a white

flag upon the wall, in token of submission. The army, fort, stores, garrison,

and Territory, were all surrendered [August 16, 1812], to the astonishment of

the victor himself, and the deep mortification of the American troops. Hull

was afterward tried by a court-martial
3

[1814], on charges of treason and cow-

ardice. He was found guilty of the latter, and S3ntenced to be shot, but was

pardoned by the President on account of his revolutionary services. The whole

country severely censured him
;
and the rage of the war party, increased by

the taunts of the Federalists, because of the disastrous termination of one of the

first expeditions of the campaign, was unbounded. The difficulties with which

Hull was surrounded his small force (only about eight hundred effective men) ;

the inexperience of his officers, and the rawness of his troops ;
his lack of infor-

mation, because of the interception of his communications
;
and the number and

character of the enemy were all kept out of sight, while bitter denunciations

were poured upon his head. In after years, he was permitted fully to vindicate

his character, and the sober judgment of this generation, guided by historic

truth, must acquit him of all crime, and even serious error, and pity him as a

victim of untoward circumstances.
4

1

Formerly spelled Michilimackinac. It was situated upon an island of that name, near the

Straits of Mackinaw or Michilimakinac.
a On the 8th, Colonel Miller and several hundred men, sent by Hull to accomplish the object or

Van Home, met and defeated Tecumtha [page 408] and his Indians, with a party of British, neai

the scene of Van Home's failure.

3 He was taken to Montreal a prisoner, and was afterward exchanged for thirty British cap,

tives. He was tried at Albany, New York.
4 Hull published his Vindication in 1824; and in 1848, his grandson published a large octavo

volume, giving a full and thorough vindication of the character of the general, the material for

which was drawn from official records. Hull's thorough knowledge of the character of the foe who
menaced him, and a humane desire to spare his troops, was doubtless his sole reason for surrender-

ing the post. A good and brave man has too long suffered the reproaches of history. William

Hull was born in Connecticut in 1753. He rose to the rank of major in the continental army, and

was distinguished for his bravery. He was appointed governor of the Michigan Territory in 1805.

After the close of his unfortunate campaign, he never appeared in public life. He died near Boston

in 1825.
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At about this time, a tragedy occurred near the head of Lake Michigan,

-which sent a thrill of horror through the land. Captain Heald, with a com-

pany of fifty regulars, occupied Fort Dearborn, on the site of the present

large city of Chicago.
1 Hull ordered him to evacuate that post in the deep

wilderness, and hasten to Detroit. He left the public property in charge of

friendly Indians, but had proceeded only a short distance from the fort, along

the beach, when he was attacked by a body of Indians. Twenty-six of the reg-

ular troops, and all of the militia, were slaughtered. A number of women and

children were murdered and scalped ;
and Captain Heald, with his wife, though

severely wounded, escaped to Michilimackinac.
1 His wife also received six

wounds, but none proved mortal. This event occurred on the day before Hull's

surrender [Aug. 15, 1812] at Detroit, and added to the gloom that overspread,

and the indignation that flashed through, the length and breadth of the land.

While these misfortunes were befalling the Army of the North-west,
3
the

opponents of the war were casting obstacles in the way of the other divisions of

the American troops operating in the State of New York, and preparing for

another invasion of Canada.
4 The governors of Massachusetts, New Hamp-

shire, and Connecticut, refused to allow the militia of those States to march to'

the northern frontier on the requisition of the President of the United States.

They defended their unpatriotic position by the plea that such a requisition was

unconstitutional, and that the war was unnecessary. The British government,
in the mean time, had declared the whole American coast in a state of block-

ade, except that of the New England States, whose apparent sympathy with

the enemies of their country, caused them to be regarded as ready to leave the

Union, and become subject to the British crown. But there was sterling

patriotism sufficient there to prevent such a catastrophe, even if a movement,
so fraught with evil, had been contemplated. Yet the effect was chilling to the

best friends of the country, and the President felt the necessity of extreme cir-

cumspection.

Unmindful of the intrigues of its foes, however, the administration perse-
vered

;
and during the summer of 1812, a plan was matured for invading Can-

ada on the Niagara frontier. The militia of the State of New York were

placed, by Governor Tompkins, under the command of Stephen Van Rensselaer,
6

1
Chicago is built upon the verge of Lake Michigan and the borders of a great prairie, and is

one of the wonders of the material and social progress of the United States. The Pottawatomie
Indians [page 18], by treaty, left that spot to the white people in 1833. The city was laid out in

1830, and lots were first sold in 1831. In 1840, the population was 4,470. Now [1883] it is

more than 500,000.
a
Page 411.

8 The forces under General Harrison were called the Army of the North-west ; those under Gen-
eral Stephen Van Rensselaer, at Lewiston, on the Niagara River, the Army of the Center ; and
those under General Dearborn, at Plattsburg and at Greenbush, near Albany, the Army of the

North. *
Page 410.

*
Stephen Van Rensselaer, a lineal descendant of one of the earliest and best known of the

Patroons [note 10, page 139] of the State of New York, was born at the manor-house, near Albany,
in November, 1764. The War for Independence had just closed when he came into possession of

his immense estate, at the age of twenty-one years. He engaged in politics, was a warm supporter
ofthe Xational Constitution, and was elected Lieutenant-Governor of New York in 1795. He was

very little engaged in politics after the defeat of the Federal party in 1800 [page 388]. After

the Second "War for Independence, he was elected to a seat in Congress; and, by his casting vote

in the New York delegation, he gave the Presidency of the United States to John Quincy Adams.



1817.] MADISON'S ADMINISTRATION. 413

who was commissioned a Major-General. Intelligence of the surrender of Hull1

had inspired the Americans with a strong desire to wipe out the disgrace ;
and

the regiments were filled without much difficulty. These forces were concen-

trated chiefly at Lewiston, on the Niagara frontier, under Van Rensselaer, and

at Plattsburg, on Lak Champlain, and Greenbush, near Albany, under General

Dearborn,

The first demonstration against the neighboring province was made on the

Niagara, in mid-autumn. In anticipation of such movement, British troops

were strongly posted on the heights of Queenstown, opposite Lewiston
;
and on

the morning of the 13th of October [1812], two hundred and twenty-five men,
under Colonel Solomon Van Rensselaer,

3
crossed over to attack them. The

commander was severely wounded, at the landing ;
but his troops pressed for-

ward, under Captains Wool3 and Ogilvie, successfully assaulted a battery near

Here closed his political life, and he passed the remainder of his days in the performance of social

and Christian duties. He was for several years president of the Board of Canal Commissioners,
and, while in that office, he died in January, 1840, in the seventy-fifth year of his age.

1

Page 411.
* Solomon Van Rensselaer was one of the bravest and best men of his time

;
and to his efforts,

more than to those of any other man, the salvation of the American army on the northern frontier
at this time, was due. He died at Albany on the 3d of April, 1852.

8 John E. Wool, afterwards Major-General in the army of the United States.
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the summit ui the hill, and gained possession of Queeustown ne^ghts. But the

victory was not yet complete. General Sir Isaac Brock had come from Fort

George, and with six hundred men attempted to regain the battery. The

British were repulsed, and Brock was killed.
1 In the mean while, General

Stephen Van Rensselaer, who had crossed over, returned to Lewiston, and wa

using his most earnest efforts to send reinforcements
;
but only about one thou-

sand troops, many of them quite undisciplined, could be induced to cross the

river. These were attacked in the afternoon [Oct. 13, 1812] ty fresh troops

from Fort George, and some of their Indian allies. Many were killed and the

rest were made prisoners, while at least fifteen hundred of their companions-in-

arms cowardly refused to cross to their aid. The Litter excused their conduct by
the plea, put into their mouths by the opponents of the war, that they considered

it wrong to invade the enemy's country, the war being avowedly a defensive one.

The enemies of the administration applauded them for their conscientiousness,

while a victory that might have led to reconciliation and peace, was lost at the

winning moment. General Van Rensselaer, disgusted with the inefficiency

everywhere displayed, left the service, and was succeeded by General Alex-

ander Smyth, of Virginia This officer accomplished nothing of importance

during the remainder of the season
;
and when the troops went into winter

quarters [Dec.], there appeared to have been very few achievements made by
the American army worthy of honorable mention in history.

While the army was suffering defeats, and became, in the mouths of the

opponents of the administration, a staple rebuke, the little navy had acquitted

itself nobly, and the national honor and prowess had been fully vindicated upon
the ocean. At this time the British navy numbered one thousand and sixty

vessels, while that of the United States, exclusive of gun-boats,
a numbered only

twenty. Two of these were unseaworthy, and one was on Lake Ontario. Nine

of the American vessels were of a class less than frigates, and all of them could

not well compare in appointments with those of the enemy. Yet the Americans

were not dismayed by this disparity, but went out boldly in their ships to meet

the war vessels of the proudest maritime nation upon the earth.
3

Victory after

victory told of their skill and prowess. On the 19th of August, 1812, the

United States frigate Constitution, Commodore Isaac Hull,
4

fought the British

frigate Guerriere," Captain Dacres, off the American coast, in the present track

of ships to Great Britain. The contest continued about forty minutes, when

1
Sir Isaac Brock was a brave and generous officer. There is a fine monument erected to his

memory on Queenstown Heights, a short distance from the Niagara River.
"
Page 401.

8 At the time of the declaration of war, Commodore Rogers [page 407] was at Sandy Hook,
New York, with a small squadron, consisting of the frigates President, Congress, United States, and
the sloop-of-war Hornet. He put to sea on the 21st of June, in pursuit of a British squadron which
tad sailed as a convoy of the West India fleet. After a slight engagement, and a chase of several

hours, the pursuit was abandoned at near midnight. The frigate Essex [page 430] went to sea on
the 3d of July; the Constitution, on the 12th. The brigs Nautilus, Viper, and Vixen were then

cruising off the coast, and the sloop Wasp was at sea on her return from France.
4
Isaac Hull was made a lieutenant in the navy in 1798, and was soon distinguished for skill

and bravery. He rendered important service to his country, and died in Philadelphia in February,
1843.

*
This vessel had been one of a British squadron which gave the Constitution a long and close-

chase about a month before, during which the nautical skill of Hull was most signally displayed.
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SLOOP-OF-WAR.

Dacres surrendered;
1 and his vessel was such a complete wreck, that the victor

burned her. The Constitution, it is said, was so little damaged, that she was

ready for action the following day. This victory had a powerful effect on the

public mind in both countries.

On the 18th of October, 1812, the United States sloop-of-war, Wasp,
Captain Jones, captured the British brig Frolic, off the

coast of North Carolina, after a very severe conflict for

three-quarters of an hour. The slaughter on board the

Frolic was dreadful. Only three officers and one seaman,
of eighty-four, remained unhurt. The others were killed

or badly wounded. The Wasp lost only ten men. Her
term of victory was short, for the same afternoon, the

British seventy-four gun ship Poictiers captured both

vessels. A week afterward [October 25], the frigate

United States, Commodore Decatur,
3

fought the British

frigate Macedonian, west of the Canary Islands, for almost two hours. Afte*

being greatly damaged, and losing more than one hundred men, in killed and

wounded, the Macedonian surrendered. Decatur lost only five killed and

seven wounded
;
and his vessel was very little injured. A few weeks after-

ward [December 29, 1812], the Constitution, then commanded by Commodore

Bainbridge,
8
became a victor, after combatting the British frigate Java for

almost three hours, off San Salvador, on the coast of Brazil. The Java had

four hundred men on board, of whom almost two hundred were killed 01-

wounded. The Constitution was again very little injured ;
but she made such

havoc with the Java, that Bainbridge, finding her incapable of floating long,

burned her [January 1, 1813], three days after the action.

The Americans were greatly elated by these victories. Nor were they con .

fined to the national vessels. Numerous privateers, which now swarmed upon
the ocean, were making prizes in every direction, and accounts of their exploits

filled the newspapers. It is estimated that during the year 1812, upward of

fifty British armed vessels, and two hundred and fifty merchantmen, with ak

aggregate of more than three thousand prisoners, and a vast amount of booty>

were captured by the Americans. These achievements wounded British pride

in a tender part, for England claimed the appellation of "mistress of the seas."

They also strengthened the administration
;
and at the close /)f the year, naval

armaments were in preparation on the lakes, to assist the army in a projected

invasion of Canada the following spring.

At the close of these defeats upon land, and these victories upon the ocean,

the election of President and Yice-President of the United States, and also of

members of Congress, occurred. The administration was strongly sustained by
the popular vote. Mr. Madison was re-elec:ed, with Elbridge Gerry

4
as Vice-

President George Clinton having died at Washington in April of that year."

1 On the Guerriere were seventy-nine killed and wounded. The Constitution lost seven killed

and seven wounded.
"
Pag6 392 -

8
Page 391, Note 1, page 385.

5 Note 5, pajje 350.
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A fraction of the Democratic party, and most of the Federalists, voted for De
Witt Clinton

1

for President, and Jared Ingersoll, for Vice-President. Not-

withstanding the members of Congress then elected, were chiefly Democrats, it

was evident that the opposition was powerful and increasing, particularly in the

eastern States, yet the President felt certain that the great body of the people
Tere favorable to his war policy.

CHAPTER Y.

THE SECOND "WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE. [1813.]

DURING the autumn of 1812, the whole western country, incensed by
Hull's surrender, seemed filled with the zeal of the old Crusaders.

2

Michigan
had to be recovered,

3 and the greatest warlike enthusiasm prevailed. Volun-

teers had gathered under local leaders, in every settlement. Companies were

formed and equipped in a single day, and were ready to march the next. For

several weeks the volunteers found employment in driving the hostile Indians

from post to post, in the vicinity of the extreme western settlements. They
desolated their villages and plantations, after the manner of Sullivan, in 1 779,*

and the fiercest indignation against the white people was thus excited among
the tribes, which, under the stimulus of their British allies, led to terrible

retaliations.
5 So eager were the people for battle, that the snows of winter in

the great wilderness, did not keep them from the field. The campaign of 1813

opened with the year. Almost the entire northern frontier of the United

States was the chief theatre of operations. The army of the West," under

General Harrison,
7 was concentrating at the head of Lake Erie

;
that of the

Centre* now under Dearborn, was on the banks of the Niagara River; and

that of the North* under Hampton, was on the borders of Lake Champlain.
Sir George Prevost was the successor of Brock 10

in command of the British

army in Canada, assisted by General Proctor in the direction of Detroit,
11 and

by General Sheaffe in the vicinity of Montreal and the lower portions of Lake

Champlain.
Brave and experienced leaders had rallied to the standard of Harrison in

the north-west. Kentucky sent swarms of her young men, from every social

1

Page 456. 4 Note 5, page 38.
*
Page 411. *

Page 304.
* Harrison early took steps to relieve the frontier posts. These were Fort Harrison, on tht

"Wabaah; Fort "Wayne, on the Miami of the lakes; Fort Defiance [Note 6, page 374]; and Fort

Deposit, to which the Indians laid siege on the 12th of September. Generals Winchester, Tupper,
and Payne, and Colonels "Wells, Scott, Lewis, Jennings, and Allen, were the chief leaders against
the savages. Operations were carried on vigorously, further west. Early in October, almost four

thousand volunteers, chiefly mounted riflemen, under General Hopkins, had collected at Yincennea

[page 803] for an expedition against the towns of the Peoria and other Indians, in the "Wabash

country. It was this formidable expedition, sanctioned by Governor Shelby, which produced the

greatest devastation in the Indian country.
* Note 3, page 412. 7

Page 474.
* Note I, page 412. Note 3, page 412. w

Page 411.
"

Page 412.
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rank, led by the veteran Shelby,
1 and the yeomanry of Ohio and its neighbor-

hood hastened to the field. So numerous were the volunteers, that Harrison

was compelled to issue an order against further enlistments, and many a warm

heart, beating with desire for military glory, was chilled by disappointment.

General Harrison chose the west end of Lake Erie as his chief place of mustei;

the design of making a descent upon the British at Maiden and Detroit,'

and by securing possession of those posts, recover Michigan and the forts west

of it. Early in January [10th, 1813], General Winchester, on his way from

the southward, with eight hundred young men, chiefly Kentuckians, reached

the Maumee Rapids.
8 There he was informed [January 13, 1813] that a

party of British and Indians had concentrated at Frenchtown, on the river

Raisin,
4

twenty-five miles south of Detroit. He immediately sent a detachment,

1
Isaac Shelby was born in Maryland, in 1750. He entered military life in 1774, and went to

Kentucky as a land-surveyor, in 1775. He engaged in the "War of the Revolution, and was dis-

tinguished in the battle on King's Mountain [page 319] hi 1780. He was made governor of Ken-

tucky in 1792, and soon afterward retired to private life, from which he was drawn, first in 1812, to

the duties of Chief Magistrate of his State, and again, in 1813, to lead an army to the field against
his old enemy. He died in 1826, when almost seventy-six years of age.

*
Page 412.

8 Note 7, page 374.
* Now a portion of the flourishing village of Monroe. Michigan, two or three miles from Lake

Srie. The Raisin derived its name from the fact, that in former years great quantities of grape*
clustered upon its banks.

27
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under Colonels Allen and Lewis, to protect the inhabitants in that direction.

Finding Frenchtown in the possession of the enemy, they successfully attacked

[January 18] and routed them, and held possession until the arrival of Win-

chester [January 20], with almost three hundred men, two days afterward.

General Proctor, who was at Maiden, eighteen miles distant, heard of the

advance of Winchester, and proceeded immediately and secretly, with a com-

bined force of fifteen hundred British and Indians, to attack him. They fell

upon the American camp at dawn, on the morning of the 22d of January.
After a severe battle and heavy loss on both sides, Winchester,

1 who had been

made a prisoner by the Indians, surrendered his troops on the condition, agreed
to by Proctor, that ample protection to all should be given. Proctor, fearing

the approach of Harrison, who was then on the Lower Sandusky, immediately
marched for Maiden, leaving the sick and wounded Americans behind, without

a guard. After following him some distance, the Indians turned back [January

23], murdered and scalped
2
the Americans who were unable to travel, set fire

to dwellings, took K.any prisoners to Detroit, in order to procure exorbitant

ransom prices, and reserved some of them for inhuman torture. The indiffer-

ence of Proctor and his troops, on this occasion, was criminal in the highest

degree, and gave just ground for the dreadml suspicion, that they encouraged
the savages in their deeds of blood. Oftentimes after that, the war-cry of the

Kentuckians was, "Remember the River Raisin!" The tragedy was keenly
felt in all the western region, and especially in Kentucky, for the slain, by bul-

let, arrow, tomahawk, and brand, were generally of the most respectable fam-

ilies in the State
; many of them young men of fortune and distinction, with

numerous friends and relations.

Harrison had advanced to the Maumee Rapids, when the intelligence of the

affair at Frenchtown reached him. Supposing Proctor would

press forward to attack him, he fell back [January 23, 1813] ;

but on hearing of the march of the British toward Maiden, he

advanced [February 1] to the rapids, with twelve hundred men,
established a fortified camp there, and called it Fort Meigs,

3
in

honor of the governor of Ohio. There he was besieged

by Proctor several weeks afterward [May 1], who was

at the head of more than two thousand British and Indians.

On the fifth day of the siege, General Clay
4
arrived [May 5]

with twelve hundred men, and dispersed the enemy. A large

FORT MEIGS. portion of his troops, while unwisely pursuing the fugitives, were

surrounded and captured ;
and Proctor returned to the siege.

The impatient Indians, refusing to listen to Tecumtha,
8
their leader, deserted

1 James "Winchester was born in Maryland in 1756. He was made brigadier-general in 1812
;

resided his commission in 1815; and died in Tennessee in 1826.
a Note 4, page 14.

* Fort Meigs was erected on the south aide of the Maumee, nearly opposite the former British

post [note 8, page 374], and a short distance iro-n the present village of Perrysburg.
4 Green Clay was born in Virginia in 1757, was made a brigadier of Kentucky volunteers early

In 1813, and died in October, 1826.
*
Page 108. Teeumtha came with the largest body of Indians ever collected on the northern

frontier.



1813.] THE SECOND WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE. 419

the British on the eighth day [May 8] ;
and twenty-four hours afterward,

Proctor abandoned the siege and returned to Maiden [May 9], to prepare for

a more formidable invasion. Thus terminated a siege of thirteen days, during
which time the fortitude and courage of the Americans were wonderfully dis-

played in the presence of the enemy. The Americans lost in the fort, eighty-
one killed, and one hundred and eighty-nine wounded.

For several weeks after the siege of Fort Meigs, military operations were

suspended by both parties. Here, then, let us take a brief retrospective glance.

Congress assembled on the 2d of November, 1812, and its councils were divided

by fierce party spirit, which came down from the people. The Democrats had

a decided majority, and therefore the measures of the administration were sus-

tained. The British government now began to show some desire for reconcilia-

tion. Already the orders in council had been repealed, and the Prince Regent
1

demanded that hostilities should cease. To this the President replied, that being
now at war, the United States would not put an end to it, unless full provisions

were made for a general settlement of differences, and a cessation of the practice

of impressment, pending the negotiation. At about the same time a law was

passed, prohibiting the employment of British seamen in American vessels. The

British also proposed an armistice, but upon terms which the Americans could

not accept. Indeed, all propositions from that quarter were inconsistent with

honor and justice, and they were rejected. When these attempts at reconcilia-

tion had failed, the Emperor Alexander of Russia offered his mediation. The

government of the United States instantly accepted it,
2
but the British govern-

ment refused it
;
and so the war went on. Congress made provision for prose-

cuting it with vigor ;
and the hope lighted by Alexander's offer, soon faded.

The American troops in the West had remained at Fort Meigs and vicinity.

Toward the close of July [July 21, 1813], about four thousand British and

Indians, under Proctor and Tecumtha,
3

again appeared before that fortress, then

commanded by General Clay. Meeting with a vigorous re-

sistance, Proctor left Tecumtha to watch the fort, while he

marched [July 28], with five hundred regulars and eight

hundred Indians, to attack Fort Stephenson, at Lower San-

dusky,
1 which was garrisoned by about one hundred and fifty

young men,
& commanded by Major Croghan, a brave soldier,

FORT SANUUSKY.

1

When, in consequence of mental infirmity, George the Third became incompetent to reign, hi

February 1811, his son, George, Prince of Wales, and afterward George the Fourth, was made

regent, or temporary ruler of the realm. He retained the office of king, pro tempore, until the death

of his father, in 1820.
a The President appointed, as commissioners, or envoys extraordinary, to negotiate a treaty of

peace with Great Britain, under the Russian mediation, Albert Gallatin, John Quincy Adams, and

James A. Bayard Mr. Adams was then American minister at the Russian court, and was joined

by Messrs. GaJlatin and Bayard in June following.
3
Page 408.

4 On the west bank of the Sandusky River, about fifteen miles south from Sandusky Bay. The
area within ihe pickets [note 1, page 127] was about an acre. The fort was made of regular em-

bankments of earth and a ditch, with bastions and block-houses [note 3, page 192] and some rude

log buildings within. The site is in the village of Fremont, Ohio.
6 The greater portion of the garrison were very young men, and some of them were mere

youths
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then only twenty-one years of age.
1

Proctor's demand for surrender was accom-

panied by the usual menace of Indian massacre
;
but it

did not intimidate Croghan.
9

After a severe cannonade
3

had made a breach, about five hundred of the besiegers

attempted to rush in and take the place by assault [Aug.

2, 1813] ;
but so terribly were they met by grape-shot*

from the only cannon in the fort, that they recoiled, panic-

stricken, and the whole body fled in confusion, leaving
one hundred and fifty of their number killed or wounded.

The Americans lost only one man killed, and seven,

wounded. This gallant defense was universally ap-

plauded,
6 and it had a powerful effect upon the Indians.

Proctor and Tecumtha left for Detroit, after this noble defense of Fort

Stephenson, and the British abandoned all hope of capturing these western

A.merican posts, until they should become masters of Lake Erie. But while

ihe events just narrated were in progress, a new power appeared in the conflict

in the West and North, and complicated the difficulties of the enemy. In the

autumn of 1812, Commodore Chauncey had fitted out a small naval armament

at Sackett's Harbor, to dispute the mastery, on Lake Ontario, with several

British armed vessels then afloat.
8 And during the summer of 1813, Commo-

dore Oliver Hazzard Perry had prepared, on Lake Erie, an American squadron
of nine vessels,

7

mounting fifty-four guns, to co-operate with the Army of the

West. The British had also fitted out a small squadron of six vessels, carrying

sixty-three guns, commanded by Commodore Barclay. Perry's fleet was ready

by the 2d of August, but some time was occupied in getting several of his ves-

sels over the bar in the harbor of Erie. The hostile fleets met near the west-

ern extremity of Lake Erie on the morning of the 10th of September, 1813,
and a very severe battle ensued. The brave Perry managed with the skill of

an old admiral, and the courage of the proudest soldier. His flag-ship, the

Lawrence, had to bear the brunt of the battle, and very soon she became an

unmanageable wreck, having all her crew, except four or five, killed or

wounded. Perry then left her, in an open boat, and hoisted his flag on the

Niagara at the moment when that of the Lawrence fell. With this vessel he

1

George Croghan was a nephew of George Rogers Clarke [page 300]. He afterward rose to
the rank of colonel, and held the office of inspector-general. He died at New Orleans in 1849.

a In reply to Proctor's demand and threat, he said, in substance, that when the fort should be
taken there would be none left to massacre, as it would not be given up while there was a man left

to fight.
8 The British employed six six-pounders and a howitzer, in the siege. A howitzer is a piece

of ordnance similar to a mortar, SOT hurling bomb-shells. 4 Note 4, page 242.
6
Major Croghan was immediately promoted to the rank of lieutenant-colonel; and the ladies

of Chillicothe gave him an elegant sword.
6
Chauncey's squadron consisted of six vessels, mounting thirty-two puns, in all The British

squadron consisted of the same number of vessels, but mounting more than a hundred guns. Not-

withstanding this disparity, Chauncey attacked them near Kingston [note 5, page 180] early ia

November, damaged them a good deal, and captured and carried into Sackett's Harbor, a schooner

belonging to the enemy. He then captured another schooner, which had $12,000 in specie on board,
and the baggage of the dweased General Brock. See page 414.

1 Lawrence (flag-ship), 20 guns; Niagara, 20; Caledonian, 3; shooner Ariel, 4; Scorpion. 2;

Somers, 2 guns and 2 swivels
; sloop Trippe, and schooners Tigress and Porcupine, of 1 gun eacn.
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passed through the enemy's line, pouring broadsides, right and left, at half

pistol-shot distance. The remainder of the squadron followed, with a fair wind,
and the victory was soon decided. At four o'clock in the afternoon, every
British vessel had surrendered to him

;'
and before sunset, he had sent a mes-

senger to General Harrison with the famous dispatch,
" We have met the

enemy, and they are ours." This victory was hailed with unbounded demon-

strations of joy. For a moment, party rancor was almost forgotten ;
and bon-

fires and illuminations lighted up the whole country.

Perry's victory was followed by immediate. and energetic action on the part

of Harr'son. The command of Lake Erie now being secured, and a reinforce-

ment of four thousand Kentucky volunteers, under Governor Shelby, the old

hero of King's Mountain,
3

having arrived [Sept. 17, 1813], the general pro-

ceeded to attack Maiden and attempt the recovery of Detroit. The fleet con-

veyed a portion of the troops across the lake [Sept 27], but on their arrival at

Maiden, it had been deserted by Proctor, who was fleeing, with Tecumtha and

his Indians, toward the Moravian village, on the Thames, eighty miles from

The carnage was very great, in proportion to the numbers engaged. The Americana lo?t

twenty-seven killed, and ninety-six wounded. The British lost about two hundred in killed and

wounded, and six hundred prisoners. Perry's treatment of his prisoners received the highest ap-
plause. Commodore Barclay declared that his humane conduct was sufficient to immortalize him.
That brave commander was born at Newport, Rhode Island, in 1785. He entered the service as

midshipman, in 1798. He continued in active service after the close of the Second "War for Inde-

pendence, and died of yellow fever, in the West India Seas, in 1819. It was his brother, Com-
modore M. C. Perry, who, as we shall observe, effected a treaty with Japan.

"
Page 417.
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Detroit.
1 A body of Americans took possession of Detroit on the 29th of Sep-

tember
;
and on the 2d of October, Harrison and Shelby, with Colonel Richard

M. Johnson and his cavalry (thirty-five hundred strong), started in pursuit of

the enemy.
2

They overtook them [Oct. 5] at the Moravian town, when a des-

perate battle ensued. Tecumtha was slain;
3 and then his dismayed followers,

who had fought furiously, broke and fled. Almost the whole of Proctor's com-

mand were killed or made prisoners, and the general himself narrowly escaped,

with a few of his cavalry. Here the Americans recaptured six brass field-

pieces which had been surrendered by Hull, on two of which were engraved the

words, "Surrendered by Burgoyne at Saratoga."
4

These pieces are now at

the United States military post of West Point, on the Hudson. 5

The battle on the Thames was a very important one. By that victory, all

that Hull
8 had lost was recovered

;
the Indian confederacy

7 was completely
broken up, and the war on the north-western borders of the Union was termi-

nated. The name of Harrison was upon every lip ;
and throughout the entire

Republic, there was a general outburst of gratitude. He was complimented by

Congress, and by various public bodies
;
and a member of the House of Repre-

sentatives asserted, in his place, that his victory was "such as would have

secured to a Roman general, in the best days of the republic, the honors of a

triumph." Security now being given to the frontier, General Harrison dis-

missed a greater portion of the volunteers
;
and leaving General Cass, with

about a thousand regulars, to garrison Detroit, proceeded [Oct. 23, 1813] to

Niagara, with the remainder of his troops, to join the Army of the Center,'

which had been making some endeavors to invade Canada. In the mean while,

an Indian war had been kindled in the South;
9 and on th3 ocean, the laurel

wreaths of triumph won by the Americans during 181 2,
10 had been interwoven

with garlands of cypress on account of reverses. Let us turn a moment to the

operations of the Army of the North."

Hostilities were kept up on portions of the northern frontier, during the

winter, as well as in the West. In February [1813], a detachment of British

soldiers crossed the St. Lawrence on the ice, from Prescott to Ogdensburg, anci

under pretense of seeking for deserters, committed robberies. Major Forsyth,
then in command of riflemen there, retaliated. This was resented, in turn, by

1 In the present town of Orford, West Canada.
a Commodore Perry and General Cass (late United States Senator from Michigan) accom-

panied General Harrison as volunteer aids. The Americans moved with such rapidity that

ihey traveled twenty-six miles the first day.
3 Tecumtha was then only about forty years of age. He was a man of great ability, and had

he been born and educated in civilized society, his powerful intellect would have made him one of
the most distinguished characters of the age. He possessed great dignity, and always maintained
it in his deportment On one occasion he was to attend a conference held with Harrison. A circle
of the company had been formed

;
and when he came and entered it, there was no seat for him,

Harrison's aid having taken the one by the side of the general, intended for him. Harrison per-
ceived that Tecumtha was offended, and told his aid to invite the chief to the seat near him. The
aid politely said to Tecumtha, "Your father requests you to take a seat by his side." The offendad
chief drew his blanket around him, and, with an air of great dignity, said, "The Great Spirit is ray
fether, and I will repose on the bosom of my mother;" and then sat down upon the ground.

1

Page 281. 6 Note 2, page 324 "
Page 411. T

Page 408.
8
Page 412. Page 428. w

Page 415. u
Page 412.
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a British force of twelve hundred men, who crossed on the 21st of February,
and after a conflict of an hour, drove out the few military defenders of Ogdens-
burg, plundered and destroyed a large amount of property, and then returned
to Canada.

1

These events accelerated the gathering of the militia in that quar-
ter. Bodies of new levies arrived, almost daily, at Sackett's Harbor, but these,

needing discipline, were of little service, as a defense of the country between
that point and Ogdensburg.

Being unable to afford assistance to the exposed points in that region, Gen-
eral Dearborn, the commander-in-chief,

3
resolved to attempt the capture of

York (now Toronto), the capital of Upper Canada, and the principal depository
of British military stores for the supply of western garrisons. He embarked
seventeen hundred troops on board the fleet of Commodore Chauncey,

3
at Sack-

ett's Harbor, on the 25th of April ;
and two days afterward [April 27], they

landed on the beach at York, about two miles west from the British works, in

the face of a galling fire from regulars and Indians,

Under General Sheaffe. These were soon driven back to

their fortifications, and the Americans, under General

Pike,
4

pressed forward, captured two redoubts, and were

advancing upon the main work, when the magazine of the

fort blew up,
6

hurling stones and timbers in every direc-

tion, and producing great destruction of life among the

assailants. General Pike was mortally wounded, but he

lived long enough to know that the enemy had fled, and
, i

"
i

GENERAL PIKE.
that the American flag waved in triumph over the fort

at York. The command then devolved on Colonel Pearce
;
and at four o'clock

in the afternoon, the town was in possession of the Americans. General Dear-

born, who had remained with the fleet, landed soon after the fall of Pike, but

did not assume the immediate command until after the surrender of the town.

When the victory was completed, the fleet and troops returned [May 1] to

Sackett's Harbor, but soon afterward proceeded to attack Fort George, on the

western shore of Niagara River, near its mouth. After a brief defense [May
2T, 1813], the garrison fled to Burlington Heights, at the western extremity of

Lake Ontario,
7

thirty-five miles distant, closely pursued by a much larger force,

1 The Americans lost, in killed and wounded, twenty men. The British loss was about double

that number. 8
Page 410.

'
Page 420.

4 General Dearborn had given the command of this expedition to Brigadier-General Zebulon M.

Pike, a brave and useful officer, who had been at the head of an expedition, a few years earlier, to

explore the country around the head waters of the Mississippi. He was born in New Jersey, in

1779. He died on board the flag-ship of Commodore Chauncey, with the captured British flag
under his head, at the age of thirty-four years. In the burial-ground attached to Madison barracks,
at Sackett's Harbor, is a dilapidated wooden monument erected over the remains of General Pike

and some of his companions in arms. When the writer visited the spot, in I860, it was wasting
with decay, and falling to the earth. Such a neglect of the burial-place of the illustrious dead, is a

disgrace to our government.
* The British had laid a train of wet powder communicating with the magazine, for the purpose,

and when tLey retreated, they fired it.
8 General Sheaffe escaped, with the principal part of the troops, but lost all his baggage, books,

papers, and a large amount of public property.
' At the head of Burlington Bay, in Canada.
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under Generals Chandler
1 and Winder.

2
. In this affair, Colonel (now Lieutenant-

General) Scott was distinguished for his skill and bravery. On the night of

the 6th of June, the British fell upon the American camp, at Stony Creek,
3
but

were repulsed. It was very dark, and in the confusion both of the American

generals were made prisoners.

A British squadron appeared before Sackett's Harbor on the same day

[May 27] that the Americans attacked Fort George : and two days afterward

[May 29J Sir George Prevost and a thousand soldiers landed in the face of a

severe fire from some regulars
4 stationed there. The regular force of the Amer-

icans consisted of only a few seamen, a company of
artillery, and about two

hundred invalids not more than five hundred men in all. General Jacob

Brown, the commander at that station, rallied the militia, and their rapid

gathering, at and near the landing-place, back of Horse Island, so alarmed

Prevost, lest they should cut off his retreat, that he hastily re-embarked, leaving
almost the whole of his wounded behind. Had he been aware of the condition

of his opposers, he could have made an easy conquest of Sackett's Harbor. The
raw militia had become panic-stricken at the first, and when Prevost retreated,

they, too, were endeavoring to make their way to places of safety in the

country.
A change in the administration of military affairs occurred soon after the

event at Sackett's Harbor. For some time, the infirmities of General Dearborn,
the commander-in-chief,

6 had disqualified him for active participation in the

operations of the army, and in June [1813] he withdrew from the service. He
was succeeded in command by General James Wilkinson,

8

who, like Dearborn,
had been an active young officer in the War for Independence. General John

Armstrong,
7
then Secretary of War, had conceived another invasion of Canada,

by the united forces of the armies of the Center and North.
8

For this purpose
a little more than seven thousand men were concentrated at French Creek on

the 5th of November, 1813, and on that morning went down the St. Lawrence

in boats, with the intention of co-operating with about four thousand troops

under Hampton,' in an attack upon Montreal. They landed the same evening,
a few miles abave the British fort at Prescott, opposite Ogdensburg. It being

foggy, Wilkinson attempted to pass down the river upon the flotilla commanded

by General Brown. The fog cleared away, and the moon revealed the Amer-

1 John Chandler was a native of Massachusetts. Some years after the war he was United
States Senator from Maine. He died at Augusta, in that State, in 1841. 2

Page 436.
1 In the present township of Saltfleet, Canada West. In this affair the Americans lost, in killed,

wounded, and missing, one hundred and fifty-four.
4 Note 6,- page 185.

6
Page 410.

* James Wilkinson was born in Maryland, hi 1757, and studied medicine. He joined the con-

tinental army at Cambridge, in 1775, and continued in service during the war. He commanded
the western division of the United States army at the beginning of the century, and became some-

what involved, as we have seen [page 396], in Burr's scheme, in 1806. He died near the city of

Mexico, in 1825, at the age of sixty-eight years.
7 Note 4, page 349. John Armstrong was a son of Colonel John Armstrong, of Pennsylvania

[page 191], and was born at Carlisle, in that State, in 1758. He served in the War of the Revolu-

tion; was Secretary of the State of Pennsylvania ;
minister to France in 1804; Secretary of War

in 1813
;
and died in Duchess county, New York, in 1843. 8 Note 3, page 412.

9

Page 410.
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leans to the garrison of the fort. The latter immediately opened a heavy fire,

and being thus annoyed by the enemy on shore, and by gun-boats' in his rear,

Wilkinson landed Brown and a strong detachment to go forward and disperse

quite a large force near Williamsburg, and to cover the descent of the boats.

A severe battle ensued [November 11] in which the Americans lost more than

three hundred men in killed and wounded, and the British about two hundred.

This is known as the battle of Chrysler's Field. The locality is on the northern

shore of the St. Lawrence, a little more than thirty miles below Ogdensburg,
and about ninety above Montreal.

General Wilkinson arrived at St. Regis' the next day, with the main body,
when he was informed that no troops from the army of the North would join
him.

8 He therefore abandoned the expedition against Montreal, and went

jnto winter quarters at French Mills (now Fort Covington, in St. Lawrence

county), about nine miles east of St. Regis. A little later, some stirring events

occurred on the Niagara frontier. General M'Cliire, commander at Fort

George,
4
burnt the Canadian village of Newark on the 10th of December.

Two days later [December 12, 1813] he was

compelled by the British to abandon Fort

George. A strong force of British and Indians

then surprised and captured [December 19]

Fort Niagara, on the east side of the Niagara

River, near its mouth
;

6
and in retaliation for FORT NIAGARA, 1813.

the burning of Newark, they laid Youngstown,

Lewiston, Manchester (now Niagara Falls), and the Tuscarora Indian village,

in Niagara county, in ashes. On the 30th, the little villages of Black Rock
and Buffalo

8
were also consumed, and a large amount of public and private

property was destroyed. With these events ended the campaign of 1813, in

the North.

Affairs in the extreme South assumed a serious aspect during the summer
of 1813. In the spring of that year, Tecumtha (who was skin on the Thames

a few months later)
7 went among the Southern tribes, to arouse them to wage

war upon the white people. The powerful Creeks
8

yielded to his persuasions ;

and late in August [30th], a large party of them surprised and captured Fort

Mimms, on the Alabama River,
9 and massacred about four hundred men,

1

Page 401.
a This is an old French and Indian settlement on the St. Lawrence, at the mouth of the St

Regis River, about fifty miles below Ogdensburg. The dividing line (45th degree) between the

United States and Canada, passes through the center of the village.
8 There was an enmity between Wilkinson and Hampton, and Armstrong resolved to command

the expedition himself, to prevent trouble on account of precedence. He joined the army at

Sackett's Harbor, but soon returned to Washington, for he and Wilkinson could not agree. To the

jealousies and bickerings of these old officers, must the disasters of the land troops be, in a great

degree, attributed. General Hampton did move forward toward Canada, but finally fell back to

Plattsburg, and leaving the command with General Izard, returned to South Carolina. He died at

Columbia, South Carolina, in 1835, aged eighty-one years.
*
Page 414. Page 200.

* Buffalo was then a small village, containing about fifteen hundred inhabitants, and was utterly

destroyed. It is now [1883] one of the stateliest commercial cities on the continent, with a popu-
lation of more than one hundred and fifty thousand.

'
Page 424.

8
Page 30.

9 On the east side of the Alabama, about ten miles above its junction with the Tombigbee,
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women, and children. This event aroused the whole South. General Andrew

Jackson,Accompanied by General Coffee, marched into the Creek country, with

twenty-five hundred Tennessee militia, and prosecuted a subjugating war against

them, with great vigor.

On the 3d of November, General Coffee,
3
with nine hundred men, sur-

rounded an Indian force at Tallushatchee,
3
and killed two hundred of them.

Not a warrior escaped. Within ten weeks afterward, bloody battles had been

fought at Talladega
4

[November 8], Autossee
5

[November 29], and Emucfau8

[January 22d, 1814], and several skirmishes had also taken place. The
Americans were always victorious, yet they lost many brave soldiers. At

length the Creeks established a fortified camp at the Great Horseshoe Bend of

the Tallapoosa River,
7 and there a thousand warriors, with their women and

children, determined to make a last defensive stand. The Americans sur-

rounded them, and Jackson, with the main body of his army, attacked them on

the 27th of March, 1814. The Indians fought desperately, for they saw no

future for themselves, in the event of defeat. Almost six hundred warriors

were slain, for they disdained to surrender. Only two or three were made

prisoners, with about three hundred women and children. This battle crushed

the power and spirit of the Creek nation, and soon afterward the chiefs of the

remnant signified their submission. 3 It was a sad scene to the eyes of the

benevolent and good, to see these ancient tribes of our land, who were then

making rapid strides in the progress of civilization, so utterly ruined by the

destroying hand of war. They found that might made right, in the view of

their subjugators, and they were compelled to make a treaty of peace upon the

terms dictated by their conquerors. Thus, time after time since the advent of

the white people here, have the hands of the stronger been laid upon the weaker,
until now nothing but remnants of once powerful nations remain.

The naval operations upon the ocean, during the year 1813, were very im-

portant. Many and severe conflicts between public and private armed vessels

of the United States and Great Britain, occurred
;
and at the close of the year,

the balance-sheet of victories showed a preponderance in favor of the former."

Toward the end of February, the United States sloop of war Hornet, Cap-

1

Page 460.
s John Coffee was a native of Virginia. He did good service during the second "War for Inde-

pendence, and in subsequent campaigns. He died in 1834.
3 South side of Tallushatchee Creek, near the village of Jacksonville, in Benton county, Ala-

bama.
* A. little east of the Coosa River, in the present Talladega county.
* On the bank of the Tallapoosa, twenty miles from its junction with the Coosa, in Macon

county.
* On the west bank of the Tallapoosa, at the mouth of Emucfau Creek, in Tallapoosa county.
7
Called Tohopeka by the Indians. Near the north-east corner of Tallapoosa county.

*
Among those who bowed in submission was "Weathersford, their greatest leader. He appeared

suddenly before Jackson, in his tent, and standing erect, he said: "I am in your power; do with
me what you please. I have done the white people all the harm I could. I have fought them,
and fought them bravely. My warriors are all gone now, and I can do no more. "When there was
a chance for success, I never asked for peace. There is none now, and I ask it for the remnant of

my nation."
* More than seven hundred British vessels were taken by the American navy and private*"

10

during the years 1812 and 1813.
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tain Lawrence, fought [Feb. 24, 1813] the British brig Peacock, off the

mouth of Demarara River, South America. The Peacock surrendered, after a

fierce conflict of fifteen minutes, and a few moments afterward she sank, carry-

ing down with her nine British seamen and three Americans. The loss of the

Peacock, in killed and wounded, was thirty-seven ;
of the Hornet only five.

The generous conduct of Captain Lawrence, toward his enemy on this occasion,

drew from the officers of the Peacock, on their arrival in New York, a public

letter of thanks.
1

This, o itself, was a wreath of honor for the victor, more

glorious than his triumph in the sanguinary conflict.

On his return to the United States, Captain Lawrence was promoted to the

command of the frigate Chesapeake ; and on the 1st

of June, 1813, he sailed from Boston harbor, in search

of the British frigate, Shannon, which had recently

appeared off the New England coast, and challenged

any vessel, of equal size, to meet her. Lawrence

found the boaster the same day, about thirty miles

from Boston light; and at five in the afternoon, a

furious action began. The two vessels soon became

entangled. Then the Britons boarded the Chesapeake,
and after a desperate hand-to-hand struggle, hoisted

the British flag. Lawrence was mortally wounded at the beginning of the

action
;
and when he was carried below, he uttered those brave words of com-

mand, which Perry afterward displayed on his flag-ship on Lake Erie,
" Don't

give up the ship /" The combat lasted only fifteen minutes; but in that time,

the Chesapeake had forty-eight killed and ninety-eight wounded ;
the Shannon

twenty-three killed, and fifty-six wounded. The body of Lawrence," with that

of Ludlow, the second in command, was carried to Halifax, in the victorious

Shannon, and there buried with the honors of war. This event caused great

eadness in America, and unbounded joy in England.
3

Another disaster followed the loss of the Chesapeake. It was the capture

of the American brig Argus, Captain Allen, in August. The Argus, in the

spring [1813], had conveyed Mr. Crawford, United States minister, to France,

and for two months had greatly annoyed British shipping in the English Chan-

1
They said,

" So much was done to alleviate the uncomfortable and distressing situation in

which we were placed, when received on board the ship you command, that we can not better

express our feelings than by saying, we ceased to consider ourselves prisoners ;
and every thing

that friendship could dictate, was adopted by you and the officers of the Hornet, to remedy the

inconvenience we otherwise should have experienced, from the unavoidable loss of the whole of

our property and clothes, by the sudden sinking of the Peacock." The crew of the Hornet divided

their clothing with the prisoners.
a
Captain James Lawrence was a native of New Jersey, and received a midshipman's warrant

at the age of sixteen years. He was with Decatur at Tripoli [page 392]. He died four days after

receiving the wound, at the age of thirty-one years. A beautiful monument, in the form of a trun-

cated column and pedestal, was erected to his memory in Trinity churcn-yard, New York. This, in

time became dilapidated, and, a few years ago, a new one, of another form, was erected near the

south entrance to the church, a few feet from Broadway. (

1 A writer of the time observed: "Never did any victory not those of Wellington in Spain,

nor even those of Nelson call forth such expressions of joy on the part of the British
;
a proof

that our naval character had risen somewhat in their estimation."
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nel. Several vessels were sent out to capture her
;
and on the 14th of August,

the sloop of war 1

Pelican, after a brief, but severe action, defeated the Argus.
In less than a month afterward [Sept. 10], Perry gained his great victory on

Lake Erie
;

2 and the British brig Boxer, Captain Blythe, had surrendered

[Sept. 5, 1813], to the United States brig Enterprise, Lieutenant Burrows,
after an engagement of forty minutes, off the coast of Maine. Blythe and Bur-

rows, young men of great promise, were both slain during the action, and their

bodies were buried in one grave at Portland, with military honors.

A distressing warfare upon the coast between Delaware Bay and Charleston,

was carried on during the spring and summer of 1813, by a small British

squadron under the general command of Admiral Cockburn. His chief object

was to draw the American troops from the northern frontier to the defense of

the seaboard, and thus lessen the danger that hung over Canada. It was a sort

of amphibious warfare on land and water and was marked by many acts of

unnecessary cruelty. The British had talked of "
chastising the Americans

into submission," and the method now employed was the instrument. On the

4th of February, 1813, two ships of the line, three frigates, and other British

vessels, made their appearance at the capes of Virginia.
3 At about the same

time, another British squadron entered the Delaware River, destroyed the

American shipping there in March, and in April cannonaded the town of

Lewiston. In May, Frenchtown, Havre de Grace, Georgetown, and Frederick-

town, on the Chesapeake, were plundered and burned
;
and then the combined

British fleet entered Hampton Roads,
4 and menaced Norfolk. While attempt-

ing to go up to that city, the enemy were nobly repulsed [Jan. 22, 1813] bj
the Americans upon Craney Island,

6 under the command of Major Faulkner,
assisted by naval officers. The British then fell upon Hampton [Jan. 25] ;

and

having surfeited themselves with plunder, withdrew. Cockburn6
sailed down

the North Carolina coast, marauding whenever opportunity offered, and carried

away a large number of negroes and sold them in the West Indies. In pleas-

ant contrast to this, was the deportment of Commodore Hardy, whose squadron
was employed during the same season, in blockading the New England coast.

Although he landed upon our shores frequently, yet his conduct was always
that of a high-minded gentleman and generous enemy.

7

During the year 1813, the United States frigate Essex, Captain Porter,

made a long and successful cruise in the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans. It oc-

cupied the time from April until October. The Essex carried at her mast-

head the popular motto,
" Free Trade and Sailor's Rights ;" and, while in

1

Page 415. 2
Page 423. *

Page 64. * Note 3, page 297.
8
Craney Island is low and bare, and lies at the mouth of the Elizabeth River, about five

miles below Norfolk. At the time in question, there were some unfinished fortifications upon
it These were strengthened and added to by the insurgents during the late Civil War.

* Cockburn died in England in 1853, at an advanced acre.
T
Congress had passed an act, offering a reward of half their value for the destruction of British

chips, by other means than those of the armed vessels of the United States, This was to encourage
the use of torpedoes. The cruel forays upon the southern coasts seemed to warrant this species
of dishonorable warfare. It was employed against Hardy's squadron. He was justly indignant^
and protested against it as unmanly.
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the Pacific, she captured twelve British whale-ships, with an aggregate of

three hundred and two men, and one hundred and seven guns. The Essex
was finally captured in the harbor ofValparaiso [March,

28, 1814J, on the western coast of South America, by
the British frigate Phoebe, and sloop of war Cherub,
after one of the most desperately fought battles of the

war. It is said that thousands of the inhabitants of

Valparaiso covered the neighboring heights as spectators
of the conflict. Perceiving the overpowering advantage
of the British, their sympathies were strongly elicited

in favor of the Essex. When any thing in her favor

appeared, loud shouts went up from the multitude
;
and

when she was finally disabled and lost, they expressed
their feelings in groans and tears. The Essex lost one hundred and

fifty-

four, in killed and wounded. Captain Porter
1

wrote to the Secretary of the

Navy,
" We have been unfortunate, but not disgraced."

CHAPTER VI.

SECOND WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE, CONTINUED. [1814, 1815.]

DURING the year 1814, the war was prosecuted by both parties with more

zeal and vigor than hitherto. The means for supporting it were much aug-
mented by the government of the United States, notwithstanding the public

credit was much depreciated, and treasury notes fell as low as seventeen per
cent, below par. At the same time, Great Britain seemed to put forth increased

energy, and her vessels of war hovered along our entire coast, and kept the sea-

port towns in a state of continual alarm. Early in that year, the victorious

career of Napoleon, in Europe, was checked by the allied powers. Almost all

of the governments of continental Europe, with that of England, had combined

to crush him, and sustain the sinking Bourbon dynasty. Their armies were

allied in a common cause. These, approaching from different directions, reached

Paris, at the close of March, 1814, when the Russian and Prussian emperors
entered the city.

2

Hoping to secure the crown to his son, Napoleon abdicated

in his favor on the 4th of April, and retired to Elba. Peace for Europe

1 Commodore David Porter was among the most distinguished of the American naval com-

manders. He was a resident minister of the United States in Turkey, and died, near Constantin-

ople, in March, 1843.
2
Russians, one hundred and fifty thousand strong, advanced from Switzerland; Blucher led

one hundred and thirty thousand Prussians from Germany ; Bernadotte, the old companion-in-arms
of Napoleon, was at the head of one hundred thousand Swedes, and marched through Holland

;
and

the English, in great power, advanced from Spain, under Wellington. A battle at Montmartre left

Paris exposed to the enemy, and Alexander and Frederic took possession of the capital ou the 31st

of March.
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seemed certain. British troops were withdrawn from the continent, and early

in the summer of 1814, fourteen thousand of Wellington's veterans were sent

to Canada
1

to operate against the United States. Considering the moral and

material weakness of the American army, hitherto, the circumstance of the

continual employment of the British troops on the continent, was highly favor-

able to the United States. Had Europe been at peace, the result of this second

War for Independence might have been quite different.

The favorite project
of the public authorities continued to be the invasion of

Canada
* and to oppose it, was the chief solicitude of the British officers on

our northern frontiers. The principal force of the enemy in Upper Canada,

was placed under the chief command of Lieutenant-General Drummond, late in

the season
;
while the American army on the Niagara

frontier was commanded by General Brown, at the

same time. General Wilkinson was still in the

vicinity of the St. Lawrence, and toward the close of

February, he broke up his camp at French Mills,
3 and

retired to Plattsburg ;
while General Brown, with two

thousand men, marched to Sackett's Harbor, prepara-

tory to his departure for the Niagara. Late in Marchj
Wilkinson proceeded to erect a battery at Rouse's

Point, at the foot of Lake Champlain; and at La

GENERAL BROWN Colle, three miles below, he had an unsuccessful

engagement [March 30] with the British. The disas-

trous result of this affair brought Wilkinson into disrepute, and he was tried by
a court-martial, but acquitted of all charges alleged against him. He had been

suspended from all command, in the mean while, and the charge of the troops

was given to General Izard.

Preparations had been making on Lake Ontario, during the winter and

spring, by both parties, to secure the control of that inland sea. Sir James

Yeo was in command of a small British squadron, and on the 5th of May
[1814], he appeared before Oswego, accompanied by about three thousand land

troops and marines.
4

Oswego was then defended by only about three hundred

troops under Colonel Mitchell, and a small flotilla under Captain Woolsey.
The chief object of the expedition was to capture or destroy a large quantity of

naval and military stores, deposited at Oswego Falls,
6
but the gallant band of

Americans at the harbor defeated the project. They withstood an attack, by
land and water, for almost two days, before they yielded to a superior force.

Afraid to penetrate the country toward the Falls, in the face of such deter-

mined opponents, the British withdrew on the morning of the 7th [May, 1814],

1 These were embarked at Bourdeaux, in France, and sailed directly for the St Lawrence,
without even touching the shores of England.

*
Page 410.

*
Page 427.

4 The fort on the east side of the river was then in quite a dilapidated state, and formed but a
feeble defense for the troops. It was strengthened after this attack.

* At the present Tillage of Fulton, on the east side of Oswego River, and about twelve miiee

from the harbor.
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after losing two hundred and thirty-five men, in killed and wounded. The
Americans lost sixty-nine.

Toward the close of June, General Brown marched from Sackett's Harbor 1

to the Niagara frontier
;
and on the morning of the 3d of July, Generals Scott

and Ripley
3

crossed the river, with a considerable force, and captured Fort

Erie, which was situated on the Canada side of the Niagara River, nearly

opposite Black Rock. The garrison withdrew to the intrenched camp of the

British General Riall, then at Chippewa,
3
a few miles below. On the morning

of the 4th [July, 1814], Brown advanced, and on the 5th the two armies had a

sanguinary battle in the open fields at Chippewa. The British were repulsed,

with a loss* of about five hundred men, and retreated to Burlington Heights,
1

where tht/y
were reinforced by troops under General Drummond, who assumed

the chief command in person. The Americans lost a little more than three

hundred.

General Drummond was mortified by this discomfiture of his veteran troops

by what he considered raw Americans, and he resolved to wipe out tho stain.

Collecting every regiment from Burlington and York, with some from Kingston
and Prescott, he prepared for a renewal of combat. With a force about one

third greater than that of Brown,
6
he immediately advanced to meet the Amer.

icans. The latter had encamped at Bridgewater, near Niagara Falls
;
and

there, at the close of a sultry day, and within the sound of the great cataract's

thunder, one of the most destructive battles of the war began.
6

It commenced

at sunset and ended at midnight [July 25, 1814], when the Americans had

lost eight hundred and fifty-eight men in killed and wounded, and the British

twenty more than that. The Americans were left in quiet possession of the

field, but were unable to carry away the heavy artillery which they had cap-

tured.
7 Brown and Scott being wounded,

8
the command devolved on Ripley,

and the following day [July 26] he withdrew to Fort Erie, where General

Gaines,
1 a senior officer, who arrived soon afterward, assumed the chief com-

mand.

Having recovered from his wound, Drummond again advanced, with five

1

Page 432.
2 The late "Winfield Scott was Lieutenant -General, and commander-in-chief of the army of the

United States, in 1861, when he retired from the service. General James Ripley remained in

the army after the war, and died on the 2d of March, 1839.
8 On the Canada shore, about two miles above Niagara Falls;

4
Page 425.

6 Jacob Brown was born in Pennsylvania, in 1775. He engaged in his country's service in

1813, and soon became distinguished. He was made Major-General in 1814 He was General-

in-chief of the United States army in 1821, and held that rank and office when he died, in 1828.

* The hottest of the fight was in and near an obscure road known as Lundy's Lane. This battle

is known by the respective names of Bridgewater, Lundy's Lane, and Niagara FaMs.
T After the Americans had withdrawn, a party of the British returned and carried off their

artillery. This event was so magnified, in the English accounts of'the battle, as to make the victory

to appear on the side of the British.
8 The British Generals Drummond and Riall were also wounded. General Scott led the advance

in the engagement, and for an hour maintained a most desperate conflict, when he was reinforced.

It was quite dark, and General Riall and his suite were made prisoners by the gallant Major Jesup.

A British battery upon an eminence did terrible execution, for it swept the whole field. This was

assailed and captured by a party under Colonel Miller, who replied, when asked by General Brown

if he could accomplish it, "I'll try, sir." Three times the British attempted to recapture this bat-

tery. In the last attempt, Drummond was wounded.
*
Pag6 398.

28
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thousand men, and on the 4th of August appeared before Fort Erie, and com-

menced preparations for a siege. From the 7th until the

14th, there was an almost incessant cannonade between

the besiegers and the besieged. On the 15th, Drummond
made a furious assault, but was repulsed, with a loss of

almost a thousand men. Very little was done by either

party for nearly a month after this afiair, when General

Brown, who had assumed command again, ordered a sor-

tie [Sept. 17 J from the fort. It was successful
;
and the

Americans pressed forward, destroyed the advanced works

of the besiegers, and drove them toward Chippewa. In-

formed, soon afterward, that General Izard was approach-

ing,
1

with reinforcements for Brown, Drummond retired

to Fort George.* The Americans abandoned and destroyed Fort Erie in No-
vember [November 5], and, crossing the river, went into winter-quarters at

Buffalo, Black Rock, and Batavia.

Let us consider the military operations in northern New York, for a mo-

ment. Very little of interest transpired in the vicinity of Lake Champlain
until toward the close of summer, when General Izard

3
marched [August,

1814] from Plattsburg, with five thousand men, to reinforce General Brown on

the Niagara frontier, leaving General Macomb4
in command, with only fifteen

hundred men. Taking advantage of this circumstance, General Prevost, who
led an army of fourteen thousand men, chiefly Wellington's veterans, to the

invasion of the United States, marched for Plattsburg. During the spring and

summer, the British and Americans had each constructed a small fleet on Lake

Champlain, and those were now ready for operations ;
the former under Com-

modore Downie, and the latter under Commodore Macdonough.
6

General Prevost arrived near Plattsburg on the 6th of September, when

1 Note 3, page 427.
a
Page 425.

8
George Izard was born in South Carolina, in 1771, and made military life his profession.

After the war he left the army. He was governor of Arkansas Territory in 1825, and died at

Little Rock, Arkansas, in 1828.
* Alexander Macomb was born in the fort in Detroit, in 1782, and entered the army at the age

of seventeen years. He was made a brigadier in 1814. In 1835, he was General-in-chief of the
armies of the United States, and died in 1841.

6 Thomas Macdonough was a native of Delaware. He was twenty-eight years of age at the

time of the engagement at Plattsburg. The State of New York gave him one thousand acres of

land on Plattsburg Bay, for his services. He died in 1825, at the age of thirty-nine years. Mac-

donough was always remarkable for cool courage. On one occasion, while first lieutenant of a

vessel lying in the harbor of Gibraltar, an armed boat from a British man-of-war boarded an Amer-

ican brig anchored near, in the absence of the commander, and carried off a seaman. See page

401. Macdonough manned a gig, and with an inferior force, made chase and recaptured the

seaman. The captain of the man-of-war came aboard Macdonough's vessel, and, in a great rage,

asked him how he dared to take the man from his majesty's boat.
" He was an American seaman,

and I did my duty," was the reply. "I'll bring my ship alongside, and sink you," angrily cried

the Briton. "That you can do," coolly responded Macdonough ;
"but while she swims, that man

you will not have." The captain, roaring with rage, said, "Supposing / had been in the boat,

would you have dared to commit such an act?" "I should have made the attempt, sir," was the

calm reply. "What!" shouted the captain, "if I were to impress men from that brig, would you
interfere ?"

" You have only to try it, sir," was Macdonough's tantalizing reply. The haughty

Briton was over-matched, and he did not attempt to try the metal of such a brave young man.

There were cannon-balls in his coolness, full of danger.



ROBERT FULTON.
Celebrated American inventor, who, in-'1814, built and launched the first

war steamer ever constructed. Born 1765; died 1815.



GEORGE STEPHENSON.
Inventor of the first locomotive; known as the " Father of Railways.

Born 1781 ;
died 1848.
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Macomb's little army, and quite a large body of militia under General Mooers,
retired to the south side of the Saranac, and prepared to dispute its passage by
the invaders. On the morning of the llth, the British fleet came around
Cumberland Head, with a fair wind, and attacked Macdonough's squadron in

Plattsburg Bay.
1 At the same time, the British land troops opened a heavy

cannonade upon the Americans. After a severe engagement of two hours

twenty minutes, Macdonough becamo victor, and the whole British fleet was

surrendered to him.
2 The land forces fought until dark, and every attempt of

the British to cross the Saranac was bravely resisted. During the evening,
Prevost hastily retreated, leaving his sick and wounded, and a large quantity
of military stores, behind him. The British loss, in killed, wounded, and de-

serted, from the 6th to the llth, was about twenty-five hundred
;
that of the

Americans, only one hundred and twenty-one. The victory was applauded with

the greatest enthusiasm throughout the land, and gave emphasis to the effect

of another at Baltimore, which had been recently achieved.

1 "When the British squadron appeared off Cumberland Head, Macdonough knelt on the deck of

the Saratoga (his flag-ship), in the midst of his men. and prayed to the God of Battles for aid. A
curious incident occurred during the engagement that soon followed. A British ball demolished a

hen-coop on board the Saratoga. A cock, released from his prison, flew into the rigging, and
crowed lustily, at the same time flapping his wings with triumphant vehemence. The seamen re-

garded the event as a good omen, and they fought like tigers, while the cock cheered them on with

his Growings, until the British flag was struck and the firing ceased.
* The Americans lost, in killed and wounded, one hundred and sixteen

;
the British, one hun,

dred and ninety-four. Among them was Commodore Downie, whose remains lie under a monu-

ment in a cemetery at Plattsburg, with those of several of his comrades.
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So wide was the theater of war, that in our rapid view of it, the shifting

scenes carry us alternately from the northern frontier to the western and south-

ern borders, and then upon the Atlantic and its coasts. The latter were expe-

riencing much trouble, while the whole frontier from the Niagara to the St.

Lawrence was in commotion. The principal ports from New York to Maine

were blockaded by British war-vessels
;
and early in the spring, a depredating

warfare again
1 commenced on the shores of the Chesapeake. These were but

feebly defended by a small flotilla,
2 under the veteran, Commodore Barney f and

when, about the middle of August, a British squadron, of almost sixty sail,

arrived in the bay, with six thousand troops, under General Ross, destined for

the capture of Washington city, it proved of little value. Ross landed [Aug.

19, 1814] at Benedict, on the Patuxent (about twenty-five miles from its

mouth), with five thousand men, and marched toward Washington city.
4 Bar-

ney's flotilla, lying higher up the stream, was abandoned and burned, and hia

marines joined the gathering land forces, under General Winder. Ross was

one of Wellington's most active commanders, and Winder had only three thou-

sand troops to oppose him, one half of whom were undisciplined militia. A
sharp engagement took place [Aug. 24] at Bladensburg,

&
a few miles from

Washington city, when the militia fled, and Barney, fighting gallantly at the

head of his seamen and marines, was made prisoner.
6 Ross pushed forward to

Washington city the same day, burned the capitol, President's house, and

other public and private buildings [August 24], and then hastily retreated

[August 25] to his shipping.
7

The British ministry were greatly elated by the destruction of the public

buildings and property at Washington, but their jubilant feelings were not

shared by the best of the English people at large. The act was denounced, in

severe terms, on the floor of the British House of Commons
;
and throughout

civilized Europe, it was considered a disgrace to the perpetrators and abettors.

General Ross, however, seemed to glory in it as heartily as did the marauder,
Cockburn

; and, flushed with success, he proceeded to attack Baltimore, where

the veteran, General Smith,
8 was in command. That officer, in connection with

1

Page 430.
9

It consisted of a cutter (a vessel with one mast), two gun-boats [page 401], and nine barges,
or boats propelled by oars.

* He was born in Baltimore in 1759. He entered the naval service of the Revolution in 1775,
and was active during the whole war. He bore the American flag to the French National Con-
vention in 1796, and entered the French service. He returned to America in 1800, took part in

the War of 1812, and died at Pittsburg in 1818.
4 Another small squadren was sent up the Potomac, but effected little else than plunder.
* Note 1, page 392.
*
Until the latest moment, it was not known whether "Washington or Baltimore was to be at-

tacked. Winder's troops, employed for the defense of both cities, were divided. The loss of the

British, in killed, wounded, and by desertion, was almost a thousand men
;
that of the Americans

was about a hundred killed and wounded, and a hundred and twenty taken prisoners. The Pres-

ident and his Cabinet were at Bladensburg when the British approached, but returned to the city
when the conflict began, and narrowly escaped capture.

7
Washington then contained about nine hundred houses, scattered, in groups, over a surface

of three miles. The Great Bridge across the Potomac was also burnt. The light of the conflagra-
tion was distinctly seen at Baltimore, forty miles distant.

8 Samuel Smith, the brave commander of Fort Mifilin [page 275] in 1777. He was born in
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General Strieker, rallied the militia of the city and vicinity, and soon almost fif-

teen thousand men were under arms, to defend the town. Ross landed [Sept. 12,

1814], with almost eight thousand troops, at North Point, fourteen miles from

the city, while a portion of the fleet went up the Patapsco to bombard Fort

M'Henry. He immediately pressed forward, but was soon met by the advanced

corps of General Strieker, and a slight skirmish ensued. Ross was killed, and

the command devolved on Colonel Brooke, who continued to advance. A severe

battle now commenced, which continued an hour and a quarter, when the

Americans fell back, in good order, toward the city. In this engagement the

British lost about three hundred men
;
the Americans, one hundred and sixty-

three. Both parties slept on their arms that night ;
and the following morn-

ing [Sept. 13], the British advanced, as if to attack the city. The fleet, in the

mean while, had opened its bombs and cannons upon the fort, whose garrison,

under Major Armistead, made a most gallant defense. The bombardment con-

tinued most of the day and night, and no less than fifteen hundred bombshells

were thrown. The people in the city felt in immediate danger of an attack

from the land troops ;
but toward the morning of the 14th, these silently em-

barked, and the disheartened and discomfited enemy withdrew.
1

This defense

was hailed as an important victory.
3

The whole Atlantic coast, eastward from Sandy Hook,
3
was greatly annoyed

by small British squadrons, during the summer of 1814. These captured

many American coasting vessels, and sometimes menaced towns with bombard-

ment. Finally, in August, Commodore Hardy* appeared before Stonington,
and opened a terrible storm of bombshells and rockets

5

upon the town. The

attack continued four successive days [August 9-12], and several times land

forces attempted to debark, but were always driven back by the militia. The

object of this unprovoked attack seems to have been, to entice the American

forces from New London, so that British shipping might go up the Thames,
and destroy some American frigates, then near Norwich. The expedient sig-

nally failed, and no further attempt of a similar kind was made on the Connecti-

cut coast.

Further eastward, that part of Maine which lies between the Penobscot

River and Passamaquoddy Bay, became a scene of stirring events. On the first

Pennsylvania in 1752
;
entered the revolutionary army in 1776

;
afterward represented Baltimore

in Congress many years; and died in April, 1839.
1 General Smith estimated the entire loss of the British, in their attack upon Baltimore, at

" between six and seven hundred."
2 An event, connected with this attack on Baltimore, was the origin of the stirring song. Hit,

Star-Spangled Banner, which was written by Francis S. Key, of Georgetown, to the air of
" Anacreon in Heaven." With another gentleman, Key went, with a flag of truce, to attempt
the release of a friend on board the British fleet. They were not allowed to return. les?t they
should disclose the intended attack on the city. From a British vessel they saw the bom-
bardment of Fort McIIenry. They watched the American flag over the fort, all day, with great

anxiety, until the darkness of the night hid it from view. With eager eyes, they looked in that

direction at dawn, and, to their great joy, they saw the star-spangkd banner yet waving over

the ramparts. It inspired the poet.
3

Page 289.
*
Page 430.

5 Rockets used for setting fire to towns and shipping, are made similar to the common "
sky-

rockets," but filled with inflammable substances, which are scattered over buildings and th

rigging of ships.
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of September [1814], the governor of Nova Scotia and Admiral Griffith

entered the Penobscot River, seized the town of Castine, and, by proclamation,

took possession of the country, then inhabited by about thirty thousand people.

A few days afterward, the United States frigate John Adams entered the

Penobscot after a successful cruise, and ran upon the rocks. While having
her injuries repaired, she was attacked by several of the British sailing vessels

and barges, manned by about a thousand men. Finding resistance to be vain,

Captain Morris, her commander, fired her magazine, and blew her up.

Difficulties again appeared in the south-west. We have already considered

Jackson's successful warfare upon the Creek Indians.
1

In the course of the

summer of 1814, he wrung from them a treaty, which completed their downfall,

as a nation, and the war at the South was considered ended. They agreed to

surrender a large portion of their beautiful and fertile country, as indemnity
for the expenses of the war

;
to allow the United States to make roads through

the remainder
;
and also not to hold intercourse with any British or Spanish

posts. But the common enemy, favored by the Spaniards at Pensacola, soon

appeared, and the Creeks again lifted their heads in hope, for a moment. A
British squadron, cruising in the Gulf of Mexico, took possession of the forts

at Pensacola, by permission of the Spanish authorities, and there fitted out an

expedition against Fort Bower (now Fort Morgan), at the entrance to Mobile

Bay," then commanded by Major Lawrence. General Jackson then had his

head-quarters at Mobile. The enemy appeared off Mobile Point on the 15th

of September, and commenced the attack, by land and water, at about four

o'clock in the afternoon. Fort Bower was garrisoned by resolute men, and was

armed with twenty pieces of cannon. Lawrence and his little band made a

gallant defense
;
and soon the British were repulsed, with the loss of a ship

of war and many men. Among the British land Droops on the occasion, were

two hundred Creek warriors.

Jackson, now a Major-General in the army, and commander of the south-

western military district, assuming all the authority he was entitled to, held

the Spanish governor of Florida responsible for the act of giving shelter to the

enemies of the United States. Failing to obtain any satisfactory guaranty for

the future, he marched from Mobile with about two thousand Tennessee militia

and some Choctaw warriors, against Pensacola. On the 7th of November

[1814J he stormed the town, drove the British to their shipping, and finally

from the harbor, and made the governor beg for mercy, and surrender Pensa-

cola and all its military works, unconditionally. The British fleet disappeared
the next day [November 8], and the victor retraced his steps [November 9].

His return was timely, for he was needed where extreme danger was menacing
the whole southern country. On his arrival at Mobile, he found messages from

New Orleans, begging his immediate march thither, for the British in the Gulf

of Mexico, reinforced by thousands of troops from England, were about to

invade Louisiana. Jackson instantly obeyed the summons, and arrived there

1
Page 427. a On the east side, about thirty miles south from Mobile.
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on the 2d of December. He found the people of New Orleans in the greatest

alarm, but his presence soon restored quiet and confidence. By vigorous, and

even rigorous measures (for he declared martial law),
1

he soon placed the city
in a state of comparative security,

2 and when the British squadron, bearing
General Packenham and about twelve thousand troops, many of them Welling-
ton's veterans, entered Lake Borgne, he felt confident of success, even against
such fearful odds.

On the 14th of December, a British fleet of barges, about forty in number,
and conveying twelve hundred men, captured a flotilla of five American gun-

boats, in Lake Borgne, which were under the command of Lieutenant (late Com'

modore) Thomas Ap Catesby Jones. In the engagement the Americans lost,

in killed and wounded, about forty ;
the British loss was about three hundred.

The destruction of these gun-boats gave the enemy power to choose ^s point of

attack
;
and eight days afterward [Dec. 22], about twenty-four hundred of the

British, under General Keane, reached the Mississippi, nine miles below New
Orleans. An American detachment, led by Jackson in person, fell upon their

camp the following night [Dec. 23, 1814], but withdrew to a stronger position,

after killing or wounding four hundred of the British. The Americans lost

about one hundred.

And now preparations were instantly made for the great battle which soon

afterward ensued. Jackson concentrated his troops (about three thousand in

number, and mostly militia) within a line of intrenchments
3
cast up four miles

below the city of New Orleans, where they were twice cannonaded by the Brit-

ish, but without much effect. Finally, on the morning of the 8th of January

1815, General Packenham, the Brit-

ish commander-in-chief, advanced with

his whole force, numbering more than

twelve thousand men, to make a gen-
eral assault. Having been reinforced

by about three thousand militia (chief-

ly Kentuckians), Jackson now had

six thousand expert marksmen con-

cealed behind his intrenchments, or

stationed at the batteries on his ex-

tended line. A deep and ominous

silence prevailed behind these defenses, until the British had approacned vv'ithia

reach of the batteries, when the Americans opened a terrible cannonade. Yet

the enemy continued to advance until within range of the American muskets

and rifles. Volley after volley then poured a deadly storm of lead upon the

1 Note 8, page 170.
a All the inlets, or bayous, were obstructed, and the banks of the Mississippi were so fortified

as to prevent the ascent of vessels. A battery was erected on Chef Menteur, at the entrance to

Lake Pontchartrain.
3 These intrenchments were a mile in length, extending from the river so far into trie swamp,

as to be impassable at the extremity. Along this line were eight distinct batteries, with heavy
cannons

;
and on the opposite aide of the river was a battery with fifteen cannons.

BATTLE OF NEW ORLEANS.
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invaders. The British column soon wavered
;
General Pb^ckenham fell in front

of his troops, with not less than a thousand dead and wounded lying around

him
; and, utterly amazed by the terrible fire of the Americans, the entire

army fled in confusion, leaving seven hundred dead, and more than a thousand

wounded, on the field. The fugitives hastened to their encampment [Jan. 9|

And finally to their ships [Jan. 18], and escaped.
1 The Americans were so

safely intrenched, that they lost only seven killed and six wounded, in this

victorious battle. It was the crowning victory,
2
and last land battle of moment,

of the SECOND WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE. 3

While the victory of the Americans at New Orleans saved that city from

plunder and destruction,
4 and the whole Southern country from invasion, the

1 While these operations were in progress on the Mississippi, the British fleet had not been in-

active. Some vessels bombarded Fort St. Philip, below New Orleans, on the llth of January, and
continued the attack for eight days without success. In the mean while, Admiral Cockburn [page

430] was pursuing his detestable warfare along the Carolina and Georgia coasts, menacing Charles-

ton and Savannah with destruction, and landing at obscure points to plunder the inhabitants.
'

During 1814, the war continued on the ocean, yet there were no battles of great importance.
The Peacock captured the British brig Epervier, on the 29th of April, off the coast of Florida. The

Wasp, Captain Blakely, also made a successful cruise, but after capturing her thirteenth prize, dis-

appeared, and was never heard of again. Probably lost in a storm. The President, Commodore

Decatur, was captured off Long Island, on the 16th of January, 1815; and on the 20th of February

following, the Constitution, Commodore Stewart, had a severe action with the British frigate Cyane,
and sloop-of-war Levant, and captured both. Soon after this, the British brig Penguin was captured,
but the proclamation of peace, had then ended the war.

3
Page 409

4
It is asserted, upon good authority, that Packenham's watchword, as he led his troops toward

the city, was "Booty and Beauty," thereby indicating that plunder and ravishment should be the

soldiers' reward 1 We can hardly believe Sir Edward really contemplated such barbarity.
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brave Jackson, whose skill and prowess had been chiefly instrumental in pro-

ducing that result, was mercilessly assailed by some persons in official station,

who could not appreciate his pure motives and sturdy patriotism. Perceiving
the necessity of prompt and vigorous action, Jackson had taken all power into

his hands, on his arrival at New Orleans, and declared martial law.
1

Governor

Claiborne" wisely and generously seconded the measure, and surrendering all

authority into the hands of (general Jackson, led a large body of the militia of

his State to the field. Three days after the battle, the news of peace arrived;
and Judge Hall immediately ordered the arrest of Jackson, on a charge of con-

tempt of court.
3 He was tried; and the judge fined him a thousand dollars.

The people hissed the official
;
bore the brave general upon their shoulders from

the court-room to the street, and then the immense crowd sent up a shout, such

as went over the land with emphasis thirteen years later, when he was a candi-

date for the Chief Magistracy of the nation
4 "Hurrah for Jackson!" The

blow aimed at him recoiled with fearful force upon his persecutors.

The country was made vocal with rejoicings on account of the victory
dt New Orleans

;
and Congress honored General Jackson with thanks and a

gold medal. A little more than a month after the battle, a proclamation by
the President [Feb. 18, 1815], that peace had been secured by treaty, spread a

smile of tranquillity and happiness over the whole Union.
6 For more than a

year, efforts toward that end had been put forth. As early as December, 1813,
the British government had sent overtures of peace to that of the United

States. They were forwarded by the British schooner Bramble, which arrived

at Annapolis, in Maryland, on the 1st of January, 1814, bearing a flag of

truce. The President at once informed Congress of the fact, and immedi-

ate action was had. The overtures were promptly met, in a conciliatory

spirit, by the government of the United States, and commissioners were ap-

pointed by the two powers to negotiate a treaty.
8 For a long time the Amer-

ican commissioners were treated with neglect by the British government. They

1 Note 8, page 170.
a William C. C. Claiborne was born in Virginia in 1775, and was educated at William and Mary

College. He became an assistantclerk of the National House of Representatives at the age of six-

teen years ;
and at the age of twenty-nine, President Jefferson appointed him governor of the

Louisiana Territory. He had already become conspicuous as a lawyer in the West
;
and at the age

of twency-two he was a judge of the Supreme Court of Tennessee. He was elected to Congress the

following year, and was a distinguished man in that body. He was elected governor of Louisiana

when it became a State in 1812, and was acting in that capacity when the British menaced New
Orleans. He left that office in 1817, when he was elected to the United States Senate. But his

death was near, and he never entered that assembly. He died in November, 1817, in the forty-

second year of his age.
8 A member of the Louisiana Legislature assai'ed Jackson by a newspaper publication. Jack-

son ordered his arrest. Judge Hall granted a writ of habeas corpus. Jackson, in the proper exer-

cise of his power under martial law, not only refused obedience to the mandates of the writ, but

arrested the judge, and sent him out of the city. For this
"
contempt of court" Jackson himself

was arrested. His noble defense was written by Edward Livingston.
4
Page 459.

6 As we have observed, intelligence of the signing of the treaty reached New Orleans three

days after the battle. It was not formally proclaimed until more than a month afterward.
6 The United States commissioners were John Quincy Adams, James A. Bayard, Henry Clay.

John Russel, and Albert Gallatin. Those of Great Britain were Admiral Lord Gambier, Henry
Goulbourn, and William Adams. These commissioners are all dead. Mr. Clay, who died in 1852c

vraa the last survivor.
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were suffered to remain in England unnoticed, for months, and then the ministry,

proposing first one place, and then another, for the negotiations, exhibited a trifling

spirit, derogatory to true dignity. For half a year the treaty was prolonged

in this way, until, finally, the commissioners of the two governments met in the

city of Ghent, in Belgium, in the month of August, 1814. On the 24th of

December following, a treaty was signed, which both governments speedily

ratified. It stipulated a mutual restoration of all places and possessions taken

during the war, or which might be taken after signing the treaty ;
declared that

all captures at sea should be relinquished, if made within specified times there-

after, in different parts of the world
;
and that each party should mutually put

a stop to Indian hostilities, and endeavor to extinguish the traffic in slaves.

The boundaries, imperfectly adjusted by the treaty of 1783,
'

were all settled;

but the subject of impressment of seamen, which was the chief cause of the war,
a

of paper blockades,
3 and orders in council,

4
were all passed by without specific

notice, in the treaty. With this treaty ended the war, which had been in prog-

ress for two years and eight months
;
and the proclamation of the fact was an

occasion of the most sincere rejoicing throughout the United States and Great

Britain, for it was an unnatural contest a conflict between brethren of the

same blood, the same religion, the same laws, and the same literature.

During these negotiations, the war, as we have seen, was vigorously prose-

cuted, and the opposition of the Federalists grew more intense.
5

It reached its

culmination in December, when delegates, appointed by several New England

Legislatures,
8 met [Dec. 15, 1814] in convention at Hartford, for the purposes

of considering the grievances of the people, caused by a state of war, and to de-

vise speedy measures for its termination.
7

This convention, whose sessions were

secret, was denounced as treasonable by the administration party ;
but patriot-

ism appears to have prevailed in its councils, whatever may have been the de-

signs of some. Its plans for disunion or secession, if any were formed, were

rendered abortive soon after its adjournment, by the proclamation of peace, fol-

lowed by the appointment of a day for national thanksgiving to the Almighty
for the blessed event. That day was observed throughout the Union.

The short time which remained of the session of Congress, after the proclam-
ation of peace, was occupied by that body in adapting the affairs of the govern-
ment to the new condition of things. The army was reduced to a peace ostab-

ment of ten thousand men, and various acts, necessary for the public good

during a state of war, were repealed. The naval establishment, however, was

kept up ;
and the depredations of Algerine cruisers caused Congress to author-

1

Page 348. * Note 5, page 409.
1 A port being blockaded by proclamation, without ships of war being there to maintain it

This practice is no longer in vogue.
* Note 1, page 400.

6
Page 410.

* New Hampshire and Vermont were unrepresented, except by three county delegates. The
Federalists in Vermont, especially, were now in a weak majority ;

and Governor Gilman, of New
Hampshire, the members of whose council were Democratic, could not call a meeting of the Legis-
lature to appoint delegates.

'

George Cabot was appointed President of the Convention, and Theodore Dwight, a former
member of Congress from Connecticut, and then editor of the Hartford Union, was its secretary.
The Convention was composed of twenty-six members.



J815.] THE SECOND WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE. 445

ize the President to send a squadron to the Mediterranean Sea. The results of

the war, though apparently disastrous to all concerned at the time, were seen,

subsequently, to have been highly beneficial to the United States, not so much
in a material as in a moral aspect. The total cost of the war to the United

States was about one hundred millions of dollars, and the loss of lives, by bat-

tles and other casualties incident to the war, has been estimated at thirty thou-

sand persons. The cost of blood and treasure to the British nation was much

greater. During the war, th
%

e Americans captured, on the ocean and on the

lakes, fifty-six British vessels of war, mounting 886 cannons
;
and 2,360 mer-

chant vessels, mounting 8,000 guns. There were also lost on the American

coast, during the war, by wreck or otherwise, twenty-nine British ships of war,

mounting about 800 guns. The Americans lost only twenty-five vessels of war,

and a much less number of merchant-ships than the British.
1

The clouds of an almost three years' war had scarcely disappeared from the

firmament, when others suddenly arose. The contest with England had but

just ended, when the United States were compelled to engage in a brief

WAR WITH ALGIERS.

As we have observed,
8
the United States had paid tribute to Algiers since

1795. Every year, as his strength increased, the ruler of that Barbary State

became more insolent,* and, finally, believing that the United States navy had

been almost annihilated by the British in the late contest, he made a pretense

for renewing depredations upon American commerce, in violation of the treaty.

The American government determined to pay tribute no longer, accepted the

challenge, and in May, 1815, Commodore Decatur 4

proceeded with a squadron
to the Mediterranean, to humble the pirate. Fortunately, the Algerine fleet

was cruising in the Mediterranean, in search of American vessels. On the 17th

of June [1815], Decatur met and captured the flag-ship (a frigate) of the Al-

gerine admiral, and another vessel with almost six hundred men, and then sailed

for the Bay of Algiers. He immediately demanded [June 28] the instant sur-

render of all American prisoners, full indemnification for all property destroyed,

and absolute relinquishment of all claims to tribute from the United States, in

future. Informed of the fate of a part of his fleet, the Dey
6

yielded to the

humiliating terms, and signed a treaty [June 30] to that effect. Decatur then

sailed for Tunis, and demanded and received [July, 1815] from the bashaw,

forty-six thousand dollars, in payment for American vessels which he had

allowed the English to capture in his harbor. The same demand, on the same

account, was made upon the bashaw of Tripoli,' and Decatur received [August]

twenty-five thousand dollars from him and the restoration of prisoners. This

cruise in the Mediterranean gave full security to American commerce in those

1 For details, see Lossing's Pictorial Field-Book of the War of 1812.
2 Page 381.
3 Page 381. In 1812, the Dey compelled Mr. Lear, the American consul [page 395], to pay

him $27,000 for the safety of himself, family and a few Americans, under the penalty of ail

being made slaves. < Page 392. 5 Note 3, page 392. 6 Page 392.
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seas, and greatly elevated the character of the government of the United States

in the opinion of Europe. Now was accomplished, during a single cruise, what

the combined powers of Europe dared not to attempt.

Now the eventful administration of Mr. Madison drew to a close, and very
little of general interest occurred, except the chartering of a new United States

Bank,
1

with a capital of $35,000,000, to continue twenty years ;
and the admis-

sion of Indiana [December, 1816] into the union of States. On the 16th of

March, 1816, a caucus of Democratic members of Congress, nominated James.

Monroe of Virginia (who had been Madison's Secretary ofWar for a few months),
for President of the United States, and Daniel D. Tompkins

2
of New York,

for Vice-President. The Federalists, whose power, as a party, was now

rapidly passing away, nominated Rufus King
3
for President, and votes were

given to several persons for Vice-President. Monroe and Tompkins were elected

by large majorities. Mr. Monroe's election was by an almost unanimous vote-

of the electoral college.
4

Only one (in New Hampshire) was cast against him.

CHAPTER VII.

MONROE'S ADMINISTRATION. [1 8 1 7 1 8 2 5].

ON the 4th of March, 1817, James Monroe,
6
the fifth President of the

United States, was inaugurated at Washington City. The oath of office was

administered by Chief Justice Marshall,
6
in the presence of Mr. Madison, the

judges of the Supreme Court, and a large congregation of citizens. His address

on that occasion was liberal and temperate in its tone, and gave general satis-

faction to the people. The commencement of his administration was hailed as

the dawn of an era of good feeling and national prosperity.
7 He selected hi&

cabinet from the Republican party, and never since the formation of the gov-

1

Page 372.
a Daniel D. Tompkins was born in 1774. He was a prominent Democrat when Jefferson waa

elected [page 389] President of the United States. He was chief justice of New York and also-

Governor of the State. He died on Staten Island, in 1825.
8
Page 395. Note 1, page 361.

* James Monroe was born in Westmoreland county, Virginia, in April, 1759. He was edu-
cated at William and Mary College, and his youth was spent amid the political excitements, when
the War for Independence was kindling. He joined the Continental army, under

"

r
ashington, in

1776, and during the campaigns of 1777 and 1778, he was aid to Lord Stirling. Atw the battle

of Monmouth, he left the army and commenced the study of law under Jefferson- He was again
in the field-when Arnold and Phillips invaded his State, in 1781 [page 330]. The next year,
he was a member of the Virginia Legislature, and at the age of twenty-five, was elected a delegate-
to the Continental Congress. He was in active life as a legislator, foreign minister, Governor of

Virginia, and President of the United States, until his retirement from the latter office in 1825.

He died in the city of New York, on the 4th of July, 1831, when in the seventy-second year of his

age. His remains lie unmarked by any monument, except a simple slab, in a cemetery on the

north side of Second-street, in the city of New York.
*
Page 351.

President Monroe, soon after his inauguration, made a long tour of observation, extending to

Portland, in Maine, on the east, and to Detroit, on the west, in which he was occupied more than three
months. He was everywhere received with the kindest attentions and highest honors, and his

journey was conducive to the national good.
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srnment, had a President been surrounded with abler counselors.
1 Monroe

was a judicious and reliable man
;
and when we reflect upon the condition of the

country at that time in a transition state from war and confusion to peace and

order his elevation to the presidency seems to have been a national blessing.

The administration of Mr. Monroe was marked by immense expansion in

the material growth of the United States. During the war, a large number of

manufacturing establishments had been nurtured into vigorous life by great

demands and high prices ;
but when peace returned, and European manufac-

tures flooded the country at very low prices, wide-spread rum ensued, and

thousands of men were compelled to seek other employments. The apparent

misfortune was a mercy in disguise, for the nation. Beyond the Alleghanies,

millions of fertile acres, possessing real wealth, were awaiting the tiller's indus-

try and skill.
2

Agriculture beckoned the bankrupts to her fields. Homes in

1 His cabinet consisted of John Quincy Adams, Secretary of State; "William H. Crawford, Sec-

retary of the Treasury; John C. Cnlhoun, Secretar of War; Benjamin Crowninshield, Secretary of

the Navy; and William Wirt, Attorney-General. "He offered the War Department to the venerable

Governor Shelby, of Kentucky [page 417], who declined it. Calhoun was appointed in December,
1817. Crowninshield, who was in Madison's cabinet, continued in office until the close of Novem-
ber, 1818, when Smith Thompson, of New York, was appointed in his place.

* The progress of ihe States and Territories west of the Alleghanies [note 3, page 1J>], in weaMJi
and population, is truly wonderful. A little more than seventy years ago, those immense
Jakes, Ontario, Erie, Michigan, Huron, and Superior, were entirely without commerce, and
an Indian's canoe was almost the only cralt seen upon them. In 1882, the value of traffic

upon these waters and the navigable rivers, is probably not. less than fifteen hundred million
dollars. Fifty years ago [1831] there were less than five thousand white people in the v;;.,t
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the East were deserted
; emigration flowed over the mountains in a broad and

vigorous stream
;
and before the close of Monroe's administration, four new

sovereign States had started into being
1

from the wilderness of the great West,
.and one in the East. 2

The first year of Monroe's administration was chiefly distinguished by the

admission [December 10, 1817] of a portion of the Mississippi Territory into

tlie Union, as a State,
3 and the suppression of two piratical and slave-dealing

establishments near the southern and south-western borders of the Republic.

One of them was at the mouth of the St. Mary's, Florida, and the other at

Galveston, Texas. In addition to a clandestine trade in slaves, these bucca-

neers,
4
under pretense of authority from some of the Spanish republics of

South America,
5
ware endeavoring to liberate the Floridas from the dominion

of Spain. In November, 1817, United States troops proceeded to take pos-

isession of Amelia Island, the rendezvous of the pirates on the Florida coast, and

.the Galveston establishment soon disappeared for want of support.

Other serious difficulties arose at about the same time. A motley host,

composed chiefly of Seminolc Indians,* Creeks dissatisfied with the treaty of

1814,
7 and runaway negroes, commenced murderous depredations upon the

frontier settlements of Georgia and the Alabama Territory, toward the close of

1817. General Gaines8 was sent to suppress these outrages, and to remove

every Indian from the territory which the Creeks had ceded to the United

States, in 1814. His presence aroused the fiercest ire of the Indians, who, it

was ascertained, were incited to hostilities by British subjects, protected by the

Spanish authorities in Florida. Gaines was placed in a perilous position, when
General' Jackson, with a thousand mounted Tennessee volunteers, hastened

[January, 1818] to his aid. In March, 1818, he invaded Florida, took pos-

session [April] of the weak Spanish post of St. Mark, at the head of Apa-
lachee Bay," and sent the civil authorities and troops to Pensacola.

10 At St.

Mark he secured the persons of Alexander Arbuthnot and Robert C. Ambrister,

who, on being tried [April 26] by a court martial, were found guilty of being
the principal emissaries among the southern Indians, inciting them to hostilities.

region between Lake Michigan and the Pacific Ocean ; now [1883] the number is fully eight
anillion. Chicago was then a mere hamlet; now [1883] it is a fine city, a great railway
centre, and contains more than five hundred thousand inhabitants. And never was the

.growth of the Great West more rapid than at the present.
1

Mississippi, December 10, 1817; Illinois, December 3, 1818; Alabama, December 14, 1819;
;and Missouri, March 2, 1821.

a
Maine, March 3, 1820.

3 The Territory was divided. The western portion was made a State, and the eastern was
erected into a Territory, named Alabama, after its principal river. It included a portion of Georgia,

given for a consideration. See page 455.
* Note 6, page 149.

6
During the first quarter of the present century, nearly all of the countries in Central and South

America, which, since the conquests of Cortez [page 43] and Pizarro [note 4, page 44], had been
under the Spanish yoke, rebelled, and forming republics, became independent of Spain. It was the

policy of our government to encourage these republics, by preventing the establishment of monarch-
ical power on the American continent. This is known as the " Monroe doctrine," a term frequently
.used in political circles.

Page 30. T Note 8, page 428.
B
Page 398. Edmund P. Gaines was born in Virginia, in 1777. He entered the army in 1799,

and rose gradually until he was made Major-General for his gallantry at Fort Erie [page 433] in

1814. He remained in the army until his death, in 1849. *
Page 44. 10 Page 438.
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They were both executed on the 30th of the same month. * Jackson soon after-

ward marched for Pensacola, it being known that the Spanish authorities there

had encouraged the Indians in making depredations in Alabama. The Spanish

governor protested against this invasion of his territory ;
but Jackson, satisfied

of his complicity with the Indians, pushed forward and seized Pensacola on tho

24th of May. The governor and a few followers fled on horseback to Fort

Barrancas, at the entrance to Pensacola Bay. This fortress was captured by
Jackson three days afterward [May 27], and the Spanish authorities and troops

were sent to Havana.

For this invasion of the territory of a friendly power, and his summary pro-

ceedings there, General Jackson was much censured. His plea, in justification,

was the known interference of the Spanish authorities in Florida, in our domes-

tic affairs, by sheltering those who were exciting the Indians to bloody deeds
;

and the absolute necessity of prompt and efficient measures at the time. He
was sustained by the government and the voice of the people. These measures

developed the necessity for a general and thorough settlement of affairs on the

southern boundary of the Republic, and led to the important treaty* concluded

at Washington City, in February, 1819, by which Spain ceded to the United

States the whole of the Floridas, and the adjacent islands. That country was

erected into a Territory in February, 1821
;
and in March ensuing, General

Jackson was appointed the first governor of the newly-acquired domain.

We have observed that the vast region of Louisiana, purchased from France

in 1803, was divided into two Territories. 3 The Louisiana Territory was

admitted into the Union as a State, in 1812
;

4 and while the treaty concern-

ing Florida was pending, the southern portion of the remainder of the Ter-

ritory extending westward to the Pacific Ocean, which was erected into the

"Missouri Territory'' in 1812, was formed into a separate government in

1819, and called Arkansas. In December, the same year, Alabama was

1 Jjbuthnot was a Scotch trader from New Providence, one of the Bermuda Islands. He had
a store on the Suwaney River, where many of the hostile Indians and negroes congregated. Am-
brister was a young Englishman, about twenty-one years of age, who had borne a lieutenant's

commission in the British service. He was also at the Suwaney settlements, and put himself at the

head of the Indians and negroes.
9 Made by John Quincy Adams for the United States, and Don Onis, the Spanish embassador

at "Washington. Hitherto, the United States had claimed a large portion of Texas, as a part of

Louisiana. By this treaty, Texas was retained by the Spaniards. The cession was made as an

equivalent for all claims against Spain for injury done the American commerce, to an amount not

exceeding five millions of dollars. The treaty was not finally ratified until February, 1821.
3
Page 390.

* The admirable penal code of Louisiana, which has ever stood the test of severe criticism, is

the work of Edward Livingston, who was appointed the principal of a commission appointed to

codify the laws of that State. The code, of which he was the sole author, was adopted in 1824.

Mr. Livingston was born upon the "Manor," in Columbia county, New York, in 1764. He was
educated at Princeton, studied law under Chancellor Lansing, and became eminent in his profession.
He became a member of Congress in 1794, then attorney for the district of New York, and finally,

he went to New Orleans to retrieve a broken fortune. He was an aid to General Jackson, in the

battle at New Orleans, in January, 1815, and his pen wrote the noble defense of that soldier, when
he was persecuted by civil officers in that city. See page 443. When the last page of his manu-

script code of laws for Louisiana was ready for the press, a fire consumed the whole, and he was
two years reproducing it. That work is his monument. Mr. Livingston was Secretary of State

under President Jackson; and in 1833, he was sent to France, as the resident minister of the

United States. He died in Duchess county, New York, in May, 1837.
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admitted into the Union; and at the same time, Missouri and Maine were

making overtures for a similar position. Maine was admitted in March, 1820,
'

but the entrance of Missouri was delayed until August, 1821, by a violent and

protracted debate which sprung up between the Northern and the Southern

members of Congress on the subject of slavery, elicited by the proposition for

its admission.

It was during the session of 1818-19, that a bill was introduced into Con-

gress, which contained a provision forbidding the existence of slavery or invol-

untary servitude in the new State of Missouri, when admitted. Heated debates

immediately occurred, and the subject was postponed until another session.

The whole country, in the mean while, was agitated by disputes on the subject ;

and demagogues, as usual at the North and at the South, raised the cry of Dis-
union of the Confederation! Both parties prepared for the great struggle;
and when the subject was again brought before Congress [November 23, 1820],
angrj disputes and long discussions ensued. A compromise was finally agreed
to [February 28, 1821], by which slavery should be allowed in Missouri and

in all
territory south of thirty-six degrees and thirty minutes north latitude

(southern boundary of Missouri), and prohibited in all the territory northerly
and westerly of these limits. This is known as The Missouri Compromise.'
Under this compromise, Missouri was admitted on ihe 21st of August, 1821, and

1
Page 129. Page 501.
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the excitement on the subject ceased. The Republic was now composed of

twenty-four States.

While the Missouri question was pending, a new election for President and

Vice-President of the United States, took place. Never, since the foundation

of the government, had there been an election so quiet, and so void of party
virulence. Mr. Monroe was re-elected ^resident, and Mr. Tompkins

1

Vice-

President [November, 182QJ, by an almos- unanimous vote the old Federal

party,
2
as an organization, being nearly extinct. The administration had been

very popular, and the country was blessed with general prosperity. Two other

measures, besides those already noticed, received the warmest approbation of the

people. The first was an act of Congress, passed in March, 1818, in pursu-
ance of Monroe's recommendation, making provision, in some degree, for the

surviving officers and soldiers of the Revolution. It was subsequently extended,

so as to include the widows and children of those who were deceased. The
other was an arrangement made with Great Britain, in October, 1818, by
which American citizens were allowed to share with those of that realm, in the

valuable Newfoundland fisheries. At the same time, the northern boundary
of the United States, from the Lake of the Woods to the Rocky Mountains,
was defined.

8

Few events of general importance, aside from the rapid progress of the

country in all its industrial and governmental operations, occurred during the

remainder of Monroe's administration, except the suppression of piracy among
the West India Islands, and the visit of General La Fayette

4
to the United

States, as the nation's guest. The commerce of the United States had been

greatly annoyed and injured by swarms of pirates who infested the West India

seas. A small American squadron, under Commodore Perry,
5 had been sent

thither in 1819, to chastise the buccaneers. Perry died of the yellow fever in

the performance of his duty, and very little was done at that time. About four

years later [1822], a small American squadron destroyed more than twenty

piratical vessels on the coast of Cuba; and the following year the work was

completed by a larger force, under Commodore Porter.
8 The second-named

event was of a more pleasing character. La Fayette, the companion-in-arms

of Washington
7

during the Revolutionary struggle, arrived at New York, from

France, in August, 1824, and during about eleven succeeding months, he made

a tour of over five thousand miles, throughout the United States. He was

everywhere greeted with the warmest enthusiasm, and was often met by men

who had served under him in the first War for Independence. When he was

prepared to return, an American frigate, named Brandywine, in compliment

to him,
8
was sent by the United States government to convey him back to

France.

Mr. Monroe's administration now drew toward a close, and in the autumn

1

Page 446.
"
Page 374.

s
Pago 479.

4
Page 273.

*
Page 423.

"
Page 431. Page 273.

8 La Fayette'8 first battle for freedom in America, was that on the Brandywine Creek, in Sep-

tember, 1777, where he was wounded in the leg. See note 5, page 273.
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of 1824, the people were called upon to- select his successor. It soon became

evident that a large proportion of the old politicians of the Democratic party

had decided to support William H. Crawford, the Secretary of the Treasury,

for the succession. Four candidates, representing the different sections of the

Union,
1

were finally put in nomination. The result was, that the choice de-

volved upon the House of Representatives, for the second time.' That body,

by an election held in February, 1825, chose John Quincy Adams for Presi-

dent. John C. Calhoun had been chosen Vice-President by the people. The

election and final choice produced great excitement throughout the country,

and engendered political rancor equal to that which prevailed during the admin-

istration of the elder Adams. Mr. Monroe's administration closed on the 4th

of March ensuing, and he resigned to his successor the Chief Magistracy of a

highly-prosperous nation.

CHAPTER VIII.

JOHN QUINCY ADAMS'S ADMINISTRATION. [18251829.]

AT about half-past twelve o'clock, on the 4th day of March, 1825, John

Quincy Adams,
3
son of the second President of the United States, entered the

hall of the House of Representatives, and took his seat in the chair of the

Speaker. He was dressed in a suit of black cloth, and, being small in stature,

did not present a more dignified appearance than hundreds of his fellow-citizens

around him. He appeared, as he really was, a plain Republican one of the

people. When silence was obtained, he arose and delivered his inaugural ad-

dress
;
then descending, he placed himself on the right hand of a table, and

took the oath of office, administered by Chief-Justice Marshall. The Senate

being in session, Mr. Adams immediately nominated his cabinet officers,
4 and

1 John Quincy Adams in the East, William H. Crawford in the South, Andrew Jackson and

Henry Clay in the West. a
Page 388.

3 John Quincy Adams, the sixth President of the United States, was born at Quincy, Massa-

chusetts, on the llth of July, 1767. He went to Europe, with his father, at the age of eleven

years ; and, in Paris, he was much in the society of Franklin and other distinguished men. At the

age of fourteen years he accompanied Mr. Dana to St. Petersburg, as private secretary to that en>
bassador. He traveled much alone, and finally returned, and finished his education at Harvard

College. He became a lawyer, but public service kept him from that pursuit. He was made
United States minister to the Netherlands in 1794, and afterward held the same office at Lisbon
and Berlin. He was a member of the United States Senate in 1803

;
and in 1809 he was sent as

minister to the Russian court. After negotiating a treaty of peace at Ghent [page 443], he was ap-

pointed minister to the English court. In 1817 he was made Secretary of State, by Mr. Monroe.

Having served one term as President of the United States, he retired; and from 1831, he was a
member of Congress until his death, which occurred in the Speaker's room, at the Natioal Capitol,
on the 22d of February, 1848, when in the eighty-first year of his age.

4
Henry Clay, Secretary of State

;
Richard Rush, Secretary of the Treasury ;

James Barbour,
Secretary of "War

;
Samuel L. Southard (continued in office), Secretary of the Navy ;

and "William

Wirt (continued), Attorney-General. There was considerable opposition in the Senate to the con-
firmation of Henry Clay's nomination. He had been charged with defeating the election of General

Jackson, by giving his influence to Mr. Adams, on condition that he should be appointed his Secre*
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all but one were confirmed by a unanimous vote of that body. His political

viev;? were consonant witn those of Mr. Moiiroe, and the forefgn and domestic

policy of his administration were generally conformable to those views. The

amity which existed between the United States and foreign governments, and

the absence of serious domestic troubles, made the administration of Mr. Adaias

a remarkably quiet one, and gave the executive opportunities for adjusting the

operations of treaties with the Indian tribes, and the arrangement of measures

for the promotion of those great staple interests of the country agriculture,

commerce, and manufactures. Discords, which the election had produced, ex-

cited the whole country during Mr. Adams's administration, with the agitations

incident to excessive party zeal, and bitter party rancor; yet the President,

thoroughly acquainted with all the public interests, and as thoroughly skilled

in every art of diplomacy and jurisprudence, managed the affairs of State with

a fidelity and sagacity which command our warmest approbation.

One of the most exciting topics, for thought and discussion, at the beginning

of Adams's administration [1825], was a controversy betweenthe National Gov-

ernment and the chief magistrate of Georgia, concerning the lands of the Creek

Indians, and the removal of those aboriginals from the territory of that State.

When Georgia relinquished her claims to considerable portions of the Missis-

sippi Territory,
1

the Federal Government agreed to purchase, for that State,

tarr o<* State. This, however, was only a bubble on the surface of political strife, and had no truth-

ful 'substance- In the Semite, there were twenty-seven votes in favor, and fourteen against cou-

the lamination of Mr. Clay.
* Note 2, page 447.
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the Indian lands within its borders,
' ' whenever it could be peaceably done upon

reasonable terms." The Creeks, who, with their neighbors, the Cherokees,

were beginning to practice the arts of civilized life, refused to sell their lands.

Troup, the governor of Georgia, demanded the immediate fulfillment of the con-

tract. He caused a survey of the lands to be made, and prepared to distribute

them by lottery, to the citizens of that State. Impatient at the tardiness of the

United States in extinguishing the Indian titles and removing the remnants of

the tribes, according to stipulation, the governor assumed the right to do it him-

self. The United States took the attitude of defenders of the Indians, and, for

a time, the matter bore a serious aspect. The difficulties were finally settled,

and the Creeks' and Cherokees" gradually removed to the rich wilderness be-

yond the Mississippi.

At about this time a great work of internal improvement was completed.
The Erie Canal, in the State of New York, was finished in 1825. It was the

most important and stupendous public improvement ever undertaken in the

United States
; and, though it was the enterprise of the people of a single State,

that originated and accomplished the labor of forming the channel of a river

through a large extent of country, it has a character of nationality. Its earli-

est advocate was Jesse Hawley, who., in a series of articles published in 1807

end 1808, signed Hercules, set forth the feasibility and great importance of

such a connection of the waters of Lake Erie and the Hudson River.
8 His

1

Page 30. a
Page 27.

3 In a manuscript letter now before the writer, dated "
Albany, 4th March, 1822," Dewitt Clin-

ton says to Jesse Hawley, to whom the letter is addref ;3d :

" In answer to your letter, I have no



JOHN ADAMS.
Pages 222, 238, 251, 252, 257, 294, 348, 349, 364, 377, 382, 383, 457, 588, 589, 602.
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views were warmly seconded by Gouverneur Morris,
1 Dewitt Clinton, and a

few others, and its final accomplishment was the result, chiefly, of the untir-

ing efforts, privately and officially, of the latter gentleman, while a member
of the Legislature and governor of the State of New York. It is three hun-

dred and sixty-three miles in length, and the first estimate of its cost was

$5,000,000. Portions of it have since been enlarged, to meet the increasing
demands of its commerce; and in 1853, the people of the State decided, by a

general vote, to have it enlarged its entire length. That work is not yet

[1883] accomplished.
A most remarkable coincidence occurred on the 4th of July, 1826, the fif-

tieth anniversary of American Independence. On that day, and almost at the

same hour, John Adams and Thomas Jefferson expired. They were both mem-
bers of the committee who had framed the Declaration of Independence," both

signed it,

3
both had been foreign ministers,

4
both had been Vice-Presidents, and

then Presidents of the United States, and both had lived to a great age.' These

coincidences, and the manner and time of their death, produced a profound im-

pression upon the public mind. In many places throughout the Union, eulogies
or funeral orations were pronounced, and these, collected, form one of the most

remarkable contributions to our historical and biographical literature.

After the difficulties with Georgia were settled, the remaining years of Mr.

Adams's administration were so peaceful and prosperous, that public affairs

present very few topics for the pen of the general historian.
8 The most import-

ant movement in foreign policy, was the appointment, early in 1826, of com-

missioners
7
to attend a congress of representatives of the South American Re-

publics,
8 held at Panama [July, 1826], on the Pacific coast. This appointment

hesitation in stating that the first suggestion of a canal from Lake Erie to the Hudson River, which
came to my knowledge, was communicated in essays under the signature of Hercules, on Internal

Navigation, published in the Ontario Messenger, at Canandaigua. The first number appeared on.

the 27th of October, 1807, and the series of numbers amounted, I believe, to fourteen. The board
of Canal Commissioners, which made the first tour of observation and survey, in 1810, were pos-
sessed of the writings of Hercules, which were duly appreciated, as the work of a sagacious in-

ventor and elevated mind. And you were at that time, and since, considered the author." Dewitt
Clinton was a son of General James Clinton, of Orange county, New York. He was born in

March, 1769. He was mayor of New York ten years, and was elected governor of the State in

1817, and again in 1820 and 1826. He died suddenly while in that office, in February, 1828.
1

Page 364.
a Note 2, page 251.

8
Jefferson was its author, and Adams its principal supporter, in the Continental Congress.

4 Note 2, page 383, and note 5, page 388.
6 Mr. Adams died at Quincy, Massachusetts, at the age of almost ninety-one years. Mr. Jeffer-

son died at Monticello, Virginia, at the age of almost eighty-three years.
* An event occurred in 1826 which produced great excitement throughout the country, and led

to the formation of a new, and for a time, quite a powerful political party. William Morgan, of

Western New York, announced his intention to publish a book, in which the secrets of Free

Masonry were to be disclosed. He was suddenly seized at Canandaigua one evening, placed in a
carriage, and was never heard of afterward. Some Free Masons were charged with his murder,
and the report of an investigating committee, appointed by the New York State Legislature, con-

firmed the suspicion. The public mind was greatly agitated, and there was a disposition to exclude
Free Masons from office. An Anti-Masonic party was formed, and its organization spread over

several States. In 1832, a national anti-Masonic convention was held at Philadelphia, and William

Wirt, of Virginia, was nominated for the office of President of the United States. Although the

party polled a considerable vote, it soon afterward disappeared.
7 R. C. Addison, and John Sargeant, commissioners

;
and William B. Rochester, of New York,

their secretary.
8 Note 5, page 448. As early as 1823, General Bolivar, while acting as President of Colomliin.
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produced much discussion in Congress, chiefly on party grounds. The result

of the congress at Panama was comparatively unimportant, so far as the United

States was concerned, and appears to have had very little influence on the

affairs of South America.

During the administration of Mr. Adams, the policy of protecting home

manufactures, by imposing a heavy duty upon foreign articles of the same kind,

assumed the shape of a settled national policy, and the foundations of the

American System, as that policy is called, was then laid. The illiberal commer-

cial policy of Great Britain, caused tariff laws to be enacted by Congress as

early as 1816, as retaliatory measures.
1 In 1824, imposts were laid on foreign

fabrics, with a view to encourage American manufactures. In July, 1827, a

national convention was held at Harrisburg, in Pennsylvania, to discuss the

subject of protective tariffs. Only four of the slave States sent delegates. The

result of the convention was a memorial to Congress, asking an augmentation

of duties on several articles then manufactured in the United States. The Sec-

retary of the Treasury called attention to the subject in his report in Decem-

invited the governments of Mexico, Peru, Chili, and Buenos Ayres, to unite with him in forming a

general congress at Panama, and the same year arrangements between Colombia, Mexico, and

Peru were made, to effect that object. In the spring of 1325, the United States government was

invited to send a delegation to the proposed congress. The objects of the congress were, to settle

upon some line of policy having the force of international law, respecting the rights of those repub-

lics; and to consult upon measures to be taken to prevent further colonization on the American

continent by European powers, and their interference in then existing contesta
1
Page 367.



1829.] JACKSON'S ADMINISTRATION. 459

ber following. Congress, at an early period of the session of 1827-'28, took

up the matter, and a Tariff Bill Lecume a law in May following. The Amer-
ican System was very popular with the manufacturers of the North, but the

cotton-growing States, which found a ready market for the raw material in En-

gland, opposed it. The tariff law, passed on the 15th of May, 1828, was very
obnoxious to the Southern politicians.

1

They denounced it as oppressive and

unconstitutional, and became rebellious in 1832 and 1833.
11

The Presidential election took place in the autumn of 1828, when the pub-
lic mind was highly excited. For a long time the opposing parties had been

marshaling their forces for the contest. The candidates were John Quincy
Adams and General Andrew Jackson. The result was the defeat of Mr. Adams,
and the election of General Jackson. John C. Calhoun,

3
of South Carolina,

was elected Vice-President, and both had very large majorities. During the

contest, the people appeared to be on the verge of civil war, so violent was the

party strife, and so malignant were the denunciations of the candidates. When
it was over, perfect tranquillity prevailed, the people cheerfully acquiesced in

the result, and our sytem of government was nobly vindicated before the world.

President Adams retired from office on the 4th of March, 1829. He left

to his successor a legacy of unexampled national prosperity, peaceful relations

with all the world, a greatly diminished national debt, and a surplus of more

than five millions of dollars in the public treasury. He also bequeathed to the

Republic the tearful gratitude of the surviving soldiers of the Revolution,

among whom had been distributed in pensions,
4

during his administration, more

than five millions of dollars.

CHAPTER IX.

JACKSON'S ADMINISTRATION. [1829 1837]

THERE were incidents of peculiar interest connected with the inauguration

of Andrew Jackson,
5
the seventh President of the United States. President

1 The chief articles on which heavy protective duties were laid, were woolen and cotton fab-

rics. At that time, the value of annual imports of cotton goods from Great Britain was about

$8,000,000 ;
that of woolen goods about the same. The exports to Great Britain, of cotton, rice,

and tobacco, alone (the chief products of the Southern States), was about $24,000,000 annuallr

These producers were made to fenr a great diminution of their export?, by a tariff that should

almost wholly prohibit the importation of three millions of dollars' worth of British cotton and

woolen fabrics, annually.
2
Page 463.

8 John C. Ciilhoim was born in South Carolina in 1782. He first appeared in Congress in 1811,

and was always distinguished for his consistency, especially in his support of the institution of

slavery and the doctrine of State supiemacy. He was an able debater, and subtle politician;

and the logical result o/ his political teachings was the late Civil War. He died at "Washington

city, while a member cf the National Senate, in March, 1850.
4
Page 453.

6 Andrew Jackson was born in Mecklenberg county, North Carolina, in March, 1767. Hia

parents were from the north of Ireland, and belonged to that Protestant community known a.<

Scotch-Irish. In earliest infancy, he was left to the care of an excellent mother, by the death of

his father. He first saw the horrors of war, and felt the wrongs of oppression, when Colonel
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Adams had convened the Senate on the morning of the 4th of March, 1829,

and at twelve o'clock that body adjourned- for an hour. During that time, the

President elect entered the Senate chamber, having been escorted from Gadsby's

Hotel, by a few surviving officers and soldiers of the old War for Independence.

These had addressed him at the hotel, and now, in presence of the chief officers

of government, foreign ministers, and a large number of ladies, he thus replied

to them :

" RESPECTED FRIENDS Your affectionate address awakens sentiments and
recollections which I feel with sincerity and cherish with pride. To have

around my person, at the moment of undertaking the most solemn of all duties

to my country, the companions of the immortal Washington, will afford me
satisfaction and grateful encouragement. That by my best exertions, I shall be

able to exhibit more than an imitation of his labors, a sense of my own imper-

Uuford's troops were massacred [page 313, and note 1, page 314] in his neighborhood, in 1780.
He entered the army, and suffered in the cause of freedom, by imprisonment, and the death of his
mother while she was on an errand of mercy. He studied law, and became one of the most
eminent men in the "Western District of Tennessee, as an advocate and a judge. He was ever a
controlling spirit in that region. He assisted in framing a State constitution for Tennessee, and was
the first representative of that State in the National Congress. He became United States senator in

1797, and was soon afterward appointed Judge of the Supreme Court of his State. He settled near

Nashville, and for a long time was chief military commander in that region. "When the "War of
1812 broke out, he took the field, and in the capacity of Major-General, he did good service in the
southern country, till its close. He was appointed the first Governor of Florida, in 1821, and in

1823, was again in the United States Senate. He retired to private life at the close of his presi-
dential term, and died at his beautiful residence, The Hermitage, near Nashville, in June, 1845, at
the age of seventy-eight years.
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factions, and the reverence I entertain for his virtues, forbid me to hope. To

you, respected friends, the survivors of that heroic band who followed him, so

long and so valiantly, in the path of glory, I offer my sincere thanks, and to

Heaven my prayers, that your remaining years may be as happy as your toils

and your lives have been illustrious." The whole company then proceeded to

the eastern portico of the capitol, where, in the presence of a vast assembly of

citizens, the President elect delivered his inaugural address, and took the oath

of office, administered by Chief Justice Marshall.
1 That jurist again adminis^

tcred the same oath to President Jackson on the 4th of March, 1833, and a

few months afterward went down into the grave.

President Jackson was possessed of strong passions, an uncorrupt heart, and

an iron will. Honest and inflexible, he seized the helm of the ship of state

with a patriot's hand, resolved to steer it according to his own conceptions of

the meaning of his guiding chart, The Constitution, unmindful of the inter-

ference of friends or foes. His instructions to the first minister sent to England,
on his nomination "Ask nothing but what is right; submit to nothing

wrong" indicate the character of those moral and political maxims by which

he was governed. His audacity amazed his friends and alarmed his opponents ;

and no middle men existed. He was either thoroughly loved or thoroughly

hated; and for eight years he braved the fierce tempests of party strife,
9

domestic perplexities,
8 and foreign arrogance,

4
with a skill and courage which

demands the admiration of his countrymen, however much they may differ Avith

him in matters of national policy. The gulf between him and his political oppo-
nents was so wide, that it was difficult for the broadest charity to bridge it. To

those who had been his true friends during the election struggle, he extended the

grateful hand of recognition, and after having his inquiries satisfied, "Is he

capable ? is he honest?" he conferred official station upon the man who pleased

him, with a stoical indifference to the clamor of the opposition. The whole of

President Adams's cabinet officers having resigned, Jackson immediately nom-

inated his political friends for his counselors, and the Senate confirmed his

choice.
5

Among the first subjects of general and commanding interest which occu-

pied the attention of President Jackson, at the commencement of his administra-

tion, were the claims of Georgia to lands held by the powerful Cherokee tribe

of Indians, and lying within the limits of that State. Jackson favored the views

of the Georgia authorities, and the white people proceeded to take possession of

the Indians' land. Troublo ensued, and the southern portion of the Republic was

1

Page 351.
a
Following the precedent of Jefferson [page 389], he filled a large number of the public offices

with his political friends, after removing the incumbents. These removals were for all causes : and

during his administration, they amounted to six hundred and ninety out of several thousands, who
were removable. The entire number of removals made by all the preceding Presidents, from 1790

to 1829, was seventy-four.
s
Page 464.

*
Page 468.

6
Martin Van Buren, Secretary of State; Samuel D Ingham, Secretary of the Treasury; John

H. Eaton, Secretary of War; John Branch, Secretary of the Navy; and John McPherson Berrian,

Attorney-General. It having been determined to make the Postmaster-General a cabinet officer,

William T. Barry was appointed to that station.
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again menaced with civil war. The matter was adjudicated by the Supreme
Court of the United States, and on the 80th of March, 1832, that tribunal

decided against the claims of Georgia. But that State, favored by the Presi-

dent, resisted the decision. The difficulty was finally adjusted; and in 1838,

General Winfield Scott
1 was sent thither, with several thousand troops, to

remove the Cherokees, peaceably if possible, but forcibly if necessary, beyond
the Mississippi. Through the kindness and conciliation of Scott, they were

induced to migrate. They had become involved in the difficulties of their Creek

neighbors,
3
but were defended against the encroachments of the Georgians

during Adams's administration. But in December, 1839, they were crushed, as

a nation, by an act of Congress, and another of the ancient communities of the

New World was wiped from the living record of empire. The Cherokees
3
were

more advanced in the arts of civilized life than the Creeks.
4

They had churches,

schools, and a printing-press, and were becoming successful agriculturists. It

appeared cruel in the extreme to remove them from their fertile lands and the

graves of their fathers, to the wilderness
; yet it was, doubtless, a proper meas-

ure for insuring the prosperity of both races. But now [1883], again, the tide

of civilization is beating against their borders. Will they not be borne upon its

powerful wave, further into the wilderness ?

Another cause for public agitation appeared in 1832. In his first annual

message [December, 1829] Jackson took strong ground against the renewal of

the charter of the United States Bank,
6 on the ground that it had failed in the

great end of establishing a uniform and sound currency, and that such an insti-

tution was not authorized by the National Constitution. He again attacked tho

bank in his annual message in 1830, and his objections were renewed in that

of 1831. At the close of 1831, the proper officers of the bank, for the first

time, petitioned for a renewal of its charter. That petition was presented in

the Senate on the 9th of January, 1832, and on the 13th of March, a select com-

mittee to whom it was referred, reported in favor of renewing the charter for

fifteen years. Long debates ensued
; and, finally, a bill for re-chartering the

bank passed both Houses of Congress : the Senate on the llth of June, by

twenty-eight against twenty votes
;
and by the House of Representatives on the

3d of July, by one hundred and seven against eighty-five. Jackson vetoed
6

it

on the 10th of July, and as it failed to receive the support of two thirds of the

members of both Houses, the bank charter expired, by limitation, in 1836.

The commercial community, regarding a national bank as essential to their

prosperity, were alarmed; and prophecies of panics and business revulsions,

everywhere uttered, helped to accomplish their own speedy fulfillment.

An Indian war broke out upon the north-western frontier, in the spring of

1832. Portions of some of the western tribes,
7

residing within the domain

j
Page 485. a

Page 427. s
Page 27.

4
Page 30.

5
Page 446.

That is, refused to sign it, and returned it to Congress, with his reasons, for reconsideration by
that body. The Constitution gives the President this power, and when exercised, a bill can not
become law without his signature, unless it shall, on reconsideration, receive the votes of two thirds
of the members of both Houses of Congress. See Article I, Section 7, of the Constitution, in the
Supplement '

Sacs, Foxes, and Winnebagoes. See page 18.
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of the present State of Wisconsin,
1
led by Black Hawk," a fiery Sac chief,

commenced warfare upon the frontier settlers of Illinois, in April of that year.

After several skirmishes with United States troops and Illinois militia, undei

General Atkinson,
3
the Indians were driven beyond the Mississippi. Black

Hawk was captured in August, 1832, and taken to Washington City; and then,

to impress his mind with the strength of the nation he had foolishly made war

with, he was conducted through several of the eastern cities. This brief strife,

which appeared quite alarming at one time, is known in history as the "Black

Hawk War."
4

This cloud in the West had scarcely disappeared, when one loomed up in

the South far more foi midable in appearance, and charged with menacing thun-

<t.r that, for a while, shook the entire fabric of the Republic. The dis

contents of the cotton-growing States, produced by the tariff act of 1828/

assumed the form of rebellion in South Carolina, toward the close of 1832.

An act of Congress, imposing additional duties upon foreign goods, passed in

J That domain was not erected into a Territory until four years after that event ;
now it is a rich,

populous, and flourishing State.
3
Henry Atkinson was a native of North Carolina, and entered the army as captain, in

He was retained in the army after the second War for Independence, was made Adjutant-G ral,

and was finally appointed to the command of the Western Army. He died at Jefferson B 2ks,

in June, 1842. e
* Black Hawk returned to his people, but was, with difficulty, rested to his former dignity ol

chief. He died in October, 1840, and was buried on the banks of the Mississippi.
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the spring of 1832, led to a State convention in South Carolina, in November

following. It assembled on the 19th of that month, and the Governor of South

Carolina was appointed its president. That assembly declared the tariff acts

unconstitutional, and therefore null and void. It resolved that duties should

not be paid ;
and proclaimed that any attempt to enforce the collection of duties

in the port of Charleston, by the general government, would be resisted by

arms, and would produce the withdrawal of South Carolina from the Union.

The State Legislature, which met directly after the adjournment of the con-

vention, passed laws in support of this determination. Military preparations

were immediately made, and civil war appeared inevitable. Then it was that

the executive ability of the President, so much needed, was fully displayed.

Jackson promptly met the crisis by a proclamation, on the 10th of December,
which denied the right of a State to nullify any act of the National Govern-

ment
;
and warned those who were engaged in fomenting a rebellion, that the

laws of the United States would be strictly enforced by military power, if

accessary. This proclamation met the hearty response of every friend of the

Union, of whatever party, and greatly increased that majority of the President's

supporters, who had just re-elected him to the Chief Magistracy of the Repub-
lic.

1 The nullifiers' of South Carolina, though led by such able men as Cal-

houn
3
and Hayne,

4
were obliged to yield for the moment

; yet their zeal and

determination in the cause of State Supremacy, were not abated. Every day
the tempest-cloud of civil commotion grew darker and darker

; until, at length,

Henry Clay,
5
a warm friend of the American System,

8 came forward, in Con-

gress [February 12, 1833], with a bill, which provided for a gradual reduction

of the obnoxious duties, during the succeeding ten years. This compromise
measure wns accepted by both parties. It became a law on the 3d of March,
and discord between the North and the South soon ceased, but only for a

season. 7

* Those who fevored the doctrine that a State might nullify the acts of the National Govern
ment. were called nullifiers, and the dangerous doctrine fceelf was called nullification.

!

Page 458. Mr. Calhoun, who had quarreled, politically, with Jackson, had recently resigned
the office of Vice-President of the United States, and was one of the ablest men in Congress.He asserted the State supremacy doctrine boldly rn the floor of Congress, and held the PW
opinion until his death.

4 Robert Y. Hayne was one of the ablest of southern statesmen. The debate between Harne
and "Webster, in the Senate of the United States, during the debates on this momentous subject, ia

regarded as one of the most eminent, for sagacity and eloquence, that ever marked the proceedings
of that body. Mr. Hayne was born near Charleston, South Carolina, in November, 1791. He was
admitted to the bar in 1812, and the same year volunteered his services for the defense of the sea-
board, and entered the army as lieutenant. He arose rapidly to the rank of Major-General of the
mihtia of his State, and was considered one of the best disciplinarians of the South. He had exten-
sive practice at the bar, before he was twenty-two years of age, and it was always lucrative. He
was a member of the South Carolina Assembly in 1814, where he was distinguished for eloquenceHe was chosen Speaker in 1818. For ten years he represented South Carolina in the Senate of the
United States; and he was chaiman of the Committee of the Convention of South Carolina, which
reported the "ordinance of nullification." He was soon afterward chosen Governor of his State
He died in September, 1841, in the fiftieth year of his age.

s
Page 500.

"
Page 459.

It is known thatMr. Uay introduce^ ti.eCompromise Bill with the concurrence of Mr. Calhoun.
The latter had proceeded to the verge of treason, in his opposition to the general government, and
President Jackson had threatened him with arrest, if he moved another step forward. Knowing
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President Jackson's
hostility to the United States Bank was again mani-

fested in his annual message to Congress, in December, 1832, when he recom-
mended the removal of the public funds from its custody, and a sale of the
stock of the bank, belonging to the United States.

1

Congress, by a decided

vote, refused to authorize the measure
;
but after its adjournment, the Presi-

dent assumed the
responsibility of the act, and directed William J. Duane, the

Secretary of the Treasury, to withdraw the government funds (then almost

$10,000,000), and deposit them in certain State banks. During a northern
tour which the President had made in the summer of 1833, he had urged Mr.
Duane (then in Philadelphia) to make the removal, but he would only consent
to the appointment of an agent to inquire upon what terms the local banks
would receive the funds on deposit. The President then ordered him, perem-
torily, to remove them from the bank. The Secretary refused compliance, and
was dismissed from office. His successor, Roger B. Taney (who was after-

ward Chief-Justice of the United States), obeyed the President; and in

October, 1833, the act was accomplished. The effect produced was sudden
and wide-spread commercial distress. The business of the country was plunged
from the height of prosperity to the depths of adversity, because its intimate

connection with the National Bank rendered any paralysis of the operations
of that institution fatal to commercial activity. The amount of loans of the

bank, on the 1st of October, was over sixty millions of dollars, and the amount
of the funds of the United States, then on deposit in the bank, was almost ten

millions of dollars. The fact, that the connection of the bank with the business

of the country was so vital, confirmed the President in his opinion of the

danger of such an enormous moneyed institution.

A large portion of the government funds were removed in the course of four

months, and the whole amount in about nine months. Intense excitement pre-

vailed throughout the country ; yet the President, supported by the House of

Representatives, persevered and triumphed. Numerous committees, appointed

by merchants, mechanics, manufacturers, and others, waited upon him, to ask

him to take some measures for relief. He was firm
;
and to all of them he re-

plied, in substance, that " the government could give no relief, and provide no

remedy ;
that the banks were the occasion of all the evils which existed, and tha ;

die firmness and decision of the President, Mr. Calhoun dared not take the fatal step. He could

/iot recede, nor even stand still, without compromising his character with Ins political friends. In

this extremity, a mutual friend arranged with Mr. Clay to propose a measure which would satisfy

both sides, and save both the neck and reputation of Mr. Calhoun. In the discussion of the

matter in the Senate, the latter most earnestly disclaimed any hostile feelings toward the Union,

on the part of South Carolina. The State authorities, he asserted, had looked only to a judicial

decision upon the question, until the concentration of the United States troops at Charleston and

Augusta, by order of the President, compelled them to make provision to defend themselves.

Several of the State Legislatures hastened to condemn the nullification doctrine as destructive to

Che National Constitution. Massachusetts, Connecticut, New York, Delaware, Indiana, Missouri,

and Georgia, all thus spoke out plainly in favor of the Union. Georgia, however, at the same

time, expressed its reprobation of the tariff system, which had brought about the movement m
South Carolina, and proposed a convention of the States of Virginia, North and South Carolina,

Georgia, Alabama, Tennessee, and Mississippi, to devise measures to obtain relief from it

1 By the law of 1816, for chartering the bank, the funds ot the United States were to b

deposited with that institution, and to be withdrawn only by the Secretary of the Treasury.

30
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those who suffered by their great enterprise had none to blame but themselves
;

that those who traded on borrowed capital ought to break." The State banks

received the government funds on deposit, and loaned freely. Confidence was

gradually restored, and apparent general prosperity
1 returned. Now [1867],

after the lapse of more than twenty years, the wisdom and forecaste of General

Jackson, evinced by his distrust of the United States Bank, appears to be uni-

versally acknowledged." Our present National banking system possesses all of

the better functions of that of the United States Bank, without, apparently,

any of its dangerous ones.

Trouble again appeared on the southern oorders of the Union. Toward the

close of 1835, the Seminole Indians, in Florida, guided by their head sachem,

Micanopy, and led by their principal chief, Osceola,
8

commenced a distressing warfare upon the frontier

settlements of Florida. The cause of the outbreak

was an attempt to remove them to the wilderness

bepond the Mississippi. In his annual message in

December, 1830, President Jackson recommended

the devotion of a large tract of land west of the

Mississippi, to the use of the Indian tribes yet re-

maining east of that stream, forever. Congress

passed laws in accordance with the proposition, and

the work of removal commenced, first by the Chick-

asaws and Choctaws.
4 We have seen that trouble ensued with the Creeks and

Cherokees," and the Seminoles in East Florida were not disposed to leave their

ancient domain. Some of the chiefs in council made a treaty in May, 1832,
and agreed to remove

;
but other chiefs, and the great body of the nation, did

not acknowledge the treaty as binding. In 1834, the President sent General

Wiley Thompson to Florida, to prepare for a forcible removal of the Seminoles,

if necessary. The tone and manner assumed by Osceola, at that time, dis-

pleased Thompson, and he put the chief in irons and in prison for a day. The

proud leader feigned penitence, and was released. Then his wounded pride

called for revenge, and fearfully he pursued it, as we shall observe presently.
The war that, ensued was a sangiiinary one, and almost seven years elapsed before

it was wholly terminated. Osceola, with all the cunning of a Tecumtha/and
the heroism of a Philip,

7 was so successful in stratagem, and brave in conflict,

that he baffled the skill and courage of the United States troops for a long time.

He had agreed to fulfill treaty stipulations,
8 in December [1835], but instead

1

Page 470.
* The course of President Jackson, toward the bank, was popular in many sections, but in the

commercial States it caused a palpable diminution of the strength of the administration. This was
shown by the elections in 1834. Many of bis supporters joined the Opposition, and this combined
force assumed the name of "

Whigs" the old party name of the Revolution while the adminis-

tration party adhered to the name of " Democrats."
'
Page 468. 4

Page 30. Page 27.
"
Page 424. T

Page 124.
8
Osceola had promised General Thompson that the delivery of certain cattle and horses belong-

ing to the Indians should be made during the first fortnight of December, 1835, and so certain was

Thompson of the fulfillment of this stipulation, that he advertised the animals for sale.
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SEAT OP SEMINOLE WAR

of compliance, he was then at the head of a war party, murdering the unsus-

pecting inhabitants on the borders of the everglade haunts of the savages.

At that time General Clinch was stationed at Fort Drane,
1

in the interior

of Florida, and Major Dade was dispatched from Fort Brooke, at the head of

Tampa Bay, with more than a hundred men, for his

relief. That young commander,
3 and all but four of

his detachment, were massacred [Dec. 28, 1835]
near Wahoo Swamp.

8 On the same day, and only
a few hours before, Osceola, and a small war party,

killed ~,id scalped General Thompson, and five of his

friends, who were dining at a store a few yards from

Fort King.
4 The assailants disappeared in the for-

est before the deed was known at the fort. Two

days afterward [Dec. 31], General Clinch and his

troops had a battle with the Seminoles on the With-

lacoochee; and in February [Feb. 29, 1836], General Gaines
5 was assailed

near the same place,
8 and several of his men were killed. The battle-ground

is about fifty miles from the mouth of the river.

The Creeks aided their brethren in Florida, by attacking white settlers

within their domain,
7
in May, 1836. Success made them bold, and they at-

tacked mail-carriers, stages, steamboats, and finally villages, in Georgia and

Alabama, until thousands of white people were fleeing for their lives from

place to place, before the savages. General Winfield Scott
8
was now in chief

command in the South, and he prosecuted the war with vigor. The Creeks were

finally subdued
;
and during the summer, several thousands of them were re-

moved to their designated homes beyond the Mississippi. In October, Governor

Call, of Georgia, marched against the Seminoles with almost two thousand men.

A detachment of upward of five hundred of these, had a severe contest [Nov.

21] with the Indians at Wahoo Swamp, near the scene of Dade's massacre
; yet,

like all other engagements with the savages in their swampy fastnesses, neither

party could claim a positive victory.
9 The year [1836] closed with no prospect

1 About forty miles north-east from the mouth of the Withlacoochee River, and eight south-

west from Orange Lake.
a Francis L. Dade was a native of Virginia. After the "War of 1812-15, he was retained in the

army, having risen from third lieutenant to major. A neat monument has been erected to the

memory of himself and companions in death, at West Point, on the Hudson.
1 Near the upper waters of the Withlacoochee, about fifty miles north from Fort Brooke. Three

of the four survivors soon died of their wounds, and he who lived to tell the fearful narrative (Ran-
som Clarke), afterward died from the effects of his injuries on that day.

4 On the southern borders of Alachua county, about sixty miles south-west from St. Augustine.
Osceola scalped [note 4, page 14] General Thompson with his own hands, and thus enjoyed his re-

venge for the indignity he had suffered.
5
Page 433. Edmund P. Gaines was born in Virginia in 1777, and entered the army in 1799.

He was breveted a major-general in 1814, and presented by Congress with a gold medal for his gal-

lantry at Fort Erie. He died in 1849.
8 South side of the river, in Dade county. The place where Gaines was assaulted is on the

north side, in Alachua county.
T
Page 30.

8
Page 433.

9 In this warfare the American troops suffered dreadfully from the poisonous vapors of the

swamps, the bites of venomous serpents, and the stings of insects. The Indians were inaccessible

in then- homes amid the morasses, for the white people could not follow them.
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of peace, either by treaty or by the subjugation of the Indians. The war con-

tinued through the winter. Finally, after some severe encounters with the

United States troops, several chiefs appeared in the camp of General Jesup
1

(who was then in supreme command) at Fort Bade,
3 and on the 6th of March,

1837, they signed a treaty which guarantied immediate peace, and the instant

departure of the Indians to their new home beyond the Mississippi. But the

lull was temporary. The restless Osceola caused the treaty to be broken
;
and

during the summer of 1837, many more soldiers perished in the swamps while

pursuing the Indians. At length, Osceola, with several chiefs and seventy

warriors, appeared [Oct. 21] in Jessup's camp under the protection of a flag.

They were seized and confined
;

3
and soon afterward, the brave chief was sent

to Charleston, where he died of a fever, while immured in Fort Moultrie.
4

This was the hardest blow yet dealt upon the Seminoles
;
but they continued to

resist, notwiths* aiding almost nine thousand United States troops were in their

territory at the -lose of 1837.

On the 25th of December, a large body of Indians suffered a severe repulse

on the northern border of Macaco Lake,
5 from six hundred troops under Colonel

Zachary Taylor.
6 That officer had succeeded General Jesup, and for more than

two years afterward, he endured every privation in efforts to bring the war to a

close. In May, 1839, a treaty was made which appeared to terminate the war
;

but murder and robberies continued, and it was not until 1842 that peace was

finally secured. This war, which lasted seven years, cost the United States

many valuable lives, and millions of treasure.

In the autumn of 1836, the election of a successor to President Jacksot,

took place, and resulted in the choice of Martin Van Buren, of New York.

Energy had marked every step of the career of Jackson as Chief Magistrate,

and at the close of his administration, the nation stood higher in the esteem of

the world than it had ever done before. At the close of his first term, our

foreign relations were very satisfactory, except with France. That government
had agreed to pay about $5,000,000, by instalments, as indemnification for

French spoliations on American commerce, under the operation of the several

decrees of Napoleon, from 1806 to 1811.
7 The French government did not

promptly comply with the agreement, and the President assumed a hostile tone,

which caused France to perform her duty. Similar claims against Portugal

1 Thomas S. Jesup was born in Virginia in 1788. He was a brave and useful officer during
the war of 1812-15, and was retained in the army. He was breveted major-general in 1828,
and was succeeded in command in Florida by Colonel Zachary Taylor, in 1838 He died at

Washington city in 1858.
9 On the head waters of the "Withlachoochee, about forty miles north-east from Fort Brooke, at

the head of Tampa Bay. See map on page 467.
3 General Josup was much censured for this breach of faith and the rules of honorable -warfare.

His excuse was the known treachery of Osceola, and a desire to put an end to bloodshed by what-

ever means lie might be able to employ.
4 On Sullivan's Island, upon the site of Fort Sullivan of the Revolution [page 249]. Near the

entrance gate to the fort is a small monument erected to the memory of Osceola.
6 Sometimes called Big Water Lake. The Indian name is 0-ke-cho-bee, and by that title the

battle is known. .

' The brave leader in the Mexican War [page 481], and afterward President of the United

States. Sea page 498.
' See pages 400 to 407, inclusive.
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were made, and payment obtained. A treaty of reciprocity had been concluded

with Russia and Belgium, and everywhere the American flag commanded the

highest respect. Two new States (Arkansas and Michigan) had been added to

the Union. The original thirteen had doubled, and great activity prevailed in.

every part of the Republic. Satisfaction with the administration generally pre-

vailed, and it was understood that Van Buren would continue the policy of his

predecessor, if elected. He received a large majority ;
but the people, having

failed to elect a Vice-President, the Senate chose Richard M. Johnson, of Ken-

tucky, who had been a candidate with Van Buren, to fill that station.

Much excitement was produced, and bitter feelings were engendered, toward

President Jackson, by his last official act. A circular was issued from the

Treasury department on the llth of July, 1836, requiring all collectors of the

public revenue to receive nothing but gold and silver in payment. This was

intended to check speculations in the public lands, but it also bore heavily

upon every kind of business. The "specie circular" was denounced; and so

loud was the clamor, that toward the close of the session in 1837, both Houses

of Congress adopted a partial repeal of it. Jackson refused to sign the bill,

and by keeping it in his possession until after the adjournment of Congress,

prevented it becoming a law. On the 4th of March, 1837, he retired from pub-
lic life, to enjoy that repose which an exceedingly active career entitled him to.

He was then seventy years of age.
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